

Volume 3: AESA Water Quality Monitoring Project

Assessment of Environmental Sustainability in Alberta's Agricultural Watersheds Project

Volume 3:

AESA Water Quality Monitoring Project

Kristen Lorenz, Sarah Depoe, and Colleen Phelan

Water Resources Branch Alberta Agriculture and Rural Development

2008

Citation

Lorenz, K.N., Depoe, S.L., and Phelan, C.A. 2008. Assessment of Environmental Sustainability in Alberta's Agricultural Watersheds Project. Volume 3: AESA Water Quality Monitoring Project. Alberta Agriculture and Rural Development, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada. 487 pp.

Published by

Water Resources Branch Alberta Agriculture and Rural Development Lethbridge, Alberta, Canada

Copyright c 2008. Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Alberta (Alberta Agriculture and Rural Development). All rights reserved.

No part of this publication may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any means, electronic, mechanical, photocopying, or otherwise without permission from Alberta Agriculture and Rural Development.

Printed in Canada

Copies of this report are available from

Water Resources Branch Alberta Agriculture and Rural Development Agriculture Centre 100, 5401 – 1 Avenue South, Lethbridge, Alberta Canada, T1J 4V6 Phone 403-381-5140

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

All land-use activities impact watershed function to some degree. Research has shown that agricultural practices can lead to the deterioration of surface water quality by contributing contaminants such as nutrients (i.e., phosphorus and nitrogen), pesticides, sediments, and fecal bacteria to surface water bodies. The consequences of agricultural contamination to aquatic ecosystem and human health may be significant. Water quality issues in streams and receiving waterbodies include eutrophication, cyanobacterial blooms, and sedimentation of aquatic habitat, to name a few. Water quality concerns affecting human and livestock health are related to the presence of nitrate, pathogens, or pesticide contaminants in drinking water. While all surface water in Alberta must be treated prior to human consumption, livestock consume untreated or raw water. Furthermore, treatment of drinking water does not necessarily remove pesticides. The presence of pesticides or pathogens in irrigation water also poses a threat to food safety.

The impact of agricultural activities on water quality depends on the amount and distribution of land under cultivation, farming practices employed, soil type, topography, weather, and climate patterns. Agricultural activities that have potential to contribute contaminants to surface water include, but are not limited to, manure or fertilizer application, intensive livestock operations (e.g., feedlots, dairies), non-intensive livestock operations (e.g., pasture, cow-calf, watering sites), some tillage methods, pesticide application, and irrigation.

The Provincial Stream Survey, conducted under the Canada-Alberta Environmentally Sustainable Agricultural (CAESA) Agreement (1992 to 1997), included provincial-scale surface water quality monitoring in agricultural watersheds in Alberta. The monitoring goal of the CAESA Provincial Stream Survey was to determine the potential effects of agriculture on surface water quality. Fifteen streams in agricultural basins with different levels of agricultural intensity were monitored for two years (1995 and 1996). Higher peak, median, and flow weighted mean concentrations of total and dissolved nutrients and more frequent pesticide detections were observed in streams draining high agricultural intensity watersheds.

In 1998, the Province of Alberta took the lead in facilitating the promotion of environmentally sustainable agriculture practices by initiating the Alberta Environmentally Sustainable Agriculture (AESA) Program. The AESA Program followed the cessation of the Canada-Alberta Environmentally Sustainable Agriculture (CAESA) Agreement. The AESA program included soil and water quality monitoring programs as well as an extension program.

The AESA Stream Survey, initiated in 1999, was designed to assess temporal and spatial patterns in water quality in watersheds with agricultural activity. Twenty-three watersheds were selected to encompass the range of agricultural intensities throughout the province including low-agricultural intensity watersheds, watersheds already subject to high intensity farming, watersheds with the potential for intensified agriculture, and those draining irrigation return flows. Specifically, the two objectives for AESA Stream Survey were

- i) to learn more about how stream water quality is impacted by low, moderate, and high intensity (dryland and irrigated) agriculture in Alberta; and
- ii) to track changes in water quality as the industry grows and agricultural management practices change.

The purpose of this report is to describe water quality in representative agricultural streams in Alberta and any changes that occurred during the period of monitoring. This report compiles and evaluates water quality and quantity data collected from 1999 to 2006, as well as those data available from the earlier CAESA Provincial Stream Survey. This dataset provides reliable reference information for current and future studies aimed at quantifying and mitigating agricultural impacts on water quality.

The following section summarizes key conclusions from chapters 2 through 5 of the technical report. These findings contributed to Volume 1 of the Assessment of Environmental Sustainability in Alberta's Agricultural Watersheds project (Palliser Environmental Services Ltd. and ARD 2008).

Chapter 2: Hydrology, land cover, and agricultural intensity metrics.

Overland runoff is one of the dominant pathways for agricultural contaminants to reach waterways. As such, water quality is highly dependent on the timing and magnitude of stream flow.

The province-wide and multi-year AESA Stream Survey captured inherent variability in the timing and magnitude of stream flow among study streams and years that permitted generalization of the flow patterns in nine of the major ecoregions of the province's agricultural zone.

- Watersheds under high intensity (dryland) agriculture were predominantly located in the Aspen Parkland Ecoregion where streams often flowed only in the spring in response to overland runoff from snowmelt. In years with smaller snow packs, hydrological connectivity with land was low, as there was little response to summer rain events.
- Watersheds under low or moderate intensity agriculture were situated in the Boreal Transition and Western Alberta Upland Ecoregions where streams generally flowed continuously during the open water season in response to snowmelt and summer precipitation events.

The relative proportion of land cover categories was often similar among watersheds of the same agricultural intensity.

• The relative proportion of cropland, forage, grassland, trees, and shrubs varied among watersheds. Watersheds with high agricultural intensity (dryland or irrigated) generally had higher proportions of cropland compared to watersheds with low or moderate agricultural intensity.

Agricultural intensity percentiles differed among census years (1996, 2001, and 2006) in some watersheds, corresponding to changes in manure production and chemical and fertilizer sales percentiles.

- Evaluation of the agricultural intensity metric from 1999 to 2006 revealed a decrease in agricultural intensity categories in seven watersheds, generally as a result of decreases in manure production percentiles.
- Agricultural intensity percentiles increased in one watershed (Prairie Blood Coulee) between 1996 and 2006 as a result of increases in fertilizer and chemical sales percentiles.

• Differences between 1996 and 2006 percentiles in some watersheds were small and just spanned the cutoff between two agricultural intensity categories (e.g., Strawberry), while some watersheds remained within the same category even though a greater decrease (e.g., Rose Creek) or increase (e.g., Hines Creek) in the overall agricultural intensity percentile was observed.

Chapter 3: Nutrients.

Excessive nutrients, such as phosphorus (P) and nitrogen (N), may increase waterbody primary production resulting in eutrophication. Eutrophication has a negative effect on aquatic ecosystem health by decreasing oxygen levels and degrading water quality.

The results of the study suggest that small to moderately sized agricultural watersheds (3200 to 95000 ha effective drainage area) throughout the province have elevated levels of P and N, and concentrations increase as agricultural intensity increases.

- Compliance with provincial and national surface water quality guidelines decreased with increasing agricultural intensity.
 - Watersheds under high intensity agriculture had lower compliance with guidelines for the protection of aquatic life than low and moderate agricultural intensity watersheds. In high intensity watersheds, on average, only 9% of total nitrogen (TN) samples and 7% of total phosphorus (TP) samples met guideline values.
 - Protection of aquatic life guidelines set for nitrite N (NO₂-N), nitrate N (NO₃-N), and ammonia N (NH₃-N) were rarely exceeded.
 - \circ Nitrite N and NO₂⁻-N+NO₃⁻-N livestock watering guidelines were never exceeded.
- Median annual total and dissolved N and P flow-weighted mean concentrations (FWMCs) and the proportion of dissolved to total N (TN) and P (TP) varied among streams and were influenced by agricultural intensity.
 - Total N and P FWMCs increased with agricultural intensity. Mean TP FWMCs were 0.15 and 0.53 mg L⁻¹ for low and high intensity watersheds, respectively. Mean TN FWMCs were 1.09 and 3.12 mgL⁻¹ for low and high agricultural intensity streams, respectively.
 - Total particulate P was not influenced by agricultural intensity.
 - A stepwise increase was observed for the ratio of dissolved inorganic N to total N (DIN/TN) with agricultural intensity (low<moderate<high<irrigated). The ratio of total dissolved P to total P (TDP/TP) was highest in the high agricultural intensity watersheds but did not show a stepwise, statistically significant trend among low and moderate or moderate and irrigated watersheds (low≤moderate=irrigated<high).
 - A higher proportion of TP was comprised of the dissolved fraction (mean TDP/TP=0.5) than was observed for TN (mean DIN/TN=0.2) for all watersheds.

Correlations between the dissolved nutrient fractions and the overall agricultural intensity metric supported use of the metric as an indicator of agricultural influence on nutrient concentrations in agricultural streams.

- Overall, dissolved nutrient FWMC fractions and the ratios of TDP/TP and DIN/TN were positively correlated with the agricultural intensity metrics (chemical and fertilizer expenses and manure production percentiles).
- The ratio of TDP/TP was positively correlated with fertilizer and chemical expenses, while DIN/TN was strongly, positively correlated with all three agricultural intensity metrics (including manure production percentiles).
- Strong correlations were not observed for the median annual P and N exports with the agriculture intensity metric.

Export coefficients were influenced by climatic and geographic characteristics including interannual and seasonal variation in stream flow, which differed among ecoregion areas.

- Total nutrient exports were highest in the Boreal ecoregion area and influenced by factors such as runoff depth, landscape, and climate, while nutrient exports were lowest in the Grassland ecoregion area. Higher dissolved nutrient proportions were observed in the Parkland Ecoregion as a result of higher agricultural intensity in the watersheds.
- Export coefficients for most forms of P and N were higher in the early spring in the Boreal and Parkland ecoregion areas, particularly in April in the Boreal streams. Streams in the Grassland ecoregion area did not show a seasonal trend in nutrient export coefficients, while higher TN export coefficients were observed in June in the Continental Divide Ecoregion.
- Similar to the CAESA findings, median annual TDP and NH₃-N export coefficients and the ratio of DIN/TN showed an increasing stepwise trend with increasing agricultural intensity, while the ratio of TDP/TP was higher in high agricultural intensity watersheds but similar among low and moderate agricultural intensity streams.
- Total P and N export coefficients in the AESA watersheds ranged from 0.012 to 0.214 kg ha⁻¹yr⁻¹ and 0.142 to 1.412 kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, respectively and were similar to values reported in other studies in Alberta and within the range of exports measured in Canada, the United States, and Europe.

Although there were some changes in agricultural intensity, temporal patterns in P and N FWMCs and nutrient loads were generally not observed during the period of monitoring (1995 to 2006).

- Many watersheds that exhibited inter-annual patterns in nutrient FWMCs were strongly influenced by flow.
- Median annual loading values were influenced by annual flow volumes, with high annual loading typically observed in years with high flow volumes.
 - Deviations from the flow-loading pattern were attributed to sampling regime (e.g., sampling that missed peak flows), climatic variability (e.g., floods or droughts), and a possible change in land management or land use.
- Based on visual inspection of the data, watersheds where a statistical trend analysis should be considered include Battersea Drain, Prairie Blood Coulee, Blindman River, Kleskun Drain, Meadow Creek, Tomahawk Creek, Buffalo Creek, Renwick Creek, and

Wabash Creek. A statistical trend analysis would verify whether an increasing or decreasing temporal trend in nutrient concentrations was present.

Chapter 4: Bacteria.

Bacteria are naturally found in the intestinal tract of mammals; however, coliforms, including *E. coli*, are often found in surface waters and may indicate a risk to human health. Agricultural activities that have the potential to contribute bacteria to surface waters include manure spreading, allowing direct cattle access to streams, and improper storage and handling of manure.

Peaks in fecal bacteria occasionally occur in agricultural streams and may indicate a risk to human or animal health.

- *E. coli* and fecal coliforms were commonly found in agricultural streams in Alberta. Sixty-nine percent of all samples collected (1999 to 2006) had detectable levels of *E. coli*, and 79% had detectable levels of fecal coliforms.
- Fecal bacteria counts in Alberta's agricultural streams were extremely variable ranging three orders of magnitude, from below method detection limits (<10 CFU·100 mL⁻¹) to 60 000 CFU·100 mL⁻¹.
- Annual counts of ambient fecal bacteria for individual streams were typically < 100 CFU·100 mL⁻¹, falling below water quality guidelines for irrigation and recreational use. However, occasional extreme peaks in fecal bacteria (> 1000 CFU·100 mL⁻¹) occurred, most often in summer months in association with peaks in discharge or suspended sediment.

The agricultural intensity metric was not a good predictor of streams with the highest risk of fecal contamination.

- Unlike nutrient concentrations, fecal bacteria counts did not show an increasing pattern with increasing agricultural intensity.
 - Annual geometric mean *E. coli* and fecal coliform counts were significantly higher in moderate intensity and irrigated streams than in low and high agricultural intensity watersheds.
 - Export coefficients were also highest for the moderate agricultural intensity streams.

The highest risk of fecal contamination occurred in watersheds in the Fescue, Moist, and Moist Mixed Grasslands Ecoregions in Southern Alberta.

- Annual geometric mean fecal coliform and *E. coli* counts were highest in the Grassland ecoregion area, followed by the Irrigated Grassland and Boreal ecoregions areas. Values were the lowest in the Parkland and Continental Divide Ecoregions, areas which are dominated by high and low intensity agriculture, respectively.
- *E. coli* and fecal coliform exports were significantly higher in the Grassland and Boreal ecoregions areas. These regions of the province have higher runoff potential and higher ambient bacteria counts. Export coefficients were not calculated for the Irrigated Grassland, but load calculations suggest that fecal loading was high from watersheds in this region.

Streams with high risk for fecal contamination and high bacteria exports do not necessarily coincide with streams with high in-stream nutrient concentrations or high nutrient exports.

- There was an inverse correlation between ambient fecal coliforms and nutrient parameters, specifically TN and TDP, indicating that streams with high nutrient concentrations do not necessarily have water quality issues related to fecal bacteria contamination.
- Bacteria exports from the Grassland ecoregion area were higher than would have been expected from nutrient exports. For example, nutrient exports for Trout and Meadow Creeks were among the lowest of the 23 AESA watersheds, while fecal bacteria exports were among the highest.

Chapter 5: Pesticides.

During the last few decades, pesticides have been essential for increasing agricultural productivity; however, pesticide exposure has been linked to human and aquatic health issues. Currently, there is widespread pesticide use throughout the agricultural industry in Alberta.

Low level concentrations of a variety of pesticides were commonly found in surface waters of agricultural watersheds. Each of the 23 AESA watersheds had at least one pesticide compound detected in stream water during the monitoring period.

- One or more of the 68 pesticide compounds monitored were detected in 64% of samples from 1999 to 2006.
- Thirty-seven of the 68 compounds monitored were detected. Of the total 68 compounds analyzed, detections included
 - o 29 of 40 herbicides plus breakdown products and isomers,
 - o 4 of 20 insecticides plus breakdown products and isomers,
 - o 4 of 8 fungicides.
- Herbicides were detected more frequently than insecticides or fungicides, a finding that corresponds with the pesticide sales information.
 - The top two detected herbicides, 2,4-D and MCPA, were detected in 46% and 31% of samples, respectively. Another six herbicide active ingredients were detected in ≥10% of analyzed samples (clopyralid, triclopyr, dicamba, picloram, imazethabenz-methyl, and MCPP). The remaining 21 herbicide compounds were detected in <10% of samples.
 - The top detected insecticide was gammabenzehexachloride (lindane), found in 0.6% of samples.
 - The top detected fungicide was iprodione, found in 3.3% of samples.

Pesticide detection frequency, total pesticide concentration, and the total number of compounds detected increased significantly as agricultural intensity increased from low to high.

- In low intensity watersheds, 24% of samples had detectable levels of at least one pesticide. Total detection frequency increased to 80% in high intensity dryland watersheds and 91% in high intensity irrigated watersheds.
- Higher pesticide detections in high intensity watersheds were mirrored by higher total concentrations.

- The likelihood of pesticide mixtures occurring was also greater in high intensity agricultural watersheds, regardless of whether dryland or irrigated agriculture was practiced.
 - Low and moderate agricultural intensity watersheds generally had only one pesticide in a sample, while high intensity and irrigated watersheds typically had a mixture of pesticide compounds (two or more) per sample.
 - The median number of compounds detected per sample was two.
- Irrigated watersheds had a higher toxicity risk than high intensity dryland watersheds indicating total pesticide concentration alone is not a good measure of threat to aquatic life; it is important to know which compounds are present and in what concentrations.

Correlations between total pesticide detection frequency and the overall agricultural intensity metric supported the use of the metric as a predictor of the degree of pesticide contamination in small agricultural watersheds.

- There was a strong correlation between the intensity of agriculture in a watershed (as % cropland and fertilizer and chemical expense percentiles) and total pesticide detection frequency.
- Total pesticide concentrations appeared to be influenced by the type of water management used (irrigated versus dryland) as well as by the intensity of chemical use.

At a broad level, temporal patterns in pesticide detection frequency and total concentration were not observed during the period of monitoring (1999 to 2006); however, temporal patterns were observed for certain active ingredients.

- Though a potential downward pattern in total detections frequencies may be emerging for the 40 compounds routinely monitored from 1999 to 2006, this pattern is dampened when all 68 compounds were included in the analysis. Active ingredients in pesticides are changing with time as new products come on the market and specific pest outbreaks occur.
- Temporal patterns in certain individual active ingredients were observed with time either at provincial, regional, or site specific scales.
 - Imazamethabenz-methyl concentrations showed a qualitative increase from 2001 to 2006 at a provincial scale.
 - Picloram detection frequencies showed significant declines in high intensity dryland watersheds from 1999 to 2005 but slightly increased again in 2006.
 - Simazine detection frequencies increased in New West Coulee from 2002 to 2006.
- Of the top two detected herbicides, 2,4-D and MCPA, only MCPA demonstrated a substantial increase in pesticide sales from 1998 to 2003. A corresponding increase in detection frequency was not observed from 1999 to 2006.

The types of pesticides detected and the timing of peak concentrations varied geographically and were related to the type of agriculture practiced (irrigated versus dryland).

• Eight pesticide compounds were detected solely in watersheds under irrigated agriculture, reflecting the greater diversity of specialty crop types grown (e.g., simazine application to corn crops).

- Nine pesticide compounds were detected only in watersheds under dryland agriculture. For example, the fungicide iprodione, which is applied to canola and bean crops, was only detected in high intensity dryland streams.
- High agricultural intensity and irrigated watersheds showed peaks in total pesticide concentrations in spring (March) and summer (June or July).
 - In irrigated streams, total pesticide concentrations were highest in June following pesticide application, while total pesticide concentrations were highest in March during snowmelt runoff in watersheds with high intensity agriculture.

Guidelines for the protection of aquatic life (PAL) and irrigation application were exceeded in some samples.

- Watersheds under irrigated agriculture exceeded guidelines more frequently than high, moderate, and low agricultural intensity watersheds. Low agricultural intensity watersheds exceeded guidelines the least.
- Irrigation guidelines for MCPA and dicamba were exceeded most frequently (11.2 and 11.4% of samples, respectively), indicating potential for damage to sensitive plant species if stream water was used for irrigation purposes.
- Guidelines for PAL were exceeded for 2,4-D, MCPA, chlorpyrifos, lindane, and triallate but only in a small proportion of samples (0.2 to 0.5%).

The AESA Stream Survey confirmed the impact of agricultural activities on surface water quality in Alberta, echoing findings of the CAESA study (Anderson et al. 1998a, b). In general, higher agricultural intensity watersheds had the highest concentrations of nutrients and pesticides. Overall, it was evident that water quality in the AESA watersheds (as determined by nutrients, pesticides, and bacteria) was influenced by agricultural intensity factors (e.g., variability in land use and management) and ecoregional characteristics (e.g., climate and topography). Seasonal and inter-annual variability was observed in most watersheds for the majority of parameters.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Alberta Agriculture and Rural Development (ARD) led the Alberta Environmentally Sustainable Agriculture (AESA) Water Quality Monitoring Project. The project also received substantial inkind contributions from partners, including Alberta Environment (AENV), Alberta Health and Wellness (AHW), and Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada (AAFC). The AESA Water Quality Committee (past/present) included Anne-Marie Anderson (AENV), Sandra Cooke (ARD), David Neilson (ARD), Jamie Wuite (ARD), Neil MacAlpine (ARD), Sharon Reedyk (AAFC), Rod Bennett (ARD), Sarah Depoe (ARD), Murray Tenove (ARD), Cherie Westbrook (ARD), Natasha Carle (ARD), Jimmy Yao (ARD), Sandi Jones (ARD), Dale Engstrom (ARD), Douwe Vanderwel (ARD), Dave Ritchie (ARD), Ken Ziegler (ARD), Kevin McLeod (AHW), Marie Belliveau (AHW), and Murray Klutz (Ducks Unlimited).

All partners provided technical input at AESA Water Quality Committee meetings and individually made the following contributions:

- ARD coordinated the program and provided funding, technical expertise in data analysis, report preparation, and extension material preparation.
- AENV provided technical expertise in data collection and management and provided funding for pesticide analyses.
- AHW provided bacterial analyses.

Many staff members from ARD and AENV participated in the sampling program from 1999 to 2006. Many thanks are extended to Sarah Fountain, Kelly Krenz, Fred Richer, Sandy Holmes, Heather Landiak, Greg Montgomery, Syd Abday, Laura Ung, Dale Chrapko, Ryan Cox, Kathy Reid, Christine Sweet, Lisa Kennedy, Ken Lewis, Karen Yakimishyn, Annette Svederus, Wally Sawchuk, Dave Coutts, Randy Perkins, Murray Peters, Keith Adamson, Gerald Ontkean, Heather Kolberg, Janelle Villeneuve, Paul Graveland, Ward Henry, Aldo DiMaria, Sandy Holmes, Heather Johnson, Tom Schultz, Kevin Yaremchuk, James Cuff, Phil Lund, Ray Walker Dennis Roll, Bryce Surina, Shane Faechner, Jim Anderson, James Proudfoot, Greg Poirier, Salina Perry, Morna Hussey, Bridgette Halbig, Chris Rickard, Trina Ball, Brian Jackson and John Willis.

Special thanks is extended to Mike Sajjad for his work coordinating field staff, collecting water samples, and validating data over the years.

Thanks to all who took the time to review this report and provide valuable feedback: Anne-Marie Anderson (AENV), Danielle Cobbaert (AENV), Andrea Kalsichuk (ARD), Joanne Little (ARD), Barry Olson (ARD), Sharon Reedyk (AAFC), and Jamie Wuite (ARD). Additionally, many staff contributed mapping, graphics, and GIS work, including: Brian Coffee (ARD), Bonnie Hofer, Daniel Itenfisu (ARD), Longin Pawlowski (ARD), David Spiess (ARD), and Ralph Wright (ARD).

TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARYiii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS xi
TABLE OF CONTENTS xii
LIST OF ABBREVIATIONSxiii
Chapter 1: Study Rationale and Objectives 1-1
Chapter 2: Study Design, Hydrology, Land Cover, and the Agricultural Intensity Metric 2-1
Chapter 3: Nutrients
Chapter 4: Bacteria
Chapter 5: Pesticides
References R-1
Appendices

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

AAWQI	Alberta Agriculture Water Quality Index
ac	Acres
AENV	Alberta Environment
AESA	Alberta Environmentally Sustainable Agriculture
AI	Agricultural Intensity
ANOVA	Analysis of Variance
ARD	Alberta Agriculture and Rural Development
CAESA	Canada-Alberta Environmentally Sustainable Agriculture
CCME	Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment
CEQG	Canadian Environmental Quality Guidelines
CFU	Colony Forming Units
E. coli	Escherichia coli
FWMC	Flow Weighted Mean Concentration
GIS	Geographic Information Systems
ha	Hectares
km	Kilometers
LIND	Lethbridge Northern Irrigation District
MDL	Minimum Detection Limit
Ν	Nitrogen
NH ₃ -N	Ammonia Nitrogen
$NH_{4}+$	Ammonium
NFR	Non-Filterable Residue
NO ₂ -N	Nitrite Nitrogen
NO ₃ -N	Nitrate Nitrogen
NO ₂ ⁻ N+NO ₃ ⁻ N	Nitrite Nitrogen + Nitrate Nitrogen
ORG-N	Organic Nitrogen
Р	Phosphorus
PAL	Protection of Aquatic Life
Q	Stream Discharge
QA	Quality Assurance
QC	Quality Control
SMRID	St. Mary Irrigation District
spp.	Species
TDP	Total Dissolved Phosphorus
TKN	Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen
TN	Total Nitrogen
TP	Total Phosphorus
TPP	Total Particulate Phosphorus
WDS	Water Data Server

Chapter 1: Study Objectives and Rationale

All land-use activities impact watershed function to some degree. Research has shown that agricultural practices can lead to the deterioration of surface water quality by contributing contaminants such as nutrients (i.e., phosphorus (P) and nitrogen (N)), pesticides, sediments, and bacteria to surface water bodies (Daniel et al. 1998; Baxter-Potter and Gilliland 1988; Sharpley and Syers 1979; Wauchope 1978). The consequences of nutrient enrichment, bacteria and sediment loading, and pesticide contamination to aquatic ecosystem and human health may be significant. Resulting water quality issues in streams and receiving waterbodies include eutrophication, cyanobacterial blooms, and sedimentation of aquatic habitat, to name a few. Water quality concerns affecting human and livestock health relate to the presence of nitrate, pathogens, or pesticide contaminants in drinking water. While all surface water in Alberta must be treated prior to human consumption, livestock consume untreated or raw water. Furthermore, treatment of drinking water does not necessarily remove pesticides. The unintended application of pesticides to crops through irrigation water can dramatically affect crop production. The presence of pesticides or pathogens in irrigation water also poses a threat to food safety (Van de Venter 2000).

Ecoregions are areas of similar climate, geology, landscape, soils, and natural vegetation. With this natural variability across the province, ecoregions are an important scale for examining water quality. The natural physical and climatic characteristics within an ecoregion have a tendency to lead to similar land-use patterns. Correlations between land use (e.g., bare ground, vegetative cover, wetlands, and urban spaces) and water quality have been found in many countries, including Canada (Galbraith and Burns 2007; Houlahan and Findlay 2004; Herlihy et al. 1998). Specifically pertaining to agricultural land uses, Mattikalli and Richards (1996) found an increasing trend of P and N and with the intensification of agriculture and fertilizer usage. Other studies have found P and N concentrations in intermittent prairie watersheds to increase where there was an increased density of cropping (Dodds and Oakes 2006; Little et al. 2003). The impact of agricultural activities on water quality will depend on not only the proportion of land under cultivation, but also on the farming practices employed (i.e. timing, amounts, and placement), soil type and topography, weather and climate patterns. Agricultural activities that have potential to contribute contaminants to surface water include but are not limited to: applying manure or fertilizer to agricultural fields, intensive livestock operations (i.e. feedlots, dairies, wintering sites), non-intensive livestock operations (i.e. pasture, cow-calf, watering sites), tilling fields to release sediment, applying pesticides, and irrigating (releases trace elements and salts).

The environmental concerns arising from agricultural activities, including nutrient and pesticide loading and bacterial contamination, are also a reality in Alberta. The Provincial Stream Survey, which was conducted under the Canada-Alberta Environmentally Sustainable Agricultural (CAESA) Agreement (1995 to 1996), was specific to agricultural watersheds in Alberta and found higher peak, median, and flow weighted mean concentrations of total and dissolved nutrients and more frequent pesticide detections in streams draining high agricultural intensity watersheds (Anderson et al. 1998a, b, c).

The agriculture industry has continued to grow in Alberta. In 2006, Alberta had 21.1 million ha of agricultural land, representing 31.2% of the national total (Statistics Canada 2006). There

were 49,500 farms with an average size of 427 ha of agricultural land. Out of these farms, the two major sectors were beef cattle (41.5%) and wheat, grain and oil seed (25.2%). With the majority of agriculture in Alberta relating to the beef cattle sector, it is not surprising that Alberta has the largest cattle and calf inventories compared to other provinces. In 2006, Alberta had 6.3 million head followed by Saskatchewan at 3.5 million head. Other livestock inventories including pigs, sheep, and lambs were less dominant. Overall, these large numbers of livestock across Alberta have the potential to contribute significant quantities of nutrients and bacteria into surface water through hydrologically linked pathways, or by direct access of livestock to waterways.

Given the large area of the province designated as crop land, Alberta had the highest pesticide sales of all Canadian provinces in 2003, the majority of them being herbicides (Byrtus 2007). Within the Alberta agricultural sector, the top active ingredients sold in 2003 include glyphosate, MCPA, and 2,4-D (Byrtus 2007). Pesticide sales in the Oldman River basin accounted for 21% of the provincial sales followed closely by the Red Deer River basin (18%), the North Saskatchewan River basin (15%), and the Battle River basin (15%). These values are not surprising given all four basins have the highest area of cultivated land in Alberta (Byrtus 2007).

Nutrients, pesticides, and bacterial contamination are also a concern in Alberta's irrigated areas. A small portion (approximately 4%) of Alberta's agricultural land is irrigated; however, it provides approximately 16 % of the total agricultural production (Hecker 2002). The 13 irrigation districts provide water to 550,000 ha of farmland with an 8000-km conveyance system. All 13 irrigation districts lie in the southern portion of the province and are used to irrigate cereal, forage, and specialty crops including potato, sugar beet, and sunflower. Agricultural production is always the most intense on irrigated land. Inputs on irrigated land are far greater than those for dryland agriculture. Thus, increased fertilizer and pesticide use combined with water application (and drainage) predispose irrigated lands to environmental risks.

The increased awareness of these environmental concerns across Alberta is evident in the increased use of environmentally friendly practices such as no-till seeding and conservation tillage. In 2006, 75% of land prepared for seeding used environmentally improved practices, which is much higher than in 1991 when only 27% of the land base used environmentally improved practices (Statistics Canada 2006).

In 1998, the Province of Alberta took the lead in facilitating the implementation of environmentally sustainable agriculture practices by initiating the Alberta Environmentally Sustainable Agriculture (AESA) Program (AAFRD 1999). The AESA Program followed the cessation Canada-Alberta Environmentally Sustainable Agreement (CAESA), a five-year (1992 to 1997) cost-shared program that aimed to decrease the environmental impacts of agriculture on the environment. The CAESA and AESA Programs included provincial-scale surface water quality monitoring components. In the CAESA Provincial Stream Survey, the monitoring goal was to define the effects of agriculture on surface water quality. Small streams in agricultural basins with different levels of agricultural intensity streams were monitored for two years (1995 and 1996). The AESA Stream Survey, initiated in 1999, was designed to be longer term and assess temporal and spatial patterns in water quality in watersheds with agricultural activity, as recommended in the CAESA findings. Furthermore, watersheds were selected to encompass the range of agricultural intensities across the province including low-agricultural intensity reference watersheds, watersheds already subject to high intensity farming, watersheds with the potential for intensified agriculture, and those under irrigated agriculture. Specifically, the two objectives for AESA Stream Survey were as follows:

- iii) to learn more about how stream water quality is impacted by low, moderate, and high intensity (dryland and irrigated) agriculture in Alberta; and
- iv) to track changes in water quality as the industry grows and agricultural management practices change.

The purpose of this report is to address the two AESA Stream Survey objectives using water quality data collected from 1999 to 2006, as well as data available from the earlier CAESA Provincial Stream Survey. Due to the large volume data, this report is divided into five chapters:

- Chapter 1: Study Rationale and Objectives
- Chapter 2: Study Design, Hydrology, Land Cover, and the Agricultural Intensity Metric
 - Provides background information on the study design and discusses watershed characteristics such as hydrology (including precipitation), land cover, and the census-based agricultural intensity classifications from 1996, 2001, and 2006.
- Chapter 3: Nutrients
 - Discusses nutrient findings including compliance with surface water quality guidelines and interpretation of flow weighted mean concentrations, mass transport, and export coefficients. Seasonal and temporal patterns as well as the influence of agricultural intensity and ecoregional characteristics are examined.
- Chapter 4: Bacteria
 - Discusses ambient *E. coli* and fecal coliform concentrations, geometric means, export coefficients, and loads. Seasonal patterns are examined as well as the influence of agricultural intensity and watershed location within the province (ecoregion area).
- Chapter 5: Pesticides
 - Evaluates pesticide concentrations and detection frequencies with respect to pesticide guidelines, the Alberta Pesticide Toxicity Index, and agricultural intensity. Seasonality and interannual variability are examined. The relationship between pesticide occurrences and land cover, chemical and fertilizer expenses, and pesticide sales data is also discussed.

Figures and tables not illustrated within the chapters can be found in the Appendices at the end of the report.

Chapter 2: Study Design, Hydrology, Land Cover, and the Agricultural Intensity Metric

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS	2-i
LIST OF FIGURES	2-ii
LIST OF TABLES	2-iv
INTRODUCTION	2-1
Objectives	2-1
MATERIALS AND METHODS	2-1
Project Design and Site Descriptions	2-1
Monitoring Period	
Stream Sampling Methods	
Hydrology and Stream Flow Monitoring	
Precipitation	
Water Sample Analysis	
Land Cover	2-10
Agricultural Intensity Metrics: Changes with Time	2-10
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	2-11
Precipitation	2-11
Hydrology	2-15
Aspen Parkland Ecoregion.	2-20
Boreal Forest Ecoregion (Boreal Transition and Western Alberta Upland).	2-28
Peace Lowland and Clear Hills Upland Ecoregions.	2-35
Fescue Grassland Ecoregion	2-39
Northern Continental Divide Ecoregion.	2-42
Moist Mixed Grassland and Mixed Grassland (under Irrigation) Ecoregions	2-42
Land Cover	2-47
Agricultural Intensity Classification in 1996, 2001 and 2006	2-50
SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	2-57

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 2.1.	Map of Alberta showing the location of the 23 AESA watersheds in relation to Ecoregion and white zone (agricultural zone) boundaries
Figure 2.2.	The 30-year average annual total precipitation (1971 to 2000) in Alberta based on data from Environment Canada, Alberta Environment, and the National Climate Data Centre
Figure 2.3.	Total precipitation by ecoregion area from March 1 through October 31 2-14
Figure 2.4.	Annual mean unit runoff depth for the AESA watersheds 2-15
Figure 2.5.	Spring (March through April) and Summer and Fall (May through October) mean annual runoff depths (1999 to 2006) for the AESA watersheds
Figure 2.6.	Daily discharge (lower y-axis) and precipitation (Pptn) (upper y-axis) for Buffalo Creek, Stretton Creek, and Haynes Creek M6 from 1995 through 2006 2-24
Figure 2.7.	Monthly discharge (lower y-axis) and number (n) of water quality samples (WQ) (upper y-axis) for Buffalo Creek (1995 to 2006), Stretton Creek (1995 to 2006), and Haynes Creek (1995 to 2006) from March through October
Figure 2.8.	Daily discharge (lower y-axis) and precipitation (Pptn) (upper y-axis) for Ray Creek, Renwick Creek, and Threehills Creek from 1995 through 2006 2-26
Figure 2.9.	Monthly discharge (lower y-axis) and number (n) of water quality samples (WQ) (upper y-axis) for Ray Creek (1995 to 2006), Renwick Creek (1995 to 2006), and Threehills Creek (1995 to 2006) from March through October
Figure 2.10.	Daily discharge (lower y-axis) and precipitation (Pptn) (upper y-axis) for Blindman River, Rose Creek, and Strawberry Creek from 1995 through 2006 2-31
Figure 2.11.	Discharge (lower y-axis) and number (n) of water quality samples (WQ) (upper y- axis) for Blindman River (1995 to 2006), Rose Creek (1995 – 2006) and Strawberry Creek (1995 to 2006) from March to October
Figure 2.12.	Daily discharge (lower y-axis) and precipitation (Pptn) (upper y-axis) for Paddle River, Tomahawk Creek, and Wabash Creek from 1995 to 2006 2-33
Figure 2.13.	Mean monthly discharge (lower y-axis) and number (n) of water quality samples (WQ) (upper y-axis) for Paddle River (1995 to 2006 discharge; 1999 to 2006 sample number), Tomahawk Creek (1995 to 2006), and Wabash Creek (1999 to 2006) from March to October

Figure 2.14. Daily discharge (lower y-axis) and precipitation (Pptn) (upper y-axis) for Kleskun Drain, Grande Prairie Creek, and Hines Creek from 1995 through 2006...... 2-37

Figure 2.15. Monthly discharge (lower y-axis) and number (n) of water qua	lity samples (WQ)
(upper y-axis) for Kleskun Drain (1999 to 2006), Grande Prain	ie Creek (1999 to
2006), and Hines Creek (1999 to 2006) from March through C	ctober 2-38

Figure 2.17.	Monthly discharge (lower y-axis) and number (n) of water quality samples (WQ)	
	(upper y-axis) for Meadow Creek (1995 to 2006), Trout Creek (1995 to 2006) and	
	Prairie Blood Coulee (1995 to 2006) from March through October 2-	41

Figure 2.20. Discharge (lower y-axis) and precipitation (Pptn) (upper y-axis) for Drain S6 and New West Coulee from 1995 through 2006......2-46

Figure 2.21. Monthly discharge (lower y-axis) and number (n) of water quality samples (WQ) (upper y-axis) for Drain S6 (1995 – 2006) and New West Coulee (1999 – 2006) from March through October. 2-47

Figure 2.22.	Land cover (1991 classification) of four representative AESA watersheds covering	g
-	the four agricultural intensity categories	-49
Elaura 2.22	A anigultural intensity noncentiles for 22 AESA streams from 1006 2001 and 200	6

rigule 2.23.	. Agricultural intensity percentiles for 25 AESA streams from 1990, 2001, an	Iu 2000
	Census of Agriculture data	2-53
	6	
Figure 2.24.	. Manure production percentiles for 23 AESA streams from 1996, 2001, and	2006

-	Census of Agriculture data	. 2-53
Figure 2.25.	Fertilizer expenses percentiles for 23 AESA streams from 1996, 2001, and 200	6
-	Census of Agriculture data	. 2-54

Figure 2.18. Daily discharge (lower y-axis) and precipitation (Pptn) (upper y-axis) for Willow Creek, Battersea Drain, and Crowfoot Creek from 1995 through 2006. 2-44

LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1.	Agricultural intensity, runoff potential, major river basin (or sub-basin), and ecoregion area categories of the watersheds studied from 1999 to 2006 2-3
Table 2.2.	Watersheds monitored in the CAESA and AESA Stream Surveys from 1995 to 2006
Table 2.3.	Water quality parameters measured in the AESA Stream Survey 2-9
Table 2.4.	Annual precipitation (mm) estimated for the centre of each AESA watershed. Precipitation totals are from March 1 to October 31 annually to correspond with the water quality sampling period
Table 2.5.	Mean daily discharge (m ³ s ⁻¹ ; Q_{mean}) by year (1995 to 2006) for the 23 AESA 2-17
Table 2.6.	Median daily discharge (m ³ s ⁻¹ ; Q _{median}) by year (1995 to 2006) for the 23 AESA watersheds
Table 2.7.	Maximum daily discharge (m ³ s ⁻¹ ; Q _{max}) by year (1995 to 2006) for the 23 AESA watersheds
Table 2.8.	Annual number of nutrient samples collected (March 1 through October 31) for each AESA watershed
Table 2.9.	Percent land cover for all major classifications in the AESA watersheds in 1991 2-48
Table 2.10.	Agricultural intensity rank (low, moderate, high) for 22 AESA streams from 1996, 2001, and 2006 Census of Agriculture data
Table 2.11.	Agricultural intensity percentiles (between 0 and 1) for 22 AESA streams from 1996, 2001, and 2006 Census of Agriculture data

INTRODUCTION

Other studies have shown that patterns in water quality may be affected by activity on land (Daniel et al. 1998; Baxter-Potter and Gilliland 1988; Sharpley and Syers 1979; Wauchope 1978) as well as the magnitude and timing of runoff and stream flow (Tate et al. 1999; Anderson et al. 1998b). The AESA Stream Survey study design is discussed in Chapter 2 to provide a background for subsequent chapters. Precipitation, hydrology, sampling regime, land cover, and agricultural intensity are also examined in order to facilitate interpretation of nutrient, bacteria, and pesticide data. These influential factors are frequently discussed throughout the report (Chapters 3, 4, and 5).

Objectives

The objectives of Chapter 2 are as follows:

- i. Understand precipitation and hydrology patterns (1995 to 2006) in the 23 AESA watersheds and the similarities and/or differences among Ecoregions;
- ii. Examine the flow biased sampling regime and its implications in subsequent data interpretation;
- iii. Characterize land cover in the AESA watersheds and understand the variations in land cover among watersheds under differing agricultural intensities; and
- iv. Evaluate the agricultural intensity metric and examine changes in agricultural intensity percentiles over the three census years (1996, 2001, and 2006).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Project Design and Site Descriptions

The AESA Stream Survey examined water quality in 23 small, representative agricultural watersheds across Alberta. The watersheds were selected through a process that took into account agricultural intensity, regional climate, and runoff likelihood (Anderson et al. 1999). Watersheds were intentionally biased toward soil and landscape features that promote runoff as this is a primary transport mechanism for agricultural contaminants between land and water (Anderson et al. 1999). Runoff potential was determined by considering annual rainfall, landform characteristics, soil texture (clay, loam, silt), and depth of the topsoil layer in the watershed. Watersheds were relatively small in size (3200 to 137000 ha) to minimize the influences of non-agricultural activity on water quality.

Agricultural intensity (AI) metrics are used to link a watershed's agricultural activities with potential environmental impacts. Agricultural intensity was evaluated using three metrics: fertilizer expenses, chemical expenses, and manure production (Johnson and Kirtz 1998; Anderson et al. 1999). Data were obtained from the 1996 Canada Census of Agriculture (Statistics Canada 1996). Fertilizer and chemical expenses were used as indicators of crop production (e.g., oilseeds/grains), and manure production was used as an indicator of livestock production (e.g., cow-calf, intensive livestock operations). Chemical expenses, fertilizer

expenses, and manure production per unit area were determined for all watersheds in the province, and each watershed was ranked with respect to the rest of the watersheds. The sum of the ranks for the three metrics was ranked again, and the final rank represented the measure of agricultural intensity as defined in the AESA water quality monitoring program (Anderson et al. 1999). The AESA watersheds were selected based on these final ranks.

Agricultural intensity classes based on stream-basin percentile ranking were defined as follows:

Non-agricultural = 0 0 < Low Agricultural Intensity > 40 40 < Moderate Agricultural Intensity > 75 High Agricultural Intensity > 75

Of the 23 watersheds selected, five had low agricultural intensity, six had moderate agricultural intensity, eight had high agricultural intensity, and four had high intensity agriculture in addition to receiving irrigation return flows. These watersheds were selected because they covered the range of agricultural intensities that typify the province (Anderson et al. 1999) and irrigated and dryland agriculture. Most of the high agricultural intensity watersheds have low to moderate runoff potential, whereas watersheds with low and moderate agricultural intensity are in areas of moderate to high runoff (Anderson et al. 1999).

AESA watersheds also capture the range of climatic and ecological characteristics by spanning nine different Ecoregions across the province (Figure 2.1). For the purpose of reporting, the specific Ecoregions were grouped into five general 'ecoregion areas' that are similar to the Natural Regions of Alberta. The five general ecoregion areas include the Boreal (includes four Ecoregions), Aspen Parkland (includes one Ecoregion), Continental Divide (includes one Ecoregion), Grassland (includes one Ecoregion), and Irrigated Grassland (includes two Grassland Ecoregions with the irrigated watersheds) (Table 2.1).

The 23 AESA watersheds are in four of Alberta's seven major river basins: South Saskatchewan River (Bow, Red Deer, and Oldman River sub-basins), North Saskatchewan River (Battle River sub-basin), Peace/Slave River, and Athabasca River (Table 2.1).

Fifteen of the watersheds in the AESA Stream Survey were originally monitored as part of the CAESA study (1995 to 1998), and eight watersheds were added to the monitoring suite in 1999 (Table 2.1). The additional watersheds included Hines Creek, Grande Prairie Creek, and Kleskun Drain in north western Alberta; Wabash Creek northwest of Edmonton; Willow Creek in the South-Western foothills region; and New West Coulee, Drain S-6, and the Battersea Drain in the irrigated, southern portion of the province.

Table 2.1. Agricultural intens	sity, runoff poter	ntial, major ri	ver basin (or	sub-basin), an	id ecoregion area catego	pries of the watersheds studied from
1999 to 2006.						
AESA stream	HYDAT	Gross	Effective	Runoff	Ecoregion Area	Major river basin or sub-basin
	station code	drainage	drainage	potential		
Low intensity- dryland		מורמ (זומ)	arva (114)			
Hines Creek (HIN)	07FD011	37400	37400	High	Boreal	Peace River and Slave River
Paddle River (PAD)	07BB011	25300	25300	Moderate	Boreal	Athabasca River
Prairie Blood Coulee (PRA)	05AD035	22600	22600	High	Grassland	Oldman River
Rose Creek (ROS)	05DE007	55900	55900	Moderate	Boreal	North Saskatchewan River
Willow Creek (WIL)	05AB040	6530	6530	High	Continental Divide	Oldman River
Moderate intensity- drylanc	q			I		
Blindman River (BLI)	05CC008	35300	35300	Moderate	Boreal	Red Deer River
Grande Prairie Creek (GRA)	07GE003	14000	14000	High	Boreal	Peace River and Slave River
Kleskun Drain (KLE)	07GE002	3200	3200	High	Boreal	Peace River and Slave River
Meadow Creek (MEA)	05AB029	13000	13000	High	Grassland	Oldman River
Tomahawk Creek (TOM)	05DE009	9530	9530	High	Boreal	North Saskatchewan River
Trout Creek (TRO)	05AB005	44100	44100	High	Grassland	Oldman River
High intensity- dryland						
Buffalo Creek (BUF)	05FE002	71400	14700	Moderate	Parkland	Battle River
Haynes Creek M1 (HM1) ^z	ı	2400	2400	Moderate	Parkland	Red Deer River
Haynes Creek M6 (HM6)	05CD006	16600	16600	Moderate	Parkland	Red Deer River
Ray Creek (RAY)	05CE010	4440	4440	Moderate	Parkland	Red Deer River
Renwick Creek (REN)	05CE011	5900	5810	Moderate	Parkland	Red Deer River
Strawberry Creek (STW)	05DF004	59200	58900	High		North Saskatchewan River
Stretton Creek (STT)	05EE005	7400	5630	Low	Parkland	North Saskatchewan River
Threehills Creek (THR)	05CE018	19900	13800	Moderate	Parkland	Red Deer River
Wabash Creek (WAB)	07BC007	34400	34400	Moderate	Parkland	Athabasca River
Streams receiving irrigation	n return flows (irrigated wa	tersheds) ^y			
Battersea Drain (BAT)	ı	8700	ı	High	Irrigated	Oldman River
Crowfoot Creek (CRO)	05BM008	137000	ı	High	Irrigated	Bow River
Drain S6 (DS6)	I	3200	I	High	Irrigated	South Saskatchewan River
New West Coulee (NEW)	05BN006	31800	I	High	Irrigated	Bow River
^z Haynes Creek M1 is a su	ub-watershed a	of Haynes C	reek M6.			
^y The effective drainage a	trea for each ir	rigated wate	ershed is not	t show as the	ere was uncertainty i	n the actual contributing areas

b 2 for these watersheds. 2-3



Figure 2.1. Map of Alberta showing the location of the 23 AESA watersheds in relation to Ecoregion and white zone (agricultural zone) boundaries.

Monitoring Period

There are up to 12 years of continuous water quality data for streams sampled under the CAESA and AESA Stream Surveys (1995 to 2006) and eight years of data for the streams sampled under the AESA Stream Survey alone (1999 to 2006) (Table 2.2).

Sampling records for five of the 15 CAESA/AESA watersheds were interrupted in 1998 during the transition between programs. The sampling location in Willow Creek was changed in 1999, and data from this watershed were only analyzed between 1999 and 2006.

In this report, the water quality comparisons made among watershed categories (i.e., agricultural intensity or ecoregion area categories) were completed on the eight-year 1999 to 2006 dataset for the 23 AESA streams. This ensured that observed differences could be attributed to the factors under investigation and that data were collected during years with comparable weather and stream flow conditions.

Water quality patterns in individual streams (i.e., inter-annual or seasonal patterns) were examined using the entire period of record available (up to 15 years).

Stream Sampling Methods

All sampling locations were in close proximity to the watershed outlet and situated in the immediate vicinity of an active Water Survey of Canada flow gauging station or a gauging station operated by AENV or the Irrigation District. Note that Willow Creek was sampled in the headwaters rather than the watershed outlet in order to monitor a low agricultural intensity dryland watershed in the southern part of the province (irrigation occurs in the lower portions of the watershed). The AESA Stream Survey field procedures were based on Alberta Environment's protocols and were followed for all sample collections (Depoe and Fountain 2003).

Grab samples were collected throughout the open water season (March 1 to October 31), beginning with spring melt/freshet and continuing until fall. A flow-proportionate (flow-biased) sampling regime was followed, with more frequent sample collection during periods of high flow:

- Nutrient and bacteria samples were collected twice per week during runoff periods, once per week as runoff subsided, then every two weeks and monthly as stream flow returned to base-flow conditions.
- Pesticide samples were collected once per week during peak runoff, then once every two weeks to once monthly as stream flow decreased.

Table 2.2. Watersheds monitored in the CAESA	A and A	ESA S	tream S	urveys	from 1	995 to 2	2006.					
Wetchick		CAF	SA	•				AE	SA			
Watershed	1995	1996	1997	1998	1999	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006
Battersea Drain near the mouth				×	*	×	*	*	×	*	×	*
Blindman River near Bluffton	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
Buffalo Creek at Highway No. 41	*	*	*		*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
Crowfoot Creek near Cluny	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
Drain S-6 near Bow Island					*	×	*	*	×	*	×	*
Grande Prairie Creek near Sexsmith					*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
Haynes Creek near Haynes	*	*	×	×	*	*	*	*	*	*	×	*
Hines Creek above Gerry Lake					×	×	*	*	×	×	×	*
Kleskun Hills Main Drain near Grande Prairie					*	*	*	*	*	*	×	*
Meadow Creek near the mouth	*	*	×		*	*	*	*	*	*	×	*
New West Coulee near the mouth					*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
Paddle River near Anselmo	*	*	*		*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
Prairie Blood Coulee near Lethbridge	*	*			*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
Ray Creek near Innisfail	*	*	×	×	*	*	*	*	*	*	×	*
Renwick Creek near Three Hills	*	*	×	×	*	*	*	*	×	*	×	*
Rose Creek near Alder Flats	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
Strawberry Creek near the mouth	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
Stretton Creek near Marwayne	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
Threehills Creek below Ray Creek	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
Tomahawk Creek near Tomahawk	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
Trout Creek near Granum	*	*	*		*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
Wabash Creek near Pibroch					*	*	*	*	*	*	*	*
Willow Creek at Secondary 532					*	*	*	*	*	*	×	*

The total number of samples collected for each stream varied from year to year as a function of stream flow and runoff episodes.

Hydrology and Stream Flow Monitoring

For the majority of AESA watersheds, continuous daily stream discharge (m³ s⁻¹) was recorded at Water Survey of Canada (WSC) gauging stations (HYDAT station codes in Table 2.1). Alberta Environment maintained many of the gauging stations on the water quality monitoring network, with assistance from irrigation districts (St. Mary River Irrigation District (SMRID), Lethbridge Northern Irrigation District (LNID), and Bow River Irrigation District). Flow records for Drain S6 were maintained by SMRID. Battersea Drain flow records were maintained by LNID. Staff gauge readings and subsequent discharge curves for Battersea Drain were calculated by ARD staff.

Complete flow records were not available for all 23 watersheds:

- Tomahawk Creek was missing flow data for May and June of 1999.
- Willow Creek was missing flow data in April and parts of May 2000.
- New West Coulee was missing flow data from March of every year (1999-2006), while Drain S6 was missing flow data from March and April of every year (1999-2006). Stream flow was not monitored in these two streams before the irrigation canals began diverting flow as flow was minimal.
- Battersea Drain was missing flow data from March to mid or late April of every year (1998 to 2006) and at the very end of October for most years when flow was minimal or had stopped. No data were available for part of May in 2002.

Mean annual unit runoff was calculated each monitoring year by dividing the total volume of water in stream flow from March to October by the effective drainage area and expressed as millimeters (mm) depth of water per year (Anderson et al. 1998b). Monthly unit runoff was calculated as total monthly volume divided by the effective drainage area. Similarly, historical values were calculated for each stream using all available historical flow information. Unit runoff is the standard unit of measure that facilitates comparison of stream flow for basins of different sizes. However, unit runoff measures were not calculated for irrigation drains as canals may enter the watershed and drain water from outside the natural watershed boundary.

Historic hydrometric records ranged in length from 10 years (Willow Creek) to 98 years (Trout Creek). The Willow Creek AESA monitoring site was moved to its current location in 1999, and flow information had only been collected at this site since 1996. Consequently, Willow Creek had a short flow record, whereas other streams had an average of 31 years of flow monitoring data available for calculations of historical means. Historical mean annual runoff depths were calculated using Water Survey of Canada data.

Precipitation

Annual precipitation data (1995 to 2006) were obtained for the township located in the geographic centre of each AESA watershed. Township centers were identified using the *pointed*

polygon function of ARC GIS software. Due to the nature of precipitation data collection, the majority of township rainfall data were interpolated based on surrounding weather stations. Weather station data were supplied by Alberta Environment, Environment Canada, and Alberta Agriculture and Rural Development and interpolated using Ab-Clim 1.0.

Provincial-scale historical precipitation data (1971 to 2000) were also examined.

Water Sample Analysis

Stream water samples were analyzed for the following parameters:

- nutrients (total and dissolved forms of nitrogen and phosphorus)
- fecal bacteria (fecal coliforms and Escherichia coli (E. coli))
- pesticides (herbicides, insecticides, and fungicides), and
- pH, temperature, non-filterable residue (NFR), total dissolved solids, and conductivity.

Table 2.3 lists all water quality parameters investigated in the AESA Stream Survey. Nutrients, fecal bacteria, and pesticide data are presented in detail in other chapters in this report. Summary statistics for additional chemical parameters can be found in the Appendix 18. Note that the pesticide analytical suite was expanded throughout the study when additional compounds of concern and their degradation products were identified. Additional details on the pesticide analytical suite can be found in Chapter 5.

The AESA Stream Survey was part of Alberta Environment's Quality Assurance (QA) program, which included quality control samples (QC) and data management in their Water Data System (WDS). This was an essential part of the program to ensure that the data collected were reliable and accurate for future analyses and reporting. The QA/QC sampling program included replicate samples, split samples, and field and lab blanks for all water quality parameters and spiked samples for pesticides. These samples were included to assess accuracy (spikes), precision (splits), and contamination (blanks). Quality control data were removed from the data set prior to the analysis of the various parameters. A discussion of the QA/QC data is not included in this report.

Nutrient analyses were conducted at the Alberta Research Council in Vegreville (1996 to 1998) and Envirotest Laboratories in Edmonton (1999 to 2006), and pesticide analyses were conducted at the Alberta Research Council in Vegreville. The Provincial Laboratories for Public Health in Edmonton and Calgary provided bacterial enumeration.

Table 2.3. Water quality parameters	measured in the AESA Stream Sur	vey.
Nutrients		-
Total phosphorus (TP)	Total kjeldahl nitrogen (TKN)	Total nitrogen (TN), calculated
Total dissolved phosphorus (TDP)	Nitrite and nitrate nitrogen $(NO_2 + NO_3 - N)$	
Total particulate phosphorus (TPP), calculated	Nitrite (NO ₂ -N)	
	Ammonia Nitrogen (NH ₃ -N) ^z	
Other measurements related to ino	rganic chemistry	
Suspended solids/	pH	Temperature
non-filterable residue	L	r
Fecal bacteria		
Escherichia coli	Fecal coliforms	
Pesticides ^y		
2,4-D	Dicamba	MCPA
2,4-DB	Dichlorprop	MCPB
2,4-Dichlorophenol	Diclofop-methyl	MCPP
Aldicarb	Dieldrin	Metalaxyl-m
Aldrin	Dimethoate	Methomyl
Alpha-Benzenehaxachloride	Disulfoton	Methoxychlor
(Alpha-BHC)		
Alpha-endosulfan	Diuron	Metolachlor
Atrazine	Ethalfluralin	Metribuzin
Desethyl atrazine	Ethion	Napropamide
Desisopropyl atrazine	Ethofumersate	Oxycarboxin
Azinphosmethyl (Guthion)	Fenoxaprop-p-ethyl	Parathion
Bentazon	Fluazifop	Phorate
Bromacil	Fluroxypyr	Picloram
Bromoxynil	Gamma-Benzenehexachloride (Lindane)	Propiconazole
Carbathiin	Glyphosate	Pyridaben
4-Chloro-2-Methylphenol	Aminomethyl Phosphonic Acid	Quinclorac
Chlorothalonil	Glyfosinate	Quizalofop
Chlorpyrifos	Hexaconazole	Simazine
Clopyralid	Imazamethabenz-methyl	Terbufos
Clodinafop-propargyl	Imazamox	Thiamethoxam
Clodinafop Acid Metabolite	Imazethapyr	Triallate
Cyanazine	Iprodione	Triclopyr
Diazinon	Linuron	Trifluralin
	Malathion	Vinclozolin

^z Analytical method detects both NH₄⁺ and NH₃ forms of N ^yNote: Not all pesticides listed were monitored every year.

Land Cover

Land cover in the AESA watersheds was assessed using geometrically corrected aerial photographs (or orthophotos) taken in 1991. The percent land cover for each major land cover classification (e.g., cropland, forage, grassland, trees and shrubs) was calculated in ArcMap GIS to show spatial variation throughout the province. Individual watershed maps, color-coded by land cover type, are included in Appendix 1.

Agricultural Intensity Metrics: Changes with Time

Agricultural intensity (AI) in the context of the AESA Stream Survey was defined by three Census of Agriculture parameters (fertilizer expenses, chemical expenses, and manure production) that were highly correlated to the presence of agricultural contaminants in surface water (Anderson et al. 1998a, b, c). Intensity metrics were generated from data collected in 1996, 2001, and 2006 (Statistics Canada 1996, 2001, and 2006) to evaluate changes in the agriculture industry with time. The goal was to relate changes in the agricultural intensity of each watershed with time (e.g., increases or decreases in manure production) to patterns in surface water quality.

Changes in AI metrics must be interpreted with caution as slightly different methods were used each Census year to deal with the issue of confidentiality and data suppression. A minimum of 15 farms is required in a polygon (Soil Landscape of Canada (SLC) polygon or PFRA watershed scale) for the Census data to be reported. If there were fewer than 15 farms, polygons were amalgamated with a nearby polygon, preferably of similar size (area) and density to avoid geographic dilution (i.e., a large polygon with few points combined with a small polygon with a high density of points). The polygon groupings differed among years. In 1996, SLC polygons were grouped with the closest polygon of similar size (Anderson et al. 1999). In 2001, AESA watersheds were grouped into polygons by flow path if the original AESA watershed had less than 15 farms. In 2006, AESA watershed boundaries were grouped into polygons by agricultural land practices if there were less than 15 farms in the original polygon. By grouping an AESA watershed with the closest polygon with similar agricultural land practices, some amalgamated polygons may have crossed major basin boundaries. Thorough method comparisons were conducted between 1996 and 2001 but less so from 2001 to 2006. Watersheds with a differing amalgamated area between 2001 and 2006 include Meadow Creek, Renwick Creek, Prairie Blood Coulee, Stretton Creek, and Willow Creek. Also, AI percentiles in Hines Creek, Prairie Blood Coulee, and Kleskun Drain were calculated on amalgamated areas that exceeded the watershed boundary.

It should also be noted that Kleskun Drain was classified as a high AI watershed according to 1996 Census of Agriculture data; however, expert review of the watershed determined that a moderate AI category better described the basin (pers. comm. A-M. Anderson, 2008). The Kleskun Hills, not under agriculture, formed a large portion of the watershed and contributed much of the flow. In contrast, the lower portion of the watershed was intensively farmed.

Correlations between average Census of Agriculture metrics (1996, 2001 and 2006 for agricultural intensity, manure production, and fertilizer and chemical sales percentiles) were run in SYSTAT 10 (SPSS Inc. 2000). Spearman Rank correlations were run on untransformed data for all AESA streams excluding Drain S6. The data available for Drain S6 were based on areas larger than the actual watershed study area and deemed not suitable for the analyses.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Precipitation

The 30-year average total annual precipitation (1971 to 2000) for the province as a whole (Figure 2.2) illustrates that the Boreal ecoregion area and south-western part of the Fescue Grasslands Ecoregion received the highest amounts of precipitation. Precipitation data for the AESA watersheds (March to October, 1995 to 2006 and 1999 to 2006) showed similar regional patterns (Table 2.4). However, it is noteworthy that the watersheds situated in the Peace region (Hines Creek, Grande Prairie Creek, and Kleskun Drain) and Wabash Creek, located northwest of Edmonton, received somewhat lower precipitation than other watersheds in the Boreal ecoregion area. Within the Fescue Grasslands Ecoregion, Prairie Blood Coulee received less precipitation than Trout or Meadow Creeks.

The irrigated watersheds, located in the Mixed Grassland and Moist Mixed Grasslands Ecoregions, had the lowest average precipitation totals for the period of study (about 300 mm), while the Continental Divide had the highest average precipitation total of the Ecoregions (about 490 mm). Of the 23 individual streams under study, Rose Creek (Boreal ecoregion area, low agricultural intensity) had the highest March to October precipitation totals, and Drain S-6 (Mixed Grassland Ecoregion, irrigated agriculture) had the lowest precipitation.



Figure 2.2. The 30-year average annual total precipitation (1971 to 2000) in Alberta based on data from Environment Canada, Alberta Environment, and the National Climate Data Centre.

n 1 to	
March	
ire from	
n totals a	
cipitatio	
d. Pre	
watershee	
AESA	riod.
f each	ing pe
entre o	sampl
the ce	uality
ed for	vater q
stimat	n the w
mm) e	id with
ation (respon
ecipit	to cor
nual pr	nually
4. Anı	31 anı
ıble 2.4	stober (

													90-66	90-66
Stream (Township Centre ID)	1995	1996	1997	1998	1999	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	Average	Average
Boreal														
Blindman River (T044R03W5)	440	527	529	494	473	537	397	357	380	395	452	394	448	423
Grande Prairie Creek (T074R06W6)	378	434	472	269	220	439	361	334	319	514	312	297	362	350
Hines Creek T086R02W6)	242	425	463	236	281	543	360	282	306	372	274	283	339	338
Kleskun Drain (T072R04W6)	402	433	479	294	222	402	335	354	319	495	309	301	362	342
Paddle River (T056R11W5)	472	564	521	380	362	552	448	306	373	476	500	380	444	424
Rose Creek (T044R07W5)	520	512	570	575	524	587	430	399	390	542	528	544	510	493
Strawberry Creek (T049R02W5)	377	510	513	424	436	476	396	293	378	464	348	488	425	410
Tomahawk Creek (T051R06W5)	449	511	506	439	450	524	418	311	379	497	359	470	443	426
Wabash Creek (T059R27W4)	380	558	504	291	290	402	376	260	396	469	311	451	391	369
Average	407	497	506	378	362	496	391	322	360	469	377	401	414	397
Aspen Parkland														
Buffalo Creek (T047R08W4)	249	422	381	214	364	393	222	187	364	342	398	381	331	326
Havnes Creek (M6) (T039R25W4)	405	430	403	422	480	429	298	333	341	375	370	432	382	393
Rav Creek (T035R26W4)	405	392	388	411	505	385	266	340	376	390	416	363	380	386
Renwick Creek (T032R25W4)	364	357	333	328	457	312	237	308	345	345	428	355	348	347
Stretton Creek (T051R02W4)	224	365	345	240	343	408	217	183	411	383	516	382	355	335
Threehills Creek (T036R26W4)	396	402	389	419	509	402	278	338	365	386	404	386	383	389
Average	340	395	373	339	443	388	253	281	367	370	422	383	363	363
Grassland														
Meadow Creek (T011R28W/4)	540	203	353	570	395	236	222	575	316	475	668	351	405	416
Prairie Blood Coullee (T006R24W4)	580	314	346	439	314	241	241	576	251	346	632	300	362	382
Trout Creek (T012R29W4)	581	316	375	587	400	258	232	579	313	471	661	372	411	429
Average	567	308	358	532	370	245	232	577	293	430	654	341	393	409
Continental Divide														
Willow Creek (T015R03W5)	705	357	421	665	459	342	351	637	418	569	748	377	488	504
Mixed and Moist Mixed Grassland (Irr	rinated)													
Battersea Drain (T011R20W4)	372	234	257	405	292	209	142	512	262	305	536	245	313	314
Crowfoot Creek (T024R22W4)	375	325	303	425	394	277	160	337	301	328	426	308	316	330
Drain S-6 (T010R12W4)	378	222	203	334	281	180	118	453	255	248	370	250	269	274
New West Coulee (T015R17W4)	300	188	219	336	328	194	111	451	278	270	465	260	294	283
Average	356	242	245	375	323	215	133	438	274	288	449	266	298	300

2-13

Precipitation was highly variable among the years of study, and the timing of floods and droughts varied spatially. During the CAESA period of monitoring, 1995 and 1998 were wetter years in the Grassland Ecoregions (Mixed, Moist Mixed, and Fescue), while during the AESA period of monitoring, 2002 and 2005 were wet in the Grassland Ecoregions and the Continental Divide Ecoregion. Precipitation totals were notably higher in 1996 and 1997 in the Boreal Ecoregion and again in 2000 and 2004. In the Aspen Parkland Ecoregion, 1999 and 2005 were the wettest years (Figure 2.3).

The driest years of the monitoring period were 2000, 2001, and 2002. In 2000 and 2001, drought conditions were concentrated in the southern part of the province (Figure 2.3). In 2002, the northern part of the province (including the Boreal ecoregion area) had very low amounts of precipitation, while the south experienced a major rain event in June (Figure 2.3).

Precipitation across the agricultural zone of Alberta from March 1 to October 31 of each year (1995 to 2006) is shown as a percentage of the 46-year average (1961 to 2006) in Appendix 2.



Figure 2.3. Total precipitation by ecoregion area from March 1 through October 31.

Hydrology

Historical mean annual runoff depths for the watersheds reflect the Ecoregions in which they are found (Figures 2.4 and 2.5). The lowest historical runoff depths for the AESA watersheds were found in those watersheds within the Aspen Parkland Ecoregion, which are also typically watersheds of a high agricultural intensity (Figure 2.4). Watersheds within the Boreal Transition zone and Western Alberta Uplands showed higher historical annual runoff, whereas intermediate runoff depths occurred in the Fescue Grasslands in the southwest and the Peace Lowlands Ecoregion in the north. Willow Creek, located in the Northern Continental Divide Ecoregion (i.e., sub-alpine), generated the highest runoff.

Watersheds containing irrigation activity deviate from ecoregion-based trends due to flow regulation. Crowfoot Creek, Battersea Drain, Drain S-6, and New West Coulee fall into the category of irrigation return flow streams. Two of the irrigated AESA watersheds (New West Coulee and Drain S-6) were in the driest part of the province, the Mixed Grassland Ecoregion. Since the streams receive irrigation return flows, their mean annual unit runoff is typically similar to that of watersheds that receive high precipitation.



Figure 2.4. Annual mean unit runoff depth for the AESA watersheds. Bars are a comparison of the historical annual mean unit runoff depth (period of record varies from 10 to 98 years depending on the stream) to the AESA monitoring period of record (1999 to 2006). Watersheds are grouped by Ecoregion. Agricultural intensity (1996 categories) is represented by the letter above the bar with "H" representing high, "M" representing moderate, "L" representing low, and "I" representing irrigated watersheds.
The proportion of annual runoff that occurs in early spring (March and April) is notably higher in watersheds in the Aspen Parkland Ecoregion and some of the watersheds in the Boreal ecoregion area (e.g., Wabash Creek and Kleskun Drain) than in other areas (Figure 2.5). This suggests that the majority of runoff is generated from spring snowmelt. Spring snowmelt and summer rain events also influenced stream flow in other watersheds in the Boreal ecoregion area. In contrast, stream flow occurred later in the year (May to October) in the Continental Divide and Grassland (Fescue, Mixed and Moist Mixed) Ecoregions. In the Continental Divide, this is likely due to delayed melt in the mountain headwaters, while the Grasslands typically do not receive much snow and are prone to sublimation during the winter. Generally speaking, the Grassland and Continental Divide Ecoregions receive the largest amount of precipitation as rainfall in June (Environment Canada 2008; Figure 2.16, pg. 2-40).



Figure 2.5. Spring (March through April) and Summer and Fall (May through October) mean annual runoff depths (1999 to 2006) for the AESA watersheds. Runoff depths for the irrigated watersheds (New West, Drain S6, Battersea, and Crowfoot) include return water. Bars are stacked.

The magnitude and timing of discharge has a substantial influence on water quality, particularly for pollutants that reach streams via overland pathways. Summary statistics for mean annual discharge (Q_{mean} , Q_{median} , Q_{max} ; Tables 2.5, 2.6. 2.7, respectively) were used to characterize stream flow in each watershed during the period of record.

995 to 2006) for the 23 AESA. Daily discharge was obtained from Water	vith accompanying water quality data are presented.
able 2.5. Mean daily discharge $(m^3 s^{-1}; Q_{mean})$ by year	urvey of Canada for March 1 to October 31. Only year

Table 2.5. Mean d Survey of Canada	aily disc for Marc	tharge (m ch 1 to O	r' s''; Q _m ctober 3]	_{lean}) by ye I. Only y	ears wit	o to 2006 h accom) for the panying	23 AES water qu	.A. Daily ality dat	dischar a are pre	ge was o sented.	btained	l trom W	ater
	1995	1996	1997	1998	1999	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	95 to 06 9 Average	39 to 06 Average
Boreal Blindman Biver	0 516	070 0	0 1 DE	1 03 1	3 006	7 600	0 001	0 660	CVV F	0 647	1 565	0 550	1 506	5 173
Grande Prairie Creek		010.7	7.150		0.119	0.071	0.287	0.464	0.485	0.413	0.573	0.089	0.313	0.313
Hines Creek					0.007	1.001	0.805	0.501	1.067	0.524	1.055	0.024	0.623	0.623
Kleskun Drain					0.078	0.002	0.026	0.120	0.113	0.079	0.079	0.003	0.062	0.062
Paddle River	0.775	1.989	2.148		1.055	0.438	0:930	0.385	0.410	0.324	0.786	0.209	0.859	0.567
Rose Creek	1.931	3.656	3.192	2.455	4.035	3.163	1.324	1.409	1.768	1.563	3.826	1.372	2.475	2.308
Strawberry Creek	0.301	1.807	2.155	0.357	2.089	2.564	0.693	0.467	0.392	0.249	1.503	0.326	1.075	1.035
Tomahawk Creek	0.127	0.510	0.604	0.104	0.428	0.131	0.192	0.109	0.184	0.145	0.351	0.014	0.242	0.194
Wabash Creek					0.004	0.014	0.003	0.108	0.355	0.122	0.364	0.032	0.125	0.125
Average	0.736	2.188	2.045	0.987	1.205	1.120	0.583	0.458	0.691	0.441	1.123	0.292	0.809	0.739
Aspen Parkland														
Buffalo Creek	0.178	0.249	0.518		0.158	0.160	0.103	0.082	0.132	0.217	0.290	0.281	0.215	0.178
Haynes (M6) Creek	0.015	0.262	0.191	0.007	0.156	0.041	0.003	0.038	0.120	0.001	0.137	0.075	0.087	0.071
Ray Creek	0.018	0.072	0.114	0.017	0.095	0.034	0.008	0.012	0.089	0.057	0.115	0.108	0.062	0.065
Renwick Creek	0.028	0.072	0.172	0.010	0.043	0.004	0.002	0.001	0.051	0.032	0.044	0.034	0.041	0.026
Stretton Creek	0.041	0.018	0.088	0.009	0.025	0.019	0.000	0.000	0.001	0.056	0.081	0.110	0.037	0.037
Threehills Creek	0.031	0.269	0.394	0.025	0.287	0.059	0.018	0.040	0.289	0.059	0.225	0.253	0.162	0.154
Average	0.052	0.157	0.246	0.014	0.127	0.053	0.022	0.029	0.114	0.070	0.149	0.143	0.101	0.088
Grassland														
Meadow Creek	0.421	0.235	0.219		0.051	0.017	0.019	0.291	0.169	0.046	0.512	0.191	0.197	0.162
Prairie Blood Coulee	0.243	0.126			0.007	0.028	0.022	0.292	0.134	0.028	0.477	0.374	0.173	0.170
Trout Creek	2.415	1.071	1.043		0.300	0.083	0.146	1.437	0.905	0.380	3.495	1.160	1.130	0.988
Average	1.027	0.477	0.631		0.120	0.042	0.062	0.673	0.403	0.151	1.495	0.575	0.500	0.440
Continental Divide														
Willow Creek					0.367	0.192	0.380	1.138	0.463	0.597	1.958	0.472	0.696	0.696
Mixed and Moist Mixed	Graceland	(Irrigated)												
Battersea Drain		(non finn) -		0.014	0.349	0.563	0.434	0.510	0.491	0.520	0.632	0.494	0.445	0.499
Crowfoot Creek	1.047	2.314	3.350	1.491	1.235	1.364	0.902	1.127	1.687	1.875	1.957	2.406	1.730	1.569
Drain S-6					1.888	1.819	1.926	1.159	0.006	0.004	0.008	0.012	0.853	0.853
New West Coulee			010		1.080	1.397	1.256	0.879	1.250	0.772	0.994	0.752	1.048	1.048
Average	1.047	2.314	3.350	0.752	1.138	1.286	1.123	0.919	0.858	0.793	0.898	0.916	1.019	0.992

Table 2.6. Median from Water Survev	daily dis of Cane	scharge (ida for M	$m^3 s^{-1}$; C	Dentation (Dentation of the second se	y year (1 r 31. On	995 to 2 dv vears	006) for with acc	the 23 A	AESA wa	itersheds r quality	. Daily c data are	lischarg	ge was ol Ited.	otained
	1001	1005	1001	0001	1000	0000	1000				2006		95 to 06 9	9 to 06
Roreal	0661	1990	1991	1390	1999	7000	1.0.02	2002	2003	2004	CUU2	20002	Average A	werage
Blindman River	0.142	0.687	0.598	0.180	0.600	0.526	0.166	0.042	0.067	0.204	0.466	0.204	0.324	0.284
Grande Prairie Creek					0.000	0.002	0.049	0.000	0.000	0.008	0.008	0.000	0.008	0.008
Hines Creek					0.000	0.447	0.272	0.011	0.007	0.414	0.114	0.001	0.158	0.158
Kleskun Drain					0.000	0.000	0.001	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.001	0.000	0.000	0.000
Paddle River	0.420	0.740	0.744		0.208	0.330	0.098	0.030	0.044	0.297	0.311	0.129	0.305	0.181
Rose Creek	0.716	1.870	1.560	0.735	1.250	1.140	0.399	0.200	0.140	0.740	2.340	0.803	0.991	0.877
Strawberry Creek	0.153	0.340	0.384	0.195	0.426	0.240	0.097	0.011	0.008	0.082	0.132	0.076	0.179	0.134
Tomahawk Creek	0.066	0.156	0.136	0.035	0.038	0.031	0.014	0.006	0.011	0.060	0.076	0.005	0.053	0.030
Wabash Creek					0.000	0.007	0.001	0.000	0.007	0.011	0.021	0.000	0.006	0.006
Average	0.299	0.759	0.684	0.286	0.280	0.303	0.122	0.033	0.032	0.202	0.385	0.135	0.225	0.187
Asnen Parkland														
Buffalo Creek	0.057	0.145	0.177		0.086	0.123	0.085	0.049	0.099	0.155	0.146	0.155	0.116	0.112
Havnes (M6) Creek	0.002	0000	0000	0000	0.000	0.015	0.001	0.000	0000	0,000	0.001	0.003	0.002	0.003
Rav Creek	0.006	0.003	0.002	0.005	0.011	0.009	0.005	0.000	0.000	0.013	0.025	0.013	0.008	0.010
Renwick Creek	0.003	0000	000.0	0.000	0000	0000	0.000	000	0000	0.000	0.004	0.000	0.001	0.001
Stretton Creek	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.001	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.000	0.015	0.000	0.001	0.002
Threehills Creek	0.005	0.004	0.007	0.004	0.020	0.010	0.002	0.000	0.000	0.014	0.059	0.019	0.012	0.016
Average	0.012	0.025	0.031	0.002	0.020	0.026	0.016	0.008	0.017	0.030	0.042	0.032	0.023	0.024
Gracional														
Grassiariu Moodow Crook	0 100	0.150			0700			7010	0.062	0.020		0.122	100.0	0.072
Prairie Blood Coulee	0.102	0.004	0.000		0.000	0.000	0.000	0.016	0.005	0.012	0.027	0.099	0.024	020.0
Trout Creek	0.977	0.760	0.344		0.237	0.065	0.106	0.468	0.433	0.354	1.590	0.896	0.566	0.519
Average	0.420	0.305	0.142		0.093	0.022	0.036	0.197	0.167	0.133	0.609	0.376	0.227	0.204
Continental Divide														
Willow Creek					0 267	0 142	0 125	0 274	0 192	0 418	0 728	0 259	0.301	0.301
					010	1	24	-	100	2	24	001		
Mixed and Moist Mixed	Grassland	(Irrigated)												
Battersea Drain				0.015	0.398	0.652	0.477	0.583	0.520	0.646	0.663	0.619	0.508	0.570
Crowfoot Creek	1.080	1.350	1.580	1.480	1.160	1.580	0.990	0.858	1.290	1.570	1.410	1.360	1.309	1.277
Drain S-6					1.605	2.040	2.058	1.141	0.004	0.004	0.003	0.007	0.858	0.858
New West Coulee					0.968	1.490	1.540	0.701	1.250	0.804	1.070	0.777	1.075	1.075
Average	1.080	1.350	1.580	0.748	1.033	1.440	1.266	0.821	0.766	0.756	0.786	0.691	0.937	0.945

Table 2.7. Maximu from Water Survey	ım daily ′ of Cana	discharg Ida for N	te (m ³ s ⁻¹ larch 1 to	; Q _{max}) b o Octobe	y year (] r 31. On	1995 to 2 ly years	,006) for with acc	the 23 ≱ ompanyi	AESA wang mg water	ttersheds	s. Daily data are	lischar presen	ge was ted.	obtained
	1995	1996	1997	1998	1999	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	95 to 06 Average	99 to 06 Average
Boreal														
Blindman River	7.4	66.5	30.4	28.3	58.9	107.0	70.9	15.3	31.4	9.5	23.0	10.1	38.2	40.8
Grande Prairie Creek					2.4	4.0	4.0	7.3	9.3	14.1	6.2	3.5	6.4	6.4
Hines Creek					0.1	14.1	7.7	6.7	21.9	2.4	10.3	0.3	7.9	7.9
Kleskun Drain					3.2	0.0	3.2	5.8	5.2	4.0	2.0	0.1	2.9	2.9
Paddle River	14.9	25.3	43.7		19.0	5.9	32.3	6.0	4.4	1.2	11.0	1.2	15.0	10.1
Rose Creek	38.2	19.0	22.5	70.5	100.0	50.9	53.6	22.9	32.4	34.1	37.5	13.3	41.2	43.1
Strawberry Creek	5.7	35.1	33.4	5.0	41.2	95.3	51.6	20.3	9.5	5.7	41.2	15.1	29.9	35.0
Tomahawk Creek	1.2	10.8	12.8	1.3	5.8	1.7	13.4	2.2	5.0	2.6	5.5	0.2	5.2	4.5
Wabash Creek					0.1	0.1	0.1	3.4	14.0	6.6	8.4	0.7	4.2	4.2
Averade	13.5	31.3	28.6	26.3	25.6	31.0	26.3	10.0	14.8	8.9	16.1	4.9	16.8	17.2

Tomahawk Creek Wabash Creek	1.2	10.8	12.8	1.3	5.8 0.1	1.7 0.1	13.4 0.1	2.2 3.4	5.0 14.0	2.6 6.6	5.5 8.4	0.2	5.2 4.2	4.5 4.2
Average	13.5	31.3	28.6	26.3	25.6	31.0	26.3	10.0	14.8	8.9	16.1	4.9	16.8	17.2
Aspen Parkland														
Buffalo Creek	2.5	2.3	5.1		0.8	1.2	0.3	0.8	0.6	1.3	3.1	4.4	2.0	1.5
Haynes (M6) Creek	0.3	18.5	4.1	0.07	4.8	1.4	0.015	1.6	7.1	0.005	3.5	3.9	3.8	2.8
Ray Creek	0.2	3.3	4.3	0.2	2.1	0.5	0.1	0.6	4.0	0.7	1.8	5.9	2.0	2.0
Renwick Creek	1.4	3.5	4.3	0.2	2.1	0.1	0.0	0.1	1.7	1.3	1.5	1.2	1.5	1.0
Stretton Creek	1.6	1.2	4.8	0.5	0.8	0.5	0.0	0.0	0.1	3.5	1.7	2.9	1.5	1.2
Threehills Creek	0.5	14.6	17.2	0.3	9.7	1.1	0.2	1.0	14.3	0.9	4.2	13.1	6.4	5.6
Average	1.1	7.2	6.6	0.2	3.4	0.8	0.1	0.7	4.6	1.3	2.6	5.2	2.9	2.3
Grassland														
Meadow Creek	6.8	2.8	5.2		0.6	0.1	0.5	8.1	6.9	0.5	7.3	1.6	3.7	3.2
Prairie Blood Coulee	13.7	7.0	10.4		0.1	0.3	0.3	23.0	13.0	0.5	27.9	22.6	10.8	11.0
Trout Creek	30.5	6.3	20.2		1.7	0.4	0.9	24.9	23.0	1.4	62.1	7.8	16.3	15.3
Average	17.0	5.4	11.9		0.8	0.3	0.6	18.7	14.3	0.8	32.4	10.7	10.3	9.8
Continental Divide														
Willow Creek					0.3	0.1	0.1	0.3	0.2	0.4	0.7	0.3	0.3	0.3
Mixed and Moist Mixed Gr	assland (I	Irrigated)												
Battersea Drain				0.0	1.2	1.7	1.2	2.3	1.4	1.5	2.7	1.1	1.5	1.6
Crowfoot Creek	4.4	45.7	40.6	11.1	6.6	3.5	2.9	3.6	22.6	12.6	12.5	27.6	16.1	11.5
Drain S-6					5.7	4.2	4.1	3.1	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.1	2.2	2.2
New West Coulee					4.9	4.1	3.8	3.4	4.1	2.5	8.4	2.2	4.2	4.2
Average	4.4	45.7	40.6	5.6	4.6	3.4	3.0	3.1	7.0	4.2	5.9	7.8	6.0	4.9

In the following sub-sections, each stream is examined for inter-annual variation in the timing and magnitude of flow and to verify that the number of samples collected each year and timing of collection relative to the hydrograph was representative. Sampling frequency is summarized quantitatively by year (Table 2.8) and graphically by month (Figures 2.6 to 2.21). The sub-sections are arranged by Ecoregion for ease of discussion.

Aspen Parkland Ecoregion. The Aspen Parkland Ecoregion includes the Buffalo Creek, Stretton Creek, Haynes Creek, Ray Creek, Renwick Creek, and Threehills Creek watersheds.

Buffalo Creek - Buffalo Creek watershed represents a relatively large area of agricultural land (71,400 ha) in the Eastern edge of the Aspen Parkland Ecoregion. Despite its size, only a small proportion (21%) of the gross drainage area comprises the effective drainage area (14,700 ha). Management recommendations for this basin would apply primarily to the portion of the watershed with hydrologic connectivity.

Buffalo Creek was monitored from 1995 to 1997 and 1999 to 2006 (Table 2.2, pg. 2-6). On average, 14 water quality samples were collected per year. The highest number of samples collected was 24 in 2005, and the lowest was 2 in 1996 (Table 2.8). It is unknown why only two samples were collected from the stream in 1996 although there may have been insufficient manpower to implement the study design. There was not a large amount of inter-annual variation in discharge in this stream, as reflected by the similar number of samples collected in most years (typically 11 to 17 samples).

Historically, flows in Buffalo Creek peak in April and receded thereafter (historical data set: 1972 to 2006). High annual flow volumes were typically attributable to high flows during spring melt in April, and the majority of samples were collected in this month (Figure 2.7). However, there were three years in the monitoring record when flows persisted a little longer and exceeded the historical monthly average in June and July as well (1996, 1997, and 2004) (Figure 2.6). Peak spring flows (i.e., discharge > $3.0 \text{ m}^3 \text{ s}^{-1}$) were observed in 1997, 2005, and 2006. The two years with lowest annual and median discharge were 2001 and 2002 (Table 2.6). The eastern part of Alberta experienced drought conditions during this time period.

When assessing water quality in Buffalo Creek over the period of record, it is important to note the data gaps in 1996 (only two samples) and 1998 (zero samples) (Table 2.8). For the continuous monitoring period from 1999 onwards, it is noteworthy that there were two consecutive years of 'higher flows' near the end of monitoring record (2005 and 2006) when spring freshets returned and drought conditions were alleviated.

Stretton Creek - The Stretton Creek watershed drains 7400 ha of land in the northeast corner of the white (agricultural) zone. Water quality monitoring commenced in 1995 and continued until 2000. The stream ceased to flow from 2001 to 2003 as a result of severe drought conditions and sampling was halted. Monitoring resumed from 2004 until 2006 (Table 2.2, pg. 2-6).

On average, eight water quality samples were collected annually in the nine years with flow. The fewest samples (two samples) were collected in 1996 and the most (12 samples) in 1999 (Table 2.8). No water quality testing was done in August, September or October (Figure 2.7).

There is very limited opportunity for collecting samples in this stream due to the nature of flows. Historically (1979 to 2006), Stretton Creek flowed mainly in March ($Q_{mean} = 0.09 \text{ m}^3 \text{ s}^{-1}$) and April ($Q_{mean} = 0.21 \text{ m}^3 \text{ s}^{-1}$).

In 1997 and 2006, mean monthly discharge in April was above the mean historical values. In 2006, flows remained above average in May and June. Like Buffalo Creek, there were three consecutive years of above average flow at the end of the monitoring record. A storm event in August 2005 (August 24th, 94 mm) generated a flow peak in Stretton Creek. This was anomalous and not captured by AESA sampling. In 1997, 2004, and 2006, instantaneous peaks in stream discharge > 3 m³ s⁻¹ were observed with snow melt (Figure 2.6).

Haynes Creek - Haynes Creek watershed is a small tributary (16,600 ha) of the Red Deer River and is located east of the Town of Lacombe.

Haynes Creek is one of the most intensively studied of the AESA watersheds. As part of the CAESA study (1995 to 1996), 18 sites were chosen to assess the impact of specific agriculture practices (e.g., cattle wintering, field cultivation) on water quality (Anderson et al. 1998a). From 1998 to 2001, a follow-up study was conducted to assess the effectiveness of Beneficial Management Practices at improving water quality (Wuite and Chanasyk 2003; Wuite et al. 2007). Water quality samples collected at the mouth of the watershed (M6 – 16,600 ha) and at a subbasin level (M1 - 2400 ha) are included in the AESA dataset (1995 to 2006); however, the data for the M1 sub-watershed are not reported here.

Sampling frequency from 1995 to 2000 was much more intensive (21 to 35 samples/year) than from 2001 to 2006 (eight to 13 samples/year) as a result of different study goals (Table 2.8). The M6 site was not sampled in 2004 due to low flows.

The majority of flow in Haynes Creek occurred in April (Figure 2.7). The highest spring peaks were observed in 1996 (Q_{max} = 18.5 m³ s⁻¹) and 2003 (Q_{max} = 7.1 m³ s⁻¹) (Table 2.7, Figure 2.6). In contrast, there were four years (1995, 1998, 2001, 2004) with no spring peak and very low mean annual flows (Q_{mean} < 0.02 m³ s⁻¹) (Table 2.5). During the time when the detailed studies were being conducted, intensive sampling continued despite low flow volumes. In 1995 and 1998, 35 and 23 samples were collected, respectively (Table 2.8). Nine and zero samples were collected in 2001 and 2004, respectively. Another example of a discrepancy in sampling frequency was between April 2000 and 2002 when hydrographs were similar but sampling frequencies were not (i.e., 21 vs. nine samples, respectively). The difference in sampling frequency needs to be taken into consideration when interpreting long-term trends.

Ray Creek - Ray Creek drains a small area (4400 ha) of agricultural land in the Red Deer River watershed. Water quality was monitored from 1995 to 2006 (Table 2.2, pg. 2-6). On average, 19 water quality samples were collected per year (Table 2.8). The highest number of samples collected was 32 in 1999, and the lowest was seven in 2002.

Like most streams in the Aspen Parkland Ecoregion, flows in Ray Creek were highest in April with spring snowmelt and receded thereafter (Figure 2.9). Historical (1967 to 2006) mean discharge in April was $0.22 \text{ m}^3 \text{ s}^{-1}$, declining to <0.05 m³ s⁻¹ from May through October. During

the monitoring period, the highest magnitude spring freshets were observed in 1996, 1997, 2003, and 2006 (Figure 2.8). In contrast, freshets were virtually absent in 1995, 1998, and 2000 to 2002.

A summer storm in mid-July 1999 (69 mm) generated sufficient runoff to produce a peak in the hydrograph and sustain flows in the summer, resulting in higher sampling numbers in 1999.

Renwick Creek - Renwick Creek is a small (5800 ha) tributary to the Red Deer River. This system was monitored from 1995 to 2006 (Table 2.2, pg. 2-6). On average, 15 samples were collected per year, with as many as 27 samples collected in 1999 and as few as five collected in 2001 (Table 2.8).

Historically (1967 to 2006), flows were high in March ($Q_{mean} = 0.104 \text{ m}^3 \text{ s}^{-1}$), then peaked in April ($Q_{mean} = 0.124 \text{ m}^3 \text{ s}^{-1}$), and receded thereafter. In 1996 and 1997, spring flows (March and April) exceeded historical values. The peaks did not appear to be related to spring rain but may instead be the result of a large snowpack. Four consecutive years, 2003 through 2006, had above average flow in March and below average flow in April, indicating these years had earlier peak flows in the spring (Figure 2.8). In previous years (2000 to 2002), low flows were observed throughout the entire open water season, from March through October. In contrast, years with above average flow in the summer months include 1995 (June and July), 1998 (July), 2003 (May), and 2005 (May, June, August, September, and October). Noteworthy are July flows in 1999 that were 18-fold higher than average flows due to a 60-mm summer storm event.

Threehills Creek - Threehills Creek drains 13,800 ha and is part of the Red Deer River watershed. Historically, Threehills Creek had peak flows in April followed by receding flows through October (Figure 2.9).

Threehills Creek was monitored from 1995 to 2006 (Table 2.2, pg. 2-6). In many of the years of study, flows were very low. Years with low flow include 1995, 1998, a three year drought period from 2000 through 2002, and 2004 (Table 2.6, Figure 2.8). In contrast, high flows were observed in 1996, 1997, 2003, and 2006.

On average, 18 samples were collected each year (Table 2.8). Like Ray and Renwick Creeks, the highest number of samples (33) was collected in 1999 in response to a summer storm event, and the lowest number of samples (8) was collected during a drought year (2002).

Table 2.8 Annual	number (of nutrie	nt samul	معالم	ted (Ma	rch 1 thr	onteh Oc	toher 31) for eac	AFSA	watersh	ed Wa	tersheds	Are Are	
presented by ecore	gion area	L. Bacteri	a numbe	ers were	similar.	Pesticide	sample	s were co	ollected]	less frequ	uently (A	Append	lix 17).		
													95 to 06	99 to 06	_
	1995	1996	1997	1998	1999	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006 /	Average	Average	
Boreal															
Blindman River	18	19	23	31	34	29	17	15	14	19	32	19	23	22	
Grande Prairie Creek					12	20	13	6	11	14	15	10	13	18	
Hines Creek					8	17	12	14	12	22	18	12	14	14	
Kleskun Drain					8	14	7	10	8	11	11	5	б	12	
Paddle River	21	9	26		24	26	15	14	13	12	33	19	19	14	
Rose Creek	18	19	23	31	31	29	17	15	15	19	32	24	23	21	
Strawberry Creek	17	18	25	18	26	30	11	11	11	17	16	10	18	20	
Tomahawk Creek	20	18	26	28	23	26	14	11	15	17	31	17	21	18	
Wabash Creek					10	18	Ω	ω	8	13	23	15	13	16	
Average	19	16	25	27	20	23	12	12	12	16	23	15	17	17	
Aspen Parkland															
Buffalo Creek	12	~	19		14	1	σ	12	16	16	24	17	14	15	
Havnes (M6) Creek	35	25	22	23	22	. 5	00	i œ	5 (1)	; 5	10	18	14	
Rav Creek	18	21	19	23	33	26	12	2	14	15	20	15	19	18	
Renwick Creek	15	15	18	18	27	12	i ro	. 9	: 5	13	19	15	15	14	
Stretton Creek	10	0	9	0	12	1	0	0	0	9	10	10	2	9	
Threehills Creek	15	20	18	23	g	24	12	8	14	16	20	18	18	18	
Average	18	14	18	19	23	18	8	7	7	13	18	14	15	14	
Grassland															
Meadow Creek	4	4	21		19	13	11	21	21	22	22	23	16	19	
Prairie Blood Coulee	7	S			13	6	6	17	8	19	17	18	12	14	
Trout Creek	4	4	21		23	19	17	21	21	23	21	23	18	21	
Average	5	4	21		18	14	12	20	17	21	20	21	15	18	
Continental Divide															
Willow Creek					26	23	21	21	16	20	21	19	21	21	
Mixed and Moist Mixed	Grassland	(Irrigated)													
Battersea Drain				18	15	18	16	16	20	25	21	21	19	19	
Crowfoot Creek	12	14	18	18	15	19	17	16	23	21	22	22	18	19	
Drain S-6					15	16	15	14	16	22	15	21	17	17	
New West Coulee	ç		ç	9	4 4 4 4	4 [- -	16	20	55 3	20	51	18	18	
Average	71	4	10	Ω	<u>2</u>	/L	<u>0</u>	<u>9</u>	DZ	S	20	17	2	2	







Figure 2.7. Monthly discharge (lower y-axis) and number (n) of water quality samples (WQ) (upper y-axis) for Buffalo Creek (1995 to 2006), Stretton Creek (1995 to 2006), and Haynes Creek (1995 to 2006) from March through October. Discharge box plots stretch from the 25th percentile to the 75th percentile with the horizontal line in the middle of the box representing the median. Vertical lines represent 1.5 times the interquartile range while crosshairs denote the maximum and minimum data point. Note: sample numbers represent the number of nutrient and bacteria samples, not the number of pesticide samples.





Figure 2.9. Monthly discharge (lower y-axis) and number (n) of water quality samples (WQ) (upper y-axis) for Ray Creek (1995 to 2006), Renwick Creek (1995 to 2006), and Threehills Creek (1995 to 2006) from March through October.

Boreal Forest Ecoregion (Boreal Transition and Western Alberta Upland). The Boreal Forest Ecoregion includes the Blindman River, Rose Creek, Strawberry Creek, Paddle River, Tomahawk Creek, and Wabash Creek watersheds.

Blindman River - The Blindman River watershed is 35,300 ha in size and is a tributary of the Red Deer River. Highest annual flows ($Q_{median} > 0.5 \text{ m}^3 \text{ s}^{-1}$; mean annual flow >2.0 m³ s⁻¹) occurred in 1996, 1997, 1999, and 2000. The highest peak flow was observed in July 2000 ($Q_{max} = 107 \text{ m}^3 \text{ s}^{-1}$) (Tables 2.6 and 2.7, Figure 2.10).

The Blindman River flows throughout the open water season and was normally sampled continually from March through October (Figure 2.11). On average, 22 samples were collected every year from 1995 to 2006 (Table 2.8). The fewest samples (14 to 15 samples per year) were collected in the two years with lowest median annual flow ($Q_{median} < 0.068 \text{ m}^3 \text{ s}^{-1}$ in 2002 and 2003), with >30 samples collected in two years of high flow (1999 and 2000).

Historically, discharge in the Blindman River was highest in April and July (4.35 and 3.06 m³ s⁻¹, respectively (historical monthly averages, 1965 to 2006)) coinciding with spring melt and summer storm events. During the monitoring period, there were five years when average flows during spring melt in April exceeded historical averages (1996, 1997, 1999, 2003, and 2005) and four years when average flows during summer storms in July exceeded historical averages (1998, 1999, 2000, and 2001). There were also four years where flows were below historical monthly means in all months: 1995, 2002, 2004 and 2006.

Rose Creek - Rose Creek is a tributary of the North Saskatchewan River, and the watershed is 55,900 ha in size. The highest monthly flow volumes generally occurred in May and July, though flows were usually sustained from April through July (Figure 2.11).

Rose Creek was monitored from 1995 to 2006 (Table 2.2, pg. 2-6). On average, 23 samples were collected per year (Table 2.8). The fewest samples (15) were collected in 2002 and 2003 when flows receded completely after the May peak ($Q_{median} = 0.2$ and 0.14 m³ s⁻¹, respectively) and did not increase again in July. The most samples (32) were collected in 2005 when median annual flows were approximately 10-fold higher (2.34 m³ s⁻¹) and the creek flowed from March through October.

In 1999, daily discharge in Rose Creek peaked at 100 m³ s⁻¹ on July 9 following a precipitation event totaling 69 mm on July 7 (Figure 2.10). High magnitude flood peaks (>50 m³ s⁻¹) in Rose Creek were clustered in the four-year span from 1998 to 2001 and were absent from 2001 onwards. Spring freshets (March to May) were virtually absent in five of the fifteen years of study (1995, 1998, 2001, 2004, and 2006), presumably due to low snowpack or a gradual spring melt.

Strawberry Creek - Similar to Rose Creek, Strawberry Creek is a tributary of the North Saskatchewan River, and the watershed is 59,200 ha in size. Historically, stream flow peaks in April and July, with higher flows occurring during spring melt than during summer storm events.

Strawberry Creek was monitored from 1995 to 2006. On average, 21 samples were collected per year (Table 2.8). The fewest samples (10) were collected in 2006 and the most (30) in 2000 when monthly flows were above historical values in May, June, and July. The highest flood peak during the monitoring period was in July 2000 ($Q_{max} = 95 \text{ m}^3 \text{ s}^{-1}$), and the second highest was 52 m³ s⁻¹ in July 2001 (Table 2.7, Figure 2.10). In several other years, there was very little flow in Strawberry Creek. For example, spring and summer peaks were virtually absent in 1995, 1998, 2003, 2004, and 2006. For the evaluation of water quality with time, it is important to note (similar to Rose Creek) the absence of summer flows in the latter part of the monitoring record.

Paddle River - The Paddle River watershed (25,300 ha) is situated in the Western Alberta Upland (Boreal) Ecoregion and is one of two AESA watersheds that contribute to the Athabasca River system. The hydrograph typically followed the same pattern as Rose Creek, also located in the Western Alberta Upland Ecoregion (Figure 2.12).

Paddle River was monitored from 1995 to 1997 and 1999 to 2006 (Table 2.8). On average, 19 water quality samples were collected per year (Table 2.8). The highest number of samples collected was 33 in 2005, and the lowest was six in 1996. The years with highest flows occurred earlier in the sampling record (1996 and 1997) and were not characterized equally well with respect to water quality (e.g., 6 vs. 26 samples, respectively). Like Buffalo Creek, it was unclear why the system was under-sampled in 1996.

As noted for other streams in the Boreal ecoregion area, annual discharge near or below historical values were concentrated in the later part of the sampling period (2000, 2002, 2004, and 2006). The exception was 2001, when Q_{max} reached 32 m³ s⁻¹ in July 2001 after a 54-mm storm event.

Tomahawk Creek - Tomahawk Creek drains 9500 ha of agricultural land to the North Saskatchewan River watershed. Historically (1984 to 2006), mean monthly discharge was highest in April ($Q_{mean} = 0.7 \text{ m}^3 \text{ s}^{-1}$) and July ($Q_{mean} = 0.53 \text{ m}^3 \text{ s}^{-1}$), a pattern similar to Strawberry Creek.

Tomahawk Creek was monitored from 1995 to 2006 (Table 2.2, pg. 2-6). In the wet years of 1996 and 1997, higher flows were observed in April and June; however, these are the only two years in the monitoring record when spring and summer peaks in flow were observed (Figure 2.12). In 2001, a summer peak was observed after the late July rain event (63 mm) that triggered a hydrologic response in Tomahawk Creek ($Q_{max} = 13.4 \text{ m}^3 \text{ s}^{-1}$) and other AESA streams in the region (Paddle River, Rose Creek, Strawberry Creek, and Blindman River) (Table 2.7).

From 1999 to 2006, the highest mean annual flows were observed in 1999 and 2005, and flows were concentrated in April. On average, 21 water samples were collected per year (Table 2.8).

Wabash Creek - Wabash Creek is a 34,400 ha watershed in the Boreal Transition Ecoregion and is a tributary to the Athabasca River system. Water quality monitoring in Wabash Creek took place from 1999 to 2006 (Table 2.2, pg. 2-6).

Historically (1979 to 2006), discharge from this creek peaked in April and receded thereafter (April $Q_{mean} = 1.61 \text{ m}^3 \text{ s}^{-1}$) (data not shown). This pattern is slightly different from other

watersheds in the southern Boreal Ecoregion where spring and summer flow peaks occurred. Wabash Creek watershed received less annual precipitation than other Boreal watersheds (Table 2.4).

During the years 1999 to 2001, flows were extremely low all year (Table 2.5). Stream flow was also low in 2006. It wasn't until 2002 that the first spring peak in four years occurred in Wabash (monthly April Q_{mean} = 0.73 m³ s⁻¹) (Figure 2.12), but mean monthly flows still fell below historical values. In 2004, spring flows were similar to 2002. Only two of the eight years had spring flows that exceeded historical monthly averages (April 2003 and March 2005).

The average number of samples collected per year was 13 (Table 2.8). The fewest (5) and the most (23) water samples were collected in years of lowest (2001) and highest (2005) mean flow years, respectively. Water chemistry in 2000 was slightly overrepresented relative to other years (18 samples), particularly when compared to 2003 (only eight samples). The majority of samples were collected in April (Figure 2.13).





Figure 2.11. Discharge (lower y-axis) and number (n) of water quality samples (WQ) (upper y-axis) for Blindman River (1995 to 2006), Rose Creek (1995 – 2006) and Strawberry Creek (1995 to 2006) from March to October.







Figure 2.13. Mean monthly discharge (lower y-axis) and number (n) of water quality samples (WQ) (upper y-axis) for Paddle River (1995 to 2006 discharge; 1999 to 2006 sample number), Tomahawk Creek (1995 to 2006), and Wabash Creek (1999 to 2006) from March to October.

Peace Lowland and Clear Hills Upland Ecoregions. The watersheds in these Ecoregions include Kleskun Drain, Grande Prairie Creek, and Hines Creek.

Kleskun Drain - Kleskun Drain is a 3200 ha watershed in the northwestern corner of Alberta's agricultural zone. Water quality monitoring in Kleskun Drain took place from 1999 to 2006 (Table 2.2, pg. 2-6).

Historically (1966 to 2006), peak flows in Kleskun Drain occurred in April with spring snowmelt. The historical April Q_{mean} is 0.453 m³ s⁻¹. During the AESA Stream Survey, there were three years (1999, 2002, and 2003) when April Q_{mean} was above the historical average and one year (2005) when the mean monthly flow in March was above the historical average. In 2000 and 2006, there were no peaks in discharge, and further, the lowest flow conditions of the monitoring period were recorded in 2006 (Figure 2.14).

On average, nine water quality samples were taken from Kleskun Drain each year (Table 2.8), and the majority of samples were collected in April (Figure 2.15). The maximum (14) and minimum (5) number of samples collected occurred in the two low flow years, 2000 and 2006, respectively. The inconsistency between discharge and number of samples indicates a problem with the flow-biased sampling regime in this stream. Under-representation in high flow years may have influenced flow-weighted mean concentrations and mass loading results.

Grande Prairie Creek - Grande Prairie Creek drains 15,200 ha of agricultural land east of the City of Grande Prairie. Grande Prairie Creek is a tributary to the Peace and Slave River watershed.

Historical records from 1970 to 2006 showed that peak monthly mean flows occurred in April (April Q_{mean} =1.55 m³ s⁻¹). Similar to Kleskun Drain, the peak discharge in April was in response to snowmelt. From 1999 to 2006, the highest median annual flows occurred in 2001 (Q_{median} = 0.049 m³ s⁻¹) when flows were sustained through June despite lower flow volumes in spring (Table 2.6). Highest mean annual flows (Q_{mean} > 0.4 m³ s⁻¹) occurred in 2002, 2003, 2004, and 2005 when flows exceeded historical values in one or more months (Table 2.5).

The timing of peak discharge was variable among years (Figure 2.14). Peaks were recorded in the spring of 2002 (May), 2003 (April and May), and 2005 (April), and in the summer of 2004 (July and September). Low flow years included 1999, 2000, and 2006 ($Q_{mean} < 0.15 \text{ m}^3 \text{ s}^{-1}$).

On average, 13 water quality samples were taken each year (Table 2.8). The fewest number of samples (9) was taken in 2002, and the highest number of samples (20) was taken in 2000. Although 2000 had the highest number of samples, the flow was modest in all months except September, indicating a discrepancy in the flow-biased sampling.

Hines Creek - Hines Creek is the most northern watershed studied in the AESA Stream Survey. In fact, of the 37,400 ha drainage area, approximately half of the watershed lies outside of Alberta's agricultural zone and is mainly forested. Water quality monitoring in Hines Creek took place from 1999 to 2006 (Table 2.2, pg. 2-6).

Historically, between 1975 and 2006, the highest monthly discharge occurred in May (Q_{mean} = 2.14 m³ s⁻¹). Further, flows were typically sustained from April through July indicating a reliance on snowmelt and precipitation. There were two years (2003 and 2005) with large peaks during spring flow in April (Figure 2.15) and three years where the highest peak flows occurred later in the open water season, including 2000 (July and September), 2001 (June), and 2002 (May). In the remaining years of monitoring, spring flows were below historical values. Specifically, both 1999 and 2006 were years of very low flow (annual $Q_{mean} < 0.03 \text{ m}^3 \text{ s}^{-1}$) (Table 2.5).

The average number of water quality samples taken was 14 (Table 2.8). The minimum number of samples (eight) was taken in 1999, and the maximum number of samples (22) was taken in 2004. In 2004, the highest flows of the year were atypical, occurring later in the season from August through October, thus extending the sampling season.

Figure 2.14. Daily discharge (lower y-axis) and precipitation (Pptn) (upper y-axis) for Kleskun Drain, Grande Prairie Creek, and Hines Creek from 1995 through 2006. Discharge and precipitation data shown were recorded from March 1 to October 31 for each year. Note M M J S M the different y-axis scales.





Figure 2.15. Monthly discharge (lower y-axis) and number (n) of water quality samples (WQ) (upper y-axis) for Kleskun Drain (1999 to 2006), Grande Prairie Creek (1999 to 2006), and Hines Creek (1999 to 2006) from March through October.

Fescue Grassland Ecoregion. The Fescue Grassland Ecoregion includes the Meadow Creek, Trout Creek, and Prairie Blood Coulee watersheds.

Meadow Creek - Meadow Creek is a 13,000 ha tributary to the Oldman River watershed. Historically, June was the month with highest flows (June $Q_{mean} = 0.38 \text{ m}^3 \text{ s}^{-1}$; 1966 to 2006) in this watershed.

Meadow Creek was monitored from 1995 to 2006 (excluding 1998) (Table 2.2, pg. 2-6). In general, years with high stream flow coincided with high precipitation. For example, in 1995, 1998, 2002, and 2005, annual Q_{mean} ranged from 0.42 to 0.58 m³ s⁻¹ (Table 2.5). March to October precipitation totals ranged from 540 to 668 mm (Table 2.4). In contrast, annual Q_{mean} was approx. 10-fold less (e.g., $Q_{mean} < 0.06 \text{ m}^3 \text{ s}^{-1}$) in the low flow years (1999, 2000, 2001 and 2004), and the annual precipitation total ranged from 220 to 480 mm. Flow patterns in 2006 followed a near typical hydrograph for this stream (annual $Q_{mean}=0.191 \text{ m}^3 \text{ s}^{-1}$) (Figure 2.16).

Certain high flow years (1995 and 2005) sustained slightly higher than average flows later in the summer (July, August, and September), while others (2002) experienced faster recession with a peak in June only (Figure 2.16). In other years (1996, 1997, 2003), discharge peaks were higher in the spring and early summer (March, May and June).

Generally, we would expect similar chemistry in years with similar flow conditions. However, 1995 and 1996 were under-sampled in Meadow and Trout Creeks, with only four samples collected. On average, 16 samples were collected each year from 1995 to 2006, increasing to an average of 19 samples per year from 1999 to 2006 (Table 2.8). For trends with time, data were analyzed from 1999 onwards due to unrepresentative data sets for 1995 and 1996 and lack of data for 1998. It is also noteworthy that there was less flow-bias in the sampling frequency of Meadow, Trout, and Prairie Blood Coulee compared to other streams. Logistics dictated sample frequency early in the spring and later in the summer and fall.

Trout Creek - Trout Creek is a 44,100 ha tributary to the Oldman River watershed. The Trout and Meadow Creek hydrographs paralleled one another (Figure 2.16), but discharge from Trout Creek was approximately 10-fold higher (Table 2.5). Typically, June was the month with highest mean monthly flow (historical June $Q_{mean} = 3.01 \text{m}^3 \text{s}^{-1}$; 1911 to 2006).

Refer to Meadow Creek, above, for discussion of sampling frequencies.

Prairie Blood Coulee - Prairie Blood Coulee is a 22,600 ha tributary of the Oldman River watershed. Historically, monthly mean discharge was highest in this stream in March and June. However, flow peaks were typically observed in either spring or summer.

Water samples were collected from 1995 to 1996 and again from 1999 to 2006. There were three years with high spring flow (March): 1996, 1997 (not sampled), and 2003. In contrast, there were four years with summer peaks: 1995, 2002, 2005, and 2006 (Figure 2.16).

On average, 12 water samples were collected per year (Table 2.8). In 1996, only three samples were collected. In 2004, 19 samples were collected; the stream was over-sampled relative to discharge in 2004.

Figure 2.16. Daily discharge (lower y-axis) and precipitation (Pptn) (upper y-axis) for Meadow Creek, Trout Creek, and Prairie Blood Coulee from 1995 through 2006. Discharge and precipitation data shown were recorded from March 1 to October 31 for each year. **Trout Creek** Meadow Creek **Prairie Blood Coulee** E оги w ог w w 2006 2005 2004 للللطيب بليسيا يسليسا يسايير 2003 2002 <u>uluuluulu</u> 2001 2000 عادانا الالطيبية لب 1999 1998 1997 1996 Note the different y-axis scales. 1995 Ē 0 20 25 25 20 25 ß ω 9 2 0 0 20 50 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 70 10 0 0 20 60 10 4 Discharge (m³s⁻¹) Discharge (m³s⁻¹) Pptn (mm) Discharge (m³s⁻¹) (mm) ntq9 Pptn (mm)



Figure 2.17. Monthly discharge (lower y-axis) and number (n) of water quality samples (WQ) (upper y-axis) for Meadow Creek (1995 to 2006), Trout Creek (1995 to 2006) and Prairie Blood Coulee (1995 to 2006) from March through October.

Northern Continental Divide Ecoregion. Willow Creek is the only AESA watershed that lies in the Northern Continental Divide Ecoregion and is a tributary (6500 ha) to the Oldman River.

Seasonal patterns in stream flow in Willow Creek were similar to watersheds in the Grassland Ecoregion (Trout and Meadow Creeks) (Figures 2.17, 2.21), where the highest monthly mean flows occurred in June (historical June $Q_{mean} = 2.89 \text{ m}^3 \text{ s}^{-1}$; 1997 to 2006). During the AESA monitoring period from 1999 to 2006, the years without a peak in flow in June included 1999, 2000, 2001, and 2003 (Figure 2.20). In 2000, however, flow data were missing from March through May. High flow years included 2002 and 2005 where the June Q_{mean} was 2- to 3-fold higher than the historical average (i.e., 6.2 and 9.2 m³ s⁻¹, respectively). Mean annual discharge was high in 2004 and 2005 when flows were sustained through the summer until September (Table 2.5). Note that the historical record for Willow Creek is relatively short (1997 to 2006).

On average, 20 samples were collected per year, with the fewest (16) collected in 2003 and the most (26) in 1999 (Table 2.8).

Moist Mixed Grassland and Mixed Grassland (under Irrigation) Ecoregions. The watersheds in these ecoregions include the Battersea Drain, Crowfoot Creek, Drain S-6, and New West Coulee.

Battersea Drain - Battersea Drain receives irrigation return flows from the Lethbridge Northern Irrigation District (LNID). The topographically-defined watershed covers 7800 ha of intensively farmed agricultural land, but the drain also receives water from outside the drainage area. For this reason, calculations of runoff depth (discharge per watershed area) were not relevant, as they generated inaccurately large values. However, since much of the basin is under irrigation, the amount of runoff generated exceeds that in natural systems in the Moist Mixed Grasslands Ecoregion.

Battersea Drain was sampled from 1998 to 2006 (Table 2.2, pg. 2-6). Flows were typically low prior to the irrigation season (in March and April) and elevated from May to September. The number of samples collected each year was relatively constant as a bi-weekly sampling regime was generally followed (Figure 2.19). The most samples were collected in 2004 (25 samples) and the least in 1999 (15 samples). On average, 19 samples were collected per year (Table 2.8)

In 2002 and 2005, rain events were > 65 mm and generated sufficient runoff to generate discharge peaks > $2 \text{ m}^3 \text{ s}^{-1}$ (Figure 2.18).

Battersea Drain has been well studied by researchers. Other studies in the Battersea Drain include Riemersma et al. (2004), Rodvang et al. (2004), and Rock and Mayer (2004). In addition, several sites in the Battersea Drain were studied from 1999 to 2007 by ARD in partnership with the Oldman Watershed Council (Little 2003; Saffran 2005).

Crowfoot Creek - Crowfoot Creek is a flow-regulated system that serves as a return flow stream for the Western Irrigation District. The watershed (137000 ha) is located east of Calgary and is a tributary of the Bow River. Natural flows in the creek were generated by snowmelt runoff in the spring and rainfall events in summer and fall. Highest monthly mean discharge typically occurred

in April, then decreased in May, and then increased to a constant discharge throughout the irrigation season (May and June to September) (Figure 2.18, 2.19).

During the water quality monitoring period (1995 to 2006), the highest mean annual discharge $(Q_{mean} > 2.3 \text{ m}^3 \text{ s}^{-1})$ occurred in 1996, 1997, and 2006 when April discharge was far above historical values due to snowmelt contributions (Table 2.5). Of the 15 years of monitoring, only five years (1996, 1997, 2003, 2004, and 2006) had spring peaks in March or April, while the remaining seven years (1995, 1998 to 2002, and 2005) had much lower spring flows (Figure 2.18). The lowest median annual flows were observed in two drought years: 2001 and 2002 (Table 2.6).

There were peaks in flow that occurred in months other than the spring in response to rainfall events. In June and/or July of 1998, 2005, and 2006, peaks in summer flow exceeded those in the historical record. In 2005, there were also elevated flow conditions toward the end of the season (August and September).

The average number of samples collected was 18 per year but ranged from 12 samples in 1995 to 23 samples in 2003 (Table 2.8).

Like Battersea Drain, Crowfoot Creek is also well studied. Additional studies carried out in the Crowfoot Creek include Ontkean et al. (2003), Cross (2003, 2006), and Patterson et al. (2006).

Drain S-6 - Drain S-6 is a small (3300 ha) irrigated watershed in the Mixed Grassland Ecoregion of southern Alberta. Flows in the channel were maintained from May to early October by the addition of return flows from the St. Mary's Irrigation District (SMRID). Historical data were not available for this stream.

Monitoring was conducted from 1999 to 2006. On average, 17 samples were collected per year, with the fewest (14) collected in 2002 and the most (22) in 2004 (Table 2.8). Despite negligible flows (annual Q_{mean} < 0.015 cms) in Drain S-6 from 2003 to 2006 (Table 2.5, Figure 2.21), the sampling frequency was not reduced from the bi-weekly regime. Thus, water quality was somewhat over characterized in the last four years of the monitoring record.

New West Coulee - New West Coulee is a flow-regulated system, which serves as a return flow for the Western Irrigation District. The effective drainage area (10,200 ha) is a small proportion (33%) of the gross drainage area (31,200 ha). This system was monitored from 1999 to 2006. On average, 18 samples were collected per year (Table 2.2, pg. 2-6, and Table 2.8).

The hydrograph showed an increase in flow with a peak in July and flows declining thereafter. Prior to the commencement of irrigation (March and April), there was little flow in this canal, indicating that the channel flow was derived mainly from irrigation water (Figure 2.18). Flows in New West Coulee did not vary substantially among years. Even in drought years (e.g., 2001), flows and sampling regimes remained relatively constant.

One storm event (>100 mm over two days) in September 2005 generated an anomalous flow peak. Water samples were collected on the receding limb of the peak.







Figure 2.19. Monthly discharge (lower y-axis) and total number (n) of water quality samples (WQ) (upper y-axis) for Willow Creek (1999 to 2006), Battersea Drain (1995 to 2006), and Crowfoot Creek (1995 to 2006) from March through October.





Figure 2.21. Monthly discharge (lower y-axis) and number (n) of water quality samples (WQ) (upper y-axis) for Drain S6 (1995 – 2006) and New West Coulee (1999 – 2006) from March through October.

Land Cover

Land cover in the 23 AESA watersheds varied throughout the province (Table 2.9) although some similarities were observed in watersheds in the same agricultural intensity category. The proportion of cropland, forage, grassland, and trees and shrubs varied among watersheds under different agricultural intensities. Variations in 1991 land cover distributions are illustrated using four representative AESA watersheds: Paddle River, Blindman River, Haynes Creek, and Battersea Drain (Figure 2.22). Land cover maps for the rest of the watersheds can be found in Appendix 1.

Paddle River is located in the Western Alberta Upland Ecoregion where trees and shrubs are the dominant land cover (Table 2.9). The watershed was characterized by low intensity farming (low agricultural intensity ranking in 1996), with beef cattle production as the predominant form of agriculture. Common crops included oat, tame hay, and alfalfa, which were cultivated on the relatively small proportion of crop (3%) and forage (6%) land in the basin. Blindman River, a moderate agricultural intensity watershed in the Boreal Transition Ecoregion, had a lower proportion of trees and shrubs (38%), more forage land (44%), and a similar amount of cropland (4%) compared to Paddle River. Common crops in the watershed included oat, tame hay, barley and alfalfa. Agriculture in the watershed was best described as moderately intensive mixed farming and beef cattle production. Haynes Creek, a high intensity stream in the Aspen Parkland Ecoregion, was characterized by highly intensive mixed farming. Sixty-eight percent of the watershed was under cropland, and dominant crops included barley, canola, alfalfa, and wheat. Livestock were typically beef cattle and hogs. The Battersea Drain watershed is an irrigation return flow stream and was characterized by highly intensive mixed farming dominated by large beef cattle feedlots. Cropland covered 67% of the watershed, and common crops included barley and wheat (Figure 2.22).

				Percent L	and Cover			
				Trees and				
Watershed	Cropland	Forage	Grassland	Shrubs	Wetland	Water	Anthropogenic	No Data
Aspen Parkland								
Buffalo Creek	62	1	31	5				
Haynes Creek	68	16	10	5				
Ray Creek	67	10	18	5				
Renwick Creek	81	6	12					
Stretton Creek	78	2	16	3				
Threehills Creek	52	8	32	7		1		
Boreal								
Hines Creek		1		52	5			41
Grande Prairie	21	13	2	57	6			
Kleskun Drain	48	49	2	2				
Paddle River	6	3	23	67				
Rose Creek		7	6	72				14
Blindman River	4	44	14	38				
Strawberry Creek	25	50	7	17				
Tomahawk Creek	11	24	34	31				
Wabash Creek	40	20	34	5			1	
Continental Divide								
Willow Creek			9	33				58
Grassland								
Prairie Blood Coulee	81	0	18					
Meadow Creek	7	4	74	16				
Trout Creek		1	67	32				
Mixed/ Moist Mixed G	rassland (Und	ler Irrigatior	ı)					
Battersea Drain	67	20	11			1	1	
Crowfoot Creek	77	5	17					
Drain S6	64	16	18	1		1	1	
New West Coulee	51	21	26	1		2		

Table 2.9. Percent land cover for all major classifications in the AESA watersheds in 1991. Areas that exceeded the boundaries of Alberta's White zone were categorized under the heading "No Data." Bolded values represented the dominant land cover category (>60%).

Bold: dominant land cover (>60%)



categories. High, Moderate, Low agricultural intensity and Irrigation agriculture (1996 classification) are represented by Haynes Creek (a), Blindman River (b), Paddle River (c), and Battersea Drain (d), respectively. Figure 2.22. Land cover (1991 classification) of four representative AESA watersheds covering the four agricultural intensity

Agricultural Intensity Classification in 1996, 2001 and 2006

The agricultural intensity ranks (low, moderate, and high) for the AESA watersheds, as calculated from the 1996, 2001, and 2006 Census of Agriculture data, were compared to assess whether major changes in agricultural intensity occurred in the AESA watersheds during the timeframe of the project. Individual metrics were also examined to identify if changes were a result of variability in one or more of the three metrics used to calculate overall agricultural intensity.

When the AESA Stream Survey was initiated, and agricultural intensity was based on the 1996 Census of Agriculture data, there were five low agricultural intensity streams, six moderate agricultural intensity streams, and eleven high agricultural intensity watersheds (including four streams receiving irrigation return flows) (Table 2.10).

In 2006, eight streams changed AI categories relative to their 1996 ranking. Blindman River, Buffalo Creek, Kleskun Drain, Meadow Creek, Strawberry Creek, Tomahawk Creek, and Trout Creek decreased in agricultural intensity (four from moderate to low, three from high to moderate), while Prairie Blood Coulee increased from a low to moderate agricultural intensity category. Some watersheds appeared to decrease (e.g., Paddle River) or increase (e.g., Hines Creek) in AI percentile between Census years but still remained within the same category (Figure 2.23, Table 2.11).

It is also important to note the changes in methodologies among years. Specifically, some watersheds were grouped into smaller or larger polygons before percentiles were calculated as a result of the 15-farm minimum reporting requirement (see Materials and Methods: Agricultural Intensity Metrics). As a consequence, calculations were not based on the same area in all three years for the following seven streams: Meadow Creek, Renwick Creek, Prairie Blood Coulee, Stretton Creek, Willow Creek, Hines Creek, and Kleskun Drain. Note that the changes in methodologies only affect those polygons with under 15 farms, typically watersheds with little agricultural activity. Those watersheds with higher agricultural intensity were generally not impacted by the change in aggregation method. Further information is provided on the methodology differences among years in the footnote of Table 2.10.

Agricultural intensity percentiles for each watershed were examined to assess which of the three sub-metrics metrics (fertilizer expenses, chemical expenses, and manure production) influenced the overall ranking (Figures 2.24 to 2.26, Table 2.11). Note that the examinations made were based on the actual agricultural intensity score (between 0.1 and 1) rather than solely on changes in agricultural intensity categories. The rankings are not absolute scores but relative scores (rankings). Changes in relative intensity are to be expected.

Table 2.10. Agricultural intensity rank (low, moderate, high) for 22 AESA streams from 1996,
2001, and 2006 Census of Agriculture data. Ranks were based on three metrics: manure
production, fertilizer sales, and chemical sales percentiles. For full stream names refer to Table
2.1 (pg. 2-3).

Stream	1996 Census Rank	2001 Census Rank	2006 Census Rank	Average
HIN^	Low	Low	Low	Low
PAD	Low	Low	Low	Low
PRA*^	Low	Mod	Mod	Mod
ROS	Low	Low	Low	Low
WIL**	Low	Low	Low	Low
BLI	Mod	Low	Low	Mod
GRA	Mod	Low	Mod	Mod
KLE^	Mod	Low	Low	Low
MEA*	Mod	Low	High	Mod
TOM	Mod	Low	Low	Low
TRO	Mod	Low	Low	Low
BUF	High	High	Mod	High
HM6	High	High	High	High
RAY	High	High	High	High
REN*	High	High	High	High
STT*	High	High	High	High
STW	High	Mod	Mod	Mod
THR	High	High	High	High
WAB	High	Mod	Mod	High
BAT	High	High	High	High
DS6	High	High	-	High
CRO	High	High	High	High
NEW	High	High	High	High

*Watersheds that have ag intensity calculated on a larger sized polygon in 2006

MEA REN

PRA STT

**Watersheds that have ag intensity calculated on a smaller sized polygon in 2006

WIL

^Watersheds that have ag intensity calculated on an area that greatly exceeds the AESA watershed in 2001 and 2006

PRA HIN

KLE

Bolded entires indicate a change from the 1996 AI classification
Table 2.11. Agricultural intensity percentiles (between 0 and 1) for 22 AESA streams from 1996, 2001, and 2006 Census of Agriculture data. Percentiles are also presented for the three metrics: manure production, fertilizer sales, and chemical sales percentiles. For full stream names refer to Table 2.1 (pg. 2-3).

rical Expenses Percentile	996 2001 2006	300 0.9772 0.9948	400 0.1091 0.2448	700 0.8173 0.7292	200 0.9061 0.9193	300 0.5330 0.6875	500 0.4746 0.5026	400 0.9873 0.9297	300 0.1777 0.1536	000 0.2741 0.9063	200 0.9949 0.9714	100 0.3350 0.0703	200 0.6472 0.6302	300 0.8883 0.7344	900 0.9924 0.9635	500 0.0305 0.0807	300 0.7640 0.8333	500 0.5533 0.4870		700 0.8325 0.8281	700 0.8325 0.8281 200 0.1523 0.1875	700 0.8325 0.8281 200 0.1523 0.1875 500 0.1929 0.0208	700 0.8325 0.8281 200 0.1523 0.1875 500 0.1929 0.0208 300 0.5558 0.5781
le Chem	006 15	948 0.88	246 0.44	545 0.87	770 0.92	539 0.68	921 0.15	346 0.94	361 0.86	301 0.40	712 0.82	492 0.3'	306 0.42	386 0.98	555 0.99	364 0.25	754 0.93	471 0.65	110 0.97		115 0.40	115 0.40 312 0.26	115 0.40 312 0.26 466 0.93
Percenti	1 2	6.0 7	3 0.3	7 0.6	1 0.8	3 0.7	2 0.4	0.0	§ 0.1	0.73	§ 0.9	5 0.1	3 0.6	§ 0.9	4 0.9	0.0	0.6	5 0.5	3 0.9		0.3	0.03	0.0.0
zpenses	200	0.972	0.364{	0.838	0.8784	0.580(0.434	.066.0	0.116	0.340(0.982(0.404{	0.694	0.992(0.950	0.0447	0.734{	0.6625	0.893		0.263(0.263(0.233:	0.263(0.233(0.682
Fertilizer E	1996	0.9300	0.5400	0.8700	0.8400	0.6900	0.2100	0.9600	0.8700	0.5100	0.7900	0.3900	0.5500	0.9700	1.0000	0.3700	0.8700	0.7100	0.9700		0.5100	0.5100 0.4000	0.5100 0.4000 0.9100
ercentile	2006	1.0000	0.6314	0.6211	0.5773	0.0928	0.1521	0.6753	0.0464	0.7603	0.8119	0.1959	0.2835	0.6443	0.6186	0.1082	0.7036	0.7938	0.9253		0.4871	0.4871 0.4897	0.4871 0.4897 0.8582
oduction Pe	2001	0.9877	0.7389	0.6232	0.5271	0.1232	0.1724	0.8670	0.0419	0.5665	0.9828	0.2660	0.1552	0.4187	0.2734	0.1108	0.6626	0.8300	0.9704		0.4581	0.4581 0.5936	0.4581 0.5936 0.8153
Manure Pr	1996	0.9900	0.9000	0.6300	0.5300	0.3700	0.1400	0.9200	0.5700	0.8200	0.6600	0.5200	0.2700	0.9500	0.7600	0.5800	0.7800	0.8200	0.8600		0.8100	0.8100 0.7900	0.8100 0.7900 0.9100
	2006	1.0000	0.3907	0.6941	0.8483	0.4884	0.3676	0.9177	0.0900	0.8792	0.9717	0.1080	0.5270	0.8329	0.9152	0.0771	0.7789	0.6272	0.9589	00000	0.3033	0.3033	0.3033 0.1517 0.7249
Percentile	2001	0.9901	0.3867	0.8177	0.8350	0.3892	0.3473	0.9828	0.0813	0.3768	0.9975	0.3103	0.4926	0.8276	0.7857	0.0493	0.7611	0.7266	0.9458	01200	2102.0	0.3177	0.3177 0.3177 0.7291
ral Intensity	1996	0.9800	0.6200	0.8300	0.8000	0.5700	0.1200	0.9800	0.8000	0.5800	0.8000	0.3800	0.3900	0.9900	0.9600	0.3800	0.9100	0.7600	0.9800	0 5700	0010.0	0.4800	0.4800 0.9600
Overall Agricultu	Ave. (1996, 2001, 2006)	0066.0	0.4658	0.7806	0.8278	0.4825	0.2783	0.9602	0.3238	0.6120	0.9231	0.2661	0.4699	0.8835	0.8870	0.1688	0.8167	0.7046	0.9616	0.3748	011000	0.3165	0.3165
Stream Name		Battersea Drain	Blindman River ^z	Buffalo Creek ^z	Crowfoot Creek	Grande Prairie Creek	Hines Creek ^y	Haynes Creek	Kleskun Drain ^z	Meadow Creek ^z	New West Coulee	Paddle River ^y	Prairie Blood Coulee ^z	Ray Creek	Renwick Creek	Rose Creek ^y	Stretton Creek	Strawberry Creek ^z	Threehills Creek	Tomahawk Creek ^z	I UI II AI I A VI CON	Trout Creek ^z	Trout Creek Wabash Creek

^z Change in agricultural intensity category 1996 to 2006.

^y Changes in agricultural intensity percentiles observed among Census years (1996, 2001, and 2006) without a change in category.



AESA Stream

Figure 2.23. Agricultural intensity percentiles for 23 AESA streams from 1996, 2001, and 2006 Census of Agriculture data. In the context of the AESA water quality monitoring program, agricultural intensity was based upon the following percentile categories: low (<0.40), moderate (0.40 to 0.75) and high (>0.75). Refer to Table 2.1 for full stream names (pg. 2-3).



Figure 2.24. Manure production percentiles for 23 AESA streams from 1996, 2001, and 2006 Census of Agriculture data. In the context of the AESA water quality monitoring program, manure production percentiles were categorized as follows: low (<0.40), moderate (0.40 to 0.75) and high (>0.75). For full stream names refer to Table 2.1 (pg. 2-3).



Figure 2.25. Fertilizer expenses percentiles for 23 AESA streams from 1996, 2001, and 2006 Census of Agriculture data. In the context of the AESA water quality monitoring program, fertilizer expenses percentiles were categorized as follows: low (<0.40), moderate (0.40 to 0.75) and high (>0.75). For full stream names refer to Table 2.1 (pg. 2-3).



Figure 2.26. Chemical expenses percentiles for 23 AESA streams from 1996, 2001, and 2006 Census of Agriculture data. In the context of the AESA water quality monitoring program, chemical expenses percentiles were categorized as follows: low (<0.40), moderate (0.40 to 0.75) and high (>0.75). For full stream names refer to Table 2.1 (pg. 2-3).

Prairie Blood Coulee (PRA). An increase in agricultural intensity percentile was observed in Prairie Blood Coulee from 1996 (0.3900) to 2006 (0.5270). This increase was driven by increases in chemical (0.4200 to 0.6302) and fertilizer (0.5500 to 0.6806) expenses percentiles (Figures 2.25 and 2.26). Its rank in manure production remained fairly constant. Prairie Blood Coulee was classified as a low agricultural intensity watershed in 1996 but had one of the higher rankings within the low agricultural intensity category and was close to the category cutoff. Although the watershed would have been classified as a moderate agricultural intensity watershed (from low), it was already close to the low and moderate category cutoff (0.4). Furthermore, the size of the amalgamated polygons used to calculate the agricultural intensity of the watershed was larger in 2006 than previous years. Percentiles in 2001 and 2006 were also calculated based on an amalgamated polygon area that greatly exceeded the AESA watershed boundary. It is uncertain if the differences in amalgamated polygon area influenced the observed change in agricultural intensity percentiles.

Blindman River (BLI). Blindman River was classified as a moderate agricultural intensity watershed based on 1996 Census of Agriculture data (Table 2.10 and 2.11); however, it ranked among the high agricultural watersheds for manure production (0.9) and the low agricultural watersheds for chemical expenses (0.44). The manure production percentile for Blindman River decreased between 1996 and 2006 (from 0.9000 to 0.6314) (Figure 2.24, Table 2.11). Moreover, fertilizer and chemical expenses percentiles also decreased (Figures 2.25 and 2.26). Although the percentiles for each metric decreased, the average AI from the 1996, 2001, and 2006 Census data still remained within the range of percentiles for moderate agricultural intensity (0.4658).

Meadow Creek (MEA). Agricultural intensity percentiles in Meadow Creek went from moderate to low to high in 1996, 2001, and 2006, respectively (Table 2.10 and 2.11, Figure 2.23). All AI metrics decreased in 2001 compared to 1996. However, dramatic increases in fertilizer and chemical sales percentiles drove up the agricultural intensity rank in 2006 (Figures 1.26 to 1.28). As in Prairie Blood Coulee, a larger amalgamated polygon area was used in 2006 in the agricultural intensity calculations than in 2001, which may have influenced the increase in fertilizer and chemical sales rankings. The averaged agricultural intensity percentile (1996, 2001, and 2006) was 0.6120; therefore, the Meadow Creek was still examined as a watershed under moderate intensity agriculture.

Kleskun Drain (KLE) and Tomahawk (TOM) and Trout (TRO) Creeks. All three streams ranked as moderate AI watersheds in 1996 and decreased to low AI in 2001 and 2006 (Table 2.11). All three metrics decreased from 1996 to 2001 in each watershed and remained lower in 2006 than was previously reported in 1996 (Figures 2.24 to 2.26, Table 2.11). Chemical and fertilizer percentiles decreased from a moderate to low rank in Tomahawk Creek, while the manure percentile decreased from high to low. Trout Creek showed similar patterns to those observed in Tomahawk Creek. In contrast, manure production percentiles in Kleskun Drain showed a smaller decrease than the fertilizer and chemical sales metrics (Figures 2.24 to 2.26). There was uncertainty in the initial agricultural intensity assessment for Kleskun drain as a larger amalgamated polygon area was used to calculate the metric percentiles in 2001 and 2006. The uncertainty in the watershed's initial agricultural intensity assessment and the larger

amalgamated polygon area used to calculate the metric percentiles in 2001 and 2006 make changes in agricultural intensity in this watershed questionable.

Buffalo Creek (BUF). Buffalo Creek remained a high AI watershed in 2001 (0.8177) but decreased to an overall moderate AI percentile in 2006 (0.6941; Figure 2.23, Table 2.11). Its rank in manure production percentile remained fairly constant during the monitoring period (0.63 to 0.6211; Figure 2.24); however, the fertilizer expenses percentile decreased between 1996 and 2006 (from 0.8700 to 0.6545; Figure 2.25, Table 2.11). Chemical expenses percentiles also decreased each Census year (Figure 2.26). Although the overall AI decreased from a high to moderate agricultural intensity category, the differences in ranking were not that great and were close to the cutoff between the two agricultural intensity categories (0.75). Furthermore, the average AI percentile (1996, 2001, and 2006) was still within the high agricultural intensity category (Table 2.11).

Strawberry (STW) and Wabash (WAB) Creeks. Strawberry and Wabash Creeks decreased from high to moderate AI ranks from 1996 to 2001. The 1996 AI percentile in Strawberry Creek was already close to the cutoff between the moderate and high agricultural intensity ranks (1996 AI: 0.7600). Although the manure production metric remained relatively constant above the high agricultural category cutoff (0.7938-0.8300), the fertilizer and chemical sales percentiles decreased from the upper boundary to lower boundary of the moderate AI percentile range (Figures 2.24 to 2.26). Manure production and chemical and fertilizer sales metrics in Wabash Creek showed similar patterns as Strawberry Creek: manure percentiles decreased. However, the AI percentile in 1996 was already high (0.96). Even though the AI percentile in Wabash Creek dropped in 2001 and 2006 (0.7291 and 0.7249, respectively), the percentiles were close to the cutoff between the moderate and high agricultural intensity categories (0.75). The average AI percentile (0.8047) for the monitoring period (1996, 2001, and 2006) also remained above the 0.75 cutoff for the high agricultural intensity category.

Although AI ranks changed in many streams among Census years (Table 2.10), only four streams changed in agricultural intensity categories when the 1996 rankings were compared to the average percentiles from the 1996, 2001, and 2006 Census rankings: Kleskun Drain, Prairie Blood Coulee, Strawberry Creek, and Tomahawk Creek. (Table 2.11). All of the watersheds but Kleskun Drain had agricultural intensity percentiles that were close to the agricultural intensity category cutoffs. Furthermore, it was uncertain how changes in methodologies affected the percentiles for watersheds such as Kleskun Drain. Despite the changes found in AI with time, it was deemed the 1996 agricultural intensity classifications for the 23 AESA watersheds would be used for subsequent nutrient, bacteria and pesticide data interpretation and analyses.

Spearman Rank correlations were computed between an average of the AI percentiles from 1996, 2001, and 2006 and average of the three metrics. As expected, all correlations were positive. The AI percentile for all 23 AESA watersheds was very strongly correlated with fertilizer and chemical sales percentiles (0.95 for both), while average fertilizer and chemical sales percentiles were also strongly correlated with each other (0.98). The average manure production percentiles were strongly correlated with the average agricultural intensity percentiles

(0.66) but only weakly correlated with fertilizer or chemical sales percentiles (0.46 and 0.43, respectively).

Interestingly, the correlations imply that livestock and crop production may be somewhat independent. The results indicate that some agricultural watersheds may be better suited to either crop or livestock production. In Alberta, intensive livestock operations tend to be geographically concentrated, as observed in Battersea Drain, which ranks among the top watersheds with a high density of intensive livestock operations (Statistics Canada 2006). Similarly, many of the foothills areas are better suited to cow-calf production than crop production, including the Willow Creek watershed.

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

Other studies have shown that patterns in water quality may be affected by activity on land as well as the magnitude and timing of runoff and stream flow. To aid in the interpretation of AESA water quality data, specifically nutrient, bacteria, and pesticide data (as discussed in subsequent chapters), it is important to understand land cover and stream hydrology within a given watershed.

The province-wide and multi-year scale of the AESA Stream Survey captured inherent variability in the timing and magnitude of stream flow among study streams and years. This natural variability introduces some challenges in addressing the second overall study objective of determining changes in water quality during the 8- to 15- years of monitoring. There were major differences in stream flow conditions and sampling intensity among years in individual streams, data gaps during years of drought, and anomalous flood events that could have had a large influence on water quality. These challenges are discussed further in the interpretations of nutrient, fecal bacteria, and pesticide data sets in Chapters 3 to 5, respectively.

Objective 1: Understand precipitation and hydrology patterns (1995 to 2006) in the 23 AESA watersheds and the similarities and/or differences among Ecoregions.

- For the period of study (1995 to 2006; 1999 to 2006), the timing and magnitude of stream flow varied naturally among Ecoregions and years. As such, water quality will be characterized at different times of the year in different regions of the province:
 - Aspen Parkland Ecoregion
 - Streams in this Ecoregion flowed primarily in the spring in response to overland runoff from snow melt. In years with smaller snow packs, hydrological connectivity with land was low, as there was little response to summer rain events.
 - o Boreal Transition and Western Alberta Upland Ecoregions
 - Streams in these Ecoregions typically flowed continuously during the open water season in response to snowmelt and summer precipitation events.
 - Clear Hills Upland and Peace Lowland Ecoregions
 - The timing of runoff and flow was highly variable among years. Flow peaks occurred in spring or summer, both, or not at all.

- o Grassland and Northern Continental Divide Ecoregions
 - Stream flow in these ecoregions generally peaked in June and receded thereafter.
- o Mixed/Moist Mixed Grassland Ecoregions (Irrigated Agriculture)
 - The hydrology of watercourses receiving irrigation return flows was largely influenced by the timing of crop irrigation. Flows tended to be uniformly high from May through September.
- Precipitation was highly variable among the years of study, and the timing of floods and droughts varied spatially. In the early years of monitoring, 1995 and 1998 were wetter years in the Grassland Ecoregions (Mixed, Moist Mixed and Fescue), while in the latter years of monitoring, 2002 and 2005 were wet in the Grassland Ecoregions and the Continental Divide Ecoregion. Precipitation totals were notably higher in 1996 and 1997 in the Boreal Ecoregion and again in 2000 and 2004. In the Aspen Parkland Ecoregion, 1999 and 2005 were the wettest years.
- Winter precipitation totals were not examined but would likely provide insight on the magnitude of spring runoff.
- There were two noteworthy weather events during the period of study:
 - o Drought in 2000, 2001, 2002 that impacted each Ecoregion in one or more years.
 - Heavy rains in southern Alberta in 2005.

Objective 2: Examine the flow biased sampling regime and its implications in subsequent data interpretation.

- The flow biased sampling regime was not without difficulties. There were years when certain streams were over or under characterized with respect to water quality sampling and relative to stream flow.
- Sampling frequency became more representative of changes in stream flow and storm events as staff became more familiar with the watersheds and their respective hydrological responses.

Objective 3: Characterize land cover in the AESA watersheds and understand the variations in land cover among watersheds under differing agricultural intensities.

• The relative proportion of land cover categories, including cropland, forage, grassland, and trees and shrubs, varied among watersheds. In general, watersheds with high agricultural intensity (dryland or irrigated) tended to have higher proportions of crop land compared to watersheds with low or moderate agricultural intensity.

Objective 4: Evaluate the Agricultural Intensity metric and examine changes in Agricultural Intensity percentiles over the three census years (1996, 2001, and 2006).

- Evaluation of the agricultural intensity metric from 1999 to 2006 revealed a decrease in agricultural intensity categories in seven watersheds, generally as a result of decreases in manure production percentiles. Agricultural intensity percentiles increased in one watershed (Prairie Blood Coulee) between 1996 and 2006 as a result of increases in fertilizer and chemical sales percentiles.
 - Some of the perceived changes may be artifacts of changes in polygon areas for which agricultural intensity data were reported in successive census years. These uncertainties mainly apply to watersheds with lower agricultural intensity.

- Differences between 1996 and 2006 percentiles in some watersheds were small and just spanned the cutoff between two agricultural intensity categories (e.g., Strawberry), while some watersheds remained within the same category even though a greater decrease (e.g., Rose Creek) or increase (e.g., Hines Creek) in the overall agricultural intensity percentile was observed
- The general observations appeared to support the conclusion that agricultural intensity has either remained constant or decreased in these representative AESA watersheds from 1996 to 2006.
- As the changes in the agricultural intensity percentiles were generally minimal and the average agricultural intensity from the three Census years was similar to the 1996 categories for the majority of watersheds, it was determined that all data analyses in subsequent chapters would be conducted with 1996 classifications in order to ensure consistency throughout the report.

Chapter 3: Nutrients

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CONTENTS	3-i
LIST OF FIGURES	3-iii
LIST OF TABLES	3-ix
INTRODUCTION	3-1
Objectives	
MATERIALS AND METHODS	
Nutrient Sample Collection	
Laboratory analyses of water samples.	
Inorganic data	
Data Management and Analyses of Water Ouality Data	
Nutrient data analysis	
Compliance with surface water quality guidelines	
Load, flow weighted mean concentration (FWMC), and export calculations	
Statistical analysis of nutrient data	3-7
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	3-8
Compliance with Water Quality Guidelines: Protection of Aquatic I ife (PAI)	3_8
Total Phosphorus (TP) and Total Nitrogen (TN)	3-8
Nitrite-N (N Ω_2 -N)	3-9
Nitrate-N (NO $_2^{-}$ -N)	3_9
Ammonia (NH ₂ -N)	3-9
Other applicable guidelines and objectives	3-9
Flow Weighted Mean Concentrations (FWMC) of P and N	3-13
Comparisons of P and N FWMCs by agricultural intensity.	
Comparisons of P and N FWMCs by ecoregion area.	
Molar ratios of TN/TP and DIN/TDP.	
Correlations of P and N FWMCs with Agricultural Intensity metrics	
Temporal trends in P and N FWMC.	
Seasonality of nutrient FWMC by agricultural intensity	
Mass Transport of Phosphorus and Nitrogen	
Export Coefficients for Phosphorus and Nitrogen in Dryland Watersheds	
Total Phosphorus (TP) export coefficients	
Total Dissolved Phosphorus (TDP) export coefficients	
Total Particulate Phosphorus (TPP) export coefficients	3-100
Total Dissolved P to Total P export coefficient ratios (TDP/TP)	
Total Nitrogen (TN) export coefficients	3-111
Nitrite-N + Nitrate-N (NO ₂ ⁻ -N+NO ₃ ⁻ -N) export coefficients	3-118
Ammonia-N (NH ₃ -N) export coefficients	3-122

Organic Nitrogen (Org N) export coefficents	3-125
Dissolved Inorganic Nitrogen to Total Nitrogen export coefficient ratios (DIN/TN)	3-132
Correlations of P and N export coefficients with Agricultural Intensity (A.I.) metrics	3-135
Nutrient export and seasonality	3-140
SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	3-141

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 3.1.	Box plots of median annual TP FWMCs (1999 to 2006) in the four agricultural intensity categories
Figure 3.2.	Box plots of median annual TDP FWMCs (1999 to 2006) in the four agricultural intensity categories
Figure 3.3.	Box plots of median annual TPP FWMCs (1999 to 2006) in the four agricultural intensity categories
Figure 3.4.	Box plots of median annual TDP/TP FWMC ratios (1999 to 2006) in the four agricultural intensity categories
Figure 3.5.	Box plots of median annual TN FWMCs (1999 to 2006) in the four agricultural intensity categories
Figure 3.6.	Box plots of median annual Org N FWMCs (1999 to 2006) in the four agricultural intensity categories
Figure 3.7.	Box plots of median annual NO ₂ ⁻ -N+NO ₃ ⁻ -N FWMCs (1999 to 2006) in the four agricultural intensity categories
Figure 3.8.	Box plots of median annual NH ₃ -N FWMCs (1999-2006) in the four agricultural intensity categories
Figure 3.9.	Box plots of median annual DIN/TN FWMC ratios (1999-2006) in the four agricultural intensity categories
Figure 3.10.	Median of the median annual TDP and TPP (a) and Org N, $NO_2^{-}+NO_3^{-}-N$ and NH_3-N (b) FWMCs for the AESA watersheds (1999 to 2006)3-24
Figure 3.11.	Median of the median annual TDP/TP (a) and DIN/TN (b) in the AESA watersheds grouped by the 1996 agricultural intensity rankings
Figure 3.12.	Box plots of median annual TP FWMCs (1999 to 2006) for the five ecoregion areas
Figure 3.13.	Box plots of median annual TDP FWMCs (1999 to 2006) for the five ecoregion areas
Figure 3.14.	Box plots of median annual TPP FWMCs (1999 to 2006) for the five ecoregion areas
Figure 3.15.	Box plots of median annual TDP/TP FWMCs (1999 to 2006) for the five ecoregion areas

Figure 3.16.	Box plots of median annual TN FWMCs (1999 to 2006) for the five ecoregion areas
Figure 3.17.	Box plots of median annual Org N FWMCs (1999 to 2006) for the five ecoregion areas
Figure 3.18.	Box plots of median annual NO ₂ ⁻ -N+NO ₃ ⁻ -N FWMCs (1999 to 2006) for the five ecoregion areas
Figure 3.19.	Box plots of median annual NH ₃ -N FWMCs (1999 to 2006) for the five ecoregion areas
Figure 3.20.	Box plots of median annual DIN/TN FWMCs (1999 to 2006) for the five ecoregion areas
Figure 3.21.	Box plots of median annual TN/TP (a) and DIN/TDP (b) ratios (1999-2006) in the four agricultural intensity categories
Figure 3.22.	Box plots of median annual TN/TP (a) and DIN/TDP (b) FWMC ratios (1999-2006) for the five ecoregion areas
Figure 3.23.	Average agricultural intensity metric (1999, 2001, 2006) and median annual TDP/TP FWMC for the AESA watersheds
Figure 3.24.	Average agricultural intensity metric (1999, 2001, 2006) and median annual DIN/TN FWMC for the AESA watersheds
Figure 3.25.	Annual TDP and TPP (a) and Org N, NO ₂ ⁻ +NO ₃ ⁻ -N, and NH ₃ -N (b) FWMCs in Hines Creek
Figure 3.26.	Annual TDP and TPP (a) and Org N, NO ₂ ⁻ +NO ₃ ⁻ -N, and NH ₃ -N (b) FWMCs in Paddle River
Figure 3.27.	Median annual TDP/TP versus annual flow volume in Paddle River
Figure 3.28.	Annual TDP and TPP (a) and Org N, NO ₂ ⁻ +NO ₃ ⁻ -N, and NH ₃ -N (b) FWMCs in Prairie Blood Coulee
Figure 3.29.	Annual TDP and TPP (a) and Org N, NO ₂ ⁻ +NO ₃ ⁻ -N, and NH ₃ -N (b) FWMCs in Rose Creek
Figure 3.30.	Annual TDP and TPP (a) and Org N, NO ₂ ⁻ +NO ₃ ⁻ -N, and NH ₃ -N (b) FWMCs in Willow Creek
Figure 3.31.	Annual TDP and TPP (a) and Org N, NO ₂ ⁻ +NO ₃ ⁻ -N, and NH ₃ -N (b) FWMCs in Blindman River

Figure 3.32.	Median annual TDP/TP FWMCs in Blindman River during the study period (1996 to 2006)
Figure 3.33.	Annual TDP and TPP (a) and Org N, NO ₂ ⁻ +NO ₃ ⁻ -N, and NH ₃ -N (b) FWMCs in Grande Prairie Creek
Figure 3.34.	Annual TDP and TPP (a) and Org N, NO ₂ ⁻ +NO ₃ ⁻ -N, and NH ₃ -N (b) FWMCs in Kleskun Drain
Figure 3.35.	Annual TDP and TPP (a) and Org N, NO ₂ ⁻ +NO ₃ ⁻ -N, and NH ₃ -N (b) FWMCs in Meadow Creek
Figure 3.36.	Median annual TDP/TP ratios in Meadow Creek from 1996 to 20063-61
Figure 3.37.	Annual TDP and TPP (a) and Org N, NO ₂ ⁻ +NO ₃ ⁻ -N, and NH ₃ -N (b) FWMCs in Tomahawk Creek
Figure 3.38.	Median annual TDP/TP ratios in Tomahawk Creek from 1996
Figure 3.39.	Annual TDP and TPP (a) and Org N, NO ₂ ⁻ +NO ₃ ⁻ -N, and NH ₃ -N (b) FWMCs in Trout Creek
Figure 3.40.	Annual TDP and TPP (a) and Org N, NO ₂ ⁻ +NO ₃ ⁻ -N, and NH ₃ -N (b) FWMCs in Buffalo Creek
Figure 3.41.	Annual TDP and TPP (a) and Org N, NO ₂ ⁻ +NO ₃ ⁻ -N, and NH ₃ -N (b) FWMCs in Haynes Creek
Figure 3.42.	Annual TDP and TPP (a) and Org N, NO ₂ ⁻ +NO ₃ ⁻ -N, and NH ₃ -N (b) FWMCs in Ray Creek
Figure 3.43.	Annual TDP and TPP (a) and Org N, NO ₂ ⁻ +NO ₃ ⁻ -N, and NH ₃ -N (b) FWMCs in Strawberry Creek
Figure 3.44.	Annual TDP and TPP (a) and Org N, NO ₂ ⁻ +NO ₃ ⁻ -N, and NH ₃ -N (b) FWMCs in Threehills Creek
Figure 3.45.	Annual TDP and TPP (a) and Org N, NO ₂ ⁻ +NO ₃ ⁻ -N, and NH ₃ -N (b) FWMCs in Renwick Creek
Figure 3.46.	Annual TDP and TPP (a) and Org N, NO ₂ ⁻ +NO ₃ ⁻ -N, and NH ₃ -N (b) FWMCs in Stretton Creek
Figure 3.47.	Annual TDP and TPP (a) and Org N, NO ₂ ⁻ +NO ₃ ⁻ -N, and NH ₃ -N (b) FWMCs in Wabash Creek

Figure 3.48.	Annual TDP and TPP (a) and Org N, NO ₂ ⁻ +NO ₃ ⁻ -N, and NH ₃ -N (b) FWMCs in Battersea Drain
Figure 3.49.	Annual TDP and TPP (a) and Org N, NO ₂ ⁻ +NO ₃ ⁻ -N, and NH ₃ -N (b) FWMCs in Crowfoot Creek
Figure 3.50.	Annual TDP and TPP (a) and Org N, NO ₂ ⁻ +NO ₃ ⁻ -N, and NH ₃ -N (b) FWMCs in New West Coulee
Figure 3.51.	Box plots of median annual TP export coefficients (1999-2006) for the Boreal, Grassland, and Parkland ecoregion areas
Figure 3.52.	Box plots of median annual TP export coefficients (1999-2006) in the three dryland agricultural intensity categories
Figure 3.53.	Median annual TP export coefficients for each dryland AESA watershed (1999-2006)
Figure 3.54.	Box plots of median annual TDP export coefficients (1999 to 2006) for the Boreal, Grassland, and Parkland ecoregion areas
Figure 3.55.	Box plots of median annual TDP export coefficients (1999 to 2006) in the three dryland agricultural intensity categories
Figure 3.56.	Median annual TDP export coefficients for each dryland AESA watershed (1999 to 2006)
Figure 3.57.	Box plots of median annual TPP export coefficients (1999 to 2006) for the Boreal, Grassland, and Parkland ecoregion areas
Figure 3.58.	Box plots of median annual TPP export coefficients (1999 to 2006) in the three dryland agricultural intensity categories
Figure 3.59.	Median annual TPP export coefficients for each dryland AESA watershed (1999 to 2006)
Figure 3.60.	Median annual TPP export coefficients (1999 to 2006) compared to median annual runoff depth for the 18 dryland AESA watersheds
Figure 3.61.	Box plots of median annual TDP/TP exports (1999 to 2006) for the Boreal, Grassland, and Parkland ecoregion areas
Figure 3.62.	Box plots of median annual TDP/TP exports (1999 to 2006) in the three dryland agricultural intensity categories

Figure 3.63.	Median annual TDP and TPP export coefficients for each dryland AESA watershed (1999 to 2006)
Figure 3.64.	Box plots of median annual TN export coefficients (1999 to 2006) for the Boreal, Grassland, and Parkland ecoregion areas
Figure 3.65.	Box plots of median annual TN export coefficients (1999 to 2006) in the three dryland agricultural intensity categories
Figure 3.66.	Median annual TN export coefficients for each dryland AESA watershed (1999 to 2006)
Figure 3.67.	Box plots of median annual NO ₂ ⁻ -N+NO ₃ ⁻ -N export coefficients (1999 to 2006) for the Boreal, Grassland, and Parkland ecoregion areas
Figure 3.68.	Box plots of median annual NO_2^- -N+NO ₃ ⁻ -N export coefficients (1999 to 2006) in the three dryland agricultural intensity categories
Figure 3.69.	Median annual NO ₂ ⁻ -N+NO ₃ ⁻ -N export coefficients for each dryland AESA watershed (1999 to 2006)
Figure 3.70.	Box plots of median annual NH ₃ -N export coefficients (1999 to 2006) for the Boreal, Grassland, and Parkland ecoregion areas
Figure 3.71.	Box plots of median annual NH ₃ -N export coefficients (1999 to 2006) in the three dryland agricultural intensity categories
Figure 3.72.	Median annual NH ₃ -N export coefficients for each dryland AESA watershed (1999 to 2006)
Figure 3.73.	Box plots of median annual Org N export coefficients (1999 to 2006) for the Boreal, Grassland, and Parkland ecoregion areas
Figure 3.74.	Box plots of median annual Org N export coefficients (1999 to 2006) in the three dryland agricultural intensity categories
Figure 3.75.	Median annual Org N export coefficients for each dryland AESA watershed (1999 to 2006)
Figure 3.76.	Median annual Org N export coefficients (1999 to 2006) compared to median annual runoff depth for the 18 dryland AESA watersheds
Figure 3.77.	Median annual Org N export coefficients (1999 to 2006) compared to median annual runoff depth for the 18 dryland AESA watersheds grouped by ecoregion area

Figure 3.78.	Box plots of median annual ratios of DIN/TN exports (1999 to 2006) for the Boreal, Grassland, and Parkland ecoregion areas
Figure 3.79.	Box plots of median annual ratios of DIN/TN exports (1999 to 2006) in the three dryland agricultural intensity categories
Figure 3.80.	Median annual NO ₂ ⁻ +NO ₃ ⁻ -N, NH ₃ -H, and Org N export coefficients for each dryland AESA watershed (1999 to 2006)
Figure 3.81. A	verage Agricultural Intensity (AI) Percentile (1999, 2001, and 2006) and the ratio of TDP/TP (a) and DIN/TN (b) for the AESA dryland agricultural watersheds.

LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1.	Water quality parameters measured in AESA streams	3-4
Table 3.2.	Existing Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment (CCME) guidelines for the Protection of Aquatic Life and other agricultural uses such as livestock watering	3-5
Table 3.3.	Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment (CCME) ammonia-N (NH3- N) guidelines for the Protection of Aquatic Life	3-6
Table 3.4.	Interannual patterns in compliance with Protection of Aquatic Life nutrient guidelines among agricultural intensity categories from 1999 through 20063-	11
Table 3.5.	Percent compliance for the Protection of Aquatic Life nutrient guidelines in watersheds from 1999 through 2006	12
Table 3.6.	Medians of the median annual nutrient FWMCs and ratios for 22 AESA watersheds by agricultural intensity category (1999 to 2006)	23
Table 3.7.	Summary statistics for annual TN/TP and DIN/TDP ratios for all AESA watersheds (1999-2006)	34
Table 3.8.	Median and Average TN/TP and DIN/TDP ratios for agricultural intensity categories (1999-2006)	34
Table 3.9.	Median and Average TN/TP and DIN/TDP FWMC ratios by ecoregion area (1999-2006)	37
Table 3.10.	Spearman Rank Correlations between median annual P and N FWMCs (1999 - 2006) and average Census of Agriculture metrics (1996, 2001, 2006) for 22 AESA watersheds (n=22).	39
Table 3.11.	Spearman Rank Correlations between median annual P and N FWMCs (1999 to 2006) and average Census of Agriculture metrics (1996, 2001, 2006) for watersheds in the Boreal ecoregion area (n=9)	41
Table 3.12.	Spearman Rank Correlations between median annual P and N FWMCs (1999 to 2006) and average Census of Agriculture metrics (1996, 2001, 2006) for watersheds in the Parkland ecoregion area (n=6	42
Table 3.13.	Spearman Rank Correlations between median annual P and N FWMCs (1999 - 2006) and average Census of Agriculture metrics (1996, 2001, 2006) for watersheds in the Grassland ecoregion area (n=3)	42

Table 3.14.	Spearman Rank Correlations between median annual P and N FWMCs (1999 - 2006) and average Census of Agriculture metrics (1996, 2001, 2006) for watersheds in the Irrigated Grassland ecoregion area (n=4)
Table 3.15.	Median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum P and N FWMCs and median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum annual stream volume (March to October) in Hines Creek
Table 3.16.	Median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum P and N FWMCs and median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum annual stream volume (March to October) in Paddle River
Table 3.17.	Median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum P and N FWMCs and median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum annual stream volume (March to October) in Prairie Blood Coulee
Table 3.18.	Median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum P and N FWMCs and median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum annual stream volume (March to October) in Rose Creek
Table 3.19.	Median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum P and N FWMCs and median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum annual stream volume (March to October) in Willow Creek
Table 3.20.	Median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum P and N FWMCs and median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum annual stream volume (March to October) in Blindman River
Table 3.21.	Median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum P and N FWMCs and median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum annual stream volume (March to October) in Grande Prairie Creek
Table 3.22.	Median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum P and N FWMCs and median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum annual stream volume (March to October) in Kleskun Drain
Table 3.23.	Median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum P and N FWMCs and median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum annual stream volume (March to October) in Meadow Creek
Table 3.24.	Median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum P and N FWMCs and median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum annual stream volume (March to October) in Tomahawk River

Table 3.25.	Median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum P and N FWMCs and median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum annual stream volume (March to October) in Trout Creek
Table 3.26.	Median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum P and N FWMCs and median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum annual stream volume (March to October) in Buffalo Creek
Table 3.27.	Median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum P and N FWMCs and median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum annual stream volume (March to October) in Haynes Creek
Table 3.28.	Median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum P and N FWMCs and median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum annual stream volume (March to October) in Ray Creek
Table 3.29.	Median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum P and N FWMCs and median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum annual stream volume (March to October) in Strawberry Creek
Table 3.30.	Median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum P and N FWMCs and median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum annual stream volume (March to October) in Threehills Creek
Table 3.31.	Median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum P and N FWMCs and median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum annual stream volume (March to October) in Renwick Creek
Table 3.32.	Median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum P and N FWMCs and median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum annual stream volume (March to October) in Stretton Creek
Table 3.33.	Median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum P and N FWMCs and median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum annual stream volume (March to October) in Wabash Creek
Table 3.34.	Median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum P and N FWMCs and median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum annual stream volume (March to October) in Battersea Drain
Table 3.35.	Median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum P and N FWMCs and median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum annual stream volume (March to October) in Crowfoot Creek

Table 3.36.	Median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum P and N FWMCs and median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum annual stream volume (March to October) in New West Coulee
Table 3.37.	Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA (H) and Mann-Whitney significance (p) tests for seasonality of P and N FWMCs grouped by 1996 agricultural intensity categories
Table 3.38.	Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA statistics for median annual TP export coefficients (1999 to 2006) among dryland streams grouped by ecoregion area and by agricultural intensity
Table 3.39.	Mann-Whitney statistics comparing median annual TP export coefficients (1999 to 2006) among nine watersheds located in the Boreal ecoregion area
Table 3.40.	Mann-Whitney statistics for annual TP export coefficients from 1999 to 2006 for Trout and Meadow Creeks compared to the other four moderate agricultural intensity watersheds
Table 3.41.	Mann-Whitney Statistics for annual TP export coefficients from 1999 to 2006 for Rose Creek and Prairie Blood Coulee compared to other low agricultural intensity watersheds
Table 3.42.	Comparison of TP export coefficients from the AESA stream survey with data from other studies
Table 3.43.	Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA statistics for median annual TDP export coefficients (1999 to 2006) among dryland streams grouped by ecoregion area and by agricultural intensity
Table 3.44.	Mann-Whitney statistics between median annual TDP export coefficients (1999 to 2006) in the Blindman River and those in eight other watersheds in the Boreal ecoregion area
Table 3.45.	Mann-Whitney statistics between median annual TDP export coefficients (1999 to 2006) in Wabash Creek and three streams in the Boreal ecoregion area with significantly higher exports (p<0.05)
Table 3.46.	Mann-Whitney statistics for annual TDP export coefficients from 1999 to 2006 for Trout and Meadow Creeks compared to the other four moderate agricultural intensity watersheds
Table 3.47.	Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA statistics for median annual TPP export coefficients (1999 to 2006) among dryland streams grouped by ecoregion area and by agricultural intensity

Table 3.48.	Mann-Whitney statistics comparing median annual TPP export coefficients (1999 to 2006) among nine watersheds located in the Boreal ecoregion area
Table 3.49.	Mann-Whitney statistics between median annual TPP export coefficients (1999 to 2006) in the five low agricultural intensity watersheds
Table 3.50.	Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA statistics for median annual ratios of TDP/TP exports (1999 to 2006) among dryland streams grouped by ecoregion area and by agricultural intensity
Table 3.51.	Mann-Whitney statistics between median annual TDP/TP ratios (1999 to 2006) in Buffalo Creek and the five other watersheds in the Parkland ecoregion
Table 3.52.	Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA statistics for median annual TN export coefficients (1999 to 2006) among dryland streams grouped by ecoregion area and by agricultural intensity
Table 3.53.	Mann-Whitney statistics comparing median annual TN export coefficients (1999 to 2006) among nine watersheds located in the Boreal ecoregion area
Table 3.54.	Mann-Whitney statistics comparing median annual TN export coefficients (1999 to 2006) among five watersheds located in the low agricultural intensity category.
Table 3.55.	Comparison of TN export coefficients from the AESA stream survey with data from other studies
Table 3.56.	Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA statistics for median annual NO ₂ ⁻ -N+NO ₃ ⁻ -N export coefficients (1999-2006) among dryland streams grouped by ecoregion and by agricultural intensity
Table 3.57.	Mann-Whitney statistics comparing median annual NO2 ⁻ -N+NO3 ⁻ -N export coefficients (1999 to 2006) among five watersheds located in the low agricultural intensity category
Table 3.58.	Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA statistics for median annual NH ₃ -N export coefficients (1999 to 2006) among dryland streams grouped by ecoregion area and by agricultural intensity
Table 3.59.	Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA statistics for median annual Org N export coefficients (1999 to 2006) among dryland streams grouped by ecoregion area and by agricultural intensity
Table 3.60.	Mann-Whitney statistics comparing median annual Org N export coefficients (1999 to 2006) among nine watersheds located in the Boreal ecoregion area.

Table 3.61.	Mann-Whitney statistics for annual Org N export coefficients from 1999 to 2006 for Trout and Meadow Creeks compared to the four other moderate agricultural intensity watersheds
Table 3.62.	Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA statistics for median annual ratios of DIN/TN exports (1999 to 2006) among dryland streams grouped by ecoregion area and by agricultural intensity
Table 3.63.	Spearman Rank Correlations between median annual P and N export coefficients (1999 - 2006) and average Census of Agriculture metrics (1996, 2001, and 2006) for 19 dryland AESA streams (n=19)
Table 3.64.	Spearman Rank Correlations between median annual P and N export coefficients (1999 to 2006) and average Census of Agriculture metrics (1996, 2001, 2006) for all dryland AESA watersheds grouped by ecoregion area

INTRODUCTION

Nutrients, such as phosphorus (P) and nitrogen (N), are essential to plant growth and development but can have a negative impact on surface water quality if present in excess of plant requirements (Carpenter et al. 1998; Correll 1998). In aquatic ecosystems, excess nutrients, particularly those in dissolved form, have been shown to create toxic algal blooms, deplete oxygen, and decrease biodiversity, all of which are negative impacts on aquatic ecosystems and degrade surface water quality (Schindler 1977; Vollenweider 1976; Carpenter et al. 1998). Major agricultural sources of P and N include commercial fertilizers and animal manure. Many applications of fertilizer and animal manure in the United States exceed the nutrient requirements of the crop to which they are applied (Carpenter et al. 1998). Most soils in Alberta are deficient in soil-test phosphorus (Manunta et al. 2000; Svederus et al. 2006). However, manure application is based upon soil N concentrations that approximate crop requirements, and P is often over applied even though STP levels are low. Thus, P losses from agricultural land have been recognized as a significant contributor to surface water quality degradation in streams and tributaries. Little et al. (2007) found that the concentration of phosphorus in runoff water increased as the amount of phosphorus in the upper soil profile increased, regardless of whether the soil P was from nonmanured or manured soil. The over-application and resulting excess P and N has the potential to accumulate in the soil and subsequently be transported to surface waters through direct runoff of nutrient enriched water or by subsurface or shallow groundwater pathways (Carpenter et al. 1998). The transport of agricultural nutrients and sediment into surface water bodies is a considerable environmental concern in many agricultural watersheds (Moog and Whiting 2002).

The relationship between agricultural watersheds and surface water quality in Alberta has previously been investigated through the Provincial Stream Survey funded under the Canada-Alberta Environmentally Sustainable Agriculture (CAESA) agreement in Alberta (Anderson et al. 1998b). From 1995 to 1996, the Provincial Stream Survey monitored 27 agricultural streams, of different agricultural intensities, using a similar flow-biased sampling regime. Fifteen of these streams were carried over into the AESA water quality program. The Provincial Stream Survey found differences in nutrient levels among agricultural intensity groupings (Anderson et al. 1998b). Specifically, high agricultural intensity streams had a higher degree and frequency of non-compliance with total P (TP) and total N (TN) guidelines and higher peak and median instream total nutrient concentrations and flow-weighted mean concentrations (FWMC) compared to moderate and low agricultural intensity streams. Furthermore, the ratio of dissolved nutrients to total nutrients was also higher in high agricultural intensity watersheds. However, the Provincial Stream Survey showed ecoregional characteristics (i.e., flow patterns and runoff zones) often superseded the influence of agricultural intensity on nutrient loading and exports. Suspended solids, mass loads, and exports tended to be highest in streams that had the highest discharge (generally low agricultural intensity watersheds) and lowest in streams that had the lowest discharge (generally high agricultural intensity watersheds). Exceptions to this pattern included loads and exports for nitrite-N + nitrate-N (NO₂⁻-N+NO₃⁻-N) and total dissolved P (TDP), which were highest in the high agricultural intensity watersheds. These dissolved forms of nutrients are typical of agricultural runoff; thus, agricultural intensity remained the prominent factor (Anderson et al. 1998b).

Objectives

The AESA water quality program (AESA Stream Survey) emerged from the CAESA study recommendation that a comprehensive, long term provincial water quality monitoring program be developed. From 1999 through 2006, water quality samples were collected and analyzed for nutrients in 23 agricultural watersheds across Alberta to address two objectives:

- i) Learn more about how stream water quality is impacted by low, moderate, and high intensity agriculture in Alberta; and
- ii) Track changes in water quality as the industry grows and agricultural management practices change.

The purpose of this chapter is to address the two objectives of the AESA Stream Survey using the nutrient data collected. Nutrient data are presented in four ways in order to address the objectives: instream concentrations (compliance to guidelines), flow weighted mean concentrations (FWMCs), mass transport, and export coefficients. Flow weighted mean concentrations are mass normalized for flow and thus allow for comparison of streams with different flow regimes. Loads represent the mass of nutrient (e.g., TP) passing through a stream during a given time period, while exports permit the comparison of nutrient loads among watersheds of different sizes. However, both loads and exports tend to be highly influenced by stream discharge as they are not normalized for flow like FWMCs. Exports and loads are primarily a function of soil type, land use, landscape characteristics, and the amount, timing, and intensity of precipitation.

The specific objectives of this chapter were as follows:

- i. Compare instream nutrient concentrations to Canadian Water Quality Guidelines for the Protection of Aquatic Life (PAL) and livestock watering to assess the potential impact of agricultural activity on water quality as well as the impact of different intensities (low, medium, and high) and types (dryland versus irrigation) of agriculture.
- ii. Compare nutrient FWMCs and exports among agricultural intensity categories and ecoregion areas to assess whether agricultural and/or ecoregional characteristics influenced FWMCs and exports.
- iii. Examine nutrient FWMC and export relationships with agricultural intensity metrics as a means to assess the impact of different intensities (low, moderate, and high) and types of agriculture on water quality (Objective 1 of the AESA stream survey).
- iv. Identify changes in water quality with time (Objective 2 of the AESA stream survey).
- v. Examine seasonal patterns to assess whether nutrient concentrations and exports vary during different times of the monitoring period (i.e., spring, summer, and fall).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Nutrient Sample Collection

Samples were collected from 1999 to 2006 from 23 streams (Table 2.8, Chapter 2). In addition, 16 of the AESA streams were sampled from 1995 to 1996 as part of the CAESA program. Several of the CAESA streams were also sampled in 1997 and 1998. Years with no sample collection in a stream indicate that stream flow did not occur (Table 2.8, Chapter 2); however, the lack of sample collection was a result of logistic problems in some cases (see Chapter 2: Results and Discussion, Hydrology - Buffalo and Stretton Creeks). Note that the sampling location in Willow Creek changed in 1999 because the flow gauging station at the original CAESA site had been discontinued; data from this watershed were only analyzed between 1999 and 2006 in this report. Also, any comparisons carried out between watersheds, agricultural intensity classifications, or location by ecoregion were completed on data from 1999-2006 to ensure results could be attributed to the factors under investigation rather than the presence or lack of data for each stream.

The AESA program was part of Alberta Environment's Quality Assurance (QA) program, which included quality control (QC) samples and data management in their Water Data System (WDS). This was an essential part of the program to ensure that the data collected were reliable and accurate for future analyses and reporting. Quality control samples were included as part of the quality assurance check in the sampling program for the purposes of evaluating the quality of the data. The QA/QC sampling program included replicate samples, split samples, and field and lab blanks for all water quality parameters. These samples were included to assess precision (splits) and potential contamination (blanks). Quality control data were removed from the data set prior to the analysis of the various parameters.

Laboratory analyses of water samples. Water samples were analyzed for the following:

- nutrients (total and dissolved forms of nitrogen and phosphorus) (Table 3.1),
- pH, temperature, non-filterable residue (NFR), and conductivity (Table 3.1).

Table 3.1.	Water of	quality	parameters n	neasured in	n AESA s	streams.
------------	----------	---------	--------------	-------------	----------	----------

Nutrients

Total Phosphorus (TP)
Total Dissolved Phosphorus (TDP)
Total Particulate Phosphorus (TPP), calculated as TP-TDP
Total Kjeldähl Nitrogen (TKN)
Nitrite Nitrogen plus Nitrate Nitrogen (NO ₂ -N+ NO ₃ -N)
Nitrite Nitrogen (NO ₂ ⁻ -N)
Ammonia Nitrogen (NH ₃ -N) ¹
Total Nitrogen (TN), calculated as $TKN + NO_2 - N + NO_3 - N$

Other measurements related to inorganic chemistry

Suspended Solids / Non-filterable residue pH Temperature Conductivity

Inorganic data. Nutrient analyses were conducted at the Alberta Research Council (ARC) in Vegreville from 1995 to 1998 and the ALS Laboratory Group, Environmental Division in Edmonton from 1999 to 2006 (previously known as Envirotest labs). Water samples were submitted to the laboratory as unfiltered, filtered, or unfiltered and preserved samples depending on the parameter of interest (Depoe and Fountain 2003). Samples were analyzed by following standard procedures developed by ALS in accordance with their accreditation by the Canadian Association of Environmental Analytical Laboratories (CAEAL). Specific methods for each parameter are available in Appendix 3. For each stream, concentrations were reported from the laboratory in milligrams per liter (mg L⁻¹). The laboratory reported measurements for total phosphorus (TP), total dissolved phosphorus (TDP), total kjeldahl nitrogen (TKN), nitrite-N (NO₂⁻-N), nitrite+nitrate-N (NO₂⁻-N+NO₃⁻-N), and ammonia-N (NH₃-N). Note that ammonium (NH₄⁺) was the form actually measured, but the laboratory determined that the analyses did not exclude the unionized form and therefore reported NH₃-N. Nitrate-N (NO₃⁻-N) was also intermittently reported.

Data Management and Analyses of Water Quality Data

Nutrient data analysis. All data were validated to ensure fractions of nitrogen and phosphorus did not exceed the totals (TN and TP). If the measured TDP value was higher than the measured TP in a sample, the TDP value was decreased to equal the measured TP value. All values of NO_2^- -N and NH_3 -N were reported as less than NO_2^- -N + NO_3^- -N and TKN, respectively.

All values less than the method detection limit (MDL) were set at one-half the MDL, and parameters with multiple detection limits were set at one-half the highest MDL (Westbrook and McEachern 2002; Appendix 3). Total nitrogen (TN) was calculated by adding TKN and NO_2^- + NO_3^- -N values. Organic nitrogen (Org N) was calculated by subtracting NH₃-N from TKN. Total

particulate phosphorus (TPP) was calculated by subtracting the TDP value from the TP value. Nitrate-N (NO₃⁻-N) was calculated by subtracting NO₂⁻-N from NO₂⁻-N +NO₃⁻-N when it was not determined by the lab.

Compliance with surface water quality guidelines. Percent compliance of in-stream concentrations was determined for parameters with existing guidelines: TN, NO₂⁻, NH₃-N, NO₂⁻-N +NO₃⁻-N, NO₃⁻, TKN, TP, and TDP (Table 3.2). The most current provincial guidelines were used – *Surface Water Quality Guidelines for Use in Alberta* (Alberta Environment 1999). Several of Alberta's guidelines are adopted from federal water quality guidelines – *Canadian Environmental Quality Guidelines (CEQGs)* (CCME 1992, 1999a, b, 2002). Percent compliance was calculated for each stream for each year from 1999 to 2006.

The Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment (CCME) guidelines for ammonia are dependent on pH and temperature and are based on pre-defined pH and temperature values (Table 3.3). To calculate compliance, ambient data needed to fit within these set categories defined in Table 3.3. Given this, a complete dataset was needed. If an ambient pH or temperature value was missing, a value was interpolated based on measurements taken before and after the sample was collected. Using the complete data set, ambient pH and temperature data were converted to match the categories listed in Table 2.3. For example, if the ambient pH value was greater than 7.5 and less than or equal to 8, the converted pH value was set at 8. The same steps were followed for the ambient temperature measurement. Therefore, if the ambient temperature measurement was 10°C, the value for this category would be 0.832 (Table 3.3). Once categories and respective values had been determined, compliance was calculated by subtracting the ambient ammonia concentration from the set values in Table 3.3. If the value was negative (i.e., the ambient concentration was less than the set values in Table 3.3) the sample was compliant.

	0	U
Nutrient Parameters	Protection of Aquatic Life ^z	Livestock Water ^z
Total Phosphorus (TP)	0.05 mg L^{-1}	-
Total Nitrogen (TN)	1.0 mg L^{-1}	-
Nitrite and Nitrate $(NO_2 - N + NO_3 - N)$	-	100 mg L^{-1}
Nitrite (NO ₂ ⁻ -N)	0.06 mg L^{-1}	10 mg L^{-1}
Nitrate (NO ₃ ⁻ -N)	2.9 mg L^{-1}	-
Ammonia (NH ₃ -N)	see Table 3.3	-

Table 3.2. Existing Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment (CCME) guidelines for the Protection of Aquatic Life and other agricultural uses such as livestock watering.

^z Alberta Surface Water Quality Guidelines (Alberta Environment 1999, CCME 1999a); CWQGs (CCME 1999a, b, 2002, 2003)

To convert NO₂⁻-N values to NO₂⁻, multiply by 3.29; to convert NO₃⁻-N values to NO₃⁻, multiply by 4.43.

Temp.				pН				
(°C)	6	6.5	7	7.5	8	8.5	9	9.5
0	184.8	58.4	18.48	5.856	1.864	0.5992	0.2	0.0336
5	122.4	38.64	12.24	3.872	1.232	0.4016	0.1376	0.0272
10	81.6	25.92	8.24	2.608	0.832	0.2744	0.0968	0.0232
15	55.76	17.6	5.584	1.776	0.572	0.1912	0.0712	0.0208
20	38.4	12.16	3.856	1.232	0.3992	0.1368	0.0536	0.0192
25	26.8	8.48	2.696	0.864	0.2832	0.1	0.0424	0.0176
30	18.96	6	1.912	0.6136	0.2048	0.0752	0.0344	0.0168

Table 3.3. Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment (CCME) ammonia-N (NH3-N) guidelines for the Protection of Aquatic Life. Source: CCME 2000.

* Note that values are presented as total NH₃-N versus NH₃.

Load, flow weighted mean concentration (FWMC), and export calculations. Mass loads were determined from instantaneous daily discharge data and periodic sample data using version 4.5 of the program FLUX (U.S. Army Corps of Engineers 1995). Six algorithms are available for mass load calculations; method #3, used by the International Joint Commission, was chosen as it best suited the data set. The entire data record from 1995 (or the earliest record available for each stream) to 2006 for in-stream chemistry and flow were used in FLUX. Data were grouped by sampling year (i.e., March 1 to October 31). The date range option in FLUX permitted load calculations for each year of monitoring. Annual (March 1 to October 31) and monthly loads were computed. As a complete flow record could not be achieved for Drain S6, the data were not used in FLUX, and load and subsequent FWMC calculations were not completed for that watershed. Furthermore, FLUX requires chemistry data for at least three sampling dates per monitoring year in order to calculate a load. Annual loads were not calculated in the following streams as a result of too few annual chemistry data: Buffalo Creek (all N and P in 1996); Blindman River, Paddle River, Prairie Blood Coulee and Meadow, Rose, Ray, Renwick, Strawberry, Tomahawk, and Trout Creeks (TDP and TPP in 1995); and Threehills Creek (TDP and TPP in 1995 and 1998). Load and FWMCs were not reported in Haynes Creek M6 (TDP and TPP in 2002, both N and P in 2004) and Stretton Creek (TDP and TPP in 1995, both N and P in 2000 through 2004) as FLUX was not capable of accurately estimating the values with few chemistry samples and/or very low or zero flow records for years of interest. Data were treated in the same manner in FLUX for monthly load calculations.

Flow weighted mean concentrations (FWMC) were determined from total mass load estimates for a given time period divided by the total flow volume estimates for the same time period. These were part of the output generated in the FLUX program and were calculated on a monthly and annual (March to October) basis. Monthly and annual loads and FWMCs were determined in FLUX. Ratios of TN/TP and DIN/TDP were calculated from median annual FWMCs although the ratios would be the same if instream concentrations were used.

Export coefficients were calculated by dividing the total mass load by the total active drainage area to express mass export of a watershed per unit time for comparison among watersheds (Chapter 2: Table 2.1). The mass export was expressed per year but only accounted for months during the open water season (i.e., annual exports are represented by data from March

to October). As discussed in the Site Selection Report (Anderson et al. 1999), the effective drainage basin size of most of the AESA watersheds was similar to the gross drainage basin size (based on topographic features), which confirmed that the watersheds were well-drained and that most of the basin could potentially contribute to stream loading. Exceptions included Buffalo and Crowfoot Creeks where a fairly substantial portion of the basins were determined to be noncontributing. Furthermore, the actual effective drainage area for watersheds that receive irrigation return flows is not well defined. As a result, exports were not calculated for the irrigated watersheds (Battersea Drain, Crowfoot Creek, Drain S6, and New West Coulee). The irrigation return flow streams in this study are used to convey irrigation source water and collect irrigation return flow; this makes the hydrology and loading difficult to estimate as water from outside of the drainage area may be channeled in and runoff originating from the basin may be moved out. Thus, export coefficients were not calculated for the irrigated streams (Battersea Drain, Crowfoot Creek and New West Coulee) as a result of the uncertainty around their respective effective drainage areas (calculations in Drain S6 were not considered as a result of insufficient flow data). Export coefficients for Buffalo Creek were calculated, and the fact that some areas of the watershed may not have contributed to flow was noted accordingly.

Statistical analysis of nutrient data. All statistical analyses were computed in SYSTAT 10 (SPSS Inc. 2000). Summary statistics were computed for in-stream, load, FWMC, and export data for all forms of N and P. Data from 1999 to 2006 were used for statistical analyses. Normality was first assessed using normal probability plots in SYSTAT 10 (SPSS Inc. 2000) before any other statistical analyses were computed.

Statistical significance statistics and correlations were computed for compliance, FWMC, and exports; however, the methods and types of statistical test used differed, as discussed below. All statistical analyses were completed using median annual data. This data was calculated by taking the median of the annual data from 1999 to 2006 for each stream. When statistical analyses were applied to groups by agricultural intensity or ecoregion, the median of the annual medians for the streams within each group was calculated. Medians were used as they best represented the data overall. High stream flow or nutrient concentrations in one or two years in a watershed influenced the mean of the data and were only reported for reference purposes.

FWMCs- Statistical differences were calculated for FWMCs to identify differences among agricultural intensity categories (low, moderate, high, and irrigated) as well as among streams within each agricultural intensity category. Flow weighted mean concentration data were transformed using Log10(x) or Log10(x+1) transformations to normalize the data. The transformed data were analyzed using ANOVA and Tukey's post hoc test. Where data did not follow a normal distribution after transformation, a nonparametric test (Kruskal Wallis One-Way ANOVA) was used on untransformed data followed by a Mann-Whitney test.

Export coefficients- Kruskal Wallis One-Way ANOVA and Mann-Whitney statistics were conducted on untransformed N and P export data as a suitable transformation to normalize the data was not found. Statistical significance was examined for N and P exports among agricultural intensity categories of the AESA dryland streams (low, moderate, and high) and the major Ecoregions in which the dryland AESA streams are located. Note that exports were not calculated for the watersheds receiving irrigation return flows and were not included in the

statistical analyses. Exports for Willow Creek were included in comparisons between agricultural intensity categories but not between Ecoregions as this was the only watershed located in the Continental Divide. Statistical differences using the same nonparametric tests were examined among streams within each agricultural intensity category and ecoregion area group.

Correlations- Correlations between median annual (1999 to 2006) N and P FWMCs and exports and average agricultural intensity metrics (1996, 2001, and 2006 agricultural intensity, manure production, and fertilizer and chemical sales percentiles) were completed using the untransformed data and a Spearman's Rank correlation (r_s). Twenty-two AESA watersheds (all but Drain S6) were used in assessing the overall correlations with N and P FWMCs, while the 19 dryland watersheds were used in correlations with N and P exports. Correlations were also completed for N and P FWMCs and exports grouped by ecoregion area.

Trend Analysis- A formal statistical monotonic time series trend analysis was not carried out on the data. Preliminary statistical analyses by Depoe (data not reported) on data from 1999 to 2003 showed that sufficient power was not present in the sample size to detect the trends of interest. It was determined that at least 10 years of data under flow biased sampling would be required to complete a statistical trend analysis, even if done with a nonparametric test such as the Seasonal Mann Kendal. After initial assessment of the data set, it was decided that a statistical trend analysis would not be completed for this report. Even with the addition of CAESA data, many streams did not have enough data points as a result of a short sampling record (sampling in some streams only started in 1999), missing years resulting from low or no stream flow, and missing years resulting from too few chemistry samples for FWMC and load calculations in FLUX. Although the Seasonal Mann Kendal test is robust toward censored data and missing observations, more than 10 years of data is required, especially if serial correlation is present in the data set (Westbrook and McEachern 2002). A visual examination of annual P and N FWMCs was carried out for each watershed to flag potential increasing or decreasing temporal trends in the data set, recognizing that a statistical monotonic trend analyses would be required in the future to verify the observations.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Compliance with Water Quality Guidelines: Protection of Aquatic Life (PAL)

Nutrient parameters were compared to water quality guidelines for the protection of aquatic life and livestock use. Water quality guidelines were used as a measure to assess the potential impact of agricultural activity on water quality as well as the impact of different intensities (low, medium, and high) and types (dryland versus irrigation) of agriculture.

Total Phosphorus (TP) and Total Nitrogen (TN). Compliance of TP and TN was low for all agricultural intensities (Table 3.4). Total P percent compliance ranged from an average of 7 % (\pm 3 % standard deviation) of 889 samples in high agricultural intensity watersheds to 48 % (\pm 6 %) of 730 samples taken in low agricultural intensity watersheds. Total N percent compliance ranged from an average of 9 % (\pm 4 %) in high agricultural intensity watersheds to 63 % (\pm 11

%) in irrigated watersheds. These averages from 1999 to 2006 not only demonstrate high agricultural intensity areas have the lowest compliance, but also show the wide range of compliance among the years of monitoring for each agricultural intensity (Table 3.4).

For both TP and TN, Hines Creek had the lowest compliance, while Willow Creek had the highest compliance among watersheds under low agricultural intensity (Table 3.5). Note that the AESA sampling site in the Willow Creek watershed is in the headwaters and is not the same as the AENV site at the watershed mouth (see Chapter 2: Results and Discussion - Hydrology). In moderate agricultural intensity watersheds, Tomahawk Creek had the lowest compliance and Trout Creek had the highest compliance (Table 3.5). In high agricultural intensity watersheds, Haynes Creek M6, Stretton Creek (TP), and Renwick Creek (TN) had the lowest compliance, while Strawberry Creek had the highest compliance with guidelines. Within irrigated watersheds, Crowfoot Creek had the lowest compliance, while Drain S6 had the highest compliance.

Comparisons of TP and TN compliance were also made among the Grassland, Parkland, Boreal, and Irrigated Grassland ecoregion areas from 1999 through 2006. For both TP and TN, compliance in the Grassland, Irrigated Grassland, and Boreal ecoregion areas were higher than the Parkland ecoregion, which had the lowest compliance overall. These patterns among ecoregion areas can be related back to agricultural intensities as the Parkland Ecoregion is solely composed of high agricultural intensity watersheds.

Nitrite-N (NO₂⁻-N). Nitrite compliance with the PAL guidelines was high among all agricultural intensities (Table 3.4). Average compliance from 1999 to 2006 ranged from 89 % (\pm 3 %) in high agricultural watersheds to 100 % (\pm 1 %) in low agricultural intensity watersheds. Percent compliance for low and moderate agricultural intensity categories was significantly lower than high and irrigated percent compliance. Unlike TP and TN, there generally was little fluctuation in percent compliance amongst years from 1999 to 2006 (Table 3.4).

Nitrate-N (NO₃⁻-N). A similar percent compliance was observed for NO₂⁻ and NO₃⁻. Average compliance for all years ranged from 95 % (\pm 3 %) in irrigated watersheds to an average of 100 % (\pm 0 %) in low agricultural intensity watersheds. There was annual variation within each agricultural intensity although the fluctuation was small, ranging from 92 % to 100 % (Table 3.4). The lower average compliance in the irrigated streams was due to a low compliance in the Battersea Drain. Rodvang et al. (2004) found high levels of NO₃⁻ in shallow unconfined aquifers in Battersea Drain, which was attributed to the application of manure and fertilizer on irrigated lands. This difference, however, was not significant.

Ammonia (NH₃-N). On average, close to 100 % compliance with NH₃-N PAL guidelines were observed in most years for all agricultural intensity categories (Table 3.4). High agricultural intensity watersheds and irrigated streams had the lowest compliance at 94 % (\pm 5 %) and 95 % (\pm 5 %), respectively. Compliance with the guideline was 100 % (\pm 1%) and 99% (\pm 1%) in low and moderate intensity watersheds, respectively.

Other applicable guidelines and objectives. Guidelines for livestock watering exist for NO_2^- and $NO_2^- + NO_3^-$ parameters. The NO_2^- guideline of 10 mg L⁻¹ was never exceeded. The largest NO_2^- instream concentration was measured in Blindman River at 4.873 mg L⁻¹. Note that this

value was measured in 1996 and was therefore not included in the average PAL compliance calculation (1999 to 2006, Table 3.4). This NO_2^- value in Blindman River would have exceeded the PAL guideline. The $NO_2^- + NO_3^-$ guideline of 100 mg L⁻¹ was also never exceeded. For comparison, the largest value recorded for the nitrite + nitrate parameter was 10.2 mg L⁻¹, which was measured in the Battersea Drain on March 18, 2003.

Additional tables with percent compliance for each year (1999 to 2006) by stream are located in Appendix 5.

Table 3.4. Interannual patterns in compliance with Protection of Aquatic Life nutrient guidelines among agricultural intensity categories from 1999 through 2006. All 23 AESA watersheds were included. The total number of samples collected each year (n) is located in parentheses beside the year.

	TP	TN	NO ₂ -N	NO ₃ -N	NH ₃ -N		
Guideline	ASWQG (PAL)	ASWQG (PAL)	ASWQG (PAL)	ASWQG (PAL)	ASWQG (PAL)		
Guideline Value	0.05 mg L^{-1}	$1 \text{ mg } \text{L}^{-1}$	0.06 mg L^{-1}	2.9 mg L^{-1}	pH and Temp		
	0	% Com	pliance	C C	1 1		
Low Agricultural Int	ensity						
1999 (102)	47	60	100	100	100		
2000 (104)	58	67	100	100	100		
2001 (74)	49	61	100	100	100		
2002 (81)	41	53	99	100	98		
2003 (65)	45	54	100	100	100		
2004 (92)	57	84	99	100	99		
2005 (121)	46	57	100	100	100		
2006 (92)	43	53	99	99	100		
Average	48	61	100	100	100		
Standard Deviation	6	10	1	0	1		
Moderate Agricultur	al Intensity						
1999 (119)	20	33	100	98	100		
2000 (121)	29	29	99	98	97		
2001 (79)	27	38	99	100	100		
2002 (87)	24	37	98	98	100		
2003 (92)	30	39	100	100	100		
2004 (106)	27	46	98	100	99		
2005 (133)	17	31	100	100	99		
2006 (97)	19	30	100	100	99		
Average	24	35	99	99	99		
Standard Deviation	5	6	1	1	1		
High Agricultural Int	High Agricultural Intensity						
1999 (176)	5	4	88	100	96		
2000 (153)	8	10	89	100	94		
2001 (63)	8	8	89	100	83		
2002 (60)	8	9	85	100	95		
2003 (88)	9	10	90	100	94		
2004 (96)	7	15	87	99	98		
2005 (144)	11	14	95	100	97		
2006 (110)	1	5	87	96	96		
Average	7	9	89	99	94		
Standard Deviation	3	4	3	1	5		
Irrigation Streams (n	= 585)						
1999 (59)	41	80	97	97	100		
2000 (67)	60	69	93	93	98		
2001 (62)	46	75	94	95	97		
2002 (62)	34	56	94	97	95		
2003 (79)	32	45	78	94	97		
2004 (93)	31	61	91	98	91		
2005 (78)	20	60	95	99	99		
2006 (85)	18	57	87	92	85		
Average	35	63	91	95	95		
Standard Deviation	14	11	6	3	5		

	•	TP	TN	N0 ₂ -N	N0 ₃ -N	NH ₃ -N
Guideline		ASWQG (PAL)	ASWQG (PAL)	ASWQG (PAL)	ASWQG (PAL)	ASWQG (PAL)
Guideline Value		0.05 mg L^{-1}	1 mg L^{-1}	0.06 mg L^{-1}	2.9 mg L^{-1}	pH and Temp
	Abbreviation	U	U	% Compliance	C	
Low Agricultural Intensity				-		
Hines Creek (115)	HIN	6	23	100	100	99
Paddle River (156)	PAD	14	64	100	100	100
Prairie Blood Coulee (110)	PRA	78	51	97	99	99
Rose Creek (182)	ROS	51	68	100	100	100
Willow Creek (167)	WIL	92	98	100	100	100
Moderate Agricultural Inter	nsity					
Blindman River (179)	BLI	6	30	100	100	100
Grande Prairie Creek (104)	GRA	16	13	99	96	99
Kleskun Drain (74)	KLE	5	6		100	100
Meadow Creek (152)	MEA	35	68	100	100	96
Tomahawk Creek (154)	TOM	1	2	98	100	100
Trout Creek (168)	TRO	82	94	100	100	99
High Agricultural Intensity						
Buffalo Creek (119)	BUF	6	30	97	100	85
Haynes Creek M1 (104)	HM1	0	2	87	91	93
Haynes Creek M6 (95)	HM6	0	0	92	97	89
Ray Creek (141)	RAY	4	9	96	100	98
Renwick Creek (108)	REN	1	0	90	98	100
Strawberry Creek (132)	STR	33	40	98	99	96
Stretton Creek (49)	STT	0	2	96	100	100
Threehills Creek (145)	THR	0	0	90	100	94
Wabash Creek (100)	WAB	2	3	85	100	94
Irrigation Streams						
Battersea Drain (152)	BAT	30	50	79	84	93
Crowfoot Creek (155)	CRO	5	49	89	99	98
Drain S-6 (134)	DS6	69	83	100	100	93
New West Coulee (144)	NEW	31	65	94	99	97

Table 3.5. Percent compliance for the Protection of Aquatic Life nutrient guidelines inwatersheds from 1999 through 2006. The total number of samples collected for each stream from1999 to 2006 is located in parentheses beside each stream.

Flow Weighted Mean Concentrations (FWMC) of P and N

Phosphorus and N FWMCs, which allow for comparison of streams with different flow regimes, were compared among agricultural intensity categories and ecoregion areas to assess whether agricultural and/or ecoregional characteristics influenced nutrient concentrations. Flow weighted mean concentrations are mass normalized for flow and were thus used to visually identify potential changes in water quality with time. Relationships with agricultural intensity metrics were examined as the metrics can be used to link the type and intensity of agriculture in a watershed with changes in water quality. Lastly, seasonal patterns were examined to assess whether nutrient concentrations varied during different times of the monitoring period (i.e., spring, summer, and fall.

Median annual TP FWMCs from all watersheds in the study (1999 to 2006) ranged from 0.009 to 1.300 mg L⁻¹ (1999-2006, median: 0.230 mg L⁻¹) and generally appeared lower than values reported in other agricultural watersheds in Alberta (0.363-1.119 mg L⁻¹) (Mitchell 1985; Sosiak and Trew 1986; Trew et al. 1987; Cooke and Prepas 1998). The median TP FWMCs (0.142, 0.275, and 0.510 mg L⁻¹ for low, moderate and high agricultural intensity streams, respectively) for the AESA streams in this study were similar to the median values reported for the low (0.190 mg L⁻¹), moderate (0.333 mg L⁻¹), and high (0.619 mg L⁻¹) agricultural intensity watersheds in the CAESA stream survey (Anderson et al. 1998b). However, the range of TP FWMCs for the CAESA stream survey (0.075-1.960 mg L⁻¹) was higher than the range for the AESA watersheds. Note that the values referenced for the CAESA stream survey were from two years of monitoring with a slightly different set of watersheds, while the AESA values represent eight years of monitoring. Several studies have found lower median TP FWMCs for forested watersheds in Alberta (0.160 mg L⁻¹ with a range of 0.026-0.330 mg L⁻¹ as reported in Anderson et al. 1998b and 0.123 to 0.198 mg L⁻¹ yr⁻¹ as reported in Cooke and Prepas 1998).

Median annual TN FWMCs ranged from 0.120 to 8.600 mg L⁻¹ (1999-2006 median: 1.90 mg L⁻¹) and were generally similar to some of the reported values for Alberta. The median TN FWMCs for the low, moderate, and high agricultural intensity AESA watersheds in this study (1.310, 2.120, and 3.316 mg L⁻¹, respectively) were similar to the median FWMCs reported by Anderson et al. (1998b) for the CAESA stream survey (1.177, 2.128, and 3.773 mg L⁻¹ for the low, moderate, and high categories, respectively) as well as those reported for other agricultural streams in Alberta such as Pine Creek (1.594 mg L⁻¹, Sosiak and Trew 1986), Wabamun Creek (3.03 mg L⁻¹, Mitchell 1985), and Baptiste River (4.325 mg L⁻¹, Trew et al. 1987). However, the range of TN FWMCs for the AESA watersheds was larger than the range reported for the watersheds in the CAESA stream survey (0.853-6.685mg L⁻¹). The median TN FWMC for the AESA streams was higher than the median of Wabamun streams under forest (1.100 mg L⁻¹, Mitchell 1985) but lower than those reported by Trew et al. (1987) for Baptiste (2.300 mg L⁻¹).

Comparisons of P and N FWMCs by agricultural intensity. Nutrient FWMCs were compared among agricultural intensity categories to assess the impact of different agricultural intensities (low, moderate, and high) and type (dryland versus irrigation) on water quality (Objective 1 of the AESA stream survey). Phosphorus and nitrogen FWMCs grouped by agricultural intensity are illustrated in Figures 2.1 through 2.9.

Total and dissolved P FWMCs were influenced by the level of agricultural intensity within a watershed. Total P and TDP FWMCs increased with agricultural intensity in dryland watersheds, with significant differences observed among all (dryland and irrigated) agricultural intensity categories (H=57.754 and 72.950 for TP and TDP, respectively; p<0.005) (Figures 3.1 and 3.2, respectively). No statistically significant difference was found among agricultural intensity categories for TPP FWMCs (F=3.068, p>0.05) (Figure 3.3). Mean rank TP and TDP FWMCs were significantly higher in the high agricultural intensity category than in the low (U=290 and 108, respectively; p<0.005), moderate (U=577 and 496, respectively; p<0.005), or irrigated (U=1192 and 1168, respectively; p<0.005) watershed categories. Mean rank TP FWMCs in the moderate agricultural intensity categories. However, TDP FWMCs were significantly higher in the moderate agricultural intensity watersheds than in the low (U=611, p<0.005) and irrigated (U=748, p<0.05) watershed categories. However, TDP FWMCs were significantly higher in the moderate agricultural intensity watersheds than in the low agricultural intensity watersheds (U=578, p<0.005) but similar to irrigated watersheds.



Figure 3.1. Box plots of median annual TP FWMCs (1999 to 2006) in the four agricultural intensity categories. Box plots with the same letter are not significantly different from one another at the 0.05 level as tested with Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA and Mann-Whitney significance tests on untransformed data. Significant differences among agricultural intensity categories were observed at the p<0.005 significance level with the exception of differences between the moderate and low agricultural intensity watersheds (p<0.05). Boxplots stretch from the 25th percentile to the 75th percentile with the horizontal line in the middle of the box representing the median. Vertical lines represent 1.5 times the interquartile range while dots represent minima and maxima data points.


Figure 3.2. Box plots of median annual TDP FWMCs (1999 to 2006) in the four agricultural intensity categories. Box plots with the same letter are not significantly different from one another at the 0.05 level as tested with Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA and Mann-Whitney significance tests on untransformed data. Significant differences among agricultural intensity categories were observed at the p<0.005 significance level with the exception of differences between the irrigated and low agricultural intensity watersheds (p<0.05).



Figure 3.3. Box plots of median annual TPP FWMCs (1999 to 2006) in the four agricultural intensity categories. Box plots with the same letter are not significantly different from one another at the 0.05 level as tested with ANOVA and Tukey's post hoc after a Log10 transformation was applied to normalize the data.

As for TP and TDP FWMCs, the ratio of TDP/TP increased with increasing agricultural intensity for the dryland watersheds (H=47.529, p<0.005) although mean rank TDP/TP in moderate agricultural intensity watersheds was not significantly different (p>0.05) from low agricultural intensity streams (Figure 3.4). The mean rank TDP/TP ratio was significantly higher in high agricultural intensity watersheds than in low (U=382, p<0.005), moderate (U=417, p<0.005), or irrigated streams (U=1079, p<0.005). Moreover, irrigation return flow streams also had significantly higher mean rank TDP/TP than low agricultural intensity watersheds (U=332, p<0.05).

Despite having similar agricultural intensity ratings (i.e., high), there was a significant difference in P concentrations between dryland and irrigated streams. High intensity dryland streams had higher nutrient concentrations. A contributing factor to the lower P concentrations observed in irrigated watersheds may be that the source water for some irrigated streams contains lower nutrient concentrations, which may have a diluting effect (Madawaska Consulting 1997, Greenlee et al 2000, Saffran 2005, Little et al *in prep*).



Figure 3.4. Box plots of median annual TDP/TP FWMC ratios (1999 to 2006) in the four agricultural intensity categories. Box plots with the same letter are not significantly different from one another at the 0.05 level as tested with Kruskal Wallis One-Way ANOVA and Mann-Whitney tests on untransformed data. Significant differences among agricultural intensity categories were observed at the p<0.005 significance level with the exception of differences between the irrigated and low agricultural intensity watersheds (p<0.05).

Flow weighted mean concentrations for all forms of N showed a stepwise increase with agricultural intensity for dryland watersheds, with significant differences observed among all (dryland and irrigated) agricultural intensity categories (TN (F = 30.4, p<0.005, 3df), Org N (F = 36.474, p<0.005, 3df), NO₂⁻-N +NO₃⁻-N (F = 28.237, p<0.005, 3df), and NH₃-N (F = 31.691, p<0.005, 3df)). Streams draining high agricultural intensity watersheds had significantly higher TN, Org N, NO₂⁻-N+NO₃⁻-N, and NH₃-N FWMCs than those under low, moderate, or irrigated agriculture (p<0.005 for all but NH₃-N in irrigated streams where p<0.05) (Figures 3.5-3.8). Moreover, streams with moderate intensity agriculture in the watershed had significantly higher TN and Org N FWMCs than those watersheds under low agricultural activity (p<0.005) and irrigation (p<0.05 and 0.005, respectively). Mean TN and Org N FWMCs between low and irrigated watersheds were not statistically different (p=0.854 and 0.947, respectively). Mean NH₃-N and NO₂⁻-N+NO₃⁻-N FWMCs were not significantly different between moderate intensity and irrigated watersheds (p=0.908 and 0.867, respectively). Also, NO₂⁻-N+NO₃⁻-N FWMCs for irrigated watersheds were not statistically different than those measured in the high agricultural intensity watersheds (p=0.233).



Figure 3.5. Box plots of median annual TN FWMCs (1999 to 2006) in the four agricultural intensity categories. Means of box plots with the same letter are not significantly different from one another at the 0.05 level as tested with ANOVA and Tukey's post hoc after a Log(x+1) transformation was applied to normalize the data. Statistical differences were observed at the p<0.005 significance level with the exception of differences between mean TN FWMCs in the moderate and irrigated watersheds (p<0.05).



Figure 3.6. Box plots of median annual Org N FWMCs (1999 to 2006) in the four agricultural intensity categories. Means of box plots with the same letter are not significantly different from one another at the 0.005 level as tested with ANOVA and Tukey's post hoc after a square root transformation was applied to normalize the data.



Figure 3.7. Box plots of median annual $NO_2^-N+NO_3^-N$ FWMCs (1999 to 2006) in the four agricultural intensity categories. Means of box plots with the same letter are not significantly different from one another at the 0.005 level as tested with ANOVA and Tukey's post hoc after a Log10 transformation was applied to normalize the data.



Figure 3.8. Box plots of median annual NH₃-N FWMCs (1999-2006) in the four agricultural intensity categories. Means of box plots with the same letter are not significantly different from one another at the 0.005 level as tested with ANOVA and Tukey's post hoc after a Log10 transformation was applied to normalize the data.

The relationship between DIN/TN and agricultural intensity was different from that of the N parameters and TDP/TP in that a statistically significant stepwise trend with agricultural intensity was found (H=243, p<0.005, 3df) with the highest DIN/TN ratios measured in the irrigated watersheds (Figure 3.9). All agricultural intensity categories were statistically different from one another at the p<0.01 significance level. Note that the absolute concentrations of N in the irrigated watersheds were similar to those observed in low and moderate streams; however, the relative amount of TN as DIN was similar to the amount measured in high agricultural intensity streams. It is uncertain whether the higher ratios of DIN/TN in irrigated watersheds was the result of naturally occurring N in the area (Rodvang et al. 2004) or was influenced by agricultural practices.



Figure 3.9. Box plots of median annual DIN/TN FWMC ratios (1999-2006) in the four agricultural intensity categories. Box plots with different letters are significantly different from one another at the 0.005 level as tested with Kruskal Wallis One-Way ANOVA and Mann-Whitney tests on untransformed data. Note that the significant differences between irrigated watersheds and moderate and agricultural intensity categories were observed at the p<0.01 significance level.

Nutrient FWMCs and ratios were also compared among streams and within each agricultural intensity category to assess whether watersheds under the same intensity level had similar nutrient concentrations or whether there were other factors to consider (Figures 3.10 and 3.11). The lowest and highest P and N FWMCs were found in streams draining watersheds under low and high agricultural intensity, respectively. Both TDP/TP and DIN/TN varied by one order of magnitude among streams with the lowest (Rose and Willow Creeks, low agricultural intensity) and highest ratios (Haynes Creek, high agricultural intensity). A higher ratio of TP was found to be comprised of the dissolved fraction (TDP/TP ranged from 0.08 in Willow Creek to 0.892 in Haynes Creek) than was observed for TN (DIN/TN ranged from 0.046 in Rose Creek to 0.399 in Haynes Creek).

Within the low agricultural intensity watersheds, Rose Creek generally had the highest P and N FWMCs, while Willow Creek had the lowest TP and TN FWMCs, which were lower than all other streams monitored in the study (Table 3.6). Although Rose Creek had some of the highest nutrient FWMCs and Willow Creek had some of the lowest N and P FWMCs, both watersheds had very low ratios of TDP/TP. Furthermore, DIN/TN was lowest in Rose and Hines Creeks. Rose Creek and Paddle River are both located in the Western Alberta Uplands Ecoregion; however, Paddle River had a higher TDP/TP ratio than Rose Creek, indicating a higher ratio of

bioavailable P despite similar landscapes and climate. Land cover data shows that there is a higher ratio of grassland in the Paddle River watershed (Appendix 1 or Chapter 2, Land Cover). It was not surprising that the TDP/TP ratio in Willow Creek was low. According to 1991 orthophotos, the Willow Creek watershed was covered by 9% grassland and 33% tree cover (Appendix 1 or Chapter 2, Land Cover). As mentioned previously, the sampling site for Willow Creek was located in the headwaters and was not the same as AENV's long term river network site at the watershed outlet (see Chapter 2: Materials and Methods – Stream Sampling Methods). Over 58% of the watershed was not mapped for land cover as it extends beyond Alberta's White (agricultural) Zone. Thus, it appears there is very little agricultural influence around the mouth of the watershed where sampling occurred. Prairie Blood Coulee had the highest N and P ratios of the low agricultural intensity watersheds; TDP/TP was also higher in Prairie Blood Coulee than in many of the moderate agricultural intensity watersheds. Noteworthy, TDP/TP in Hines Creek was higher than what was expected based on the DIN/TN ratio. It was the second highest median annual ratio of the low agricultural intensity streams (Table 3.6). The higher TDP/TP ratio in Hines Creek may be a reflection of ecoregional differences as flow patterns more closely matched those observed in Grande Prairie Creek, a moderate agricultural intensity watershed also located in the Peace Lowland Ecoreigon.

Nutrient FWMCs and ratios measured in the moderate agricultural intensity watersheds were influenced by the watershed's location in the province: they were lowest in the Grassland ecoregion area and highest in the Boreal ecoregion area (Table 3.6). The lowest TDP/TP and DIN/TN ratios within the moderate agricultural intensity watersheds were found in the two Grassland streams – Trout and Meadow Creeks. Trout Creek also had the lowest nutrient FWMCs. Kleskun Drain, a watershed in the Boreal ecoregion area, had the highest total and dissolved FWMCs, with higher TDP/TP than some of the watersheds under high agricultural intensity (e.g., Buffalo, Strawberry, and Wabash Creeks). Tomahawk Creek, also located in the Boreal, generally had the highest N FWMCs and highest ratio of DIN/TN.

Of the high agricultural intensity watersheds, all but TPP FWMCs were highest in Haynes Creek; these medians were also the highest FWMCs of all watersheds in the program (Table 3.6). Strawberry Creek had the highest median annual TPP FWMC. Buffalo Creek generally had the lowest median annual P and N FWMCs of the high agricultural intensity watersheds, which were lower than those FWMCs observed in some of the moderate and low agricultural intensity watersheds (Table 3.6).

Ratios of dissolved to total N and P in Haynes Creek were the highest of the high agricultural intensity watersheds and of all streams in the study (Table 3.6). Ray Creek had the lowest DIN/TN ratio. Strawberry Creek, like Rose Creek, had a low TDP/TP ratio. This contrasts with all of the other streams under high agricultural intensity with the exception of Wabash Creek, which, like Strawberry, is also located in the Boreal ecoregion area. Furthermore, the median TDP/TP in Strawberry Creek (0.25) was significantly lower than all other high agricultural intensity watersheds (p<0.008). Higher TDP ratios did not appear to correspond to lower annual flow volume even though increased dissolved fractions were measured in years with lower/fewer peaks in spring discharge. Climatic characteristics and landscape features likely influenced the higher particulate fractions of P observed in the watershed and the resulting TDP/TP ratios.

Although Strawberry Creek drains high agricultural intensity land, a focus on reduction of the particulate fraction would be most beneficial in this watershed.

Of the three irrigated watersheds, Crowfoot Creek had the highest median annual P FWMCs, while New West Coulee had the lowest median annual TN and TP FWMCs (Table 3.6). As noted earlier, TDP/TP in the irrigated streams was similar to those measured in the moderate intensity dryland watersheds. Ratios were highest in Crowfoot Creek and New West Coulee and slightly lower in Battersea Drain. In contrast, DIN/TN was slightly higher in Battersea Drain and lower in Crowfoot Creek and New West Coulee.

Table 3.6. Medians of the median annual nutrient FWMCs and ratios for 22 AESA watersheds by agricultural intensity category (1999 to 2006).

		DIN:TN	0.054	0.100	0.133	0.046*	0.093	0.171	0.171	0.157	0.099	0.191	0.101	0.184	0.399 ^	0.128	0.290	0.387	0.284	0.304	0.348	0.355	0.273	0.135	
		TDP:TP	0.500	0.456	0.611	0.116	0.080*	0.590	0.528	0.715	0.129	0.402	0.135	0.639	0.892^	0.808	0.872	0.836	0.250	0.807	0.501	0.338	0.551	0.536	
	Organic-N	•	1.236	1.145	1.000	1.350	0.256*	1.732	1.863	2.287	0.973	2.387	0.479	1.630	3.098^	1.760	2.543	1.986	2.516	2.461	2.095	0.680	1.265	0.573	
		Ammonia-N	0.054	0.068	0.028	0.055	0.010*	0.224	0.063	0.115	0.030	0.230	0.014	0.255	0.518^	0.094	0.257	0.145	0.313	0.494	0.464	0.066	0.127	0.021	
		Nitrite-N + Nitrate-N	0.011*	0.052	0.105	0.016	0.020	0.130	0.308	0.265	0.071	0.289	0.042	0.048	0.788	0.201	0.626	0.952 ^	0.321	0.580	0.646	0.272	0.446	0.057	
	Total	Nitrogen	1.310	1.347	1.110	1.411	0.283*	1.973	2.268	2.741	1.108	2.916	0.538	1.982	4.321^	1.995	3.453	2.969	3.296	3.571	3.336	1.062	1.814	0.724	
	Total Particulate	Phosphorus	0.063	0.095	0.026*	0.248	0.039	0.150	0.127	0.101	0.105	0.204	0.050	0.048	0.089	0.042	0.098	0.071	0.463^	0.104	0.189	0.049	0.094	0.052	
Total	Dissolved	Phosphorus	0.059	0.093	0.054	0.028	0.004*	0.142	0.092	0.237	0.018	0.120	0.008	0.089	0.808^	0.214	0.692	0.362	0.123	0.439	0.223	0.024	0.154	0.044	
	Total	Phosphorus	0.142	0.201	0.087	0.268	0.043*	0.297	0.253	0.362	0.140	0.356	0.057	0.157	0.880^	0.245	0.787	0.433	0.692	0.550	0.470	0.105	0.234	0.098	
		AESA Watershed	Hines Creek	Paddle River	Prairie Blood Coulee	Rose Creek	Willow Creek	Blindman River	Grande Prairie Creek	Kleskun Drain	Meadow Creek	Tomahawk Creek	Trout Creek	Buffalo Creek	Haynes Creek (M6)	Ray Creek	Renwick Creek	Stretton Creek	Strawberry Creek	Threehills Creek	Wabash Creek	Battersea Drain	Crowfoot Creek	New West Coulee	
	Agricultural	Intensity		Low						Moderate							High						Irrigation		

Note: The highest and lowest values within an agricultural intensity category are **bolded** and *italicized*, respectively.

^ denotes the highest value of all watersheds from 1999 to 2006. * denotes the lowest value of all watersheds from 1999 to 2006. 3-23



Figure 3.10. Median of the median annual TDP and TPP (a) and Org N, $NO_2^-+NO_3^-$ -N and NH₃-N (b) FWMCs for the AESA watersheds (1999 to 2006). Refer to Table 3.5 for full stream names.



Figure 3.11. Median of the median annual TDP/TP (a) and DIN/TN (b) in the AESA watersheds grouped by the 1996 agricultural intensity rankings. Note that the ratios were obtained from FWMCs. Refer to Table 3.5 for full stream names.

Comparisons of P and N FWMCs by ecoregion area. Although the agricultural intensity in a watershed is not completely independent of where a watershed is located in the Province, the influence of ecoregional characteristics were examined by comparing nutrient FWMCs in watersheds located in similar ecoregion areas. Box plots of P and N FWMCs grouped by ecoregion area are found in Figures 3.12 through 3.20.

Significant differences in TP FWMCs were observed among ecoregion areas (H=54.092, p<0.005) with the highest TP FWMCs measured in the Parkland ecoregion area (p<0.005) (Figure 3.12). Mean rank TP FWMCs were significantly higher in the Boreal than Grassland (U=1496, p<0.005) and Irrigated Grassland (U=1277, p<0.005) ecoregion areas. Mean rank TP FWMCs were not significantly different between the Grassland and Irrigated Grassland ecoregion areas (U=221, p=0.167). Although TP FWMCs measured in the Continental Divide only represented one stream and were not included in the statistical analyses, concentrations appeared lower than those measured in the Grassland and Irrigated Grassland ecoregion areas. Interestingly, watersheds situated in ecoregion areas located in the southern part of the Province (Grassland, Irrigated Grassland, and Cont. Div.) tended to have lower TP FWMCs.



Figure 3.12. Box plots of median annual TP FWMCs (1999 to 2006) for the five ecoregion areas. Box plots with the same letter are not significantly different from one another at the 0.05 level as tested with Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA and Mann-Whitney significance tests on untransformed data. Significant differences between agricultural intensity categories were observed at the p<0.005 significance level.

As for TP, mean rank TDP FWMCs were significantly different among all ecoregion areas (H=77.842, p<0.005) with the highest TDP FWMCs measured in the Parkland ecoregion (p<0.005) (Figure 3.13). Furthermore, mean rank TDP FWMCs in the Boreal ecoregion area were also significantly higher than the Irrigated Grassland (U=1102, p<0.05) and Grassland (U=1522, p<0.005) ecoregion areas. However, the lowest TDP FWMCs were measured in the Grassland and Continental Divide ecoregion areas with significantly higher TDP FWMCs measured in the Irrigated Grassland watersheds.



Figure 3.13. Box plots of median annual TDP FWMCs (1999 to 2006) for the five ecoregion areas. Box plots with different letters were significantly different from one another at the 0.005 level as tested with Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA and Mann-Whitney significance tests on untransformed data. Significant differences between the Boreal and Irrigated Grasslands ecoregion areas were observed at the p<0.05 significance level.

In contrast to TP and TDP, the highest TPP FWMCs were observed in the Boreal ecoregion area (F=13.538, p<0.005), while a significant difference in TPP FWMCs was not observed among the other ecoregion areas (p>0.05) (Figure 3.14). Total particulate P FWMCs in the Continental Divide were similar to those observed in the Parkland, Grassland, and Irrigated Grassland ecoregion areas. Higher TPP in the Boreal may be attributable to topography (i.e., steeper slopes), climate, hydrology, and possibly forest soils and sediment substrate in streams.



Figure 3.14. Box plots of median annual TPP FWMCs (1999 to 2006) for the five ecoregion areas. Box plots with the same letter are not significantly different from one another at the 0.05 level as tested with ANOVA and Tukey's post hoc after a Log10 transformation was applied to normalize the data. The mean TPP FWMC for the Boreal ecoregion area was significantly different from all other ecoregions at the p<0.005 level.

The ratio of TDP/TP by ecoregion area showed a similar pattern to TP and TDP FWMCs (Figure 3.15). Again, the Parkland ecoregion had the highest ratio of TDP/TP (p<0.005); however, a significant difference was not found between mean rank TDP/TP values in the Boreal and Irrigated Grassland ecoregion areas (U=759, p>0.05). Unlike TP, the ratio of TDP/TP was significantly lower in the Grassland ecoregion area than in the Boreal (U=1131, p<0.005) and Irrigated Grassland (U=171, P<0.05) ecoregion areas. Ratios in the Continental Divide were similar to those measured in the Grassland watersheds. The interquartile range appeared to be quite large for the TDP/TP ratio within the ecoregion areas, specifically the Boreal and Grassland ecoregion areas. However, there appeared to be less variability within the Parkland ecoregion area than within the high agricultural intensity category. The Parkland ecoregion contains all of the high agricultural intensity watersheds except Strawberry and Wabash Creeks. These two watersheds, located in the Boreal, may have higher ratios of TPP as a result of increased runoff. Furthermore, watersheds in the Parkland ecoregion area do not typically flow in the summer and may be less likely to respond to summer storm events that could influence increased particulate fractions in the Boreal and Grassland ecoregion areas. Variability within the Boreal and Grassland watersheds, as well as within those under low and moderate agricultural intensity, indicates that both agricultural intensity and factors such as runoff influenced the ratios of dissolved or particulate P measured in a stream.



Figure 3.15. Box plots of median annual TDP/TP FWMCs (1999 to 2006) for the five ecoregion areas. Box plots with the same letter are not significantly different from one another at the 0.05 level as tested with Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA and Mann-Whitney significance tests on untransformed data. Box plots with different letters were significantly different at the p<0.005 level except between the Grassland and Irrigated Grassland ecoregion areas (p<0.05).

Significant differences were observed among ecoregion areas for TN (F=27.103, p<0.005) and Org N FWMCs (F=37.910, p<0.005), which showed the same pattern among ecoregion areas as TP (Figures 3.16 and 3.17). Total N and Org N FWMCs were significantly higher in the Parkland ecoregion than in the Boreal, Grassland, and Irrigated Grassland ecoregion areas (p<0.005 or 0.05). Total and organic N FWMCs were also significantly higher in the Boreal than Grassland and Irrigated Grassland ecoregion areas (p<0.005). A significant difference was not found between the Grassland and Irrigated Grassland ecoregion areas for TN and Org N (p=0.616 and 0.984, respectively). Although FWMCs measured in the Continental Divide only represented one stream and were not included in the statistical analyses, TN and Org N concentrations appeared to be lower than those measured in the Grassland and Irrigated Grassland ecoregion areas (Boreal and Parkland), which may be a reflection of the soils, hydrology, topography, and land cover/use.



Ecoregion Area

Figure 3.16. Box plots of median annual TN FWMCs (1999 to 2006) for the five ecoregion areas. Box plots with the same letter are not significantly different from one another at the 0.05 level as tested with ANOVA and Tukey's post hoc after a Log(x+1) transformation was applied to normalize the data. Box plots with different letters were significantly different at the p<0.005 level.

The highest NO₂⁻+NO₃⁻-N FWMCs were measured in the Parkland ecoregion but were only significantly higher than the Boreal and Irrigated Grassland ecoregion areas (p<0.005) (Figure 3.18). Furthermore, a significant difference was not found between each of the other ecoregion areas (Boreal, Grassland, or Irrigated Grassland) (p>0.1). Nitrite N +Nitrate-N concentrations were lowest in the Continental Divide.



Figure 3.17. Box plots of median annual Org N FWMCs (1999 to 2006) for the five ecoregion areas. Box plots with the same letter are not significantly different from one another at the 0.05 level as tested with ANOVA and Tukey's post hoc after a square root transformation was applied to normalize the data. Box plots with different letters were significantly different at the p<0.005 level.



Figure 3.18. Box plots of median annual NO₂⁻-N+NO₃⁻-N FWMCs (1999 to 2006) for the five ecoregion areas. Box plots with the same letter are not significantly different from one another at the 0.05 level as tested with ANOVA and Tukey's post hoc after a Log10 transformation was applied to normalize the data. Box plots with different letters were significantly different at the p<0.005 level.

Ammonia-N FWMCs showed a similar pattern by ecoregion area as TDP/TP (Figure 3.19). The Parkland ecoregion had significantly higher NH₃-N FWMCs than the Boreal (p<0.05) or Grassland and Irrigated Grassland ecoregion areas (p<0.005). As for TDP/TP, a significant difference was not found between NH₃-N values in the Boreal and Irrigated Grassland ecoregion areas (p=0.546). Furthermore, NH₃-N was significantly lower in the Grassland than in the Boreal (p<0.005) and Irrigated Grassland (p<0.01) ecoregion areas. The Continental Divide appeared to have the lowest NH₃-N FWMCs.



Figure 3.19. Box plots of median annual NH₃-N FWMCs (1999 to 2006) for the five ecoregion areas. Box plots with the same letter are not significantly different from one another at the 0.05 level as tested with ANOVA and Tukey's post hoc after a Log10 transformation was applied to normalize the data. Box plots with different letters were significantly different at the p<0.005 level with the exception of means between the Boreal and Parkland and between the Grassland and Irrigated Grassland ecoregion areas (p<0.01).

The mean rank DIN/TN ratio was significantly different among all ecoregion areas (H=21.759, p<0.005); however, DIN/TN ratios were not statistically different between the Parkland and Irrigated Grassland ecoregion areas (U=534, p=0.714) (Figure 3.20). Mean rank ratios in the Boreal were significantly higher than in the Grassland ecoregion area (U=1056, p<0.005). Ratios of DIN/TN in the Continental Divide were similar to DIN/TN in the Grassland ecoregion area. Interestingly, TPP, NO₂⁻-N+NO₃⁻-N, and DIN/TN were the only parameters where FWMCs were not significantly higher in the Parkland ecoregion than all other ecoregion areas. Concentrations of TPP, NO₂⁻-N+NO₃⁻-N, and DIN/TN in the Irrigated Grassland ecoregion. Again, the ratio of DIN/TN was higher in the irrigated watersheds and close to those values of the high agricultural intensity, dryland watersheds – the opposite pattern observed for the absolute fractions of N. The split between northern and southern ecoregion areas was not observed for DIN/TN.



Figure 3.20. Box plots of median annual DIN/TN FWMCs (1999 to 2006) for the five ecoregion areas. Box plots with the same letter are not significantly different from one another at the 0.05 level as tested with Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA and Mann-Whitney significance tests on untransformed data. Box plots with different letters were significantly different at the p<0.005 level.

Molar ratios of TN/TP and DIN/TDP. The molar ratios of TN/TP and DIN/TDP were examined overall for the AESA watersheds, by agricultural intensity, and by ecoregion area to assess potential nutrient limitation. Eutrophication of surface waters has been attributed to increases in dissolved N and P and the ratio of N to P, in addition to other factors such as climate (Isermann 1990). Nitrogen to phosphorus ratios can be used to understand nutrient limitations in a stream. This information can then be used to help target the most effective beneficial

management practices to decrease contributions of the limiting nutrient and over-enrichment of the waterbody.

The ratios of TN/TP for the AESA watersheds ranged from 1.475 to 114.338; however, the median ratio was relatively low at 7.421 (Table 3.7). The DIN/TDP ratio also spanned a wide range, but the median was relatively low at 10.636 (Table 3.7).

Statistic	TN/TP	DIN/TDP
Ν	171	170
Minimum	1.48	0.410
Maximum	114	1940
Median	7.42	10.6
Mean	9.30	52.5

Table 3.7. Summary statistics for annual TN/TP and DIN/TDP ratios for all AESA watersheds (1999-2006).

The TN/TP ratio differed among agricultural intensity categories (Table 3.8); watersheds draining high agricultural land had statistically lower (p<0.05) TN/TP ratios than low or moderate agricultural intensity watersheds suggesting a relative abundance of P (Figure 3.21a). The TN/TP ratio for high agricultural intensity watersheds did not differ from irrigated streams. A statistical difference was not found between low, moderate, or irrigated watersheds.

In contrast, irrigated watersheds had DIN/TDP ratios that were significantly lower than both moderate and high agricultural intensity watersheds (p<0.01) (Figure 3.21b). The ratios were also higher in high agricultural intensity watersheds than in the low agricultural intensity streams (p<0.005), with similar DIN/TDP ratios between moderate agricultural intensity streams and those in high or low agricultural intensity categories. The median DIN/TDP ratios for the low and irrigated watersheds indicated that N was potentially limiting with ratios <10 (Shanz and Juon 1983).

(1999-2000).				
Agricultural	Median DIN/TDP	Ave. DIN/TDP	Median TN/TP	Ave. TN/TP
Intensity				
Low	3.91	52.6	8.19	12.7
Moderate	13.6	33.8	8.77	9.40
High	20.1	86.1	7.12	3.15
Irrigated	3.49	8.23	7.36	8.76

Table 3.8. Median and Average TN/TP and DIN/TDP ratios for agricultural intensity categories (1999-2006).



Figure 3.21. Box plots of median annual TN/TP (a) and DIN/TDP (b) ratios (1999-2006) in the four agricultural intensity categories. Medians of box plots with the same letter are not significantly different from one another at the 0.05 level as tested with ANOVA and Tukey's post hoc after a Log10 transformation was applied to normalize the data.

The increase in DIN/TDP from low to moderate to high suggests that the relative abundance of plant available P decreases as agricultural intensity increases. Low ratios (<4) in low intensity and irrigated watersheds suggest that there is a relative overabundance of plant available P in these watersheds and that N would be more likely to be limiting plant productivity and driving eutrophication. These findings are counter intuitive to what is believed about the drivers of eutrophication in freshwater streams (i.e., that P is the key nutrient) (Schindler 1977, Sharpley et al 1987, Isermann 1990) but support other studies which have also found nitrogen to be the limiting nutrient in temperate streams across Canada and the United States (Dodds et al. 2002). The data may indicate that the generalization about P being the key limiting nutrient may not be valid in all Ecoregions or soil types, though some studies have shown that P control is essential in decreasing eutrophication as controlling N alone is not sufficient (Carpenter 2008, Schindler et al 2008).

Nitrogen and phosphorus ratios were also compared by watershed location by ecoregion (Table 3.9). The ratio of TN/TP was significantly higher in the Grassland streams than the other ecoregion areas (p<0.05), while no statistical difference was found among the remaining ecoregion areas (Figure 3.22a). The TN/TP ratios by ecoregion area suggest potential N limitation in the agricultural watersheds as they are all below the Redfield ratio of 16 (Redfield 1958); however, ratios in the Grassland ecoregion did exceed 16 and indicate that the N may not always be the limiting nutrient of primary producers in the Grassland watersheds.

Again, the Grassland ecoregion had a significantly higher median DIN/TDP ratio than watersheds in the other ecoregions (p<0.05); the ratio observed for the Irrigated Grassland streams was significantly lower than those measured in the Parkland (p<0.01) and Boreal (p<0.05) ecoregion areas (Figure 3.22b). The Continental Divide had similar DIN/TDP ratios to the Irrigated Grassland watersheds. The median and average DIN/TDP ratios in the Grassland ecoregion again suggest P limitation. With the exception of the Grassland watersheds, streams located in the more southern ecoregions (i.e., Irrigated Grasslands and Continental Divide) appear to have an overabundance of plant available P, with N limiting plant productivity and influencing eutrophication. Geologic sources of N have been found in groundwater in some areas of southern Alberta (Rodvang et al. 2004); therefore, it is possible that other sources, in addition to agriculture, may contribute to eutrophication of N limited surface waters in southern Alberta.

Note that the N/P ratio only indicates potential nitrogen or phosphorus limitations. Previous studies have found instream nutrient concentrations are also important to consider (Dodds et al. 2002; Stelzer and Lamberta 2001). High instream nutrient concentrations can lead to a saturation point of algal growth, negating the suggested limitation of the N/P ratio.

2000).				
Ecoregion	Median DIN:TDP	Ave. DIN:TDP	Median TN:TP	Ave. TN:TP
Boreal	5.73	75.3	7.37	8.15
Parkland	12.4	28.9	6.86	7.43
Grassland	34.8	84.9	10.4	17.2
Irrigated	3.49	8.23	7.36	8.76
Grassland				
Continental	5.77	6.51	6.11	7.62
Divide				

Table 3.9. Median and Average TN/TP and DIN/TDP FWMC ratios by ecoregion area (1999-2006).



Ecoregion Area

Figure 3.22. Box plots of median annual TN/TP (a) and DIN/TDP (b) FWMC ratios (1999-2006) for the five ecoregion areas. Medians of box plots with the same letter are not significantly different from one another at the 0.05 level as tested with ANOVA and Tukey's post hoc after a Log10 transformation was applied to normalize the data.

Correlations of P and N FWMCs with Agricultural Intensity metrics. Spearman Rank Correlations were run between the medians of median annual P and N FWMCs for the AESA streams and the averaged Census of Agriculture metrics (1996, 2001, and 2006) to examine the relationship between nutrient FWMCs and agriculture. As mentioned previously, relationships with agricultural intensity metrics were examined as the metrics can be used to link the type and intensity of agriculture in a watershed with changes in water quality.

Correlations between the overall agricultural intensity metric and the dissolved nutrient fractions support use of the metric as an indicator for agricultural influence of stream nutrient concentrations. Strong, positive correlations (0.50 to 0.75, p<0.02) were observed between the overall agricultural intensity percentile and the dissolved nitrogen fractions (NO2-+NO3--N and NH3-N) and ratios of TDP/TP and DIN/TN (Table 3.10). The overall metric was also weakly correlated with TDP (p<0.05). The same strong, positive correlations were observed with both fertilizer and chemical sales as for the overall agricultural intensity metric (Table 3.10). However, the DIN/TN ratio was the only parameter strongly correlated with the average manure production percentile (p<0.02), with weaker correlations observed between the manure production percentile and dissolve N fractions (0.46, p<0.05). Note that it was the dissolved fractions of N and P rather than the total that correlated most closely with the agricultural intensity metric at a provincial scale.

	Overall Agricultural			
	Intensity	Manure Prod.	Fertilizer Sales	Chemical Sales
Parameter	Percentile	Percentile	Percentile	Percentile
TP	0.35	0.27	0.32	0.35
TDP	0.48	0.22	0.52	0.53
TPP	-0.12	0.09	-0.24	-0.20
T DP/TP	0.58	0.14	0.69	0.68
TN	0.42	0.25	0.42	0.42
Org N	0.33	0.17	0.33	0.34
NO ₂ ⁻ +NO ₃ ⁻ -N	0.67	0.46	0.60	0.65
NH ₃ -N	0.50	0.46	0.46	0.46
DIN/TN	0.75	0.63	0.65	0.71

Table 3.10. Spearman Rank Correlations between median annual P and N FWMCs (1999 - 2006) and average Census of Agriculture metrics (1996, 2001, 2006) for 22 AESA watersheds (n=22).

Note: **Bold** values indicate significance at p<0.02.

As agricultural practices and intensity may vary for different regions of the province, Spearman Rank Correlations were run between annual P and N FWMCs for the AESA streams and each average Census of Agriculture metric (1996, 2001, and 2006) grouped by ecoregion area (Tables 3.11 to 3.14). In the Boreal ecoregion area, TN, DIN/TN, and the dissolved fractions of N were strongly, positively correlated (0.75 to 0.92, p<0.05) with the average agricultural intensity percentile (Table 3.11, Figures 3.23 and 3.24). There appeared to be a strong relationship with P, but the correlations were not significant (p>0.05). Total N was the only significantly correlated parameter with the average agricultural intensity percentiles in the Parkland ecoregion (0.89, p<0.05, Table 3.12). Note that the agricultural intensity metric was more strongly correlated overall with N than with P in the Boreal and Parkland ecoregion areas. All parameters with the exception of TDP/TP and DIN/TN ratios showed a strong, positive relationship with the average agricultural intensity percentiles in the Grassland ecoregion area, but with such a small sample size, it is unclear whether that relationship is real. The ratios of TDP/TP and DIN/TN showed an inverse relationship (Table 3.13). Nutrient parameters appeared to be inversely correlated with the average agricultural intensity percentile in the Irrigated Grassland ecoregion area (Table 3.14), but as for the Grassland ecoregion area, a greater number of samples would be required to determine whether the relationship was significant.



♦ Boreal ● Parkld ▲ Grass ★ Irr. Grass Cont. Div.

Figure 3.23. Average agricultural intensity metric (1999, 2001, 2006) and median annual TDP/TP FWMC for the AESA watersheds.



Figure 3.24. Average agricultural intensity metric (1999, 2001, 2006) and median annual DIN/TN FWMC for the AESA watersheds.

The manure production metric appeared to be better indicator of nutrient contamination in the Boreal ecoregion area than in the Parkland ecoregion area where the majority of high agricultural intensity AESA watersheds were located. Total P and N, ammonia-N, and the DIN/TN ratio were strongly, positively correlated with manure production percentiles in the Boreal ecoregion (0.68 to 0.90, p<0.02) (Table 3.11). In the Parkland ecoregion area, TN and DIN/TN were the only parameters with a strong relationship with the manure production, though these correlated with NO₂⁻+NO₃-N and DIN/TN in the Boreal ecoregion area (0.72 and 0.70, respectively, p<0.05). Due to the limited sample size and inability to determine the significance of any relationships, correlations between nutrient parameters and agricultural intensity metrics for the Grassland and Irrigated Grassland ecoregion areas are shown in Tables 3.13 and 3.14 but not discussed.

Unlike the relationships observed between nutrients and the manure and fertilizer metrics, strong, positive relationships were noted between the chemical sales percentiles and the majority of P and N fractions in the Parkland ecoregion area. Note that TP, TDP, and Org N were the only parameters with significant correlations (0.89, p<0.05) (Table 3.12). The stronger correlation between chemical sales and nutrient concentrations in the Parkland ecoregion area were unexpected considering fertilizer and manure are nutrient sources. It is uncertain whether the metrics for nutrient sources are inadequate or if there is something inherent about the chemical sales percentiles (i.e., land use type) that is a better surrogate of nutrient use.

	Overall			
	Agricultural			
	Intensity	Manure prod.	Fertilizer Sales	Chemical Sales
Parameter	Percentile	Percentile	Percentile	Percentile
TP	0.65	0.73	0.38	0.45
TDP	0.57	0.55	0.42	0.48
TPP	0.35	0.63	0.07	0.00
TDP/TP	0.28	-0.18	0.43	0.47
TN	0.80	0.68	0.55	0.62
Org N	0.65	0.45	0.38	0.48
$NO_2 + NO_3 - N$	0.90	0.62	0.72	0.75
NH ₃ -N	0.75	0.90	0.47	0.43
DIN/TN	0.92	0.78	0.70	0.63

Table 3.11. Spearman Rank Correlations between median annual P and N FWMCs (1999 to 2006) and average Census of Agriculture metrics (1996, 2001, 2006) for watersheds in the Boreal ecoregion area (n=9).

Note: **Bold** denotes significance at p<0.05.

	Overall			
	Agricultural			
	Intensity	Manure Prod.	Fertilizer Sales	Chemical Sales
Parameter	Percentile	Percentile	Percentile	Percentile
TP	0.77	0.31	0.26	0.89
TDP	0.77	0.31	0.26	0.89
TPP	0.77	0.37	-0.09	0.66
TDP/TP	0.37	0.03	0.31	0.71
TN	0.89	0.60	0.14	0.77
Org N	0.77	0.31	0.26	0.89
$NO_2 + NO_3 - N$	0.26	0.31	-0.26	0.37
NH ₃ -N	0.71	0.43	-0.03	0.60
DIN/TN	0.43	0.60	-0.43	0.31

Table 3.12. Spearman Rank Correlations between median annual P and N FWMCs (1999 to 2006) and average Census of Agriculture metrics (1996, 2001, 2006) for watersheds in the Parkland ecoregion area (n=6).

Note: Bold denotes significance at p<0.05.

Table 3.13. Spearman Rank Correlations between median annual P and N FWMCs (1999 - 2006) and average Census of Agriculture metrics (1996, 2001, 2006) for watersheds in the Grassland ecoregion area (n=3).

	Overall Agricultural			
Parameter	Intensity Percentile	Manure Prod. Percentile	Fertilizer Sales Percentile	Chemical Sales Percentile
TP	1.00	0.50	0.50	0.50
TDP	0.50	-0.50	1.00	1.00
TPP	0.50	1.00	-0.50	-0.50
TDP/TP	-0.50	-1.00	0.50	0.50
TN	0.50	-0.50	1.00	1.00
Org N	0.50	-0.50	1.00	1.00
NO ₂ ⁻ +NO ₃ ⁻ -N	0.50	-0.50	1.00	1.00
NH ₃ -N	1.00	0.50	0.50	0.50
DIN/TN	-0.50	-1.00	0.50	0.50

Table 3.14. Spearman Rank Correlations between median annual P and N FWMCs (1999 - 2006) and average Census of Agriculture metrics (1996, 2001, 2006) for watersheds in the Irrigated Grassland ecoregion area (n=4).

	Overall Agricultural			
	Intensity	Manure Prod.	Fertilizer Sales	Chemical Sales
Parameter	Percentile	Percentile	Percentile	Percentile
TP	-0.50	-0.50	-0.50	-0.50
TDP	-1.00	-1.00	-1.00	-1.00
TPP	-1.00	-1.00	-1.00	-1.00
T DP/TP	-1.00	-1.00	-1.00	-1.00
TN	-0.50	-0.50	-0.50	-0.50
Org N	-0.50	-0.50	-0.50	-0.50
NO2 ⁻ +NO3 ⁻ -N	-0.50	-0.50	-0.50	-0.50
NH ₃ -N	-0.50	-0.50	-0.50	-0.50
DIN/TN	0.50	0.50	0.50	0.50

Temporal trends in P and N FWMC. Annual nutrient FWMCs were visually examined in each watershed to assess whether water quality changed with time and are illustrated in Figures 3.25 through 3.50. Temporal monotonic trends were not found in the majority of watersheds. However, nine watersheds appeared to have a potential increasing or decreasing temporal trend and require further statistical investigation to assess whether a temporal pattern was indeed present and a result of agricultural influences or attributed to flow (Battersea Drain, Blindman River, Buffalo Creek, Kleskun Drain, Meadow Creek, Prairie Blood Coulee, Tomahawk Creek, Renwick Creek, and Wabash Creek). It was noted that watersheds that are prone to having large flow events will be more difficult to evaluate with respect to changing agricultural intensity as a result of flow related "event" years in the data record (i.e., decreasing TDP/TP as a result of increased flow). Watersheds have been grouped by 1996 agricultural intensity categories for ease of discussion.

Low Agricultural Intensity Watersheds (Hines, Paddle, Prairie, Rose, Willow)

A temporal trend in P or N FWMCs was not observed in Hines Creek (Figure 3.25, Table 3.15). There was some variability among years for the total and dissolved ratios of P and N.



Figure 3.25. Annual TDP and TPP (a) and Org N, $NO_2^-+NO_3^--N$, and NH_3-N (b) FWMCs in Hines Creek. Bars are stacked (i.e., summed totals for TDP and TPP are equal to TP, and Org N, $NO_2^-+NO_3^--N$, and NH_3-N are equal to TN FWMCs for the year).

	Median	Minimum	Year	Maximum	Year
	$(mg^{-1}L^{-1})$	$(mg^{-1}L^{-1})$		$(mg^{-}L^{-1})$	
TP	0.140	0.098	2004	0.173	2001
TDP	0.059	0.048	1999	0.092	
			and		2002
			2004		
TPP	0.063	0.049	2004	0.116	2001
TDP/TP	0.416	0.327	2001	0.587	2003
TN	1.310	0.998	2005	1.687	2006
Org N	1.237	0.923	2004	1.369	1999
NH ₃ -N	0.010	0.018	2000	0.355	2006
$NO_2 + NO_3 - N$	0.010	0.003	1999	0.023	2001
DIN/TN	0.054	0.019	1999	0.222	2006
Annual stream	14.1	0.2	1999	22.6	2003
volume (hm ³)					

Table 3.15. Median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum P and N FWMCs and median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum annual stream volume (March to October) in Hines Creek. Year represents the year the minimum or maximum FWMC or flow occurred.

Overall, there did not appear to be any trend with time in TP or TN FWMC in Paddle River (Figure 3.26). The majority of TP FWMCs were measured in the particulate fraction with a higher ratio of TDP between 2002 and 2004 (0.52-0.69) (Figure 3.26(a), Table 3.16). The ratio of TPP to TP was generally highest during years with higher stream volume (ex., 45hm³, 0.86 TPP/TP in 1997; 19.7hm³, 0.85 TPP/TP in 2001), while the ratio of TDP to TP was generally higher in years of low flow (8.7hm³, 0.69 TPP/TP in 2003; 6.9 hm³, 0.60 TPP/TP in 2004). The ratio of TP measured as TDP appeared to increase over time although annual stream volume also appeared to decrease over time, indicating less particulate movement from land to water (Figure 3.27).



Figure 3.26. Annual TDP and TPP (a) and Org N, $NO_2^-+NO_3^--N$, and NH_3-N (b) FWMCs in Paddle River. Bars are stacked, i.e. summed totals for TDP and TPP are equal to TP and Org N, $NO_2^-+NO_3^--N$, and NH_3-N are equal to TN FWMCs for the year.

	Median	Minimum	Year	Maximum	Year
	$(mg^{-1}L^{-1})$	$(mg^{-1}L^{-1})$		$(mg^{-}L^{-1})$	
ТР	0.228	0.073	2004	0.494	1997
TDP	0.077	0.035	1997	0.129	2002
TPP	0.119	0.029	2004	0.423	1997
TDP/TP	0.334	0.144	1997	0.686	2003
TN	1.476	0.687	2004	2.167	2002
Org N	1.274	0.645	2004	1.839	2002
NH ₃ -N	0.072	0.012	2004	0.129	2005
$NO_2^- + NO_3^ N$	0.047	0.007	1996	0.216	2002
DIN/TN	0.089	0.025	1996	0.168	2003
Annual stream	9.0	4.4	2006	45.4	1997
volume (nm ²)					

Table 3.16. Median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum P and N FWMCs and median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum annual stream volume (March to October) in Paddle River. Year represents the year the minimum or maximum FWMC or flow occurred.



Figure 3.27. Median annual TDP/TP versus annual flow volume in Paddle River.

There appeared to be a potential temporal trend in TP and TN FWMCs with time in Prairie Blood Coulee, with variability among years between 1999 and 2006 but slightly higher values in the latter years of the study (Figure 3.28, Table 3.17). There also seemed to be an increasing ratio of DIN from 2001 through 2006. Although Prairie Blood Coulee was initially ranked as a low agricultural intensity watershed, the amount and type of agricultural activity in the watershed is uncertain as a result of the different calculation methods used for the agricultural intensity metric (Chapter 2: Materials and Methods- Agricultural Intensity Metrics). Note that irrigation pivots were found in 1991 air photos of Prairie Blood Coulee. However, Anderson et al. (1998b) also found higher $NO_2^{-}+NO_3^{-}$ -N FWMCs in Prairie Blood Coulee but could not attribute the observations to land use. A statistical trend analysis would be required to determine whether a temporal trend in TP and TN FWMC and the ratio of DIN/TN was actually present.



Figure 3.28. Annual TDP and TPP (a) and Org N, $NO_2^-+NO_3^--N$, and NH_3-N (b) FWMCs in Prairie Blood Coulee. Bars are stacked, i.e. summed totals for TDP and TPP are equal to TP and Org N, $NO_2^-+NO_3^--N$, and NH_3-N are equal to TN FWMCs for the year.

	$\begin{array}{c} \text{Median} \\ (\text{mg}^{-}\text{L}^{-1}) \end{array}$	$\begin{array}{c} \text{Minimum} \\ (\text{mg}^{-}\text{L}^{-1}) \end{array}$	Year	$\begin{array}{c} Maximum \\ (mg^{-}L^{-1}) \end{array}$	Year
ТР	0.086	0.009	2000	0.210	2005
TDP	0.049	0.049	2002	0.154	2003
TPP	0.027	0.002	2000	0.092	2006
TDP/TP	0.570	0.158	1996	0.892	2003
TN	1.110	0.705	1999	3.545	2006
Org N	1.000	0.681	1999	2.056	2006
NH ₃ -N	0.026	0.012	1996	0.089	2006
			and		
			2004		
$NO_2^{-}+NO_3^{-}-N$	0.035	0.001	1996	1.399	2006
DIN/TN	0.070	0.014	1996	0.431	2003
Annual stream volume (hm ³)	1.7	0.1	1999	10.1	2005

Table 3.17. Median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum P and N FWMCs and median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum annual stream volume (March to October) in Prairie Blood Coulee. Year represents the year the minimum or maximum FWMC or flow occurred.

No monotonic temporal trend in TP or TN FWMCs was observed in Rose Creek between 1995 and 2006 (Figure 3.29). As observed in the annual loads, annual TP FWMCs were much higher in 1998 and 1999 (0.955 and $0.826 \text{ mg} \text{L}^{-1}$, respectively). Nitrogen FWMCs for all fractions with the exception of NO₂⁻+NO₃⁻-N also peaked in 1998 (Table 3.18). Furthermore, Rose Creek had higher flow than all other streams sampled in 1998 (Chapter 2: Tables 2.5 to 2.7). These high levels appeared to be linked to the effects of high runoff in the basin, specifically high flows resulting from heavy rains experienced during the summer of 1998. Almost all of the TP measured in Rose Creek was in the form of TPP, suggesting sediment movement as the main source of P to the stream.



Figure 3.29. Annual TDP and TPP (a) and Org N, $NO_2^-+NO_3^--N$, and NH_3-N (b) FWMCs in Rose Creek. Bars are stacked, i.e. summed totals for TDP and TPP are equal to TP and Org N, $NO_2^-+NO_3^--N$, and NH_3-N are equal to TN FWMCs for the year.
Table 3.18. Median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum P and N FWMCs and median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum annual stream volume (March to October) in Rose Creek. Year represents the year the minimum or maximum FWMC or flow occurred.

	Median	Minimum	Year	Maximum	Year
	$(mg^{-}L^{-1})$	$(mg^{-1}L^{-1})$		$(mg^{-}L^{-1})$	
TP	0.234	0.062	2006	0.955	1998
TDP	0.030	0.018	2000	0.058	2002
TPP	0.212	0.035	2006	0.924	1998
TDP/TP	0.130	0.029	1999	0.435	2006
TN	1.332	0.900	2006	2.551	1998
Org N	1.276	0.862	2006	2.453	1998
NH ₃ -N	0.054	0.023	2006	0.084	1998
$NO_2 + NO_3 - N$	0.016	0.011	2001	0.036	2002
DIN/TN	0.047	0.024	1999	0.082	2002
Annual stream	46.4	28.0	2001	85.4	1999
volume (hm ³)					

There were no temporal patterns in P or N FWMCs in Willow Creek (Figure 3.30, Table 3.19). Noteworthy, TP and TN FWMC in 2005 were much higher in Willow Creek than in other years of monitoring. Flows in 2005 were the highest of the AESA monitoring period, and the flows measured at Claresholm, Alberta were said to have had a 1 % chance of occurring in any given year (Alberta Environment 2005). Although the data are standardized for flow, the rare occurrence of these anomalously high flows could have resulted in the anomalously high FWMCs in 2005.



Figure 3.30. Annual TDP and TPP (a) and Org N, $NO_2^-+NO_3^--N$, and NH_3-N (b) FWMCs in Willow Creek. Bars are stacked, i.e. summed totals for TDP and TPP are equal to TP and Org N, $NO_2^-+NO_3^--N$, and NH_3-N are equal to TN FWMCs for the year.

Table 3.19. Median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum P and N FWMCs and median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum annual stream volume (March to October) in Willow Creek. Year represents the year the minimum or maximum FWMC or flow occurred.

	Median	Minimum	Year	Maximum	Year
	$(mg'L^{-1})$	$(mg^{-1}L^{-1})$		$(mg^{-}L^{-1})$	
TP	0.043	0.009	2003	1.308	2005
TDP	0.004	0.002	1999	0.011	
			and		2005
			2003		
TPP	0.039	0.007	2003	1.297	2005
TDP/TP	0.088	0.008	2005	0.266	2000
TN	0.283	0.123	2000	1.929	2005
Org N	0.225	0.088	2000	1.876	2005
NH ₃ -N	0.010	0.004	2004	0.033	2005
$NO_2 + NO_3 - N$	0.020	0.010	2004	0.033	2001
DIN/TN	0.091	0.026	2005	0.280	2000
Annual stream volume (hm ³)	9.9	4.1	2000	41.4	2005

Moderate Agricultural Intensity Watersheds (Blindman, Grande Prairie, Kleskun, Meadow, Tomahawk, and Trout)

A temporal pattern in TP and TN FWMCs was not observed in Blindman River (Figure 3.31, Table 3.20). Higher ratios of TPP were observed between 1996 and 2001 (0.57-0.67), while higher ratios of TDP were measured between 2002 and 2006. Total flow volume was higher and peaks in flow occurred more frequently between 1996 and 2001, lending to the higher TPP fractions observed. Flow volume was generally lower between 2002 and 2006 compared to 1996 to 2001 (Chapter 2: Figures 2.10 and 2.11, Tables 2.5 to 2.7). It appeared that flow influenced the higher TP and TPP FWMCs observed in the earlier years of the program, while agricultural practices may have influenced the TP and dissolved P FWMCs measured in 2005 and 2006. The annual TDP/TP ratio appeared to increase over the study period (Figure 3.32); however, a statistical trend analysis would be required to determine whether the apparent increasing trend in TDP/TP was statistically significant or a result of trends in flow. Unlike TDP/TP, a trend was not observed for the ratios of TN as DIN.



Figure 3.31. Annual TDP and TPP (a) and Org N, $NO_2^-+NO_3^--N$, and NH_3-N (b) FWMCs in Blindman River. Bars are stacked, i.e. summed totals for TDP and TPP are equal to TP and Org N, $NO_2^-+NO_3^--N$, and NH_3-N are equal to TN FWMCs for the year.

	Median	Minimum	Year	Maximum	Year
	$(mg'L^{-1})$	$(mg^{-1}L^{-1})$		$(mg^{-1}L^{-1})$	
TP	0.297	0.136	2001	0.536	2006
TDP	0.152	0.058	2001	0.338	2006
TPP	0.175	0.050	2004	0.276	1997
TDP/TP	0.512	0.330	1999	0.663	2004
TN	1.973	1.305	2004	3.495	2006
Org N	1.702	1.079	2004	2.857	2006
NH ₃ -N	0.227	0.061	2001	0.560	2005
$NO_2 + NO_3 - N$	0.130	0.032	2001	0.271	2006
DIN/TN	0.171	0.068	2001	0.282	2003
Annual stream	26.2	11.6	1995	64.1	1999
volume (hm ³)					

Table 3.20. Median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum P and N FWMCs and median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum annual stream volume (March to October) in Blindman River. Year represents the year the minimum or maximum FWMC or flow occurred.



Figure 3.32. Median annual TDP/TP FWMCs in Blindman River during the study period (1996 to 2006).

There did not appear to be a trend in annual TP or TN FWMCs over time in Grande Prairie Creek (Figure 3.33). Flow weighted mean concentrations of N and P varied quite considerably form year to year but so did the magnitude and timing of peak discharge. There were some years with very little flow in the spring (e.g., 2000, 2004, and 2006), other years with flow only in the spring (e.g., 1999, 2002, 2003, and 2005), as well as years with summer peaks in discharge (e.g., 2004). The summer storm event in 2004 yielded the highest FWMCs of Org N and TPP. Concentrations in other years appeared to vary unpredictably. The ratio of TP and TN in the dissolved fractions also appeared to be influenced by flow. The lowest TDP/TP ratio was

measured in 2004 and was likely a result of several high peaks in flow (Table 3.21). In contrast, the ratio of TN in the inorganic form was much higher in 1999 when peaks in $NO_2^-+NO_3^--N$ and NH_3-N were observed, which likely corresponded to flow that was only measured in the spring. Information on management practices would also help to explain these observations.



Figure 3.33. Annual TDP and TPP (a) and Org N, $NO_2^-+NO_3^--N$, and NH_3-N (b) FWMCs in Grande Prairie Creek. Bars are stacked, i.e. summed totals for TDP and TPP are equal to TP and Org N, $NO_2^-+NO_3^--N$, and NH_3-N are equal to TN FWMCs for the year.

Table 3.21. Median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum P and N FWMCs and median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum annual stream volume (March to October) in Grande Prairie Creek. Year represents the year the minimum or maximum FWMC or flow occurred.

	Median $(mg L^{-1})$	$\begin{array}{c} \text{Minimum} \\ (\text{mg}^{-1}) \end{array}$	Year	$\begin{array}{c} Maximum \\ (mg L^{-1}) \end{array}$	Year
ТР	0.253	0.125	2000	0.473	2004
TDP	0.092	0.067	2000	0.145	1999
TPP	0.126	0.044	2003	0.394	2004
TDP/TP	0.363	0.167	2004	0.652	2003
TN	2.268	1.633	2005	4.513	2004
Org N	1.863	1.454	2003	3.238	2004
NH ₃ -N	0.063	0.045	2004	0.166	1999
$NO_2 + NO_3 - N$	0.308	0.050	2005	2.083	1999
DIN/TN	0.171	0.058	2001	0.540	1999
Annual stream volume (hm ³)	7.4	1.5	2000	12.1	2005

An increasing temporal pattern in TP FWMCs was observed in Kleskun Main Drain from 1999 to 2006; however, an increasing monotonic trend was not found for N or the ratios of dissolved to total nutrients (Figure 3.34, Table 3.22). Similar to Grande Prairie Creek, NO_2^- + NO_3^- -N FWMCs peaked in 1999 (Table 3.22), but the peak in NO_2^- + NO_3^- -N did not appear to be related to stream flow. Ground-truthing and a better understanding of the agricultural practices in this watershed would assist in identifying sources of P contribution in the watershed. A statistical trend analysis would also be required to accurately assess temporal trends.



Figure 3.34. Annual TDP and TPP (a) and Org N, $NO_2^-+NO_3^--N$, and NH_3-N (b) FWMCs in Kleskun Drain. Bars are stacked, i.e. summed totals for TDP and TPP are equal to TP and Org N, $NO_2^-+NO_3^--N$, and NH_3-N are equal to TN FWMCs for the year.

	Median	Minimum	Year	Maximum	Year
	$(mg^{-1}L^{-1})$	$(mg^{-1}L^{-1})$		$(mg^{-1}L^{-1})$	
TP	0.362	0.147	2000	0.494	2005
TDP	0.237	0.127	2000	0.349	2005
TPP	0.101	0.020	2000	0.149	2002
TDP/TP	0.654	0.582	2002	0.864	2000
TN	2.741	1.846	2004	3.931	2002
Org N	2.286	1.544	2003	3.172	2001
NH ₃ -N	0.115	0.024	2004	0.531	2003
$NO_2 + NO_3 - N$	0.265	0.096	2005	1.605	1999
DIN/TN	0.157	0.060	2001	0.457	1999
Annual stream	1.7	0.04	2000	2.5	2002
volume (hm ³)			-		

Table 3.22. Median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum P and N FWMCs and median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum annual stream volume (March to October) in Kleskun Drain. Year represents the year the minimum or maximum FWMC or flow occurred.

There did not appear to be a monotonic temporal trend in TP, TDP, or TPP FWMC between 1996 and 2006 in Meadow Creek; however, annual TN FWMCs appeared to decrease (Figure 3.35). The decreasing TN trend did not appear to be related to flow, and agricultural intensity metrics (manure production and fertilizer and chemical expenses) decreased from 1996 to 2001 but increased again from 2001 to 2006. Annual total and organic fractions of P and N FWMCs were much higher in 1997 than other years (Table 3.23). The high FWMCs measured in 1997 were likely a reflection of increased runoff and movement of soil-bound P and Org N. Although annual stream volume was similar to other years of monitoring, a peak in stream flow was observed in March of 1997, while peaks in stream flow generally occurred in May in the stream (Chapter 2: Figure 2.17, Tables 2.5 to 2.7). This peak in flow in March may have been the result of a precipitation event that had a longer duration or higher intensity than other years which increased runoff and the amount of P (specifically particulate P) loading to the stream, as illustrated by the low ratio of TP as TDP in 1997. Moreover, a runoff event in the early spring may have carried more sediment with it if land cover was sparse or minimal compared to typical land cover in the late spring and summer. Similar FWMCs may have occurred in 1995 and 1996, but fewer samples were collected compared to 1997 and may not have accurately captured the peak flow events. The dissolved fraction of N was not lower with the higher flow event in 1997. In fact, the highest annual NH₃-N FWMC was measured that year. Land management data for this watershed would be useful in assessing contributions of N to the watershed.

The ratio of TP measured as TDP appeared to increase with time, with the exception of the annual value in 2000 (Figure 3.36). Annual flow volumes did not show any pattern with time in the stream and were not likely the main driver behind the increasing ratios of dissolved P. Annual stream volume in 2000 was lower than many other years. Although the annual flow volume was also low in 2001, the ratio of TP as TDP was not nearly as high as the amount measured in 2000. It is possible that a point source may have contributed to the high TP FWMC

and high ratio of TDP in Meadow Creek in 2000. A statistical trend analysis would be required to properly asses the potential trends in Meadow Creek.



Figure 3.35. Annual TDP and TPP (a) and Org N, $NO_2^-+NO_3^--N$, and NH_3-N (b) FWMCs in Meadow Creek. Bars are stacked, i.e. summed totals for TDP and TPP are equal to TP and Org N, $NO_2^-+NO_3^--N$, and NH_3-N are equal to TN FWMCs for the year.

	Median	Minimum	Year	Maximum	Year
	$(mg^{-}L^{-1})$	$(mg^{-1}L^{-1})$		$(mg^{-1}L^{-1})$	
ТР	0.148	0.073	2004	2.137	1997
TDP	0.018	0.011	2003	0.137	2000
TPP	0.125	0.044	2000	2.103	1997
TDP/TP	0.121	0.016	1997	0.757	2000
TN	1.154	0.662	2004	6.055	1997
Org N	1.017	0.630	2004	5.643	1997
NH ₃ -N	0.033	0.033	2002	0.210	1997
$NO_2 + NO_3 - N$	0.110	0.010	2004	0.246	2002
DIN/TN	0.112	0.047	2004	0.244	1995
Annual stream	2.3	0.4	2000	10.8	2005
volume (hm ³)					

Table 3.23. Median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum P and N FWMCs and median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum annual stream volume (March to October) in Meadow Creek. Year represents the year the minimum or maximum FWMC or flow occurred.



Figure 3.36. Median annual TDP/TP ratios in Meadow Creek from 1996 to 2006. Note that the TDP/TP value in 2000 was removed from this visual presentation of the data.

No observable trends with time in P or N FWMCs were found in Tomahawk Creek (Figure 3.37). Annual nutrient FWMCs were variable over the monitoring period (Table 3.24). However, there appeared to be a pattern of increasing TDP/TP ratios without a similar pattern in flow (Figure 3.38); a statistical trend analysis would be required to confirm the observation.



Figure 3.37. Annual TDP and TPP (a) and Org N, NO₂⁻+NO₃⁻-N, and NH₃-N (b) FWMCs in Tomahawk Creek. Bars are stacked, i.e. summed totals for TDP and TPP are equal to TP and Org N, NO₂⁻+NO₃⁻-N, and NH₃-N are equal to TN FWMCs for the year.

	Median (mg^{-1})	Minimum (mg [·] L ⁻¹)	Year	Maximum (mg ⁻ L ⁻¹)	Year
ТР	0.356	0.201	1995	0.700	1996
TDP	0.121	0.055	2001	0.186	2005
TPP	0.205	0.089	2003	0.537	1996
TDP/TP	0.341	0.123	2001	0.605	2003
TN	2.727	1.968	1995	4.008	2004
Org N	2.254	1.593	1995	3.141	2004
NH ₃ -N	0.229	0.126	1998	0.429	1996
$NO_2 + NO_3 - N$	0.282	0.118	1998	0.663	2004
DIN/TN	0.188	0.100	1998	0.309	2003
Annual stream	3.5	0.3	2006	12.8	1997

Table 3.24. Median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum P and N FWMCs and median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum annual stream volume (March to October) in Tomahawk River. Year represents the year the minimum or maximum FWMC or flow occurred.



Figure 3.38. Median annual TDP/TP ratios in Tomahawk Creek from 1996 to 2006.

As in Meadow Creek, no temporal trend in annual TP or TN FWMCs was observed in Trout creek between 1996 and 2006 (Figure 3.39). Moreover, a similar spike in P and N FWMCs was observed in 1997 (Table 3.25). Again, annual stream volume was not any higher in 1997 than in other years. Flow records showed that a peak in flow occurred in March, while peaks generally occurred from May on in other years (Chapter 2: Figure 2.17). The similarities between Trout and Meadow Creeks reflect the influence of ecoregional characteristics (both streams are located in the Grassland ecoregion area). It was also observed that sampling in Trout Creek captured spring storm events in March and May of 1997, but precipitation events in June of 2005 may have been missed. It is possible that the very high nutrient FWMCs in 1997 in Trout Creek may

not be exceptionally high and that other events that would have produced similar data in latter years were not captured.



Figure 3.39. Annual TDP and TPP (a) and Org N, $NO_2^{-}+NO_3^{-}-N$, and NH_3-N (b) FWMCs in Trout Creek. Bars are stacked, i.e. summed totals for TDP and TPP are equal to TP and Org N, $NO_2^{-}+NO_3^{-}-N$, and NH_3-N are equal to TN FWMCs for the year.

	Median (mg [·] L ⁻¹)	$\begin{array}{c} \text{Minimum} \\ (\text{mg}^{-1}) \end{array}$	Year	Maximum (mg ⁻ L ⁻¹)	Year
ТР	0.082	0.020	2000	2.614	1997
TDP	0.008	0.004	2004	0.041	1997
TPP	0.112	0.011	2000	2.573	1997
TDP/TP	0.093	0.016	1997	0.453	2000
TN	0.538	0.293	2004	6.248	1997
Org N	0.479	0.274	2004	5.938	1997
NH ₃ -N	0.014	0.007	1995	0.157	1997
$NO_2 + NO_3 - N$	0.042	0.011	2004	0.147	1997

0.049

1.8

1997

2000

0.233

74.0

2002

2005

0.100

13.6

DIN/TN

Annual stream

volume (hm³)

Table 3.25. Median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum P and N FWMCs and median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum annual stream volume (March to October) in Trout Creek. Year represents the year the minimum or maximum FWMC or flow occurred.

High Agricultural Intensity Watersheds (Buffalo, Haynes, Ray, Renwick, Strawberry, Stretton, Threehills, Wabash)

Buffalo Creek appeared to have increasing P and N FWMCs with time (Figure 3.40, Table 3.26). Interestingly, the agricultural intensity metric appeared to decrease in 2006 as a result of lower chemical and fertilizer sales percentiles; manure production did not appear to change among the Census years (Chapter 2: Figures 2.23 to 2.26). A statistical trend analysis would be required to confirm these observations.







Figure 3.40. Annual TDP and TPP (a) and Org N, $NO_2^-+NO_3^--N$, and NH_3-N (b) FWMCs in Buffalo Creek. Bars are stacked, i.e. summed totals for TDP and TPP are equal to TP and Org N, $NO_2^-+NO_3^--N$, and NH_3-N are equal to TN FWMCs for the year.

Table 3.26. Median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum P and N FWMCs and median	
(1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum annual stream volume (March to October) in Buffa	lo
Creek. Year represents the year the minimum or maximum FWMC or flow occurred.	

	Median $(ma: I^{-1})$	$\underset{(mg:\mathbf{I}^{-1})}{\text{Minimum}}$	Year	Maximum (ma^{-1})	Year
	(Ing L)	(IIIg L)		(IIIg L)	
TP	0.180	0.117	1999	0.327	2006
TDP	0.090	0.076	2001	0.212	2006
TPP	0.051	0.029	2000	0.115	2006
TDP/TP	0.502	0.514	2002	0.841	2000
TN	1.842	1.284	1999	2.906	2006
Org N	1.606	1.243	1999	2.273	2006
NH ₃ -N	0.159	0.026	1999	0.520	2002
$NO_2 + NO_3 - N$	0.137	0.014	1999	0.361	2006
DIN/TN	0.201	0.032	1999	0.251	2001
Annual stream	3.4	1.7	2002	11.0	1997
volume (hm ³)			-		

Temporal patterns in TP and TN FWMCs were not observed in Haynes Creek (Figure 3.41, Table 3.27), Ray Creek (Figure 3.42, Table 3.28), Strawberry Creek (Figure 3.43, Table 3.29) or Threehills Creek (Figure 3.44, Table 3.30). Interannual values were quite variable and did not correspond to changes in flow (e.g., Haynes Creek; Chapter 2, Figure 2.6) or apparent changes in agricultural intensity (e.g., Ray Creek; Chapter 2, Figure 2.23).



Year

Figure 3.41. Annual TDP and TPP (a) and Org N, $NO_2^-+NO_3^-$ -N, and NH_3 -N (b) FWMCs in Haynes Creek. Bars are stacked, i.e. summed totals for TDP and TPP are equal to TP and Org N, $NO_2^-+NO_3^-$ -N, and NH_3 -N are equal to TN FWMCs for the year.



Figure 3.41 cont. Annual TDP and TPP (a) and Org N, $NO_2^-+NO_3^--N$, and NH_3-N (b) FWMCs in Haynes Creek. Bars are stacked, i.e. summed totals for TDP and TPP are equal to TP and Org N, $NO_2^-+NO_3^--N$, and NH_3-N are equal to TN FWMCs for the year.

Table 3.27. Median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum P and N FWMCs and median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum annual stream volume (March to October) in Haynes Creek. Year represents the year the minimum or maximum FWMC or flow occurred.

	Median	Minimum	Year	Maximum	Year
	$(mg^{-}L^{-1})$	$(mg^{-1}L^{-1})$		$(mg^{-1}L^{-1})$	
TP	0.799	0.360	2001	1.893	1995
TDP	0.738	0.269	2001	1.708	1995
TPP	0.127	0.056	2003	0.224	1998
TDP/TP	0.924	0.694	1998	0.907	2003
TN	4.159	2.392	2001	8.589	2006
Org N	3.098	1.806	2003	4.723	1995
NH ₃ -N	0.518	0.061	1998	1.275	1995
$NO_2 + NO_3 - N$	0.788	0.010	2001	3.472	2006
DIN/TN	0.368	0.020	1998	0.465	2006
Annual stream	1.6	0.06	2001	5.6	1996
volume (hm ²)					





Figure 3.42. Annual TDP and TPP (a) and Org N, $NO_2^-+NO_3^--N$, and NH_3-N (b) FWMCs in Ray Creek. Bars are stacked, i.e. summed totals for TDP and TPP are equal to TP and Org N, $NO_2^-+NO_3^--N$, and NH_3-N are equal to TN FWMCs for the year.

	Median	Minimum	Year	Maximum	Year
	$(mg^{-1}L^{-1})$	$(mg^{-1}L^{-1})$		$(mg^{-1}L^{-1})$	
TP	0.268	0.178	2004	0.571	1996
TDP	0.230	0.145	2002	0.475	1996
TPP	0.049	0.027	2003	0.152	2006
TDP/TP	0.860	0.649	2006	0.878	2003
TN	1.995	1.353	2004	4.188	2006
Org N	1.760	1.062	2003	2.451	2006
NH ₃ -N	0.087	0.028	1998	0.337	1996
$NO_2 + NO_3 - N$	0.201	0.005	1998	1.439	2006
DIN/TN	0.139	0.023	1998	0.455	1996
Annual stream	1.6	0.2	2001	2.4	1997
volume (hm ³)			and		
			2002		

Table 3.28. Median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum P and N FWMCs and median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum annual stream volume (March to October) in Ray Creek. Year represents the year the minimum or maximum FWMC or flow occurred.



Figure 3.43. Annual TDP and TPP (a) and Org N, $NO_2^-+NO_3^--N$, and NH_3-N (b) FWMCs in Strawberry Creek. Bars are stacked, i.e. summed totals for TDP and TPP are equal to TP and Org N, $NO_2^-+NO_3^--N$, and NH_3-N are equal to TN FWMCs for the year.



Figure 3.43 cont. Annual TDP and TPP (a) and Org N, $NO_2^-+NO_3^--N$, and NH_3-N (b) FWMCs in Strawberry Creek. Bars are stacked, i.e. summed totals for TDP and TPP are equal to TP and Org N, $NO_2^-+NO_3^--N$, and NH_3-N are equal to TN FWMCs for the year.

Table 3.29. Median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum P and N FWMCs and median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum annual stream volume (March to October) in Strawberry Creek. Year represents the year the minimum or maximum FWMC or flow occurred.

	Median	Minimum	Year	Maximum	Year	
	$(mg^{-1}L^{-1})$	$(mg^{-1}L^{-1})$		$(mg^{-}L^{-1})$		
TP	0.692	0.189	2004	1.249	1999	
TDP	0.127	0.047	2001	0.319	2006	
TPP	0.478	0.102	1998	1.122	1999	
TDP/TP	0.184	0.049	2001	0.482	1998	
TN	3.296	1.186	2004	4.628	2006	
Org N	2.516	0.894	2004	3.203	2006	
NH ₃ -N	0.387	0.075	2004	0.756	2005	
$NO_2 + NO_3 - N$	0.367	0.136	2000	0.859	2006	
DIN/TN	0.271	0.088	2000	0.341	1999	
Annual stream	12.3	5.3	2004	54.3	2000	
volume (hm ³)						



Figure 3.44. Annual TDP and TPP (a) and Org N, $NO_2^-+NO_3^--N$, and NH_3-N (b) FWMCs in Threehills Creek. Bars are stacked, i.e. summed totals for TDP and TPP are equal to TP and Org N, $NO_2^-+NO_3^--N$, and NH_3-N are equal to TN FWMCs for the year.

	Median (mg ⁻ L ⁻¹)	Minimum (mg ⁻ L ⁻¹)	Year	Maximum (mg ⁻ L ⁻¹)	Year
ТР	0.593	0.278	1998	1.188	1995
TDP	0.443	0.180	1998	0.792	2005
TPP	0.102	0.074	1999	0.212	1999
TDP/TP	0.747	0.649	1998	0.891	1999
TN	3.571	1.969	1998	5.301	2006
Org N	2.368	1.639	1997	3.688	1995
NH ₃ -N	0.505	0.058	1998	0.952	1995
$NO_2^{-}+NO_3^{-}-N$	0.579	0.006	1998	1.787	2006
DIN/TN	0.306	0.033	1998	0.500	1996
Annual stream volume (hm ³)	3.0	0.4	2001	8.4	1997

Table 3.30. Median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum P and N FWMCs and median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum annual stream volume (March to October) in Threehills Creek. Year represents the year the minimum or maximum FWMC or flow occurred.

An increase in both P and N FWMCs with time was observed in Renwick Creek although the ratios of total P and N in the dissolved fraction did not appear to change (Figure 3.45, Table 3.31). The increase did not appear to be related to flow or Census of Agriculture data as metric percentiles remained similar from 1996 through 2006. A statistical trend analysis would be required to confirm the observations. Interestingly, the annual TDP FWMC was one of the top three values in 2001; however, the stream was only sampled in March and April of 2001. The annual FWMC in 2001 was likely influenced by sampling regime as dissolved nutrients were often highest in the spring with runoff and precipitation events. Although staff collecting samples in the watershed hadn't noticed any changes, it is possible that there may have been non-agricultural development (e.g., road construction that altered drainage or oil and gas activity) in the watershed upstream of the sampling site (out of site of the sampler). Ground truthing would be required to confirm the presence of non-agricultural activities in Renwick Creek in order to fully understand the changes in nutrient concentrations with time.





Figure 3.45. Annual TDP and TPP (a) and Org N, $NO_2^-+NO_3^--N$, and NH_3-N (b) FWMCs in Renwick Creek. Bars are stacked, i.e. summed totals for TDP and TPP are equal to TP and Org N, $NO_2^-+NO_3^--N$, and NH_3-N are equal to TN FWMCs for the year.

Table 3.31. Median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum P and N FWMCs and median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum annual stream volume (March to October) in Renwick Creek. Year represents the year the minimum or maximum FWMC or flow occurred.

	Median	Minimum	Year	Maximum	Year
	$(mg'L^{-1})$	$(mg^{-1}L^{-1})$		$(mg^{-1}L^{-1})$	
TP	0.708	0.476	1997	0.920	2005
TDP	0.622	0.386	1997	0.750	2004
TPP	0.090	0.044	2002	0.199	2006
TDP/TP	0.878	0.775	2006	0.932	2002
TN	3.272	2.097	1998	6.566	2006
Org N	2.508	1.632	1997	4.032	2006
NH ₃ -N	0.213	0.029	1998	0.500	2003
$NO_2 + NO_3 - N$	0.626	0.008	1998	2.217	2006
DIN/TN	0.290	0.017	1998	0.479	2003
Annual stream	0.7	0.03	2002	3.6	1997
volume (hm ³)					

There were no observable temporal trends in P or N FWMCs from 1995 to 2006 in Stretton Creek; however, temporal patterns were difficult to assess as four years of data were not available (2000-2003) (Figure 3.46, Table 3.32). The stream was dry for three of the years and there was not enough data for FLUX to calculate the FMWC or load in 2000. The watershed does not lend itself to an ideal location for examining trends in water quality as a result of intermittent flow.



Figure 3.46. Annual TDP and TPP (a) and Org N, $NO_2^-+NO_3^--N$, and NH_3-N (b) FWMCs in Stretton Creek. Bars are stacked, i.e. summed totals for TDP and TPP are equal to TP and Org N, $NO_2^-+NO_3^--N$, and NH_3-N are equal to TN FWMCs for the year.



Figure 3.46 cont. Annual TDP and TPP (a) and Org N, $NO_2^-+NO_3^--N$, and NH_3-N (b) FWMCs in Stretton Creek. Bars are stacked, i.e. summed totals for TDP and TPP are equal to TP and Org N, $NO_2^-+NO_3^--N$, and NH_3-N are equal to TN FWMCs for the year.

Table 3.32. Median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum P and N FWMCs and median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum annual stream volume (March to October) in Stretton Creek. Year represents the year the minimum or maximum FWMC or flow occurred.

	Median $(m \circ I^{-1})$	$\operatorname{Minimum}_{(m,n) \in \mathbf{I}} (\mathbf{M}^{-1})$	Year	Maximum $(m \cdot r^{-1})$	Year
	(mgL)	(mgL)		(mg L)	
TP	0.436	0.361	2004	0.580	1998
TDP	0.362	0.235	1997	0.445	1998
TPP	0.078	0.013	2004	0.201	1997
TDP/TP	0.831	0.540	1997	0.964	2004
TN	3.477	2.209	2005	4.760	1998
Org N	2.039	1.479	1998	2.270	1997
NH ₃ -N	0.226	0.114	2005	0.483	1998
$NO_2 + NO_3 - N$	1.052	0.221	2005	2.772	1998
DIN/TN	0.441	0.152	2005	0.684	1998
Annual stream	1.5	0.2	1998	2.3	2006
volume (hm ³)			-		

There appeared to be an increasing trend in TP and TN FWMCs and in the ratios of TDP/TP and DIN/TN with time in Wabash Creek (Figure 3.47). Again, a statistical trend analysis would be required to support the observation. Interestingly, the ratios of total nutrients in the dissolved

fractions were highest in 2005 when annual flow volume was also highest. The median annual TP FWMC was also highest in 2005 and primarily consisted of TDP (Table 3.33). Total dissolved P also consisted of the majority of TP in 2002 and 2003, while the majority of TP was measured in the particulate fraction in the remaining years of the study, particularly in the first few years of monitoring.



Figure 3.47. Annual TDP and TPP (a) and Org N, $NO_2^-+NO_3^--N$, and NH_3-N (b) FWMCs in Wabash Creek. Bars are stacked, i.e. summed totals for TDP and TPP are equal to TP and Org N, $NO_2^-+NO_3^--N$, and NH_3-N are equal to TN FWMCs for the year.

	Median	Minimum	Year	Maximum	Year
	$(mg^{-1}L^{-1})$	(mg^{-1})		$(mg^{-1}L^{-1})$	
TP	0.470	0.214	2000	0.945	2005
TDP	0.223	0.055	1999	0.730	2005
TPP	0.188	0.105	2000	0.256	2001
TDP/TP	0.475	0.254	1999	0.773	2005
TN	3.336	1.335	2000	6.708	2002
Org N	2.095	1.166	2000	3.683	2002
NH ₃ -N	0.464	0.105	2000	1.440	2005
$NO_2 + NO_3 - N$	0.646	0.062	2000	2.207	2002
DIN/TN	0.348	0.125	2000	0.451	2005
Annual stream volume (hm^3)	1.5	0.06	2001	7.7	2005
volume (hm ³)		2.00	2001		_0

Table 3.33. Median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum P and N FWMCs and median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum annual stream volume (March to October) in Wabash Creek. Year represents the year the minimum or maximum FWMC or flow occurred.

Irrigated Watersheds (Battersea Drain, Crowfoot Creek, New West Coulee)

Initially, there appeared to be a temporal trend in annual TP and TN FWMCs (Figure 3.48) in Battersea Drain; however, the increasing pattern was driven by FWMCs in 2002 (0.609 mg⁻L⁻¹) and 2005 (1.432 mg⁻¹). Similarly, the fractions of P and N FWMCs were highest in 2005 (Org N and NO₂⁻+NO₃⁻-N in 2002), with the lowest concentrations measured in 2000 (Table 3.34). Total annual flow volume was highest in 2005 (13.4 hm³) but was not that much higher than the median annual flow volume between 1998 and 2006 (10.4 hm³). It is possible that peaks in flow in certain months in 2002 and 2005 may have contributed to the much higher annual TP and TN FWMCs.

The ratio of TDP/TP and DIN/TN appeared to increase with time in Battersea Drain although a statistical trend analysis would be required to determine the significance of the increasing trend in TDP/TP and DIN/TN. The ratio of TP in the dissolved form was highest in 2002 (0.68) and 2005 (0.72), indicating that runoff and the resulting increased particulate concentrations were not the main drivers in the higher TP FWMC. Much of the TP was in particulate form in 1999 (0.07); there was no evidence of a heavy rain event associated with the high ratio of TPP in Battersea Drain that year (Donahue 2000). Although no precipitation event was observed in August of 1999 when the main portion of TPP was measured, irrigation water may have played a role in carrying particulate matter to the drain. The drain has also been channelized to straighten it out, which may have contributed increased sediment and particulate movement, though the exact dates are not known. Even with the data point removed for 1999, annual TDP/TP still appeared to increase. Although a high TPP ratio was observed in 1999, DIN was still higher that year than in several other years. The differing patterns in the ratios of dissolved P and N may have been a result of N transformations in agricultural soils before movement to the drain occurred or during in-stream processes. Since flow did not appear to be a major influence, the higher ratios of TP and TN in the dissolved fractions in 2002 and 2005 may have been driven by point sources (e.g., overflow of a catch basin and direct cattle access). Noteworthy, Battersea

Drain had the highest overall agricultural intensity rank, and fertilizer and chemical expenses percentiles in 1996 and 2006 of the three irrigated watersheds as well as the highest manure production percentile all three years. The source water for Battersea Drain comes from the Picture Butte Reservoir. It is unlikely that the source water flowing through the drain changed with time; however, the heavy rains in 2002 and 2005 may have contributed to degraded source water quality which subsequently flowed through the drain.



Figure 3.48. Annual TDP and TPP (a) and Org N, NO₂⁻+NO₃⁻-N, and NH₃-N (b) FWMCs in Battersea Drain. Bars are stacked, i.e. summed totals for TDP and TPP are equal to TP and Org N, NO₂⁻+NO₃⁻-N, and NH₃-N are equal to TN FWMCs for the year.

Table 3.34. Median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum P and N FWMCs and median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum annual stream volume (March to October) in Battersea Drain. Year represents the year the minimum or maximum FWMC or flow occurred.

	Median	Minimum	Year	Maximum	Year	
	$(mg^{-1}L^{-1})$	$(mg^{-1}L^{-1})$		$(mg^{-}L^{-1})$		
TP	0.078	0.038	2000	1.342	2005	
TDP	0.031	0.007	2000	0.969	2005	
TPP	0.048	0.031	2000	0.373	2005	
TDP/TP	0.396	0.073	1999	0.722	2005	
TN	0.960	0.650	1998	3.498	2002	
Org N	0.645	0.475	2000	2.036	2002	
NH ₃ -N	0.055	0.021	2000	0.934	2005	
$NO_2 + NO_3 - N$	0.258	0.108	1998	1.067	2002	
DIN/TN	0.325	0.216	1998	0.430	2005	
Annual stream	10.4	0.3	1998	13.4	2005	
volume (hm ³)						

Annual P and N FWMCs appeared to decrease with time (from 1996 to 2002) in Crowfoot Creek (Figure 3.49). However, concentrations increased in 2003 and did not exhibit any temporal patterns in the latter years of monitoring. A high ratio of TPP was measured in 1996 through 1998, 2003, and 2006 (TDP/TP between 0.21 and 0.42). Higher peaks in spring flow were recorded in 1996 and 1997 (the highest two years in the monitoring period) and also in 2003 and 2006. Particulate P FWMCs in these years were likely a result of increased runoff and movement of bound P from the soil to the stream. Interestingly, the majority of TP in 2004, which was the highest annual TP FWMC recorded in Crowfoot Creek, was in the dissolved fraction (TDP/TP =0.75). Agricultural practices may have influenced the nutrient FWMCs in the watershed in 2004. It is possible that research conducted in Crowfoot Creek (Ontkean et al 2003) may have increased producer awareness and the subsequent number of beneficial management practices implemented in the watershed.





Figure 3.49. Annual TDP and TPP (a) and Org N, $NO_2^-+NO_3^--N$, and NH_3-N (b) FWMCs in Crowfoot Creek. Bars are stacked, i.e. summed totals for TDP and TPP are equal to TP and Org N, $NO_2^-+NO_3^--N$, and NH_3-N are equal to TN FWMCs for the year.

Table 3.35. Median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum P and N FWMCs and median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum annual stream volume (March to October) in Crowfoot Creek. Year represents the year the minimum or maximum FWMC or flow occurred.

	Median	Minimum	Year	Maximum	Year
	$(mg^{-}L^{-1})$	$(mg^{-1}L^{-1})$		$(mg^{-}L^{-1})$	
ТР	0.359	0.109	2002	0.742	1996
TDP	0.153	0.060	2001	0.281	2004
TPP	0.100	0.033	2000	0.589	1996
TDP/TP	0.591	0.207	1996	0.822	2000
TN	1.966	0.744	2001	3.848	1996
Org N	1.329	0.660	2001	2.492	1996
NH ₃ -N	0.132	0.025	1995	0.401	2004
$NO_2 + NO_3 - N$	0.446	0.017	1995	1.041	1996
DIN/TN	0.273	0.053	1995	0.498	2004
Annual stream	32.3	19.1	2002	70.9	1997
volume (hm ³)					

No monotonic trend was observed in annual FWMCs with time for any forms of phosphorus in New West Coulee; however, TP FWMCs were slightly lower in 1999 and 2000 than latter years (Figure 2.50(a)). Annual TN FWMCs in New West Coulee initially appeared to increase between 1999 and 2006 but were driven by high concentrations in 2002 and 2003 (Figure 2.50(b)).



Figure 3.50. Annual TDP and TPP (a) and Org N, $NO_2^{-}+NO_3^{-}-N$, and NH_3-N (b) FWMCs in New West Coulee. Bars are stacked, i.e. summed totals for TDP and TPP are equal to TP and Org N, $NO_2^{-}+NO_3^{-}-N$, and NH_3-N are equal to TN FWMCs for the year.



Figure 3.50 cont. Annual TDP and TPP (a) and Org N, $NO_2^-+NO_3^--N$, and NH_3-N (b) FWMCs in New West Coulee. Bars are stacked, i.e. summed totals for TDP and TPP are equal to TP and Org N, $NO_2^-+NO_3^--N$, and NH_3-N are equal to TN FWMCs for the year.

Table 3.36. Median (1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum P and N FWMCs and median
(1999 to 2006), minimum, and maximum annual stream volume (March to October) in New
West Coulee. Year represents the year the minimum or maximum FWMC or flow occurred.

	Median	Minimum	Year	Maximum	Year
	$(mg^{-1}L^{-1})$	$(mg^{-1}L^{-1})$		$(mg^{-}L^{-1})$	
TP	0.098	0.060	1999	0.135	2002
TDP	0.044	0.032	2001	0.072	2002
TPP	0.052	0.026	1999	0.074	2005
TDP/TP	0.447	0.376	2001	0.562	1999
TN	0.724	0.443	2000	1.487	2002
Org N	0.573	0.389	2000	1.014	2002
NH ₃ -N	0.020	0.012	2004	0.076	2002
$NO_2 + NO_3 - N$	0.057	0.015	1999	0.466	2003
DIN/TN	0.134	0.055	2004	0.454	2003
Annual stream	22.0	15.9	2006	29.6	2000
volume (hm ³)					

Seasonality of nutrient FWMC by agricultural intensity. Seasonality was examined for all forms of P and N FWMCs to assess whether nutrient concentrations varied during different times of the monitoring period (i.e., spring, summer, and fall). Box plots of monthly nutrient FWMCs (1999 to 2006) can be found in Appendix 6 for each agricultural intensity category.

Seasonality differed among agricultural intensity categories and nutrient forms. Low agricultural intensity streams showed no seasonal trend for phosphorus or nitrogen FWMCs at a significance level of p<0.10 (Table 3.37). In the moderate agricultural intensity watershed category, all parameters but monthly TDP FWMCs were not significantly different at p<0.10. While monthly TPP FWMCs in the high agricultural intensity streams were not significantly different (p<0.1), a significant difference was observed for monthly mean rank TP, TDP, and NO₂⁻+NO₃⁻-N FWMCs (p<0.005). Monthly mean rank TN, Org N, and NH₃-N FWMCs in the high agricultural intensity category were significantly different but at a lower level of significance (Table 3.37). Seasonality was not observed in any of the nutrient parameters in the irrigated watersheds with the exception of TN (p<0.05) and NH₃-N FWMCs (p<0.10). The lack of seasonal trends in the irrigated watersheds is likely a result of the controlled flows during the open water season.

Parameter	Low	Moderate	High	Irrigated
	(u, significance)			
TP	1.607, 0.978	6.539, 0.479	22.936, 0.002	2.937, 0.891
TDP	8.405, 0.298	13.548, 0.060	22.719, 0.002	1.791, 0.970
TPP	3.383, 0.847	3.106, 0.875	7.633, 0.366	3.706, 0.813
TN	2.849, 0.899	9.389, 0.226	19.915, 0.006	14.687, 0.04
Org N	2.040, 0.958	6.968, 0.432	13.370, 0.064	9.525, 0.217
$NO_2^- + NO_3^ N$	9.825, 0.199	9.848, 0.197	21.112, 0.004	8.519, 0.289
NH ₃ -N	5.527, 0.596	7.863, 0.345	15.657, 0.028	12.149, 0.096

Table 3.37. Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA (H) and Mann-Whitney significance (p) tests for seasonality of P and N FWMCs grouped by 1996 agricultural intensity categories.

Note: **Bold** values are significant at p<0.1. The values represent the Kruskal-Wallis value and significance (H, p).

In the high agricultural intensity watersheds, N and P FWMCs were generally highest in the early spring (March and April) and lowest in the late spring (May/June) or early summer (July). Total dissolved P and NH₃-N FWMCs were significantly higher in March than in all other months of sampling, with NO₂⁻+NO₃⁻-N FWMCs significantly higher in March than months but April (Appendix 6: Figures A6.5 and A6.6). Organic N, TN, and TP FWMCs were still highest in March but were generally not significantly higher than FWMCs in the late summer (August) and fall (September/October) (Appendix 6: Figures A6.5 and A6.6). It is possible that the seasonality observed in the high agricultural intensity watersheds, the majority of which are located in the Parkland Ecoregion, is a result of increased nutrients in the soil from fall/spring manure application exceeding crop requirements. There may also be lower soil N and P levels in the summer as a result of increased crop requirements and uptake and less precipitation events to promote movement of nutrients via overland runoff. Snowmelt is also the dominant form of precipitation in the Parkland Ecoregion.

Nutrient FWMCs in moderate agricultural intensity watersheds were also highest in the early spring but were slightly different for TDP FWMCs. Mean rank TDP FWMCs were significantly higher in April than all other months of sampling but March, with FWMCs also higher in March than in October (Appendix 6: Figure A6.3). Again, mean rank FWMCs were not statistically different among months for the other nutrient parameters.

While FWMCs in the moderate agricultural intensity watersheds were highest in April, seasonal patterns for TN and NH₃-N in the irrigated watersheds were similar to the high agricultural intensity watersheds. Mean rank FWMCs were significantly higher in March than in all other months of sampling with the exception of April (Appendix 6: Figure A6.7 and A6.8). Increased soil N and P levels as a result of fall or spring manure application in excess of crop requirements may explain the seasonal trend observed in the irrigated watersheds; however, a seasonal pattern was not observed for P.

Mass Transport of Phosphorus and Nitrogen

Previous data collected through the CAESA agreement found that regardless of agricultural intensity, streams with high flows and low concentrations could contribute more mass than streams with low flows but high concentrations (Anderson et al. 1998b). Research outside of Alberta has reported similar findings where the magnitude of phosphorus loads were dependent on the magnitude and frequency of discharge and the flow pathway (Heathwaite and Dils 2000; Gentry et al. 2007). This association with stream flow has implications on the management of current and future development, specifically in areas of high runoff (Anderson et al. 1998b).

Nutrient loads were examined to assess potential downstream impacts from the AESA watersheds. Ecoregional characteristics were taken into consideration as nutrient loads are highly influenced by stream discharge. Furthermore, the frequency and timing of flood peaks and low flow events are often similar within a region as the area is often influenced by the same weather patterns.

Temporal loading in the AESA watersheds generally coincided with flow peaks: lower nutrient loading was observed during low flow periods; higher loading was measured during high flow periods. Detailed descriptions of temporal loading patterns for each watershed can be found in Appendix 7. Temporal patterns for a few streams have been described below.

Total P and TN loads in Grande Prairie Creek appeared to increase from 1999 through 2006 although a substantial drop in nutrient loads was observed in 2006 (Appendix 7: Figure A7.2). It appeared that TP and TN loads in Grande Prairie Creek were influenced by stream flow, sampling regime, and a possible change in agricultural intensity. Nitrogen and P loading were influenced by stream flow as low annual flow volumes coincided with low N and P loads in 2000 and 2006 and higher annual stream flow volume in 2002 and 2004 coincided with higher loading (Appendix 7: Table A7.2). Nutrient loads were not as high as would have been expected from flows in 2002. This was likely a result of under-sampling and misrepresentation of water quality in 2002. Only nine samples were collected in 2002 compared to the average 13 collected most

years, and sampling occurred just before and just after peak flows occurred. Therefore, times of peak loading may not have be accurately captured in 2002. The annual TP and TN loads were lower in 2000 than all other years (Appendix 7: Figure A7.2, Table A7.23). The highest flows, and resulting loads, typically occurred in April or May in Grande Prairie Creek (Chapter 2: Results and Discussion, Hydrology- Grande Prairie Creek). However, peak flow in 2000 occurred in September with very low flows earlier on in the sampling season (March to August). Total N and P loads in September 2000 were much higher than the other months of sampling (March through August and October) and accounted for the majority of the annual load that year. The TP load in 2004 was interesting in that stream flow volumes in 2004 were not as high as previous years; however, the load was the highest observed (Appendix 7: Table A7.2). As in 2000, higher flows occurred in September in the watershed, which increased loading in the fall. Loading was also high in July as a result of precipitation events. High TN and TP loading in 2004 may also have been related to a change in agricultural intensity (Chapter 2: Table 2.11). However, it is not certain whether a rapid cause-effect relationship between increased agricultural intensity and increased loading would occur as there did not appear to be decreased loading in response to a decrease in agricultural intensity earlier in the monitoring period, and the manure production percentiles decreased with time (Chapter 2: Figure 2.24, Table 2.11).

Total phosphorus and TN loads appeared to decrease from 1995 through 2006 in Paddle River; however, this decrease may be attributed to the high loads observed in 1997 (Appendix 7: Table A7.5) and declining stream flow throughout the monitoring period (Appendix 7: Table A7.23). Although sampling was flow biased, there were only 6 samples collected in 1996 compared to 26 samples in 1997. As a result of under sampling, the data collected in 1996 may not be representative of the actual loading that occurred.

There appeared to be a slight declining trend in loading in Meadow Creek (Appendix 7: Figure A7.17); however, peak N and P loading in 1997 created the appearance of the decrease in loading. Although the highest loading occurred in 1997, flow volumes in 1997 were lower than those in 1995 and 1996. Furthermore, fewer samples were collected in 1995 and 1996 even though flow volumes were higher, resulting in inadequate assessment of peak flows. Any temporal trend was thus difficult to assess. Years with lower loading corresponded to years with low annual flow volumes.

The Battersea Drain appeared to have an increasing trend in TP and TN loading (Appendix 7: Figure A7.22). Flow patterns in 2002 and 2005 indicated prominent peaks even though they were not reflected in the annual flow volumes (Chapter 2: Figure 2.19, Tables 2.5, 2.6, and 2.7). These two peaks were related to higher than average amounts of precipitation (Chapter 2: Table 2.4). The Lethbridge Northern Irrigation District regulates the irrigation water but cannot control rainfall. Addition of water through precipitation combined with a lack of withdrawals (i.e., operators do not irrigate when it rains) likely resulted in the higher flows in 2002 and 2005. Generally, annual loads were lowest in 1998 and highest in 2005 (Appendix 7: Table A7.22). Annual stream flow volume steadily increased from 1999 to 2006 in Battersea Drain, and loads were likely influenced by this flow pattern. The increasing trend may also have been influenced by an increase in agricultural intensity (Chapter 2: Table 2.11) or a change in management practices within the watershed.
Export Coefficients for Phosphorus and Nitrogen in Dryland Watersheds

Phosphorus and N export coefficients were compared by watershed location within ecoregion areas and by agricultural intensity categories in addition to looking at their relationship with agricultural intensity metrics and seasonal trends. Exports permit the comparison of nutrient loads among watersheds of different sizes; however, they tend to be highly influenced by stream discharge as they are not normalized for flow like FWMCs. Exports are primarily a function of soil type, land use, landscape characteristics, and the amount, timing, and intensity of precipitation. Therefore, exports were examined among agricultural intensity and ecoregional categories to understand the various influences on nutrient exports in the small, agricultural watersheds. Relationships with agricultural intensity metrics were examined as the metrics can be used to link the type and intensity of agriculture in a watershed with changes in water quality. Lastly, seasonal patterns were examined to assess whether nutrient exports varied during different times of the monitoring period (i.e., spring, summer, and fall).

Total Phosphorus (TP) export coefficients. Total P export coefficients were most influenced by factors such as climate and landscape, which vary by Ecoregion, rather than agricultural intensity. Mean rank median annual TP export coefficients were significantly higher in the Boreal (U=1315, p<0.005) and Parkland (U=282, p<0.005) ecoregion areas than in the Grassland ecoregion (Figure 3.51). Total P export coefficients in the Continental divide appeared to be similar to those measured in the Boreal and Parkland ecoregion areas. There was no significant difference in mean rank TP export coefficients between the Boreal and Parkland ecoregion areas (U=1825, p=0.11). A significant difference was not observed among annual TP export coefficients when grouped by agricultural intensity (H=1.236, p=0.539, 2df) (Figure 3.52).

Median annual TP export coefficients differed among the dryland watersheds, with similarities among streams located in similar ecoregion areas (Figure 3.53). The highest median annual TP export coefficient was observed in Blindman Creek (0.214 kg/ha⁻¹yr⁻¹), a moderate intensity watershed in the Boreal ecoregion area. The next three highest median annual TP export coefficients were also observed in streams located in the Boreal ecoregion area (Rose Creek, Strawberry Creek, and Kleskun Drain with exports of 0.197, 0.169, and 0.161 kg/ha⁻¹yr⁻¹, respectively). These watersheds covered all of the dryland agricultural intensity categories (Rose Creek, low; Blindman Creek and Kleskun Drain, moderate; Strawberry Creek, high). Interestingly, the three AESA streams within the Grassland ecoregion area (Trout Creek, Meadow Creek, and Prairie Blood Coulee) had the lowest median annual TP export coefficients (0.020, 0.017, and 0.012 kg/ha⁻¹yr⁻¹, respectively). Watersheds in the Parkland ecoregion area had TP export coefficients between 0.022 and 0.139 kg/ha⁻¹yr⁻¹ (Buffalo, Haynes, Ray, Renwick, Stretton, Threehills, and Wabash Creeks). As discussed previously, all of the watersheds in the Parkland ecoregion were classified as high intensity watersheds based on the 1996 Census of Agriculture data (Anderson et al. 1999).



Figure 3.51. Box plots of median annual TP export coefficients (1999-2006) for the Boreal, Grassland, and Parkland ecoregion areas. Box plots with the same letter are not significantly different from one another at the 0.05 level as tested with Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA and Mann-Whitney significance tests on untransformed data. Box plots between the Grassland ecoregion area and other two ecoregion areas were statistically different at the p<0.005 significance level.



Agricultural Intensity

Figure 3.52. Box plots of median annual TP export coefficients (1999-2006) in the three dryland agricultural intensity categories. Box plots with the same letter are not significantly different from one another at the 0.05 level as tested with Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA and Mann-Whitney significance tests on untransformed data.



Figure 3.53. Median annual TP export coefficients for each dryland AESA watershed (1999-2006). Location by ecoregion area for each stream is illustrated as follows: Boreal (B), Parkland (P), and Grassland (G). For full stream names see Table 3.5 (pg.3-12).

Although median TP export coefficients appeared to be most influenced by ecoregional factors such as climate and topography, some exceptions were noted. A significant difference in TP export coefficients was not observed among streams located in the Parkland or Grassland ecoregion areas or among high agricultural intensity watersheds as tested by Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA (p>0.05) (Table 3.38). However, there were differences among streams within the Boreal ecoregion area (p<0.05) and within the low (p<0.01) and moderate (p<0.005) agricultural intensity categories.

Even though TP export coefficients of watersheds located in the Boreal ecoregion area were not all similar, agricultural intensity did not appear to be the dominant factor influencing these watersheds either. Mann-Whitney statistics run between individual streams located in the Boreal ecoregion area showed a significant difference between the three highest TP exporters (Blindman River, Rose Creek, and Strawberry Creek) and the two lowest exporters (Hines and Wabash Creeks) (Table 3.39). Kleskun Drain, Tomahawk Creek, and Grande Prairie Creek were not significantly different from the top three or bottom three exporters. Although the majority of streams with the highest exports in the Boreal ecoregion area were moderate agricultural intensity watersheds, the differences observed in TP export coefficients in the region were not influenced by agricultural intensity. Rose Creek, Paddle River, and Hines Creek were all low agricultural intensity watersheds with differing exports. Furthermore, no significant difference was found between low, moderate, and high agricultural intensity watersheds within the Boreal ecoregion area (H=2606, p=271, 2df).

Ecoregion Area/Agricultural Intensity	Kruskal-Wallis Statistic (H)	Level of Significance (p)	Degrees of Freedom
Boreal	19.463	0.013	8
Parkland	4.260	0.336	5
Grassland	0.218	0.165	2
Low	14.526	0.006	4
Moderate	12.112	0.033	5
High	11.422	0.121	7

Table 3.38. Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA statistics for median annual TP export coefficients (1999 to 2006) among dryland streams grouped by ecoregion area and by agricultural intensity.

Note: **Bold** values indicate a significant difference at p<0.05.

Wabash Creek had a much lower TP export coefficient than other streams in the Boreal ecoregion area and, as discussed later, a much lower ratio of TDP than other high agricultural intensity streams. The watershed is located north of Edmonton and is not in close proximity to the other AESA watersheds. Wabash Creek received a lower amount of annual precipitation than other watersheds in the Boreal ecoregion area (Chapter 2: Table 2.4), which is likely a result of lower snowfall amounts.

Furthermore, annual TP export coefficients from moderate agricultural intensity streams were grouped by location by ecoregion area: the Boreal and Grassland ecoregion areas. Mean rank annual TP export coefficients in Meadow Creek were significantly lower than the four remaining watersheds in the moderate agricultural intensity category (Table 3.40). Export coefficients were also lower in Trout Creek than those measured in Blindman River, Grande Prairie Creek, and Kleskun Drain.

Differences in TP export coefficients among the low agricultural intensity watersheds were likely a result of climatic and topographic variability across the group of streams. Annual TP export coefficients were significantly higher in Rose Creek than in all other low intensity watersheds (Table 3.41). There was no significant difference in mean rank TP export coefficients between the remaining low agricultural intensity streams with the exception of Prairie Blood Coulee. Annual TP export coefficients in Prairie Blood Coulee were significantly lower than those measured in Paddle River and Willow Creek. Prairie Blood Coulee generally receives lower annual precipitation than the rest of the low agricultural intensity watersheds, excluding those in the northern part of the province (Chapter 2: Table 2.4). The higher TP export coefficients measured in Rose Creek may be attributed to higher flow volumes and a larger drainage area. For example, Rose Creek and Paddle River are both located in the Western Alberta Upland sub-ecoregion of the Boreal. Although they may have similar landscape and agricultural intensity features, Rose Creek has a much larger effective drainage basin (approximately twice as large) which influences the larger flow volumes and loads (approximately three times higher).

	BLI	GRA	HIN	KLE	PAD	ROS	STW	TOM	WAB
A.I:	(M)	(M)	(L)	(M)	(L)	(L)	(H)	(M)	(H)
BLI	-								
GRA	45.000 0.172	-							
HIN	59.000 0.005	48.000 0.093	-						
KLE	41.000 0.345	30.000 0.834	18.000 0.115	-					
PAD	50.000 0.059	35.000 0.753	21.000 0.248	38.000 0.529	-				
ROS	33.000 0.916	18.000 0.141	5.000 0.001	25.000 0.462	19.000 0.025	-			
STW	32.000 1.00	22.000 0.294	21.000 0.037	24.000 0.401	19.000 0.172	34.000 0.834	-		
TOM	42.000 0.294	26.000 0.529	16.000 0.014	30.000 0.834	23.000 0.345	42.000 0.294	38.000 0.529	-	
WAB	43.000 0.009	50.000 0.059	37.000 0.600	49.000 0.074	46.000 0.141	55.000 0.016	54.000 0.021	51.000 0.046	-

Table 3.39. Mann-Whitney statistics comparing median annual TP export coefficients (1999 to 2006) among nine watersheds located in the Boreal ecoregion area. For full stream names, see Table 3.5 (pg. 3-12).

Note: **Bold** values indicate a significant difference at p<0.05. The top value is the Mann-Whitney statistic (U); the bottom value is the significance level. The degrees of freedom for all Mann-Whitney statistics is 1.

Moderate Agricultural	Trout	Trout	Meadow	Meadow
Intensity Watershed	Mann-Whitney	Level of	Mann-Whitney	Level of
Intensity watershed	Statistic (U)	Significance (p)	Statistic (U)	Significance (p)
Blindman River	79.000	0.017	90.000	0.001
Grande Prairie Creek	62.000	0.002	52.000	0.036
Kleskun Drain	55.000	0.006	56.000	0.012
Tomahawk Creek	47.000	0.115	14.000	0.009

Table 3.40. Mann-Whitney statistics for annual TP export coefficients from 1999 to 2006 for Trout and Meadow Creeks compared to the other four moderate agricultural intensity watersheds.

Note: **Bold** values indicate a significant difference at p<0.05. The degrees of freedom for all Mann-Whitney statistics is 1.

Table 3.41. Mann-Whitney Statistics for annual TP export coefficients from 1999 to 2006 for Rose Creek and Prairie Blood Coulee compared to other low agricultural intensity watersheds.

Low Agricultural Intensity Watershed	Rose Creek Mann-Whitney Statistic (U)	Rose Creek Level of Significance (p)	Prairie Blood Coulee Mann-Whitney Statistic (U)	Prairie Blood Coulee Level of Significance (p)
Hines Creek	5.0	0.001	47	0.115
Paddle River	19	0.025	77	0.006
Prairie Blood Coulee	2.0	0.000	-	-
Rose Creek	-	-	2.0	0.000
Willow Creek	42	0.294	12	0.036

Note: **Bold** values indicate a significant difference at p<0.05. The degrees of freedom for all Mann-Whitney statistics is 1.

Total P export coefficients for the AESA watersheds were compared with data from the CAESA study (Anderson et al. 1998b) and other studies in Alberta and outside of the province (Table 3.42). Ranges for TP export coefficients in the AESA watersheds were broad with overlap between agricultural intensity categories, as was found in the CAESA study. However, low agricultural intensity CAESA watersheds were reported as exporting more TP than the moderate and high intensity streams, whereas moderate agricultural intensity AESA watersheds generally exported the most TP. Differences in export coefficients between the AESA and CAESA streams are likely a result of differences in annual precipitation as well as changes within each agricultural intensity categories differed between the AESA and CAESA studies. Total P export coefficients for the AESA watersheds were similar to those reported for other studies in Alberta but were often lower than those reported for agricultural areas outside of the province. These differences are likely a result of variations in geology, landscape factors, and climatic conditions such as precipitation amount, duration, and intensity.

	Number of	Land Cover	Median TP Export	Source
	Streams	(majority)	Coefficient (kg ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹)	
Alberta				
AESA Streams (1999-2006)	19	Low, Mod., and High	0.079 (0.182 mean)	This study
	8	High Ag. Intenstiy	0.083	
	9	Moderate Ag. Intensity	0.096	
	5	Low Ag. Intensity	0.064	
CAESA Streams (1995+1996)				Anderson et al. (1998b)
	6	High Ag. Intenstiy	0.0661	
	12	Moderate Ag. Intensity	0.1092	
	9	Low Ag. Intensity	0.1988	
Haynes Creek (M6) (1995+1996)	1	High Ag. Intenstiy	0.1355	
Sakwatamau (1995 and 1996)	1	Forest	0.069 and 2.1911	
Wabamun (1981)	6	Agriculture	0.11	Mitchell (1985)
Wabamun (1981)	5	Forest	0.09	
Baptiste (1977-78)	4	Agriculture	0.13	Trew et al (1987)
Baptiste (1991-1995)	4^*	Agriculture	0.11	Cooke (1996)
Baptiste (1994 and 1995)	1	Agriculture	0.14 and 0.12	Cooke and Prepas 1998
Baptiste (1994 and 1995)	1	Agriculture	0.82 and 0.57	
Baptiste (1994 and 1995)	1	Agriculture	0.57 and 0.34	
Baptiste (1977-78)	4	Forest	0.13	Trew et al (1987)
Baptiste (1991-1995)	4*	Forest	0.11	Cooke (1996)
Baptiste (1994 and 1995)	1	Forest	0.13 and 0.09	Cooke and Prepas 1998
Baptiste (1994 and 1995)	1	Forest	0.22 and 0.05	
Lac La Nonne (1981)	1	Agriculture	0.25	Mitchell and Hamilton (1982)
Lesser Slave Lake Basin (1991-1992)				Noton 1998
Driftpile River	1		0.11	
South Heart River	1		0.054	
Swan River	1		0.17	
Assineau River	1		0.08	
Marten Creek	1		0.17	

Table 3.42. Comparison of TP export coefficients from the AESA stream survey with data from other studies.

	Number of	Land Cover	Median TP Export	Source
	Streams	(majority)	Coefficient (kg ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹)	
Ontario				
Ave. annual export of 34 watersheds		Forest	0.048	Dillon and Kirchner 1975
(forest and pasture) over 20 months		Pasture	0.11	
Lake Simcoe (1990-1998)		Vegetable polder	1.09 (mean)	Winter et al. 2002
		Urban land	0.65 (mean)	
		Mixed agriculture	0.11 to 0.27	
		Forest	0.06 to 0.07	
Streams Outside of Canada				
State of Wisconsin (1973-1982)**	n	Forest	0.112 (mean)	Clesceri et al. 1986
State of Wisconsin (1973)	9	Agriculture	0.262 (mean)	
Ohio (1994-1998)				Vanni et al. 2001
Four Mile Creek		Agriculture	~ 1.5 (mean)	
Little Four Mile Creek		Agriculture	~ 1.2 (mean)	
Marshall's Creek		Agriculture	~ 1.7 (mean)	
Wagon Train Watershed (Nebraska)	13	Fallow	0.243 (mean)	Elrashidi et al. 2005
		Cropland	0.217 (mean)	
		Grassland	0.19 (mean)	
Luxembourg				Salvia-Castellvi et al. 2005
Teischelt (1993/94 and 1994/95)	1	Forest	0.8 and 0.9	
Kuebefiels (1993/94 and 1994/95)	1	Agriculture	0.5 and 0.8	
Sure (1989-1991)	1	Mixed	0.8 and 0.9	
Wiltz (1999-2001)	1	Mixed	1.0 and 1.2	
Bavigne (1989/90)	1	Mixed	0.07	
Surbich and Syrbach (1995/96)	2	Mixed	0.06	
Sweden (1998/1993-2006)	27	Agriculture	0.06 to 0.92	Kyllmar et al. 2006
			(range of means)	
*Different streams were sampled in 107	77_78 and 1991_0	05		

Table 3.42 Continued.

*Different streams were sampled in 1977-78 and 1991-95 **stream 1: 1975-1977; stream 2: 1973/75-1982; stream 3: 1973 **Total Dissolved Phosphorus (TDP) export coefficients.** Total dissolved phosphorus export coefficients showed the same pattern with location by ecoregion area as TP although export coefficients in the Continental Divide were more similar to those measured in the Grassland ecoregion area. (Figure 3.54). Kruskal Wallis and Mann Whitney statistics showed mean rank TDP export coefficients were significantly higher in Parkland (U=96, p<0.005) and Boreal (U=1491, p<0.005) streams than in those streams located in the Grassland ecoregion area (Figure 3.54). However, no significant difference in mean rank TDP export coefficients was observed between the Parkland and Boreal ecoregion areas (U=1227, p=0.094). Noteworthy, streams in the Parkland ecoregion generally had higher median annual TDP export coefficients as a group, but the two highest median annual TDP export coefficients were measured in two watersheds in the Boreal ecoregion area (Blindman River and Kleskun Drain).



Figure 3.54. Box plots of median annual TDP export coefficients (1999 to 2006) for the Boreal, Grassland, and Parkland ecoregion areas. Box plots with the same letter are not significantly different from one another at the 0.05 level as tested with Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA and Mann-Whitney significance tests on untransformed data. Box plots between the Grassland ecoregion area and other two ecoregion areas were statistically different at the p<0.005 significance level.

Similar to the findings of the CAESA study (Anderson et al. 1999), the highest TDP export coefficients were observed in streams with high agricultural intensity (Figure 3.55). Overall, there was a stepwise trend of increasing export coefficients with increasing agricultural intensity. Annual TDP export coefficients were significantly lower in the low agricultural intensity category than in the high agricultural intensity watersheds (H=689, p=0.001). However, mean rank export coefficients in the moderate agricultural intensity group were not significantly higher than the low (U=786, p=0.145) or significantly lower than the high agricultural intensity groups (U=1157, p=0.136).



Figure 3.55. Box plots of median annual TDP export coefficients (1999 to 2006) in the three dryland agricultural intensity categories. Box plots with the same letter are not significantly different from one another at the 0.05 level as tested with Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA and Mann-Whitney significance tests on untransformed data. Box plots between the low and high agricultural intensity categories were statistically different at the p<0.005 level.

Regional climatic and topographical factors were not necessarily the main factors influencing median annual TDP export coefficients, as was observed for TP. The streams with the five highest median annual export coefficients (1999-2006) were Blindman Creek (0.1302 kg ha⁻¹yr ¹), Kleskun Drain (0.1199 kg ha⁻¹yr⁻¹), and Threehills (0.1057 kg ha⁻¹yr⁻¹), Stretton (0.0926 kg ha⁻¹yr⁻¹) ¹yr⁻¹) and Haynes Creeks (0.0882 kg ha⁻¹yr⁻¹) (Figure 3.56). The four lowest median annual TDP export coefficients were measured in Trout (0.002 kg ha⁻¹yr⁻¹), Meadow (0.003 kg ha⁻¹yr⁻¹), and Willow Creeks (0.006 kg ha⁻¹yr⁻¹) and Prairie Blood Coulee (0.007 kg ha⁻¹yr⁻¹). As initially illustrated in Figure 3.54, streams monitored in the Grassland ecoregion (Trout, Meadow, and Prairie Blood Coulee) had much lower TDP export coefficients than streams monitored in other ecoregion areas. Moreover, the four streams with the lowest TDP export coefficients were all located in the southwestern part of the province and consisted of watersheds under both low and moderate agricultural intensity activities. With the exception of Buffalo Creek, streams in the Parkland ecoregion had higher TDP export coefficients than the other AESA streams; however, Blindman Creek and Kleskun Drain (Boreal) had the first and second highest median annual TDP export coefficients, respectively. It is important to note that all of the watersheds in the Parkland ecoregion were classified as high agricultural intensity watersheds based on the 1996 Census of Agriculture data (Anderson et al. 1999). As a result, it was difficult to separate the effects of agricultural intensity and ecoregion characteristics in the streams located in the Parkland ecoregion area.



Figure 3.56. Median annual TDP export coefficients for each dryland AESA watershed (1999 to 2006). Location by ecoregion area for each stream is illustrated as follows: Boreal (B), Parkland (P), and Grassland (G). For full stream names, see Table 3.5 (pg. 3-12).

Since it appeared that TDP export coefficients were influenced by ecoregional characteristics and agricultural intensity, Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA statistics were run on median annual TDP export coefficients among streams grouped by ecoregion area and by agricultural intensity (Table 3.43). A significant difference in TDP export coefficients was not found among streams in the Grassland or Parkland ecoregion areas or among watersheds in the high agricultural intensity or low agricultural intensity categories. However, TDP export coefficients were significantly different among streams in the Boreal ecoregion area (p<0.05) and streams in the moderate agricultural intensity category (p<0.005).

Ecoregion Area/Agricultural Intensity	Kruskal-Wallis Statistic (H)	Level of Significance (p)	Degrees of Freedom
Boreal	16.615	0.034	8
Parkland	5.583	0.349	5
Grassland	0.545	0.761	2
Low	8.409	0.078	4
Moderate	28.115	0.000	5
High	10.532	0.160	7

Table 3.43. Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA statistics for median annual TDP export coefficients (1999 to 2006) among dryland streams grouped by ecoregion area and by agricultural intensity.

Note: **Bold** values indicate a significant difference at p<0.05.

Unlike TP export coefficients, a significant difference was observed among mean rank TDP export coefficients in streams of different agricultural intensities within the Boreal ecoregion area (H=10.214, p=0.006, 1df). Mann-Whitney tests on untransformed data showed that annual TDP export coefficients were significantly higher in moderate agricultural intensity streams in the Boreal ecoregion area than in low (U=206, p<0.005) or high agricultural intensity streams (U=152, p<0.05) within the ecoregion area. No difference was found at the p<0.05 level between mean rank TDP export coefficients in the low and high agricultural intensity streams.

Furthermore, Mann-Whitney tests between streams in the Boreal ecoregion area showed that the median annual TDP export coefficient in Blindman River was significantly higher than TDP export coefficients in all other watersheds in the Boreal ecoregion area with the exception of Kleskun Drain and Hines Creek (Table 3.44). The mean rank TDP export coefficient for Wabash Creek was significantly lower than Blindman River, Kleskun Drain, and Rose Creek (Table 3.45). Annual TDP export coefficients in the remaining watersheds in the Boreal were not statistically different from each other (H=6.182, p=0.403).

Stream (A.I.)	Mann-Whitney Statistic (U)	Level of Significance (p)
Grande Prairie Creek (M)	51.000	0.046
Hines Creek (L)	58.000	0.056
Kleskun Drain (M)	35.000	0.753
Paddle River (L)	63.000	0.041
Rose Creek (L)	78.000	0.005
Strawberry Creek (H)	69.000	0.039
Tomahawk Creek (M)	53.000	0.027
Wabash Creek (H)	55.000	0.016

Table 3.44. Mann-Whitney statistics between median annual TDP export coefficients (1999 to 2006) in the Blindman River and those in eight other watersheds in the Boreal ecoregion area.

Note: **Bold** values indicate a significant difference at p<0.05. All statistical comparisons had 1 degree of freedom.

Table 3.45. Mann-Whitney statistics between median annual TDP export coefficients (1999 to 2006) in Wabash Creek and three streams in the Boreal ecoregion area with significantly higher exports (p<0.05).

Stream	Mann-Whitney Statistic (U)	Level of Significance (p)
Blindman River	55.000	0.016
Kleskun Drain	51.000	0.046
Rose Creek	61.000	0.002

Note: All statistical comparisons had 1 degree of freedom.

The data show a clear distinction between TDP export coefficients from moderate agricultural intensity streams in the Boreal ecoregion area to those moderate agricultural intensity watersheds in the Grassland ecoregion area. Export coefficients in Trout and Meadow Creeks were significantly lower than the other moderate agricultural intensity watersheds that were all located in the Boreal ecoregion area (Table 3.46). Moderate agricultural intensity watersheds located in the Boreal ecoregion area did not have statistically different TDP export coefficients (Blindman Creek, Grande Prairie Creek, Kleskun Drain, and Tomahawk Creek). Thus, TDP export coefficients in the Grassland streams were likely influenced by climate and landscape factors typical for the region rather than agricultural intensity. Also, the majority of Trout and Meadow Creeks were covered in grassland (67 and 74%, respectively) with only a small percentage of each watershed covered in cropland or forage (Chapter 2: Table 2.9). In contrast, land cover for the moderate agricultural intensity watersheds in the Boreal ecoregion area ranged from 4 to 48% cropland and 13 to 49% forage.

Moderate Agricultural	Trout Kruskal-Wallis	Trout Level of	Meadow Kruskal-Wallis	Meadow Level of
intensity watershed	Statistic (U)	Significance (p)	Statistic (U)	Significance (p)
Blindman River	88.000	0.000	80.000	0.000
Grande Prairie Creek	62.000	0.002	61.000	0.002
Kleskun Drain	55.000	0.006	56.000	0.012
Tomahawk Creek	84.000	0.001	4.000	0.001

Table 3.46. Mann-Whitney statistics for annual TDP export coefficients from 1999 to 2006 for Trout and Meadow Creeks compared to the other four moderate agricultural intensity watersheds.

Note: **Bold** values indicate a significant difference at p<0.05. The degrees of freedom for all Mann-Whitney statistics is 1.

Total Particulate Phosphorus (TPP) export coefficients. Median annual TPP export coefficients appeared to be most influenced by ecoregional characteristics that contributed to overland runoff and movement of soil bound P to surface water. In contrast to TP and TDP, the median annual TPP export coefficients were significantly higher in the Boreal ecoregion area than in both the Parkland (U=2302, p<0.005) and Grassland ecoregion areas (U=1235.5, p<0.005) (Figure 3.57). There was no significant difference in mean rank TPP export coefficients between the Parkland and Grassland ecoregion areas (U=472, p=0.67) (Figure 3.58). Export coefficients in the Continental Divide appeared similar to those in the Boreal ecoregion area. Annual TPP export coefficients were not significantly different between low and moderate agricultural intensity streams (U=898, p=0.603). However, mean rank TPP export coefficients were significantly lower in high agricultural intensity streams than in low (U=1463, p=0.029) or moderate agricultural intensity watersheds (U=1863, p=0.003). Those watersheds draining low or moderate agricultural intensity land had moderate to high runoff potential, while the high agricultural watersheds were classified as having low to moderate runoff potential. These patterns support the assumption that TPP export coefficients were most influenced by ecoregional characteristics, specifically runoff depth.



Figure 3.57. Box plots of median annual TPP export coefficients (1999 to 2006) for the Boreal, Grassland, and Parkland ecoregion areas. Box plots with the same letter are not significantly different from one another at the 0.05 level as tested with Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA and Mann-Whitney significance tests on untransformed data. Box plots between the Boreal ecoregion area and other two ecoregions were statistically different at the p<0.005 significance level. Note: an outlier (0.8422 kg. ha⁻¹yr⁻¹) in the Boreal ecoregion area is not shown.



Figure 3.58. Box plots of median annual TPP export coefficients (1999 to 2006) in the three dryland agricultural intensity categories. Box plots with the same letter are not significantly different from one another at the 0.05 level as tested with Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA and Mann-Whitney significance tests on untransformed data. Box plots between the low and high agricultural intensity watersheds were significantly different at the p<0.005 level. Note: an outlier (1.2257 kg.ha⁻¹yr⁻¹) in the low agricultural intensity category is not shown.

Total particulate phosphorus export coefficients for the dryland watershed are illustrated in Figure 3.59. The top five exporters of TPP were Rose ($0.1519 \text{ kg} \text{ha}^{-1} \text{yr}^{-1}$), Strawberry ($0.1518 \text{ kg} \text{ha}^{-1} \text{yr}^{-1}$), Tomahawk ($0.0898 \text{ kg} \text{ha}^{-1} \text{yr}^{-1}$), Blindman ($0.0835 \text{ kg} \text{ha}^{-1} \text{yr}^{-1}$) and Willow Creeks ($0.0574 \text{ kg} \text{ha}^{-1} \text{yr}^{-1}$). All but Willow Creek (Continental Divide) were located in the Boreal ecoregion. The bottom five TPP exporters were Prairie Blood Coulee ($0.0015 \text{ kg} \text{ha}^{-1} \text{yr}^{-1}$) and Wabash ($0.0073 \text{ kg} \text{ha}^{-1} \text{yr}^{-1}$), Buffalo ($0.0092 \text{ kg} \text{ha}^{-1} \text{yr}^{-1}$), Ray ($0.0099 \text{ kg} \text{ha}^{-1} \text{yr}^{-1}$), and Renwick Creeks ($0.0100 \text{ kg} \text{ha}^{-1} \text{yr}^{-1}$). With the exception of Prairie Blood Coulee (low agricultural intensity), the seven streams with the lowest TPP exports were all high agricultural intensity streams and had low to moderate runoff potential. Wabash Creek was the only stream in the Boreal ecoregion area that did not have a higher TPP export coefficient than streams in the Grassland or Parkland ecoregion areas. The lower TPP export coefficients in this watershed were likely a result of the moderate runoff potential compared to the high runoff potential noted for the majority of the Boreal streams. The three streams within the Grassland ecoregion area had median annual TPP export coefficients scattered among export coefficients measured in the Parkland ecoregion streams.



Figure 3.59. Median annual TPP export coefficients for each dryland AESA watershed (1999 to 2006). Location by ecoregion area for each stream is illustrated as follows: Boreal (B), Parkland (P), and Grassland (G). For full stream names, see Table 3.5 (pg 3-12).

Median annual TPP export coefficients were not significantly different between streams within the Parkland or Grassland ecoregion areas or among the moderate agricultural intensity watersheds (Table 3.47). However, significant differences were found between streams within the Boreal ecoregion area and low and high agricultural intensity categories.

agricultural intensity.			
Ecoregion Area/Agricultural Intensity	Kruskal-Wallis Statistic (H)	Level of Significance (p)	Degrees of Freedom
Boreal	25.574	0.001	8
Parkland	1.811	0.875	5
Grassland	3.605	0.165	2
Low	17.245	0.002	4
Moderate	9.305	0.199	5
High	16.999	0.017	7

Table 3.47. Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA statistics for median annual TPP export coefficients (1999 to 2006) among dryland streams grouped by ecoregion area and by agricultural intensity.

Note: **Bold** values indicate a significant difference at p<0.05.

Mann-Whitney tests showed that annual TPP export coefficients were significantly different among streams in the Boreal ecoregion area (H=25.574, p=0.001, 8df), but an obvious pattern was not present. Rose Creek had the highest median annual TPP export coefficient and had significantly higher mean rank TPP export coefficients than all other streams in the Boreal ecoregion area (Table 3.48) with the exception of Blindman River and Strawberry and Tomahawk Creeks (p>0.05). Annual TPP export coefficients were significantly higher in Blindman River than in Hines (U=57, p=0.009) or Wabash Creeks (U=59, p=0.005). Median annual TPP export coefficients in Hines Creek were significantly lower than those in all streams in the Boreal ecoregion area with the exception of Kleskun Drain, Paddle River, and Wabash Creek (Table 3.48). Furthermore, export coefficients in Wabash Creek were significantly lower than all TPP export coefficients in all streams in the Boreal with the exception of Hines Creek. Note that there was not a significant difference between the streams when grouped by agricultural intensity within the Boreal ecoregion area as was observed for TDP (H=0.896, p=0.639, 2df).

	BLI	GRA	HIN	KLE	PAD	ROS	STW	TOM	WAB
A.I.:	(M)	(M)	(L)	(M)	(L)	(L)	(H)	(M)	(H)
BLI	-								
GRA	42 0.294	-							
HIN	57 0.009	44 0.208	-						
KLE	47 0.534	37 0.600	23 0.345	-					
PAD	57 0.283	33 0.534	23 0.131	25 0.183	-				
ROS	27 0.160	17 0.026	5 0.001	9 0.004	14 0.013	-			
STW	34 0.409	24 0.099	14 0.013	19 0.039	22 0.069	45 0.007	-		
TOM	43 0.934	27 0.160	10 0.005	21 0.058	26 0.137	53 0.457	50 0.620	-	
WAB	59 0.005	54 0.021	43 0.248	47 0.115	51 0.046	61 0.002	60 0.003	57 0.009	-

Table 3.48. Mann-Whitney statistics comparing median annual TPP export coefficients (1999 to 2006) among nine watersheds located in the Boreal ecoregion area. For full stream names, see Table 3.5 (pg 3-12)

Note: **Bold** values indicate a significant difference at p<0.05. The top value is the Mann-Whitney statistic (U); the bottom value is the significance level. The degrees of freedom for all Mann-Whitney statistics is 1.

Interestingly, mean rank TPP export coefficients were significantly different between streams ranked as draining high agricultural intensity land (H=16.999, p=0.017, 7df), which was also the only parameter that showed a difference between export coefficients in the high agricultural intensity streams. A Kruskal-Wallis test for Buffalo, Haynes, Ray, Renwick, Stretton, Threehills, and Wabash Creeks showed no significant difference (H=2811, p=0.832, 6df). Thus, Strawberry Creek had significantly higher annual TPP export coefficients than the other high agricultural intensity watersheds and was the only stream with significantly different mean rank export coefficients within the high agricultural intensity category. Noteworthy, Strawberry Creek was the only high agricultural intensity watershed ranked as having a high runoff potential and also had a much larger effective drainage basin size (Chapter 2: Table 2.1). Higher overland runoff volumes in Strawberry Creek likely resulted in the higher TPP export coefficients observed. Thus, beneficial management practices aimed at reducing particulate P contributions by overland runoff would be more effective in a high agricultural stream such as Strawberry Creek than high agricultural intensity watersheds with lower volumes of overland runoff.

Statistical differences among TPP export coefficients from low agricultural intensity watersheds were not accounted for by differences in runoff potential. Annual TPP export coefficients in Rose Creek (moderate runoff potential) were significantly higher than those in all other low agricultural intensity watersheds with the exception of Willow Creek (U=41, p=0.345) (Table 3.49). Mean rank exports in Willow Creek (high runoff potential) were only significantly higher than those measured in Prairie Blood Coulee (high runoff potential) (U=7, p=0.009). Mean rank TPP export coefficients were significantly lower in Prairie Blood Coulee than all watersheds but Hines Creek.

Stream	Hines Creek	Paddle River	Prairie Blood Coulee	Rose Creek	Willow Creek
Hines Creek	-				
Daddle Diver	23.0	-			
r audie Kivel	0.131				
Prairie Blood	50.0	71.0			
Coulee	0.059	0.006	-		
Dogo Croalr	5.00	14.0	2.00	-	
Rose Creek	0.001	0.013	0.001		
Willow Creek	17.0	0.462	7.00	41.0	-
	0.115	0.540	0.009	0.345	

Table 3.49. Mann-Whitney statistics between median annual TPP export coefficients (1999 to 2006) in the five low agricultural intensity watersheds.

Note: **Bold** values indicate a significant difference at p<0.05. The top value is the Mann-Whitney statistic (U); the bottom value is the significance level. The degrees of freedom for all Mann-Whitney statistics is 1.

Upon further investigation, it was confirmed that TPP export coefficients were generally influenced by runoff depth (Figure 3.60). As runoff depth increased, TPP export coefficients also increased (r_s = 0.73, p<0.001). This observation held true for the majority of watersheds regardless of their location by ecoregion or their agricultural intensity classification although

some exceptions were observed. Willow Creek had the highest median annual runoff depth but did not follow the same pattern as was observed in the other watersheds; it is not included in Figure 3.60 in order to better illustrate the patterns in the data. Although a general increase in TPP export coefficients was observed as runoff depth increased, Willow Creek had a much lower TPP export coefficient than would have been expected (runoff depth = 151.67 mm; TPP export coefficient = 0.0575 kg·ha⁻¹yr⁻¹).

Strawberry, Rose, and Tomahawk Creeks also had median annual TPP export coefficients that did not appear to follow the same relationship observed between TPP export coefficients and runoff depth in the other streams. All three streams, located in the Boreal ecoregion area, had much higher median TPP export coefficients than would have been expected from their respective runoff depths. The Spearman rank-order correlation coefficient increased to 0.83 (p<0.001) when Rose, Strawberry, Tomahawk, and Willow Creeks were removed from the analysis. These differences in TPP export coefficients and runoff depth were not likely influenced by agricultural intensity as the three streams represented low (Rose), moderate (Tomahawk), and high (Strawberry) agricultural intensity.

The 1991 land cover map of Strawberry Creek showed the watershed was covered by a small percentage of cropland compared to other high agricultural intensity watersheds and had a steeper slope around the mouth of the watershed, which was also the site of sample collection. Although the median annual TPP export coefficient was 0.152 kg ha⁻¹.yr⁻¹ (1999-2006), annual TPP export coefficients ranged between 0.012 and 0.842 kg ha⁻¹.yr⁻¹. Export coefficients were highest in years with high annual flow volume and lowest in years with low annual flow volume.

Based on land cover, agricultural intensity percentile, and location by ecoregion, Paddle River and Rose Creek would be expected to annually export similar amounts of TPP. However, Rose Creek had higher annual TPP loads (two times higher) as a result of higher flows (three times higher) and a larger drainage basin size (two times higher) than Paddle River.

Furthermore, median annual TPP export coefficients generally increased with increasing effective drainage area for watersheds in the Boreal ecoregion area, although there was only a weak, positive correlation ($r_s = 0.30$, p>0.05). The size of the effective drainage area was likely an important factor influencing export coefficients in the Boreal ecoregion area, specifically in Rose, Tomahawk, and Strawberry Creeks where export coefficients were higher than expected from the relationship with runoff depth. However, a relationship was not observed between TPP export coefficients and drainage area for the Parkland or Grassland watersheds. It appeared that the size of the drainage basin was a factor in TPP export coefficients when runoff potential was generally high, as in the Boreal ecoregion area, while TPP export coefficients in low runoff potential areas were more influenced by runoff depth.



Figure 3.60. Median annual TPP export coefficients (1999 to 2006) compared to median annual runoff depth for the 18 dryland AESA watersheds. Note that Willow Creek was not included in the graph as discussed in the text. Strawberry, Tomahawk, and Rose Creeks are represented by the numbers 1, 2, and 3, respectively.

Total Dissolved P to Total P export coefficient ratios (TDP/TP). When grouped by ecoregion area, mean rank TDP/TP was significantly higher in the Parkland ecoregion than in the Boreal (U=4039, p<0.005) and Grassland (U=1468, p<0.005) ecoregion areas (Figure 3.61). Furthermore, TDP/TP was significantly higher in the Boreal than Grassland ecoregion area (U=41583, p<0.005). The median TDP/TP ratio in the Continental Divide appeared to be lower than those in the other ecoregion areas.

When grouped by agricultural intensity, the mean rank TDP/TP ratios in the high agricultural watersheds were significantly higher than those observed in low (U=13471, p<0.005) or moderate (U=17014, p<0.005) agricultural intensity streams (Figure 3.62). No significant difference was observed between low and moderate agricultural intensity watersheds (U=41866, p=0.941).

As illustrated in Figure 3.63, the ratio of TDP/TP exported from each watershed was not equivalent. Agricultural intensity appeared to influence the ratio of TP in the dissolved form when grouped by location by ecoregion area, and ecoregional characteristics appeared to influence TDP/TP exports in certain watersheds when grouped by agricultural intensity. Overall, higher ratios of TDP/TP were observed in streams located in the Parkland ecoregion, which were all high agricultural intensity watersheds. Total phosphorus export coefficients in the Boreal ecoregion were influenced by both TDP and TPP export coefficients (both were positively correlated with TP export coefficients). However, TPP was the dominant form of P in the TP export coefficients, suggesting that TP export in the Boreal ecoregion area was more influenced by flow and runoff. In contrast, the higher ratio of dissolved P in the Parkland ecoregion suggested a greater influence from agricultural sources (TDP was 0.71 to 0.90 of the TP export in watersheds located in the Parkland ecoregion).



Figure 3.61. Box plots of median annual TDP/TP exports (1999 to 2006) for the Boreal, Grassland, and Parkland ecoregion areas. Medians of box plots with different letters are significantly different from one another at the 0.005 level as tested with Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA and Mann-Whitney significance tests on untransformed data.



Figure 3.62. Box plots of median annual TDP/TP exports (1999 to 2006) in the three dryland agricultural intensity categories. Medians of box plots with the same letter are not significantly different from one another at the 0.05 level as tested with Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA and Mann-Whitney significance tests on untransformed data. Medians of box plots with different letters are significantly different at the p<0.005 level.





Although the high agricultural intensity Parkland watersheds had a higher ratio of TDP/TP compared to the other watershed groups, significant differences were observed among streams in each category (Table 3.50) A statistical difference was observed between streams in all categories, but these statistical differences were the result of a few watersheds that stood out (e.g., Buffalo Creek, Prairie Blood Coulee, and Kleskun Drain).

Buffalo Creek was the only stream with a significantly different ratio of TDP/TP in the Parkland ecoregion. When annual exports for Buffalo Creek were included in the Kruskal Wallis One-Way ANOVA for the Parkland ecoregion, the mean rank TDP/TP ratio was found to be significantly lower in Buffalo Creek than the remaining five watersheds in the Parkland ecoregion area (Table 3.51). However, there was not a significant difference between mean rank TDP/TP exports for the remaining streams in the Parkland ecoregion when data for Buffalo Creek was removed (H=7.959, p=0.93, 4df). Buffalo Creek appeared to be influenced by differences in landscape and topography as all watersheds within the Parkland ecoregion drained high agricultural intensity land. It was also noted in the AESA site selection report (Anderson et al. 1999) that not all of the drainage area in Buffalo Creek may contribute to the stream.

membrej.			
Ecoregion / Ag. Intensity	Kruskal-Wallis Test Statistic (H)	Level of Significance (p)	Degrees of Freedom
Boreal	38.300	0.000	8
Parkland	19.516	0.002	5
Grassland	11.060	0.040	2
High	42.682	0.000	7
Moderate	28.661	0.000	5
Low	25.063	0.000	4

Table 3.50. Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA statistics for median annual ratios of TDP/TP exports (1999 to 2006) among dryland streams grouped by ecoregion area and by agricultural intensity.

Note: **Bold** values indicate a significant difference at p<0.05.

Table 3.51. Mann-Whitney statistics between median annual TDP/TP ratios (1999 to 2006) in Buffalo Creek and the five other watersheds in the Parkland ecoregion.

Stream	Mann-Whitney Statistic (U)	Level of Significance (p)
Haynes Creek	1.000	0.003
Ray Creek	7.000	0.009
Renwick Creek	3.000	0.002
Stretton Creek	2.000	0.017
Threehills Creek	8.000	0.012

Note: **Bold** values indicate a significant difference at p<0.05. The degrees of freedom for all Mann-Whitney statistics is 1.

The ratio of TDP/TP in Prairie Blood Coulee was significantly higher than the mean rank exports in Trout (U=67, p=0.003) or Meadow (U=10, p=0.012) Creeks, while the latter two Grassland watersheds had similar TDP/TP ratios (U=38, p=0.859). Although Prairie Blood Coulee was classified as a low agricultural intensity dryland watershed and Meadow and Trout Creeks were classified as moderate agricultural intensity dryland watersheds, pivot circles were captured in orthophotos taken of Prairie Blood Coulee in 1991. The potential use of irrigation in the watershed would alter its behavior with respect to the influence of agricultural intensity on water quality. The presence of irrigation in the watershed could have contributed to the increased ratio of TP in the dissolved fraction.

Noteworthy, mean rank TDP/TP exports from Kleskun Drain were significantly higher than dissolved P ratios in watersheds located in the Boreal ecoregion as well as those measured in watersheds under moderate agricultural intensity (TDP/TP of 0.74 compared to range of 0.05 to 0.61 for other Boreal watersheds). The original agricultural intensity ranking calculated from the 1996 Census of Agriculture data listed Kleskun Drain as a high agricultural intensity watershed. However, it was assumed that the Kleskun Hills, not included in the effective drainage area,

would likely contribute to runoff and flow in the watershed, thereby decreasing or diluting potential nutrient inputs from agricultural lands. It is possible that the Kleskun Hills did not contribute as much to drainage or stream flow as previously thought and that the watershed behaved more as a high agricultural intensity stream rather than one under moderate intensity agriculture. Further investigation into specific land management practices in the area would be required to understand the reasons for the differences in TDP/TP exports compared to other watersheds in the same region.

Although several studies have shown that dissolved phosphorus was the dominant form in forested regions with particulate phosphorus being the main from in agricultural areas, the AESA water quality data support previous studies in Alberta that found TDP increased with agricultural intensity (Anderson et al. 1998b; Cooke and Prepas 1998). It was thought that the contribution of nutrients from agricultural land was sufficient to mask any trends in exports as a result of runoff depth. It was also noted that all of the high agricultural intensity watersheds in the Parkland ecoregion area would likely have a similar runoff depth as runoff depth is influenced by factors characteristic of an ecoregion.

Total Nitrogen (TN) export coefficients. Annual TN export coefficients were grouped by ecoregion area and by agricultural intensity to investigate whether group medians were significantly different from each other and identify which factors influenced export coefficients. Boreal streams had higher export coefficients than watersheds located in the Parkland (U = 1959, p = 0.018, df = 1) and Grassland ecoregion areas (U = 1321, p = 0) (Figure 3.64). The streams with the five highest median annual TN export coefficients were also all in the Boreal: Blindman River (1.412 kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹), Kleskun Drain (1.172 kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹), and Tomahawk (1.123 kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹), Grande Prairie (1.110 kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹), and Rose Creeks (1.069 kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹) (Figure 3.66). Trout Creek (0.158 kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹), Prairie Blood Coulee (0.155 kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹), and Meadow Creek (0.142 kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹), all in the Grassland ecoregion area, had the lowest median annual TN export coefficients. Median TN export coefficients in the Grassland ecoregion were also statistically lower than TN export coefficients measured in the Parkland ecoregion (U = 329.5, p = 0.015). Median annual TN export coefficients in the Continental Divide appeared to be similar to those measured in the Parkland ecoregion. A significant difference was not found between mean rank TN export coefficients when grouped by agricultural intensity (H=4.16, p=0.125, 2df) (Figure 3.65), which was also observed for TP export coefficients grouped by agricultural intensity.



Figure 3.64. Box plots of median annual TN export coefficients (1999 to 2006) for the Boreal, Grassland, and Parkland ecoregion areas. Box plots with different letters are significantly different from one another at the 0.02 level as tested with Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA and Mann-Whitney significance tests on untransformed data. Box plots between the Boreal and Grassland ecoregion areas were different at the p<0.005 significance level.



Figure 3.65. Box plots of median annual TN export coefficients (1999 to 2006) in the three dryland agricultural intensity categories. Box plots with the same letter are not significantly different from one another at the 0.05 level as tested with Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA and Mann-Whitney significance tests on untransformed data.



Figure 3.66. Median annual TN export coefficients for each dryland AESA watershed (1999 to 2006). Location by ecoregion area for each stream is illustrated as follows: Boreal (B), Parkland (P), and Grassland (G). For full stream names see, Table 3.5 (pg. 3-12).

Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA tests for TN export coefficients among streams within ecoregional or agricultural intensity categories were similar to TP Kruskal-Wallis statistics (Table 3.52); no significant difference was found among streams within the Parkland or Grassland ecoregion areas or in the high agricultural intensity category. Significant differences in TN export coefficients were observed among streams in the Boreal ecoregion area and low and moderate agricultural intensity groups.

Mean Rank TN export coefficients were significantly lower in Hines and Wabash Creeks than in the majority of the other streams in the Boreal ecoregion area (Table 3.53). Overall, a significant difference was not found in mean rank TN export coefficients among the remaining watersheds in the Boreal (p>0.05), although annual TN export coefficients in Paddle River were lower than a few of the streams or were borderline significantly different at the p<0.05 level (data not shown).

Ecoregion Area/Agricultural Intensity	Kruskal-Wallis Statistic (H)	Level of Significance (p)	Degrees of Freedom
Boreal	20.011	0.010	8
Parkland	2.950	0.769	5
Grassland	0.575	0.773	2
Low	9.664	0.046	4
Moderate	16.962	0.005	5
High	7.196	0.409	7

Table 3.52. Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA statistics for median annual TN export coefficients (1999 to 2006) among dryland streams grouped by ecoregion area and by agricultural intensity.

Note: **Bold** values indicate a significant difference at p<0.05.

Table 3.53. Mann-Whitney statistics comparing median annual TN export coefficients (1999 to 2006) among nine watersheds located in the Boreal ecoregion area. For full stream names, see Table 3.5 (pg. 3-12).

	BLI	GRA	HIN	KLE	PAD	ROS	STW	TOM	WAB
A.I.:	(M)	(M)	(L)	(M)	(L)	(L)	(H)	(M)	(H)
BLI	-								
GRA	41 0.345	-							
HIN	60 0.003	51 0.046	-						
KLE	39 0.462	34 0.834	15 0.074	-					
PAD	62 0.137	52 0.509	22 0.069	48 0.741	-				
ROS	55 0.589	40 0.537	8 0.002	42 0.643	21 0.037	-			
STW	64 0.217	50 0.877	31 0.190	47 0.939	37 0.396	56 0.537	-		
TOM	52 0.758	43 0.700	14 0.009	43 0.149	26 0.090	45 0.817	36 0.355	-	
WAB	58 0.006	54 0.021	38 0.529	51 0.046	46 0.141	58 0.006	51 0.046	57 0.009	-

Note: **Bold** values indicate a significant difference at p<0.05. The top value is the Mann-Whitney statistic (U); the bottom value is the significance level. The degrees of freedom for all Mann-Whitney statistics is 1.

As for P, TN export coefficients were split within the moderate agricultural intensity category between those watersheds in different ecoregion areas; however, ecoregional characteristics did not have the same influence within the low agricultural intensity category. Those watersheds located in the Boreal ecoregion area (Blindman River, Kleskun Drain, and Tomahawk and Grande Prairie Creeks) had significantly higher annual TN export coefficients than Trout and Meadow Creeks, which were located in the Grassland ecoregion area. Among the low agricultural intensity watersheds, Rose Creek had significantly higher annual TN export coefficients than the other four low agricultural intensity streams (Table 3.54). With the exception of TN export coefficients being higher in Paddle River than in Prairie Blood Coulee, a significant difference was not found among mean rank TN export coefficients in the remaining low agricultural intensity watersheds (p>0.05).

Table 3.54. Mann-Whitney statistics comparing median annual TN export coefficients (1999 to 2006) among five watersheds located in the low agricultural intensity category. For full stream names, see Table 3.5 (pg. 3-12).

	HIN	PAD	PRA	ROS	WIL
HIN	-				
PAD	22 0.069	-			
PRA	37 0.600	71 0.026	-		
ROS	8 0.002	21 0.037	9 0.003	-	
WIL	27 0.600	37 0.916	17 0.115	45 0.172	-

Note: **Bold** values indicate a significant difference at p<0.05. The top value is the Mann-Whitney statistic (U); the bottom value is the significance level. The degrees of freedom for all Mann-Whitney statistics is 1.

Overall, TN export coefficients varied among agricultural intensity categories with more similarities found among streams located in the same ecoregion areas; however, not all streams fit into the pattern of export coefficients expected with each ecoregion area. Hines Creek, Paddle River, and Wabash Creek seemed to have lower TN export coefficients than other watersheds in the Boreal ecoregion area.

Wabash Creek had the lowest TN export coefficient (0.256 kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹) within the Boreal ecoregion area. The low export coefficient may be a result of the watershed's location within agricultural zone 8, which was noted to be of lower agricultural development (Anderson et al. 1999). It could also be due to the low flows and precipitation in Wabash Creek (Chapter 2: Table 2.4). The Wabash watershed is unique among the AESA watersheds in that it has a municipal influence (Depoe and Westbrook 2003). This municipal discharge did not appear to influence

nutrient exports in the watershed; however, it should be noted that municipal discharge occurred in the fall when the number of samples collected was lower and less frequent. Thus, fall sampling may have ended before the municipal discharge occurred, or sampling events may not have coincided with the discharge, thereby missing the event.

Hines Creek, Wabash Creek, and Blindman River were similar in size with respect to the effective drainage area of each watershed (Chapter 2: Table 2.1). However, their annual export coefficients were very different regardless of the nutrient or its form. Significantly lower P and N export coefficients were measured in Wabash Creek than in Blindman River. Hines Creek also had significantly lower export coefficients than Blindman River for many parameters. Nutrient loads (Appendix 7) were much lower in Hines and Wabash Creeks than in Blindman River as were the total annual flow volumes (Appendix 7). The median annual flow volume was 17 times higher in Blindman River than in Wabash Creek. Thus, the loads in Blindman River would have been expected to be higher. Export coefficients were lower in Hines and Wabash Creeks compared to Blindman River because smaller loading values were divided by an effective drainage area of similar size. Stream flow and runoff would have been influenced by climatic conditions in the area and landscape effects such as soil type, land cover, and topography (Elrashidi et al. 2005).

Although TN export coefficients were significantly different between Paddle River and Rose Creek, both low agricultural intensity watersheds are located within the Western Alberta Upland ecoregion. Paddle River had a much lower median TN export coefficient (0.558 kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹) than Rose Creek (1.069 kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹). The higher export coefficients observed in Rose Creek may be a result of the higher flow volumes recorded in the watershed. When looking at FWMCs for the two watersheds (Figures 3.26 and 3.29, pgs. 3-46 and 3-51, respectively), annual data were not higher in Rose Creek than in Paddle River, supporting the idea that higher runoff and flow in Rose Creek increased N exports from the stream.

Total N export coefficients for the AESA watersheds were compared with data from the CAESA study (Anderson et al. 1998b) and other studies in Alberta and outside of the province (Table 3.55). Median annual TN export coefficients from high agricultural intensity AESA watersheds were similar to those reported for high agricultural intensity watersheds in the CAESA study. Ranges for TN export coefficients in the AESA watersheds were broad with overlap between watershed groups, as was found in the CAESA study. However, low agricultural intensity CAESA watersheds were reported as exporting more TN than the moderate and high intensity streams. In contrast, moderate agricultural intensity AESA watersheds generally exported the most TN. Note that the watersheds under low, moderate, and high agricultural intensity categories differed between the AESA and CAESA studies. Total N export coefficients for the AESA watersheds were similar to those reported for other studies in Alberta but were generally lower than those reported from areas outside of the province. Annual TN export coefficients for the AESA watersheds were generally lower than TN export coefficients found in the literature for forested watersheds (Table 3.55). These differences are likely a result of variations in geology, landscape factors, and climatic conditions such as precipitation amount, duration, and intensity.

	Number of	Land Cover	Median TN Export	Source
	Streams	(majority)	Coefficient (kg ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹)	
Alberta				
AESA Streams (1999-2006)	19	Low, Mod., and High	0.574 (0.864 mean)	This study
	8	High Ag. Intenstiy	0.461	
	9	Moderate Ag. Intensity	0.877	
	5	Low Ag. Intensity	0.526	
CAESA Streams (1995+1996)				Anderson et al. (1998b)
	6	High Ag. Intenstiy	0.4814	
	12	Moderate Ag. Intensity	0.6796	
	9	Low Ag. Intensity	1.3026	
Haynes Creek (M6) (1995+1996)	1	High Ag. Intenstiy	0.7124	
Sakwatamau (1995 and 1996)	1	Forest	0.4763 and 5.2692	
Wabamun (1981)	6	Agriculture	0.85	Mitchell (1985)
Wabamun (1981)	10	Forest	0.66	
Baptiste (1977-78)	4	Agriculture	0.023	Trew et al (1987)
Baptiste (1977-78)	4	Forest	1.61	
Lac La Nonne (1981)	1	Agriculture	1.62	Mitchell and Hamilton (1982)
Ontario				
Experimental lakes watershed		Forest	0.9	Alvarez-Cobelas et al. 2008
Lake Simcoe (1990-1998)		Vegetable polder	25.4 (mean)	Winter et al. 2002
		Mixed agriculture	2.2 to 7.9 (range)	
		Forest	1.7 to 2.7 (range)	
Streams Outside of Canada				
State of Wisconsin (1973-1982)*	c,	Forest	3.72 (mean)	Clesceri et al. 1986
State of Wisconsin (1973)	9	Agriculture	6.69 (mean)	
Ohio (1994-1998)				Vanni et al. 2001
Four Mile Creek		Agriculture	~ 40 (mean)	
Little Four Mile Creek		Agriculture	~ 55 (mean)	
Marshall's Creek		Agriculture	~ 30 (mean)	
Sweden (1998/1993-2006)	27	Agriculture	2.4 to 40.9	Kyllmar et al. 2006
			(range of means)	
*stream 1: 1975-1977; stream 2: 19	73/75-1982; stre	am 3: 1973		

r studies.
othe
from
data
with
survey
stream
ESA
AI
l the
fron
cients
coeffi
export
Ϋ́
of
omparison
Ū
3.55
Table (

Nitrite-N + Nitrate-N (NO₂'-N+NO₃'-N) export coefficients. Median annual NO₂'N+NO₃'-N export coefficients were influenced by both agricultural and ecoregional factors. Mean Rank NO₂'N+NO₃'-N export coefficients were significantly higher in the Boreal and Parkland ecoregion areas than in the Grassland ecoregion (Boreal: U = 1161.5, p = 0.012, df = 1; Parkland: U = 312.5, p = 0.008, df = 1) (Figure 3.67). However, there was no significant difference between mean rank export coefficients in the Boreal and Parkland ecoregion areas (U = 1445.5, p = 0.554, df = 1). Export coefficients in the Continental Divide appeared to be more similar to those in the Boreal ecoregion area than the Grassland ecoregion. The same pattern was noted for TDP export coefficients grouped by ecoregion area. Annual NO₂'N+NO₃'-N export coefficients were significantly lower in the low agricultural intensity watersheds than in the moderate (U=578, p=0.001) or high (U=712, p=0) agricultural intensity streams (Figure 3.68). A significant difference between NO₂'N+NO₃'-N export coefficients in the high and moderate agricultural intensity categories was not observed (U=1384, p=0.841).



Ecoregion Area

Figure 3.67. Box plots of median annual $NO_2^-N+NO_3^-N$ export coefficients (1999 to 2006) for the Boreal, Grassland, and Parkland ecoregion areas. Box plots with the same letter are not significantly different from one another at the 0.05 level as tested with Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA and Mann-Whitney significance tests on untransformed data. Box plots between the Grassland ecoregion area and the Boreal and Parkland ecoregion areas were statistically different at the p<0. 05 and 0.01 significance levels, respectively.



Figure 3.68. Box plots of median annual $NO_2^-N+NO_3^-N$ export coefficients (1999 to 2006) in the three dryland agricultural intensity categories. Box plots with the same letter are not significantly different from one another at the 0.05 level as tested with Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA and Mann-Whitney significance tests on untransformed data. Box plots were significantly different between the low agricultural intensity watersheds and the moderate and high agricultural intensity groups at the p<0.005 level.

There did not appear to be a clear pattern among annual NO₂⁻N+NO₃⁻N export coefficients and agricultural intensity or location by ecoregion (Figure 3.69). Stretton (0.212 kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹), Tomahawk (0.127 kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹), and Threehills Creeks (0.124 kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹) had the highest median annual NO₂⁻N+NO₃⁻N export coefficients. Prairie Blood Coulee (0.007 kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹), Meadow Creek (0.007 kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹), and Hines Creek (0.003 kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹) had the lowest median annual NO_2 -N+NO_3-N export coefficients. The three streams with the highest NO_2 -N+NO_3-N export coefficients were classified in 1996 as either high or moderate agricultural intensity watersheds, while the three streams with the lowest export coefficients were classified as draining watersheds under low or moderate agricultural intensity. Although two of the three streams located in the Grassland ecoregion area had the lowest annual export coefficients with the third Grassland stream in the bottom five, watersheds located in the Boreal and Parkland ecoregion areas were mixed among having the highest and mid-range NO₂⁻-N+NO₃⁻-N export coefficients. Kruskal Wallis One-Way ANOVA tests showed that mean rank annual NO₂⁻N+NO₃⁻N export coefficients were not significantly different among streams within the high agricultural intensity category (H=8.902, p=0.260, 7df) or within the Parkland (H=7.465, p=0.188, 5df) or Grassland ecoregion areas (H=0.02, p=0.99, 2df). However, statistical analysis showed a significant difference in annual NO₂⁻-N+NO₃⁻-N export coefficients among streams within the Boreal ecoregion area (H=29.356, p=0, 8df) and the low (H=13.268, p=0.010, 4df) and moderate (H=14.412, p=0.013, 5df) agricultural intensity categories.



Figure 3.69. Median annual $NO_2^-N+NO_3^-N$ export coefficients for each dryland AESA watershed (1999 to 2006). Location by ecoregion area for each stream is illustrated as follows: Boreal (B), Parkland (P), and Grassland (G). For full stream names, see Table 3.5 (pg. 3-12).

Agricultural intensity influenced annual NO₂⁻-N+NO₃⁻-N export coefficients within the Boreal ecoregion area. Mann-Whitney tests between streams showed that mean rank NO₂⁻-N+NO₃⁻-N export coefficients in Hines Creek were significantly lower than those measured in all other watersheds in the Boreal ecoregion area, while export coefficients in Paddle River and Rose Creek were significantly lower than export coefficients measured in the remaining streams in the Boreal ecoregion area with the exception of Kleskun Drain (Table 3.56). There was no difference between NO₂⁻-N+NO₃⁻-N export coefficients in the remaining streams. Furthermore, Mann-Whitney tests run on NO₂⁻-N+NO₃⁻-N export coefficients by agricultural intensity category within the Boreal ecoregion area showed low agricultural intensity streams (Hines Creek, Rose Creek, Paddle River) had significantly lower mean rank export coefficients than streams under moderate (H=94, p=0) or high (H=293, p=0.005) agricultural intensity. There was no difference between NO₂⁻-N+NO₃⁻-N export coefficients in moderate and high agricultural intensity watersheds in the ecoregion area (p>0.05).

As observed for P, ecoregional characteristics played a stronger role in $NO_2^--N+NO_3^--N$ export coefficients among watersheds draining moderate agricultural intensity land. A statistical difference was not observed between the two Grassland streams, Trout and Meadow Creeks. However, mean rank $NO_2^--N+NO_3^--N$ export coefficients in both Grassland streams were

significantly lower than those in the remaining moderate agricultural intensity watersheds, emphasizing the differences in nutrient export coefficients between the Boreal and Grassland ecoregion areas.

agno anvarar moonstoj.			
Ecoregion Area/Agricultural Intensity	Kruskal-Wallis Statistic (H)	Level of Significance (p)	Degrees of Freedom
Boreal	29.356	0.000	8
Parkland	7.465	0.188	5
Grassland	0.020	0.990	2
Low	13.268	0.010	4
Moderate	14.412	0.013	5
High	8.902	0.260	7

Table 3.56. Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA statistics for median annual NO₂⁻-N+NO₃⁻-N export coefficients (1999-2006) among dryland streams grouped by ecoregion and by agricultural intensity

Note: **Bold** values indicate a significant difference at p<0.05.

Among the low agricultural intensity watersheds, Hines Creek was the stream with mean rank $NO_2 - N + NO_3 - N$ export coefficients that were significantly lower than export coefficients in all other low agricultural intensity watersheds with the exception of Prairie Blood Coulee (Table 3.57). Mann-Whitney statistics did not show any difference among the other low agricultural intensity watersheds. Hines Creek did not necessarily have lower manure production, fertilizer sales, or chemical sales percentiles (Chapter 2: Figures 2.23 to 2.26, Table 2.11). Over half of the landscape surrounding Hines Creek is covered in trees and shrubs with only 1% forage, and 41% of the watershed is not classified as it falls outside of Alberta's White Zone (Appendix 1). Rose Creek and Paddle River also have high percentages of tree and shrub cover (72 and 67%, respectively) and little or no cropland. Interestingly, Hines Creek has the second highest effective drainage area of the low agricultural intensity streams with the lowest median annual load from 1999 to 2006 (Appendix 7). Median annual stream volume was not necessarily low, but the lower load may have resulted from different management practices in the watershed compared to other low agricultural intensity streams or from differences in the intensity or duration of precipitation or rainfall events. Stream flow historically peaks in the spring (April) with smaller peaks in June and August in Hines Creek (Chapter 2: Figures 2.14 and 2.15). In contrast, stream flow peaks in Rose Creek and Paddle River are longer, lasting from spring to mid summer. Stream flow in Willow Creek also peaks for a longer duration in the late spring/early summer. These differences in stream flow that arise from climatic conditions specific to the Ecoregion the watershed is located in may affect the timing and quantity of nutrient loading and subsequent exports.

Stretton Creek had the highest median annual $NO_2^--N+NO_3^--N$ export coefficient as well as the highest median annual TDP export coefficient. However, the calculated value may be misleading as samples were not collected between 2000 and 2003 when the stream did not flow, removing any potentially lower annual export values from the median annual value. Although the stream had the highest median annual $NO_2^--N+NO_3^--N$ export coefficient, mean ranks were not significantly different from any of the other high agricultural intensity watersheds (H=8.902, p=0.260, 7df) or from those streams located in the Parkland ecoregion (H=7.465, p=0, 5df).

	HIN	PAD	PRA	ROS	WIL
HIN	-				
PAD	5 0.001	-			
PRA	24 0.401	53 0.457	-		
ROS	4 0.001	61 0.316	39 0.487	-	
WIL	0 0.001	28 0.674	24, 0.401	14 0.059	-

Table 3.57. Mann-Whitney statistics comparing median annual NO2⁻-N+NO3⁻-N export coefficients (1999 to 2006) among five watersheds located in the low agricultural intensity category. For full stream names, refer to Table 3.5 (pg. 3-12).

Note: **Bold** values indicate a significant difference at p<0.05. The top value is the Mann-Whitney statistic (U); the bottom value is the significance level. The degrees of freedom for all Mann-Whitney statistics is 1.

Ammonia-N (NH₃-N) export coefficients. Median annual NH₃-N export coefficients exhibited similar patterns to TDP; mean rank NH₃-N export coefficients for all of the dryland watersheds were significantly different among ecoregion areas (H = 17.815, p = 0, 2df) (Figure 3.70). Export coefficients in the Boreal and Parkland ecoregion areas were significantly higher than NH₃-N export coefficients in the Grassland ecoregion (Boreal: U = 1439, p = 0; Parkland: U = 186.5, p = 0). As with NO₂⁻-N+NO₃⁻-N, there was no significant difference between mean rank NH₃-N export coefficients in the Boreal and Parkland ecoregion areas (U = 1607, p = 0.733). Export coefficients in the Continental Divide were similar to those in the Grassland ecoregion. Export coefficients were not significantly different between low and moderate agricultural intensity watersheds (U=770, p=0.111) or moderate and high agricultural intensity watersheds (U=1325, p=0.569) (Figure 3.71). However, mean rank NH₃-N export coefficients were significantly lower in the low agricultural intensity category than in the high one (U=815, p=0.009).

Annual export of NH₃-N was less than all other N parameters regardless of the stream (Figure 3.72). The top three exporting streams were Blindman River (0.144 kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹), Threehills Creek (0.110 kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹), and Tomahawk Creek (0.072 kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹). The lowest median annual NH₃-N export coefficients were measured in Trout Creek (0.006 kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹), Meadow Creek (0.005 kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹), and Prairie Blood Coulee (0.005 kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹). Note that the three streams with the lowest median annual NH₃-N export coefficients are all located in the grassland ecoregion area. Similar to NO₂⁻-N+NO₃⁻-N export coefficients, the top three streams with the highest NH₃-N export coefficients were classified in 1996 as high and moderate agricultural intensity watersheds. The three watersheds with the lowest NH₃-N export coefficients were classified as having moderate or low agricultural intensity.


Figure 3.70. Box plots of median annual NH_3 -N export coefficients (1999 to 2006) for the Boreal, Grassland, and Parkland ecoregion areas. Box plots with the same letter are not significantly different from one another at the 0.05 level as tested with Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA and Mann-Whitney significance tests on untransformed data. Box plots between the Grassland and other ecoregion areas were statistically different at the p<0.005 significance level.



Figure 3.71. Box plots of median annual NH₃-N export coefficients (1999 to 2006) in the three dryland agricultural intensity categories. Box plots with the same letter are not significantly different from one another at the 0.05 level as tested with Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA and Mann-Whitney significance tests on untransformed data. Box plots for low and high agricultural intensity watersheds were statistically different at the p<0.01 significance level.



Figure 3.72. Median annual NH₃-N export coefficients for each dryland AESA watershed (1999 to 2006). Location by ecoregion area for each stream is illustrated as follows: Boreal (B), Parkland (P), and Grassland (G). For full stream names, see Table 3.5 (pg. 3-12).

Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA statistics showed no significant difference among streams within the Parkland or Grassland ecoregion areas or within the high agricultural intensity category (Table 3.58). As for NO₂⁻-N+NO₃⁻-N export coefficients, a significant difference was observed among NH₃-N export coefficients in streams within the Boreal ecoregion area and within the low (p<0.01) and moderate (p<0.005) agricultural intensity categories. No clear pattern was found among NH₃-N export coefficients in the Boreal ecoregion area although export coefficients in the low agricultural intensity streams in the region were significantly lower than those measured in watersheds under moderate agricultural intensity (U=225, p=0.008, 1df). No significant difference was found among the different agricultural intensity categories within the Boreal ecoregion area (p>0.05).

Ecoregion Area/Agricultural Intensity	Kruskal-Wallis Statistic (H)	Level of Significance (p)	Degrees of Freedom
Boreal	20.267	0.009	8
Parkland	8.146	0.148	5
Grassland	1.145	0.564	2
Low	10.798	0.029	4
Moderate	24.779	0.000	5
High	9.652	0.209	7

Table 3.58. Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA statistics for median annual NH₃-N export coefficients (1999 to 2006) among dryland streams grouped by ecoregion area and by agricultural intensity.

Note: **Bold** values indicate a significant difference at p<0.05.

Organic Nitrogen (Org N) export coefficients. Annual Org N export coefficients showed similar patterns by ecoregion area and agricultural intensity to TN and TP. Median Org N export coefficients in the Boreal ecoregion area were significantly higher than median export coefficients in both the Parkland (U=3022, p<0.005) and Grassland ecoregion areas (U=1626 p<0.005) (Figure 3.73). The top 5 annual Org N exporters were Blindman Creek (1.163 kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹), Rose Creek (1.016 kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹), Grande Prairie Creek (0.010 kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹), Kleskun Drain $(0.954 \text{ kg ha}^{-1} \text{ yr}^{-1})$, and Tomahawk Creek $(0.892 \text{ kg ha}^{-1} \text{ yr}^{-1})$ - all located in the Boreal ecoregion area (Figure 3.75). Mean rank Org N export coefficients were also significantly higher in the Parkland streams than Grassland watersheds (U=487, p<0.01). The three streams with the lowest annual Org N export coefficients were the three Grassland watersheds (Prairie Blood Coulee, 0.102 kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹; Meadow Creek, 0.130 kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹; and Trout Creek, 0.142 kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹) (Figure 3.75). As for TN, median Org N export coefficients in the Continental Divide appeared to be similar to those measured in the Parkland ecoregion. Note that a significant difference was not observed among mean rank Org N export coefficients when grouped by agricultural intensity (U=5.93, p=0.052) (Figure 3.74), which supported the assumption that Org N export coefficients were most influenced by ecoregional characteristics. Organic N export coefficients were higher than NO₂⁻ N+NO₃⁻-N and NH₃-N export coefficients.



Figure 3.73. Box plots of median annual Org N export coefficients (1999 to 2006) for the Boreal, Grassland, and Parkland ecoregion areas. Box plots with the same letter are not significantly different from one another at the 0.05 level as tested with Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA and Mann-Whitney significance tests on untransformed data. Box plots between the Boreal and other two ecoregion areas were statistically different at the p<0.005 significance level.



Figure 3.74. Box plots of median annual Org N export coefficients (1999 to 2006) in the three dryland agricultural intensity categories. Box plots with the same letter are not significantly different from one another at the 0.05 level as tested with Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA and Mann-Whitney significance tests on untransformed data.



Figure 3.75. Median annual Org N export coefficients for each dryland AESA watershed (1999 to 2006). Location by ecoregion area for each stream is illustrated as follows: Boreal (B), Parkland (P), and Grassland (G). For full stream names, see Table 3.5 (pg. 3-12).

Similar to the dissolved fractions of N, statistical analyses showed mean rank Org N export coefficients were not significantly different among streams within the Parkland or Grassland ecoregion areas or within the high agricultural intensity category (Table 3.59). Annual Org N export coefficients were significantly different among streams with in the Boreal ecoregion area as well as within the low or moderate agricultural intensity groups.

agricultural intensity.			
Ecoregion Area/Agricultural Intensity	Kruskal-Wallis Statistic (H)	Level of Significance (p)	Degrees of Freedom
Boreal	21.854	0.005	8
Parkland	3.614	0.606	5
Grassland	0.905	0.636	2
Low	11.407	0.022	4
Moderate	15.657	0.008	5
High	0.919	0.193	7

Table 3.59. Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA statistics for median annual Org N export coefficients (1999 to 2006) among dryland streams grouped by ecoregion area and by agricultural intensity.

Note: **Bold** values indicate a significant difference at p<0.05.

Annual Org N export coefficients did not appear to be influenced by agricultural intensity within the Boreal ecoregion area. Export coefficients in Wabash Creek were significantly lower than all other streams in the Boreal with the exception of those measured in Hines Creek (Table 3.60). Moreover, Hines Creek had significantly lower annual Org N export coefficients than the remaining seven streams in the Boreal ecoregion area.

Unlike many of the other parameters, mean rank Org N export coefficients were not significantly different between the two ecoregion areas covered by the moderate agricultural intensity watersheds (Table 3.61). Both Meadow and Trout Creeks had Org N export coefficients significantly lower than those measured in Blindman River, Grande Prairie Creek, and Tomahawk Creek. However, no significant difference was found between mean rank Org N export coefficients measured in Trout and Meadow Creeks and Kleskun Drain.

Median Org N export coefficients were correlated with median annual runoff depth as shown in Figure 3.76. Specifically, a positive relationship was observed in the Boreal ecoregion area (Figure 3.77), which supports the statistical differences in export coefficients observed among the Boreal watersheds. The Spearman rank-order correlation coefficient for all dryland watersheds was 0.63 (p<0.01). The correlation coefficient was strongest for median annual Org N export coefficients from streams located in the Boreal ecoregion area ($r_s = 0.88$, p<0.01) although a positive relationship was also found for Org N export coefficients in the Parkland ecoregion ($r_s = 0.54$, p>0.05). Note that the relationship between runoff depth and Org N export coefficients by ecoregion area appeared to be much stronger than for TPP export coefficients.

	BLI	GRA	HIN	KLE	PAD	ROS	STW	TOM	WAB
A.I.:	(M)	(M)	(L)	(M)	(L)	(L)	(H)	(M)	(H)
BLI	-								
GRA	40 0.345	-							
HIN	58 0.006	47 0.115	-						
KLE	41 0.345	36 0.067	16 0.093	-					
PAD	60 0.186	48 0.071	23 0.083	44 1.000	-				
ROS	48 1.000	33 0.247	9 0.003	32 0.217	19 0.025	-			
STW	64 0.217	49 0.939	33 0.247	45 0.817	39 0.487	60 0.355	-		
TOM	55 0.589	42 0.643	16 0.014	41 0.589	27 0.105	49 0.939	36 0.355	-	
WAB	62 0.002	54 0.021	49 0.074	54 0.021	52 0.036	62 0.002	52 0.036	60 0.003	-

Table 3.60. Mann-Whitney statistics comparing median annual Org N export coefficients (1999 to 2006) among nine watersheds located in the Boreal ecoregion area. For full stream names see, Table 3.5 (pg. 3-12).

Note: **Bold** values indicate a significant difference at p<0.05. The top value is the Mann-Whitney statistic (U); the bottom value is the significance level. The degrees of freedom for all Mann-Whitney statistics is 1.

Trout Trout		Meadow	Meadow
Kruskal-Wallis	Level of	Kruskal-Wallis	Level of
Statistic (U)	Significance (p)	Statistic (U)	Significance (p)
86	0.003	90	0.001
52	0.036	55	0.016
46	0.141	48	0.093
83	0.007	10	0.003
	Trout Kruskal-Wallis Statistic (U) 86 52 46 83	Trout Trout Kruskal-Wallis Level of Statistic (U) Significance (p) 86 0.003 52 0.036 46 0.141 83 0.007	Trout Trout Meadow Kruskal-Wallis Level of Kruskal-Wallis Statistic (U) Significance (p) Statistic (U) 86 0.003 90 52 0.036 55 46 0.141 48 83 0.007 10

Table 3.61. Mann-Whitney statistics for annual Org N export coefficients from 1999 to 2006 for Trout and Meadow Creeks compared to the four other moderate agricultural intensity watersheds.

Note: **Bold** values indicate a significant difference at p<0.05. The degrees of freedom for all Mann-Whitney statistics is 1.



Figure 3.76. Median annual Org N export coefficients (1999 to 2006) compared to median annual runoff depth for the 18 dryland AESA watersheds.



Figure 3.77. Median annual Org N export coefficients (1999 to 2006) compared to median annual runoff depth for the 18 dryland AESA watersheds grouped by ecoregion area.

Dissolved Inorganic Nitrogen to Total Nitrogen export coefficient ratios (DIN/TN). When grouped by ecoregion area, the ratio of DIN to TN in the Boreal was significantly higher than the Grassland ecoregion (U = 39681 p = 0.015) and significantly lower than the Parkland ecoregion (U = 36388 p = 0) (Figure 3.78). Dissolved inorganic N to TN in the Parkland ecoregion was also significantly higher than the ratio measured in the Grassland watersheds (U = 9597 p = 0). Since all of the watersheds located in the Parkland ecoregion were classified as draining land under high agricultural intensity, the data support the conclusion from CAESA that the higher the agricultural intensity, the higher the ratio of dissolved nutrients (Anderson et al. 1998b). The ratio of DIN/TN in the Continental Divide was similar to the ratio in the Grassland ecoregion.



Figure 3.78. Box plots of median annual ratios of DIN/TN exports (1999 to 2006) for the Boreal, Grassland, and Parkland ecoregion areas. Medians of box plots with different letters are significantly different from one another at the 0.005 level as tested with Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA and Mann-Whitney significance tests on untransformed data. Median ratios of DIN/TN were significantly different between the Boreal and Grassland ecoregion areas at p<0.05.

Ratios of DIN/TN showed a stepwise trend with increasing agricultural intensity similar to TDP exports when grouped by agricultural intensity (Figure 3.79). High agricultural intensity watersheds had significantly higher ratios than moderate (U=77032, p<0.005) or low (U=75557, p<0.005) agricultural intensity categories with the lowest ratios found in the low agricultural intensity watersheds (U=27729, p<0.005). High agricultural intensity watersheds had ratios ranging from 0.15 in Ray Creek to 0.40 in Wabash Creek. The ratio of DIN/TN in moderate agricultural intensity watersheds ranged from 0.09 in Meadow Creek to 0.18 in Tomahawk Creek. Ratios ranged from 0.05 (Hines Creek) to 0.12 (Paddle River) in low agricultural intensity watersheds.



Figure 3.79. Box plots of median annual ratios of DIN/TN exports (1999 to 2006) in the three dryland agricultural intensity categories. Medians of box plots with different letters are significantly different from one another at the 0.005 level as tested with Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA and Mann-Whitney significance tests on untransformed data.

As for TDP/TP, the ratio of TN as DIN differed among watersheds (Figure 3.80). Although the ratio of TN as DIN was statistically different among ecoregion areas and agricultural intensity groups, significant differences were also observed among streams within each category. Unlike TDP/TP, a statistical difference was only observed among streams in the Boreal and Parkland ecoregions and the moderate agricultural intensity watersheds (Table 3.62). Note that agricultural intensity and ecoregion areas are not completely independent. The type of agricultural production found in an area can be influenced by characteristics typical of a specific Ecoregion, such as climate and soil type.

Interestingly, the ratio of DIN/TN was the only parameter with a significant difference among watersheds within the Parkland ecoregion area. A statistically significant difference was not observed among Buffalo, Haynes, Ray, Renwick, and Stretton Creeks (H=8.381, p=0.079). Threehills Creek had a higher ratio of DIN/TN than Buffalo (U=10, p<0.05) and Ray Creeks (U=9, p<0.02) but did not statistically differ from the other watersheds in the Parkland ecoregion area.

Ratios on DIN/TN in the Boreal ecoregion area were most influenced by agricultural intensity rather than climatic, soil type, or topographical features. The ratio of DIN/TN in the Boreal watersheds was variable with the lowest and highest ratios measured in Hines (0.050) and Wabash Creeks (0.400), respectively (Figure 3.80). Statistical analyses showed that mean rank DIN/TN ratios were not significantly different among streams in the Boreal when the three low agricultural intensity watersheds in the region were removed (H=6.617, p=0.246). The ratio of TN as DIN was significantly lower in Hines Creek than in all other watersheds within the Boreal

ecoregion area (p<0.02) with the exception of Rose Creek (U=35, p=0.753) and Paddle River (U=17, p=0.115). Mean rank DIN/TN exports were also significantly lower in Rose Creek than all other watersheds in the Boreal, including Paddle River. Paddle River only had mean rank DIN/TN exports statistically lower than mean rank exports in Blindman River (U=52, p<0.05) and Tomahawk and Strawberry Creeks (U=4, p<0.005).

Although P and N parameters were generally split within the moderate agricultural intensity category between those streams located within the Boreal ecoregion area (Blindman River, Grande Prairie Creek, Kleskun Drain, and Tomahawk Creek) and those within the Grassland ecoregion area (Meadow and Trout Creeks), the ratio of DIN/TN was only significantly different between Tomahawk and Meadow Creek (U=5.00, p<0.005). It is possible that agricultural intensity influenced the ratio of TN in the dissolved form more than ecoregional influences; however, it is uncertain why a difference existed between Tomahawk and Meadow Creeks.



Figure 3.80. Median annual NO₂⁻+NO₃⁻-N, NH₃-H, and Org N export coefficients for each dryland AESA watershed (1999 to 2006). Agricultural intensity for each stream is illustrated as follows: Low (L), Moderate (M), and High (H). For full stream names, see Table 3.5 (pg. 3-12).

Ecoregion / Ag. Intensity	Kruskal-Wallis Test Statistic (H)	Level of Significance (p)	Degrees of Freedom
Boreal	38.408	0.000	8
Parkland	11.36	0.045	5
Grassland	0.140	0.932	2
High	14.032	0.051	7
Moderate	12.575	0.028	5
Low	7.074	0.132	4

Table 3.62. Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA statistics for median annual ratios of DIN/TN exports (1999 to 2006) among dryland streams grouped by ecoregion area and by agricultural intensity.

Note: **Bold** values indicate a significant difference at p<0.05.

Correlations of P and N export coefficients with Agricultural Intensity (A.I.) metrics. In general, strong correlations were not observed between median annual P and N export coefficients for the AESA dryland streams and Census of Agriculture metrics averaged for the three years of data that were available (1996, 2001, and 2006). There was not a strong correlation between any of the agricultural intensity metrics with the total or dissolved fractions of N or P (Table 3.63). Interestingly, TPP export coefficients were strongly, negatively correlated with the A.I. intensity percentile (-0.57, p<0.02) and fertilizer and chemical sales percentiles (-0.66 and -0.65, respectively, p<0.02). The strongest correlations were observed with the ratios of TDP/TP and DIN/TN (Table 3.63). A very strong and positive correlation was found between TDP/TP and the average A.I. percentile (0.75, p<0.02, Figure 3.81) and average fertilizer and chemical sales percentiles (0.79 and 0.81, respectively, p<0.02). The ratio of DIN/TN was very strongly, positively correlated with all four metrics (Table 3.63). Note that DIN/TN was the only parameter that was strongly correlated with the average manure production percentile (0.77, p<0.02, Figure 3.81). Nitrogen is more available in manure than P and may account for the stronger correlation observed between DIN/TN and the average manure production percentile relative to that observed for TDP/TP. The stronger correlations between chemical sales and the ratios of TDP/TP and DIN/TN were unexpected considering that fertilizer and manure are nutrient sources. It is uncertain weather the metrics for nutrient sources are inadequate or if there is something inherent about the chemical sales percentiles (i.e., land use type) that is a better surrogate of nutrient use.



Figure 3.81. Average Agricultural Intensity (AI) Percentile (1999, 2001, and 2006) and the ratio of TDP/TP (a) and DIN/TN (b) for the AESA dryland agricultural watersheds.

	Average	Average	Average	Average
Median Anuual	Agricultural	Manure	Fertilizer	Chemical
Export	Intensity	Production	Sales	Sales
Parameter	Percentile	Percentile	Percentile	Percentile
TP	0.05	0.11	-0.03	-0.01
TDP	0.41	0.17	0.40	0.42
TPP	-0.57	-0.22	-0.66	-0.65
TDP/TP	0.75	0.38	0.79	0.81
TN	-0.13	-0.15	-0.14	-0.14
Org N	-0.23	-0.16	-0.24	-0.24
$NO_2 + NO_3 - N$	0.42	0.46	0.27	0.31
NH ₃ -N	0.12	0.31	0.02	0.02
DIN/TN	0.72	0.77	0.57	0.59

Table 3.63. Spearman Rank Correlations between median annual P and N export coefficients (1999 - 2006) and average Census of Agriculture metrics (1996, 2001, and 2006) for 19 dryland AESA streams (n=19).

Note: **Bold** denotes significance at p<0.02.

As agricultural practices and intensity may vary for different regions of the province, Spearman Rank Correlations were run between annual P and N export coefficients for the AESA streams and each average Census of Agriculture metric (1996, 2001, and 2006) grouped by ecoregion area (Table 3.64, Figure 3.81). Correlations differed for each ecoregion area, but the relationships were only significant for the Boreal watersheds. Overall, export coefficients in the Boreal ecoregion area were weakly correlated with the average A.I. percentile (Table 3.64). The only significant correlation observed was between DIN/TN and the overall agricultural intensity metric (0.77, p<0.05) and the manure production percentiles (0.97, p<0.05). A positive relationship was observed between $NO_2^--N+NO_3^--N$ export coefficients and the overall agricultural intensity metric and manure production percentiles, but the correlations were not significant (p>0.05). The observed correlations in the Boreal ecoregion area were likely a result of the significant differences between export coefficients of streams within the ecoregion area and the factors that influenced these differences. Agricultural intensity is not uniform across watersheds in the Boreal ecoregion area. It appeared that nutrient export coefficients were most influenced by livestock production in the Parkland ecoregion area, as supported by the apparent positive relationships between nutrient export coefficients and the average manure production percentile. Surprisingly, nutrient export coefficients in the Parkland ecoregion area, all watersheds under high agricultural intensity, were not significantly correlated with the averaged

agricultural intensity metric or manure production and fertilizer expenses percentiles (p>0.05, Table 3.64). It would be interesting to test if correlations became significant with a larger sample size. The relationships between nutrient exports and the agricultural intensity metrics in the grassland and irrigated grassland ecoregion areas have not been discussed as it is unclear whether any of the relationships are significant with such small samples sizes (Table 3.64).

	Average Chemical	-1.00	1.00	-1.00	1.00	-0.50	-1.00	-0.50	-1.00	-1.00
n Area (n=3)	Average Fertilizer	-1.00	1.00	-1.00	1.00	-0.50	-1.00	-0.50	-1.00	-1.00
nd Ecoregion	Average Manure	0.50	-0.50	0.50	-0.50	-0.50	0.50	-0.50	0.50	0.50
Grassla	Average Agricultural	-0.50	0.50	-0.50	0.50	-1.00	-0.50	-1.00	-0.50	-0.50
	Average Chemical	0.37	0.31	0.31	0.31	-0.14	-0.43	0.20	-0.20	0.14
Area (n=6)	Average Fertilizer	-0.26	-0.31	-0.31	0.14	-0.20	-0.37	-0.43	-0.60	-0.60
d Ecoregion	Average Manure	0.54	0.77	0.77	0.31	0.37	0.43	0.66	0.54	0.54
Parklan	Average Agricultural	09.0	0.66	0.66	0.20	0.20	0.03	0.43	0.26	0.26
	Average Chemical	-0.40	-0.12	-0.43	0.42	-0.23	-0.35	0.27	-0.42	0.40
Area (n=9)	Average Fertilizer	-0.30	-0.08	-0.37	0.38	-0.20	-0.25	0.37	-0.28	0.50
Ecoregion ,	Average Manure	0.13	-0.13	0.12	0.17	-0.10	-0.17	0.58	0.43	0.92
Boreal	Average Agricultural	-0.15	0.00	-0.15	0.28	-0.07	-0.20	0.67	0.02	0.77
	nual Ticient				ΓΡ		Z	NO3 ⁻ -N	Z.	Z

Table 3.64. Spearman Rank Correlations between median annual P and N export coefficients (1999 to 2006) and average Census of

Agriculture metrics (1996, 2001, 2006) for all dryland AESA watersheds grouped by ecoregion area.

Note: Bold values in the Boreal and Parkland ecoregion areas indicate a strong positive (>0.5) or negative (<-0.5) correlation between the parameter and the agricultural intensity metric. Correlations are significant (p<0.05) at 0.68 for n=9 and 0.89 for n=6.

3-139

Nutrient export and seasonality. Seasonality was examined for all forms of P and N exports to assess whether export coefficients varied during different times of the monitoring period (i.e., spring, summer, and fall). Box plots of monthly nutrient exports (1999 to 2006) can be found in Appendix 8 for each agricultural intensity category.

In general, seasonal trends in overall nutrient export in each watershed were influenced by climatic and geographic characteristics of each ecoregion area. Most forms of P and N export coefficients were highest in the early spring in both the Boreal and Parkland ecoregion areas. In contrast, streams in the Grassland ecoregion did not show seasonal differences in P or N export coefficients, while export coefficients in the Continental Divide were generally higher in June.

Phosphorus and N export coefficients in the Boreal ecoregion area exhibited a seasonal pattern (Appendix 8: Figures A8.1 to A8.3). In general, P and N export coefficients in the Boreal ecoregion area were highest in the early spring, specifically in April. Mean rank export coefficients for all forms of P and N in the Boreal ecoregion area were significantly higher (p<0.005) in April than in all months from May through October (Appendix 8: Figures A8.1 to A8.3). Export coefficients for all forms of P and the dissolved fractions of N were also significantly higher in March than in June, August, and September (p<0.005). This trend was not observed for TN or Org N.

Nutrient export coefficients in the Parkland ecoregion area showed seasonal trends with higher export coefficients observed in the early spring (March and April). Export coefficients for all forms of P and N in the Parkland ecoregion, with the exception of Org N, were statistically higher (p<0.005) in the early spring (March and April) than in all other months (Appendix 8: Figure A8.4 to A8.6). Mean rank Org N export coefficients were statistically higher in April than in May through October. Total and dissolved P export coefficients were also significantly higher in the late spring (May and June) than in the late summer (August) (Appendix 8: Figure A8.4). Total N export coefficients in the early spring (March) were significantly higher than in June, August, September, and October (Appendix 8: Figure A8.5). Snowmelt in the early spring may contribute to the observed seasonal trends in both the Parkland and Boreal ecoregion areas. Beneficial management practices focused on the seasonal export peaks may be required in order to reduce nutrient loading to downstream users.

Seasonality in nutrient export was not observed in the Grassland ecoregion area (Appendix 8: Figures A8.7 to A8.9). There was no significant difference among mean rank TP or TN export coefficients measured during any of the months of monitoring (KW = 3.858, p=0.796 for TP, KW=4.829, p=0.681 for TN). Moreover, no significant difference was observed in the Grassland ecoregion among months for any of the fractions of P or N (TDP: KW = 5.873, p=0.555; TPP: KW=4.175, p=0.759; Org N: KW=4.746, p=0.691; NO₂⁻-NO₃⁻-N: KW=4.373, p=0.736; NH₃-N: KW=4.716, p=0.695). Snowmelt may not contribute as much to spring runoff in the Grassland ecoregion, in comparison to the Boreal and Parkland ecoregion areas, as a result of chinook events that may decrease the volume of runoff from snowmelt in April and May.

A strong seasonal trend was not observed for P or N export coefficients in Willow Creek, the only stream located in the Continental Divide (Appendix 8: Figures A8.10 to A8.12). Median annual P and N export coefficients in June were higher than in other months; however, only mean rank TDP export coefficients were significantly higher in June than in all other months

(Appendix 8: Figure A8.10). In contrast, a significant difference in mean rank Org N export coefficients among months was not observed (Appendix 8: Figure A8.11). Other P and N parameters were statistically higher in June than in March with little or no difference in statistical significance between remaining months. Overall, export coefficients peaked in the late spring (June) and generally decreased over the summer and fall. The higher export coefficients in June could be a result of the climatic conditions in the Continental Divide. Snowmelt may not contribute as much to export coefficients in Willow Creek as chinook events during the winter may melt and sublimate snow, decreasing the final volume of runoff from snowmelt.

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

Objective 1: Compare instream nutrient concentrations to Canadian Water Quality Guidelines for the Protection of Aquatic Life (PAL) and livestock watering to asses the potential impact of agricultural activity on water quality as well as the impact of different intensities (low, medium, and high) and types (dryland versus irrigation) of agriculture.

- a. Generally, the average TP and TN compliance from 1999 through 2006 was lowest in high agricultural intensity watersheds and highest in low agricultural intensity watersheds (low>moderate>high).
 - Annual variation among individual watersheds was large.
- b. Watersheds in the high and irrigated agricultural intensities had lower average compliance with dissolved fractions of P and N (TDP, NO₂⁻-N, NO₃⁻-N, NH₃-N).
 - This is ecologically significant because dissolved fractions of P and N are more readily available for uptake by aquatic plants and algae than are particulate P or organic N and can contribute to high biomass levels in nutrient limited streams.
 - Reducing these dissolved fractions will help to decrease eutrophication which has been found to impact aquatic ecosystems and degrade surface water quality by creating toxic algal blooms, deplete oxygen, and decrease biodiversity (Carpenter et al. 1998).
- c. Guidelines for NO_2^- , NO_2^- + NO_3^- , and NH_3 -N were rarely exceeded.
 - Irrigated streams had the lowest NO₃⁻ compliance.
 - Rodvang et al. (2004) found manure applied to irrigated areas can have a greater effect on the leaching of nitrogen, specifically NO₃⁻, into the groundwater.
- d. Guidelines set for livestock watering were never exceeded.

Objective 2: Compare nutrient FWMCs and exports among agricultural intensity categories and ecoregion areas to assess whether agricultural and/or ecoregional characteristics influenced FWMCs and exports.

- a. Overall P and N FWMC Conclusions
 - Phosphorus and nitrogen annual FWMCs varied between streams and appeared to be influenced by agricultural intensity.
 - Nitrogen FWMCs were always higher than P FWMCs regardless of the location or agricultural intensity of the watershed.
 - TP FWMCs ranged from 0.008 to 1.300 mg L^{-1}
 - TN FWMCs ranged from 0.120 to 8.600 mg L⁻¹
 - A higher ratio of TP was found to be comprised of the dissolved fraction (TDP/TP ranged from 0.08 in Willow Creek to 0.892 in Haynes Creek) than was observed for TN (DIN/TN ranged from 0.046 in Rose Creek to 0.399 in Haynes Creek).
- b. P and N FWMC by Agricultural Intensity
 - Overall, agricultural intensity influenced N and P FWMCs (higher agricultural intensity, higher FWMC).
 - The lowest and highest P and N FWMCs and ratios were found in streams draining watersheds under low and high agricultural intensity, respectively.
 - Rose and Willow Creeks had the lowest ratios of dissolved to total N and P, respectively, while Haynes Creek had the highest TDP/TP and DIN/TN ratios.
 - All P and N parameters, with the exception of TPP and DIN/TN, were statistically highest in the high agricultural intensity category and lowest in the low agricultural intensity watersheds (L<M=I<H or L=I<M<H).
 - No difference was found among agricultural intensity groups for TPP.
 - DIN/TN showed a stepwise increase from low to high agricultural intensity with the highest FWMCs observed in the irrigated watersheds (L<M<H<I).
- c. P and N FWMC by Ecoregion Area
 - Nitrogen FWMCs were statistically higher in the Parkland ecoregion than in all other ecoregion areas for the majority of N fractions (NH₃-N, Org-N, TN).
 - Nitrogen FWMCs were higher in the Parkland ecoregion than all other ecoregion areas but were not statistically higher than the irrigated grasslands for NO₂⁻·N +NO₃⁻·N and DIN/TN.
 - Note that all watersheds in the Parkland ecoregion were under high agricultural intensity (according to 1996 agricultural intensity metrics), while all other ecoregion areas, with the exception of the irrigated grasslands, have a mix of agricultural intensities. The Irrigated Grasslands watersheds were all under high agricultural intensity.
 - Phosphorus FWMCs were also statistically higher in the Parkland ecoregion than all other ecoregion areas for all fractions of P (TP, TDP, and TDP/TP) with the exception of TPP, which was statistically higher in the Boreal ecoregion area. The rest of the ecoregion areas did not statistically differ from one another.

- The Grassland ecoregion area (and Continental Divide) had lower P and N FWMCs the ratios of dissolved to total (TDP/TP and DIN/TN) were statistically lower in the Grassland watersheds than all other ecoregion areas.
- d. Overall P and N Export Coefficient Conclusions
 - Total P export coefficients ranged from 0.012 to 0.197 kg ha⁻¹yr⁻¹; TN export coefficients ranged from 0.03 to 12.0 kg ha⁻¹yr⁻¹.
 - Total phosphorus and nitrogen export coefficients were similar to values reported in other studies in Alberta and were also within the range of export coefficients measured in other studies in Canada, the United States, and Europe.
 - The highest TN and TP export coefficients were not necessarily measured in the same streams.
 - Nutrient export coefficients were primarily driven by factors characteristic of the ecoregion areas the watersheds were located in.
 - Overall, a clear pattern was not observed between agricultural intensity and nutrient export coefficients; however the ratios of TDP/TP and DIN/TN exported were influenced by agricultural intensity.
- e. P and N Export Coefficients by Agricultural Intensity
 - Total P, TN, and Org N export coefficients were not influenced by agricultural intensity; a statistical difference was not observed among agricultural intensity categories.
 - Although not statistically significant among all agricultural intensity categories, TDP and NH₃-N export coefficients showed a stepwise trend of increasing export coefficients with increasing agricultural intensity, which was also reported in the CAESA study.
 - Watersheds within the moderate agricultural intensity category differed in nutrient export coefficients depending on the ecoregion area they were located in
 - Moderate agricultural intensity streams in the Grassland ecoregion had lower TP, TDP, NO₂⁻+NO₃⁻-N, and TN export coefficients than moderate watersheds in the Boreal ecoregion area.
 - The ratio of DIN/TN showed a stepwise trend with increasing agricultural intensity (H>M>L); TDP/TP was higher in high agricultural intensity watersheds but was similar among low and moderate agricultural intensity streams.
- f. P and N Export Coefficients by Ecoregion Area
 - Total nutrient export coefficients were generally highest in the Boreal ecoregion area.
 - Total particulate P export coefficients were influenced by runoff depth and were therefore highest in the Boreal ecoregion area with lower export coefficients measured in the Parkland and Grassland ecoregion areas.
 - Total N and Org N export coefficients were highest in the Boreal and lowest in the Grassland ecoregion area.

- Total P, TDP, NO₂⁻+NO₃⁻-N, and NH₃-N export coefficients were lowest in the Grassland ecoregion area with similar export coefficients found in both the Boreal and Parkland ecoregion areas.
- Variability in P and N export coefficients was observed within the Boreal ecoregion area; differences among watersheds were based on more specific ecoregion characteristics (i.e., differences in landscape and climate), not differences in agricultural intensity within the Boreal ecoregion area.
- The ratio of TDP/TP and DIN/TN was highest in the Parkland ecoregion and lowest in the Grassland ecoregion area. The higher ratios in the Parkland ecoregion were likely a result of higher agricultural intensity.
 - All of the watersheds in the Parkland ecoregion were all under high agricultural intensity (streams in the Boreal were under a mix of low, moderate, and high agricultural intensity; streams in the Grassland ecoregion were under a mix of low and moderate agricultural intensity).

Objective 3: Examine nutrient FWMC and export relationships with agricultural intensity metrics as a means to assess the impact of different intensities (low, moderate, and high) and types of agriculture on water quality (Objective 1 of the AESA stream survey).

- a. Nutrient FWMC correlations with agricultural intensity metrics
 - Overall, strong, positive correlations (0.50 to 0.75, p<0.02) were observed between agricultural intensity metrics and dissolved N fractions (NO₂⁻N +NO₃⁻-N and NH₃-N FWMCs) as well as the ratios of TDP/TP and DIN/TN.
 - Although strong, positive correlations were observed for many parameters with both fertilizer and chemical sales, only the ratio of DIN/TN was strongly correlated with the average manure production percentile (0.63, p<0.02).
 - The ratio of TDP/TP was strongly, positively correlated with fertilizer and chemical sales metrics overall but not with manure.
 - The ratio of DIN/TN was strongly, positively correlated with all 3 metrics overall (fertilizer expenses, chemical expenses, and manure production).
 - The correlation between the overall agricultural intensity metric and the dissolved nutrient fractions supports use of the metric as an indicator for agricultural influence of nutrient concentrations.
 - Note that it was the dissolved fractions of N and P rather than the total that correlated most closely with the agricultural intensity metric at a provincial scale.
 - In the Boreal ecoregion area, only TN and N fractions and ratios were strongly, positively correlated (0.75 to 0.92, p<0.05) with the average agricultural intensity percentile.
 - The agricultural intensity metric was more strongly correlated overall with N than with P in the Boreal ecoregion area, which may be a result of the higher but variable ratios of particulate P from runoff events.

- Total P and TN FWMCs in the Boreal were strongly, positively correlated with manure production percentiles (p<0.05).
- TDP/TP was not correlated with any A.I. metrics, while DIN/TN was strongly correlated with manure production and fertilizer sales percentiles in the Boreal.
- Phosphorus FWMCs appeared to have a positive relationship with agricultural intensity percentiles in the Parkland ecoregion area, though TN was the only parameter significantly correlated with the average agricultural intensity metric (0.89, p>0.05).
 - Strong, positive correlations were observed between the fertilizer metric and TP, TDP, and Org N (p<0.05), while no significant correlations were observed between nutrient FWMCs and the manure production and fertilizer sales metrics.
 - The stronger correlation between chemical sales and nutrient concentrations in the Parkland ecoregion were unexpected considering that fertilizer and manure are nutrient sources. It is uncertain weather the metrics for nutrient sources are inadequate or if there is something inherent about the chemical sales percentiles (i.e., land use type) that is a better surrogate of nutrient use.
- b. Export coefficient correlations with agricultural intensity metrics
 - In general, strong correlations were not observed between median annual P and N export coefficients for the AESA dryland streams and Census of Agriculture metrics averaged for the three years of data that were available (1996, 2001, and 2006).
 - The strongest correlations were observed between the metrics and the ratios of TDP/TP and DIN/TN.
 - A very strong and positive correlation was found between TDP/TP and the average agricultural intensity percentile (0.75, p<0.02) and average fertilizer and chemical sales percentiles (0.79 and 0.81, respectively).
 - The ratio of DIN/TN was very strongly, positively correlated with all agricultural intensity metrics (p<0.02). DIN/TN was the only parameter that was strongly correlated with the average manure production percentile (0.77).
 - Nutrient correlations with agricultural intensity metrics varied among ecoregion areas, but the correlations were only significant for the Boreal watersheds.
 - DIN/TN in the Boreal ecoregion area was strongly, positively correlated with the agricultural intensity and manure production metrics (0.77 and 0.97, respectively; p<0.05).
 - Surprisingly, nutrient export coefficients in the Parkland Ecoregion were not significantly correlated with the averaged agricultural intensity metric or manure production and fertilizer expenses percentiles (p>0.05), even though all AESA watersheds located in the Parkland Ecoregion were under high intensity agriculture.

Objective 4: Identify changes in water quality with time (Objective 2 of the AESA stream survey).

- a. Overall, temporal trends (1995 to 2006 or 1999 to 2006) in P and N FWMCs were not observed.
 - Many watersheds that exhibited inter-annual patterns in nutrient FWMCs were strongly influenced by flow.
 - Watersheds where a statistical trend analysis should be considered include Battersea Drain, Prairie Blood Coulee, Blindman River, Kleskun Drain, Meadow Creek, Tomahawk Creek, Buffalo Creek, Renwick Creek, and Wabash Creek. In each of these watersheds, an increasing or decreasing trend may emerge.
- b. Generally, there were no temporal patterns in median annual loading values during the AESA monitoring period.
 - Median annual loading values were strongly correlated with annual flow volumes.
 - Typically, years with high flow volumes yielded high annual loading values.
 - If there was deviation from this pattern, there were three factors that may have contributed to the variation: sampling regime, seasonality of precipitation, and change of land management or land use.

Objective 5: Examine seasonal patterns to assess whether nutrient concentrations and exports vary during different times of the monitoring period (i.e., spring, summer, and fall).

- a. Seasonality of FWMCs and mechanism for transport
 - In general, seasonal changes in water quality (March to October) were only observed in high agricultural intensity watersheds, which had higher nutrient FWMCs in the spring and early summer.
 - The lack of seasonal differences in N and P FWMCs for the other agricultural intensity watersheds was likely a reflection of the differences in regional characteristics such as soil type, topography, and climate.
 - The majority of watersheds classified in the high agricultural intensity category were located in the Parkland ecoregion area, while the remaining agricultural intensity groups covered multiple ecoregion areas.
 - Seasonality was generally not observed in the irrigated watersheds since flows are controlled.
- b. Seasonality of P and N Export Coefficients and mechanism for transport
 - Seasonal trends in overall nutrient export in each watershed were influenced by the climatic and geographic characteristics representative of each ecoregion area.
 - Most forms of P and N export coefficients were highest in the early spring in the Boreal and Parkland ecoregion areas, particularly in April in the Boreal streams.

- In contrast, streams in the Grassland ecoregion area did not show seasonal differences in P or N export coefficient.
- The lowest P export coefficients occurred in March in the Continental Divide (Willow Creek). Significantly higher TN export coefficients were observed in June in Willow Creek.

Chapter 4: Bacteria

TABLE of CONTENTS

TABLE of CONTENTS	4-i
LIST OF FIGURES	4-iii
LIST OF TABLES	
INTRODUCTION	
Alberta Context	
Objectives	
MATERIALS AND METHODS	
Sample Collection	
Laboratory Analyses	
Data Management and Analyses of Bacteria Data	
Data validation	
Compliance with surface water quality guidelines	
Export coefficient and mass load calculations	
Statistical analyses	
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	
Ambient Fecal Coliform and E. coli Concentrations	
Overall	
Sample numbers	
Detection frequency	
Median concentrations	
Arithmetic mean concentrations	
Geometric mean concentrations	
Interauartile ranges	
E. coli-to-Fecal coliform Ratio	
Compliance with surface water quality guidelines	
Annual Ambient Geometric Means	
By agricultural intensity.	
By ecoregion area	
By stream	
Inter-annual patterns	
Correlational Relationships	
Fecal bacteria concentrations and agricultural intensity (AI) metrics	
Fecal bacteria concentrations and physical and chemical parameters.	
Seasonality of Ambient Fecal Coliforms and E. coli Concentrations	
Annual Export Coefficients	
By stream.	
By agricultural intensity.	

By ecoregion area	
Fecal Bacteria Loads	4-44
SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS	4-46

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 4.1.	Distribution of manure production in Alberta's agricultural zone in 2001 (Source: Statistics Canada)
Figure 4.2.	Boxplots of the annual geometric means of fecal coliform and <i>E. coli</i> for 23 AESA streams grouped by agricultural intensity where Mod represents moderate and Irrig represents irrigated watersheds
Figure 4.3.	Boxplots of the annual geometric means of <i>E. coli</i> in watersheds with low (a), moderate (b), high (c), and irrigated (d) agriculture
Figure 4.4.	Boxplots of the annual geometric means of fecal coliforms in watersheds with low (a), moderate (b), high (c), and irrigated (d) agriculture
Figure 4.5.	Boxplots of the annual geometric means of <i>E. coli</i> (a) and fecal coliform (b) bacteria for 23 AESA streams grouped by ecoregion area
Figure 4.6.	Median annual geometric means by agricultural intensity for fecal coliforms (a) and <i>E. coli</i> (b) in 23 AESA watersheds
Figure 4.7.	Boxplots for fecal coliform (a) and <i>E. coli</i> (b) geometric means for all streams from 1999 to 2006
Figure 4.8.	Boxplots of fecal coliforms (a), <i>E. coli</i> (b), and NFR (c) for Meadow Creek (1999 through 2006)
Figure 4.9.	Boxplots of fecal coliforms (a), <i>E. coli</i> (b), and NFR (c) for Ray Creek (1999 through 2006)
Figure 4.10.	Box Plots of fecal coliforms (a), <i>E. coli</i> (b), and NFR (c) for the Blindman River from 1999 to 2006
Figure 4.11.	Average agricultural intensity metric (1999, 2001, 2006) and median annual arithmetic mean fecal coliform concentrations for 23 AESA watersheds by ecoregion area
Figure 4.12.	Scatter plot of TSS/NFR versus fecal coliform (median of annual median, n=23) 4-29
Figure 4.13.	Scatter plot of TSS/NFR versus fecal coliform (annual medians) by ecoregion area: Boreal (a), Parkland (b), Grassland (c), and Irrigated Grassland (d)
Figure 4.14.	Scatter plot of runoff depth (mm) versus the median of annual fecal coliform means (1999 to 2006)

Figure 4.15.	Scatterplots of fecal coliforms versus median of annual median total phosphorus (a), total dissolved phosphorus (b), and total nitrogen (c) concentrations in 23 AESA streams (1999 to 2006)
Figure 4.16.	NFR box plot by month using all streams from 1999 through 2006 4-35
Figure 4.17.	Fecal coliform concentrations by month (March through October) for Boreal (a), Parkland (b), Grassland (c), and Irrigated grassland (d) ecoregion areas
Figure 4.18.	E. coli concentrations by month (March through October) for Boreal (a), Parkland (b),) Grassland (c), and Irrigated grassland (d) ecoregion areas
Figure 4.19.	Median annual fecal coliform export coefficients for the 19 dryland AESA streams.
Figure 4.20.	Median annual E. coli export coefficients for 19 dryalnd
Figure 4.21.	Box plots of annual export coefficients for <i>E. coli</i> (a) and fecal coliform (b) (1999 to 2006) in the three dryland agricultural intensity categories
Figure 4.22.	Boxplots of the median annual export coefficient for <i>E. coli</i> in watersheds with low (a), moderate (b), and high (c) intensity agriculture and fecal coliforms in watersheds with low (d), moderate (e), and high (f) intensity agriculture
Figure 4.23.	Boxplots of the annual export coefficients of <i>E. coli</i> (a) and fecal coliforms (b) for 23 AESA streams grouped by ecoregion area
Figure 4.24.	Median annual fecal coliform and <i>E. coli</i> loads for 22 of 23 AESA streams (all but Drain S6)

LIST OF TABLES

Table 4.1.	High magnitude peaks in fecal coliform and <i>E. coli</i> concentrations during the monitoring period, 1999 to 2006
Table 4.2.	Percent compliance with Alberta Surface Water Quality Guidelines for irrigation (fecal coliform) and recreation (<i>E. coli</i>) uses. Annual average and standard deviations reported
Table 4.3.	Annual median and geometric mean fecal coliform concentrations (CFU 100mL ⁻¹), 1999 to 2006
Table 4.4.	Annual median and geometric mean <i>E. coli</i> concentrations (CFU 100mL ⁻¹), 1999 to 2006
Table 4.5.	Spearman rank correlation coefficients (n=23) between average agricultural intensity, average manure production metrics (1999, 2001, 2006) and median annual geometric and arithmetic mean <i>E. coli</i> and fecal coliform concentrations. None of the correlations were significant (p>0.05)
Table 4.6.	Spearman rank correlation coefficients for fecal coliforms by ecoregion area 4-27
Table 4.7.	Spearman Rank correlation coefficients between ambient fecal bacteria concentrations and physical parameters for median of annual medians (n=23) and annual medians (n=180)
Table 4.8.	Spearman Rank correlation coefficients between ambient fecal bacteria concentrations and physical parameters (median of annual median)
Table 4.9.	Spearman Rank correlation coefficients between ambient fecal bacteria concentrations and physical parameters (median of annual median)
Table 4.10.	Spearman Rank correlation coefficients between ambient fecal bacteria concentrations and nutrient chemistry parameters (median of annual medians, n=23)
Table 4.11.	Statistical output from Kruskal-Wallis tests for seasonal differences using all ambient fecal bacteria concentrations (1999 to 2006) in 23 AESA watersheds 4-38

INTRODUCTION

Bacteriological analysis of surface waters provides an indication of the presence of fecal material from warm-blooded animals (e.g., domestic animals, wildlife, and humans). Indicator bacteria, like fecal coliforms and *Escherichia coli* (*E. coli*), originate in the digestive tract of animals and indicate the possible presence of pathogens that cause waterborne disease, though these bacteria do not necessarily cause illness themselves. Indicator bacteria are useful in the study of pathogen risk, as it is cost-prohibitive to study specific zoonotic pathogens (e.g., salmonella, listeria, campylobacter, *E. coli* O157:H7, *Cryptosporidium parvum*, giardia, and rotavirus) in long-term studies such as the AESA Stream Survey.

Fecal contamination of agricultural streams presents a potential health risk to those who come in contact with the water because of potential exposure to protozoan parasites, bacteria, or viruses. Fecal matter from livestock (e.g., swine, cattle, and poultry) or wildlife (e.g., birds, deer, and beaver) can enter streams with surface runoff, by sediment erosion, or by direct animal access to water (Collins 2004; Oliver et al. 2005; McDowell 2007). Agricultural practices such as spreading cattle or swine manure on frozen land or during wet periods amplify the likelihood of overland movement of fecal matter. However, the highest risk scenario for pathogen transfer to surface waters occurs during grazing, when cattle have direct access to water (Ferguson et al. 2003). Untreated human waste may also enter ditches and streams when individual septic systems leak or become overloaded during wet periods.

Most pathogens do not multiply outside of a host organism and have a limited lifetime in surface waters because conditions are sub-optimal for survival. The detection of fecal coliforms or E. coli in water is indicative of recent fecal contamination. The length of time these organisms will survive in the environment is dependent on environmental factors such as temperature, pH, sediment levels, and freezing and/or thawing processes (Verstraete and Voets 1976; Fujioka et al. 1981; Flint 1987). For example, low temperatures in surface water, which slow metabolism, generally prolong the survival of bacteria (Wang and Doyle 1998). In contrast, high temperatures during manure composting (temperature dependent upon substrate composition, moisture content, and duration of incubation) can decrease the likelihood of fecal bacteria and pathogen transmission (Turner 2002; Larney et al. 2003). Sediments in the bottom of streams often have higher concentrations of bacteria than the overlying water as a result of various environmental factors, such as increased organic matter, that affect survival of fecal bacteria (Gerba and McLeod 1976; Brettar and Hofle 1992). Fecal organisms are bound to sediments at the bottom of water sources until the sediments are disturbed by sources such as livestock or wildlife walking through the waterway (Sherer et al. 1988; McDowell 2007; Koirala et al. 2008). Therefore, bacteria die-off or resuspension in stream water impacts the concentrations observed (Jamieson et al. 2005).

Canadian guidelines for fecal coliform and *E. coli* exist to protect humans from potential health risks associated with recreation and irrigation uses. If guidelines are met, surface waters are considered safe for body contact during recreation or application to crops through irrigation. If guidelines are not met, the level of fecal contamination may pose a health risk. However, since indicator bacteria do not necessarily cause illness, more information is typically required on the source of bacteria to determine whether pathogens are present (Minnesota River Basin Data

Centre 2003). Whenever surface water is used as a drinking water source (e.g., dugout, lake, or river water for human consumption), it must be treated so that fecal coliform concentrations are 0 CFU \cdot 100 mL⁻¹.

Alberta Context

Increased land pressure as a result of the intensity of livestock production in Alberta may lead to increased fecal contamination of surface water. The majority of agriculture in Alberta is accounted for by the beef cattle sector. Compared to other Canadian provinces, Alberta was the lead province in cattle and calf inventories in 2006 (6.3 million head), accounting for more than one-half (51.4 %) of the total estimated western Canadian herd (Statistics Canada 2006). Overall, large numbers of livestock across Alberta have the potential to significantly contribute bacteria into surface water through hydrologically linked pathways from manure spreading areas or by direct access to waterways.

On a provincial-scale, manure production tends to be greatest in the western portion of the white or agricultural zone (along the Highway 2 Edmonton-Calgary corridor) and in the Lethbridge area (Figure 4.1). Manure production values are based on the number of cattle and calves, pigs, hens, chickens, and other types of livestock. Livestock other than cows and calves are typically intensively managed, with manure often applied to land (via surface spreading or injection) in close proximity to the intensive livestock operation.

Efforts are currently being made to minimize the risks of fecal contamination to surface water bodies through encouraging best management practices, such as establishing proper grazing strategies and wintering sites, and by properly siting livestock corrals and manure storage sites and maintaining set back distances as outlined under the Agricultural Operation Practices Act (AOPA 2000). However, in cases where best management practices are not in place and natural conditions are favorable for overland movement of fecal bacteria into streams, contamination may be occurring. A sustainable livestock industry in Alberta is dependent on there being sufficient land base for manure application in regions where manure is generated.



Figure 4.1. Distribution of manure production in Alberta's agricultural zone in 2001 (Source: Statistics Canada).

Objectives

As introduced in Chapter 1, the AESA Stream Survey was initiated to learn more about how stream water quality is impacted by low, moderate, and high intensity agriculture in Alberta and to track changes in water quality as the industry grows and agricultural management practices change.

The specific objectives of this chapter were to:

- i. Assess compliance with Canadian Water Quality Guidelines;
- ii. Assess differences in fecal bacteria levels among watersheds with varying levels of agricultural intensity (AI) and in different ecoregion areas;
- iii. Examine inter annual patterns in fecal coliform and *E. coli*;
- iv. Examine the relationship between manure production in a watershed and the number of fecal coliforms and *E. coli* detected in water;
- v. Investigate the relationship between bacteria concentrations and possible transport mechanisms (e.g., flow, sediment transport, and precipitation); and
- vi. Examine seasonal patterns in fecal coliform and E. coli.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Sample Collection

Stream water samples for fecal bacteria analyses were collected at the same frequency as nutrient samples and followed a flow-proportionate sampling regime. Samples were collected twice per week during runoff periods, once per week as runoff subsided, and once every two weeks to once a month during baseflow conditions. The total number of samples collected for each stream varied from year to year as a function of stream flow and runoff.

Samples were collected from 1999 to 2006 from 23 streams (Chapter 2: Table 2.2). In addition, 16 watersheds from the original CAESA program were sampled and analyzed for bacteria in 1998. Any comparisons carried out among watersheds, agricultural intensity classification categories, or ecoregion categories were completed on data from 1999 to 2006 to ensure results could be attributed to the factors under investigation rather than the presence or lack of data for each stream. Years with no sample collection for a particular stream indicates that stream flow did not occur (Chapter 2: Table 2.8); however, the lack of sample collection was a result of logistic problems in some cases (see Chapter 2: Results and Discussion - Hydrology).

Laboratory Analyses

The Provincial Laboratories for Public Health in Edmonton and Calgary provided bacterial enumeration for fecal coliforms and *E. coli*. Samples were analyzed using membrane filtration followed by seven serial dilutions (APHA). The method detection limit (MDL) differed between

laboratories, so the higher MDL (10 CFU \cdot 100 mL⁻¹) was applied to all samples to ensure consistency in the data set.

Data Management and Analyses of Bacteria Data

Data validation. All data were validated to ensure that *E. coli* concentrations did not exceed the fecal coliform concentrations. Concentrations below the lower method detection limit (MDL) were changed to $\frac{1}{2}$ MDL. Concentrations greater than the upper method detection limit were set to equal the upper method detection limit.

Compliance with surface water quality guidelines. Ambient *E. coli* and fecal coliform concentrations were compared to the Alberta Surface Water Quality Guidelines (AENV 1999) for recreational and agricultural uses, respectively. Both guidelines were applied to all 23 AESA watersheds.

The irrigation guideline for fecal coliform bacteria ($100 \text{ CFU} \cdot 100 \text{ mL}^{-1}$) is primarily intended for irrigation water applied to produce that is consumed raw (e.g., lettuce, cabbage, and cauliflower), but it may also be applied to irrigation water used for other field crops.

The Health Canada recreation guideline for *E. coli* (200 CFU·100 mL⁻¹) applies to surface water bodies used for activities involving bodily contact with water (e.g., swimming, canoeing, and fishing). To correctly apply the recreation guideline, instantaneous bacteria concentrations should be compared to the trigger value of 400 CFU·100 mL⁻¹. If the trigger value is exceeded, the geometric mean of 5 samples collected in 30 days should fall below 200 CFU·100 mL⁻¹ (Health and Welfare Canada 1992). The flow-biased sampling regime of the AESA stream survey was not set up to examine the geometric mean over 30 days of sampling. In this report, instantaneous bacteria concentrations were compared to the most restrictive value of 200 CFU·100 mL⁻¹.

Export coefficient and mass load calculations. Mass loads were determined from instantaneous daily discharge data and periodic sample data using version 4.5 and method #3 of the program FLUX (U.S. Army Corps of Engineers 1995). The data record from 1999 to 2006 for ambient *E. coli* and fecal coliform concentrations (CFU·100 mL⁻¹) and flow ($m^3 \cdot s^{-1}$) were used in FLUX. The same methods used to calculate annual nutrient loads were applied to the bacteria data (see Chapter 3: Materials and Methods – Load, FWMC, and export calculations). Mass loads were not reported in Haynes Creek M6 in 2004 and Stretton Creek in 2000 through 2003 as FLUX was not capable of accurately estimating the values with few samples or with very low or zero flow records. Loads were not calculated for Drain S-6 due to missing flow data.

Export coefficients were calculated by dividing the total mass load by the total active drainage area to express mass export of a watershed per unit time for comparison among watersheds (Chapter 2: Table 2.1). Export coefficients were not calculated for the irrigated streams (Battersea Drain, Crowfoot Creek, Drain S6, and New West Coulee) as discussed in Chapter 3 (see Chapter 3: Materials and Methods – Load, FWMC, and export calculations). The hydrology in watersheds with irrigation is altered due to irrigation canals that extend beyond the natural watershed boundary.

Statistical analyses. Any count below the method detection limit was included in the summary statistic calculations as $\frac{1}{2}$ the MDL (or 5 CFU·100 mL⁻¹). All statistical analyses were completed in SYSTAT 10 (SPSS Inc. 2000). Summary statistics were computed for ambient and FWMC data for both *E. coli* and fecal coliforms. Data from 1999 to 2006 were used for statistical analyses.

In general, the bacteria concentration data set was highly skewed with a large proportion of censored data points (those values below the MDL). This limited the ability to log-normalize the data set, and consequently, all analyses conducted using bacteria concentrations were non-parametric.

The summary statistic used to report fecal bacteria data is very important. The geometric mean is often employed instead of an arithmetic mean due to the asymmetrical distribution of the bacteria data. The geometric mean tends to dampen the effect of very high or very low values which can bias the arithmetic mean. A monthly geometric mean (based on 5 samples collected over a 30-day period) is used to assess compliance with water quality guidelines. However, there is no universal agreement in the scientific community on which statistic (median, arithmetic mean, or geometric mean) should be consistently used in reporting bacteria data. All summary statistics were calculated and reported to better understand the data set.

The geometric mean was calculated in MS Excel using either the geometric mean function (GeoMean) or an array formula (=EXP(AVERAGE(LN(A1:A200)))). The geometric mean function (GeoMean) generated an error when applied to a long list of numbers necessitating the array formula.

Median annual fecal coliform and *E. coli* concentrations were not normally distributed. Too many median values of 5 (1/2 MDL) meant that log transformations would not normalize the data set. A nonparametric test (Kruskal Wallis One-Way ANOVA) was used on untransformed data followed by a Mann-Whitney test when applicable.

Unlike median annual data, annual geometric means could be normalized using a log 10 transformation, and parametric statistics were applied. Differences among streams, ecoregion areas, and agricultural intensity categories were assessed using ANOVA and Tukey's post hoc test.

Seasonality was examined using ambient fecal coliform and *E. coli* data (1999 to 2006) for all streams. Kruskal Wallis One-Way ANOVA and Mann-Whitney statistics were conducted on untransformed ambient fecal coliform and *E. coli* data as a suitable transformation to normalize the data was not found.
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Ambient Fecal Coliform and E. coli Concentrations

Overall. Fecal coliforms and *E. coli* were found to be highly correlated (Spearman rank correlation $(r_s)=0.962$). Summary tables, which include sample numbers, detection frequencies, medians, geometric and arithmetic means, interquartile ranges, and ratios of *E. coli* to fecal coliform concentrations, can be found in the Appendix (Tables A10.1, A10.2, A10.3a and b, Figure A10.1). Additional highlights are found in the text below.

Sample numbers - The majority of streams had between 13 and 19 samples collected per year, or a total of 100 or more samples over the 8 year monitoring period. The exceptions included Haynes Creek, Stretton Creek, Kleskun Drain, and Wabash Creek which had an average of 6 to 12 samples collected per year and a total of 47 to 92 samples collected (over the 1999 to 2006 monitoring period). Sampling frequencies were most consistent in the irrigation return flows where flows are controlled.

Detection frequency - The proportion of all samples with detectable levels of fecal bacteria ranged from 40% in Stretton Creek (high agricultural intensity) to 97% in Meadow Creek (moderate agricultural intensity) for *E. coli* and from 53% in Willow Creek (low agricultural intensity) to 99% in Meadow Creek for fecal coliforms. Detection frequencies were consistently higher for fecal coliforms as *E. coli* are a subset of fecal coliforms.

Median concentrations - Statistical calculations include censored data points; thus, median concentrations may better reflect detection frequencies in watersheds, particularly watersheds with lower or fewer occurrences of fecal bacteria. On a whole, all streams with the exception of two moderate agricultural intensity watersheds in the Grasslands ecoregion area (Meadow and Trout Creeks) had median *E. coli* concentrations <100 CFU·100 mL⁻¹. Furthermore, all streams but four (Trout, Meadow, Rose, and New West Coulee) had median fecal coliform concentrations <100 CFU·100 mL⁻¹.

Arithmetic mean concentrations - Mean concentrations of *E. coli* ranged from 20 (in Stretton Creek) to 1264 CFU·100 mL⁻¹ (in Meadow Creek). Mean fecal coliform concentrations ranged from 23 CFU·100 mL⁻¹ (in Stretton Creek) to 2221 CFU·100 mL⁻¹ (in Meadow Creek). The three watersheds with the lowest concentrations of fecal coliforms or *E. coli* were Stretton, Willow, and Hines Creeks. The three watersheds with the highest concentrations of fecal coliforms and *E. coli* were Meadow Creek (both), Tomahawk Creek (both), Strawberry Creek (*E. coli* only) and Battersea Drain (fecal coliforms only). Arithmetic mean concentrations closely mirrored maximum concentrations (Spearman Rank Correlations (r_s)> 0.97).

Geometric mean concentrations - Geometric mean concentrations for *E. coli* ranged from 11 (in Stretton and Willow Creeks) to 448 CFU·100 mL⁻¹ (in Meadow Creek) and from 12 (in Stretton Creek) to 660 CFU·100 mL⁻¹ (in Meadow Creek) for fecal coliforms. The three watersheds with the lowest geometric means included Willow, Stretton, and Haynes Creeks, and the three with the highest means included Meadow Creek, Trout Creek and New West Coulee. Geometric mean concentrations closely mirrored median concentrations.

Interquartile ranges - Interquartile ranges and 75th percentiles were examined to gather information on the variability of instream bacteria concentrations and frequency of the higher bacteria concentrations among streams.

Interquartile ranges for *E. coli* varied from 15 to 980 (average = $148 \text{ CFU} \cdot 100 \text{ mL}^{-1}$) and ranged from 15 to 1620 (average = $205 \text{ CFU} \cdot 100 \text{ mL}^{-1}$) for fecal coliforms. The data imply that fecal bacteria concentrations could vary by an order of magnitude above or below the median in agricultural streams. The streams with higher variability included Rose Creek, Blindman River, Grande Prairie Creek, Tomahawk Creek, Trout Creek, Ray Creek, Strawberry Creek, and the four irrigated streams (Battersea Drain, Crowfoot Creek, Drain S6, and New West Coulee). The interquartile range for Meadow Creek was exceptionally high.

Generally speaking, streams with higher interquartile ranges (i.e., bacteria concentrations spanned a broader range) also had higher mean bacteria concentrations. However, this was not always the case. There were four exceptions: Battersea Drain, Kleskun Drain, Strawberry Creek, and Tomahawk Creek. In each of these streams the mean concentrations were higher than would be expected based on interquartile range or 75th percentile values. A few (<3) sampling dates with very high magnitude peaks (i.e., $>10,000 \text{ CFU} \cdot 100 \text{ mL}^{-1}$) skewed the mean upwards (Table 4.1).

	agintude peaks n			lions during the
monitoring period,	1999 to 2006.			
Watershed	Date	Fecal coliform	E. coli	Comments
(agricultural		$(CFU \cdot 100 \text{ mL}^{-1})$	$(CFU \cdot 100 \text{ mL}^{-1})$	
intensity)				
Kleskun Drain	May 31, 2001	20,000	17,000	This was the only peak
(moderate)				of this magnitude
Tomahawk	June 14, 1999	27,000	27,000	Two high magnitude
Creek	May 26, 2006	42,000	40,000	peaks in spring/early
(moderate)				summer
Strawberry Creek	July 20, 2000	27,000	21,500	Two peaks mid-
(high)	July 30, 2001	22,000	18,000	summer
Battersea Drain	June 10, 2002	34,000	10,000	Three peaks in June.
(irrigated)	June 9, 2005	21,000	15,000	
	June 15, 2006	15,000	10,000	

Table 4.1 High magnitude peaks in fecal coliform and *E* coli concentrations during the

Means alone may not consistently be a reliable tool for assessing the risks due to pathogen levels in stream water, as highlighted in the above examples. Nine of the 23 AESA streams had fecal coliform or *E. coli* concentrations in the order of 10^4 CFU·100 mL⁻¹ (Table A4.3a), but in the four streams noted above, this was the exception and not the rule. In the case of Tomahawk Creek, 2 of 156 samples were of very high magnitude, but they appear to be isolated events and represent <1.5% of samples over an eight year period. For the purpose of risk assessment, it may be useful to show the distribution of fecal bacteria in categories (e.g., <10, <100, <100, <1000, <10,000, <100,000, ≥100,000).

An initial risk assessment based on concentrations >1000 (i.e., 10x higher than the most stringent water quality guideline) revealed that in 6 of the 23 AESA streams (Willow Creek, Prairie Blood Coulee, Hines Creek, Stretton Creek, Wabash Creek, and Haynes Creek), fewer than 1% (\leq 1%) of samples had fecal coliform and *E. coli* concentrations >1000 CFU·100 mL⁻¹. Eight watersheds (the above plus Kleskun Drain and Buffalo Creek) had \leq 1% of samples with *E. coli* concentrations >1000 CFU·100 mL⁻¹. Between 2 and 10% of samples in the rest of the AESA streams (with the exception of Meadow Creek) had fecal coliform and *E. coli* concentrations >1000 CFU·100 mL⁻¹. In Meadow Creek, 34% of fecal coliform and 29% of *E. coli* samples exceeded this threshold.

E. coli-to-Fecal coliform Ratio - In individual streams, the average proportion of fecal coliform comprised of *E. coli* ranged from 71 to 87% (Table A10.1). Median ratios were 100 for all streams except the three streams in the Grassland ecoregion area (Meadow Creek, Trout Creek, and Prairie Blood Coulee), the four streams in the Irrigated Grassland ecoregion area (Battersea Drain, Crowfoot Creek, Drain S-6, and New West Coulee), and Rose Creek (Boreal ecoregion area). Lower ratios may imply different sources of fecal contamination in the Fescue Grasslands and Mixed and Moist Mixed Grassland Ecoregions.

Compliance with surface water quality guidelines. Irrigation and recreation guidelines provide a benchmark with which to compare the bacteria data and assess general water quality.

Average annual percent compliance with the irrigation guideline (100 CFU \cdot 100 mL⁻¹ fecal coliforms) ranged from 12% in Meadow Creek (moderate agricultural intensity) to 96% in Stretton Creek (high agricultural intensity). Compliance with the irrigation guideline was generally highest in watersheds with low and high agricultural intensity (Table 4.2). Since the guideline need only be applied under circumstances where the water is potentially used for irrigation, the watersheds where this information has greatest importance are Battersea Drain, Crowfoot Creek, Drain S6, and New West Coulee. It is important to clarify that the sampling location is at the mouth of these watersheds, and though irrigation agriculture is practiced within these basins, the source water used to irrigate crops is not the water sampled under the AESA Stream Survey. The sampling points may include both source water and some irrigation return flows. Compliance with irrigation guidelines would be directly applicable under circumstances where water from the irrigation return flow streams was used as source water for downstream users. Risks to human health may occur if water containing fecal bacteria in excess of irrigation guidelines was applied to crops that are eaten raw, such as lettuce, spinach, and tomatoes. Research has shown that risks may be lowered by waiting one to two weeks between irrigating and harvesting raw crops, as bacteria will desiccate and no longer be viable (Hutchison et al. 2008).

Average annual percent compliance with the recreation guideline ranged from 22% in Meadow Creek (moderate agricultural intensity) to 100% in Stretton Creek (high agricultural intensity) (Table 4.2). Again, compliance tended to be highest in watersheds with low or high intensity agriculture. High compliance with recreation guidelines suggests low risk to human health when in contact with water while undergoing activities like swimming, white water sports, sailing, canoeing, and fishing (CCME 1992). With the exception of three watersheds (Rose, Trout, and Meadow Creeks), mean annual compliance values were >75% for the 1999 to 2006

period. These values show that there is room for improvement but that compliance is generally high.

Table 4.2. Percent compliance with Alberta Surface Water Quality Guidelines for irrigation (face) colliform) and represented (<i>Face</i>) uses. A pruel evenues and stendard deviations reported						
(fecal coliform) and recre	eation (E. coli) uses. Ann	ual average	e and sta	andard deviations r	eported.
	Fecal	coliforms		<i>E. co</i>	li	
	n ^z	% Compliance Irrigation (100 CFU 100 mL ⁻¹)	Std. Dev ^y	n ^z	% Compliance Recreation (200 CFU 100 mL ⁻¹)	Std. Dev ^y
Low agricultural intensit	У					
Hines Creek (HIN)	14	87	15	14	96	6
Paddle Creek (PAD)	19	80	8	19	92	6
Prairie Blood Coulee	14	84	9	14	94	7
(PRA)						
Rose Creek (ROS)	23	50	13	23	73	9
Willow Creek (WIL)	21	92	3	21	98	4
Moderate agricultural in	tensity					
Blindman Creek (BLI)	22	60	14	22	77	17
Grande Prairie Creek	13	59	16	12	81	12
(GRA)						
Kleskun Drain (KLE)	9	81	16	9	89	12
Meadow Creek (MEA)	19	12	16	18	22	18
Tomahawk Creek	19	63	17	19	84	12
(TOM)						
Trout Creek (TRO)	21	37	11	21	61	13
High agricultural intensi	ty					
Buffalo Creek (BUF)	15	80	13	15	88	7
Haynes Creek M6	12	85	8	13	95	7
(HM6)						
Ray Creek (RAY)	17	68	14	17	77	12
Renwick Creek (REN)	13	82	20	13	88	13
Stretton Creek (STT)	6	96	6	9	100	0
Strawberry Creek	17	66	15	16	80	13
(STW)						
Threehills Creek	17	78	10	17	92	6
(THR)						
Wabash Creek (WAB)	12	87	11	12	93	9
Irrigated watersheds						
Battersea Drain (BAT)	19	62	15	18	85	5
Crowfoot Creek (CRO)	19	53	12	19	76	9
Drain S6 (DS6)	17	62	10	16	76	13
New West Coulee	18	50	11	18	77	16
(NEW)						

^z average number of samples collected per year from 1999 through 2006 ^y standard deviation

Although the majority of samples collected had bacteria levels below 200 CFU·100 mL⁻¹, when concentrations exceeded this range, they exceeded it by a lot. As such, compliance numbers should be examined together with the peak values in the future to provide more insight on the level of risk to human health. Minnesota River Basin Data Centre (2003) also suggests that where indicator bacteria imply a risk, it may be important to do additional work on the presence of pathogens since fecal coliforms and *E. coli* themselves do not necessarily cause illness.

There are currently no Canadian guidelines for bacteriological parameters for livestock watering. Some researchers have examined the relationship between clean water and cattle weight gain (Willms et al. 2002; Lardner et al. 2005), but the studies were not specific to bacteriological parameters. In these studies, weight gain was 23% higher in yearling heifers and 9% higher in steers that had access to clean water, compared to those cattle which watered directly from a stream or a dugout (Willms et al. 2002; Lardner et al. 2002; Lardner et al. 2005).

Annual Ambient Geometric Means

By agricultural intensity. Fecal bacteria in Alberta's agricultural watersheds differed significantly among agricultural intensity categories (fecal coliforms: F(3, 176)=27.149, $p \le 0.0001$; *E. coli*: F(3, 176)=27.149, $p \le 0.0001$). However, unlike nutrient concentrations (Chapter 3: Comparisons of P and N FWMCs by Agricultural Intensity), fecal bacteria concentrations did not show an increasing pattern with agricultural intensity (Figure 4.2). In fact, annual geometric means for *E. coli* and fecal coliforms were significantly lower in both high and low intensity streams than in moderate intensity and irrigated streams (Tukey's post hoc, p < 0.05). The absence of a stepwise increase in bacteria concentrations from low to moderate to high agricultural intensity categories suggests that the sources and/or mechanisms of transport of fecal bacteria may not be the same as those for nutrients.

The same pattern among agricultural intensity categories was observed for mean rank annual median values (fecal coliforms: H=57.592, p<0.0001, *E. coli*: H=52.126, p<0.0001, df=3) (Appendix 11).



Figure 4.2. Boxplots of the annual geometric means of fecal coliform and *E. coli* for 23 AESA streams grouped by agricultural intensity where Mod represents moderate and Irrig represents irrigated watersheds. Boxplots stretch from the 25th percentile to the 75th percentile with the horizontal line in the middle of the box representing the median. Vertical lines represent 1.5 times the interquartile range, while crosshairs represent minima and maxima data points. Groups with the same letter are not significantly different (ANOVA and Tukey post hoc test, p<0.05).

Similarities and differences in fecal bacteria concentrations among streams within the same agricultural intensity category were explored. This was done to assess whether the agricultural intensity categories were a good indication of bacterial contamination or whether additional factors should be considered. Within both the low and moderate watershed intensity categories, there was one stream with significantly higher or lower annual geometric mean concentrations compared to other streams in the same category. In the low agricultural intensity grouping, significantly higher *E. coli* and fecal coliform concentrations were observed in Rose Creek (Figures 4.3a and 4.4a, Tukey's post hoc, p < 0.005). In the moderate agricultural intensity category, significantly higher concentrations were observed in Meadow Creek (Figure 4.3b and 4.4b, Tukey's post hoc, $p \le 0.001$). In the high intensity category, concentrations in Strawberry Creek were significantly higher than in four streams (Haynes M6, Renwick, Stretton, and Wabash Creeks) (Tukey's post hoc, $p \le 0.01$) but similar to three others (Buffalo, Ray, and Threehills Creeks) (Figure 4.3d and 4.4d, Tukey's post hoc, p > 0.05).

The higher than expected *E. coli* and fecal coliform concentrations in Rose and Meadow Creeks indicate that there may be a need for management improvements in these watersheds. Furthermore, the higher concentrations may be the result of a poorly managed operation closer to the sampling site in Rose and Meadow Creeks. The other low and moderate agricultural intensity watersheds may also have some poorly managed sites, but if these operations are located further upstream of the sampling site, their contributions may be masked by dilution and therefore less noticeable at the outlet. Though the difference is not as dramatic as for Rose and Meadow Creeks, Strawberry Creek may also be a stream to investigate further. Manure production within a watershed is also an indicator to consider. As such, the relationship between manure production (tones per acre) in each basin and bacteria concentrations is explored later in this chapter (see Correlational Relationships).

Conversely, several AESA watersheds had notably lower annual geometric mean fecal bacteria concentrations than would be anticipated based on the agricultural intensity grouping. These watersheds include Willow Creek (low agricultural intensity), Kleskun Drain (moderate agricultural intensity) and Stretton Creek (high agricultural intensity). One would anticipate that management practices are excellent in these watersheds or that there are few livestock in the watershed. As mentioned previously, the relationship between manure production (tones per acre) in each basin and bacteria concentrations is explored later in this chapter (see Correlational Relationships).



Figure 4.3. Boxplots of the annual geometric means of *E. coli* in watersheds with low (a), moderate (b), high (c), and irrigated (d) agriculture. In each plot, streams with the same letter are not significantly different from one another (ANOVA and Tukey post hoc test, p<0.05). See Table 4.2 (pg. 4-10) for full stream names.



Figure 4.4. Boxplots of the annual geometric means of fecal coliforms in watersheds with low (a), moderate (b), high (c), and irrigated (d) agriculture. In each plot, streams with the same letter are not significantly different from one another (ANOVA and Tukey post hoc test, p<0.05). See Table 4.2 (pg. 4-10) for full stream names.

By ecoregion area. There was a significant difference in annual geometric means of fecal coliforms (F(3,168) = 21.794, $p \le 0.0001$) and *E. coli* (F(3,168) = 18.864, $p \le 0.0001$) among ecoregion areas. Ambient fecal coliform and *E. coli* concentrations were highest in the Grassland (Fescue Grasslands Ecoregion) and Irrigated Grassland ecoregion areas (comprised of the Moist Mixed and Mixed Grasslands Ecoregions). Annual geometric means in the Grassland watersheds were significantly higher than those in the Boreal ecoregion area (comprised of the Clear Hills Upland, Peace Lowland, Western Alberta Upland, and Boreal Transition Ecoregions) (Figure 4.5). However, a statistically significant difference was not observed between annual geometric means in the Irrigated Grassland and Boreal ecoregion areas. Fecal bacteria concentrations were significantly lower in the Parkland ecoregion area streams (Aspen Parkland Ecoregion) than all other watersheds. The Continental Divide was not included in the analysis as it only represents one stream (Willow Creek), but bacteria concentrations appeared to be similar to those in the Parkland ecoregion area. Similar patterns emerged when the Kruskal-Wallis and Mann-Whitney analyses were conducted on annual (data not shown).



Figure 4.5. Boxplots of the annual geometric means of *E. coli* (a) and fecal coliform (b) bacteria for 23 AESA streams grouped by ecoregion area. Groups with the same letter are not significantly different from one another (ANOVA and Tukey post hoc test, p<0.05). See Chapter 2: Table 2.1 for the list of streams under each ecoregion area.

Annual geometric mean fecal bacteria concentrations were compared among watersheds within each ecoregion area to identify similarities and/or differences in microbial characteristics among streams in the same geographical area. Note that some ecoregion areas contain more than one agricultural intensity category but that agricultural intensity and ecoregion are not independent (Chapter 2, Figure 2.1.).

None of the three watersheds in the Grassland ecoregion area showed similar bacteria concentrations; there was a stepwise increase from Prairie Blood Coulee to Trout Creek to Meadow Creek (*E. coli*: F(2,21)=58.282, $p\leq0.0001$, fecal coliform: F(2,21)=63.026, $p\leq0.0001$). Note that Prairie Blood Coulee was classified as a low agricultural intensity watershed (but may have increased to a moderate agricultural intensity watershed), and Trout and Meadow Creeks

were classified as moderate agricultural intensity watersheds. It is likely in this case that management practices within the individual watersheds (in terms of the prominent farm/industry type and the location of cattle operations and resulting risk of runoff) override ecoregional influences on fecal bacteria levels. This specifically applies to Meadow Creek where anomalously high bacteria levels have been observed. Additionally, Prairie Blood Coulee is a unique watershed in this ecoregion area in that it has a high percentage of crop land (81%), whereas Meadow and Trout Creeks are dominated by grassland (74 and 67%, respectively) (Chapter 2, Table 2.9). The differences in dominant land cover suggest that these watersheds are dominated by different farm industries (e.g., livestock versus commodities) which influence the observed bacteria concentrations.

Stronger similarities in bacterial concentrations were observed among watersheds in specific Ecoregions within the Boreal ecoregion area. Three of the eight streams (Hines Creek, Wabash Creek, and Kleskun Drain) in the Boreal ecoregion area had concentrations that were lower than one or more of the other streams. Two of the Boreal streams with lower bacteria concentrations were located in Peace Region (Hines Creek and Kleskun Drain). Also, higher concentrations were measured in the Boreal Transition and Western Alberta Upland Ecoregions.

In the Parkland and Irrigated Grassland ecoregion areas, the majority, if not all streams, showed uniform fecal bacteria levels. These ecoregion areas also contain watersheds with the same agricultural intensity classification.

By stream. There was little variability among stream *E. coli* and fecal coliform annual geometric means with the exception of Meadow creek (Figure 4.6). Meadow Creek had approximately 4 and 7x higher concentrations than the second highest annual geometric mean in Trout Creek for *E. coli* and fecal coliforms, respectively. Excluding Meadow Creek, median annual geometric means ranged from 9 to 72 CFU 100mL⁻¹ for *E. coli* and from 10 to 160 CFU 100mL⁻¹ for fecal coliforms. Meadow Creek had concentrations of 653 CFU 100mL⁻¹ fecal coliforms and 496 CFU 100mL⁻¹ *E. coli*.

Inter-annual patterns. Initial inspection of eight years of annual ambient concentrations showed no apparent provincial-scale increase or decrease in fecal coliform or *E. coli* concentrations with time (Figure 4.7). Annual geometric means for all 23 streams ranged from 6 to 1820 CFU 100 mL⁻¹ fecal coliforms and 5 to 902 CFU 100 mL⁻¹ for *E. coli*. The higher values, however, were only found in one stream: Meadow Creek. In the other watersheds, concentrations consistently ranged between 6 and 250 CFU 100 mL⁻¹ for fecal coliforms and 5 and 160 CFU 100 mL⁻¹ for *E. coli*. A Kruskal-Wallace analysis of variance using geometric means of ambient annual data (for all watersheds) indicated there was no significant difference among years for either fecal coliforms (H = 8.811; p = 0.639) or *E. coli* (H = 7.863; p = 0.642).

With the exception of a few watersheds, there were no inter-annual patterns in either fecal coliforms or *E. coli* from 1999 to 2006. Summary tables of annual median and geometric mean concentrations for fecal coliform and *E. coli* can be found in Tables 4.3 and 4.4. Watersheds that showed some inter-annual patterns are discussed further and include Meadow Creek, Ray Creek, and Blindman River. In these watersheds, fecal bacteria concentrations, NFR concentrations, and Census of Agriculture manure production percentiles were compared to investigate explanations for the changes in the fecal bacteria concentrations between 1999 and 2006. Non-filterable

residue concentrations reflect the potential for sediment loading which has previously been described and documented as a transport mechanism for fecal bacteria (Jamieson et al. 2005).



Figure 4.6. Median annual geometric means by agricultural intensity for fecal coliforms (a) and *E. coli* (b) in 23 AESA watersheds. Ecoregion areas are represented as B= boreal, P= parkland, G=grassland, and I = irrigated grassland. See Table 4.2 (pg. 4-10) for full stream names.



Figure 4.7. Boxplots for fecal coliform (a) and *E. coli* (b) geometric means for all streams from 1999 to 2006. Note the logarithmic scale on the y-axis.

Table 4.3. Annual median and geometric mean fecal coliform concentrations (CFU 100mL⁻¹), 1999 to 2006.

	195	66	20(0	20(31	20(72	200	3	200	14	200	15	20	90
		Geometric		Geometric		Geometric		Geometric		Geometric		Geometric		Geometric		Geometric
	Ambient	Mean	Median	Mean												
Low Agricultural Inter	nsity															
Hines Creek	5	7	10	18	40	35	65	52	60	58	8	11	20	18	14	15
Paddle Creek	50	38	35	30	40	55	20	33	50	41	10	16	60	58	40	32
Prairie Blood Coulee	23	26	5	9	5	თ	20	31	റ	11	18	32	39	30	53	39
Rose Creek	100	06	40	53	170	06	85	06	40	56	96	86	135	77	165	98
Willow Creek	15	18	5	13	9	13	8	12	5	16	5	12	8	14	5	14
Moderate Agricultura	I Intensity															
Blindman Creek	160	165	200	154	06	70	60	59	80	59	30	28	110	87	60	55
Grande Prairie Creek	06	84	20	18	110	130	100	122	110	91	40	48	100	96	10	26
Kleskun Drain	20	16	5	21	70	127	43	68	55	39	28	28	5	13	5	7
Meadow Creek	1800	1820	2300	1779	110	286	430	402	380	319	440	337	480	903	910	1074
Tomahawk Creek	170	250	65	58	35	40	70	74	20	51	10	24	50	50	10	27
Trout Creek	300	177	120	113	210	154	230	108	210	166	84	84	160	191	110	190
High Agricultural Inte	nsity															
Buffalo Creek	10	15	5	12	5	19	10	17	15	30	10	23	50	48	30	39
Haynes Creek (M6)	10	24	10	16	10	14	10	13	20	35	,		5	11	10	15
Ray Creek	75	97	60	79	111	98	20	35	10	26	10	19	27	32	20	27
Renwick Creek	10	24	5	б	5	13	10	8	5	15	10	21	85	73	5	24
Stretton Creek	10	10	10	13							5	9	5	6	20	27
Strawberry Creek	110	66	105	112	60	97	20	36	100	57	50	39	35	37	35	42
Threehills Creek	20	22	30	36	60	44	10	25	15	22	20	22	45	40	20	34
Wabash Creek	5	6	20	19	45	41	30	24	10	13	70	55	20	24	10	14
Irrigation Agriculture																
Battersea Drain	170	143	28	29	67	49	56	72	70	53	52	35	96	112	82	22
Crowfoot Creek	60	46	195	92	96	65	115	67	119	87	120	115	84	104	85	70
Drain S6	33	42	43	33	49	62	34	45	46	41	25	30	60	131	220	111
New West Coulee	81	61	92	58	115	97	82	81	86	63	96	65	280	178	150	136

Table 4.4. Annual median and geometric mean *E. coli* concentrations (CFU 100mL⁻¹), 1999 to 2006.

	19	66	200	0	20(31	200	12	20(13	200	4	200	2	20	96
		Geometric	-	Geometric		Geometric		Geometric		Geometric	0	Seometric	0	beometric		Geometric
	Median	Mean	Median	Mean	Median	Mean	Median	Mean	Median	Mean	Median	Mean	Median	Mean	Median	Mean
Low Agricultural Inte	ensity															
Hines Creek	5	7	10	14	30	23	40	42	45	43	5	8	10	1	14	14
Paddle Creek	40	27	30	28	20	36	10	24	30	28	10	12	36	34	10	18
Prairie Blood Coulee	11	18	5	9	5	8	13	25	5	໑	15	26	33	23	40	30
Rose Creek	70	69	40	39	130	61	85	79	40	47	70	64	96	58	145	84
Willow Creek	8	10	5	10	5	11	7	10	5	16	5	12	8	12	5	13
Moderate Agriculturs	al Intensity															
Blindman Creek	130	133	190	125	60	51	60	56	80	39	10	17	81	65	50	43
Grande Prairie Creek	80	64	10	14	100	106	80	107	110	85	36	39	80	55	10	26
Kleskun Drain	5	12	5	13	60	108	43	51	40	32	20	24	5	6	5	7
Meadow Creek	850	771	1100	902	72	139	330	309	290	242	350	287	455	684	690	855
Tomahawk Creek	130	153	45	53	25	34	60	65	50	39	10	20	20	28	10	21
Trout Creek	77	56	25	50	68	61	120	74	210	146	65	70	160	164	88	162
High Agricultural Inte	ensity															
Buffalo Creek	5	11	5	12	5	16	5	13	13	27	8	20	50	34	30	34
Haynes Creek (M6)	10	20	5	13	10	13	5	10	10	28	'		5	10	8	12
Ray Creek	62	66	65	61	106	83	5	16	10	20	5	17	20	26	5	23
Renwick Creek	10	20	5	7	5	13	5	9	5	14	10	18	35	52	5	21
Stretton Creek	10	6	10	13	'		'		'		5	5	5	8	20	25
Strawberry Creek	75	11	105	112	60	77	20	30	80	47	20	31	15	23	15	22
Threehills Creek	15	17	30	30	45	38	5	18	10	18	10	17	25	26	15	23
Wabash Creek	5	5	20	18	20	27	20	21	10	11	40	36	10	15	10	12
Irrigation Agriculture																
Battersea Drain	06	82	15	17	43	39	35	56	47	44	39	29	73	86	75	48
Crowfoot Creek	35	30	108	53	62	47	46	36	65	60	66	87	65	06	85	58
Drain S6	24	26	10	23	34	40	19	35	46	38	6	21	56	95	170	88
New West Coulee	64	45	51	37	57	53	72	57	49	53	71	51	265	157	110	122

Although Meadow Creek had the highest fecal coliform and *E. coli* concentrations of all AESA watersheds, the concentrations were not as high or as variable from 2002 through 2003 (Figure 4.8a and b). These patterns were not related to NFR (Figure 4.8c) or a change in manure production; however, the box plots and data do demonstrate a lack of high fecal coliform maxima concentrations in 2002 through 2003. This difference between the maxima was considerable in May and June and differed by one to two orders of magnitude. It is possible that the maxima were not caught during sampling in these years or the sources (e.g., cattle, wildlife, and humans) were not contributing as intensely as in previous years. Bacteria numbers were often high in June, and only 2 samples were taken in June of 2002 and 2003 compared to the collection of 3 to 4 samples every June in other years. The fewer samples taken in June of 2002 and 2003 appear to be related to the sampling regime rather than a lack of precipitation or discharge (Chapter 2: Results and Discussion – Hydrology, Meadow Creek). Therefore, peaks in bacteria concentrations may have been missed.

Ray Creek had high fecal coliform and *E. coli* geometric means from 1999 through 2001, followed by a decrease from 2002 through 2006 (Figure 4.9a). This pattern paralleled declines in NFR, especially when compared to *E. coli* (Figure 4.9b and c). There was also a decrease in manure production in the watershed in 2001 (Chapter 2: Results and Discussion - Agricultural Intensity Classification in 1996, 2001 and 2006). The decrease in bacteria concentrations in the latter years of monitoring may suggest that the source of the high bacteria numbers in 1999 through 2001 had been removed.

In the Blindman River, fecal coliforms and *E. coli* decreased from 1999 through 2006 (Figure 4.10a and b). Maximum concentrations of these parameters were also highest in the earlier years of the study (i.e., 1999 and 2000). The decrease in fecal bacteria concentrations was not observed in the NFR concentrations (Figure 5.10c). The decrease in fecal bacteria concentrations over the monitoring period appeared to coincide with substantial decreases in manure production from 1996 to 2001 and again in 2006 (Chapter 2: Figure 2.24, Table 2.11).

Overall, bacteria patterns varied from 1999 through 2006, and there was no apparent provincial trend in the geometric means of all watersheds. Fecal coliform and *E. coli* concentrations in some watersheds appeared to be related to NFR concentrations or influenced by manure production, but the pattern was not universal. In fact, some streams with high manure production (e.g., Wabash Creek) often had very low concentrations of fecal bacteria, sometimes only slightly above the method detection limit.



Figure 4.8. Boxplots of fecal coliforms (a), *E. coli* (b), and NFR (c) for Meadow Creek (1999 through 2006). Diamonds in (a) and (b) represent geometric means. Note the logarithmic y-axis scale.



Figure 4.9. Boxplots of fecal coliforms (a), *E. coli* (b), and NFR (c) for Ray Creek (1999 through 2006). Diamonds in (a) and (b) represent geometric means. Note the logarithmic y-axis scale.



Figure 4.10. Box Plots of fecal coliforms (a), *E. coli* (b), and NFR (c) for the Blindman River from 1999 to 2006. Diamonds in (a) and (b) represent geometric means. Note the logarithmic y-axis scale.

Correlational Relationships

Fecal bacteria concentrations and agricultural intensity (AI) metrics. Spearman Rank Correlations were run between the median of annual geometric and arithmetic means of fecal coliforms and *E. coli* in 23 AESA streams (1999 to 2006) and the average overall agricultural intensity (AI) metric (1996, 2001, and 2006) as well as the individual metrics (e.g., fertilizer sales, chemical sales, and manure production percentiles). Correlations served as a means to examine the relationship between fecal contamination and agriculture. Correlation coefficients were similar for fecal coliforms and *E. coli*, so with the exception of Table 4.5, only fecal coliform data have been presented.

No significant correlations were found between the median of annual geometric means and the average agricultural intensity (r_s =-0.097, n=23, p>0.05), fertilizer sales (r_s =-0.098, n=23, p>0.05), chemical sales (r_s =-0.096, n=23, p>0.05), or manure production (r_s = 0.024, n=23, p>0.05) percentiles. Correlations were slightly stronger when median annual arithmetic means were used in lieu of geometric means, particularly for the average manure production percentile (fecal coliform r_s =0.207, n=23, p>0.05), but they were not significant (Table 4.5).

Table 4.5. Spearman rank correlation coefficients (n=23) between average agricultural
intensity, average manure production metrics (1999, 2001, 2006) and median annual geometric
and arithmetic mean <i>E. coli</i> and fecal coliform concentrations. None of the correlations were
significant (p>0.05).

	Average Agr	icultural Intensity	Average Ma	nure Production
	E. coli	Fecal coliforms	E. coli	Fecal coliforms
Geometric Mean (Median Annual)	-0.103	-0.097	0.020	0.024
Arithmetic Mean (Median Annual)	0.151	0.149	0.204	0.207

The poor relationship with the average AI percentile suggests that this was not an appropriate land-based metric for predicting fecal contamination in an agricultural watershed. Two of the three components of the AI metric are based on measures of cropping intensity (fertilizer and chemical expense percentiles), so the weak relationship was not entirely surprising. The relationship with the manure production percentile was also too weak to be deemed a reliable metric at a provincial scale (Table 4.5).



Figure 4.11. Average agricultural intensity metric (1999, 2001, 2006) and median annual arithmetic mean fecal coliform concentrations for 23 AESA watersheds by ecoregion area, where Cont.Div. = Continental Divide and Irrig. Grassland = Irrigated Grassland ecoregion area.

The relationship of median annual arithmetic mean fecal coliforms with manure production was explored on a regional (ecoregion area) scale to assess whether similarities in regional land uses or agricultural industries would strengthen the relationship. There appeared to be a weak relationship (Figure 4.11), but with such a small sample size, it is unclear whether that relationship is real. Additionally, none of the correlations were significant (Table 4.6).

Correlations were not	t significant (p>0	.05).		
		Average Manu	re Production	
	Boreal	Parkland	Grassland	Irrigated Grassland
Arithmetic Mean	0.233 ^z	-0.257	1.000	0.800
(Median Annual)	n=9	n=6	n=3	n=4
3				

Table 4.6. Spearman rank correlation coefficients for fecal coliforms by ecoregion area. Correlations were not significant (p>0.05).

^zWith Wabash removed $r_s=0.571$ (n=8)

Based on the average of the 1996, 2001, and 2006 manure production metrics (Statistics Canada 1996, 2001, and 2006), one would hypothesize that the highest bacteria concentrations would occur in two Irrigated Drains (Battersea Drain and New West Coulee) in the Irrigated Grassland ecoregion area, two high intensity watersheds in the Parkland ecoregion area (Haynes

M6 and Threehills Creeks), two high intensity watersheds in the Boreal ecoregion area (Wabash and Strawberry Creeks) and one moderate intensity watershed in the Boreal ecoregion area (Blindman River) (Chapter 2, Figure 2.24, Table 2.11). The average manure production metric for these seven watersheds was ≥ 0.75, which represents the highest agricultural intensity category. Based on the median annual fecal coliform arithmetic means in the AESA watersheds, only two of the seven watersheds with highest ranked average manure production also had among the highest bacteria concentrations: Battersea Drain and New West Coulee (Irrigated Grassland). Haynes Creek (M6) (high intensity, Parkland) and Wabash Creek (high intensity, Boreal) had among the lowest fecal coliform concentrations despite high manure production metrics. Different manure management practices and/or farm types in southern Alberta may provide some insight into this disparity. Likewise, hydrological regime may also need to be taken into consideration as stream flow in the Parkland ecoregion area is generally limited to the spring and early summer during spring melt. In contrast, Grassland streams often flow throughout the sampling season.

Fecal bacteria concentrations and physical and chemical parameters. Median annual ambient bacteria concentrations were correlated with physical and chemical parameters to explore broad scale relationships. The results using the median of annual medians are presented in this report (i.e., n=23), though correlations were also examined using annual medians for all years (1999 to 2006) (i.e., $n=23 \times 8$, more or less). The same relationships held true for both data sets (Table 4.7).

The processes (e.g., storm runoff) and pathways (e.g., ditches) that can lead to high suspended sediment concentrations in streams and rivers may also contribute to fecal matter entering surface waters (Minnesota River Basin Data Centre 2003). As such, it was hypothesized that annual runoff depth, annual precipitation, suspended sediment, and discharge would show positive relationships with fecal bacteria on a provincial scale.

A strong relationship was observed between the total suspended sediment (i.e., NFR) and median annual concentrations of fecal coliforms and *E. coli* for the 23 AESA streams (Table 4.7). A review of the data (Figure 4.12) showed that Meadow Creek drove the positive relationship; however, with Meadow Creek removed, the rank correlation coefficients did not change dramatically (fecal coliform: $r_s = 0.758$, *E. coli*: $r_s = 0.722$, p<0.005). The data suggest that, in general, agricultural streams in Alberta with higher suspended sediment are also more likely to have higher bacteria concentrations. The underlying cause for higher sediment levels may be natural (e.g., silty substrate) or the result of poor riparian or land management (e.g., eroding banks, bare soil in fields, ditches or gullies). There were only three streams - Meadow, Strawberry, and Tomahawk Creeks - where median annual NFR concentrations were greater than 30 mg L⁻¹ (Figure 4.12); however, the bacteria concentrations varied greatly among these watersheds (e.g., 55 to 58 CFU 100 mL⁻¹ for Strawberry and Tomahawk Creeks, respectively compared to 460 CFU 100 mL⁻¹ for Meadow Creek).

The relationship between fecal bacteria and NRF was investigated for each ecoregion area. There appeared to be a stronger relationship between fecal bacteria and NFR in the southern part of the province (Grassland and Irrigated Grassland ecoregion areas) than in the north (Boreal and Parkland ecoregion areas) (Figure 4.13).

Table 4.7. Spearman Rank correlation coefficients between ambient fecal bacteria concentrations and physical parameters for median of annual medians (n=23) and annual medians (n=180).

	Fecal coliform	E. coli	Fecal coliform	E. coli
	n=23	3	n=	180
TSS/ NFR	0.757	0.782	0.620	0.636
pН	0.165	0.125	0.203	0.177
Conductivity	-0.252	-0.324	-0.198	-0.231

Bold denotes significance at p<0.005.



Figure 4.12. Scatter plot of TSS/NFR versus fecal coliform (median of annual median, n=23). Those watersheds greater than 30 mg L^{-1} NFR concentration are labeled as Tomahawk Creek (TOM), Strawberry Creek (STW), and Meadow Creek (MEA).



Figure 4.13. Scatter plot of TSS/NFR versus fecal coliform (annual medians) by ecoregion area: Boreal (a), Parkland (b), Grassland (c), and Irrigated Grassland (d). Note the different y-axis for the Grassland ecoregion area.

There was no significant correlation with runoff depth (Table 4.8). The analysis did not include the irrigated watersheds because of the inability to standardize based on watersheds area (see Chapter 3: Materials and Methods - Load, FWMC, and export calculations flow section). When two outliers, Meadow Creek and Willow Creek (Figure 4.14), were removed from the analysis, runoff depth was positively correlated with the fecal bacteria indicators (Table 4.9). Though a general relationship existed between the amount of water generated per unit area of the watershed (i.e., runoff depth) and fecal bacteria densities, there were clearly other factors at work.

Table 4.8. Spearman Rank correlation coefficients between ambient fecal bacteria concentrations and physical parameters (median of annual median). Irrigated watersheds have been excluded (n=19).

	Fecal coliform	E. coli
Runoff Depth	0.250 (p>0.05)	0.203 (p>0.05)

Table 4.9. Spearman Rank correlation coefficients between ambient fecal bacteria concentrations and physical parameters (median of annual median). Irrigated watersheds and Willow and Meadow Creeks have been excluded (n=17).

	Fecal coliform	E. coli
Runoff Depth	0.613 (p<0.05)	0.532 (p<0.05)



Figure 4.14. Scatter plot of runoff depth (mm) versus the median of annual fecal coliform means (1999 to 2006). The watersheds labeled in the figure are Meadow Creek (MEA), Trout Creek (TRO), and Willow Creek (WIL).

Correlations with nutrient chemistry were explored to assess whether high nutrient aquatic environments were also more likely to have high bacteria concentrations. Roszak and Colwell (1987) illustrated that bacteria survival is favored in high nutrient conditions and that fecal bacteria may also potentially reproduce in these conditions.

Overall, there did not appear to be any relationships between fecal bacteria and nutrient concentrations. Significant, negative correlations were observed between fecal coliforms and TDP and *E. coli* and TN and TDP (Table 4.10, Figure 4.15). The inverse relationship was unexpected as it suggests that higher fecal bacteria concentrations cannot be anticipated in watersheds with high nutrient concentrations. The observations support earlier conclusions that watersheds with higher agricultural intensity do not necessarily have high fecal bacteria concentrations. This has implications for planning and implementing watershed scale beneficial management practices, as the watersheds that would benefit most from reductions in nutrient loads.

concentrations and nutrent en	iennisity parameters (median of annu	ai medians, $n=25$).
	Fecal coliform	E. coli
TN	-0.424	-0.442
DIN	-0.242	-0.239
N23	-0.137	-0.130
NH4	-0.320	-0.321
ТР	-0.365	-0.382
TDP	-0.463	-0.476
TPP	0.140	0.150

Table 4.10. Spearman Rank correlation coefficients between ambient fecal bacteria concentrations and nutrient chemistry parameters (median of annual medians, n=23)

Bold denotes significance at p<0.05.



Figure 4.15. Scatterplots of fecal coliforms versus median of annual median total phosphorus (a), total dissolved phosphorus (b), and total nitrogen (c) concentrations in 23 AESA streams (1999 to 2006).

Seasonality of Ambient Fecal Coliforms and E. coli Concentrations

Bacteria concentrations change depending on the time of year (Tiedemann et al. 1987; Baxter-Potter and Gilliland 1988; Meals 1989). Some studies have shown that the highest fecal coliforms and other bacteria concentrations occur in the summer months (June through August) and lowest in the winter (December through February) and spring (March through May) (Tiedemann et al. 1987; Baxter-Potter and Gilliland 1988; Meals 1989). These authors have related the pattern to warmer temperature effects, a change in agricultural activity patterns, hydrologic phenomena, and a greater presence of livestock and wildlife activity (Tiedemann et al. 1987; Meals 1989). Lower stream flow during the summer enables cattle to spend more time in streams, which increases direct fecal coliform deposition to streams (Mostaghimi et al., 2000).

In the study streams, mean rank fecal coliform and *E. coli* counts were significantly higher during the summer months (June, July, and August) than all other months of sampling (Fecal coliforms: H=796, p < 0.005; *E. coli*: H=742, p < 0.005). Bacteria counts were also high in September and were significantly lower in the early spring (March and April). These seasonal patterns in fecal coliform and *E. coli* counts did not follow the same pattern observed for NFR, which was significantly higher in the early spring (March and April) and early summer (June and July) and lowest in October (Figure 4.16). The higher fecal bacteria counts in summer may be a result of more frequent cattle access, longer bacteria survival in warmer water temperatures, and increased transport in surface runoff during summer storm events.

Although in general bacteria counts showed higher numbers in the summer and lower values in the early spring, these seasonal patterns differed slightly by ecoregion area (Figure 4.17 a to d).

In the Boreal watersheds, mean rank fecal coliform and *E. coli* counts were significantly higher in July than all other months except June; high counts were also observed in August and September (Figures 4.17a and 4.18b). Fecal coliform and *E. coli* counts in the Boreal were not lowest in March; counts were similar to those observed in May, August, and September. The lowest counts were measured in April and October.

Mean rank fecal coliform and *E. coli* counts were significantly higher in July than all months but August in watersheds in the Parkland ecoregion area (Figures 4.17b and 4.18b). Counts were also high in June, August, and September. Mean rank bacteria counts were significantly lower in April than all other months, but values were also low in March and October.

Fecal coliform and *E. coli* followed similar patterns to one another in the Grassland ecoregion area with significantly higher counts observed in June as well as higher counts in May, July, August, and September (Figures 4.17c and 4.18c). The lowest counts were observed in March followed by April and October.

Fecal coliform counts in the irrigated watersheds most closely resembled the overall seasonal fecal coliform pattern with significantly higher values in June, July, and August than all other months of monitoring (Figure 4.17d). Higher counts were also observed in May and September. *Escherichia coli* counts in the irrigated watersheds were significantly higher in June than all other

months, with the second highest counts measured in July and August. Bacteria counts were lowest in March, followed by April and October (Figure 4.18d).

Fecal coliform and *E. coli* counts followed similar patterns to one another in Willow Creek, the only watershed located in the Continental Divide. Significantly higher counts were measured in June than in all other months (data not shown). Higher counts were also observed in July, August, and September, whereas the lowest counts were measured in the spring (March, April, and May).



Figure 4.16. NFR box plot by month using all streams from 1999 through 2006. Box plots with different letters indicate a significant difference at the p<0.01 level (Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA and Mann-Whitney significance test.



Figure 4.17. Fecal coliform concentrations by month (March through October) for Boreal (a), Parkland (b), Grassland (c), and Irrigated grassland (d) ecoregion areas. Box plots with different letters indicate a significant difference at the p<0.01 level (Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA and Mann-Whitney significance test.



Figure 4.18. *E. coli* concentrations by month (March through October) for Boreal (a), Parkland (b),) Grassland (c), and Irrigated grassland (d) ecoregion areas. Box plots with different letters indicate a significant difference at the p<0.01 level (Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA and Mann-Whitney significance test.

Although seasonal patterns were observed in the different ecoregion areas, not all watersheds within an ecoregion area necessarily showed seasonal trends in fecal bacteria counts. Unlike the rest of the watersheds located in the Boreal ecoregion area, Grande Prairie Creek, Kleskun Drain, and Hines Creek did not show statistical differences in bacteria counts among months (Table 4.11). Note that these three watersheds are located in the Peace Lowlands and Clearhills Uplands Ecoregions, whereas the rest of the watersheds in the Boreal ecoregion area are located further south in the Boreal Transition and Western Alberta Uplands Ecoregions. Seasonality was observed for fecal coliforms in Tomahawk Creek but not for *E. coli*. The differences in seasonal patterns within the Boreal ecoregion area may be explained by differences in climate, runoff patterns, and agricultural management practices among individual Ecoregions within the Boreal ecoregion area.

E.coli Fecal coliform NFR Kruskal-Wallis Kruskal-Wallis Kruskal-Wallis Test Statistic Probability Test Statistic Probability Test Statistic Probability Boreal Forest < 0.0001 Blindman River 52.5 < 0.0001 58.7 < 0.0001 32.2 Grande Prairie Creek 9.2 0.238 10.6 0.155 15.1 0.034 Hines Creek 11.1 0.134 11.1 0.133 21.2 0.003 Kleskun Drain 9.3 0.235 10.1 0.183 16.8 0.018 Paddle River 25.1 < 0.0001 30.5 < 0.0001 14.7 0.04 Rose Creek 77.7 < 0.0001 84.6 < 0.0001 23.0 0.002 Strawberry Creek 44.4 < 0.0001 46.2 < 0.0001 38.6 < 0.0001 Tomahawk Creek 13.7 0.057 21.2 0.003 15.0 0.036 < 0.0001 Wabash Creek 26.2 < 0.0001 26.4 < 0.0001 33.8 Parkland Buffalo Creek 73.3 < 0.0001 72.4 < 0.0001 8.9 0.261 Havnes Creek M6 31.8 < 0.0001 28.0 < 0.0001 15.7 0.028 < 0.0001 < 0.0001 Ray Creek 80.1 88.8 < 0.0001 32.6 Renwick Creek < 0.0001 < 0.0001 29.8 < 0.0001 59.5 56.0 0.004 Stretton Creek 15.6 19.6 < 0.0001 11.3 0.024 Threehills Creek 42.2 < 0.0001 50.5 < 0.0001 15.9 0.027 Northern Continental Divide Willow Creek < 0.0001 < 0.0001 40.6 < 0.0001 109.0 115.5 Grassland Meadow Creek 45.5 < 0.0001 41.9 < 0.0001 36.8 < 0.0001 Prairie Blood Coulee 61.4 < 0.0001 61.7 < 0.0001 9.7 0.209 Trout Creek 90.4 < 0.0001 101.7 < 0.0001 30.2 < 0.0001 Grassland (under irrigation) Battersea Drain 71.7 < 0.0001 75.8 < 0.0001 23.8 0.001 < 0.0001 0.021 Crowfoot Creek 56.6 51.9 < 0.0001 16.4 Drain S6 73.2 < 0.0001 73.6 < 0.0001 28.9 < 0.0001 < 0.0001 47.5 < 0.0001 New West Coulee 61.4 62.7 < 0.0001

Table 4.11. Statistical output from Kruskal-Wallis tests for seasonal differences using all ambient fecal bacteria concentrations (1999 to 2006) in 23 AESA watersheds. Includes data from March to October (1999 through 2006). Degrees of freedom = 7 for all streams except Stretton (df=4).

Bold if significant at p<0.005

Italics if significant at 0.005<p<0.05

Annual Export Coefficients

Actual annual export coefficients and loading values from 1999 to 2006 for the individual AESA streams are presented in Appendix 12 (Tables A12.1a and b).

By stream. Annual export coefficients for fecal bacteria (fecal coliform and *E. coli*) were calculated for all AESA watersheds except the four irrigated watersheds (19 of the 23 watersheds). An export coefficient is the estimate of the total amount of pollutant that passes a specific location during a specified interval of time (e.g., a year) divided by watershed area. While annual fecal bacteria exports for AESA streams provide an estimate of the total number of bacteria passing by the mouth of these small agricultural watersheds each year, the absolute number of bacteria that a downstream waterbody would receive is likely lower. A longitudinal study in a Minnesota watershed showed that as stream order (size) increases, fecal coliform concentrations generally decrease (Minnesota River Basin Data Centre 2003). The reasons for declining bacteria numbers included die-off, deposition of sediment (with associated bacteria), and dilution with downstream water that may have lower fecal coliform concentrations (Minnesota River Basin Data Centre 2003). As such, the values presented here likely over estimate the actual number of viable fecal bacteria (and thus, pathogens) exported from each system. However, they do provide an indication of the relative impacts each watershed may have on a receiving waterbody.

The highest fecal coliform export coefficients were observed in Tomahawk Creek, Rose Creek, and Blindman River, with all three watersheds located in the Boreal ecoregion area (median annual exports: 1860 to 2000 CFU ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, Figure 4.19). For *E. coli*, the streams with the highest exports were Rose Creek, Tomahawk Creek, and Trout Creek (median annual exports: 1450 to 1490 CFU ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹, Figure 4.20). Trout Creek is located in the Grassland ecoregion area.

Trout and Meadow Creeks ranked very differently for fecal coliform compared to nutrient export coefficients. These two moderate intensity Grassland watersheds were among the top five watersheds with the highest fecal coliform exports. In contrast, they fell among the bottom three ranked watersheds for the majority of nutrient exports (TP, TDP, TN, Organic N, and NH₃-N; Chapter 3: Results and Discussion – Export coefficients for P and N in dryland watersheds).



Figure 4.19. Median annual fecal coliform export coefficients for the 19 dryland AESA streams. Data are grouped by agricultural intensity and ecoregion where B= boreal, P= parkland, G=grassland, and CD= continental divide. See Table 4.2 (pg. 4-10) for full stream names.



Figure 4.20. Median annual *E. coli* export coefficients for 19 dryland. Data are grouped by agricultural intensity and ecoregion where B= boreal, P= parkland, G=grassland, and CD= continental divide. See Table 4.2 (pg. 4-10) for full stream names.

By agricultural intensity. Export coefficients for *E. coli* were similar in low and high agricultural intensity watersheds and were significantly lower than *E. coli* exports in moderate agricultural intensity watersheds (Figure 4.21a, *E. coli*: F(2, 144) = 16.600, $p \le 0.0001$). On the other hand, fecal coliform export coefficients were highest for the moderate agricultural intensity watershed by low and high agricultural intensity watershed categories (Figure 4.21b, fecal coliforms: F(2, 144) = 18.687, $p \le 0.0001$).



Figure 4.21. Box plots of annual export coefficients for *E. coli* (a) and fecal coliform (b) (1999 to 2006) in the three dryland agricultural intensity categories. Box plots with the same letter are not significantly different from one another at $p \le 0.05$ (One-Way ANOVA, Tukey post hoc).

Annual export coefficients for *E. coli* were similar among watersheds within the low agricultural intensity category with the exception of Rose Creek, which had exports that were significantly higher than Hines Creek and Prairie Blood Coulee (Tukey post hoc, p<0.01, Figure 4.22a). Fecal coliform exports from Rose Creek were significantly higher than Willow Creek, Hines Creek, and Prairie Blood Coulee (Tukey post hoc, p≤0.05, Figure 4.22d).

Within the moderate agricultural intensity category, export coefficients generally did not vary significantly among streams (fecal coliform: F(5,42)=2.236, p=0.068, *E. coli*: F(5,42)=2.188, p=0.074, Figure 4.22b,e). One exception was that fecal coliform exports in Blindman River were significantly higher than those in Kleskun Drain (Tukey post hoc, fecal coliform: p=0.047, *E. coli*: p=0.040).

Export coefficients for fecal coliforms and *E. coli* differed among the high agricultural intensity watersheds (fecal coliforms: F(7,51)=4.673, $p\leq0.0001$, *E. coli*: F(7,51)=4.712, $p\leq0.0001$ Figure 4.22c,f). Fecal bacteria exports were greatest in Strawberry Creek but were only significantly higher than Haynes Creek, Renwick Creek, and Wabash Creek (Tukey post hoc,

fecal coliform: p=0.047, *E. coli*: p=0.040). As noted previously, Strawberry Creek is the only high agricultural intensity watershed ranked as having a high runoff potential and also has a much larger effective drainage basin size (Chapter 2: Table 2.1).

The significantly higher export of fecal coliforms and *E. coli* in the moderate agricultural intensity watersheds was driven by Trout and Meadow Creeks. These patterns again emphasize the difference between bacteria and nutrient patterns as nutrient export coefficients (TP, TN, and Org-N) did not differ significantly among watershed categories with the exception of particulate phosphorus which was highest in low and moderate intensity watersheds (Chapter 3: Results and Discussion – Export coefficients for P and N in dryland watersheds).

By ecoregion area. Fecal coliform and *E. coli* export coefficients differed significantly among ecoregion areas (fecal coliforms: F(2, 136)=9.308, $p \le 0.0001$, *E. coli*: F(2, 136)=8.005, p=0.001). Exports were significantly higher in streams in the Boreal and Grassland ecoregion areas than in Parkland watersheds (Tukey's post hoc, p < 0.05). Visually, exports in the Continental Divide watershed were similar to those measured in the Boreal and Grassland ecoregion areas (Figure 4.23).

The ecoregion area rankings were different for fecal bacteria exports than for nutrient exports. Specifically, fecal bacteria exports from the Grassland ecoregion area were higher than would have been predicted based on nutrient exports. In contrast, total phosphorus exports were highest in the Boreal and Parkland ecoregion areas and lowest in Grassland watersheds (Chapter 3: Results and Discussion – Export coefficients for P and N in dryland watersheds). Total nitrogen exports were highest in the Boreal watersheds, moderate in the Parkland streams, and lowest in the Grassland watersheds. Higher bacteria exports from the Grassland streams were attributable to the high fecal bacteria concentrations in Trout and Meadow Creeks.

There were significant differences in annual fecal coliform and *E. coli* exports among streams in the Boreal ecoregion area (fecal coliform: F(8,63)=7.029, $p \le 0.0001$, *E. coli*: fecal coliform: F(8,63)=7.029, $p \le 0.0001$). Two watersheds (Wabash and Hines Creek) showed significantly lower export coefficients than the others. Specifically, exports from Wabash Creek were lower than Blindman River and Grande Prairie, Paddle, Rose, Strawberry, and Tomahawk Creeks (Tukey's post hoc, p < 0.05). Exports from Hines Creek were significantly lower than those in Blindman River and Rose Creek for *E. coli* and Blindman River and Rose and Strawberry Creeks for fecal coliforms.

Within the Grassland ecoregion area, export coefficients from Meadow and Trout Creeks were significantly higher than Prairie Blood Coulee (fecal coliform: F(2,21)=12.415, $p\leq0.0001$, *E. coli*: (2,21)=10.438, p=0.001).

There was no significant difference in export coefficients among watersheds in the Parkland ecoregion area (fecal coliform: F(5,37)=2.220, p=0.073, *E. coli*: F(5,37)=2.217, p=0.073). All watersheds in the Parkland ecoregion area are under high intensity dryland agriculture.






Figure 4.23. Boxplots of the annual export coefficients of *E. coli* (a) and fecal coliforms (b) for 23 AESA streams grouped by ecoregion area. Groups with the same letter are not significantly different (ANOVA and Tukey post hoc test, p < 0.05).

Fecal Bacteria Loads

Annual loads of fecal bacteria (fecal coliform and *E. coli*) were calculated for 22 of the 23 AESA watersheds (all except Drain S-6). Annual load values (1999 to 2006) for the individual AESA streams are presented in Appendix 12 (Tables A12.1a and b). As noted for annual export coefficients, the annual bacteria load values presented here provide an estimate of the total number of bacteria passing by the mouth of these small agricultural watersheds in a year. However, the absolute number of bacteria received by a downstream waterbody would likely be lower due to die-off, deposition with sediment, and dilution with downstream water (Minnesota River Basin Data Centre 2003).

The highest median annual fecal coliform loads were observed in three watersheds located in the Boreal ecoregion area: Rose Creek (1.04×10^8 CFU year⁻¹), Strawberry Creek (7.63×10^7 CFU year⁻¹), and Blindman River (6.57×10^7 CFU year⁻¹) (Figure 4.24). In general, loads tended to be greatest from the dryland watersheds with the largest effective drainage areas. The two exceptions were Wabash and Hines Creeks which both have larger drainage areas (> 300 km²) but relatively low fecal coliform loads.

All three irrigated watersheds (Battersea Drain, Crowfoot Creek, and New West Coulee) also had notably higher loads, with median annual fecal coliform loads ranging from 3.35×10^7 CFU year⁻¹ (in Battersea Drain) to 6.36×10^7 CFU year⁻¹ (in New West Coulee) (Figure 4.24). The volume of water travelling through irrigated return flow streams over the course of the open water season tends to be high relative to many dryland streams because of the constant supply.

With a larger number of confined feeding operations concentrated within the Lethbridge region in southern Alberta, there is a disproportionate amount of manure that is produced within these basins that is likely applied to local crops (due to the high cost of manure transportation).

Watersheds located in the Aspen Parkland Ecoregion, including Stretton Creek, Renwick Creek, and Haynes Creek M6, had the lowest fecal bacteria loads. Typically, watersheds with high agricultural intensity also had low loads, in part due to low flow volumes but also due to the type of agriculture (dryland cropping) practiced.



Figure 4.24. Median annual fecal coliform and *E. coli* loads for 22 of 23 AESA streams (all but Drain S6). See Table 4.2 (pg. 4-10) for full stream names.

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

Data collected during the AESA Stream Survey from 1999 through 2006 confirmed the presence of fecal bacteria in surface waters of agricultural watersheds across Alberta. Specific objectives outlined for this chapter are answered below.

Objective 1: Assess compliance with Canadian Water Quality Guidelines.

- Average annual percent compliance for the irrigation guideline (100 CFU·100 mL⁻¹ fecal coliforms) ranged from 12% in Meadow Creek (moderate agricultural intensity) to 96% in Stretton Creek (high agricultural intensity).
 - Since the guideline is intended for circumstances where the water is potentially used for irrigation, the watersheds where the guideline has greatest importance are Battersea Drain, Crowfoot Creek, Drain S6, and New West Coulee, which had 62, 53, 62, and 50% compliance with the fecal coliform guideline for irrigation, respectively. It is important to clarify that the sampling location is at the mouth of these watersheds, and though irrigation agriculture is practiced within these basins, the source water used to irrigate crops is not the water sampled under the AESA program.
- Average annual percent compliance for the recreation guideline (200 CFU·100 mL⁻¹ fecal coliforms) ranged from 22% in Meadow Creek (moderate) to 100% in Stretton Creek (high).
- Compliance tended to be highest in watersheds with low or high intensity agriculture.

Objective 2: Assess differences in fecal bacteria levels among watersheds with varying levels of agricultural intensity (AI) and in different ecoregion areas.

- Annual geometric means for *E. coli* and fecal coliforms were significantly lower in both high and low intensity streams than in moderate intensity and irrigated streams.
 - The absence of a stepwise increase from low to moderate to high intensity (as observed in dryland streams for total phosphorus and total nitrogen, Chapter 3) suggests that the sources and/or mechanisms for transport of these two types of agricultural pollutants (nutrients vs. fecal bacteria) may not be the same.
 - Based on agricultural intensity groupings, streams such as Rose, Meadow, and Strawberry had significantly higher annual geometric means, while Willow Creek, Kleskun Drain, and Stretton Creek had notably lower annual geometric means within each of the respective agricultural intensity classifications (low, moderate, and high agricultural intensity, respectively).
- Ambient fecal coliform and *E. coli* concentrations were highest in the Grassland ecoregion area, followed by the Irrigated Grassland ecoregion area, the Boreal ecoregion area, the Parkland ecoregion Area, and the Continental Divide.
 - Differences among ecoregions were not as strong with *E. coli* as with fecal coliforms.

Objective 3: Examine inter-annual patterns in fecal coliform and *E. coli.*

- Overall, there was no apparent provincial trend in the geometric means of all watersheds from 1999 through 2006.
- Meadow Creek, Ray Creek, and Blindman River demonstrated variability among sampling years. Possible contributing factors included changes in manure production and NFR levels.

Objective 4: Examine the relationship between manure production in a watershed and the number of fecal coliforms and *E. coli* detected in water.

- At a provincial scale, the manure production metric alone was not a good predictor of streams with the highest risk of fecal coliform contamination.
 - Fecal coliforms measured in high intensity streams in the Aspen Parkland Ecoregion were typically lower than would be expected based on the manure production values.
 - Highest bacteria concentrations were observed in the Fescue Grasslands Ecoregion, specifically in Trout and Meadow Creeks on the south-western edge of the agricultural white zone. Pasture land, cropping, and confined feeding operations are primary activities, and there is relatively low percent tree cover.

Objective 5: Investigate the relationship between bacteria concentrations and possible transport mechanisms (e.g., flow, sediment transport, and precipitation).

- A strong relationship was observed between the total suspended sediment (i.e., NFR) and median annual concentrations of fecal coliforms and *E. coli* ($r_s = 0.775$ and 0.782, respectively, p<0.005) for the 23 AESA streams.
 - These data suggest that, in general, agricultural streams in Alberta with higher suspended sediment are also more likely to have higher bacteria concentrations.
- The relationship with runoff depth was not as strong as with total suspended solids (r_s =0.250 and 0.203 for fecal coliforms and *E. coli*, respectively); however, the relationship was weaker as a result of patterns in Meadow Creek (high bacteria, low runoff depth) and Willow Creek (low bacteria, high runoff depth).
 - When these two streams were removed, the correlation coefficients more than doubled ($r_s = 0.613$ and 0.532 (p<0.05) for fecal coliforms and *E. coli*, respectively).
- An inverse relationship was observed between nutrient concentrations and fecal coliforms and *E. coli* concentrations, the strongest being with total dissolved phosphorus (TDP) and total nitrogen (TN) (r_s=-0.442 to -0.476, p<0.05).
 - The inverse relationship was unexpected as it suggests that higher fecal bacteria concentrations cannot be anticipated in watersheds with high nutrient concentrations.

Objective 6: Examine seasonal patterns in fecal coliforms and E. coli.

- Overall, fecal coliform and *E. coli* counts were statistically highest in the summer months (June, July, and August) and lowest in the early spring (March and April).
 - Seasonal patterns for *E. coli* and fecal coliforms varied slightly by ecoregion area but generally followed the overall trend.
 - Seasonal patterns in fecal coliform and *E. coli* counts did not follow the same overall seasonal pattern observed for NFR, which was significantly higher in the early spring (March and April) and early summer (June and July) and lowest in October.
 - Higher fecal bacteria concentrations in the summer months may be a result of more frequent cattle access to surface water, longer bacteria survival in warmer water temperatures, and increased transport in surface runoff during summer storm events.
- Not all watersheds showed seasonal trends in fecal bacteria counts.
 - Seasonal patterns were not observed in watersheds in the northern Boreal ecoregion area (Grande Prairie Creek, Kleskun Drain, and Hines Creek).
 - Variability in seasonal patterns may have been a result of differences in climate and/or runoff patterns, land use, and agricultural management practices.

Chapter 5: Pesticides

TABLE of CONTENTS

TABLE of CONTENTS	5-i
LIST OF FIGURES	5-iii
LIST OF TABLES	5-vi
INTRODUCTION	5-1
Spatial and Temporal Patterns in Pesticide Usage in Alberta	5-2
Objectives	5-6
MATERIALS AND METHODS	
Field Methods	
Sampling Protocol.	
QA/QC	
Analytical Suite	5-7
Laboratory analysis	5-8
Data Analysis	5-9
Censored data values.	5-10
Statistical Analysis	5-10
Correlation Analyses	5-10
Water Quality Guidelines	5-10
Pesticide Toxicity Index	5-11
Watershed abbreviation	
RESULTS AND DISCUSSION	5-12
General Findings	5-12
Pesticide Detection Frequency	5-14
Pesticide Concentration	5-15
Water Quality Guidelines	5-20
Alberta Pesticide Toxicity Index (APTI)	5-25
Pesticide Occurrences and Concentrations by Watershed Agricultural Intensity	5-27
Total pesticide detection frequency	5-27
Total pesticide concentration	5-30
Total number of detections per sample	5-30
Relationship with Land Cover and Chemical and Fertilizer Expenses (\$/acre)	5-33
Relationship with Pesticide Sales Data	5-35
Spatial Distribution of Specific Pesticide Detections in Relation to Land Use	5-37
Seasonal Patterns	5-39
Total pesticide detection frequency	
Total pesticide concentration	
Total number of pesticides detected per sample.	5-40

Individual Compound Discussion	
2,4-D and MCPA	
Picloram and Triclopyr	
Clopyralid	
Dicamba.	
MCPP.	
Imazamethabenz-methyl	

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 5.1.	Pesticide pathways in the environment (Government of British Columbia) 5-1
Figure 5.2.	Map of the Chemical Expenses Index for the Agricultural Areas of Alberta in 2001
Figure 5.3.	Land cover distribution (% crop land) and average fertilizer and chemical expenses percentiles for each of the AESA watersheds
Figure 5.4.	Pesticide detection frequency (a) and median/mean concentrations (b) for 19 pesticide compounds detected in >1 percent of samples collected from 1999 to 2006 in all AESA streams
Figure 5.5.	Pesticide detection frequency (a) and median/mean concentrations (b) for 18 pesticide compounds detected in <1 percent of samples collected from 1999 to 2006 in all AESA streams
Figure 5.6.	Stacked bar graph of percent non-compliance with water quality guidelines in 23 AESA watersheds
Figure 5.7.	Comparison of pesticide detection and guideline compliance for the 68 compounds monitored from 1999 to 2006
Figure 5.8.	Distribution of Alberta Pesticide Toxicity Index (APTI) scores 5-26
Figure 5.9.	Total pesticide detection frequency (%) (a), total pesticide concentration (μ g L ⁻¹) (b), and total number of compounds detected (c) among watersheds with different agricultural intensities (low, moderate, high and irrigated)
Figure 5.10.	Detection frequency (%) (a), total pesticide concentration (μ g L ⁻¹) (b), and total number of compounds detected (c) in the 23 streams from 1999 to 2006
Figure 5.11.	Histogram of the total number of compounds detected per sample $(1,2,3,4,5 \text{ or } \ge 6)$ in watersheds with low (n=116) (a), moderate (n=239) (b), high (n=387) (c), and irrigated (n=299) (d) agricultural intensities
Figure 5.12.	Total number of individual pesticides or degradation products detected in each of the AESA watersheds from 1999 to 2006
Figure 5.13.	Correlations between total pesticide detection frequency and percent crop land(a), average fertilizer expense percentile (b), and chemical expense percentiles(c) (1996, 2001 and 2006 Ag Census data) and median total pesticide concentrations and

percent crop land(d), average fertilizer expense percentile(e) and chemical expense percentiles(f) in 22 of 23 AESA streams (does not include Drain S-6)...... 5-34 Figure 5.14. Pesticide detection frequency of pesticide compounds detected in >1% of samples. Figure 5.15. Total pesticide detection frequency (%) (a), total pesticide concentration (µg L-1) (b), and total number of compounds detected (c) from March to October. 5-41 Figure 5.16. Interannual patterns in median annual concentrations of the 11 most ubiquitous Figure 5.17. Interannual patterns in total pesticide detection frequency (%) (a) and total pesticide concentration (μ g L⁻¹, median values) (b) from 1999 to 2006 for the 40 Figure 5.18. Boxplots of annual 2,4-D (a) and MCPA (b) detection frequencies by watershed Figure 5.19. Patterns in 2,4-D (a) and MCPA (b) detection frequencies and pesticide Figure 5.21. Concentrations of 2,4-D in Haynes Creek M6 (a), Ray Creek (b), Renwick Creek (c), and Wabash Creek (d) from 1999 to 2006...... 5-51 Figure 5.22. Boxplots of annual picloram (a) and triclopyr (b) detection frequencies by watershed Figure 5.23. Patterns in picloram (a) and triclopyr (b) detection frequencies (primary y-axis) and pesticide concentrations (secondary y-axis) in AESA watersheds from 1999 to 2006. Figure 5.24. Patterns in the detection frequency of picloram over time in all watersheds (a) and in Figure 5.25. Boxplots of annual clopyralid (a) and dicamba (b) detection frequencies by watershed agricultural intensity category...... 5-57 Figure 5.26. Patterns in clopyralid (a) and dicamba (b) detection frequencies (primary y-axis) and pesticide concentrations (secondary y-axis) in AESA watersheds. 5-58 Figure 5.27. Interannual patterns in clopyralid concentrations (a) and detection frequency (b) in

Figure 5.28.	Interannual patterns in dicamba concentrations (a) and detection frequency (b) in Wabash Creek
Figure 5.29.	Interannual patterns in dicamba concentrations (a) and detection frequency (b) in Crowfoot Creek
Figure 5.30.	Boxplots of annual MCPP (a) and imazamethabenz-methyl (b) detection frequencies by watershed agricultural intensity category
Figure 5.31.	Patterns in MCPP (a) and imazamethabenz-methyl (b) detection frequencies (primary y-axis) and median pesticide concentrations (secondary y-axis) in AESA watersheds. 5-65
Figure 5.32.	Interannual patterns in MCPP detection frequencies in Crowfoot Creek (a) and Wabash Creek (b)
Figure 5.33.	Interannual patterns in imazamethabenz-methyl concentrations (a) and detection frequency (b) from 1999 through 2006 in all AESA watersheds
Figure 5.34.	Seasonal detection frequency in the top eight detected pesticide compounds. Plots show mean annual detection frequency for all 23 watersheds (1999 to 2006) ± 1 standard error

LIST OF TABLES

Table 5.1.	Top 12 Agricultural active ingredient sales for 2003 and 1998 (Byrtus 2007) 5-5
Table 5.2.	Pesticide analytical suite from 1999 to 2006 5-8
Table 5.3.	Metrics used to evaluate pesticide data
Table 5.4.	Watershed abbreviations used throughout the chapter
Table 5.5.	Summary statistics for pesticide detection frequency for all samples collected from 1999 to 2006
Table 5.6.	Number of compounds monitored and detected in each year of sampling
Table 5.7.	Summary statistics for the number of individual pesticides per sample for all samples collected from 1999 to 2006
Table 5.8.	Summary statistics for the total pesticide concentration for all samples collected from 1999 to 2006
Table 5.9.	Summary of pesticide analyses from 1999 to 2006 5-16
Table 5.10.	Water quality guidelines for pesticides ($\mu g L^{-1}$)
Table 5.11.	Compliance with Canadian Water Quality Guidelines for the Protection of Aquatic Life or Irrigation
Table 5.12.	Characteristics of pesticide compounds or degradation products with 'very high' pesticide movement ratings
Table 5.13.	Detection frequencies of individual pesticide compounds in each of the AESA watersheds
Table 5.14.	Detection frequency (%) of gamabenzenehexachloride (Lindane) in AESA watersheds where lindane was detected from 1997 to 2006
Table 5.15.	Maximum concentration (μ g L ⁻¹) of gamabenzenehexachloride (Lindane) in AESA watersheds where lindane was detected from 1997 to 2006
Table 5.16.	Annual summary statistics for total pesticide detection frequency, median concentration, and median number of compounds per sample based on the 40 compound dataset

INTRODUCTION

Pesticides are used in agriculture to control pests and disease. Effective pest control allows for higher food production at lower cost and improves food quality and variety. Sales data for Alberta shows that the agriculture sector is the major user of pesticides. In 2003, a total of 9,264,488 kg of pesticide active ingredient was sold in or shipped to Alberta, and the majority of pesticide sales (96.2%) were in the agriculture sector (Byrtus 2007). The pesticides sold were predominantly herbicides (77.3%), while insecticides and fungicides comprised 4.7% and 3.4% of sales, respectively (Byrtus 2007).

Since pesticides are not naturally occurring in the environment, they present a unique challenge for agriculture (Anderson et al. 1997). Pesticide use can result in negative impacts to sensitive aquatic organisms, aquatic ecosystems, and human health because certain herbicides, insecticides, fungicides, and other pesticides persist in the environment longer than is required to kill target weeds and insects (Schulz 2004; Rice et al. 2007). Off-target movement of pesticides from soil to water results from direct or indirect transport mechanisms, including surface runoff and leaching, erosion of soil particles by wind or water, non-target drift from aerial or ground boom spraying, and deposition in precipitation. Other factors affecting the amount of pesticide transported include the slope of land and the interval between pesticide application and the occurrence of a runoff event. Generally, the shorter the interval between application and runoff, the greater the contaminant losses in surface runoff (Wauchope 1978). Potential pathways for non-target pesticide movement are illustrated in Figure 5.1; however, pesticide movement via atmospheric deposition (dry and wet) and long range transport and deposition are not depicted.



Figure 5.1. Pesticide pathways in the environment (Government of British Columbia).

Risks to water quality and human health are also dependent on pesticide characteristics that dictate their fate in the environment. Some pesticides are more likely to linger in the environment (e.g., organochlorines) while others are more likely to degrade (e.g., glyphosate). Characteristics that affect presence/absence in the environment include water solubility, soil adsorption, and persistence in the environment (i.e., half-life) (Government of British Columbia). Pesticides with high water solubility, low tendency to adsorb to soil particles, and long persistence or half-life have the highest potential to move into water.

Compounds with high solubility are more likely to be detected in water, even if they are not as commonly applied.

Assessments of streams in the United States, Canada, and Europe have shown that pesticides are frequently detected and often occur in mixtures (Anderson 2005; Chevre et al. 2006; Gilliom 2007). In agricultural applications, formulated products with multiple active ingredients or tank mixtures of two or more pesticides are commonly applied to crops, so the co-occurrence of multiple active ingredients in water is not surprising. Although pesticides tend to occur in low concentrations in the aquatic environment (Gilliom 2007), the occurrence of mixtures poses a toxicity risk to aquatic life. Studies have shown negative effects on invertebrate and amphibian populations (Bailey et al. 1997; Relyea 2008), as well as the nervous systems of fish (Tierney et al. 2008). The issue of pesticide mixtures in water is complex and is a challenge for regulators and ecotoxicologists alike (Lydy et al. 2004; Belden et al. 2007).

Spatial and Temporal Patterns in Pesticide Usage in Alberta

In Alberta, Census of Agriculture data are used to show regional patterns of pesticide use. The dollars spent on chemical expenses per acre provides a measure of the intensity of pesticide use and is used to define the chemical/pesticide component of the AESA agricultural intensity metric. The highest concentration of pesticide use occurs through central Alberta, as well as in the Lethbridge, Grande Prairie/Peace River, and Vegreville regions (Figure 5.2). From an ecoregional perspective, the high agricultural intensity watersheds are concentrated in the Aspen Parkland Ecoregion and irrigated portions of the Moist Mixed and Mixed Grassland Ecoregions. Of the 23 AESA watersheds, the highest chemical expenses coincide with watersheds ranked as having high agricultural intensity. These include Haynes Creek, Renwick Creek, and Battersea Drain (Figure 5.3). Watersheds with high chemical expenses also tend to have high fertilizer expenses and areas of crop land (Figure 5.3).



Figure 5.2. Map of the Chemical Expenses Index for the Agricultural Areas of Alberta in 2001.



Figure 5.3. Land cover distribution (% crop land) and average fertilizer and chemical expenses percentiles for each of the AESA watersheds. Land cover information is based on 1991 data, and chemical and fertilizer expenses are based on the average of 1996, 2001, and 2006 Census of Agriculture data.

Census of Agriculture data are complemented by pesticide sales records that provide specific information on which pesticides are being sold, where, and in what quantities. Pesticide sales reviews are conducted every five years. The most recent review reported that the top 10 active ingredients in herbicide sold in the agricultural market are glyphosate, MCPA, 2,4-D, bromoxynil, triallate, ethalfluarlin, tralkoxydim, imazamethabenz, dicamba, and glufosinate (Byrtus 2007). The top two active ingredients in insecticides sold in the agricultural market are chlorpyrifos and carbaryl.

There have been some changes in sales of active ingredients between 1998 and 2003 (Table 5.1). The most notable is the jump in carbaryl sales (nearly 8000% increase) which coincided with issues with grasshopper populations. Substantial (>20%) increases in sales were observed from 1998 to 2003 for glyphosate, MCPA, bromoxynil, and glufosinate, and substantial decreases in sales were observed for triallate, ethalfluralin, and imazamethabenz-methyl. Pesticide active ingredients are anticipated to change over time as new products come on the market and specific pest outbreaks occur.

Active Ingredient	Usage	2003 Sales	1998 Sales	% Change
		(kg)	(kg)	(1998 to 2003)
Glyphosate	Herbicide	3 333 994.5	2 627 599.3	+26.9%
MCPA*	Herbicide	1 096 848.9	884 937.5	+23.9%
2,4-D*	Herbicide	685 294.5	674 902.6	+1.5%
Bromoxynil*	Herbicide	354 906.6	268 105.3	+32.4%
Triallate*	Herbicide	197 221.4	693 269.3	-71.6%
Chlorpyrifos*	Insecticide	197 004.7	215 779.6	-8.7%
Ethalfluralin*	Herbicide	168 135.0	452 294.4	-62.8%
Tralkoxydim	Herbicide	141 226.1	126 323.5	+11.8%
Imazamethabenz*	Herbicide	138 551.4	173 679.2	-20.2%
Dicamba*	Herbicide	108 637.8	118 739.8	-8.5%
Glufosinate	Herbicide	106 689.6	63 400.8	+68.3%
Carbaryl	Insecticide	100 955.7	1 259.2	+7917.4%

Table 5.1. Top 12 Agricultural active ingredient sales for 2003 and 1998 (Byrtus 2007)

Asterisks* denote compounds routinely monitored in the AESA WQ Program. **Bold** values denote greater than 20% change in sales.

Provincially, agricultural pesticide use intensity has not changed much in Alberta in the 15-year period from 1988 to 2003. Overall, pesticide sales have increased slightly in this time; however, the pesticide use per unit area tends to remain the same (~ 0.8 kg ha^{-1}) (Byrtus 2007).

Objectives

As introduced in Chapter 1, the AESA Stream Survey was initiated in 1997 to learn more about how stream water quality is impacted by low, moderate, and high intensity agriculture in Alberta and to track changes in water quality as the industry grows and agricultural management practices change.

The specific objectives of this chapter were to:

- i. Assess pesticide occurrence and concentration in Alberta's agricultural streams.
- ii. Evaluate differences in pesticide occurrence and concentration among watersheds with low, moderate, and high intensity (dryland and irrigated) agriculture.
- iii. Examine the relationship between measures of the intensity of pesticide use and presence of pesticide residues in surface water.
- iv. Explore spatial and temporal trends in pesticide occurrence and concentration to assess risk to the environment and food safety.
- v. Determine compliance of observed concentrations with Canadian Water Quality Guidelines and risk of cumulative effects using the Alberta Pesticide Toxicity Index.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Field Methods

Sampling Protocol. Grab samples were collected from AESA streams during the open water season, from March through October. Pre-cleaned 1-L glass amber bottles were filled mid-stream until there was no headspace remaining. Samples were transported in coolers with ice to the laboratory within 24 hours of collection.

Sample collection followed a flow-biased regime where pesticide samples were collected more often during runoff or peak flow events (i.e., once per week during peak runoff, then once biweekly to once monthly as stream flow decreased). Due to cost, pesticide samples were collected less frequently than nutrient and fecal bacteria samples, approximately one pesticide sample for every two nutrient and bacteria samples.

Some pesticide monitoring was conducted in the AESA streams in 1997 and 1998. Forty-four samples were collected from 14 streams in 1997, and 117 samples were collected from 11 streams in 1998. All 23 streams were monitored from 1999 to 2006.

From 1999 to 2006, between 6 and 11 samples were generally collected annually per stream; however, sampling frequency varied depending on the amount of annual flow and the ecoregion where the watershed is located (Chapter 2: Precipitation and Hydrology section). From 1999 to 2006, an average of nine samples was collected per stream per year. The fewest number of samples collected in a single year was two (Crowfoot in 1999) and the most was 19 samples (Blindman and Paddle in 2005). In four of eight years, insufficient flow prevented sample

collection in two streams (Stretton (2001 to 2003) and Haynes M6 (2004)). Refer to Appendix 17 (Table A17.2) for a summary of sampling frequency by year and stream.

QA/QC. Data quality was evaluated by field blanks, trip blanks, splits, and spikes. Refer to Anderson (2005) for more details on the QA/QC program.

The QA/QC data was not analyzed due to time constraints; however, it was anticipated that findings would be similar to earlier reports for Alberta data using the same field methods and laboratory. Anderson (2005) suggested that 'reported detection frequencies and concentrations are biased low' (i.e., concentrations and detections are higher in the environment).

Analytical Suite

The composition of the pesticide analytical suite was determined based on pesticide sales data (Byrtus 2000). The goal was to include the pesticide active ingredients that were most likely to be detected in the environment based on use and chemical properties; however, the suite was also dictated by analytical and funding constraints.

From 1999 to 2006, 40 active ingredients, breakdown products, and isomers (25 herbicides, 14 insecticides, and one fungicide) were routinely analyzed in the 23 AESA streams. In 2002, six compounds were added to the suite; in 2004, four compounds were added, bringing the totals to 46 and 50 compounds, respectively. In 2005, one additional compound (methomyl) was added. In 2006, funding from Alberta Environment enabled an upgrade to the extended pesticide scan, and 17 compounds were added to the suite bringing the total to 68 compounds (Table 5.2). A summary of pesticide mobility ratings for the compounds under study is found in Appendix 14.

Several pesticides, notably glyphosate and sulfonylurea compounds, were not included because of analytical costs and limitations. Glyphosate monitoring in a sub-set of AESA watersheds was conducted in 2005 and 2007, and findings are summarized in a separate report (Lorenz *in prep*).

	Table 5.2.	Pesticide	analytical	suite from	1999 to 2006.
--	------------	-----------	------------	------------	---------------

Pesti	Pesticides			
	2,4-D	Fluazifop (added in 2006)		
	2,4-DB	Fluroxypy (added in 2006)		
	2,4-Dichlorophenol (added in 2002)	Gamma-Benzenehexachloride (Lindane)		
	4-Chloro-2-Methylphenol (added in 2002)	Hexaconazole (added in 2006)		
	Aldicarb (added in 2004)	Imazamethabenz-methyl		
	Aldrin (added in 2002)	Imazamox		
	Alpha-Benzenehaxachloride (Alpha-BHC)	Imazethapyr		
	Alpha-endosulfan	Iprodione (added in 2006)		
	Atrazine	Linuron (added in 2006)		
	Azinphosmethyl (Guthion)	Malathion		
	Bentazon (added in 2006)	MCPA		
	Bromacil	МСРВ		
	Bromoxynil	MCPP		
	Carbathiin	Metalaxyl-m (added in 2006)		
	Chlorothalonil (added in 2006)	Methomyl (added in 2005)		
	Chlorpyrifos	Methoxychlor		
	Clodinafop Acid Metabolite (added in 2006)	Metolachlor (added in 2006)		
	Clodinafop-propargyl (added in 2006)	Metribuzin (added in 2006)		
	Clopyralid	Napropamide (added in 2004)		
	Cyanazine	Oxycarboxin (added in 2004)		
	Desethyl atrazine	Parathion (added in 2006)		
	Desisopropyl atrazine	Phorate		
	Diazinon	Picloram		
	Dicamba	Propiconazole (added in 2006)		
	Dichlorprop	Pyridaben		
	Diclofop-methyl	Quinclorac		
	Dieldrin (added in 2002)	Quizalofop (added in 2006)		
	Dimethoate	Simazine (added in 2002)		
	Disulfoton	Terbufos		
	Diuron	Thiamethoxam (added in 2006)		
	Ethalfluralin	Triallate		
	Ethion	Triclopyr (added in 2002)		
	Ethofumesate (added in 2006)	Trifluralin		
	Fenoxaprop-p-ethyl	Vinclozolin (added in 2004)		

Laboratory analysis. One litre of unfiltered water was extracted and analyzed by mass spectrometry/gas chromatography - ion trap at the Alberta Research Council laboratory in Vegreville, AB. Additional details on methods are available in Anderson 2005.

Method detection limits (MDLs) ranged from L0.005 to L0.02 μ g L⁻¹ (parts per billion (ppb)) (Table 5.9). Results are expressed in μ g active ingredient per litre. On occasions where a concentration below the MDL was reported, the reported value was converted to the MDL. This

may result in discrepancies in detect versus non-detect data reported in the AESA annual technical reports where values below the MDL were reported (specifically malathion detections in 1999 and 2001). Dicamba detection limit changed in 2001 from L0.02 to L0.005 μ g L⁻¹.

Data Analysis

For the purpose of comparing among agricultural intensity groupings, the data were limited to the eight-year monitoring period from 1999 to 2006.

For the purpose of examining year-to-year trends in pesticide detection, the data collected during 1998 were included for Battersea Drain, Blindman River, Crowfoot Creek, Haynes Creek, Ray Creek, Renwick Creek, Rose Creek, Stretton Creek, Strawberry Creek, Threehills Creek, and Tomahawk Creek since the sampling frequency was similar to the latter years. Samples from 1997 were not included in the discussion due to low sampling frequency.

Five metrics were used to examine spatial and temporal trends in the pesticide dataset (Table 5.3).

Table 5.3. Metrics used to evaluate pesticide data.			
Metrics	Definition	Application and	
		Considerations	
Pesticide concentration	Actual concentration	Summary statistics apply to	
	laboratory for individual	and should be evaluated in	
	compounds	conjunction with detection	
		frequencies to assess the	
		extent of contamination	
Pesticide detection	Number of samples with at	A measure of detection	
frequency	least one detection of an	frequency for an individual	
	individual compound,	pesticide	
	divided by the number of samples analyzed		
Total pesticide	Sum of concentrations	A measure of the potential	
concentration	reported for all compounds	cumulative impact	
	detected in an individual sample		
Total pesticide detection	Number of samples with at	A measure of the presence/	
frequency	least one pesticide detection	absence of one or more	
	per sample, divided by the	pesticide residues.	
	number of samples analyzed		
Total number of detections	Number of individual	Evaluation of the presence	
per sample	pesticides per sample	of pesticide mixtures	

Adapted from Anderson (2005)

Total concentration and total pesticide detection frequency were calculated using all available data each year (i.e., an increasing number of compounds over time). However, interannual comparisons only included the 40 compounds analyzed every year from 1998 to 2006.

Statistical comparisons among watershed agricultural intensity categories, years, and seasons were calculated using annual or monthly medians.

Censored data values. Statistics such as medians and percentiles for 'measurable concentrations' do not include censored data (i.e. 'zero' values). In the calculation of 'total pesticide concentration', censored data were replaced by 'zero'.

Annual loads and export coefficients for pesticides were not calculated for this report. Refer to Anderson 2005 for mass transport values for AESA and other agricultural streams from 1997 to 2002.

Statistical Analysis. All statistical analyses were computed in SYSTAT 10 (SPSS Inc. 2000).

Prior to analysis, normality was first assessed using normal probability plots. Where the assumptions of the parametric test were met, one-way ANOVAs were used followed by the Tukey post-hoc comparison; otherwise the non-parametric Kruskal Wallis test was employed followed by the Mann Whitney U-test on all pairs of groups. All ANOVAs were completed using median annual data from 1999 to 2006 for each stream. Large proportions of censored data often required non-parametric analyses.

Figures of individual streams show summary statistics (median, mean, or maximum) for the entire data set and thus include a different number of samples for each stream. Generally medians are plotted in figures as they best represented the data overall.

Correlation Analyses. The relationship between the intensity of agriculture in a watershed (as % cropland and fertilizer and chemical expense percentiles) and pesticide occurrence was explored by Pearson Product-Moment Correlation for parametric data and Spearman Rank Correlation for non-parametric data.

Water Quality Guidelines. Water quality guidelines provide a consistent basis for assessing water quality conditions of Alberta's streams and rivers. The province has derived or adopted surface water quality guidelines for the protection of three major water uses: freshwater aquatic life, agricultural water uses (irrigation and livestock watering), recreational use, and aesthetics. Pesticide concentrations in AESA streams were compared against guidelines in one or several of these categories. The most current provincial guidelines were used: Surface Water Quality Guidelines for Use in Alberta (AENV 1999). Several of Alberta's guidelines were adopted from federal water quality guidelines, specifically Canadian Environmental Quality Guidelines (CEQGs) (CCME 1999a, 2002).

Drinking water guidelines are set by the federal government and applied to treated water used for human consumption. These guidelines are provided in this report for reference only.

Pesticide Toxicity Index. The Alberta Pesticide Toxicity Index (APTI) provides information on the relative toxicity of pesticide mixtures in surface waters and is used as a screening tool (Anderson 2008). The APTI evaluates observed pesticide concentrations in relation to the acute toxicity values (available from the USEPA ECOTOX database) based on two endpoints: i) EC_{50} (sublethal) algal and cladocerans ii) LC_{50} (mortality) invertebrates and fish. Data are also compared to a 'No Observable Effects Concentration'' (NOEC) that is based on 1% of lowest LC_{50} or EC_{50} . The index output represents the samples and streams that are more or less likely to have toxic effects (i.e., risk) rather than a measure of actual toxicity (Anderson 2008).

The formula used to calculate the APTI is based on the work of Munn et al. (2006) (Anderson 2008) and is as follows:

$$PTI = \sum_{i=1}^{n} \frac{c_i}{EC_{xi}}$$

where c_i is the concentration of compound 'i'

n is the number of compounds detected

EC_{xi} is the effect endpoint associated with compound 'i' (e.g., LC₅₀ or EC₅₀)

There are three index categories:

- High Risk: Concentrations of one or more pesticide compounds exceed the most stringent EC₅₀ and LC₅₀ endpoint.
- Moderate Risk: Concentrations of one or more pesticide fall between the NOEC limit and the most stringent EC₅₀ and LC₅₀ endpoint.
- Low Risk: All pesticide concentrations fall below the NOEC (i.e. <1% of the lowest LC₅₀ or EC₅₀ values).

Daily data sets from each of the 23 AESA streams (1999 to 2006) were evaluated using the index to assess the pesticide toxicity risk in Alberta's agricultural streams and then compared among agricultural intensity categories.

The index has limitations, which are described by Anderson (2008). The limitation of applying the index to the AESA dataset is that the number of pesticides monitored increased from 40 to 68 compounds from 1999 to 2006, so the likelihood of a lower score is higher in the later years of monitoring when more compounds were analyzed.

Watershed abbreviation. For figure simplification, an abbreviation was often used for each watershed. Generally, the abbreviation made was the first three letters of the watershed although this is not always the case (Table 5.4).

Table 5.4. Watershed abbreviations us	ed throughout the chapter.
Watershed	Abbreviation
Battersea Drain	BAT
Blindman River	BLI
Buffalo Creek	BUF
Crowfoot Creek	CRO
Drain S6	DS6
Grande Prairie Creek	GRA
Haynes Creek M6	HM6
Hines Creek	HIN
Kleskun Drain	KLE
Meadow Creek	MEA
New West Coulee	NEW
Paddle River	PAD
Prairie Blood Coulee	PRA
Ray Creek	RAY
Renwick Creek	REN
Rose Creek	ROS
Strawberry Creek	STW
Stretton Creek	STT
Threehills Creek	THR
Tomahawk Creek	TOM
Trout Creek	TRO
Wabash Creek	WAB
Willow Creek	WIL

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

General Findings

At least one of the 40 routinely monitored pesticide compounds were detected in 990 of the 1627 samples collected from 1999 to 2006, an overall frequency of 61%. Total detection frequencies increased slightly when the additional 28 compounds (analyzed from 2002 onwards) were included in calculations. For the suite of 68 pesticides, one or more compounds were detected in 1041 of the 1627 samples or 64% (Table 5.5). The compounds that were added to the suite and accounted for the additional detections are listed in Table 5.6.

Table 5.5. Summary statistics for pesticide detection frequency for all samples collected from 1999 to 2006.

	Analytical Suite	
	40 compounds	68 compounds
Total number of samples	1627	1627
Number of samples with detections	990	1041
Detection Frequency (%)	60.8	64.0

Table 5.6. Number of compounds monitored and detected in each year of sampling.				
Monitoring	# Compounds	Compounds # Compounds Newly added pesticides that were		
Period	Analyzed	Detected	detected	
1999 to 2001	40	24		
2002 to 2003	46	28	Simazine (H)	
			Triclopyr (H)	
			2,4-Dichlorophenol (H-DP)	
			4-Chloro-2-Methylphenol (H-DP)	
2004	50	30	Oxycarboxin (F)	
			Vinclozolin (F)	
2005	51	30	-	
2006	68	37	Bentazon (H)	
			Ethofumesate (H)	
			Fluroxypyr (H)	
			Metribuzin (H)	
			Clodinafop Acid Metabolite (H-DP)	
			Iprodione (F)	
			Metalaxyl-M (F)	

H= herbicide, H-DP= herbicide degradation product, F=fungicide

Regardless of how many compounds were analyzed (40 or 68), the median number of compounds detected per sample was two (Table 5.7). Summary statistics show that 75% of samples had \leq 4 pesticide compounds. The maximum number of compounds detected per sample was 10 for the 40 compound suite and 12 for the 68 compound suite (Table 5.7).

Table 5.7. Summary statistics for the number of individual pesticides per sample for all samples collected from 1999 to 2006.

	Analytical Suite					
	40 compounds	68 compounds				
n	990	1041				
Minimum	1	1				
25 th percentile	1	1				
50 th percentile	2	2				
75 th percentile	4	4				
Maximum	10	12				

n= number of samples with detections

The median total concentration of measurable levels of pesticide was 0.089 μ g L⁻¹ and 0.098 μ g L⁻¹ for the 40 and 68 compound suites, respectively (Table 5.8). The maximum concentration observed was 100 fold higher at 13.8 μ g L⁻¹.

	Analytical Suite					
	40 compounds	68 compounds				
n	990	1041				
Minimum ($\mu g L^{-1}$)	0.005	0.005				
25^{th} percentile (µg L ⁻¹)	0.027	0.030				
50^{th} percentile (µg L ⁻¹)	0.089	0.098				
75^{th} percentile (µg L ⁻¹)	0.309	0.319				
Maximum ($\mu g L^{-1}$)	13.8	13.8				

Table 5.8. Summary statistics for the total pesticide concentration for all samples collected from 1999 to 2006.

n= number of samples with detections

Given the similarities in summary statistics for the 40 and 68 compound data sets, reported values in the remainder of the Chapter include all monitored (68) compounds (with the exception of interannual trends).

Pesticide Detection Frequency. Of the total 68 compounds analyzed, 37 pesticides or pesticide breakdown products were detected in measurable concentrations on at least one occasion. Of the 40 herbicides monitored, 29 were detected. Of the 20 insecticides monitored, four were detected, while four of the eight fungicides monitored were detected.

The eight most frequently detected compounds in agricultural streams were all herbicides. These eight herbicide active ingredients were each detected in $\geq 10\%$ of analyzed samples: 2,4-D, MCPA, clopyralid, triclopyr, dicamba, picloram, imazamethabenz-methyl, and MCPP (Table 5.9). Detection frequencies were greatest for 2,4-D (49.5%) followed by MCPA (30.5%) and picloram (16.4%). The eight most ubiquitous compounds were all monitored from 1999 to 2006 with the exception of triclopyr, which was added to the analytical suite in 2002. Of the 21 remaining herbicides or breakdown products detected in AESA streams, 10 were detected in 1 to 9% of samples (triallate, bentazon, fluroxypyr, ethofumesate, bromoxynil, simazine, dichlorprop, 2,4-dichlorophenol, atrazine, and imazethapyr) and 11 were detected in less than 1% of samples (trifluralin, clodinafop acid metabolite, metribuzin, bromacil, diuron, imazamox, ethalfluralin, desisopropyl atrazine, 2,4-DB, 4-chloro2-methylphenol, and quinclorac).

The four insecticides detected were gammabenzenehexachloride (lindane), diazinon, chlorpyrifos, and alpha-benzenehexachloride (alpha-BHC) (Table 5.9). Detection frequencies for top detected insecticides were much lower than for herbicides (i.e. <1%). The most frequently detected insecticide was lindane, detected in 0.6% of samples (or 10 of 1627 samples), followed by diazinon (0.2%), chlorpyrifos (0.2%), and alpha-BHC (0.1%). All insecticides detected were monitored from 1999 to 2006.

The four fungicides detected in the AESA watersheds were iprodione (in 10 of 306 samples, or 3.3%), metalaxl-M (0.8%), vinclozolin (0.5%), and oxycarboxin (0.2%) (Table 5.9). These fungicide compounds were added to the analytical suite in 2002; thus, detection frequencies are based on four years of data.

Method detection limits have an influence on detection frequencies as a lower MDL (i.e.., $0.005 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$) will lead to higher detection frequencies than a 10-fold higher MDL (i.e., $0.05 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$). The approach in this report was to use the laboratory MDL to calculate detection frequencies; however, another approach would be to set a standard detection threshold for the calculation of detection frequency. For example, the United States Geological Survey applied a $0.1 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$ threshold in their National Pesticide Assessment to account for variations in analytical sensitivity among different compounds (Gilliom 2007).

Pesticide Concentration. Pesticide concentration data need to be interpreted in the context of the detection frequency and compound toxicology to accurately assess risk. Median and mean concentrations are presented in Figure 5.4 and Table 5.9; a large difference in the two values suggests a relatively high peak concentration for the compound. Maximum concentrations observed are summarized in Table 5.9.

Of the 19 pesticide and breakdown products detected in >1% of samples, the herbicide imazamethabenz-methyl had the highest concentrations (median: $0.272 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$ and mean: $0.440 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$) followed by the fungicide iprodione (median: $0.177 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$ and mean: $0.183 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$), the herbicide simazine (median: $0.084 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$ and mean: $0.364 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$), and the herbicide picloram (median: $0.065 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$ and mean: $0.249 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$) (Figure 5.4a and b).

Several of the 18 pesticide and breakdown products detected in < 1% of samples were detected in concentrations higher than those detected in >1% of samples. However, occurrence was relatively rare. The pesticides to note include the fungicides metalaxyl-m and oxycarboxin and herbicides diuron, 2,4-DB, and 4-chloro-methylphenol (Figure 5.5a and b). All had median concentrations that exceeded $0.3 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$; however, none were detected on more than three occasions. Metalaxyl-m, oxycarboxin, and 4-chloro-methylphenol were each only detected in a single stream (Battersea Drain, Wabash Creek or New West Coulee, respectively). Diuron was detected in Rose and Wabash Creeks, and 2,4-DB was detected in Renwick Creek and New West Coulee.

						Maximum	Median	Mean
	Year		Number of		Detection	Measurable	Measurable	Measurable
Doctiona	Added to Suite ^Z		samples	Number of	Frequency	Concentration	Concentration	Concentration
HERBICIDES	onice		collected		(0/)	(ug r)	(1 GN)	(1 Bh)
2,4-D	1997	L0.005	1627	805	49.5	8.534	0.031	0.139
2,4-DB	1997	L0.005	1627	2	0.1	0.665	0.335	0.335
2,4-DICHLOROPHENOL	2002	L0.01	994	15	1.5	0.469	0.045	0.070
4-CHLORO-2-METHYLPHENOL	2002	L0.01	994	÷	0.1	2.876	2.876	2.876
ATRAZINE	1997	L0.005	1627	21	1.3	0.142	0.015	0.031
BENTAZON	2006	L0.005	306	17	5.6	0.599	0.035	0.119
BROMACIL	1997	L0.03	1627	4	0.2	0.297	0.158	0.169
BROMOXYNIL	1997	L0.005	1627	75	4.6	0.522	0.012	0.046
CLODINAFOPACIDMETABOLITE	2006	L0.02	304	£	0.3	0.024	0.024	0.024
CLODINAFOP-PROPARGYL	2006	L0.04	304	0				
CLOPYRALID (LONTREL)	1997	L0.02	1626	220	13.5	1.790	0.049	0.093
CYANAZINE	1997	L0.05	1627	0				
DESETHYLATRAZINE	1998	L0.05	1627	0				
DESISOPROPYLATRAZINE	1998	L0.05	1627	2	0.1	0.139	0.123	0.123
DICAMBA (BANVEL)	1997	L0.02/L0.005 ^Y	1627	214	13.2	1.134	0.017	0.057
DICHLORPROP (2,4-DP)	1997	L0.005	1627	42	2.6	0.373	0.019	0.054
DICLOFOP-METHYL (HOEGRASS)	1997	L0.02	1627	0				
DIURON	1997	L0.2	1627	ю	0.2	0.616	0.387	0.417
ETHALFLURALIN(EDGE)	1997	L0.005	1627	2	0.1	0.018	0.014	0.014
ETHOFUMESATE	2006	L0.005	306	15	4.9	0.399	0.047	0.088
FENOXAPROP-P-ETHYL	1998	L0.04	1627	0				
FLUAZIFOP	2006	L0.01	306	0				
FLUROXYPYR	2006	L0.01	306	16	5.2	0.409	0.033	0.066
IMAZAMETHABENZ-METHYL	1997	L0.05	1627	156	9.6	9.005	0.272	0.440
IMAZAMOX	1999	L0.02	1627	2	0.1	0.063	0.050	0.050
IMAZETHAPYR	1999	L0.02	1627	20	1.2	0.182	0.066	0.080
LINURON	2006	L0.02	306	0				
MCPA	1997	L0.005	1627	495	30.4	7.279	0.018	0.068
MCPB	1997	L0.02	1627	0				
MCPP (MECOPROP)	1997	L0.005	1627	160	9.8	2.068	0.019	0.052
METOLACHLOR	2006	L0.005	306	0				
METRIBUZIN	2006	L0.01	306	1	0.3	0.010	0.010	0.010
NAPROPAMIDE	2004	L0.02	641	0				
PICLORAM (TORDON)	1997	L0.005	1627	267	16.4	13.407	0.065	0.249
QUINCLORAC	1998	L0.005	1627	1	0.1	0.046	0.046	0.046
QUIZALOFOP	2006	L0.03	306	0				
SIMAZINE	2002	L0.01	1055	29	2.7	4.570	0.084	0.364
TRIALLATE (AVADEXBW)	1997	L0.005	1627	96	5.9	0.464	0.015	0.039
TRICLOPYR	2002	L0.01	1055	154	14.6	0.780	0.037	0.070
TRIFLURALIN (TREFLAN)	1997	L0.005	1627	10	0.6	0.187	0.012	0.029

Table 5.9. Summary of pesticide analyses from 1999 to 2006.

5-16

Destiride	Year Added to Suite		Number of samples collected	Number of Detections	Detection Frequency	Maximum Measurable Concentration	Median Measurable Concentration (Ind 1-1)	Mean Measurable Concentration
INSECTICIDES					6.1			
ALDICARB	2004	L0.1	641	0				
ALDRIN	2002	L0.005	908	0				
ALPHA-BENZENEHEXACHLORIDE (ALPHA-BHC)	1997	L0.005	1627	2	0.1	0.008	0.007	0.007
ALPHA-ENDOSULFAN	1997	L0.005	1627	0				
CHLORPYRIFOS-ETHYL (DURSBAN)	1997	L0.005	1627	ю	0.2	0.781	0.025	0.271
DIAZINON	1997	L0.005	1627	4	0.2	0.041	0.010	0.017
DIELDRIN	2002	L0.005	908	0				
DIMETHOATE (CYGON)	1998	L0.05	1627	0				
DISULFOTON (DI-SYSTON)	1997	L0.2	1627	0				
ETHION	1997	L0.1	1627	0				
GAMMA-BENZENEHEXACHLORIDE (LINDANE)	1997	L0.005	1627	10	0.6	0:030	0.019	0.019
GUTHION (AZINPHOS-METHYL)	1997	L0.2	1627	0				
MALATHION	1997	L0.05	1627	0				
METHOMYL	2005	L0.1	480	0	0.0			
METHOXYCHLOR	1997	L0.03	1627	0				
PARATHION	2006	L0.01	306	0				
PHORATE (THIMET)	1997	L0.005	1627	0				
PYRIDABEN	1998	L0.02	1627	0	0.0			
TERBUFOS	1997	L0.03	1627	0				
THIAMETHOXAM	2006	L0.05	241	0				
FUNGICIDES								
CARBATHIIN (CARBOXIN)	1997	L0.1	1627	0				
CHLOROTHALONIL	2006	L0.005	306	0				
HEXACONAZOLE	2006	L0.05	306	0				
IPRODIONE	2006	L0.02	306	10	3.3	0.365	0.177	0.183
METALAXYL-M	2006	L0.01	306	2	0.7	0.818	0.422	0.422
OXYCARBOXIN	2004	L0.05	641	1	0.2	0.404	0.404	0.404
PROPICONAZOLE	2006	L0.05	306	0				
VINCLOZOLIN	2004	L0.01	641	3	0.5	0.261	0.052	0.108
² Year added to the suite is for reference	purposes	s, all other co	olumns rep	resent data	collected l	between 1999	and 2006.	

Table 5.9. Summary of pesticide analyses from 1999 to 2006, cont'd.

^Y Dicamba detection limit changed in 2001 from L0.02 to L0.005 $\mu g L^{-1}$









Water Quality Guidelines

Water quality guidelines represent the acceptable level of a substance that can occur in a surface waterbody without causing adverse effects on the intended water use. Guidelines for pesticide compounds exist to protect aquatic life (PAL) in streams and agricultural uses (irrigation or livestock watering) of streams. Guidelines for human drinking water are not intended to be applied to untreated surface water but are included here to provide a benchmark where no other guideline existed. Three sets of water quality guidelines were reviewed to ensure that the most up-to-date and stringent guidelines were being used to assess water quality (Table 5.10). Data sources include Alberta's Surface Water Quality Guidelines (AENV 1999), Canadian Water Quality Guidelines (CCME 2005) and USEPA water quality criteria.

Sixteen of the 37 pesticides and breakdown products detected over the monitoring period (1999 to 2006) have a water quality guideline for PAL, agricultural uses and/or drinking water. Nine of the 16 compounds with guidelines were not met on one or more occasion. With the exception of MCPA, guidelines were exceeded only for a single use. No guideline for livestock watering was ever exceeded. Of the 23 AESA streams, 21 streams had one or more guidelines exceeded on at least one occasion.

Irrigation guidelines for MCPA and dicamba were exceeded most frequently (11.2% and 11.4% of samples, respectively), indicating potential for damage to sensitive plant species if stream water was used for irrigation purposes. Guidelines for the Protection of Aquatic Life (PAL) were exceeded for MCPA, 2,4-D, chlorpyrifos, lindane, and triallate but only in a small proportion of samples (0.2 to 0.5%).

The two compounds that exceeded guidelines most frequently also exceeded them by the greatest amount. Maximum concentrations of dicamba and MCPA were 189- and 291- fold higher than their irrigation guideline, respectively (Table 5.11). The insecticide chlorpyrifos also exceeded the PAL guideline by a large degree (223x), though infrequently. Water quality concerns with MCPA and dicamba are more chronic in nature, and non-compliance may have implications where stream water is applied to sensitive specialty crops.

Table 5.10.Water	quality guidelines	for pesticides (µg	$g L^{-1}$).	
Posticido	Protection of	Agricult	ural Uses ^a	Drinking
Pesucide	A quotio Lifo ^a	Irrigation	Livestock	Wotor ^b
Farameter	Aqualic Life	Water	Water	water
2,4-D	4	-	100	100
2,4-	-	-	-	900
Dichlorophenol				
Aldicarb	1	54.9	11	-
Atrazine	1.8	10	5	5
Bromacil	5	0.2	1100	-
Bromoxynil	5	0.33	11	5
Carbathiin	-	-	-	-
Chlorpyrifos	0.0035	-	24	90
Clopyralid	-	-	-	-
Cyanazine	2	0.5	10	10
Diazinon	-	-	-	20
Dicamba	10	0.006	122	120
Diclorprop	-	-	-	-
Diclofop-methyl	6.1	0.18	9	9
Dimethoate	6.2	-	3	20
Disulfoton	-	-	-	-
Diuron	-	-	-	150
Lindane	0.01	-	4	-
Glyphosate	65	-	280	280
Guthion	[0.01]	-	-	-
Imazamethabenz-	-	-	-	-
methyl				
Imazethapyr	-	-	-	-
Malathion	[0.1]	-	-	190
MCPA	2.6	0.025	25	-
MCPP	-	-	-	-
Methoxychlor	[0.03]	-	-	900
Phorate	-	-	-	2
Picloram	29	-	190	190
Simazine	10	0.5	10	10
Terbufos	-	-	-	1
Trillate	0.24	-	230	-
Triclopyr	-	-	-	-
Trifularlin	0.2	-	45	45

^aAlberta Surface Water Quality Guidelines (AENV 1999) ^bSummary of Guidelines for Canadian Drinking Water (PFSDW 2001) [] Alberta adopted USEPA Water Quality Criteria

Life or Irrigation.						
Pesticide Compound	Type of	Percent	Guideline	Max.	Median	Number
	Guideline	samples	Conc.	Conc.	Conc.	of
		where	$(\mu g L^{-1})$	Detected	$(\mu g L^{-1})$	samples
		guideline		$(\mu g L^{-1})$		where
		exceeded				guideline
		(%)				exceeded
Dicamba	IRRIG	11.4	0.006	1.134	0.018	185
MCPA	IRRIG	11.2	0.025	7.279	0.018	183
MCPA	PAL	0.2	2.6	7.279	0.018	1
Simazine	IRRIG	0.5	0.5	4.57	0.084	5
Gammabenzenehexachloride	PAL	0.5	0.01	0.03	0.015	8
Triallate	PAL	0.2	0.24	0.464	0.015	3
Chlorpyrifos	PAL	0.2	0.0035	0.781	0.015	3
Bromoxynil	IRRIG	0.2	0.33	0.522	0.011	3
Bromacil	IRRIG	0.1	0.2	0.297	0.158	1
2,4-D	PAL	0.2	4	8.534	0.031	4

Table 5.11. Compliance with Canadian Water Quality Guidelines for the Protection of Aquatic Life or Irrigation.

When grouped by agricultural intensity category, the highest percentage of non-compliant samples occurred in irrigated watersheds followed by high intensity, moderate intensity, and low intensity watersheds (Figure 5.6).

In irrigated watersheds, non-compliance was observed for six compounds (dicamba, MCPA, simazine, chlorpyrifos, bromoxynil, and 2,4-D) (Figure 5.6). The greatest number of compounds with non-compliant concentrations was measured in New West Coulee. This included all compounds measure in New West Coulee with the exception of chlorpyrifos. Chlorpyrifos PAL guidelines were only exceeded in Battersea Drain. New West Coulee was the only stream of the 23 to have concentrations of simazine that exceeded irrigation guideline values. Crowfoot Creek had the highest proportion of samples of all AESA streams that did not comply with dicamba guidelines for irrigation use.

In high intensity watersheds, non-compliance was observed for six compounds (Figure 5.6). Haynes and Wabash Creeks experienced non compliance for the greatest number of individual compounds: dicamba, MCPA, lindane, and 2,4-D in Haynes Creek and dicamba, MCPA, bromacil, and triallate in Wabash Creek. A higher proportion of samples exceeded MCPA guidelines for irrigation in high intensity dryland watersheds than irrigated watersheds.

In moderate intensity watersheds, non-compliance was observed for four compounds (2,4-D, dicamba, triallate, and gammabenzehexachloride (lindane)) (Figure 5.6). Kleskun Drain and Grande Prairie Creek, both located in northern Alberta, were found to have the greatest number of non-compliant compounds. All guidelines were met in Trout Creek.

In the low intensity watersheds, non-compliance was observed for four compounds (Figure 5.6). Prairie Blood Coulee experienced non-compliance for three of these compounds (2,4-D, dicamba, and lindane). All guidelines were met in Hines Creek, while the remaining streams showed non-compliance for MCPA and/or dicamba.

The data were also examined to assess whether multiple guidelines were concurrently exceeded in samples. In eight of the 1627 samples collected from 1999 to 2006, three water quality guidelines were concurrently exceeded. In 62 of 1627 samples, two guidelines were concurrently exceeded. The streams that had the highest incidence of multiple exceedences were New West Coulee, Wabash Creek, and Crowfoot Creek.



Figure 5.6. Stacked bar graph of percent non-compliance with water quality guidelines in 23 AESA watersheds. For full stream names refer to Table 5.4.

While 16 of the 37 pesticides detected had a water quality guideline, 21 compounds detected in Alberta's agricultural streams are currently without guidelines (Figure 5.7). Of the 21 compounds without guidelines

- Four were detected in ≥10% of samples (imazamethabenz-methyl, MCPP, clopyralid, and triclopyr), and
- Six were detected in >1 to 10% of samples (imazethapyr, dichlorprop, iprodione, ethofumesate, fluroxypyr, and bentazon).

The remaining 11 were detected in <1% of samples or the equivalent of 1 to 3 occasions over the monitoring period: quinclorac, 4-chloro-2-methylphenol, imazamox, ethalfluralin , 2,4-DB, alpha-benezenehexachloride, oxycarboxin, diuron, clodinafop acid metabolite, vinclozolin, and metalaxyl-M.



Figure 5.7. Comparison of pesticide detection and guideline compliance for the 68 compounds monitored from 1999 to 2006.

The four herbicides with more frequent detections (imazamethabenz-methyl, MCPP, clopyralid, and triclopyr) should be flagged as priority substances for guideline development in order to assess the risks for aquatic life, irrigation and/or livestock watering, and drinking water.
Alberta Pesticide Toxicity Index (APTI)

Four of the 23 AESA streams had a portion of samples that fell in the high risk category for either or both EC_{50} or LC_{50} . These include three irrigated drains (New West Coulee, Battersea Drain, and Crowfoot Creek) and one high intensity dryland stream (Threehills Creek) (Figure 5.8). The proportion of all samples that were classified as high risk ranged from 2.6% (Battersea Drain) to 6.6% (New West Coulee) for EC_{50} and from 1 (Crowfoot Creek) to 2.6% (Battersea Drain) for LC_{50} . Threehills Creek had 1.4% of samples that were rated high risk based on the LC_{50} endpoint. It is interesting that irrigated watersheds had a higher toxicity risk than high intensity dryland watersheds because the high intensity dryland watersheds had greater total concentrations. Total concentration alone is not a good measure of threat to aquatic life; it is important to know which compounds are present and in what concentrations and what their toxicity is to non-target aquatic species.

The two pesticide compounds that exceeded the endpoints for EC_{50} were simazine (New West Coulee) and chlorpyrifos (Battersea Drain), and they were chlorpyrifos (Battersea Drain) and diazinon (Crowfoot Creek, Threehills Creek) for LC_{50} . The algal EC_{50} endpoint for simazine was exceeded on five sampling dates from 2002 to 2006 in New West Coulee, either in March or April (13-Apr-02, 20-Mar-03, 15-Mar-04, 28-Mar-06, 13-Mar-06). The EC_{50} and LC_{50} endpoints for chlorpyrifos were both exceeded on two June sampling dates in Battersea Drain (10-Jun-99, 13-Jun-00). The invertebrate LC_{50} endpoint for diazinon was exceeded on one date in both Crowfoot Creek (8-Mar-01) and Threehills Creek (15-May-01).

These results suggest that improved management of simazine, chlorpyrifos, and diazinon should be a priority for these high-risk watersheds. Where possible, alternate pest control measures should be implemented to reduce risks to aquatic life.

Eleven streams in addition to New West Coulee, Battersea Drain, Crowfoot Creek, and Threehills Creek had occasions where moderate pesticide toxicity risk was observed for either LC_{50} and/or EC_{50} endpoints (Figure 5.8). In the majority of streams with moderate risk, both LC_{50} and EC_{50} endpoints were exceeded. In the irrigated streams, the four pesticide compounds that most frequently exceeded the NOEC limit were atrazine, triallate, dicamba and simazine. In Crowfoot Creek, diazinon concentrations also posed a risk. In the Peace Region (Grande Prairie Creek and Kleskun Drain), both lindane and triallate were present in concentrations that exceeded acceptable levels. In Wabash Creek, higher diuron concentrations contributed to higher toxicity risks. The pesticide active ingredients listed here were those that presented the higher risk, while additional compounds also exceeded NOEC on occasion.

Eight of the 23 streams had low pesticide toxicity risk for EC_{50} and LC_{50} endpoints, which suggests that pesticide presence did not threaten aquatic life. Streams with low risk included three of the five low agriculture watersheds (Hines Creek, Paddle River, Willow Creek), three of the six moderate agriculture watersheds (Blindman River, Meadow and Trout Creeks) and two of the eight high agriculture watersheds (Buffalo and Strawberry Creeks).





Pesticide Occurrences and Concentrations by Watershed Agricultural Intensity

Each of the 23 AESA watersheds had at least one pesticide compound detected in stream water during the monitoring period. Statistical analysis showed that pesticide detection frequency (H=75.936, $p \le 0.0001$), total pesticide concentration (F(3,165)=14.780, $p \le 0.0001$), and total number of compounds (H=47.708, $p \le 0.0001$) increased significantly as agricultural intensity increased from low to high, thus suggesting that agricultural use of pesticides has a measurable impact on water quality.

Total pesticide detection frequency. Pesticide detection frequency increased in a stepwise fashion from low to moderate to high (dryland or irrigated) (Figure 5.9). Median annual detection frequency more than doubled from low to moderate intensity watersheds (21% to 56%, U=501.5, $p \le 0.0001$) and nearly doubled again from moderate to high intensity dryland (94%, U=780.5, $p \le 0.0001$) or irrigation watersheds (100%, U=116.0, $p \le 0.0001$). These findings show that the likelihood of pesticides reaching surface waters is similar in high intensity agricultural watersheds, regardless of whether dryland or irrigated agriculture is practiced.

Among the 23 individual AESA watersheds, there was a wide range in pesticide detection frequencies (Figure 5.10). Detection frequencies were lowest in two low intensity watersheds (Willow Creek and Hines Creek) where only 7 and 8% of samples contained detectable levels of pesticides, respectively (Figure 5.10). In contrast, pesticides were detected in virtually every sample collected (99 to 100%) from New West Coulee and Crowfoot Creek (irrigated streams) and Kleskun Drain (moderate intensity). Other watersheds with detection frequencies >90% all had high intensity agriculture including Haynes Creek, Wabash Creek, and Stretton Creek, plus the irrigated Battersea Drain.

Of the low intensity watersheds, the highest pesticide detection frequency was observed in Prairie Blood Coulee (60%) (Figure 5.10). Of the moderate intensity watersheds, Kleskun Drain had the highest detection frequency (100%). Both of these watersheds also had the highest proportion of crop land in their respective watershed categories, according to 1991 land cover data (Chapter 2, Table 2.9).



Figure 5.9. Total pesticide detection frequency (%) (a), total pesticide concentration (μ g L⁻¹) (b), and total number of compounds detected (c) among watersheds with different agricultural intensities (low, moderate, high and irrigated). Box plots stretch from the 25th percentile to the 75th percentile with the horizontal line in the middle of the box representing the median. Vertical lines represent 1.5 times the interquartile range while crosshairs represent minima and maxima data points. The bar graph shows the median of annual medians. Bars or box plots with different letters above them are significantly different (p<0.0001). Kruskal Wallis analysis was used for (a) and (c) and a one-way ANOVA for (b).



Figure 5.10. Detection frequency (%) (a), total pesticide concentration ($\mu g L^{-1}$) (b), and total number of compounds detected (c) in the 23 streams from 1999 to 2006. Summary statistics for each stream (total detection frequency, median, maximum) are calculated from the raw daily data set (68 compounds). Refer to Table 5.4 for full stream names.

Total pesticide concentration. Total pesticide concentrations followed a slightly different pattern than pesticide detection frequencies. Total concentrations were lowest in low agricultural intensity watersheds, highest in high intensity watersheds, and intermediate in both moderate and irrigated watersheds (F(3,165)=14.780, $p \le 0.0001$)(Figure 5.10). Higher pesticide detections in high intensity watersheds were mirrored by higher total concentrations, suggesting that pesticides are found more frequently in these watersheds as well as at higher concentrations. Despite similar detection frequencies in high intensity dryland and irrigated streams, total pesticide concentrations were slightly lower in irrigated watersheds as they were not significantly different than either high or moderate intensity watersheds. Lower concentrations in irrigated watersheds may be due to dilution of irrigation return flow by cleaner irrigation source water and higher median flow volumes. Loading estimates from high intensity and irrigated watersheds would be useful in elucidating differences related to flow.

Among individual watersheds, median total pesticide concentrations based on all available data ranged from <0.02 μ g L⁻¹ in Hines, Trout, and Meadow Creeks to 0.613 μ g L⁻¹ in Kleskun Drain (Figure 5.10). Kleskun Drain clearly stood out as having the highest total concentration out of all AESA streams. The watershed with the second highest median total concentration was nearly half the value at 0.323 μ g L⁻¹ (Haynes Creek, high intensity). As described in Depoe and Westbrook (2003), non-agricultural influences in the watershed may have affected the water quality in Kleskun Drain. From 2000 to 2003, the highway that crosses the stream near the mouth of the watershed (Highway 34) was twinned, and pest control along the right-of-way presents a potential source of pesticides.

The highest maximum total pesticide concentrations were observed in high intensity and irrigated streams, with the exception of Kleskun Drain (moderate intensity). Maximum total concentrations ranged from 4.559 to 9.205 μ g L⁻¹ in Haynes Creek, Threehills Creek, Wabash Creek, Battersea Drain, Crowfoot Creek, Drain S-6, and New West Coulee. The highest maximum total concentration (13.814 μ g L⁻¹) was observed in Kleskun Drain in July 2000.

Total number of detections per sample. The total number of pesticides detected per sample was similar in watersheds with low and moderate intensity agriculture and significantly higher in watersheds with high intensity or irrigated agriculture (H=47.708, $p \le 0.0001$, Figure 5.11). Pesticide mixtures were more common in the high intensity watersheds regardless of whether dryland or irrigated agriculture was practiced. Within the low intensity category, the median number of compounds per sample (all data) was higher in Prairie Blood Coulee (two) compared to the rest of the low intensity streams (one) (Figure 5.10).



Figure 5.11. Histogram of the total number of compounds detected per sample $(1,2,3,4,5 \text{ or } \ge 6)$ in watersheds with low (n=116) (a), moderate (n=239) (b), high (n=387) (c), and irrigated (n=299) (d) agricultural intensities. Plots show counts of pesticide mixtures from the raw daily data set.

In the moderate intensity category, the highest median number of compounds was observed in Kleskun Drain (three) compared to other streams (one or two). Of the high intensity dryland and irrigated streams, highest medians were observed in Haynes and Wabash Creeks (four compounds per sample) compared to three or fewer in the other streams.

For all data combined (n= 1627), the median number of compounds detected per sample was two. In low and moderate intensity watersheds, water samples predominantly contained only one pesticide (59 and 42%, respectively), and few samples (< 10%) contained greater than four pesticides (Figure 5.10). In the high intensity and irrigated watersheds there was nearly an equal number of samples with either one, two, or three pesticides detected and a notable shift in proportion of samples with four or more pesticides.

The higher diversity of compounds observed in high intensity and irrigated watersheds is reflected by the total number of pesticides detected per stream over the eight year monitoring period (Figure 5.12). In each of the four irrigated watersheds, a total of 15 or more compounds were detected. In high intensity watersheds, a total of ten or more compounds were detected in the majority of streams.



Figure 5.12. Total number of individual pesticides or degradation products detected in each of the AESA watersheds from 1999 to 2006. For full stream names see Table 5.4.

Relationship with Land Cover and Chemical and Fertilizer Expenses (\$/acre)

The relationship between the intensity of agriculture in a watershed (as % cropland and fertilizer and chemical expense percentiles) and pesticide occurrence were explored using correlation analysis. Pearson rank correlations between total pesticide detection frequency and each of the three metrics were strong ($r \ge 0.75$) (Figure 5.13). Spearman rank correlations between total pesticide concentration and the three metrics were slightly weaker ($r_s = 0.59$ to 0.60) but were also similar for each metric. Weaker relationships with concentration data were expected as total concentration tended to be influenced by water management (irrigated versus dryland) as well as by the intensity of chemical use.

Strong relationships between pesticide occurrence and land-based metrics of agricultural intensity corroborate findings of Gilliom (2007). Their nation-wide pesticide survey of USA's streams from 1992 to 2001 found that pesticide detection frequency largely reflected the geographic distribution of land use, crops, and associated chemical use. The observed relationship in Alberta suggests that land-based watershed metrics may be used to predict the degree of pesticide contamination in small agricultural watersheds. Regression equations, with pesticide detection frequency in particular, could be applied as a management tool for small agricultural watersheds with similar runoff potential to the AESA watersheds.





Relationship with Pesticide Sales Data

In this section we discuss pesticide findings in relation to sales data and physical properties. The details on interannual trends in specific pesticide compounds in individual AESA watersheds are included in the following section.

Frequent detections of the herbicides MCPA and 2,4-D in stream water are consistent with sales volumes; MCPA had the 2nd highest sales volume and 2,4-D had the 3rd highest sales volume in the 2003 review (~1,000,000 and 685,000 kg, respectively) (Byrtus 2007). Provincial sales volumes for dicamba and imazamethabenz-methyl were also high (108 639 kg and 138 551 kg, respectively), and these two herbicides were among the eight most ubiquitously detected (Figure 5.14). Triallate (197 221 kg) and bromoxynil (354 907 kg) sales volumes also support the detection frequencies of these two herbicides. Each of these six active ingredients were detected at least once in at least half (12) and up to all (23) of the AESA streams.



(Only includes pesticide compounds detected in >1% of samples)

Figure 5.14. Pesticide detection frequency of pesticide compounds detected in >1% of samples. Triangles denote active ingredients with highest pesticide sales in 2003 (i.e., > 100,000 kg).

Anderson (2005) noted that pesticide characteristics related to mobility and persistence can override the influence of use (sales) patterns. Clopyralid, triclopyr, picloram, and MCPP were all are detected in similar frequencies as compounds with high sales and in a similar number of watersheds (16 to 19), despite lower sales volumes. All except MCPP are classified as having 'very high' mobility; thus, detections are likely related to physical characteristics and not directly based on sales (Table 5.12). Water solubilities for all four compounds were > 200,000 mg L⁻¹

(Table 5.12; Appendix 14). Another factor affecting movement is the type of application (soil surface-applied, soil-incorporated, or post-emergence).

pesticide movement ratings.				
Common name	Pesticide movement rating	Soil half-life (days)	Water solubility (mg L ⁻¹)	Sorption coefficient (soil Koc)
Bromacil acid	Very high	60	700	32
Bromacil lithium salt	Very high	60	700	32
Clopyralid amine salt	Very high	40	300,000	6
Dicamba salt	Very high	14	400,000	2
Imazamethabenz- methyl	Very high	45	857	35
(p-isomer)				
Imazethapyr	Very high	90	200,000	10
Metalaxyl	Very high	70	8400	50
Picloram salt	Very high	90	200,000	16
Triclopyr amine salt	Very high	46	2,100,000	20

Table 5.12. Characteristics of pesticide compounds or degradation products with 'very high' pesticide movement ratings.

Source: Wauchope et al. 1992; Augustijn-Beckers et al. 1994; Cotton 1995.

The high detection frequency of MCPP (mecoprop) may not be expected as it does not have high agricultural sales and the overall pesticide mobility ranking is high (vs. very high). Closer examination of the specific AESA watersheds with MCPP detections shows that both watersheds are under urban influence: Crowfoot Creek from the City of Calgary and Wabash Creek from the Town of Westlock. In both watersheds, MCPP is detected in nearly every sample (annual detection frequencies ranged from 46 to 100% in Crowfoot Creek and 56 to 100% for Wabash Creek). These findings show that urban influences (including golf courses, municipal treatment plants, and untreated road runoff) can also affect water quality in small rural watersheds in Alberta.

Imazamethabenz-methyl was one of the eight most ubiquitously detected compounds in addition to having some of the highest concentrations. In opposition to what was found for MCPP, the common occurrence of imazamethabenz-methyl may have been related to the large volume sold in 2003 (138 551 kg) combined with a very high pesticide mobility ranking.

The top selling herbicide in the province, glyphosate, was not included as one of the compounds analysed in the AESA Stream Survey because of the additional cost of analysis and poor analytical detection limits. In comparison to some of the compounds discussed above, glyphosate had annual sales of more than 3.3 million kg of active ingredient (based on 2003 sales). In 2007, a joint partnership was formed to investigate the presence of glyphosate in Alberta's agricultural watersheds (Lorenz, *in press*). Results from the study showed glyphosate was detected in all agricultural intensity watersheds and in all months sampled (March to October) with the exception of August. The maximum glyphosate concentration detected was $14\mu gL^{-1}$ and was measured in one of the high agricultural intensity streams. All glyphosate detections were below the guidelines for the protection of aquatic life $(65\mu gL^{-1})$, irrigation use $(280\mu gL^{-1})$, and livestock drinking water $(280\mu gL^{-1})$. For more information, see Lorenz, *in press*.

Spatial Distribution of Specific Pesticide Detections in Relation to Land Use

There were eight pesticides only detected in watersheds with irrigated agriculture and nine pesticides only detected in watersheds with dryland agriculture, reflecting the influence of the type of crops grown in each region (Table 5.13).

Irrigation

The eight compounds only detected in irrigated streams included four herbicides (simazine, ethofumesate, ethalfluralin, and metribuzin), two degradation products of herbicides (4-chloro-2-methylphenol – a degradation product of MCPA, MCPB and MCPP - and desipropylatrazine - a degradation product of atrazine), one insecticide (chlorpyrifos-ethyl), and one fungicide (metalaxyl-m) (Table 5.13). Atrazine was also detected primarily in irrigated streams but was also detected in Kleskun Drain.

Simazine and ethofumesate both had relatively high average detection frequencies in irrigated streams (14% and 18%, respectively). Detections of both compounds were greatest in New West Coulee (42% and 43%, respectively) (Table 5.13). Simazine was added to the pesticide suite in 2002, and ethofumesate was added to the pesticide suite in 2006. Both were detected in three of the four irrigated streams. Like atrazine, simazine is a triazine herbicide used for the control of broadleaf weeds in corn crops (Alberta Agriculture and Food 2007). Other applications of simazine include weed control in shelterbelts, woody ornamentals, and nursery stock or for industrial purposes (Alberta Agriculture and Food 2007). Ethofumesate is used for weed control in sugar beet crops. The fungicide metalaxyl-m was added to the analytical suite in 2006. It was only detected in Battersea Drain but in relatively high frequencies (9% of samples).

Dryland

Nine compounds were only detected in streams with dryland agriculture: four herbicides (diuron, quinclorac, bromacil, and trifluralin), one herbicide degradation product (clodinafop acid metabolite), two fungicides (iprodione and oxycarboxin), and one insecticide (gammabenzenehexachloride (lindane)) and its degradation product (alpha- benzenehexachloride). Lindane, iprodione, and trifluralin were detected in 6, 5 and 4 streams, respectively, while the other compounds were detected in only one or two of the dryland streams.

Lindane was used as a seed treatment in canola until 1999 when manufacturers in Canada voluntarily withdrew its use. Producers were allowed to use existing stock until July 2001. It is still permitted for use on some cereal and vegetable crops, but this use is also under review. With the exception of Kleskun Drain, the majority of lindane detections in AESA streams were limited to 1999 and earlier (Table 5.14 and 5.15).

The fungicide iprodione was added in the analytical suite in 2006 and was detected in five of the eight high agricultural intensity watersheds. It was also found in relatively high frequencies in these streams (11 to 40%). Iprodione is used on canola and bean (kidney, snap, white) crops and is applied by spraying. The relatively frequent occurrence of iprodione in water in high intensity dryland watersheds suggests that it is a compound that should continue to be monitored and tracked over time in this region of the province.

watersneds where indane was detected from 1997 to 2006.										
Watershed	1997	1998	1999	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006
Crowfoot	33	8								
Creek										
Grande Prairie			29							
Creek										
Haynes Creek			14							
(M6)										
Kleskun Drain			25		20	17		14		
Prairie Blood				17						
Coulee										
Renwick Creek	50	13								
Rose Creek			7							
Stretton Creek	-	-	20		-		-			-

Table 5.14. Detection frequency (%) of gamabenzenehexachloride (Lindane) in AESA watersheds where lindane was detected from 1997 to 2006.

Table 5.15. Maximum concentration (μ g L⁻¹) of gamabenzenehexachloride (Lindane) in AESA watersheds where lindane was detected from 1997 to 2006.

Watershed	1997	1998	1999	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006
Crowfoot	0.010	0.023								
Creek										
Grande			0.030							
Prairie Creek										
Haynes Creek			0.017							
(M6)										
Kleskun			0.027		0.029	0.021		0.009		
Drain										
Prairie Blood				0.012						
Coulee										
Renwick	0.011	0.010								
Creek										
Rose Creek			0.010							
Stretton			0.012							
Creek										

Seasonal Patterns

Seasonally, the majority of samples were collected in April (n=443) and May (n=300), and the fewest samples were collected in August, September, and October (range n=89 to 107). An intermediate number of samples were collected in March, June, and July (n=167 to n=217) (Figure 5.15a).

Total pesticide detection frequency. The largest proportion of samples with one or more pesticide detections occurred in March (74%), April (72%), June (71%), and July (65%) (Figure 5.15). However, detection frequencies in these four months were not dramatically higher than in May (53%) or August to October (46 to 58%). Among all months, the largest difference in detection frequency was between March (74%) and October (46%).

Weak seasonality was observed in total pesticide detection frequency (H=14.116, p=0.049). Detection frequency was significantly higher in early spring with snow melt (March and April) and early summer during periods of application (June and July) than in late fall (October) (Mann-Whitney, p<0.05).

Total pesticide concentration. Similar to total pesticide detection frequency, median total concentrations were also highest in March, April, June, and July (Figure 5.15). Median concentrations in March (0.164 μ g L⁻¹), April (0.149 μ g L⁻¹), June (0.112 μ g L⁻¹), and July (0.107 μ g L⁻¹) all exceeded 0.1 μ g L⁻¹. Median concentrations in the remaining months ranged from 0.040 μ g L⁻¹ (October) to 0.065 μ g L⁻¹ (August).

Total pesticide concentrations peaked in early spring with runoff and dropped in May, then peaked in summer during the application period and dropped in fall. Statistical analysis of monthly median total concentrations showed a significant difference among months (one-way ANOVA, F(7,654)=4.232, p<0.0001) with higher concentrations in March, April, and July (Tukey post hoc, p<=0.05) compared to October. Concentrations in March were also greater than May (Tukey post hoc, p≤0.05).

Total number of pesticides detected per sample. As anticipated, there was a similar seasonal pattern in the total number of pesticides per sample with peaks in spring and fall. The median number of compounds per sample was three in March and June and two in all other months (all data, Figure 5.15). Stream water samples with six or more pesticide compounds also typically occurred in spring or summer.



Figure 5.15. Total pesticide detection frequency (%) (a), total pesticide concentration (μ g L⁻¹) (b), and total number of compounds detected (c) from March to October. All data are shown (68 compound analytical suite). Bracketed values in (a) are the total number of samples collected in each month.

Statistical analysis of the number of pesticides per sample showed a significant difference among months (H=35.119, $p \le 0.0001$). Values were higher in early spring (March, April) and early to mid-summer (June and July) than in May, August, September, and October (Mann-Whitney, p < 0.05). The most diverse pesticide mixtures were observed in March (11 compounds per sample) and June (12 compounds per sample).

Seasonal patterns were also explored within each of the agricultural intensity categories. Patterns were similar to those observed for the entire data set; however, there were no seasonal differences in low and moderate intensity categories.

Seasonal patterns for a subset of individual pesticide compounds are explored in the 'Individual compounds' section of the report.

Interannual Variation

Total pesticide detection frequency, concentration, and number of compounds per sample. Between 1999 and 2006, the highest number of pesticide samples were collected in 2005 (n=253), and the least were collected in 2002 (n=159) (Table 5.16).

Among years there was some variation in the total pesticide detection frequency with the highest proportion of pesticide occurrences in 2000 (70%) and fewest in 2005 (55%). In other years, detections ranged from 57 to 64% (Table 5.16). A potential downward trend in total detection frequency could be emerging for the suite of 40 pesticides monitored every year from 1999 to 2006. However, this pattern is dampened when all 68 compounds are included in the analysis.

Median and total pesticide concentrations were more variable among years than were detection frequencies or the number of compounds detected per sample (Table 5.16 and Figures 5.16 and 5.17). Total pesticide concentrations in moderate intensity watersheds were quite variable among years with median values showing 3-fold increases from 1999 to 2000 (0.031 μ g L⁻¹ to 0.113 μ g L⁻¹, respectively) and again from 2001 to 2002 (0.037 μ g L⁻¹ to 0.124 μ g L⁻¹, respectively) (Table 5.16). Higher variability in pesticide concentrations may be related to interannual fluctuations in moisture patterns and stream flow volumes.

Potential downward trends in total concentrations in high intensity and irrigated watersheds are halted with increases in values again in 2006 (Figure 5.17).

	1999	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	
Number of samples									
ALL	179	230	163	159	198	218	253	227	
LOW	40	49	43	45	40	50	62	55	
MOD	52	60	47	46	50	62	72	56	
HIGH	66	79	37	34	59	56	77	64	
IRRIG	21	42	36	34	49	50	42	52	
Total Pesticide Detection Frequency (%)									
ALL	63	70	64	57	60	60	55	59	
LOW	23	39	33	24	18	14	19	24	
MOD	50	67	55	46	44	52	47	38	
HIGH	89	85	86	74	80	84	66	78	
IRRIG	90	83	92	97	86	88	100	96	
Total Pesti	cide Concer	ntration (ug	L ⁻¹)*						
ALL	0.102	0.122	0.083	0.123	0.116	0.082	0.035	0.074	
LOW	0.017	0.029	0.030	0.021	0.049	0.046	0.019	0.015	
MOD	0.031	0.113	0.037	0.124	0.034	0.026	0.020	0.045	
HIGH	0.205	0.157	0.167	0.137	0.169	0.179	0.073	0.196	
IRRIG	0.070	0.126	0.109	0.131	0.110	0.055	0.043	0.070	
Number of Pesticides Per Sample*									
ALL	3	2	2	2	3	2	2	2	
LOW	1	1	1.5	1	2	2	1.5	1	
MOD	1	2	2	2	1	1.5	1	2	
HIGH	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	3	
IRRIG	3	3	3	3	3	2	2	2	

Table 5.16. Annual summary statistics for total pesticide detection frequency, median

 concentration, and median number of compounds per sample based on the 40 compound dataset.

* Median values



Figure 5.16. Interannual patterns in median annual concentrations of the 11 most ubiquitous compounds from 1999 to 2006. Compounds in the legend are in the order they appear in the bar graph with imazamethabenzmethyl on the bottom and bromoxynil on the top.



Figure 5.17. Interannual patterns in total pesticide detection frequency (%) (a) and total pesticide concentration (μ g L⁻¹, median values) (b) from 1999 to 2006 for the 40 compound dataset. The data shown are for all AESA streams but are grouped by agricultural intensity category.

Individual Compound Discussion

The eight most ubiquitous compounds are outlined below.

2,4-D and MCPA. Both 2,4-D (2,4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid) and MCPA (2-methyl-4chlorophenoxyacetic acid) are phenoxy herbicides with similar modes of action. Other phenoxy herbicides detected in this study include MCPP and quinclorac. As mentioned earlier, MCPA had the 2nd highest sales and 2,4-D had the 3rd highest sales in 2003 (~1,000,000 and 685,000 kg, respectively) (Byrtus 2007). Both of these active ingredients are registered for non-agricultural as well as agricultural uses and were detected in all 23 of the AESA streams. In agriculture, these two herbicides are included in many pesticide mixtures. Common trade names include Grazon, Prestige, and FlaxMax DLX. For domestic uses, 2,4-D and mecoprop are the active ingredients in commonly used turf herbicides (Byrtus 2007).

The highest pesticide detection frequencies of 2,4-D were in irrigation return flows (H = 85.715, p< 0.0001, Figure 5.18), with the highest detections (>80%) in Crowfoot Creek, New West Coulee, and Battersea Drain (Figure 5.19). In dryland streams, 2,4-D detections increased as watershed agricultural intensity increased from low to moderate to high. Within the high intensity category, Wabash Creek and Haynes Creek also had detections of 2,4-D in ~ 80% of samples. With the exception of Battersea Drain, median concentrations of 2,4-D were also highest in these five streams ranging from 0.054 to 0.073 μ g L⁻¹(Battersea Median is: 0.034 μ g L⁻¹).



Figure 5.18. Box plots of annual 2,4-D (a) and MCPA (b) detection frequencies by watershed agricultural intensity category. Letters above box plots indicate significant differences among agricultural intensity categories. Different letters are significant from one another at p<0.05.

The lowest detection frequencies of 2,4-D were observed in two low intensity watersheds, Willow Creek and Hines Creek, where 2,4-D was detected in 3 and 4% of samples, respectively. The median concentration in these few samples was high and similar to five watersheds described earlier; however, the infrequent detections result in less of a water quality concern.

MCPA detection frequencies were highest in both high intensity dryland and irrigated streams (H= 68.611, p< 0.0001 Figure 5.18). The five streams with detection frequencies (~60%) were all high intensity watersheds: Stretton Creek, Haynes Creek, Wabash Creek, Threehills Creek, and Renwick Creek. All of the streams, with the exception of Wabash Creek, were located in the Aspen Parkland. Of the irrigation return flows, MCPA detections were highest in New West Coulee (~50%). The highest median concentration values were observed in low (Prairie Blood

Coulee), moderate (Kleskun Drain), and high intensity (Strawberry and Ray Creeks) streams, none of which had the highest detection frequencies (Figure 5.19).

From 1998 to 2003, pesticide sales volumes for 2,4-D remained virtually unchanged (+1.5%, Table 5.1, pg. 10), while MCPA sales volumes increased substantially (+23.9%, Table 5.1, pg. 10). From 1999 to 2006, detection frequencies did not differ significantly in any of the years of monitoring (2,4-D: H=1.842, p=0.968; MCPA: H=4.957, p=0.665) nor within any of the agricultural intensity categories (Figure 5.20).

In individual streams, a potential downward trend in 2,4-D concentrations was observed in Haynes, Ray, Renwick, and Wabash Creeks. Each stream had higher concentrations earlier in the monitoring record (1999 to 2001) (Figure 5.21). In contrast, MCPA concentrations did not show any notable increase in any of the AESA streams despite the increase in pesticide sales.

Seasonally, detection frequencies of 2,4-D were highest in spring and summer and significantly lower in fall (H=8.775, p=0.012); concentrations were only significantly higher in summer (H=10.3, p=0.006; Figure 5.34, pg. 5-69). MCPA detection frequencies were significantly higher in summer, followed by spring and fall (H=83.02, p<0.0001): concentrations were only statistically higher in summer (H=21.69, p<0.001). Of the eight most frequently detected compounds, MCPA was the only one to show a summer concentration peak.

 Image: Signe S.19. Patterns in 2,4-D (a) and MCPA (b) detection frequencies and pesticide concentrations in AESA watersheds. For full

 stream names see Table 5.4.





Figure 5.20. Changes in 2,4-D (a) and MCPA (b) detection frequencies over time.



Figure 5.21. Concentrations of 2,4-D in Haynes Creek M6 (a), Ray Creek (b), Renwick Creek (c), and Wabash Creek (d) from 1999 to 2006.

Picloram and Triclopyr. Both picloram and triclopyr are carboxylic acid herbicides that are used to control weeds (chamomile, knapweed, Canada thistle, toadflax, and clover) and brush (alder, birch, maple, poplar, and spruce) on pasture and rangeland, roadsides, and utility rights of way (Alberta Agriculture and Food 2007). Both were widely detected in AESA watersheds, with picloram detections in 19 of 23 streams and triclopyr detections in 16 of 23 streams.

Picloram detections were significantly higher in moderate and high intensity agricultural watersheds than the low and irrigated watersheds (H=27.908, p<0.0001, Figure 5.22). Streams with highest detection frequencies of picloram typically had high intensity agriculture: Strawberry (58%), Haynes (41%), Renwick (35%), and Wabash Creeks (62%) (Figure 5.23). Detection frequencies and maximum concentration in Kleskun Drain were the highest of all streams at 80% and 13.407 µg L⁻¹, respectively. Road construction presents a likely source for picloram in this basin. However, it is notable that the highest median concentrations were seen in both watersheds in the Peace River Lowland Ecoregion, Kleskun Drain (0.564 µg L⁻¹) and Grande Prairie Creek (0.232 µg L⁻¹). Two streams with typically low pesticide detection, Blindman River and Rose Creek, had intermediate frequencies of picloram detections.

Triclopyr detection frequencies did not vary significantly among watershed categories (H= 4.014, p=0.260), though the highest frequencies tended to occur in several high intensity watersheds: Strawberry (55 %), Stretton (43 %), Wabash (40 %), and Haynes Creeks (36%). Both picloram and triclopyr were infrequently detected in irrigation return flows. This is likely attributable to land cover in the grassland ecoregion of the province and less need for brush control.

The median concentration of triclopyr observed for all detections was relatively low at 0.036 μ g L⁻¹. The highest concentrations were observed in Kleskun Drain (median = 0.406 μ g L⁻¹), though detections occurred only in 2002 and 2003. Other Boreal ecoregion watersheds had detectable levels of triclopyr in the 5 years where it was monitored: Strawberry Creek, Wabash Creek and Blindman River. Triclopyr is one of the most frequently used compounds in the commercial and industrial sector (Byrtus 2007) and may be routinely used for weed control along roadsides in this part of the province.

Triclopyr and picloram both showed significantly higher detection frequencies in spring compared to summer and fall (triclopyr: H=22.96, p<0.0001, picloram: H=18.44, p<0.0001, Figure 5.34, pg. 5-69). Picloram concentrations did not vary significantly among seasons, while triclopyr concentrations were highest in summer (H=6.91, p=0.032).

Interannual variation in picloram detections was significant (H=24.45, p=0.001, Figure 5.24a). By agricultural intensity category, interannual variation was only significant in high intensity watersheds (H=18.852, p=0.009). A decline in picloram detections was observed in the majority of high intensity watersheds from earlier to later in the monitoring record (Figure 5.24b). However, substantial increases in detections in 2006 in Strawberry and Wabash Creeks, and smaller increases in Stretton and Haynes Creeks, lead to questions about whether the pattern will continue.



Figure 5.22. Box plots of annual picloram (a) and triclopyr (b) detection frequencies by watershed agricultural intensity category. Letters indicate significance differences between agricultural intensities (p<0.05).







Figure 5.24. Patterns in the detection frequency of picloram over time in all watersheds (a) and in high intensity watersheds (b). BUF= Buffalo Creek; HM6= Haynes Creek M6; RAY= Ray Creek; REN= Renwick Creek; STT= Stretton Creek; STW= Strawberry Creek; THR= Threehills Creek; WAB= Wabash Creek.

Clopyralid. Clopyralid is classified as a carboxylic acid herbicide similar to picloram and triclopyr. It is used for broadleaf weed control in cereal, canola, and flax seed crops and is very mobile and moderately persistent in soils (Anderson 2005; Alberta Agriculture and Food 2007). Clopyralid can be applied in mixtures with MCPA to cereals and flax and to glyphosate-tolerant canola (Alberta Agriculture and Food 2007).

Clopyralid was detected in 17 of 23 AESA streams. Detection frequency was highest in high intensity watersheds followed by irrigated watersheds and moderate intensity watersheds (H=24.333, $p \le 0.0001$, Figure 5.25). The highest observed clopyralid detection frequencies were in watersheds with either moderate or high intensity dryland agriculture. In both Haynes Creek and Kleskun Drain, detection frequencies were ~70%, which were notably higher than other streams. The next highest detection frequencies were in Wabash, Renwick, Grande Prairie, and Threehills Creeks with detections ranging from 28 to 38% (Figure 5.26).

The median concentration for all samples was 0.049 μ g L⁻¹. The maximum concentration observed was 1.79 μ g L⁻¹ in Kleskun Drain (in April 2002). Median concentrations were highest for Kleskun Drain and Drain S-6. Detection frequency in Drain S6 was relatively low.

Detections of clopyralid were significantly higher in spring and summer than in fall (H=16.77, p<0.0001, Figure 5.34, pg.5-69). Concentrations did not differ significantly among seasons; though in Kleskun Drain there were notably higher concentrations in April 2002 and 2003 and October 2004.

Interannual changes in clopyralid detections were not statistically significant. No qualitative trends were observed in individual streams, with the exception of Wabash Creek (Figure 5.27) where clopyralid detections appear to have peaked in 2003 and concentrations appear to have been declining since 2001.



Figure 5.25. Box plots of annual clopyralid (a) and dicamba (b) detection frequencies by watershed agricultural intensity category. Letters indicate significance between agricultural intensities (p<0.05).







Figure 5.27. Interannual patterns in clopyralid concentrations (a) and detection frequency (b) in Wabash Creek.

Dicamba. Dicamba is a benzoic acid herbicide used in the agricultural sector for weed control in cereals, corn, and pastures but also has non-crop applications (Alberta Agriculture and Food 2007). Dicamba is registered in mixes with 2,4-D and MCPA for cereals, 2,4-D for pasture, rangeland and non-crop applications, and 2,4-D and glyphosate for chemical fallow/stubble/reduced tillage for annual weeds and roadside vegetation control (Alberta Agriculture and Food 2007). The pesticide movement rating is very high (Table 5.12., pg. 5-36).

Dicamba was detected in 17 of the 23 AESA streams. Pesticide detection frequency was significantly higher in irrigated watersheds than in any of the dryland watershed categories (H=67.425, $p \le 0.0001$, Figure 5.25). The streams with high detection frequencies (>30%) include three irrigated streams (Crowfoot Creek, New West Coulee, and Drain S6) and one high intensity dryland stream (Wabash Creek) (Figure 5.26).

The median concentration for all samples was $0.017 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$, which is about twice the water quality guideline value for the protection of irrigation water ($0.006 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$). Streams with the highest median concentrations include Tomahawk Creek, Grande Prairie Creek, Haynes Creek, New West Coulee, and Kleskun Drain. The maximum observed concentration was $1.134 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$ in Tomahawk Creek in 2004. Detection frequencies need to be examined together with median concentrations, particularly in the case of Tomahawk Creek where detection frequencies were relatively low. In contrast, New West Coulee had high detection frequencies and high median and peak concentrations.

Detections of dicamba did not show strong seasonality; however, concentrations were significantly higher in summer months (H=7.016, p=0.030, Figure 5.34, pg. 5-69).

Interannual differences were not observed in dicamba detection frequencies for all streams combined or within agricultural intensity categories. Noteworthy patterns in dicamba detections and concentrations were observed in Crowfoot and Wabash Creeks (Figure 5.28 and 5.29). Both creeks are subject to urban influence; thus, patterns observed may also be influenced by changes in domestic uses (lawns, turf, and golf courses).


Figure 5.28. Interannual patterns in dicamba concentrations (a) and detection frequency (b) in Wabash Creek.



Figure 5.29. Interannual patterns in dicamba concentrations (a) and detection frequency (b) in Crowfoot Creek.

MCPP. MCPP (mecoprop, methylchlorophenoxypropionic acid) is a phenoxy herbicide used for weed control in cereal crops as well as for lawns and turf. MCPP does not readily adsorb to soils and is likely to be mobile in terrestrial environments (USEPA 2007). The pesticide movement rating is high (Table 5.12., pg. 5-36).

MCPP was detected in 18 of the 23 AESA streams. On average, the highest pesticide detection frequencies were in irrigated streams, followed by high, moderate, and low intensity watersheds (H=20.539, $p \le 0.0001$, Figure 5.30). Higher values in the irrigated and high intensity watershed categories were driven by high detection frequencies in Crowfoot Creek (60%) and Wabash Creek (85%), respectively (Figure 5.31). Both streams are potentially under the influence of municipal discharges, which may account for the higher detections. In other streams with detections, MCPP occurred in <13% of samples (Haynes Creek, Grande Prairie Creek, New West Coulee, Prairie Blood Coulee, and 12 others) (Figure 5.31).

The median concentration for all samples was $0.019 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$. The two maximum concentrations observed in Wabash Creek in June 2000 (1.558 and 2.068 $\ \mu g \ L^{-1}$) appear to be isolated peaks. Low level concentrations of MCPP in Crowfoot and Wabash Creeks do not appear to show any seasonal or temporal patterns. No guidelines currently exist for this compound.

There was no interannual variation in MCPP detection frequency from 1999 to 2006; however, patterns in detections suggest potential declines in Crowfoot and Wabash Creek (Figure 5.32). MCPP detections and concentrations did not vary significantly among seasons (Figure 5.34, pg. 5-69).



Figure 5.30. Box plots of annual MCPP (a) and imazamethabenz-methyl (b) detection frequencies by watershed agricultural intensity category. Letters denote significant differences among agricultural intensity categories (p<0.05).







Figure 5.32. Interannual patterns in MCPP detection frequencies in Crowfoot Creek (a) and Wabash Creek (b).

Imazamethabenz-methyl. Imazamethabenz-methyl is an imidazolinone herbicide used to control stinkweed, wild mustard, wild oats, and buckwheat in annual rye grass, barley, wheat, and sunflower crops (Alberta Agriculture and Food 2007) and is used for agricultural purposes only (Anderson 2005). Other imidazolinone herbicides detected in AESA streams include imazethapyr and imazamox. The pesticide movement rating is for imazamethabenz-methyl very high (Table 5.12, pg. 5-36).

Imazamethabenz was detected in 12 of 23 streams. Detection frequencies were significantly higher in high intensity agricultural watersheds, followed by moderate intensity watersheds, then irrigated and low intensity watersheds (H= 48.860, $p \le 0.0001$, Figure 5.30). It is noteworthy that only one stream with low intensity agriculture (Prairie Blood Coulee) and one stream with irrigated agriculture (Crowfoot Creek) had imazamethabenz detections (Figure 5.31). Streams with the highest detections are clustered together in the Aspen Parkland and include Haynes Creek, Threehills Creek, Ray Creek, and Renwick Creek.

The median concentration in all samples was $0.272 \ \mu g \ L^{-1}$. Imazamethabenz concentrations were the highest of the eight commonly detected herbicide compounds. Median concentrations were similar among streams with detections (Figure 5.31), and no significant interannual changes were observed in imazamethabenz detection frequencies when all streams were analyzed together or among high agricultural intensity watersheds. However, a qualitative increase in imazamethabenz concentrations was observable from 2001 to 2005 (Figure 5.33). Therefore, imazamethabenz may be a compound to keep a closer eye on in the future.

Seasonally, detection frequencies were highest in spring when many of the high intensity watersheds were flowing (H=61.896, $p \le 0.0001$) although concentration differences were not significant (Figure 5.34).



Figure 5.33. Interannual patterns in imazamethabenz-methyl concentrations (a) and detection frequency (b) from 1999 through 2006 in all AESA watersheds.



Figure 5.34. Seasonal detection frequency in the top eight detected pesticide compounds. Plots show mean annual detection frequency for all 23 watersheds (1999 to 2006) ±1 standard error. Letters represent statistically significant differences among seasons (Mann-Whitney, p<0.05) with ns representing no difference. Circles represent seasons with significantly higher median measurable concentrations (data not shown). Sp= Mar, Apr, May, SU=Jun, Jul, Aug, F =Sept, Oct.

SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS

The results of our study suggest that pesticides are commonly found in agricultural streams throughout the province and tend to be found with greater frequency and in greater concentrations with increasing agricultural intensity. Maximum concentrations are typically found in spring and in the summer application period. Concentrations occasionally exceed existing guidelines for either the protection of aquatic life or irrigation. In addition, there were multiple pesticides detected within a single sample. New tools such as the Alberta Pesticide Toxicity Index are useful in determining the risk of multiple co-occurring compounds; however, guidelines also need to be developed for some compounds, specifically those that are commonly applied and frequently detected or found in greater concentrations. The specific objectives of this chapter and future directions are addressed below.

Objective 1: Assess pesticide occurrences and concentrations in Alberta's agricultural streams.

- Low level concentrations of a variety of pesticides were commonly found in agricultural watersheds.
 - One or more pesticides were detected in 1041 of the 1627 samples collected from 1999-2006, or 64% of samples.
 - Thirty-seven of the 68 compounds monitored were detected. Of the total 68 compounds analyzed (from 1999-2006), detections included
 - 29 of 40 herbicides + breakdown products and isomers,
 - 4 of 20 insecticides + breakdown products and isomers, and
 - 4 of 8 fungicides.
 - The median number of compounds detected per sample was two.
 - $\circ~$ The median total concentration of measurable pesticide in each sample was 0.098 μg $L^{\text{-1}}.$
- Herbicides were detected more frequently than insecticides or fungicides.
 - The top two detected herbicides, 2,4-D and MCPA, were detected in 46% and 31% of samples, respectively. Another six herbicide active ingredients were detected in ≥10% of analyzed samples (clopyralid, triclopyr, dicamba, picloram, imazethabenz-methyl, and MCPP). The remaining 21 compounds were detected in <10% of samples.
 - The top detected insecticide was gammabenzehexachloride (lindane), found in 0.6% of samples.
 - The top detected fungicide was iprodione, found in 3.3% of samples.
- The results confirm and support previously reported findings for Alberta's surface waters (Anderson 2005).

Objective 2: Evaluate differences in pesticide occurrence and concentration among watersheds with low, moderate, and high intensity (dryland and irrigated) agriculture

• Pesticide detection frequency, total pesticide concentration, and total number of compounds increased significantly as agricultural intensity increased from low to high, indicating that agricultural use of pesticides has a measurable impact on water quality.

- Total detection frequency increased from 24% in low intensity to 80% in high intensity dryland watersheds; total detection frequency was 91% in high intensity irrigated watersheds.
- Total concentrations were lowest in low agricultural intensity watersheds, highest in high intensity watersheds, and intermediate in both moderate and irrigated watersheds. Lower concentrations in irrigated watersheds may be due to dilution of irrigation return flow by cleaner irrigation source water and higher median flow volumes.
- The total number of pesticides detected per sample was similar in watersheds with low and moderate intensity agriculture (predominantly one pesticide) and significantly higher in watersheds with high intensity or irrigated agriculture (equal number of samples with one, two, or three pesticides detected). Pesticide mixtures were more common in the high intensity watersheds regardless of whether dryland or irrigated agriculture was practiced.
- This study confirms findings found in Anderson et al. (1998b, c) that streams draining higher agricultural intensity watersheds have more frequent pesticide detections at higher concentrations.

Objective 3: Examine the relationship between measures of the intensity of pesticide use and presence of pesticide residues in surface water

- There was a strong correlation between the intensity of agriculture in a watershed (as % cropland and fertilizer and chemical expense percentiles) and total pesticide detection frequency.
- Similar correlations with total pesticide concentration were slightly weaker. However, this is likely because concentrations appear to be influenced by the type of water management (irrigated versus dryland) as well as by the intensity of chemical use.
- The findings suggest that land-based watershed metrics may be used to predict the degree of pesticide contamination in small agricultural watersheds.

Objective 4: Explore spatial and temporal trends in pesticide occurrence and concentration to assess risk to the environment and food safety.

Spatial trends

• Regional differences existed in compounds detected in streams as a result of the type of agriculture (irrigated versus dryland) practiced. There were eight pesticides detected only in watersheds with irrigated agriculture and nine pesticides detected only in watersheds with dryland agriculture (low, moderate, or high intensity).

Temporal trends: Interannual

- At a broad level, trends in pesticide detection frequency and total concentration reflect provincial scale agricultural census (2001 to 2006) and sales data (1998 2003): no change over time.
- Temporal patterns in certain individual active ingredients were observed with time either at provincial, regional, or site specific scales.
 - Imazamethabenz-methyl concentrations showed a qualitative increase from 2001 to 2006 at a provincial scale.

- Picloram detection frequencies showed significant declines in high intensity dryland watersheds from 1999 to 2005 but increased again slightly in 2006.
- o Simazine detection frequencies increased in New West Coulee from 2002 to 2006.

Temporal trends: Seasonal

- Plots of monthly total concentrations by agricultural intensity category show that total concentrations (monthly medians) were highest in March in High agricultural intensity streams (with snowmelt runoff) and highest in June in Irrigated streams (following application). However, both watershed types showed a spring peak in March and a summer peak in June or July.
- Seasonal patterns in total concentrations were less pronounced in Moderate and Low agricultural streams.
- There is a lot of variability in moderate agricultural intensity stream concentrations.

Objective 5: Determine compliance of observed concentrations with Canadian Water Quality Guidelines and risk of cumulative effects using the Alberta Pesticide Toxicity Index.

- Irrigation guidelines for MCPA and dicamba were exceeded most frequently (11.2% and 11.4% of samples, respectively), indicating potential for damage to sensitive plant species if stream water was used for irrigation purposes.
- Guidelines for the Protection of Aquatic Life (PAL) were exceeded for 2,4-D, MCPA, chlorpyrifos, lindane, and triallate but only in a small proportion of samples (0.2 0.5%).
- Irrigated watersheds had a higher toxicity risk than high intensity dryland watersheds indicating total pesticide concentration alone is not a good measure of threat to aquatic life; it is important to know which compounds are present and in what concentrations.

REFERENCES

Agricultural Operation Practices Act (AOPA). Chapter A-7. RSA 2000.

Alberta Agriculture and Food. 2007. Crop Protection 2007. Alberta Agriculture and Food, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada. 523 pp.

Alberta Agriculture, Food and Rural Development (AAFRD). 1999. Alberta Environmentally Sustainable Agriculture (AESA) Program Annual Report 1998/99. Conversation and Development Branch. Edmonton, Alberta, Canada. 34 pp.

Alberta Environment. 2005. Alberta Environment flood estimates. Alberta Environment, Alberta, Canada. [Online] Available at http://www.environment.alberta.ca/forecasting/advisories/summaryJune2005Detailed.html [Accessed August 1, 2008].

Alberta Environment. 1999. Surface water quality guidelines for use in Alberta. Environmental Sciences Division. Edmonton, Alberta, Canada.

Alvarez-Cobelas, M., Angeler, D.G., and Sanchez-Carrillo, S. 2008. Export of nitrogen from catchments : A worldwide analysis. Environmental Pollution **156**: 261-269.

Anderson, A.-M., Saffran, K.A., and Byrtus, G. 1997. Pesticides in Alberta Surface Waters. Canada-Alberta Environmentally Sustainable Agriculture Agreement. Alberta Environmental Protection, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada. 11 pp.

Anderson, A.-M, Cooke, S. and MacAlpine, N. 1999. Watershed Selection for the AESA Stream Water Quality Monitoring Program. Alberta Environmentally Sustainable Agriculture. Alberta Agriculture, Food and Rural Development, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada. 159 pp.

Anderson, A.-M., D.O. Trew, R.D. Neilson, N.D. MacAlpine, and R. Borg. 1998a. Impacts of agriculture on surface water quality in Alberta. Part I. Haynes Creek Study. Prepared for the CAESA Water Quality Committee. Alberta Agriculture Food and Rural Development, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada. 183 pp.

Anderson, A.-M., D.O. Trew, R.D. Neilson, N.D. MacAlpine, and R. Borg. 1998b. Impacts of agriculture on surface water quality in Alberta. Part II. Provincial stream survey. Prepared for the CAESA Water Quality Committee. Alberta Agriculture Food and Rural Development, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada. 138 pp.

Anderson, A.-M., Saffran, K.A., Byrtus, G., Trew, D.O., Neilson, R.D., MacAlpine, N.D., and Borg, R. 1998c. Impacts of agriculture on surface water quality in Alberta. Part III. Pesticides in small streams and lakes. Prepared for the CAESA Water Quality Committee. Published by Alberta Agriculture, Food and Rural Development, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada. 72 pp.

Anderson, A-M. 2005. Overview of pesticide data in Alberta surface waters since 1995. Environmental monitoring and evaluation branch, Alberta Environment, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada. 190 pp.

Anderson, A-M. 2008. Development of an aquatic pesticide toxicity index for use in Alberta. Alberta Environment. Environmental Assurance. Edmonton, Alberta, Canada. 30 pp.

Augustijn-Beckers, P. W. M., Hornsby, A.G., and Wauchope, R.D. 1994. The SCS/ARS/CES pesticide properties database for environmental decision making II. Additional compounds. Reviews of Environ. Contamin. Toxicol. 137: 1-82.

Bailey, H., Miller, J., Miller, M., Wiborg, L., Deanovic, L., and Shed, T. 1997. Joint acute toxicity of diazinon and chlorpyrofios to Ceriodaphnia dubia. Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry **16**: 2304-2308.

Baxter-Potter, W.R. and Gilliland, M.W. 1988. Bacterial pollution in runoff from agricultural lands. Journal of Environmental Quality **17**: 27-34.

Belden, J.B., Gilliom, R.J and Lydy, M.J. 2007. How well can we predict the toxicity of pesticide mixtures to aquatic life? Integrated Environmental Assessment and Management **3**: 364–372.

Brettar, I., and Höfle, M. 1992. Influence of ecosystematic factors on survival of Escherichia coli after large-scale release into lake water mesocosms. Applied Environmental Microbiology **58**: 2201–2210.

Byrtus, G. 2000. Overview of 1998 Pesticide Sales in Alberta. Alberta Environment. Environmental Sciences Division. Edmonton, Alberta, Canada. 58 pp.

Byrtus, G. 2007. Overview of 2003 pesticide sales in Alberta. Environmental Assurance Division, Alberta Environment, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada. 61 pp.

Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment (CCME). 2005. Canadian water quality guidelines for the protection of agricultural water uses: Summary table. Updated October 2005. In: Canadian environmental quality guidelines, 1999, Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment, Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada.

Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment (CCME). 2003. Canadian water quality guidelines for the protection of aquatic life: Nitrate Ion. In: Canadian environmental quality guidelines, 1999, Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment, Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada.

Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment (CCME). 2002. Canadian water quality guidelines for the protection of aquatic life: Summary Table. Updated. In: Canadian environmental quality guidelines, 1999, Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment, Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada.

Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment (CCME). 2000. Canadian water quality guidelines for the protection of aquatic life – Ammonia Fact Sheet. ISBN 1-89699-34-1.

Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment (CCME). 1999a. Canadian environmental quality guidelines, Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada.

Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment (CCME). 1999b. Canadian water quality guidelines for the protection of agricultural water uses. In: Canadian environmental quality guidelines, 1999, Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment, Winnipeg, Manitoba, Canada.

Canadian Council of Ministers of the Environment. 1992. Guidelines for Canadian Recreational Quality. Health and Welfare Canada. Ottawa, Ontario, Canada. 101 pp.

Carpenter, S.R. 2008. Phosphorus control is critical to mitigating eutrophication. Proceedings of the National Academy of Science in the United States of America 105: 11039-11040.

Carpenter, S.R., Caraco, N.F., Correll, D.L., Howarth, R.W., Sharpley, A.N., and Smith, V.H. 1998. Nonpoint pollution of surface waters with phosphorus and nitrogen. Ecological Applications 8: 559-568.

Chevre, N., Loeppe, C., Singer, H., Stamm, C., Fenner, K., and Escher, B.I. 2006. Including mixtures in the determination of water quality criteria for herbicides in surface water. Environmental Science and Technology **40**: 426–435.

Clesceri, N.L., Curran, S.J., and R.I. Sedlak. 1986. Nutrient loads to Wisconsin Lakes: part 1. Nitrogen and phosphorus export coefficients. Water Resources Bulletin **22**: 983-990.

Collins, R. 2004. Fecal contamination of pastoral wetlands. Journal of Environmental Quality **33**: 1912-1918.

Cooke, S.E., and Prepas, E.E. 1998. Stream phosphorus and nitrogen export from agricultural and forested watersheds on the Boreal Plain. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences **55**: 2292-2299.

Correll, D.L. 1998. The role of phosphorus in the eutrophication of receiving waters: A review. Journal of Environmental Quality. **27**: 261-266.

Cotton, M.M. 1995. Pesticide Characteristics and a Preliminary Assessment of the Potential Environmental Significance of Pesticides to Surface Water. Alberta Agriculture and Rural Development, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada. 65 pp.

Cross, P.M., Madawaska Consulting. 2003. Crowfoot Creek Water Quality Evaluation 2003. Prepared for Crowfoot Creek Watershed Group, County of Wheatland, Agricultural Service Board. 33 pp.

Cross, P.M., Madawaska Consulting. 2006. Wheatland County Water Quality 2006. Prepared for County of Wheatland. 16 pp.

Daniel, T.C., Sharpley, A.N., and J.L. Lemunyon. 1998. Agricultural phosphorus and eutrophication: a symposium overview. Journal of Environmental Quality **27**: 251–257.

Depoe, S. and Fountain, S. 2003. AESA Stream Survey water quality sampling methods. Alberta Agriculture, Food and Rural Development, Conservation and Development Branch, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada. 20 pp.

Depoe, S. and Westbrook, C.J. 2003. Water Quality Monitoring Program 2001. Annual Technical Report: Water Quality Monitoring of Small Streams in Agricultural Areas. Prepared for the AESA Water Quality Committee. Published by Alberta Agriculture, Food and Rural Development, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada. 58 pp.

Dillon, P.J., and Kirchner, W.B. 1975. The effects of geology and land use on the export of phosphorus from watersheds. Water Research **9**: 135-148.

Dodds, W.K., and Oakes, R.M. 2006. Controls on nutrients across a prairie stream watershed: Land use and riparian cover effects. Environmental Management **37**: 634-646.

Dodds, W.K., Smith, V.H., and K. Lohman. 2002. Nitrogen and phosphorus relationships to benthic algal biomass in temperate streams. Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Science **59**: 865-874.

Donahue, W.F. 2000. Alberta Environmentally Sustainable Agriculture Agreement Report on 1999 Water Quality Program: water quality monitoring of small agricultural streams. Published by Alberta Agriculture, Food and Rural Development, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada. 18 pp.

Elrashidi, M.A., Mays, M.D., Harder, J., Schroeder, D., Brackhage, P., Peaslee, S., Seybold, C., and C. Schaecher. 2005. Loss of phosphorus by runoff for agricultural watersheds. Soil Science 170: 543-558.

Environment Canada. 2008. Historical weather. [Online] Available at http://www.climate.weatheroffice.ec.gc.ca/Welcome_e.html [Accessed January 18 2008].

Ferguson, C., Roda Husman, A-M, Altavilla, N., Deere, D., and Ashbolt, N. 2003. Fate and transport of surface water pathogens in watersheds. Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology **33**: 299-361.

Flint, K.P. 1987. The long-term survival of Escherichia coli in river water. Journal of Applied Bacteriology 63:261-270.

Fujioka, R.S., Hashimoto, H.H., Siwak, E.B., and R.H.Young. 1981. Effect of sunlight on survival of indicator bacteria in seawater. Applied Environmental Microbiology 41: 690-696.

Galbraith, L.M., and Burns, C.W. 2007. Linking land-use, water body type and water quality in southern New Zealand. Landscape Ecology 22: 231-241.

Gentry, L.E., David, M.B., Royer, T.V., Mitchell, C.A., and Starks, K.M. 2007. Phosphorus transport pathways to streams in tile-drained agricultural watersheds. Journal of Environmental Quality **36**: 408-415.

Gerba, C.P., and McLeod, J.S. 1976. Effect of sediments on the survival of Escherichia coli in marine waters. Applied Environmental Microbiology 32: 114-120.

Gilliom, R. 2007. Pesticides in the Nation's streams and ground water. Environmental Science and Technology **41**: 3408-3414.

Government of British Columbia, Ministry of Agriculture and Lands. Pesticide Wise. [Online] Available at <u>http://www.agf.gov.bc.ca/pesticides/c_2.htm</u> [Accessed September 1, 2008].

Greenlee, G.M., Lund, P.D., Bennett, D.R. and Mikalson, D.E. 2000. Surface water quality studies in the Lethbridge Northern and Bow River Irrigation Districts. Lethbridge, Alberta Agriculture, Food and Rural Development, Irrigation Branch. 180 pp.

Health and Welfare Canada. 1992. Guidelines for Canadian Recreational Water Quality. Cat. H49-70/1991E, ISBN 0-660-14239-2. [Online] Available at <u>http://www.hc-sc.gc.ca/ewh-semt/pubs/water-eau/guide_water-1992-guide_eau/index-eng.php</u> [Accessed July 27, 2008].

Heathwaite, A.L., and Dils, R.M. 2000. Characterising phosphorus loss in surface and subsurface hydrological pathways. Science of the Total Environment **251**: 523-538.

Hecker, F. 2002. Sustainable irrigated agriculture in Alberta. Alberta Agriculture and Rural Development, Alberta, Canada. [Online] Available at http://www1.agric.gov.ab.ca/\$department/deptdocs.nsf/all/irr4453 [Accessed August 1, 2008].

Herlihy, A.T., Stoddard, J.L., and Johnson, C.B. 1998. The relationship between stream chemistry and watershed land cover data in the mid-Atlantic regions, US. Water, Air, and Soil Pollution 105: 377-386.

Houlahan, J.E., and Findlay, C.S. 2004. Estimating the 'critical' distance at which adjacent land-use degrades wetland water and sediment quality. Landscape Ecology 19: 677-690.

Hutchison, M.L., Avery, S.M., and Monaghan, J.M. 2008. The air-borne distribution of zoonotic agents from livestock waste spreading and microbiological risk to fresh produce from contaminated irrigation sources. Journal of Applied Microbiology 105: 848-857.

Isermann, K. 1990. Share of agriculture in nitrogen and phosphorus emissions into the surface waters of Western Europe against the background of their eutrophication. Nutrient Cycling Agroecosystems 26: 253-259.

Jamieson, R. C., D. M. Joy, H. Lee, R. Kostaschuk, and R. J. Gordon. 2005. Resuspension of sediment-associated Escherichia coli in a natural stream. Journal of Environmental Quality 34: 581-589.

Johnson, I. and Kirtz, J. 1998. Agricultural Intensity in Alberta, 1996 and Changes Since 1991. Alberta Environmentally Sustainable Agriculture.

Koirala, S.R., Gentry, R.W., Perfect, E., Schwartz, J.S. and G. S. Sayler. 2008. Temporal variation and persistence of bacteria in streams. Journal of Environmental Quality **37**: 1559 - 1566.

Kyllmar, K., Carlsson, C., Gustafson, A., Ulen, B., and H. Johnsson. 2006. Nutrient discharge from small agricultural catchments in Sweden characterization and trends. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment **115**: 15-26.

Lardner, H.A., Kirychuk, B.D., Braul, L., Willms, W.D., and Yarotski, J. 2005. The effect of water quality on cattle performance on pasture. Australian Journal of Agricultural Research 56: 97-104.

Larney, F.J., Yanke, L.J., Miller, J.J., and McAllister, T.A. 2003. Fate of coliform bacteria in composted beef cattle feedlot manure. Journal of Environmental Quality 32: 1508-1515.

Little, J.L. 2003. Water quality in the Lower Little Bow River: 1999 – 2002. Prep. For Irrigation Branch, Alberta Agriculture, Food, and Rural Development and Oldman Basin Water Quality Initiative. Fact sheet IB002-2003. Available online at: http://www.oldmanbasin.org/orbwqi/pdfs/lower_little_bow_2002.pdf

Little, J.L., Saffran, K.A., and Fent, L. 2003. Landuse and water quality relationships in the lower Little Bow River watershed, Alberta, Canada. Water Quality Research Journal of Canada 38: 563-584.

Little, J.L., Nolan, S.C., Casson, J.P., and Olson, B.M. 2007. Relationships between Soil and Runoff Phosphorus in Small Alberta Watersheds. Journal of Environmental Quality **36**: 1289-1300.

Lydy, M., Belden, J., Wheelock, C., Hammock, B., and Denton, D. 2004. Challenges in regulating pesticide mixtures. Ecology and Society 9: 1.

Madawaska Consulting. 1997. Review of irrigation district water quality. Canada-Alberta Environmentally Sustainable Agriculture Agreement Project.

Manunta, P., Kryzanowski, L., and Keyes, D. 2000. Preliminary assessment of available soil P in Alberta: Status and trends. Soil Quality Program, Conservation and Development Branch, Alberta Agriculture, Food and Rural Development, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada. 64 pp.

Mattikalli, N.M., and Richards, K.S. 1996. Estimation of surface water quality changes in response to land use change: Application of the export coefficient model using remote sensing and geographical information system. Journal of Environmental Management **48**: 263-282.

McDowell, R.W. 2007. Water quality in headwater catchments with deer wallows. Journal of Environmental Quality 36: 1377-1382.

Meals, D.W. 1989. Bacteriological water quality n Vermont agricultural watersheds undergoing land treatment. Lake and Reservoir Management **5**: 53-62.

Minnesota River Basin Data Centre. 2003. State of the Minnesota River: Summary of Surface Water Quality Monitoring 2003. Minnesota State University, Minnesota. 122 pp.

Mitchell, P., and Hamilton, H. 1982. Assessment of phosphorus export from the Majeau creek watershed, Lac La Nonne. Published by the Pollution Control Division, Alberta Environment, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada. 17 pp.

Mitchell, P. 1985. Lake Wabamun eutrophication study. Published by the Water Quality Control Branch, Pollution Control Division, Environmental Protection Services, Alberta Environment, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada.

Moog, D.B., and Whiting, P.J. 2002. Climatic and agricultural factors in nutrient exports from two watersheds in Ohio. Journal of Environmental Quality **31**: 72-83.

Mostaghimi, S., Dillaha, T., Heatwole, C., Wolfe, M.L., Brannan, K., Shah, S., Al-Smadi, M., and Miller, J. 2000. Fecal Coliform TMDL for Sheep Creek, Elk Creek, Machine Creek, Little Otter River, and Lower Big Otter River in Bedford and Campbell Counties, Virginia. Submitted to: Virginia Department of Environmental Quality and Virginia Department of Conservation and Recreation. 373 pp.

Noton, L. 1998. Water quality of Lesser Slave Lake and its tributaries, 1991-1993. Published by Alberta Environment, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada. 88 pp.

Oliver, D.M., Heathwaite, L., Haygarth, P.M., and Clegg, C.D. 2005. Transfer of Escherichia coli to Water from Drained and Undrained Grassland after Grazing. Journal of Environmental Quality **34**: 918-925.

Ontkean, G.R., Chanasyk, D.S., Riemersma, S. Bennett, R., and J.M. Brunen. 2003. Enhanced prairie wetland effects on surface water quality in Crowfoot Creek, Alberta. Water quality research journal of Canada **38**: 335-359.

Palliser Environmental Services Ltd. and Alberta Agriculture and Rural Development 2008. Assessment of Environmental Sustainability in Alberta's Agricultural Watersheds. Palliser Environmental Services, Ltd., Mossleigh, Alberta, Canada. 81 pp. **Paterson, B.A., Olson, B.M., and Bennett, D.R. 2006.** Alberta soil phosphorus limits project. Volume 1: Summary and recommendations. Alberta Agriculture, Food and Rural Development, Lethbridge, Alberta, Canada. 82 pp.

Redfield, A.C. 1958. The biological control of chemical facts in the environment. American Scientist **46**: 205-222.

Relyea, R.A. 2008. A cocktail of contaminants: how mixtures of pesticides at low concentrations affect aquatic communities. Oecologia **159**: 363-376.

Rice, P.J., E.L. Arthur, and A.C. Barefoot. 2007. Advances in pesticide environmental fate and exposure assessments. J. Agric. Food Chem. 55: 5367-5376.

Riemersma, S., Rodvang, J., Little, J., and Olson, B. 2004. Evaluation of buffer zones for surface water and groundwater quality protection and improvement in the Battersea Drain watershed, Alberta. Pages 162-168 in 41st Annual Alberta Soil Science Workshop Proceedings. Lethbridge, Alberta, Canada. February 17-19, 2004.

Rock, L. and Mayer, B. 2004. Isotopic assessment of sources of surface water nitrate within the Oldman River Basin, southern Alberta, Canada. Water, Air, and Soil Pollution: Focus 4:545-562.

Rodvang, S.J., Mikalson, D.M., and Ryan, M.C. 2004. Changes in ground water quality in an irrigated area of southern Alberta. Journal of Environmental Quality **33**: 476-487.

Roszak, D.B., and Colwell, R.R. 1987. Survival strategies of bacteria in the natural environment. Microbiological Reviews **51**: 365-379.

Saffran, K.A. 2005. Oldman River Basin Water Quality Initiative: Surface Water Quality Summary Report, April 1998 to March 2003. 395 pp.

Salvia-Castellvi, M., Iffly, J.F., Vander Borght, P., and L. Hoffmann. 2005. Dissolved and particulate nutrient export from rural catchments: a case study from Luxembourg. Science of the Total Environment 244: 51-65.

Schindler, D.W. 1977. Evolution of phosphorus limitation in lakes: Natural mechanisms compensate for deficiencies of nitrogen and carbon in eutrophied lakes. Science 195: 260-262.

Schindler, D.W., Hecky, R.E., Findlay, D.L., Stainton, M.P., Parker, B.R., Paterson, M.J., Beaty, K.G., Lyng, M., and Kaisan, S.E.M. 2008. Eutrophication of lakes cannot be controlled by reducing nitrogen input: Results of a 37-year whole-ecosystem experiment. Proceedings of the National Academy of Science in the United States of America 105: 11254-11258.

Schulz, R. 2004. Field studies on exposure, effects, and risk mitigation of aquatic nonpointsource insecticide pollution: a review. Journal of Environmental Quality 33: 419-448.

Shanz, F., and Juon, J. 1983. Two different methods of evaluating nutrient limitations of periphyton bioassays using water from the River Rhine and eight of its tributaries. Hydrobiologia **102**: 187-195.

Sharpley, A.N. and J.K. Syers. 1979. Phosphorus inputs into a stream draining an agricultural watershed. Water, Air, and Soil Pollution **11**: 417-428.

Sharpley, A., Smith, S.J., and Naney, J.W. 1987. Environmental impact of agricultural nitrogen and phosphorus use. Journal of Agricultural Food Chemistry 35: 812-817.

Sherer, B. M., Miner, J. R., Moore, J. A., and Buckhouse, J. C. 1988. Resuspending organisms from a rangeland stream bottom. Transactions of the American Society of Agricultural Engineering 31: 1217-1222.

Sosiak, A.J. and Trew, D.O. 1986. Pine Lake restoration project: diagnostic study (1992). Published by Surface Water Assessment Branch, Technical Services and Monitoring Division, Alberta Environmental Protection, Edmonton, Alberta, Canada. 119pp.

SPSS Inc. 2000. SYSTAT Version 10. Chicago, Illinois.

Statistics Canada. 1996. Census of Agriculture. Custom Tabulation.

Statistics Canada. 2001. Census of Agriculture. Custom Tabulation.

Statistics Canada. 2006. Census of Agriculture. Custom Tabulation.

Stelzer, R.S. and G.A Lamberti. 2001. Effects of N:P ratio and total nutrient concentration on stream periphyton community structure, biomass, and elemental composition. Limnology and Oceanography, **46**: 356-367.

Svederus, A., Olson, B.M., and Mapfumo, E. 2006. Soil-test phosphorus in the Haynes Creek M1 sub-basin. In Alberta Soil Phosphorus Limits Project. Volume 5: Background information reviews. Alberta Agriculture, Food and Rural Development, Lethbridge, Alberta, Canada. 77 pp.

Tate, K.W., Dahlgren, R.A., Singer, M.J., Allen-Diaz, B.H., and Atwill, E.R. 1999. Timing, frequency of sampling affect accuracy of water quality monitoring. California Agriculture **53**: 44-48.

Tiedemann, A.R., Higgins, D.A., Quigley, T.M., Sanderson, H.R., and D.B. Marx. 1987. Responses of fecal coliform in streamwater to four grazing strategies. Journal of Range Management **40**: 322-329.

Tierney, K.B., Sampson, J.L., Ross, P.S., Sekela, M.A., and Kennedy, C.J. 2008. Salmon Olfaction is impaired by an environmentally realistic pesticide mixture. Environmental Science and Technology **42**: 4996–5001.

Trew, D.O., Beliveau, D.J., and Younge, E.I. 1987. The Baptiste Lake study technical report. Published by Alberta Environment, Poll. Contr. Div. Water Quality Contr. Br., Edmonton, Alberta, Canada.

Turner, C. 2002. The thermal inactivation of E. coli in straw and pig manure. Bioresource Technology **84**: 57–61.

U.S. Army Corps of Engineers. 1995. FLUX v. 4.5. Environmental Laboratory, Concord Massachusetts.

USEPA 2007. Reregistration Eligibility Decision (RED) for Mecoprop-p (MCPP). Available online at <u>http://www.epa.gov/oppsrrd1/REDs/mcpp_red.pdf</u>. [Accessed May 15, 2008].

Van de Venter, T. 2000. Emerging food-borne diseases: a global responsibility. Food, Nutrition, and Agriculture 26, 13 pp.

Vanni, M.J., Renwick, W.H., Headowrth, J.L, Auch, J.D., and Schaus, M.H. 2001. Dissolved and particulate nutrient flux from three adjacent agricultural watersheds: a five year study. Biogeochemistry **54**: 85-114. Verstraete, W. and Voets, J.P. 1976. Comparative study of E. coli survival in two aquatic ecosystems. Water Research 10: 129-136.

Vollenweider, R.A. 1976. Advances in Defining Critical Loading Levels for Phosphorus in Lake Eutrophication. Memorie dell'Istituto Italiano di Idrobiologia, **33**: 53-83.

Wang, G., and Doyle, M.P. 1998. Survival of enterohemorrhagic Escherichia coli O157:H7 in water. Journal of Food Protocols **61**: 662-667.

Water Survey of Canada (WSC) (HYDAT). Environment Canada [online] Available at: http://www.wsc.ec.gc.ca/products/main_e.cfm?cname=products_e.cfm [Accessed March 30, 2008].

Wauchope, R. D., Buttler, T.M., Hornsby, A.G., Augustijn-Beckers, P.M., and Burt, J.P. 1992. The SCS/ARS/CES pesticide properties database for environmental decision making. Reviews of Environmental Contamination and Toxicology 123: 1-155.

Wauchope, R. D. 1978. The pesticide content of surface water draining from agricultural fields: A review. Journal of Environmental Quality **7**: 459-472.

Westbrook, C.J., and McEachern, P. 2002. A review of trend analysis methodologies for water quality time series. Published by Alberta Agriculture and Rural Development and Alberta Environment, Alberta, Canada. 46 pp.

Willms, W.D., Kenzie, O.R., McAllister, T.A., Colwell, D., Veira, D., Wilmshurst, J.F., Entz, T., and Olson, M.E. 2002. Effects of water quality on cattle performance. Journal of Range Management 55: 452-260.

Winter, J.G., Dillon, P.J., Futter, M.N., Nicholls, K.H., Scheider, W.A., and L.D. Scott. 2002. Total phosphorus budgets and nitrogen loads: Lake Simcoe, Ontario (1990 to 1998). Journal of Great Lakes Research 28: 301-314.

Wuite, J.J., and D.S. Chanasyk. 2003. Evaluation of two beneficial management practices to improve water quality. Project no. 990054. Alberta Agricultural Research Inst., Edmonton, Alberta, Canada. 199 pp.

Wuite, J.J., Chanasyk, D.S, and Muhammad, A.A. 2007. Environmental and economic evaluation of cow-calf wintering site runoff control as a beneficial management practice to improve surface water quality. Water Quality Research Journal of Canada 42: 240-251.

Appendices

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TABLE OF CON	ITENTS	A-i
LIST OF FIGUR	ESA	-iii
LIST OF TABLE	ES	viii
APPENDIX 1:	1991 LAND COVER A	\- 1
APPENDIX 2:	PRECIPITATION 1995 TO 2006	\ -7
APPENDIX 3:	LABORATORY METHODS A-	-19
APPENDIX 4:	METHOD DETECTION LIMITS A-	-20
APPENDIX 5:	NUTRIENT COMPLIANCE TO GUIDELINES A-	-21
APPENDIX 6:	FWMC SEASONALITY BOXPLOTS A-	-26
APPENDIX 7:	MASS TRANSPORT AND TEMPORAL PATTERNS A- Mass Transport of Phosphorus and Nitrogen A- Temporal patterns by ecoregion A-	-42 -42 -42
APPENDIX 8:	NUTRIENT EXPORT SEASONALITY BOXPLOTS A-	-79
APPENDIX 9:	SUMMARY STATISTICS FOR AMBIENT DATA, FWMC, MASS LOADING, AND EXPORT COEFFICIENTS A-	-91
APPENDIX 10:	FECAL BACTERIA SUMMARY STATISTICS A-	-99
APPENDIX 11:	MEDIAN ANNUAL BACTERIA CONCENTRATIONS BY AGRICULTURAL INTENSITY A-1	04
APPENDIX 12:	FECAL BACTERIA EXPORT COEFFICIENTS, 1999 TO 2006 A-1	05
APPENDIX 13:	DETECTION FREQUENCY AND MAXIMUM CONCENTRATION OF 42 PESTICIDE COMPOUNDS FOR ALL WATERSHEDS 1999 TO 2006 	107
APPENDIX 14:	PESTICIDE MOBILITY TABLE A-1	32

APPENDIX 15:	MEDIAN CONCENTRATION AND NUMBER OF SAMPLES FOR DRYLAND AND/OR IRRIGATED WATERSHEDS A-133
APPENDIX 16:	PESTICIDE GUIDELINES A-137
APPENDIX 17:	SAMPLE NUMBERS FOR NUTRIENTS, BACTERIA, AND PESTICIDES
APPENDIX 18:	NFR, PH, AND TEMPERATURE SUMMARY STATISTICS, 1999 TO 2006

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure A1.1.	1991 land cover for (a) Battersea Drain, (b) Blindman River, (c) Buffalo Creek, and (d) Crowfoot Creek
Figure A1.2.	1991 land cover for (a) Drain S6, (b) Grande Prairie Creek, (c) Haynes Creek, and (d) Hines Creek
Figure A1.3.	1991 land cover for (a) Kleskun Drain, (b) Meadow Creek, (c) New West Coulee, and (d) Paddle River
Figure A1.4.	1991 land cover for (a) Prairie Blood Coulee, (b) Ray Creek, (c) Renwick Creek, and (d) Rose Creek
Figure A1.5.	1991 land cover for (a) Strawberry Creek, and (b) Stretton Creek, (c) Threehills Creek, and (d) Tomahawk Creek
Figure A1.6.	1991 land cover for (a) Trout Creek, (b) Wabash Creek, and (c) Willow Creek.A-6
Figure A2.1.	Precipitation accumulations in Alberta's agricultural zone from March 1, 1995 to October 31, 1995 as a percent of the average (1961 to 2006) A-7
Figure A2.2.	Precipitation accumulations in Alberta's agricultural zone from March 1, 1996 to October 31, 1996 as a percent of the average (1961 to 2006) A-8
Figure A2.3.	Precipitation accumulations in Alberta's agricultural zone from March 1, 1997 to October 31, 1997 as a percent of the average (1961 to 2006) A-9
Figure A2.4.	Precipitation accumulations in Alberta's agricultural zone from March 1, 1998 to October 31, 1998 as a percent of the average (1961 to 2006) A-10
Figure A2.5.	Precipitation accumulations in Alberta's agricultural zone from March 1, 1999 to October 31, 1999 as a percent of the average (1961 to 2006) A-11
Figure A2.6.	Precipitation accumulations in Alberta's agricultural zone from March 1, 2000 to October 31, 2000 as a percent of the average (1961 to 2006) A-12
Figure A2.7.	Precipitation accumulations in Alberta's agricultural zone from March 1, 2001 to October 31, 2001 as a percent of the average (1961 to 2006) A-13
Figure A2.8.	Precipitation accumulations in Alberta's agricultural zone from March 1, 2002 to October 31, 2002 as a percent of the average (1961 to 2006) A-14
Figure A2.9.	Precipitation accumulations in Alberta's agricultural zone from March 1, 2003 to October 31, 2003 as a percent of the average (1961 to 2006) A-15

Figure A2.10.	Precipitation accumulations in Alberta's agricultural zone from March 1, 2004 to October 31, 2004 as a percent of the average (1961 to 2006) A-16
Figure A2.11.	Precipitation accumulations in Alberta's agricultural zone from March 1, 2005 to October 31, 2005 as a percent of the average (1961 to 2006) A-17
Figure A2.12.	Precipitation accumulations in Alberta's agricultural zone from March 1, 2006 to October 31, 2006 as a percent of the average (1961 to 2006) A-18
Figure A6.1.	Seasonal trends in median monthly (1999-2006) TP (a) FWMCs for streams draining low agricultural intensity watersheds
Figure A6.2.	Seasonal trends in median monthly (1999-2006) TN (a) and Org N (b) FWMCs for streams draining low agricultural intensity watersheds
Figure A6.3.	Seasonal trends in median monthly (1999-2006) TP (a) and TDP (b) FWMCs for streams draining moderate agricultural intensity watersheds A-30
Figure A6.4.	Seasonal trends in median monthly (1999-2006) TN (a) and Org N (b) FWMCs for streams draining moderate agricultural intensity watersheds A-32
Figure A6.5.	Seasonal trends in median monthly (1999-2006) TP (a) and TDP (b) FWMCs for streams draining high agricultural intensity watersheds
Figure A6.6.	Seasonal trends in median monthly (1999-2006) TN (a) and Org N (b) FWMCs for streams draining high agricultural intensity watersheds A-36
Figure A6.7.	Seasonal trends in median monthly (1999-2006) TP (a) and TDP (b) FWMCs for watersheds draining irrigation return flows
Figure A6.8.	Seasonal trends in median monthly (1999-2006) TN (a) and Org N (b) FWMCs for watersheds draining irrigation return flows
Figure A7.1.	Annual loads (kg yr ⁻¹) of phosphorus (a) and nitrogen (b) from 1999 through 2006 in Hines Creek, a low agricultural intensity watershed in the Boreal ecoregion
Figure A7.2.	Annual loads (kg yr ⁻¹) of phosphorus (a) and nitrogen (b) from 1999 to 2006 in Grande Prairie Creek
Figure A7.3.	Annual loads (kg yr ⁻¹) of phosphorus (a) and nitrogen (b) from 1999 to 2006 in Kleskun Main Drain. A-47
Figure A7.4.	Annual loads (kg yr ⁻¹) of phosphorus (a) and nitrogen (b) from 1999 to 2006 in Wabash Creek

Figure A7.5.	Annual loads (kg yr ⁻¹) of phosphorus (a) and nitrogen (b) from 1995 to 2006 in Paddle River
Figure A7.6.	Annual loads (kg yr ⁻¹) of phosphorus (a) and nitrogen (b) from 1995 to 2006 in Tomahawk Creek
Figure A7.7.	Annual loads (kg yr ⁻¹) of phosphorus (a) and nitrogen (b) from 1995 to 2006 in Strawberry Creek
Figure A7.8.	Annual loads (kg yr ⁻¹) of phosphorus (a) and nitrogen (b) from 1995 to 2006 in Blindman River
Figure A7.9.	Annual loads (kg yr ⁻¹) of phosphorus (a) and nitrogen (b) from 1995 to 2006 in Rose Creek
Figure A7.10.	Annual loads (kg yr ⁻¹) of phosphorus (a) and nitrogen (b) from 1995 to 2006 in Buffalo Creek
Figure A7.11.	Annual loads (kg yr ⁻¹) of phosphorus (a) and nitrogen (b) from 1995 to 2006 in Stretton Creek
Figure A7.12.	Annual loads (kg yr ⁻¹) of phosphorus (a) and nitrogen (b) from 1995 to 2006 in Haynes Creek M6 A-61
Figure A7.13.	Annual loads (kg yr ⁻¹) of phosphorus (a) and nitrogen (b) from 1995 to 2006 in Threehills Creek
Figure A7.14.	Annual loads (kg yr ⁻¹) of phosphorus (a) and nitrogen (b) from 1995 to 2006 in Ray Creek
Figure A7.15.	Annual loads (kg yr ⁻¹) of phosphorus (a) and nitrogen (b) from 1995 to 2006 in Renwick Creek. A-66
Figure A7.16.	Annual loads (kg yr ⁻¹) of phosphorus (a) and nitrogen (b) from 1995 to 2006 in Trout Creek
Figure A7.17.	Annual loads (kg yr ⁻¹) of phosphorus (a) and nitrogen (b) from 1995 to 2006 in Meadow Creek
Figure A7.18.	Annual loads (kg yr ⁻¹) of phosphorus (a) and nitrogen (b) from 1995 to 2006 in Prairie Blood Coulee
Figure A7.19.	Annual loads (kg yr ⁻¹) of phosphorus (a) and nitrogen (b) from 1995 to 2006 in Willow Creek
Figure A7.20.	Annual loads (kg yr ⁻¹) of phosphorus (a) and nitrogen (b) from 1995 to 2006 in Crowfoot Creek

Figure A7.21.	Annual loads (kg yr ⁻¹) of phosphorus (a) and nitrogen (b) from 1995 to 2006 in New West Coulee
Figure A7.22.	Annual loads (kg yr ⁻¹) of phosphorus (a) and nitrogen (b) from 1995 to 2006 in Battersea Drain
Figure A8.1.	Seasonal trends in TP (a), TDP (b), and TPP* (c) exports in the Boreal ecoregion for median monthly data (1999-2006)
Figure A8.2.	Seasonal trends in TN (a) and Org N (b) exports in the Boreal ecoregion for median monthly data (1999-2006)
Figure A8.3.	Seasonal trends in NO ₂ -NO ₃ -N (a) and NH ₃ -N (b) exports in the Boreal ecoregion for median monthly data (1999-2006)
Figure A8.4.	Seasonal trends in TP (a), TDP (b), and TPP (c) exports in the Parkland ecoregion for median monthly data (1999-2006)
Figure A8.5.	Seasonal trends in TN (a) and Org N (b) exports in the Parkland ecoregion for median monthly data (1999-2006)
Figure A8.6.	Seasonal trends in NO ₂ -NO ₃ -N (a) and NH ₃ -N (b) exports in the Parkland ecoregion for median monthly data (1999-2006) A-84
Figure A8.7.	Seasonal trends in TP (a), TDP (b), and TPP (c) exports in the Grassland ecoregion for median monthly data (1999-2006)
Figure A8.8.	Seasonal trends in TN (a) and Org N (b) exports in the Grassland ecoregion for median monthly data (1999-2006)
Figure A8.9.	Seasonal trends in NO ₂ -NO ₃ -N (a) and NH ₃ -N (b) exports in the Grassland ecoregion for median monthly data (1999-2006)
Figure A8.10.	Seasonal trends in TP (a), TDP (b), and TPP (c) exports in the Continental Divide ecoregion for median monthly data (1999-2006)
Figure A8.11.	Seasonal trends in TN (a) and Org N (b) exports in the Continental Divide ecoregion for median monthly data (1999-2006)
Figure A8.12.	Seasonal trends in NO ₂ -NO ₃ -N (a) and NH ₃ -N (b) exports in the Continental Divide ecoregion for median monthly data (1999-2006) A-90
Figure A10.1.	Boxplots showing all ambient fecal coliform and <i>E. coli</i> data collected from 23 AESA streams from 1999 to 2006 A-100

Figure A11.2.	Boxplots of median annual fecal coliform and E. coli for 23 AESA streams	
	grouped by agricultural intensity	A-104

Figure A17.1.	Number of nutrient,	bacteria, and	pesticide	samples for all	AESA wa	tersheds from
	1999 to 2006		-	-		A-139

LIST OF TABLES

Table A3.1.	ALS code and method for each parameter analyzed	A-19
Table A4.1.	Changes in the lowest method detection limit (LMDL) for nitrogen and phosphorus forms determined by ALS laboratories during CAESA and AESA surface water monitoring studies (1995-2006)	A-20
Table A5.1.	Percent TP compliance to the Protection of Aquatic Life nutrient guideline for each stream by year (1999 to 2006).	r A-21
Table A5.2.	Percent TN compliance to the Protection of Aquatic Life nutrient guideline for each stream by year (1999 to 2006).	or A-22
Table A5.3.	Percent NO ₂ -N compliance to the Protection of Aquatic Life nutrient guideline each stream by year (1999 to 2006).	e for A-23
Table A5.4.	Percent NO ₃ -N compliance to the Protection of Aquatic Life nutrient guideline each stream by year (1999 to 2006).	e for A-24
Table A5.5.	Percent NH_3 -N compliance to the Protection of Aquatic Life nutrient guideline each stream by year (1999 to 2006).	e for A-25
Table A7.1.	Median, minimum, maximum load for nutrient parameters and annual flow volumes in Hines Creek, 1999 to 2006.	A-44
Table A7.2.	Median, minimum, maximum load for nutrient parameters and annual flow volumes in Grande Prairie Creek, 1999 to 2006.	A-46
Table A7.3.	Median, minimum, maximum load for nutrient parameters and annual flow volumes in Kleskun Main Drain, 1999 to 2006.	A-48
Table A7.4.	Median, minimum, maximum load for nutrient parameters and annual flow volumes in Wabash Creek, 1999 to 2006	A-49
Table A7.5.	Median, minimum, maximum load for nutrient parameters and annual flow volumes in Paddle River, 1995 to 2006.	A-51
Table A7.6.	Median, minimum, maximum load for nutrient parameters and annual flow volumes in Tomahawk Creek, 1995 to 2006	A-53
Table A7.7.	Median, minimum, maximum load for nutrient parameters and annual flow volumes in Strawberry Creek, 1995 to 2006	A-54
Table A7.8.	Median, minimum, maximum load nutrient parameters and annual flow volur in Blindman River, 1995 to 2006	nes A-56

Table A7.9.	Median, minimum, maximum load nutrient parameters and annual flow volumes in Rose Creek, 1995 to 2006
Table A7.10.	Median, minimum, maximum load nutrient parameters and annual flow volumes in Buffalo Creek, 1995 to 2006
Table A7.11.	Median, minimum, maximum load nutrient parameters and annual flow volumes in Stretton Creek, 1995 to 2006
Table A7.12.	Median, minimum, maximum load nutrient parameters and annual flow volumes in Haynes Creek M6, 1995 to 2006
Table A7.13.	Median, minimum, maximum load for nutrient parameters and annual flow volumes in Threehills Creek, 1995 to 2006 A-63
Table A7.14.	Median, minimum, maximum load for nutrient parameters and annual flow volumes in Ray Creek, 1995 to 2006
Table A7.15.	Median, minimum, maximum load for nutrient parameters and annual flow volumes in Renwick Creek, 1995 to 2006 A-66
Table A7.16.	Median, minimum, maximum load for nutrient parameters and annual flow volumes in Trout Creek, 1995 to 2006 A-68
Table A7.17.	Median, minimum, maximum load for nutrient parameters and annual flow volumes in Meadow Creek, 1995 to 2006 A-69
Table A7.18.	Median, minimum, maximum load nutrient parameters and annual flow volumes in Prairie Blood Coulee, 1995 to 2006
Table A7.19.	Median, minimum, maximum load for nutrient parameters and annual flow volumes in Willow Creek, 1999 to 2006
Table A7.20.	Median, minimum, maximum load for nutrient parameters and annual flow volumes in Crowfoot Creek, 1995 to 2006 A-74
Table A7.21.	Median, minimum, maximum load for nutrient parameters and annual flow volumes in New West Coulee, 1999 to 2006 A-76
Table A7.22.	Median, minimum, maximum load for nutrient parameters and annual flow volumes in Battersea Drain, 1998 to 2006 A-77
Table A7.23.	Annual stream volumes for each watershed during the CAESA and AESA monitoring periods. Stream flow data were provided by Water Survey of Canada and annual stream volumes were calculated by FLUX
Table A9.1.	Summary statistics for instream concentrations (mg L ⁻¹) from 1999 to 2006 A-91

Table A9.2.	Summary statistics for FWMC (mg L ⁻¹) from 1999 to 2006 A-93
Table A9.3.	Summary statistics for mass transport (kg) data from 1999 to 2006 A-95
Table A9.4.	Summary statistics for export coefficient (kg ha ⁻¹ yr ⁻¹) data from 1999 to 2006 A-97
Table A10.1.	Summary statistics for all fecal bacteria samples collected from AESA streams from 1999 to 2006 A-99
Table A10.2.	Summary statistics for ambient fecal bacteria data collected from 23 streams from 1999 to 2006
Table A10.3a.	<i>E. coli</i> summary statistics for each stream, 1999 to 2006 A-101
Table A10.3b.	Fecal coliform summary statistics for all AESA watersheds, 1999 to 2006 A-102
Table A10.4.	Number of fecal coliform samples and an average for each AESA watershed from 1999 to 2006
Table A12.1a.	Annual <i>E. coli</i> load and export values for all AESA streams from 1999 through 2006. Irrigated watersheds do not have exports as the effective drainage area could not be determined. A-105
Table A12.1b.	Annual fecal coliform load and export values for all AESA streams from 1999 through 2006. Irrigated watersheds do not have exports as the effective drainage area could not be determined
Table A13.1.	Detection frequency and maximum concentration of 42 pesticide compounds in Battersea Drain, 1998 to 2006
Table A13.2.	Detection frequency and maximum concentration of 42 pesticide compounds in Blindman River, 1997 to 2006
Table A13.3.	Detection frequency and maximum concentration of 42 pesticide compounds in Buffalo Creek, 1997 to 2006
Table A13.4.	Detection frequency and maximum concentration of 42 pesticide compounds in Crowfoot Creek, 1997 to 2006
Table A13.5.	Detection frequency and maximum concentration of 42 pesticide compounds in Drain S6, 1999 to 2006 A-112
Table A13.6.	Detection frequency and maximum concentration of 42 pesticide compounds in Grande Prairie Creek, 1999 to 2006

Table A13.7.	Detection frequency and maximum concentration of 42 pesticide compounds in Hines Creek, 1999 to 2006 A-114
Table A13.8.	Detection frequency and maximum concentration of 42 pesticide compounds in Haynes Creek M1, 1999 to 2006
Table A13.9.	Detection frequency and maximum concentration of 42 pesticide compounds in Haynes Creek M6, 1997 to 2006
Table A13.10.	Detection frequency and maximum concentration of 42 pesticide compounds in Kleskun Drain, 1999 to 2006
Table A13.11.	Detection frequency and maximum concentration of 42 pesticide compounds in Meadow Creek, 1997 to 2006
Table A13.12.	Detection frequency and maximum concentration of 42 pesticide compounds in New West Coulee, 1999 to 2006
Table A13.13.	Detection frequency and maximum concentration of 42 pesticide compounds in Paddle River, 1997 to 2006
Table A13.14.	Detection frequency and maximum concentration of 42 pesticide compounds in Prairie Blood Coulee, 1999 to 2006
Table A13.15.	Detection frequency and maximum concentration of 42 pesticide compounds in Ray Creek, 1997 to 2006
Table A13.16.	Detection frequency and maximum concentration of 42 pesticide compounds in Renwick Creek, 1997 to 2006
Table A13.17.	Detection frequency and maximum concentration of 42 pesticide compounds in Rose Creek, 1997 to 2006
Table A13.18.	Detection frequency and maximum concentration of 42 pesticide compounds in Stretton Creek, 1997 to 2006
Table A13.19.	Detection frequency and maximum concentration of 42 pesticide compounds in Strawberry Creek, 1997 to 2006
Table A13.20.	Detection frequency and maximum concentration of 42 pesticide compounds in Threehills Creek, 1997 to 2006
Table A13.21.	Detection frequency and maximum concentration of 42 pesticide compounds in Tomahawk Creek, 1997 to 2006
Table A13.22.	Detection frequency and maximum concentration of 42 pesticide compounds in Trout Creek, 1997 to 2006

Table A13.23.	Detection frequency and maximum concentration of 42 pesticide compounds in Wabash Creek, 1999 to 2006
Table A13.24.	Detection frequency and maximum concentration of 42 pesticide compounds in Willow Creek, 1999 to 2006
Table A14.1.	Pesticide mobility table
Table A15.1.	Median concentration ($\mu g L^{-1}$) plus number of samples in parenthesis for a variety of compounds detected in both dryland and irrigated watersheds A-133
Table A15.2.	Median concentration (μ g L ⁻¹) of pesticide compounds detected in either dryland or irrigation watersheds. Number of samples collected is in parenthesis A-135
Table A16.1.	Protection of Aquatic life, agriculture, drinking water and consumption guideline values of a variety of pesticide compounds
Table A17.2.	Pesticide sample numbers by stream and year A-140
Table A18.1.	Non-filterable residue (NFR) summary statistics from 1999 to 2006 for median annual ambient data, mass loading, FWMC, and export coefficients A-142
Table A18.2.	Annual pH summary statistics for each watershed from 1999 to 2006. N/A indicates data were not available for that year
Table A18.3.	Annual temperature (°C) summary statistics for each watershed from 1999 to 2006. N/A indicates data were not available for that year

APPENDIX 1: 1991 LAND COVER



Figure A1.1. 1991 land cover for (a) Battersea Drain, (b) Blindman River, (c) Buffalo Creek, and (d) Crowfoot Creek. Black lines represent the watershed hydrology. As there is no scale for these watersheds, refer to Chapter 2 (Table 2.9) to see percentages of land cover for each watershed.



Figure A1.2. 1991 land cover for (a) Drain S6, (b) Grande Prairie Creek, (c) Haynes Creek, and (d) Hines Creek. Diagonal lines on Hines Creek represent the watershed area lying outside of Alberta's agricultural zone. Black lines represent the watershed hydrology. As there is no scale for these watersheds, refer to Chapter 2 (Table 2.9) to see percentages of land cover for each watershed.



Figure A1.3. 1991 land cover for (a) Kleskun Drain, (b) Meadow Creek, (c) New West Coulee, and (d) Paddle River. Black lines represent the watershed hydrology. As there is no scale for these watersheds, refer to Chapter 2 (Table 2.9) to see percentages of land cover for each watershed.


Figure A1.4. 1991 land cover for (a) Prairie Blood Coulee, (b) Ray Creek, (c) Renwick Creek, and (d) Rose Creek. Diagonal lines on the north-east corner of Rose Creek represent the area of the watershed that lies outside of Alberta's agricultural zone. Black lines represent the watershed hydrology. As there is no scale for these watersheds, refer to Chapter 2 (Table 2.9) to see percentages of land cover for each watershed.





Figure A1.5. 1991 land cover for (a) Strawberry Creek, and (b) Stretton Creek, (c) Threehills Creek, and (d) Tomahawk Creek. Black lines represent the watershed hydrology. As there is no scale for these watersheds, refer to Chapter 2 (Table 2.9) to see percentages of land cover for each watershed.



Figure A1.6. 1991 land cover for (a) Trout Creek, (b) Wabash Creek, and (c) Willow Creek. The diagonal lines on the eastern portion of Willow Creek represent the area of the watershed that lies outside of Alberta's agricultural zone. Black lines represent the watershed hydrology. As there is no scale for these watersheds, refer to Chapter 2 (Table 2.9) to see percentages of land cover for each watershed.

APPENDIX 2: PRECIPITATION 1995 TO 2006



Figure A2.1. Precipitation accumulations in Alberta's agricultural zone from March 1, 1995 to October 31, 1995 as a percent of the average (1961 to 2006). Black outlines represent the watershed boundaries of the 23 AESA watersheds.



Figure A2.2. Precipitation accumulations in Alberta's agricultural zone from March 1, 1996 to October 31, 1996 as a percent of the average (1961 to 2006). Black outlines represent the watershed boundaries of the 23 AESA watersheds.



Figure A2.3. Precipitation accumulations in Alberta's agricultural zone from March 1, 1997 to October 31, 1997 as a percent of the average (1961 to 2006). Black outlines represent the watershed boundaries of the 23 AESA watersheds.



Figure A2.4. Precipitation accumulations in Alberta's agricultural zone from March 1, 1998 to October 31, 1998 as a percent of the average (1961 to 2006). Black outlines represent the watershed boundaries of the 23 AESA watersheds.



Figure A2.5. Precipitation accumulations in Alberta's agricultural zone from March 1, 1999 to October 31, 1999 as a percent of the average (1961 to 2006). Black outlines represent the watershed boundaries of the 23 AESA watersheds.



Figure A2.6. Precipitation accumulations in Alberta's agricultural zone from March 1, 2000 to October 31, 2000 as a percent of the average (1961 to 2006). Black outlines represent the watershed boundaries of the 23 AESA watersheds.



Figure A2.7. Precipitation accumulations in Alberta's agricultural zone from March 1, 2001 to October 31, 2001 as a percent of the average (1961 to 2006). Black outlines represent the watershed boundaries of the 23 AESA watersheds.



Figure A2.8. Precipitation accumulations in Alberta's agricultural zone from March 1, 2002 to October 31, 2002 as a percent of the average (1961 to 2006). Black outlines represent the watershed boundaries of the 23 AESA watersheds.



Figure A2.9. Precipitation accumulations in Alberta's agricultural zone from March 1, 2003 to October 31, 2003 as a percent of the average (1961 to 2006). Black outlines represent the watershed boundaries of the 23 AESA watersheds.



Figure A2.10. Precipitation accumulations in Alberta's agricultural zone from March 1, 2004 to October 31, 2004 as a percent of the average (1961 to 2006). Black outlines represent the watershed boundaries of the 23 AESA watersheds.



Figure A2.11. Precipitation accumulations in Alberta's agricultural zone from March 1, 2005 to October 31, 2005 as a percent of the average (1961 to 2006). Black outlines represent the watershed boundaries of the 23 AESA watersheds.



Figure A2.12. Precipitation accumulations in Alberta's agricultural zone from March 1, 2006 to October 31, 2006 as a percent of the average (1961 to 2006). Black outlines represent the watershed boundaries of the 23 AESA watersheds.

APPENDIX 3: LABORATORY METHODS

Table A31 AIS code and method for each parameter analyzed									
Parameter	ALS Code	ALS Method							
Total Kjeldahl Nitrogen (TKN)	N-TOTKJ-ED	APHA-Norg C-DigAuto- Colorimetry							
Ammonia (NH ₃ -N)	NH4-ED	APHA 4500-NH3 F-Colorimetry							
Nitrite-N (NO ₂ -N)	NO2-ED	APHA 4500-NO2B-Colorimetry							
Nitrate-N (NO ₃ -N)	NO3-IC-CL								
Nitrite + Nitrate (NO ₂ -N + NO ₂ -N)		APHA 4500-NO3 E-Colorimetry							
Total Phosphorus (TP)	PO4-T-COL-CL	APHA 4500-P B,E-Auto- Colorimetry							
Total Dissolved Phosphorus (TDP)	PO4-TD-COL-CL	APHA 4500-P B,E-Auto- Colorimetry							
Total Suspended Solids (TSS)	SOLIDS-TOTSUS-CL	APHA 2540 D- Gravimetric							
pH	PH-CL	АРНА 4500-Н, 2510							
Conductivity	EC-ED	АРНА 4500-Н, 2510							

APPENDIX 4: METHOD DETECTION LIMITS

All values less than the method detection limit (MDL) were set at one-half the MDL, and parameters with multiple detection limits were set at one-half the highest MDL (Westbrook and McEachern 2002). Occasionally, NO₂⁻-N values exceeded NO₂⁻+NO₃⁻-N values in a sample when the NO₂⁻+NO₃⁻-N data were below the MDL. In the few instances where this occurred, the NO₂⁻+NO₃⁻-N was set to equal the NO₂⁻-N value.

monitoring studies (1995-2006).									
Parameter	1 st MDL	2 nd MDL	3 rd MDL	4 th MDL	Comments				
NFR	*L1 (1995-1999)	L3 (1999-2006)			*All samples under L1 were >3 or <l1. Censored data changed to 1.5.</l1. 				
TP	L0.001 (1995-2006)	*L0.02 (2002, sporadic)			*No samples reported below L0.02. Censored data reported as 0.0005				
TDP	L0.001 (1995-2006)	*L0.02 (2002 sporadic)			*Only 2 QC samples were analyzed with L0.02. Censored data reported as 0.0005.				
TKN	L0.05 (1995-1997; 2000-2006)	*L0.01 (1998-1999)	**L0.2 (2000)		 * 14 QC samples under L0.01. ** Four samples in 2000 under L0.2 changed to 1. Majority of data set analyzed at L0.05 and changed to ½ L0.05 (0.025). 				
NO ₂ ⁻ +NO ₃ ⁻ -N	L0.001 (1996 only)	L0.005 (1997-2000)	L0.006 (2000-2006)	L0.01 (sporadic)					
NH ₃ -N	L0.005 (1999-2006)	*L0.001 (1996-1999)			* Only 4 QC samples under L0.001. Used ½ L0.005 for data range.				

Table A4.1. Changes in the lowest method detection limit (LMDL) for nitrogen and phosphorus forms determined by ALS laboratories during CAESA and AESA surface water monitoring studies (1995-2006).

APPENDIX 5: NUTRIENT COMPLIANCE TO GUIDELINES

Table A5.1. Percent TP compliance to the Protection of Aquatic Life nutrient guideline for each stream by year (1999 to 2006).

Stream	Year	1999	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	Average	
		% Compliance									
Low Agricultur	al Intensity										
Hines	Creek	0	12	0	0	0	23	0	0	4	
Paddle	River	13	35	20	29	8	17	0	0	15	
Prairie Blo	od Coulee	100	100	67	59	75	89	88	56	79	
Rose	Creek	35	48	65	47	40	63	47	67	51	
Willow	Creek	88	96	95	71	100	95	95	95	92	
Moderate Agric	cultural Intensi	ity									
Blindma	an River	0	7	29	20	0	5	0	0	8	
Grande Pra	airie Creek	25	40	8	0	18	14	0	10	14	
Klesku	n Drain	0	7	0	10	13	9	0	0	5	
Meadov	v Creek	0	23	45	48	57	36	27	39	35	
Tomahaw	vk Creek	0	0	0	0	7	0	3	0	1	
Trout	Creek	96	100	82	67	83	96	71	65	82	
High Agricultu	ral Intensity										
Buffalo	Creek	21	0	0	8	13	0	4	0	6	
Haynes C	reek M1	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
Haynes C	reek M6	0	0	0	0	0	no data	0	0	0	
Ray C	Creek	3	4	8	0	21	0	0	0	5	
Renwic	k Creek	0	8	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	
Strawberr	ry Creek	19	40	36	45	27	47	38	10	33	
Stretton	Creek	0	0	no data	no data	no data	0	0	0	0	
Threehil	ls Creek	0	0	8	0	0	0	0	0	1	
Wabash	n Creek	0	11	0	0	0	0	43	0	7	
Irrigation Stream	ms										
Batterse	a Drain	33	78	56	13	15	36	5	10	31	
Crowfoo	ot Creek	7	11	0	0	9	10	0	5	5	
Drain	1 S-6	60	88	93	79	81	64	67	38	71	
New Wes	st Coulee	64	64	36	44	25	16	10	19	35	

Stream	1999	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	Average
	% Compliance								
Low Agricultural Intensity									
Hines Creek	0	18	8	7	0	50	44	17	18
Paddle River	71	81	60	57	62	100	33	74	67
Prairie Blood Coulee	77	67	78	41	38	84	41	0	53
Rose Creek	52	69	65	60	69	84	72	79	69
Willow Creek	100	100	95	100	100	100	95	95	98
Moderate Agricultural Intensi	ity								
Blindman River	29	34	41	33	29	53	22	5	31
Grande Prairie Creek	8	15	0	11	27	21	0	20	13
Kleskun Drain	0	7	0	20	0	18	0	0	6
Meadow Creek	63	23	73	67	86	86	68	65	66
Tomahawk Creek	0	0	14	0	0	0	3	0	2
Trout Creek	100	95	100	90	91	100	90	87	94
High Agricultural Intensity									
Buffalo Creek	7	18	11	8	6	19	8	6	10
Haynes Creek M1	0	5	11	0	0	0	0	0	2
Haynes Creek M6	0	0	0	0	0	no data	0	0	0
Ray Creek	0	8	8	0	21	7	15	20	10
Renwick Creek	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
Strawberry Creek	27	37	27	55	45	76	44	10	40
Stretton Creek	0	9	no data	no data	no data	0	0	0	2
Threehills Creek	0	0	8	0	0	0	0	0	1
Wabash Creek	0	11	0	0	0	0	43	7	8
Irrigation Streams									
Battersea Drain	60	56	69	44	40	52	38	48	51
Crowfoot Creek	60	42	65	44	48	57	45	36	50
Drain S-6	100	94	93	79	44	77	93	86	83
New West Coulee	100	86	71	56	50	56	65	57	68

Table A5.2. Percent TN compliance to the Protection of Aquatic Life nutrient guideline for each stream by year (1999 to 2006).

Table A5.3. Percent NO_2 -N compliance to the Protection of Aquatic Life nutrient guideline for each stream by year (1999 to 2006).

Stream	1999	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	Average
	% Compliance								
Low Agricultural Intensity					•				
Hines Creek	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100
Paddle River	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100
Prairie Blood Coulee	100	100	100	94	100	94	100	94	98
Rose Creek	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100
Willow Creek	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100
Moderate Agricultural Intensi	ity								
Blindman River	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100
Grande Prairie Creek	100	100	100	100	100	92	100	100	99
Kleskun Drain	100	100	100	90	100	100	100	100	99
Meadow Creek	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100
Tomahawk Creek	100	96	93	90	100	100	100	100	97
Trout Creek	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100
High Agricultural Intensity									
Buffalo Creek	100	100	100	100	92	100	96	94	98
Haynes Creek M1	91	91	88	83	90	83	82	78	86
Haynes Creek M6	18	24	100	100	100	no data	90	67	71
Ray Creek	100	100	82	100	93	100	100	87	95
Renwick Creek	100	100	60	83	82	73	95	87	85
Strawberry Creek	96	100	91	100	100	100	100	90	97
Stretton Creek	100	100	no data	no data	no data	60	100	100	92
Threehills Creek	91	92	91	86	86	100	90	89	90
Wabash Creek	100	100	100	29	75	77	87	87	82
Irrigation Streams									
Battersea Drain	87	94	81	88	50	88	81	71	80
Crowfoot Creek	100	78	94	100	78	81	100	86	90
Drain S-6	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100
New West Coulee	100	100	100	88	85	96	100	90	95

Table A5.4. Percent NO₃-N compliance to the Protection of Aquatic Life nutrient guideline for each stream by year (1999 to 2006).

Stream	1999	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	Average
				% Con	pliance				
Low Agricultural Intensity					-				
Hines Creek	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100
Paddle River	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100
Prairie Blood Coulee	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	94	99
Rose Creek	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100
Willow Creek	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100
Moderate Agricultural Intensi	ity								
Blindman River	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100
Grande Prairie Creek	92	89	100	88	100	100	100	100	96
Kleskun Drain	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100
Meadow Creek	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100
Tomahawk Creek	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100
Trout Creek	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100
High Agricultural Intensity									
Buffalo Creek	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100
Haynes Creek M1	96	91	100	67	90	100	94	89	91
Haynes Creek M6	100	100	100	100	100	no data	100	78	97
Ray Creek	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100
Renwick Creek	100	100	100	100	100	91	100	93	98
Strawberry Creek	96	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100
Stretton Creek	100	100	no data	no data	no data	100	100	100	100
Threehills Creek	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100
Wabash Creek	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100
Irrigation Streams									
Battersea Drain	87	76	81	88	80	92	95	67	83
Crowfoot Creek	100	94	100	100	100	100	100	100	99
Drain S-6	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100
New West Coulee	100	100	100	100	95	100	100	100	99

Table A5.5. Percent NH₃-N compliance to the Protection of Aquatic Life nutrient guideline for each stream by year (1999 to 2006).

Stream	1999	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	Average
				% Con	pliance				
Low Agricultural Intensity									
Hines Creek	100	100	100	100	100	95	100	100	99
Paddle River	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100
Prairie Blood Coulee	100	100	100	88	100	100	100	100	99
Rose Creek	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100
Willow Creek	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100
Moderate Agricultural Intensi	ity								
Blindman River	97	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100
Grande Prairie Creek	100	95	100	100	100	100	100	100	99
Kleskun Drain	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100
Meadow Creek	100	85	100	100	100	95	95	96	96
Tomahawk Creek	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100
Trout Creek	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	96	100
High Agricultural Intensity									
Buffalo Creek	100	91	44	75	94	94	96	94	86
Haynes Creek M1	100	100	94	94	89	72	78	94	90
Haynes Creek M6	100	90	56	100	85	no data	100	90	89
Ray Creek	97	96	92	100	100	100	100	100	98
Renwick Creek	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100	100
Strawberry Creek	81	97	100	100	100	100	94	100	97
Stretton Creek	100	100	no data	no data	no data	100	100	100	100
Threehills Creek	94	92	92	100	86	100	100	89	94
Wabash Creek	100	89	100	88	100	92	87	93	94
Irrigation Streams									
Battersea Drain	87	100	88	81	90	68	71	67	82
Crowfoot Creek	100	100	100	94	100	95	95	95	97
Drain S-6	93	100	100	93	94	100	100	100	98
New West Coulee	100	100	100	100	95	84	100	95	97

APPENDIX 6: FWMC SEASONALITY BOXPLOTS



Figure A6.1. Seasonal trends in median monthly (1999-2006) TP (a) FWMCs for streams draining low agricultural intensity watersheds. Medians of box plots with the same letter are not significantly different from one another at the 0.10 level as tested with Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA and Mann-Whitney significance tests on untransformed data.



Figure A6.1. cont. Seasonal trends in median monthly (1999-2006) TDP (b) and TPP (c) FWMCs for streams draining low agricultural intensity watersheds. Medians of box plots with the same letter are not significantly different from one another at the 0.10 level as tested with Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA and Mann-Whitney significance tests on untransformed data.



Figure A6.2. Seasonal trends in median monthly (1999-2006) TN (a) and Org N (b) FWMCs for streams draining low agricultural intensity watersheds. Medians of box plots with the same letter are not significantly different from one another at the 0.10 level as tested with Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA and Mann-Whitney significance tests on untransformed data.



Figure A6.2. cont. Seasonal trends in median monthly (1999-2006) NO_2 - NO_3 -N (c) and NH_3 -N (d) FWMCs for streams draining low agricultural intensity watersheds. Medians of box plots with the same letter are not significantly different from one another at the 0.10 level as tested with Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA and Mann-Whitney significance tests on untransformed data.



Figure A6.3. Seasonal trends in median monthly (1999-2006) TP (a) and TDP (b) FWMCs for streams draining moderate agricultural intensity watersheds. Medians of box plots with the same letter are not significantly different from one another at the 0.10 level as tested with Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA and Mann-Whitney significance tests on untransformed data. Medians of box plots with different letters were significantly different at the p<0.10 level.



Figure A6.3 continued. Seasonal trends in median monthly (1999-2006) TPP (c) FWMCs for streams draining moderate agricultural intensity watersheds. Medians of box plots with the same letter are not significantly different from one another at the 0.10 level as tested with Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA and Mann-Whitney significance tests on untransformed data.



Figure A6.4. Seasonal trends in median monthly (1999-2006) TN (a) and Org N (b) FWMCs for streams draining moderate agricultural intensity watersheds. Medians of box plots with the same letter are not significantly different from one another at the 0.10 level as tested with Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA and Mann-Whitney significance tests on untransformed data.



Figure A6.4 continued. Seasonal trends in median monthly (1999-2006) NO₂-NO₃-N (c) and NH₃-N (d) FWMCs for streams draining moderate agricultural intensity watersheds. Medians of box plots with the same letter are not significantly different from one another at the 0.10 level as tested with Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA and Mann-Whitney significance tests on untransformed data.



Figure A6.5. Seasonal trends in median monthly (1999-2006) TP (a) and TDP (b) FWMCs for streams draining high agricultural intensity watersheds. Medians of box plots with the same letter are not significantly different from one another at the 0.10 level as tested with Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA and Mann-Whitney significance tests on untransformed data. Medians of box plots with different letters were significantly different at the p<0.05 level.



Figure A6.5 continued. Seasonal trends in median monthly (1999-2006) TPP (c) FWMCs for streams draining high agricultural intensity watersheds. Medians of box plots with the same letter are not significantly different from one another at the 0.10 level as tested with Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA and Mann-Whitney significance tests on untransformed data. Medians of box plots with different letters were significantly different at the p<0.05 level.



Figure A6.6. Seasonal trends in median monthly (1999-2006) TN (a) and Org N (b) FWMCs for streams draining high agricultural intensity watersheds. Medians of box plots with different letters were significantly different at the p<0.05 level as tested with Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA and Mann-Whitney significance tests on untransformed data.



Figure A6.6 continued. Seasonal trends in median monthly (1999-2006) NO₂-NO₃-N (c) and NH₃-N (d) FWMCs for streams draining high agricultural intensity watersheds. Medians of box plots with different letters were significantly different at the p<0.05 level as tested with Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA and Mann-Whitney significance tests on untransformed data (* p<0.1).



Figure A6.7. Seasonal trends in median monthly (1999-2006) TP (a) and TDP (b) FWMCs for watersheds draining irrigation return flows. Medians of box plots with the same letter are not significantly different from one another at the 0.10 level as tested with Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA and Mann-Whitney significance tests on untransformed data.



Figure A6.7 continued. Seasonal trends in median monthly (1999-2006) TPP (c) FWMCs for watersheds draining irrigation return flows. Medians of box plots with the same letter are not significantly different from one another at the 0.10 level as tested with Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA and Mann-Whitney significance tests on untransformed data.


Figure A6.8. Seasonal trends in median monthly (1999-2006) TN (a) and Org N (b) FWMCs for watersheds draining irrigation return flows. Medians of box plots with the same letter are not significantly different from one another at the 0.10 level as tested with Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA and Mann-Whitney significance tests on untransformed data. Medians of box plots with different letters were significantly different at the p<0.05 level.



Figure A6.8 continued. Seasonal trends in median monthly (1999-2006) NO₂-NO₃-N (c) and NH₃-N (d) FWMCs for watersheds draining irrigation return flows. Medians of box plots with the same letter are not significantly different from one another at the 0.10 level as tested with Kruskal-Wallis One-Way ANOVA and Mann-Whitney significance tests on untransformed data. Medians of box plots with different letters were significantly different at the p<0.05 level (* p<0.10).

APPENDIX 7: MASS TRANSPORT AND TEMPORAL PATTERNS

Mass Transport of Phosphorus and Nitrogen

It should be noted that this section describes temporal patterns and does not include direct comparisons of nutrient loads among the watersheds of different sizes as a standardization factor for discharge and/or watersheds area is needed. These comparisons are made in the flow-weighted mean concentration (FWMC) section where instream concentrations were standardized by flow (units), and export coefficient section where the median annual loads were divided by effective drainage areas.

Temporal patterns by ecoregion. Annual loads are presented in this section for each individual stream and grouped by ecoregion in a north to south fashion for ease of discussion. Within an ecoregion the frequency and timing of flood peaks and low flow events are often similar, as the region is influenced by the same weather patterns. Discussions within an ecoregion generally work from northern watersheds to southern watersheds.

Boreal Ecoregion

Hines Creek- From 1999 through 2006 there was no apparent increase in phosphorus and nitrogen loads from Hines Creek (Figure A7.1). Among years annual stream volumes varied considerably, with low flow in 1999 (0.2 hm³) and peak low in 2003 (22.6 hm³). Similarly, the lowest and highest annual loads (in kg) for all nutrient parameters (Total N, organic N, NH₃-N, TP, TDP) except NO₂+NO₃-N and TPP were observed in 1999 and 2003, respectively (Table A7.1). NO₂+NO₃-N and TPP loads were also lowest in 1999, but peaked in 2001.



Figure A7.1. Annual loads (kg yr⁻¹) of phosphorus (a) and nitrogen (b) from 1999 through 2006 in Hines Creek, a low agricultural intensity watershed in the Boreal ecoregion.

now volumes in times creek, 1999 to 2000.							
	Median	Minimum	Year	Maximum	Year		
	(kg yr^{-1})	(kg yr^{-1})		(kg yr^{-1})			
Total N	17725	221		30415			
Organic N	17000	217		28609	2003		
NH ₃ -N	700	4		1532			
NO ₂ +NO ₃ -N	128	1	1999	3400	2001		
Total P	2129	16		3550	2003		
TPP	967	8		1983	2001		
TDP	956	8		2084	2003		
Annual stream volume (hm ³)	14.1	0.2	1999	22.6	2003		

Table A7.1. Median, minimum, maximum load for nutrient parameters and annual
flow volumes in Hines Creek, 1999 to 2006.

Grande Prairie Creek- Total P and TN loads in Grande Prairie Creek appeared to increase from 1999 through 2006 although a substantial drop in nutrient loads was observed in 2006 (Figure A7.2). It appeared that TP and TN loads in Grande Prairie Creek were influenced by stream flow, sampling regime, and change in agricultural intensity. Nitrogen and P loading were influenced by stream flow as low annual flow volumes coincided with low N and P load in 2000 and 2006 and higher annual stream flow volume in 2002 and 2004 coincided with higher loading (Table A7.2). Median annual loads were lower in 2000 and 2001, but these loads also incorporated samples collected in September and October. Increased sampling in the fall may have resulted in the lower P loads especially considering sampling in other years was primarily between April and June (See Chapter 3: Results and Discussion, Export Coefficient Seasonality). The TP load in 2004 was interesting in that stream flow volumes in 2004 were not as high as previous years; however, the load was the highest observed (Table A7.2). High TN and TP loading in 2004 may have been related to a change in agricultural intensity as agricultural intensity in the Grande Prairie watershed dropped from being of a moderate rank in 1996 to a low rank in 2001 then back up to a moderate rank in 2006.



Figure A7.2. Annual loads (kg yr⁻¹) of phosphorus (a) and nitrogen (b) from 1999 to 2006 in Grande Prairie Creek. Grande Prairie Creek is a moderate agricultural intensity watershed that lies in the boreal ecoregion.

now volumes in Grande Traine Creek, 1999 to 2000.								
	Median	Minimum	Year	Maximum	Year			
	(kg yr^{-1})	(kg yr^{-1})		(kg yr^{-1})				
Total N	15543	3337	2000	39505	2004			
Organic N	14055	2717	2000	28347				
NH ₃ -N	405	98		1312	2005			
NO ₂ +NO ₃ -N	1065	461	2001	10269				
Total P	1391	187		4141	2004			
TPP	719	87	2000	3448				
TDP	601	100		3154	2005			
Annual stream volume (hm ³)	7.4	1.5	2000	12.1	2005			

Table A7.2. Median, minimum, maximum load for nutrient parameters and annual	1
flow volumes in Grande Prairie Creek, 1999 to 2006.	

Kleskun Drain- There was no temporal TP or TN loading pattern observed in the Kleskun Main Drain watershed from 1999 through 2006 (Figure A7.3). The annual flow volumes in Kleskun Main Drain were also variable from 1999 through 2006, however, years of low N and P loading were correlated to years of low annual flow volumes in 2000 (0 hm³) and 2006 (0.1 hm³). Similarly, 2002 and 2003 were peak years in nitrogen loading and annual flow volume at 2.5 hm³ and 2.4 hm³ respectively (Table A7.3). The lack of a trend in Kleskun Main Drain is interesting as all agricultural intensity factors decreased from 1996 through 2001 and 2006 according to Census of Agriculture data. On the other hand, the agricultural intensity ranking based on Census of Agriculture data may not be accurate as the polygon used to determine the agricultural production in the watershed is not the same area as the actual watershed (Chapter 2, Table 2.1). To alleviate this concern, ground-truthing of the watershed and/or gaining a better understanding of the agricultural practices in the Kleskun Drain watershed would assist in the explanation of the observed loading. Total P loads were strongly correlated with TDP (0.93, p<0.05) and TPP (1.00, p<0.05) loads. Phosphorus loading did not appear to be influenced by peaks in stream flow; however, annual flow volumes were positively correlated with TP (0.98, p<0.05), TDP (0.91, p<0.05), and TPP (0.98, p<0.05).



Figure A7.3. Annual loads (kg yr⁻¹) of phosphorus (a) and nitrogen (b) from 1999 to 2006 in Kleskun Main Drain. Kleskun Main Drain is a moderate agricultural intensity watershed that lies in the boreal ecoregion.

	Median (kg yr ⁻¹)	Minimum (kg yr ⁻¹)	Year	Maximum (kg yr ⁻¹)	Year
Total N	3750	1145	2000	9960	2002
Organic N	3052	92	2000	6937	
NH ₃ -N	130	4		1269	2003
NO ₂ +NO ₃ -N	220	6	2006	2741	
Total P	515	6		905	2002
TPP	132	1	2000	379	
TDP	384	5		620	2003
Annual stream volume (hm ³)	1.7	0	2000	2.5	2002

Table A7.3. Median,	minimum, m	aximum l	oad for 1	nutrient	parameters	and	annual
flow volumes in Kles	kun Main Dra	ain. 1999	to 2006.				

Wabash Creek- Wabash Creek appeared to have a slight increasing trend in TP and TN from 1999 through 2006 (Figure A7.4) Total P and TN loads where highest with high annual flow volumes and lowest with low annual flow volumes (Table A7.4). With the correlation of nutrient loads to flow, the increasing pattern from 1999 to 2006 may be attributed to higher flows recorded in later monitoring years. Total P loads were strongly, positively correlated with both TDP (0.98, p<0.05) and TPP (1.00, p<0.05). Moreover, annual stream volume was also highly correlated with P loads at 0.98 for TP, TDP, and TPP (p<0.05). This was especially the case in 2003 and 2005 where extremely high TP loads were corresponding to the two highest annual flow volumes.





Figure A7.4. Annual loads (kg yr⁻¹) of phosphorus (a) and nitrogen (b) from 1999 to 2006 in Wabash Creek. Wabash Creek is a high agricultural intensity watershed that lies in the boreal ecoregion.

Table A7.4. Median, minimum, maximum load for nutrient parameters and annualflow volumes in Wabash Creek, 1999 to 2006.							
	Median (kg yr ⁻¹)	Minimum (kg yr ⁻¹)	Year	Maximum (kg yr ⁻¹)	Year		
Total N	8814	104	2001	34441	2005		
Organic N	5002	87	2001	18864	2005		
NH ₃ -N	955	12	2001	11098	2005		
NO ₂ +NO ₃ -N	2375	5	2001	6282	2003		
Total P	1159	20	1999	7282	2005		
TPP	329	15	1999	1654	2005		
TDP	514	5	1999	5627	2005		
Annual stream volume (hm ³)	1.5	0.1	1999	7.7	2005		
			and				
			2001				

Paddle River- Total phosphorus and TN loads appear to decrease from 1995 through 2006 in Paddle River (Figure A7.5), however this decrease may be attributed to the high loads observed in 1997 (Table A7.5) and declining stream flow through the monitoring period (Table A7.23). Total stream volume in 1997 was high at 46.0 hm³ and likely contributed to the high loading observed. Relating the loads measured to stream flow we find annual flow volume in 1996 was similar to that in 1997, however the loading data in 1996 were clearly lower than 1997 (Table A7.5). Looking at sampling data it was apparent that although sampling was flow biased, there were only 6 samples taken in 1996 compared to 26 samples in 1997. Due to being undersampled, 1996 data may not be representative of the actual loads that occurred. Assuming that the 1996 loads were higher than reported would support the apparent decrease in loading over time (Figure A7.5). A strong positive correlation existed between both stream flow and TP (0.86, p<0.05) and TPP (0.91, p<0.05) loads. Total dissolved P (0.88, p<0.05) and TPP (0.95, p<0.05) were both positively correlated with TP loading.





Figure A7.5. Annual loads (kg yr⁻¹) of phosphorus (a) and nitrogen (b) from 1995 to 2006 in Paddle River. Paddle River is a low agricultural intensity watershed that lies in the boreal ecoregion.

Table A7.5. Median, minimum, maximum load for nutrient parameters and annual								
flow volumes in Paddle River, 1995 to 2006.								
	Median	Minimum	Year	Maximum	Year			
	(kg yr^{-1})	(kg yr^{-1})		(kg yr^{-1})				
Total N	24410	4717	2004	80507				
Organic N	22455	4317	2006	72328				
NH ₃ -N	901	80	2004	4943	1007			
NO ₂ +NO ₃ -N	775	115	2000	3225	1997			
Total P	4486	502		22454				
TPP	2068	200	2004	19229				
TDP	987	302		3224				
Annual stream volume (hm ³)	16.4	4.4	2006	45.5	1997			

Tomahawk Creek- Tomahawk Creek TP and TN loading data were variable but had a slight decreasing trend from 1995 through 2006 (Figure A7.6). This apparent decrease began with high annual flow volumes and nutrient loading in 1996 and 1997 then coincided with a decrease in annual flow volume (Table A7.6, Table A7.23). In addition to decreasing annual flow volumes, the apparent trend in decreasing P loads over the monitoring period may also be related to the decrease in agricultural intensity from a moderate rank to a low rank from 1996 to 2006 according to the Census of Agriculture (Chapter 2, Table 2.11). Spearman's rank correlations showed a strong correlation between TP and TPP (0.93, p<0.05) loads. Moreover, annual stream volume was correlated with TP (0.93, p<0.05) and TPP (0.83, p<0.05) loads.



Figure A7.6. Annual loads (kg yr⁻¹) of phosphorus (a) and nitrogen (b) from 1995 to 2006 in Tomahawk Creek. Tomahawk Creek is a moderate agricultural intensity watershed that lies in the boreal ecoregion.

	Median (kg yr ⁻¹)	Minimum (kg yr ⁻¹)	Year	Maximum (kg yr ⁻¹)	Year
Total N	10704	708		39903	
Organic N	8662	584		31694	
NH ₃ -N	685	76	2006	4629	1006
NO ₂ +NO ₃ -N	1210	49	2000	3546	1990
Total P	1188	67		7550	
TPP	1148	34		5884	1997
TDP	393	33		1753	1996
Annual stream volume (hm ³)	3.5	0.3	2006	12.8	1997

Table A7.6. Median, minimum,	, maximum le	oad for	nutrient	parameters	and a	nnual
flow volumes in Tomahawk Cre	eek. 1995 to 2	2006.		-		

Strawberry Creek- There were no patterns in TP and TN loading in Strawberry Creek from 1995 to 2006 (Figure A7.7). Flows were correlated with loading as low flow volume coincided with the lowest annual loading in 2004, while high annual flow volumes coincided with the highest annual flow volumes in 1999 and 2005 (Table A7.7). A Spearman's rank correlation between annual stream volume and TP and TPP loads confirmed the observations that higher P loads occur with higher annual stream volumes as TP and TPP positively correlated at 0.91 (p<0.05). Further, TP loads were positively correlated with both TDP and TPP although a stronger correlation was observed for TP with TPP (1.00, p<0.05) than with TP and TDP (0.76, p<0.05).





Figure A7.7. Annual loads (kg yr⁻¹) of phosphorus (a) and nitrogen (b) from 1995 to 2006 in Strawberry Creek. Strawberry Creek is a high agricultural intensity watershed that lies in the boreal ecoregion.

Table A7.7. Median, minimum, maximum load for nutrient parameters and							
annual flow volumes in Strawberry Creek, 1995 to 2006.							
	Median	Minimum	Year	Maximum	Year		
	(kg yr^{-1})	(kg yr^{-1})		(kg yr^{-1})			
Total N	40420	6248		173376	1999		
Organic N	32929	4707		145674	2000		
NH ₃ -N	3731	396	2004	24051	2005		
NO ₂ +NO ₃ -N	6484	1132	2004	37637			
Total P	9976	994		55229	1999		
TPP	13168	684		49604			
TDP	2200	311		8548	2005		
Annual stream volume (hm ³)	12.3	5.3	2004	54.3	2000		

Blindman River- Between 1995 and 2006 there was no trend in TP or TN loading in the Blindman River (Figure A7.8). Flow volumes were low in 1995, 2002, 2004 and 2006 which corresponded with low TP and TN loading (Table A7.8). Given the association between annual flow volumes and nitrogen loading, we were uncertain why there was low NH₃-N and NO₂+NO₃-N loading in 2001 (Table A7.8). Total P loads were strongly, positively correlated with both TDP and TPP (0.93, p<0.05).



Figure A7.8. Annual loads (kg yr⁻¹) of phosphorus (a) and nitrogen (b) from 1995 to 2006 in Blindman River. Blindman River is a moderate agricultural intensity watershed that lies in the boreal ecoregion.

	Median (kg yr ⁻¹)	Minimum (kg yr ⁻¹)	Year	Maximum (kg yr ⁻¹)	Year
Total N	49846	15105	2004	150969	
Organic N	39165	12492		122365	
NH ₃ -N	5073	1282	2001	19015	1006
NO ₂ +NO ₃ -N	3376	672		9562	1990
Total P	7541	1703		29324	
TPP	3810	574	2004	16450	
TDP	5193	1130		12874	
Annual stream volume (hm ³)	26.2	11.6	1995	63.1	1996
			and		
			2004		

Table A7.8. Median, minimum, maximum load nutrient parameters and annual flow volumes in Blindman River, 1995 to 2006.

Rose Creek- Overall there appeared to be no trend in annual TP and TN loading in Rose Creek from 1995 through 2006 (Figure A7.9). Maxima and minima loading of N and P correlated with annual stream flow volumes (Table A7.9). Annual N and P loading appeared to increase from 1996 to 1999 but between 2000 and 2006 remained relatively constant at levels that were similar to loading prior to 1998. Phosphorus fractions were positively correlated with annual stream volume including TP (0.83, p<0.05), TDP (0.78, p<0.05), and TPP (0.77, p<0.05).





Figure A7.9. Annual loads (kg yr⁻¹) of phosphorus (a) and nitrogen (b) from 1995 to 2006 in Rose Creek. Rose Creek is a low agricultural intensity watershed that lies in the boreal ecoregion.

volumes in Rose Creek, 1995 to 2006.								
	Median	Median Minimum Year		Maximum	Year			
	(kg yr^{-1})	(kg yr^{-1})		(kg yr^{-1})				
Total N	70860	26160	2006	198646	1999			
Organic N	66960	25029	2000	193809				
NH ₃ -N	2973	667		4844	2005			
NO ₂ +NO ₃ -N	968	298	2001	2142	1996			
Total P	12820	1797	2006	70576	1999			
TPP	11449	1016		68516				
TDP	1742	660	2001	4035	2005			
Annual stream volume (hm ³)	46.4	28.0	2001	85.4	1999			

Table A7.9. Median, minimum, maximum load nutrient parameters and annual flow volumes in Rose Creek, 1995 to 2006.

Parkland Ecoregion

Buffalo Creek-Buffalo Creek TP and TN loading had no temporal patterns from 1995 through 2006 (Figure A7.10). There appeared to be an increase in TP and TN loading from 2002 through 2006 which may be attributed to an increase in flows over the same time period (Table A7.23). Maxima TP and TN values occurred in 1997 with the highest annual flow volume, while minima loading occurred in different years, both corresponding to low annual flow volumes (Table A7.10). Total phosphorus loads were positively correlated with TDP (0.95, p<0.05) and TPP

(0.79, p<0.05) loads. Further, P loading was positively correlated with annual stream volume including TP (0.95, p<0.05) and TDP (0.95, p<0.05).



Figure A7.10. Annual loads (kg yr⁻¹) of phosphorus (a) and nitrogen (b) from 1995 to 2006 in Buffalo Creek. Buffalo Creek is a high agricultural intensity watershed that lies in the parkland ecoregion.

flow volumes in Buffalo Creek, 1995 to 2006.								
	Median	Minimum	Year	Maximum	Year			
	(kg yr^{-1})	(kg yr^{-1})		(kg yr^{-1})				
Total N	7151	4089	2002	23002	1997			
Organic N	5867	3107		22800				
NH ₃ -N	868	88	1999	1617	2006			
NO ₂ +NO ₃ -N	289	48		2149				
Total P	630	282	2001	2104	1997			
TPP	149	95		851				
TDP	404	158	2002	1263	2006			
Annual stream volume (hm ³)	3.6	1.7	2002	11.0	1997			

Table A7.10. Median, minimum, maximum load nutrient parameters and annual flow volumes in Buffalo Creek, 1995 to 2006.

Stretton Creek- Stretton Creek was monitored from 1995 through 2006; however, there were no flows from 2000 through 2003, making it difficult to observe any loading patterns over the monitoring period (Figure A7.11). Few years had similar maxima in P and N parameters possibly due multiple years which had low flows in Stretton Creek (Table A7.11; Table A7.23). Spearman rank correlations showed a strong, positive correlation between TP and TDP (1.00, p=0.05). Annual stream volume was also positively correlated with TP (1.00, p=0.05) and TDP (1.00, p=0.05).





Figure A7.11. Annual loads (kg yr⁻¹) of phosphorus (a) and nitrogen (b) from 1995 to 2006 in Stretton Creek. Stretton Creek is a high agricultural intensity watershed that lies in the parkland ecoregion.

Table A7.11. Median, minimum, maximum load nutrient parameters and annual								
flow volumes in Stretton Creek, 1995 to 2006.								
	Median	Maximum	Year					
	(kg yr^{-1})	(kg yr^{-1})		(kg yr^{-1})				
Total N	3810	909	1998	7494	2006			
Organic N	2496	283		4977	2000			
NH ₃ -N	196	88	1999	545	1997			
NO ₂ +NO ₃ -N	1472	381	2005	1978	2006			
Total P	501	110	1998	1010				
TPP	80	15	2004	373	1997			
TDP	426	85	1998	837	2006			
Annual stream volume (hm ³)	1.2	0.2	1998	2.3	2006			

Haynes Creek M6- There were no patterns in TP and TN loading in Haynes Creek M6 from 1995 to 2006 (Figure A7.12). The load data, however, had a discrepancy in number of samples taken annually. For instance, 1995, 1998, 2001, and 2005 all had low annual flow volumes (0.3, 0.1, 0.1, and 0 hm³, respectively), but the number of samples taken changed from 35, 23, 9 and 0, respectively. This may have influenced the loading data reported. In 2004 there was no flow, hence missing data in Figure A7.12. Even with the variable sampling, annual nutrient loading appeared to be influenced by annual stream volume where lowest loads occurred in years with lower flow, and highest loads occurred in years with higher flow (Table A7.23). This was reflected in the Spearman's rank correlations between annual stream volume and TP, TDP, and

TPP loads which were all strongly, positively correlated at 0.96 (p<0.05). TP loads were strongly correlated with both TDP and TPP, both at 1.00 (p<0.05).



Figure A7.12. Annual loads (kg yr⁻¹) of phosphorus (a) and nitrogen (b) from 1995 to 2006 in Haynes Creek M6. Haynes Creek M6 is a high agricultural intensity watershed that lies in the parkland ecoregion.

	Median	Minimum	Year	Maximum	Year
	(kg yr^{-1})	(kg yr^{-1})		(kg yr^{-1})	
Total N	7648	136		23093	1006
Organic N	4583	128		13812	1990
NH ₃ -N	819	7	2001	3985	
NO ₂ +NO ₃ -N	1324	1	2001	5489	2006
Total P	1527	20		4252	
TPP	177	5		1006	1996
TDP	1464	15		3246	
Annual stream volume (hm ³)	1.2	0.1	1998	5.6	1996
			and		
			2001		

Table A7.12. Median, minimum, maximum load nutrient parameters and annual flow volumes in Havnes Creek M6, 1995 to 2006.

Threehills Creek- Threehills Creek had no observable pattern in TP and TN loading from 1995 through 2006 (Figure A7.13). Maxima and minima nutrient loads were related to annual flow volumes with high loads occurring with high annual flow volumes, and vice versa (Table A7.13; Table A7.23). Spearman rank correlations showed that annual stream volume was highly correlated with TP (0.82, p<0.05), TDP (0.85, p<0.05) and TPP (0.85, p<0.05). Total P loads were strongly, positively correlated with both TDP (0.98, p<0.05) and TPP (0.90, p<0.05) loads.





Figure A7.13. Annual loads (kg yr⁻¹) of phosphorus (a) and nitrogen (b) from 1995 to 2006 in Threehills Creek. Threehills Creek is a high agricultural intensity watershed that lies in the parkland ecoregion.

Table A7.13. Median, minimum, maximum load for nutrient parameters and								
annual flow volumes in Threehills Creek, 1995 to 2006.								
	Median Minimum Year Maximum Yea							
	(kg yr^{-1})	(kg yr^{-1})		(kg yr^{-1})				
Total N	10719	1058	1998	28427	2006			
Organic N	7120	917	2001	16516				
NH ₃ -N	1522	31		4558	1997			
NO ₂ +NO ₃ -N	1707	3	1998	9583	2006			
Total P	1968	149		5188	1997			
TPP	449	34	2001	1207	1995			
TDP 2374 97 1998 4428 199								
Annual stream volume (hm ³)	3.0	0.4	2001	8.3	1997			

Ray Creek- Ray Creek did not have any observable patterns in TP and TN loading from 1995 to 2006 (Figure A7.14). Ranges in TP and TN loading were related to flow where years with high annual flow volumes were also years of high loading (Table A7.14; Table A7.23). Total P loads were highly correlated with TDP (1.00, p<0.05) and TPP (0.98, p<0.05) loads. This was also reflected in the Spearman rank correlations where annual stream volume was strongly, positively correlated with TP (1.00, p<0.05), TDP (1.00, p<0.05), and TPP (0.98, p<0.05).



Figure A7.14. Annual loads (kg yr⁻¹) of phosphorus (a) and nitrogen (b) from 1995 to 2006 in Ray Creek. Ray Creek is a high agricultural intensity watershed that lies in the parkland ecoregion.

	Median (kg yr ⁻¹)	Minimum (kg yr ⁻¹)	Year	Maximum (kg yr ⁻¹)	Year
Total N	2165	328	2001	9543	
Organic N	1788	294		5585	2006
NH ₃ -N	64	10	1998	656	
NO ₂ +NO ₃ -N	240	2		3280	
Total P	318	32	2001	1116	2005
TPP	51	5		347	2006
TDP	370	27		872	2005
Annual stream volume (hm ³)	1.4	0.2	2001	2.4	2005
			and		
			2002		

Table A7.14. Median, minimum, maximum load for nutrient parameters and annual flow volumes in Ray Creek, 1995 to 2006.

Renwick Creek- There was no temporal pattern in TP or TN loading observed in Renwick Creek from 1995 to 2006 (Figure A7.15). The loads observed were reflective of the annual flow volumes measured (Table A7.15). This is also supported by the strong, positive correlation between annual flow volume and TP (0.98, p<0.05), TDP (0.9, p<0.053), and TPP (0.92, p<0.05) loads.





Figure A7.15. Annual loads (kg yr⁻¹) of phosphorus (a) and nitrogen (b) from 1995 to 2006 in Renwick Creek. Renwick Creek is a high agricultural intensity watershed that lies in the parkland ecoregion.

Table A7.15. Median, minimum, maximum load for nutrient parameters and								
annual flow volumes in Renwick Creek, 1995 to 2006.								
	Median (kg yr ⁻¹)	Minimum (kg yr ⁻¹)	Year	Maximum (kg yr ⁻¹)	Year			
Total N	2560	78	2002	9824	1997			
Organic N	1909	66	2002	5933	1997			
NH ₃ -N	129	4	2002	900	1997			
NO ₂ +NO ₃ -N	374	2	1998	2974	1997			
Total P	600	16	2002	1731	1997			
TPP	58	1	2002	327	1997			
TDP	503	15	2002	1404	1997			
Annual stream volume (hm ³)	0.7	0.0	2001	3.6	1997			
			and					
			2002					

Grassland Ecoregion

Trout Creek- Between 1995 and 2006 there was no observable pattern in TP and TN loading for Trout Creek (Figure A7.16). The majority of loads had maxima in 1997 and minima in 2000 (Table A7.16). Comparing the loading data to annual flow volumes it is apparent that although the loading was highest in 1997, the annual flow volume in 1995 was 2 times as high, and flow volume in 2005 was 3 times as high (Table A7.23). Looking at the sampling regime, it was found that 1995 and 1996 were under-sampled, missing the peak flow time in both years. This could

create the appearance of high loading in 1997. Even with the under-sampling, the general trend remains with higher load correlating to higher annual stream flow volumes. Spearman's Rank correlations between annual stream volume and TP, TDP, and TPP loads were all strongly correlated at 0.98 (p<0.05), supporting higher loading during years with more stream flow.



Figure A7.16. Annual loads (kg yr⁻¹) of phosphorus (a) and nitrogen (b) from 1995 to 2006 in Trout Creek. Trout Creek is a moderate agricultural intensity watershed that lies in the grassland ecoregion.

	Median	Maximum	Year		
	(kg yr^{-1})	(kg yr^{-1})		(kg yr^{-1})	
Total N	21055	826	2000	137917	1997
Organic N	18879	732	2000	131075	1997
NH ₃ -N	398	23	2000	3463	1997
NO ₂ +NO ₃ -N	1749	48	2001	4979	2005
Total P	3838	36	2000	57705	1997
TPP	2901	20	2000	56800	1997
TDP	151	16	2000	904	1997
Annual stream volume (hm ³)	22.1	1.8	2000	74.0	2005

Table A7.16. Median, minimum, maximum load for nutrient parameters and annual flow volumes in Trout Creek, 1995 to 2006.

Meadow Creek- When initially assessing TP and TN loading in Meadow Creek from 1995 through 2006 there appeared to be a slight declining trend (Figure A7.17), this declining trend however was created by the peak in N and P loading in 1997. Comparing the loading data to flow volumes it became apparent that the flow volumes in 1997 were lower than those of 1995 and 1996. Similar to Meadow Creek, it appeared that although flow volumes were higher in 1995 and 1996, there were fewer samples taken during these years and the loading data were undersampled. Any temporal trend was thus difficult to assess. Flow volumes were highest in 2005 at 11 hm³ and lowest in 2000 and 2001 at 0.4 hm³ (Table A7.23). The low annual flow volumes in 2005, nitrogen loads were not high (Table A7.17). Besides in 1997, loading also was high in 1996, 2002, 2005, and 2006. The apparent relationship between high loading and high annual flow volume was supported by Spearman's rank correlations where annual stream volume was positively correlated with TP, TDP, and TPP at 0.98, 0.76, and 1.00, respectively (all p<0.05).





Figure A7.17. Annual loads (kg yr⁻¹) of phosphorus (a) and nitrogen (b) from 1995 to 2006 in Meadow Creek. Meadow Creek is a moderate agricultural intensity watershed that lies in the grassland ecoregion.

Table A7.17. Median, minimum, maximum load for nutrient parameters and annual								
flow volumes in Meadow Creek, 1995 to 2006.								
	Median	Median Minimum Year Maximu						
	(kg yr^{-1})	(kg yr^{-1})		(kg yr^{-1})				
Total N	6020	458	2001	28125				
Organic N	5340	418	2001	26212				
NH ₃ -N	145	19		976	1007			
NO ₂ +NO ₃ -N	369	10	2004	1812	1997			
Total P	943	46	2001	9929				
TPP	544	16	2000	9767				
TDP	59	8	2001	161				
Annual stream volume (hm ³)	4.0	0.4	2000	10.8	2005			
			and					
			2001					

Prairie Blood Coulee- Overall P loading in Prairie Blood Coulee appeared high in 2002, 2003, 2005, and 2006, creating an observable increasing trend in TP and TN loading from 1995 to 2006 (Figure A7.18). However, stream flow was also highest in 2002, 2003, 2005, and 2006 compared to previous years (Table A7.23). Flows in June 2005 were especially high in Prairie Blood Coulee at Lethbridge, which was said to have had only a 1 % chance of occurring in any given year, based on historical data (Alberta Environment 2005). Higher P loading occurred in years

when annual flow volume and annual stream volume was strongly and positively correlated with TP (0.93, p<0.05), TDP (0.91, p<0.05), and TPP (0.98, p<0.05) loading. In contrast, annual flow volumes were measured as low as 0.1 hm^3 which occurred in 1999. These ranges in annual flow volumes were reflected in the ranges of the annual N loading (Table A7.18). The TP loads measured in Prairie Blood Coulee were equally positively correlated with TDP and TPP loads (0.98, p<0.05). Despite the discussion above, there are uncertainties surrounding Prairie Blood Coulee temporal trends. Firstly, it is ambiguous whether the higher N and P loading in the latter years of sampling were solely the result of increased stream flow or was also influenced by an increase in agricultural intensity in the watershed. The agricultural intensity classification data from the 2001 and 2006 Census of Agriculture shows an increase in agricultural intensity; however, the polygon used in 2006 is much larger than the polygon used in 2001. Secondly, the polygons used in 2001 and 2006 were of a larger size than the actual Prairie Blood Coulee watershed boundary used in the AESA project. Thirdly, when reviewing aerial photos of the Prairie Blood Coulee watershed, there appeared to be pivot circles, indicating irrigation activity.





Year

Figure A7.18. Annual loads (kg yr⁻¹) of phosphorus (a) and nitrogen (b) from 1995 to 2006 in Prairie Blood Coulee. Prairie Blood Coulee is a low agricultural intensity watershed that lies in the grassland ecoregion.

Table A7.18. Median, minimum, maximum load nutrient parameters and annual								
flow volumes in Prairie Blood Coulee, 1995 to 2006.								
	Median	Median Minimum Year Maxim						
	(kg yr^{-1})	(kg yr^{-1})		(kg yr^{-1})				
Total N	4443	101	1000	28034	2006			
Organic N	3236	97	1777	16256	2000			
NH ₃ -N	90	3		703				
NO ₂ +NO ₃ -N	1065	461	2001	10269	2004			
Total P	280	2	1999	2118				
TPP	53	1	1999	732				
			and		2005			
			2000					
TDP	29	1	1999	1386				
Annual stream volume (hm ³)	2.8	0.1	1999	10.1	2005			

Continental Divide Ecoregion

Willow Creek- From 1999 through 2006 there appeared to be an increasing trend in TP and TN loads in Willow Creek (Figure A7.19). This increase was more apparent when loads from 2005 were removed. Willow Creek had an extremely high flow volume in June 2005 due to a large amount of rain intensifying snowmelt in the headwaters, the same event shown in Prairie Blood Coulee in 2005. Alberta Environment (2005) estimated flooding levels during June 2005 in

Willow Creek at Claresholm, Alberta to only have a 1 % chance of occurring in any given year. Other than 2005, loading in Willow Creek appeared to be correlated to stream flow (Table A7.19). This was found to be true for P where annual stream volume was strongly, positively correlated with TP (0.83, p<0.05), TDP (0.91, p<0.05), and TPP (0.83, p<0.05) loads. TP loads were also highly correlated with TDP (0.98, p<0.05) and TPP (1.00, p<0.05) loads.



Figure A7.19. Annual loads (kg yr⁻¹) of phosphorus (a) and nitrogen (b) from 1995 to 2006 in Willow Creek. Willow Creek is a low agricultural intensity watershed and is the only AESA watershed that lies in the continental divide ecoregion.

now volumes in winow creek, 1999 to 2000.							
	Median	Minimum	Year	Maximum	Year		
	(kg yr^{-1})	(kg yr^{-1})		(kg yr^{-1})			
Total N	2686	498	2000	79955			
Organic N	2433	358		77737			
NH ₃ -N	178	12	2001	11098	2005		
NO ₂ +NO ₃ -N	64	95		676	2003		
Total P	415	43	2000	54191			
TPP	375	31		53743			
TDP	40	11		448			
Annual stream volume (hm ³)	9.9	4.1	2000	41.4	2005		

Table A7.19. Median	, minimum,	maximum lo	ad for nutrient	parameters	and annual
flow volumes in Wille	ow Creek. 1	999 to 2006.			

Irrigated Grassland Ecoregion

Crowfoot Creek- The TP and TN loading in Crowfoot Creek from 1995 through 2006 were too variable for a temporal pattern to be observed (Figure A7.20). Generally, peak loads occurred with the highest annual flow volumes and low loads occurred with the lowest annual flow volumes (Table A7.20 and A7.23). This was supported by Spearman's rank correlations which showed a positive correlation between annual stream volume and TP (0.92, p<0.05), TDP (0.90, p<0.05), and TPP (0.75, p<0.05).





Year

Figure A7.20. Annual loads (kg yr⁻¹) of phosphorus (a) and nitrogen (b) from 1995 to 2006 in Crowfoot Creek. Crowfoot Creek is a high but irrigated agricultural intensity watershed that lies in the grassland ecoregion.

Table A7.20. Median, minimum, maximum load for nutrient parameters and					
annual flow volumes in Crowfoot Creek, 1995 to 2006.					
	Median	Minimum	Year	Maximum	Year
	(kg yr^{-1})	(kg yr^{-1})		(kg yr^{-1})	
Total N	58877	14210	2001	208679	1997
Organic N	42067	12596		125958	
NH ₃ -N	3980	560	1995	15900	2004
NO ₂ +NO ₃ -N	12779	383		62352	1997
Total P	3909	2417	2001	36356	1996
TPP	4050	958	2000	28830	
TDP	4665	1142	2001	14388	1997
Annual stream volume (hm ³)	33.6	19.1	2001	70.9	1997

New West Coulee- New West Coulee was monitored from 1999 through 2006 and there was no observable trend in TP and TN loading over this time (Figure A7.21). Annual stream flow volumes were steady from 1999 to 2006 with one peak in 2000 (Table A7.21 and A7.23). Generally, nutrient loading peaked in 2003 when flow volumes were high (Table A7.23). With the variability in loading and annual flow volumes, Spearman's rank correlations did not show any correlation between P loading and annual stream volume.



Figure A7.21. Annual loads (kg yr⁻¹) of phosphorus (a) and nitrogen (b) from 1995 to 2006 in New West Coulee. New West Coulee is a high but irrigated agricultural intensity watershed that lies in the grassland ecoregion.
	West Court	20, 1777 10 20			
	Median	Minimum	Year	Maximum	Year
	(kg yr^{-1})	(kg yr^{-1})		(kg yr^{-1})	
Total N	15136	8929		30557	2003
Organic N	12738	8434	2004	18879	2002
NH ₃ -N	537	201		1542	
NO ₂ +NO ₃ -N	1297	289		12316	2003
Total P	2048	1370	1999	2864	
TPP	1081	682	2006	1549	2005
TDP	903	701	2004	1561	2003
Annual stream volume (hm ³)	22.0	15.9	2006	29.6	2000

Table A7.21. Median, minimum, maximum load for nutrient parameters and annual flow volumes in New West Coulee, 1999 to 2006.

Battersea Drain- The Battersea Drain, from 1998 through 2006, had an increasing trend in TP and TN loading (Figure A7.22). High loading years include 2002 and 2005, however even with these two years removed the TP and TN loading data appear to increase. Although not reflected in the annual flow volumes, flow patterns in 2002 and 2005 indicate prominent peaks despite being regulated by the St. Mary's Irrigation District. These two peaks were related to higher than average amounts of precipitation (Appendix 2). Generally, annual loads were lowest in 1998 and highest in 2005 (Table A7.22). The increasing trend could be influenced by an alteration of management practices within the watershed as the Census of Agricultural data indicate the agricultural intensity rating of the Battersea Drain remained high from 1996 through 2006; however, land use data are not available to confirm this observation.





Figure A7.22. Annual loads (kg yr⁻¹) of phosphorus (a) and nitrogen (b) from 1995 to 2006 in Battersea Drain. Battersea Drain is a high but irrigated agricultural intensity watershed that lies in the grassland ecoregion.

Table A7.22. Median, minin	num, maxim	um load for r	nutrient	parameters a	nd
annual flow volumes in Batte	ersea Drain,	1998 to 2006	.		
	Median	Minimum	Year	Maximum	Year
	(kg yr^{-1})	(kg yr^{-1})		(kg yr^{-1})	
Total N	9108	198		45745	2005
Organic N	6350	155		26058	2003
NH ₃ -N	570	10	1008	12489	
NO ₂ +NO ₃ -N	2688	33	1990	11512	2002
Total P	774	24		17957	2005
TPP	499	13		358	2001
TDP	184	11		12967	2005
Annual stream volume (hm ³)	10.4	0.3	1998	13.4	2005

				Annu	al Stre	eam Fl	ow Vo	lume (hm ³)			
Watershed	1995	1996	1997	1998	1999	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006
Battersea Drain				0.3	7.4	11.9	9.2	10.8	10.4	11.0	13.4	10.4
Blindman River	11.6	63.1	45.0	21.8	64.1	57.1	21.0	11.8	30.5	11.6	33.1	11.8
Buffalo Creek	3.8	5.3	11.0	2.6	3.3	3.4	2.2	1.7	2.8	4.6	6.1	6.0
Crowfoot Creek	22.2	49.0	70.9	31.6	26.2	28.9	19.1	23.9	35.7	39.7	41.4	50.9
Grande Prairie Creek					2.5	1.5	6.1	9.8	10.3	8.8	12.1	1.9
Hines Creek					0.2	21.2	17.0	10.6	22.6	11.1	22.3	0.5
Haynes M1 Creek	0.1	1.0	1.0	0.1	1.2	0.3	0.1	0.7	1.2	0.0	0.7	0.5
Haynes M6 Creek	0.3	5.6	4.1	0.1	3.3	0.9	0.1	0.8	2.5	0.0	2.9	1.6
Kleskun Main Drain					1.6	0.0	0.6	2.5	2.4	1.7	1.7	0.1
Meadow Creek	8.9	5.0	4.6		1.1	0.4	0.4	6.2	3.6	1.0	10.8	4.0
New West Coulee					22.9	29.6	26.6	18.6	26.5	16.4	21.0	15.9
Paddle River	16.4	42.1	45.5		22.3	9.3	19.7	8.1	8.7	6.9	16.6	4.4
Prairie Blood Coulee	5.1	2.7			0.1	0.6	0.5	6.2	2.8	0.6	10.1	7.9
Ray Creek	0.4	1.5	2.4	0.4	2.0	0.7	0.2	0.2	1.9	1.2	2.4	2.3
Renwick Creek	0.6	1.5	3.6	0.2	0.9	0.1	0.0	0.0	1.1	0.7	0.9	0.7
Rose Creek	40.9	77.4	67.6	52.0	85.4	67.0	28.0	29.8	37.4	33.1	81.0	29.1
Stretton Creek	0.9		1.9	0.2	0.5					1.2	1.7	2.3
Strawberry Creek	6.4	38.2	45.6	7.6	44.2	54.3	14.7	9.9	8.3	5.3	31.8	6.9
Threehills Creek	0.7	5.7	8.3	0.5	6.1	1.3	0.4	0.9	6.1	1.3	4.8	5.4
Tomahawk Creek	2.7	10.8	12.8	2.2	9.1	2.8	4.1	2.3	3.9	3.1	7.4	0.3
Trout Creek	51.1	22.7	22.1		6.4	1.8	3.1	30.4	19.2	8.0	74.0	24.5
Wabash Creek					0.1	0.3	0.1	2.3	7.5	2.6	7.7	0.7
Willow Creek					7.8	4.1	8.1	24.1	9.8	12.6	41.4	10.0

Table A7.23. Annual stream volumes for each watershed during the CAESA and AESA monitoring periods. Stream flow data were provided by Water Survey of Canada and annual stream volumes were calculated by FLUX (U.S. Army Corps of Engineers 1995).



APPENDIX 8: NUTRIENT EXPORT SEASONALITY BOX PLOTS

Figure A8.1. Seasonal trends in TP (a), TDP (b), and TPP* (c) exports in the Boreal ecoregion for median monthly data (1999-2006). Significance level at 0.005 (* p<0.01).



Figure A8.2. Seasonal trends in TN (a) and Org N (b) exports in the Boreal ecoregion for median monthly data (1999-2006). Significance level at 0.005.



Figure A8.3. Seasonal trends in NO₂-NO₃-N (a) and NH₃-N (b) exports in the Boreal ecoregion for median monthly data (1999-2006). Significance level at 0.005.



Figure A8.4. Seasonal trends in TP (a), TDP (b), and TPP (c) exports in the Parkland ecoregion for median monthly data (1999-2006). Significance level at 0.005.



Figure A8.5. Seasonal trends in TN (a) and Org N (b) exports in the Parkland ecoregion for median monthly data (1999-2006). Significance level at 0.005.



Figure A8.6. Seasonal trends in NO₂-NO₃-N (a) and NH₃-N (b) exports in the Parkland ecoregion for median monthly data (1999-2006). Significance level at 0.005.



Figure A8.7. Seasonal trends in TP (a), TDP (b), and TPP (c) exports in the Grassland ecoregion for median monthly data (1999-2006). Significance level at 0.005.



Figure A8.8. Seasonal trends in TN (a) and Org N (b) exports in the Grassland ecoregion for median monthly data (1999-2006). Significance level at 0.005.



Figure A8.9. Seasonal trends in NO_2 - NO_3 -N (a) and NH_3 -N (b) exports in the Grassland ecoregion for median monthly data (1999-2006). Significance level at 0.005.



Figure A8.10. Seasonal trends in TP (a), TDP (b), and TPP (c) exports in the Continental Divide ecoregion for median monthly data (1999-2006). Significance level at 0.01.



Figure A8.11. Seasonal trends in TN (a) and Org N (b) exports in the Continental Divide ecoregion for median monthly data (1999-2006). Significance level at 0.01.



Figure A8.12. Seasonal trends in NO₂-NO₃-N (a) and NH₃-N (b) exports in the Continental Divide ecoregion for median monthly data (1999-2006). Significance level at 0.01.

APPENDIX 9: SUMMARY STATISTICS FOR AMBIENT DATA, FWMC, MASS LOADING, AND EXPORT COEFFICIENTS

Table A9.1. Summary statistics for instream concentrations (mg L^{-1}) from 1999 to 2006.

			Total	Orgonio				Total Dissolved	Total Particulate
	Number	Summony	Nitrogon	Nitrogon	Nitrito N Nitroto N.	Ammonio N	Total Phasparus	Phoenhorus	Phoenhorus
AESA Watershed	of Vooro	Statistic	TNI		Nume-in + inimate-in				
AESA Walersheu	or rears	N of oppor	151	151	152	152	152	151	151
Battersea Drain		Minimum	0.000	0.160	0.002	0.002	0.005	0.001	0.000
Battersea Drain	8	Maximum	17 380	8 850	10 200	4 850	4 860	3 430	2 020
Battersea Drain	0	Median	0.000	0.000	0.156	4.000	4.000	0.018	2.020
Battersea Drain		Mean	2 591	1 108	1 222	0.264	0.234	0.145	0.047
Blindman River		N of cases	179	179	179	179	170	179	179
Blindman River		Minimum	0 133	0 1 2 0	0.003	0.003	0.020	0.009	0.000
Blindman River	8	Maximum	6 540	4 398	0.000	1 950	0.020	0.655	0.000
Blindman River	0	Median	1 165	1 099	0.030	0.031	0.302	0.058	0.045
Blindman River		Mean	1.105	1.033	0.065	0.168	0.177	0.000	0.043
Buffalo Creek		N of cases	110	110	110	110	110	110	110
Buffalo Creek		Minimum	0.833	0.530	0.003	0.003	0.036	0.018	0.000
Buffalo Creek	8	Maximum	4 684	4 642	0.000	1 1 2 0	0.000	0.740	0.000
Buffalo Creek	0	Median	1 473	1 322	0.035	0.060	0.115	0.082	0.030
Buffalo Creek		Mean	1.473	1 438	0.049	0.191	0.146	0.100	0.030
Crowfoot Creek		N of cases	154	155	154	155	155	155	155
Crowfoot Creek		Minimum	0 133	0 115	0.003	0.003	0.038	0.013	0.000
Crowfoot Creek	8	Maximum	8 190	4 210	4 100	2 140	4 600	0.600	4 410
Crowfoot Creek	0	Median	1 003	0.883	0.008	0.033	0.116	0.066	0.052
Crowfoot Creek		Mean	1.580	1 145	0.000	0.055	0.222	0.114	0.002
Drain S6		N of cases	134	134	134	134	134	134	134
Drain S6		Minimum	0.028	0.019	0.003	0.003	0.004	0.001	0.000
Drain S6	8	Maximum	3 248	2 918	1.030	0.429	0.764	0.511	0.000
Drain S6	0	Median	0.682	0.514	0.058	0.059	0.034	0.012	0.020
Drain S6		Mean	0.811	0.606	0.000	0.033	0.059	0.012	0.020
Grande Prairie Creek		N of cases	104	104	104	104	104	104	104
Grande Prairie Creek		Minimum	0 343	0 314	0.003	0.003	0.019	0.007	0.001
Grande Prairie Creek	8	Maximum	7 700	4 041	4 300	0.628	0.720	0.630	0.001
Grande Prairie Creek	0	Median	1 544	1 405	0.017	0.020	0.120	0.053	0.049
Grande Prairie Creek		Mean	2.066	1.564	0.017	0.030	0.166	0.035	0.043
Hines Creek		N of cases	115	115	115	115	115	115	115
Hines Creek		Minimum	0 103	0.069	0.003	0.003	0.033	0.004	0.004
Hines Creek	8	Maximum	4 251	3 330	0.000	1 440	1 160	0.357	1 153
Hines Creek	0	Median	1 193	1 130	0.003	0.037	0.109	0.060	0.049
Hines Creek		Mean	1 314	1 174	0.000	0.123	0.163	0.000	0.090
Havnes Creek M6		N of cases	94	94	95	95	95	93	93
Havnes Creek M6		Minimum	1 403	1 309	0.003	0.012	0 123	0 113	0.000
Havnes Creek M6		Maximum	10 110	5.436	4 370	3.050	2 150	1 870	0.000
Havnes Creek M6		Median	3 041	2 642	4.570	0.107	0.630	0.562	0.000
Havnes Creek M6		Mean	3 289	2.042	0.010	0.235	0.680	0.600	0.030
Kleskun Drain		N of cases	74	74	74	74	74	74	74
Kleskun Drain		Minimum	0.315	0 257	0.003	0.003	0.030	0.011	0,000
Kleskun Drain	8	Maximum	4 990	4 214	2 660	0.574	0.959	0.630	0.329
Kleskun Drain	Ũ	Median	1 857	1 677	0.047	0.045	0 148	0 114	0.047
Kleskun Drain		Mean	2 167	1 825	0.241	0 102	0.208	0 143	0.065
Meadow Creek		N of cases	152	152	152	152	152	151	152
Meadow Creek		Minimum	0.063	0.058	0.003	0.003	0.003	0.001	0.000
Meadow Creek	8	Maximum	5 557	4 686	0.512	0.514	0 782	0.468	0 726
Meadow Creek	Ũ	Median	0 758	0 717	0.003	0.020	0.076	0.012	0.060
Meadow Creek		Mean	0.995	0.909	0.049	0.037	0 104	0.020	0.084
New West Coulee		N of cases	144	144	144	144	144	143	144
New West Coulee		Minimum	0.243	0.224	0.003	0.003	0.006	0.001	0.000
New West Coulee		Maximum	7 300	4 650	4,300	1.830	1 340	0.501	0.866
New West Coulee		Median	0.693	0.627	0.007	0.017	0.078	0.028	0.038
New West Coulee		Mean	1 202	0.902	0.175	0 125	0.126	0.052	0.075
Paddle River		N of cases	156	156	156	156	156	154	156
Paddle River		Minimum	0.373	0.256	0.003	0.003	0.021	0.012	0.000
Paddle River	8	Maximum	4 758	3 982	0 778	0.654	0 744	0.542	0.575
Paddle River	Ũ	Median	0.846	0.800	0.005	0.027	0.073	0.037	0.035
Paddle River		Mean	1.046	0.945	0.048	0.053	0.130	0.065	0.066
				0.0.0	0.0.0	0.000	000	0.000	0.000

		_	Total	Organic				Total Dissolved	Total Particulate
	Number	Summary	Nitrogen	Nitrogen	Nitrite-N + Nitrate-N	Ammonia-N	Total Phosporus	Phosphorus	Phosphorus
AESA Watershed	of Years	Statistic	TN	ORGN	N23	NH4	TP	TDP	TPP
Prairie Blood Coulee		N of cases	110	110	110	110	110	110	110
Prairie Blood Coulee	•	Minimum	0.333	0.323	0.003	0.003	0.003	0.001	0.000
Prairie Blood Coulee	8	Maximum	28.479	21.500	3.340	6.000	0.941	0.741	0.258
Prairie Blood Coulee		Median	0.974	0.940	0.003	0.017	0.024	0.009	0.015
Prairie Blood Coulee		Mean	1.690	1.268	0.316	0.106	0.057	0.034	0.023
Ray Creek		N OF Cases	141	141	141	141	141	141	141
Ray Creek	0	Maximum	0.803	0.707	0.003	0.003	0.033	0.024	0.000
Ray Creek	8	Madian	6.070	4.384	1.910	0.971	1.310	1.090	0.332
Ray Creek		Median	1.513	1.402	0.003	0.034	0.192	0.149	0.027
Ray Creek		Nefecce	1.///	1.080	0.110	109	109	0.195	0.045
Renwick Creek		Minimum	1 462	1 402	0.002	100	0.047	0.046	0.000
Renwick Creek	0	Maximum	9,600	1.403	0.003	1 160	1.520	1 250	0.000
Renwick Creek	0	Madian	2 1 4 7	4.004	0.002	0.042	0.495	0.446	0.020
Renwick Creek		Mean	2.147	2 164	0.003	0.042	0.405	0.440	0.057
Rose Creek		N of cases	182	182	182	182	182	181	181
Rose Creek		Minimum	0.028	-0.034	0.003	0.003	0.013	0.001	0.000
Rose Creek	8	Maximum	5 769	5 698	0.000	1 250	2 570	0.800	2 546
Rose Creek	0	Median	0.833	0 773	0.003	0.021	0.049	0.000	0.026
Rose Creek		Mean	1 008	0.934	0.003	0.021	0.136	0.043	0.020
Stretton Creek		N of cases	49	49	49	49	49	49	49
Stretton Creek		Minimum	0.303	0 274	0.003	0.009	0.061	0.023	0.003
Stretton Creek	4	Maximum	5 880	3 515	1 650	0.875	1 000	0.924	0.146
Stretton Creek	•	Median	1.713	1.615	0.022	0.044	0.319	0.278	0.048
Stretton Creek		Mean	2.182	1.700	0.371	0.110	0.351	0.298	0.053
Strawberry Creek		N of cases	132	132	132	132	132	132	132
Strawberry Creek		Minimum	0.263	0.245	0.003	0.003	0.011	0.001	0.000
Strawberry Creek	8	Maximum	6.850	4.950	3.030	1.560	3.150	0.680	3.044
Strawberry Creek		Median	1.123	1.074	0.032	0.042	0.098	0.024	0.063
Strawberry Creek		Mean	1.689	1.334	0.197	0.158	0.262	0.069	0.193
Threehills Creek		N of cases	145	145	145	145	145	145	145
Threehills Creek		Minimum	1.043	0.760	0.003	0.003	0.062	0.043	0.000
Threehills Creek	8	Maximum	7.910	4.980	2.940	1.940	1.630	1.370	0.270
Threehills Creek		Median	2.013	1.858	0.003	0.047	0.308	0.260	0.053
Threehills Creek		Mean	2.414	1.989	0.227	0.198	0.380	0.312	0.068
Tomahawk Creek		N of cases	154	154	154	154	154	154	154
Tomahawk Creek		Minimum	0.823	0.530	0.003	0.003	0.023	0.016	0.000
Tomahawk Creek	8	Maximum	5.590	5.184	2.010	0.988	0.995	0.416	0.938
Tomahawk Creek		Median	2.075	1.842	0.068	0.068	0.162	0.081	0.072
Tomahawk Creek		Mean	2.284	1.968	0.166	0.149	0.214	0.104	0.110
Trout Creek		N of cases	168	168	168	168	168	168	168
Trout Creek		Minimum	0.063	0.058	0.003	0.003	0.003	0.001	0.000
Trout Creek	8	Maximum	3.285	2.997	0.227	0.129	0.580	0.071	0.573
Trout Creek		Median	0.333	0.316	0.003	0.008	0.021	0.004	0.016
Trout Creek		Mean	0.446	0.404	0.027	0.014	0.048	0.006	0.041
Wabash Creek		N OI Cases	100	100	100	100	100	100	100
Wabash Creek	0	Movimum	0.852	0.809	0.003	0.002	0.039	0.031	0.000
Wabach Creek	õ	Modian	0.400 2.250	0.00U	2.970	0.720	2.300	1.000	1.030
Wabash Crook		Moon	2.209	1.013	0.017	0.000	0.293	0.134	0.129
Willow Crock		N of coocc	2.112	1.910	167	167	167	167	167
Willow Creek		Minimum	0.020	-0.040	0 002	0.001	0.001	0.001	000
Willow Creek	Q	Maximum	0.020	-0.040	0.003	0.001	3 200	0.001	3 180
Willow Creek	0	Madian	4.373	4.275	0.190	0.075	0.005	0.132	0.002
Willow Creek		Mean	0.113	0.090	0.000	0.003	0.000	0.002	0.002
VINUW CIECK		MEan	0.201	0.170	0.021	0.000	0.039	0.004	0.000

Table A9.1. Cont. Summary statistics for instream concentrations (mg L^{-1}) from 1999 to 2006.

		ľ						Total	
	Number	Summary	Total	Organic-N			Total	Dissolved	Total Particulate
AESA Watershed	of Years	Statistic	Nitrogen	•	Nitrite-N + Nitrate-N	Ammonia-N	Phosphorus	Phosphorus	Phosphorus
			TN	Org-N	NO ₂ ⁻ -N +NO ₂ ⁻ -N	NH₂-N	TP	TDP	TPP
Battersea Drain		Median	1.062	0.680	0.272	0.066	0.105	0.024	0.049
Battersea Drain		Mean	1.575	0.970	0.397	0.207	0.310	0.194	0.116
Battersea Drain	8	Minimum	0.672	0.475	0.176	0.021	0.038	0.007	0.031
Battersea Drain	-	Maximum	3 498	2 036	1 067	0.934	1 342	0.969	0.373
Battersea Drain		St Dev	1 177	0.643	0.295	0.317	0.457	0.342	0 120
Blindman River		Median	1 973	1 732	0.200	0.224	0.107	0.012	0.120
Blindman River		Mean	2 160	1.732	0.130	0.258	0.207	0.142	0.130
Blindman River	Q	Minimum	1 305	1.079	0.032	0.061	0.136	0.104	0.049
Blindman River	0	Movimum	2 405	2 959	0.032	0.001	0.130	0.000	0.043
Blindman River		St Dev	0.737	2.000	0.271	0.500	0.530	0.336	0.241
Buffalo Crook		Modian	1 092	1.620	0.074	0.170	0.157	0.090	0.000
Buffalo Crook		Moon	2.025	1.030	0.040	0.255	0.137	0.009	0.048
Buffalo Creek		Minimum	2.035	1.001	0.097	0.275	0.100	0.117	0.003
Bullalo Creek	8	Massimum	1.284	1.243	0.014	0.026	0.117	0.076	0.029
Bullalo Creek		Maximum	2.906	2.272	0.361	0.520	0.327	0.212	0.115
Bullalo Creek		St. Dev.	0.479	0.312	0.118	0.155	0.076	0.051	0.033
Crowloot Creek		Mean	1.814	1.200	0.446	0.127	0.234	0.154	0.094
Crowloot Creek		wean	2.027	1.372	0.481	0.181	0.283	0.154	0.129
Crowfoot Creek	8	IVIInimum	0.744	0.660	0.043	0.041	0.109	0.060	0.033
Crowfoot Creek		Maximum	3.594	2.422	0.972	0.401	0.538	0.281	0.311
Crowfoot Creek		St. Dev.	1.132	0.613	0.443	0.141	0.158	0.076	0.107
Grande Prairie Creek		Median	2.268	1.863	0.308	0.063	0.253	0.092	0.127
Grande Prairie Creek		Mean	2.679	1.986	0.603	0.080	0.249	0.104	0.145
Grande Prairie Creek	8	Minimum	1.633	1.454	0.050	0.045	0.125	0.067	0.044
Grande Prairie Creek		Maximum	4.513	3.238	2.083	0.166	0.473	0.145	0.394
Grande Prairie Creek		St. Dev.	1.096	0.565	0.706	0.040	0.109	0.032	0.110
Hines Creek		Median	1.310	1.236	0.011	0.054	0.142	0.059	0.063
Hines Creek	_	Mean	1.258	1.161	0.012	0.085	0.137	0.065	0.071
Hines Creek	8	Minimum	0.998	0.923	0.003	0.018	0.098	0.048	0.049
Hines Creek		Maximum	1.687	1.369	0.023	0.355	0.173	0.092	0.116
Hines Creek		St. Dev.	0.242	0.177	0.007	0.111	0.028	0.018	0.025
Haynes Creek (M6)		Median	4.321	3.098	0.788	0.518	0.880	0.808	0.089
Haynes Creek (M6)	- (-)	Mean	4.496	3.06	1.108	0.472	0.803	0.744	0.100
Haynes Creek (M6)	7 (6)	Minimum	2.392	1.805	0.010	0.095	0.360	0.269	0.056
Haynes Creek (M6)		Maximum	8.589	4.562	3.472	0.751	1.203	1.056	0.147
Haynes Creek (M6)		St. Dev.	1.984	0.937	1.152	0.272	0.307	0.291	0.034
Kleskun Drain		Median	2.741	2.287	0.265	0.115	0.362	0.237	0.101
Kleskun Drain		Mean	2.939	2.258	0.503	0.168	0.338	0.240	0.098
Kleskun Drain	8	Minimum	1.846	1.544	0.096	0.024	0.147	0.127	0.020
Kleskun Drain		Maximum	3.931	3.172	1.605	0.531	0.494	0.349	0.149
Kleskun Drain		St. Dev.	0.714	0.535	0.552	0.161	0.112	0.074	0.045
Meadow Creek		Median	1.108	0.973	0.071	0.030	0.140	0.018	0.105
Meadow Creek		Mean	1.198	1.06	0.087	0.051	0.141	0.033	0.109
Meadow Creek	8	Minimum	0.662	0.631	0.010	0.021	0.073	0.011	0.044
Meadow Creek		Maximum	2.218	1.927	0.246	0.155	0.233	0.137	0.203
Meadow Creek		St. Dev.	0.494	0.412	0.078	0.046	0.052	0.043	0.051
New West Coulee		Median	0.724	0.573	0.057	0.021	0.098	0.044	0.052
New West Coulee		Mean	0.807	0.632	0.143	0.031	0.096	0.046	0.050
New West Coulee	8	Minimum	0.443	0.389	0.015	0.012	0.060	0.032	0.026
New West Coulee		Maximum	1.487	1.014	0.466	0.076	0.135	0.072	0.074
New West Coulee		St. Dev.	0.367	0.211	0.181	0.023	0.026	0.014	0.017
Paddle River		Median	1.347	1.145	0.052	0.068	0.201	0.093	0.095
Paddle River		Mean	1.338	1.191	0.077	0.069	0.196	0.081	0.115
Paddle River	8	Minimum	0.687	0.645	0.012	0.012	0.073	0.035	0.029
Paddle River		Maximum	2.167	1.838	0.216	0.129	0.302	0.129	0.215
Paddle River		St. Dev.	0.471	0.389	0.068	0.040	0.087	0.038	0.075

Table A9.2. Summary statistics for FWMC (mg L⁻¹) from 1999 to 2006.

								Total	
	Number	Summary	Total	Organic-N			Total	Dissolved	Total Particulate
AESA Watershed	of Years	Statistic	Nitrogen	0	Nitrite-N + Nitrate-N	Ammonia-N	Phosphorus	Phosphorus	Phosphorus
			TN	Org-N		NHN	TP	TDP	TPP
Prairie Blood Coulee		Median	1 110	1	0.105	0.028	0.087	0.054	0.026
Prairie Blood Coulee		Moon	1.110	1 167	0.105	0.020	0.007	0.054	0.020
Prairie Blood Coulee	0	Minimum	0.705	0.69	0.405	0.042	0.098	0.005	0.035
Prairie Blood Coulee	0	Movimum	0.705	0.08	1 200	0.012	0.009	0.005	0.002
Prairie Blood Coulee			3.545	2.056	1.399	0.069	0.210	0.154	0.092
Prairie Blood Coulee		St. Dev.	0.978	0.43	0.536	0.031	0.077	0.057	0.031
Ray Creek		iviedian	1.995	1.76	0.201	0.094	0.245	0.214	0.042
Ray Creek		Mean	2.205	1.761	0.329	0.112	0.283	0.221	0.061
Ray Creek	8	Minimum	1.353	1.062	0.028	0.030	0.178	0.145	0.027
Ray Creek		Maximum	4.188	2.451	1.439	0.288	0.458	0.358	0.152
Ray Creek		St. Dev.	0.888	0.442	0.454	0.083	0.111	0.074	0.044
Renwick Creek		Median	3.453	2.543	0.626	0.257	0.787	0.692	0.098
Renwick Creek		Mean	3.890	2.699	0.917	0.266	0.778	0.666	0.112
Renwick Creek	8	Minimum	2.746	2.28	0.219	0.079	0.644	0.546	0.044
Renwick Creek		Maximum	6.566	4.032	2.217	0.500	0.920	0.750	0.199
Renwick Creek		St. Dev.	1.243	0.561	0.770	0.150	0.103	0.069	0.057
Rose Creek		Median	1.411	1.35	0.016	0.055	0.268	0.028	0.248
Rose Creek		Mean	1.459	1.39	0.019	0.050	0.309	0.035	0.274
Rose Creek	8	Minimum	0.900	0.862	0.011	0.023	0.062	0.018	0.035
Rose Creek		Maximum	2.326	2.269	0.036	0.074	0.826	0.058	0.802
Rose Creek		St. Dev.	0.465	0.465	0.008	0.016	0.236	0.015	0.240
Stretton Creek		Median	2.969	1.986	0.952	0.145	0.433	0.362	0.071
Stretton Creek		Mean	2.976	1.9	0.915	0.157	0.423	0.363	0.059
Stretton Creek	4	Minimum	2.209	1.484	0.221	0.114	0.361	0.348	0.013
Stretton Creek	-	Maximum	3 757	2 144	1 535	0.226	0.463	0.381	0.082
Stretton Creek		St Dev	0.667	0.302	0 544	0.051	0.043	0.013	0.031
Strawberry Creek		Median	3 296	2 516	0.321	0.313	0.692	0.010	0.463
Strawberry Creek		Mean	3 1 1 7	2 321	0.453	0.340	0.703	0.120	0.554
Strawberry Creek	8	Minimum	1 186	0.894	0.136	0.075	0.189	0.143	0.004
Strawberry Creek	0	Maximum	4 628	3 202	0.150	0.756	1 249	0.047	1 122
Strawberry Creek			4.020	0.76	0.005	0.730	0.340	0.006	0.325
Throobills Crook		Modian	2.571	2.461	0.500	0.243	0.540	0.030	0.323
Throobills Crook		Moon	2 520	2.401	0.500	0.434	0.550	0.433	0.104
Threehills Creek	0	Minimum	3.529	2.403	0.075	0.440	0.002	0.404	0.118
Threehills Creek	0	Movimum	2.140	2.070	0.104	0.157	0.415	0.334	0.074
Threehills Creek			5.301	3.079	1.707	0.013	0.966	0.792	0.205
Threenins Creek		St. Dev.	0.999	0.458	0.540	0.147	0.169	0.146	0.047
Tomanawk Creek		iviedian	2.916	2.387	0.289	0.230	0.356	0.120	0.204
Tomanawk Creek		iviean	2.995	2.394	0.344	0.256	0.348	0.117	0.232
Tomahawk Creek	8	Minimum	2.335	1.613	0.165	0.146	0.225	0.055	0.089
Tomahawk Creek		Maximum	4.008	3.14	0.663	0.416	0.463	0.186	0.390
Tomahawk Creek		St. Dev.	0.603	0.515	0.185	0.099	0.089	0.041	0.110
Trout Creek		Median	0.538	0.479	0.042	0.014	0.057	0.008	0.050
Trout Creek		Mean	0.608	0.534	0.052	0.022	0.106	0.008	0.099
Trout Creek	8	Minimum	0.293	0.274	0.011	0.008	0.020	0.004	0.011
Trout Creek		Maximum	1.018	0.897	0.142	0.059	0.296	0.011	0.285
Trout Creek		St. Dev.	0.264	0.217	0.045	0.018	0.104	0.003	0.103
Wabash Creek		Median	3.336	2.095	0.646	0.464	0.470	0.223	0.189
Wabash Creek		Mean	3.539	2.2	0.775	0.540	0.468	0.278	0.190
Wabash Creek	8	Minimum	1.335	1.167	0.062	0.105	0.214	0.055	0.105
Wabash Creek		Maximum	6.708	3.683	2.207	1.440	0.945	0.730	0.256
Wabash Creek		St. Dev.	2.047	0.984	0.787	0.438	0.227	0.212	0.061
Willow Creek		Median	0.283	0.256	0.020	0.010	0.043	0.004	0.039
Willow Creek		Mean	0.517	0.485	0.020	0.012	0.214	0.005	0.209
Willow Creek	8	Minimum	0.123	0.088	0.010	0.004	0.009	0.002	0.007
Willow Creek	-	Maximum	1.929	1.876	0.033	0.033	1.308	0.011	1.297
Willow Creek		St. Dev.	0.607	0.596	0.008	0.009	0.446	0.003	0.443
		-							

Table A9.2. Cont. Summary statistics for FWMC (mg L⁻¹) from 1999 to 2006.

								Total	Total
	Number	Summary	Total	Organic-N			Total	Dissolved	Particulate
AESA Watershed	of Years	Statistic	Nitrogen	organio ri	Nitrite-N + Nitrate-N	Ammonia-N	Phosphorus	Phosphorus	Phosphorus
ALOA Watershed	or rears	Otatistic	TNI	Ore N					
			IN	Org-IN	NO ₂ -N +NO ₃ -N	NH ₃ -N	IP	TDP	IPP
Battersea Drain		Median	9571	6546	2764	574	977	253	526
Battersea Drain		Mean	17431	10625	4298	2491	3698	2394	1304
Battersea Drain	8	Minimum	7678	5258	1815	251	457	82	358
Battersea Drain		Maximum	45755	26058	11513	12489	17957	12967	4990
Battersea Drain		St. Dev.	15222	8365	3400	4245	6110	4523	1603
Blindman River		Median	49846	37849	3376	5073	7541	4595	2947
Blindman River		Mean	62325	52048	3340	6915	9412	4377	5036
Blindman River	8	Minimum	15106	12492	672	1282	1704	1130	574
Blindman River		Maximum	130316	114476	7880	18536	22164	8741	14858
Blindman River		St. Dev.	41179	36414	2338	5881	7261	2794	4974
Buffalo Creek		Median	6221	5163	119	868	508	337	135
Buffalo Creek		Mean	7850	6463	454	930	760	495	266
Buffalo Creek	8	Minimum	4089	3107	48	88	262	158	95
Buffalo Creek	-	Maximum	17301	13528	2150	1618	1947	1263	684
Buffalo Creek		St. Dev.	4707	3732	714	466	641	407	244
Crowfoot Creek		Median	56051	40482	12545	3361	7808	4665	3095
Crowfoot Creek		Mean	74591	49584	18420	6746	10604	5635	4969
Crowfoot Creek	8	Minimum	14210	12596	821	790	2417	1142	958
Crowfoot Creek	Ĭ	Maximum	183072	123300	46110	15900	27305	11574	15821
Crowfoot Creek		St Dev	58216	35485	18777	6154	27555	3031	5308
Granda Prairia Craak		Modian	155/2	14055	1066	406	1201	601	710
Grande Prairie Creek		Meen	10040	14000	2220	400	1391	692	1067
		Minima	10995	13102	3230	509	1749	002	1007
Grande Prairie Creek	8	Maximum	3337	2/1/	401	98	187	100	87
Grande Prairie Creek		iviaximum	39505	28347	10269	1313	4141	1701	3448
Grande Prairie Creek		St. Dev.	12170	9115	3739	396	1415	507	1124
Hines Creek		iviedian	17725	16999	128	701	2129	956	967
Hines Creek		Mean	15312	14513	152	644	1853	944	909
Hines Creek	8	Minimum	221	217	1	4	16	8	8
Hines Creek		Maximum	30415	28609	400	1532	3550	2084	1983
Hines Creek		St. Dev.	10807	10313	134	471	1355	742	698
Haynes Creek (M6)		Median	7648	4583	1325	820	1527	1464	177
Haynes Creek (M6)		Mean	7960	5102	1899	1072	1474	1477	169
Haynes Creek (M6)	7 (6)	Minimum	136	129	1	7	20	15	5
Haynes Creek (M6)		Maximum	14591	9302	5489	2387	2912	2635	276
Haynes Creek (M6)		St. Dev.	5708	3428	1906	996	1068	961	99
Kleskun Drain		Median	3750	3052	220	130	516	384	132
Kleskun Drain		Mean	3961	2824	849	274	479	330	149
Kleskun Drain	8	Minimum	115	92	6	4	6	5	1
Kleskun Drain		Maximum	9961	6937	2742	1269	905	620	379
Kleskun Drain		St. Dev.	3368	2232	1169	424	384	257	136
Meadow Creek		Median	1843	1708	89	71	225	44	197
Meadow Creek		Mean	3889	3353	414	120	523	66	456
Meadow Creek	8	Minimum	458	419	10	19	46	8	16
Meadow Creek	-	Maximum	11523	10073	1515	307	1605	156	1449
Meadow Creek		St. Dev.	4161	3531	599	113	587	60	530
New West Coulee		Median	15136	12738	1297	537	2048	903	1081
New West Coulee		Mean	17410	13485	3216	689	2064	994	1070
New West Coulee	8	Minimum	8929	8435	289	201	1370	701	600
New West Coulee	Ĭ	Maximum	30557	18880	12317	1542	2864	1561	1549
New West Coulee		St Dev	7775	3617	4334	505	551	303	352
Paddle River	1	Median	1/11/	11880	755	81/	1683	811	7/2
		Moon	17071	15240	010	002	2706	022	142
	•	Minimum	17071	10249	510	303	2100	300	200
	ŏ	Moving	4/1/	4317	110	00	502	302	200
	1		32965	205/1	2451	2145	0042	1020	4799
Paddle River	1	St. Dev.	11648	10464	837	762	2342	625	1845

Table A9.3. Summary statistics for mass transport (kg) data from 1999 to 2006.

	T	<u> </u>			$1 \langle \mathcal{U} \rangle$	/		Total	Total
	Number	C	Tatal	One is N			Total	Disastuad	Dertieulete
	Number	Summary	Total	Organic-N	NROLL NU - NROLL N	A	Total	Dissolved	Particulate
AESA Watershed	of Years	Statistic	Nitrogen		Nitrite-N + Nitrate-N	Ammonia-N	Phosphorus	Phosphorus	Phosphorus
			TN	Org-N	NO2-N +NO3-N	NH ₃ -N	TP	TDP	TPP
Prairie Blood Coulee		Median	3496	2300	168	122	266	165	34
Prairie Blood Coulee		Mean	7920	5164	2544	208	566	345	221
Prairie Blood Coulee	8	Minimum	101	08	1	200	2	1	1
Preisie Diood Coulee	0		00004	30	11001	704	2	1000	700
Prairie Blood Coulee		iviaximum	28034	16256	11064	704	2118	1386	732
Prairie Blood Coulee		St. Dev.	10549	6395	4075	252	772	478	322
Ray Creek		Median	2165	1788	270	64	318	274	44
Ray Creek		Mean	3225	2425	610	185	456	349	107
Ray Creek	8	Minimum	328	294	20	14	32	27	5
Ray Creek		Maximum	9543	5585	3280	656	1116	872	347
Ray Creek		St. Dev.	3108	1959	1097	232	418	304	126
Renwick Creek		Median	2560	1892	374	106	600	499	58
Ronwick Crook		Moon	2240	1520	655	160	447	275	72
Denwick Creek		Minima	2349	1529	000	102	447	375	12
Renwick Creek	8	winimum	78	00		4	16	15	1
Renwick Creek		Maximum	5129	2918	1914	541	863	677	186
Renwick Creek		St. Dev.	2028	1217	754	185	349	289	70
Rose Creek		Median	59758	56794	968	2288	11004	1472	8492
Rose Creek		Mean	75697	72358	861	2470	17757	1670	16087
Rose Creek	8	Minimum	26161	25029	298	667	1797	660	1016
Rose Creek		Maximum	198646	193810	1646	4844	70576	4035	68516
Rose Creek		St Dev	56495	55271	447	1452	22158	1088	21073
Strotton Crook		Madian	4140	2964	1102	171	£97	F 21	21373
		weulan	4140	2004	1192	17.1	567	521	00
Stretton Creek		wean	4302	2873	1180	239	607	520	87
Stretton Creek	4	Minimum	1435	786	381	88	245	202	15
Stretton Creek		Maximum	7495	4977	1978	525	1010	837	173
Stretton Creek		St. Dev.	2495	1737	832	196	338	274	71
Strawberry Creek		Median	40420	32929	6483	3490	9976	1788	8946
Strawberry Creek		Mean	72920	55357	9568	7912	17568	3259	14310
Strawberry Creek	8	Minimum	6248	4707	1132	396	994	311	684
Strawberry Creek		Maximum	173376	145675	37637	24051	55229	8548	49604
Strawberry Creek		St Dev	66315	51851	11836	0355	18/00	3137	16281
Thrashilla Craak		St. Dev.	10710	7101	1707	1500	10433	1450	200
Threehille Creek		Mean	10719	7121	0550	1522	1912	1409	200
Threenilis Creek		wean	11910	1118	2009	1558	2151	1729	422
I hreehills Creek	8	Minimum	1097	917	62	118	187	153	34
Threehills Creek		Maximum	28427	16516	9583	3024	4599	3772	1097
Threehills Creek		St. Dev.	10125	6215	3132	1294	1857	1531	399
Tomahawk Creek		Median	10704	8662	1210	686	1188	344	856
Tomahawk Creek		Mean	11922	9552	1303	1061	1514	490	1024
Tomahawk Creek	8	Minimum	709	584	49	76	67	33	34
Tomahawk Creek	-	Maximum	23471	19076	2591	2606	3328	1386	2538
Tomahawk Creek		St Dev	7062	5827	764	855	1116	426	832
Trout Crock		Median	6067	6262	470	246	007	420	770
Travit Oreals		Median	0907	0203	470	240	001	170	770
Trout Creek		Mean	16286	14220	1559	501	3505	170	3334
Trout Creek	8	Minimum	826	733	48	23	36	16	20
Trout Creek		Maximum	60668	55006	4980	1804	11831	549	11281
Trout Creek		St. Dev.	20770	18577	2031	624	4651	191	4469
Wabash Creek		Median	8814	5002	2375	956	750	341	251
Wabash Creek		Mean	11563	6528	2568	2402	1717	1231	486
Wabash Creek	8	Minimum	104	87	5	12	20	5	15
Wabash Creek	ľ	Maximum	3///1	1886/	6282	11008	7282	5628	1654
Wabash Creek	1	St Dov	12025	7160	0202	2015	1202	1096	F01
Wabash Creek		St. Dev.	13025	/ 102	2019	3015	2007	1980	291
VVIIIOW Creek		iviedian	2686	2433	1/8	64	415	40	3/5
Willow Creek	1	Mean	13355	12792	275	264	7411	97	7314
Willow Creek	8	Minimum	498	358	95	44	43	11	31
Willow Creek		Maximum	79955	77740	676	1382	54191	448	53743
Willow Creek	1	St. Dev.	27132	26441	226	460	18919	148	18776
l									

Table A9.3. Cont. Summary statistics for mass transport (kg) data from 1999 to 2006.

AESA Watershed	Number of Years	Summary Statistic	Total Nitrogen	Organic-N	Nitrite-N + Nitrate-N	Ammonia-N	Total Phosphorus	Total Dissolved Phosphorus	Total Particulate Phosphorus
			TN	Org-N	NO2 ⁻ -N +NO3 ⁻ -N	NH3-N	TP	TDP	TPP
Blindman River		Median	1.41205	1.072	0.09565	0.1437	0.2136	0.13015	0.08345
Blindman River		Mean	1.7655625	1.474	0.094625	0.1959125	0.2666375	0.123975	0.14265
Blindman River	8	Minimum	0.4279	0.354	0.019	0.0363	0.0483	0.032	0.0163
Blindman River		Maximum	3.6917	3.243	0.2232	0.5251	0.6279	0.2476	0.4209
Blindman River		St.Dev.	1.1665553	1.032	0.066243679	0.1666157	0.20567421	0.07917106	0.14091209
Buffalo Creek		Median	0.42315	0.351	0.0081	0.05905	0.0345	0.02295	0.00925
Buffalo Creek		Mean	0.5340375	0.44	0.03085	0.0633	0.051725	0.03365	0.0181
Buffalo Creek	8	Minimum	0.2782	0.211	0.0033	0.006	0.0178	0.0107	0.0065
Buffalo Creek		Maximum	1.177	0.92	0.1462	0.1101	0.1324	0.0859	0.0466
Buffalo Creek		St.Dev.	0.3202164	0.254	0.048564655	0.03169367	0.04360664	0.02767867	0.01659845
Grande Prairie Creek		Median	1.11025	1.004	0.07615	0.029	0.0994	0.0429	0.05135
Grande Prairie Creek		Mean	1.213775	0.942	0.2307375	0.0363375	0.1249	0.048675	0.076225
Grande Prairie Creek	8	Minimum	0.2383	0.194	0.033	0.007	0.0134	0.0071	0.0062
Grande Prairie Creek		Maximum	2.8218	2.025	0.7335	0.0938	0.2958	0.1215	0.2463
Grande Prairie Creek		St.Dev.	0.869263	0.651	0.26705352	0.02831107	0.10107321	0.03621526	0.08027677
Hines Creek		Median	0.4739	0.455	0.0034	0.01875	0.05695	0.02555	0.02585
Hines Creek		Mean	0.4093875	0.388	0.0040625	0.0172125	0.04955	0.0252375	0.0243125
Hines Creek	8	Minimum	0.0059	0.006	0	0.0001	0.0004	0.0002	0.0002
Hines Creek	-	Maximum	0.8132	0.765	0.0107	0.041	0.0949	0.0557	0.053
Hines Creek		St.Dev.	0.2889273	0.276	0.003577284	0.01260334	0.0362256	0.01983719	0.0186711
Havnes Creek (M6)	<u> </u>	Median	0.4607	0.276	0.0798	0.0494	0.092	0.0882	0.01065
Havnes Creek (M6)		Mean	0.4795429	0.307	0.114385714	0.06458571	0.08878571	0.08896667	0.01016667
Havnes Creek (M6)	7 (6)	Minimum	0.0082	0.008	0	0.0004	0.0012	0.0009	0.0003
Havnes Creek (M6)	(-)	Maximum	0.879	0.56	0.3307	0.1438	0.1754	0.1588	0.0167
Havnes Creek (M6)		St.Dev.	0.3438503	0.207	0.114808092	0.05998648	0.06431421	0.05791648	0.00601121
Kleskun Drain		Median	1,17195	0.954	0.06885	0.04065	0.1612	0.11985	0.0413
Kleskun Drain		Mean	1.2377375	0.883	0.26525	0.08555	0.1496	0.103125	0.04645
Kleskun Drain	8	Minimum	0.0358	0.029	0.002	0.0012	0.0019	0.0016	0.0003
Kleskun Drain		Maximum	3.1127	2.168	0.8568	0.3966	0.2829	0.1938	0.1183
Kleskun Drain		St.Dev.	1.0524229	0.698	0.365210135	0.13254828	0.11989379	0.0803644	0.04244055
Meadow Creek	1	Median	0.14175	0.131	0.0068	0.00545	0.0173	0.0034	0.01515
Meadow Creek		Mean	0.2991625	0.258	0.0317875	0.009225	0.0402125	0.0051125	0.035075
Meadow Creek	8	Minimum	0.0352	0.032	0.0007	0.0015	0.0035	0.0006	0.0012
Meadow Creek	_	Maximum	0.8864	0.775	0.1165	0.0236	0.1235	0.012	0.1114
Meadow Creek		St.Dev.	0.3200908	0.272	0.046073619	0.00868262	0.0451379	0.00459019	0.0407339
Paddle River		Median	0.5579	0.47	0.02985	0.03215	0.0665	0.03205	0.0293
Paddle River		Mean	0.6747625	0.603	0.0359875	0.0356625	0.106925	0.036875	0.070075
Paddle River	8	Minimum	0.1864	0.171	0.0045	0.0031	0.0198	0.0119	0.0079
Paddle River		Maximum	1.303	1.129	0.0969	0.0848	0.2625	0.0734	0.1897
Paddle River		St.Dev.	0.4603851	0.414	0.033112209	0.03012512	0.0925809	0.02472395	0.07294416
Prairie Blood Coulee	1	Median	0.15465	0.102	0.0074	0.0054	0.01175	0.0073	0.00155
Prairie Blood Coulee		Mean	0.35045	0 229	0 1125375	0.009175	0 025025	0.01525	0.0098125
Prairie Blood Coulee	8	Minimum	0 0045	0.004	0.1.120010	0 0001	0.0001	0.01010	0 0001
Prairie Blood Coulee	Ŭ	Maximum	1 2404	0 719	0 4895	0.0311	0.0937	0.0613	0.0324
Drainia Dlaad Caulaa		St Dev	0 4667616	0.283	0 180303585	0.01115805	0.03416961	0.02115771	0.01421342

Table A9.4. Summary statistics for export coefficient (kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹) data from 1999 to 2006.

Table A9.4. Cont. Summary statistics for export coefficient (kg ha⁻¹ yr⁻¹) data from 1999 to 2006.

								Total	Total
AFSA Watershed	Number of	Summary	Total	Organic-N	Nitrite-N + Nitrate-N	Ammonia-N	Total	Dissolved	Particulate
ALOA Watersheu	Years	Statistic	Nitrogen	Organic-IN		Ammonia-N	Phosphorus	Phosphorus	Phosphorus
				Our N			TD		
5 0 i				Org-N	NO ₂ -N +NO ₃ -N	NH ₃ -N	1P	IDP	
Ray Creek		Median	0.48765	0.403	0.0608	0.01435	0.0717	0.06185	0.00985
Ray Creek		Mean	0.7263125	0.546	0.1374375	0.041675	0.1027	0.078575	0.024125
Ray Creek	8	Minimum	0.0738	0.066	0.0044	0.0032	0.0073	0.0061	0.0012
Ray Creek		Maximum	2.1493	1.258	0.7387	0.1478	0.2513	0.1964	0.0782
Ray Creek		St.Dev.	0.6999555	0.441	0.247006703	0.05226263	0.09419818	0.06835748	0.02842332
Renwick Creek		Median	0.44065	0.326	0.06435	0.01825	0.1032	0.08585	0.01
Renwick Creek		Mean	0.4043375	0.263	0.1127	0.0278875	0.076875	0.0644625	0.012425
Renwick Creek	8	Minimum	0.0134	0.011	0.0013	0.0007	0.0028	0.0026	0.0002
Renwick Creek		Maximum	0.8827	0.502	0.3294	0.0931	0.1486	0.1166	0.032
Renwick Creek		St.Dev.	0.3489985	0.21	0.129805833	0.03178578	0.06001121	0.04969438	0.01203919
Rose Creek		Median	1.06905	1.016	0.0173	0.04095	0.19685	0.02635	0.1519
Rose Creek		Mean	1.35415	1.294	0.0154	0.0442	0.3176625	0.029875	0.287775
Rose Creek	8	Minimum	0.468	0.448	0.0053	0.0119	0.0322	0.0118	0.0182
Rose Creek		Maximum	3.5536	3.467	0.0294	0.0867	1.2625	0.0722	1.2257
Rose Creek		St.Dev.	1.0106354	0.989	0.008005891	0.02599703	0.39637205	0.01947018	0.39307562
Stretton Creek		Median	0.7353	0.509	0.21165	0.03035	0.10425	0.09255	0.01415
Stretton Creek		Mean	0.7642	0.51	0.210575	0.0424	0.107875	0.0924	0.015425
Stretton Creek	4	Minimum	0.255	0.14	0.0677	0.0157	0.0436	0.0358	0.0027
Stretton Creek		Maximum	1.3312	0.884	0.3513	0.0932	0.1794	0.1487	0.0307
Stretton Creek		St.Dev.	0.4431949	0.309	0.147872859	0.03476272	0.06009933	0.04861927	0.01267159
Strawberry Creek		Median	0.68625	0.559	0.1101	0.05925	0.16935	0.03035	0.1519
Strawberry Creek		Mean	1.2380375	0.94	0.1624625	0.134325	0.2982875	0.055325	0.24295
Strawberry Creek	8	Minimum	0.1061	0.08	0.0192	0.0067	0.0169	0.0053	0.0116
Strawberry Creek		Maximum	2.9436	2.473	0.639	0.4083	0.9377	0.1451	0.8422
Strawberry Creek		St.Dev.	1.1258738	0.88	0.200943353	0.15881872	0.31408348	0.05325665	0.27641824
Threehills Creek		Median	0.7768	0.516	0.1237	0.1103	0.13855	0.1057	0.0209
Threehills Creek		Mean	0.8630625	0.564	0.185425	0.1129	0.15585	0.1253125	0.030575
Threehills Creek	8	Minimum	0.0795	0.066	0.0045	0.0085	0.0135	0.0111	0.0025
Threehills Creek		Maximum	2.0599	1.197	0.6944	0.2191	0.3332	0.2733	0.0795
Threehills Creek		St.Dev.	0.7336526	0.45	0.226944359	0.09379516	0.13453532	0.11089983	0.02891499
Tomahawk Creek		Median	1.12315	0.909	0.127	0.07195	0.12465	0.0361	0.08985
Tomahawk Creek		Mean	1.250975	1.002	0.1367375	0.1113375	0.15885	0.051425	0.10745
Tomahawk Creek	8	Minimum	0.0744	0.061	0.0052	0.0079	0.007	0.0035	0.0035
Tomahawk Creek		Maximum	2,4629	2.002	0.2719	0.2735	0.3492	0.1454	0.2663
Tomahawk Creek		St.Dev.	0.7410822	0.611	0.080131961	0.08973375	0.11713999	0.04469262	0.08732038
Trout Creek		Median	0.158	0.142	0.01065	0.00555	0.0201	0.0025	0.01745
Trout Creek		Mean	0.3693	0.322	0.03535	0.01135	0.079475	0.0038875	0.0756
Trout Creek	8	Minimum	0.0187	0.017	0.0011	0.0005	0.0008	0.0004	0.0004
Trout Creek	-	Maximum	1.3757	1.247	0.1129	0.0409	0.2683	0.0125	0.2558
Trout Creek		St.Dev.	0.4709977	0.421	0.046050438	0.0141591	0.10548945	0.0043423	0.10134766
Wabash Creek		Median	0 25625	0 145	0.06905	0.0278	0.0218	0.00995	0.0073
Wabash Creek		Mean	0.3361375	0.19	0 074625	0.0698375	0 049925	0.0357875	0 0141375
Wabash Creek	8	Minimum	0.003	0.003	0 0001	0 0004	0 0006	0.0001	0 0004
Wabash Creek	-	Maximum	1 0012	0.548	0 1826	0.3226	0 2117	0 1636	0.0481
Wabash Creek		St Dev	0.3786343	0.208	0.077885516	0 11090754	0 07434665	0.05772497	0.01719717
Willow Creek		Median	0 41125	0.373	0.02735	0.00975	0.06355	0.00605	0 05745
Willow Creek		Mean	2 0451375	1 959	0.021875	0 0404875	1 1349375	0.01485	1 1200625
Willow Creek	8	Minimum	0.0763	0.055	0.0125	8300.0	0 0065	0 0017	0 0048
Willow Creek	Ĭ	Maximum	12 2442	11 905	0 1035	0 2117	8 2988	0.0686	8 2302
Willow Creek		St.Dev.	4.1550105	4.049	0.034656454	0.07048324	2.89720554	0.02267113	2.87528425
					2.30 1000 101		0001		1.1. 520.20

Cable A10.1. Sur	nmary sta	utistics fc	or all feca	il bacteria s	samples c	collected	from AE	SA strea	ms from	1999 to 2	2006.			
	E.coli						Fecal colifor	sm					% fecal col comprised	forms of <i>E.coli</i>
		% N above		Geometric	Arithmetic			% N above		Geometric	Arithmetic			
	N of cases	MDL	Median	Mean	Mean	Maximum	N of cases	MDL	Median	Mean	Mean	Maximum	Mean	Median
Low Intensity														
Hines Creek	111	59	10	16	36	300	113	71	20	21	46	470	81	100
Paddle Creek	151	75	20	26	82	1400	153	86	40	38	123	4000	75	100
Prairie Blood Coulee	110	63	12	18	66	1000	110	73	15	23	89	1400	83	98
Rose Creek	179	84	80	60	187	4900	180	88	110	78	224	4900	80	92
Willow Creek	163	47	2	11	25	470	163	53	8	14	32	470	86	100
Moderate Intensity														
Blindman Creek	177	82	60	64	350	10000	178	89	06	84	429	13000	81	100
Grande Prairie Creek	100	22	60	47	162	2800	101	85	80	59	183	2900	82	100
Kleskun Drain	70	46	14	21	385	17000	71	58	20	27	537	20000	84	100
Meadow Creek	150	97	410	448	1264	10000	150	66	520	099	2221	26000	73	76
Tomahawk Creek	152	74	38	42	638	40000	154	82	60	22	669	42000	52	100
Trout Creek	165	86	100	89	370	10000	165	93	200	143	563	24000	71	82
High Intensity														
Buffalo Creek	116	53	10	21	94	1000	118	64	20	26	114	1600	84	100
Haynes Creek (M6)	92	54	10	15	51	970	92	68	10	18	60	1100	87	100
Ray Creek	134	57	24	36	288	2900	135	70	50	48	359	8900	82	100
Renwick Creek	102	45	10	19	133	2500	103	60	10	23	166	2900	86	100
Stretton Creek	45	40	2	11	20	160	47	55	10	12	23	180	87	100
Strawberry Creek	130	79	40	51	575	21000	131	89	60	99	629	27000	78	100
Threehills Creek	136	55	20	22	101	3300	136	76	20	29	130	4700	82	100
Wabash Creek	96	57	10	16	37	310	98	67	20	20	52	400	80	100
Irrigation														
Battersea Drain	150	76	45	44	352	10000	151	81	70	28	1028	60000	78	84
Crowfoot Creek	152	81	68	57	225	9200	153	89	92	80	281	11000	76	83
Drain S6	132	69	32	39	322	10000	132	75	49	54	486	16000	80	87
New West Coulee	142	87	75	99	227	6500	142	89	110	87	275	6500	81	87

APPENDIX 10: FECAL BACTERIA SUMMARY STATISTICS

	N	N above MDL (%)	Median ²	Geometric Mean ^Z	Arithmetic Mean ^y	Min	25 th Quartile	75 th Quartile	Maximum
					(C.	FU-100 m	L ⁻¹)		
Fecal coliforms ^y	2976	2342 (79%)	50	50	417	<mdl< td=""><td>10</td><td>190</td><td>60 000</td></mdl<>	10	190	60 000
E. coli	2955	2064 (69%)	32	38	283	<mdl< td=""><td><mdl< td=""><td>150</td><td>40 000</td></mdl<></td></mdl<>	<mdl< td=""><td>150</td><td>40 000</td></mdl<>	150	40 000

Table A10.2. Summary statistics for ambient fecal bacteria data collected from 23 streams from 1999 to 2006.

^{*z*} Calculations include censored data ($1/2 \text{ MDL} = 5 \text{ CFU} \cdot 100 \text{ mL}^{-1}$)

^y Does not include fecal coliform data point from Strawberry Creek on June 12, 2000 (120 000 CFU 100 mL⁻¹)



Figure A10.1. Box plots showing all ambient fecal coliform and *E. coli* data collected from 23 AESA streams from 1999 to 2006. Dotted lines: Fecal coliform (ASWQG for recreation: 100 CFU·100 mL⁻¹) and *E. coli* (ASWQG for irrigation: 200 CFU·100 mL⁻¹).

Table A10.3a . E. cc	oli summary	statistic	s for eac	h stream, 19	999 to 200	06.					
		Z %									
		above	N %	25th		75th	95th			Geometric	Arithmetic
	N of cases	MDL	LMDL	percentile	Median	Percentile	Percentile	Maximum	IQR	Mean	Mean
Battersea Drain	150	76	24	8	45	118	736	10000		44	352
Blindman River	177	82	18	20	60	210	972	10000	190	64	350
Buffalo Creek	116	53	47	S	10	53	490	1000	48	21	94
Crowfoot Creek	152	81	19	15	68	203	554	9200	188	57	225
Drain S6	132	69	31	S	32	193	858	10000	188	39	322
Grande Prairie Creek	100	LL	23	10	60	145	533	2800	135	47	162
Hines Creek	111	59	41	Ś	10	40	153	300	35	16	36
Haynes Creek M6	92	54	46	Ś	10	37	210	970	32	15	51
Kleskun Drain	70	46	54	S	14	50	833	17000	45	21	385
Meadow Creek	150	<i>L</i> 6	З	220	410	1200	5620	10000	980	448	1264
New West Coulee	142	87	13	22	75	198	568	6500	176	66	227
Paddle Creek	151	75	25	10	20	70	435	1400	60	26	82
Prairie Blood Coulee	110	63	37	S	12	49	320	1000	44	18	<u>66</u>
Ray Creek	134	57	43	S	24	195	1000	7900	190	36	288
Renwick Creek	102	45	55	S	10	45	714	2500	40	19	133
Rose Creek	179	84	16	20	80	210	526	4900	190	60	187
Strawberry Creek	130	<i>4</i>	21	10	40	160	1820	21000	150	51	575
Stretton Creek	45	40	60	S	5	20	98	160	15	11	20
Threehills Creek	136	55	45	5	20	70	258	3300	65	22	101
Tomahawk Creek	152	74	26	6	38	140	1225	40000	131	42	638
Trout Creek	165	86	14	21	100	380	1180	10000	359	89	370
Wabash Creek	96	57	43	5	10	33	173	310	28	16	37
Willow Creek	163	47	53	5	5	22	81	470	17	11	25

Table A10.3b. Fecal	colifor	m summé	ary statist	ics for all A	ESA wate	rsheds, 199	9 to 2006.				
		N %									
	N of	above	N %	25th		75th	95th			Geometric	Arithmetic
	cases	MDL	LMDL	percentile	Median	Percentile	Percentile	Maximum	IQR	Mean	Mean
Battersea Drain	151	81	19	12	70	165	006	60000		1028	58
Blindman River	178	89	11	30	90	250	1415	13000	220	84	429
Buffalo Creek	118	64	36	S	20	90	590	1600	85	26	114
Crowfoot Creek	153	89	11	28	92	250	832	11000	222	80	281
Drain S6	132	75	25	9	49	243	1770	16000	237	54	486
Grande Prairie Creek	101	85	15	20	80	170	590	2900	150	59	183
Haynes Creek M6	92	68	32	S	10	40	269	1100	35	18	60
Hines Creek	113	71	29	S	20	50	182	470	45	21	46
Kleskun Drain	71	58	42	S	20	72	1700	20000	67	27	537
Meadow Creek	150	66	1	280	520	1900	8875	26000	1620	660	2221
New West Coulee	142	89	11	38	110	250	861	6500	212	87	275
Paddle Creek	153	86	14	10	40	90	432	4000	80	38	123
Prairie Blood Coulee	110	73	27	S	15	71	430	1400	99	23	89
Ray Creek	135	70	30	S	50	240	1790	8900	235	48	359
Renwick Creek	103	60	40	S	10	86	891	2900	81	23	166
Rose Creek	180	88	12	20	110	270	702	4900	250	78	224
Strawberry Creek	131	89	11	20	60	198	2335	120000	178	69	1563
Stretton Creek	47	55	45	S	10	20	97	180	15	12	23
Threehills Creek	136	76	24	6	20	93	270	4700	84	29	130
Tomahawk Creek	154	82	18	10	60	168	1280	42000	158	57	669
Trout Creek	165	93	L	42	200	500	2000	24000	458	143	563
Wabash Creek	98	67	33	S	20	50	248	400	45	20	52
Willow Creek	163	53	47	5	8	35	120	470	30	14	32

1999 to 2006.									
Watershed	1999	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	Average
Battersea Drain	15	18	16	15	20	25	21	21	19
Blindman Creek	34	29	17	15	13	19	32	19	22
Buffalo Creek	13	11	9	12	16	16	24	17	15
Crowfoot Creek	15	18	17	16	22	21	22	22	19
Drain S6	15	16	14	14	15	22	15	21	17
Grande Prairie	11	20	13	9	11	13	15	9	13
Creek									
Haynes Creek M6	21	21	9	7	13		11	10	13
Hines Creek	7	16	12	14	12	22	18	22	14
Kleskun Drain	7	13	7	10	8	10	11	5	9
Meadow Creek	18	13	11	20	21	22	22	23	19
New West Coulee	14	14	14	15	19	25	20	21	18
Paddle River	23	26	15	14	13	12	33	19	19
Prairie Blood	13	9	9	17	8	19	17	18	14
Coulee									
Ray Creek	30	23	12	7	14	15	19	15	17
Renwick Creek	25	11	5	5	11	13	18	15	13
Rose Creek	31	29	17	14	15	18	32	24	23
Strawberry Creek	26	30	11	11	11	17	16	10	17
Stretton Creek	11	11				6	10	9	9
Threehills Creek	30	21	12	7	14	16	18	18	17
Tomahawk Creek	23	26	14	11	15	17	31	17	19
Trout Creek	22	19	17	19	21	23	21	23	21
Wabash Creek	9	18	4	8	8	13	23	15	12
Willow Creek	25	23	21	19	16	20	21	19	21

Table A10.4. Number of fecal coliform samples and an average for each AESA watershed from 1999 to 2006.

APPENDIX 11: MEDIAN ANNUAL BACTERIA CONCENTRATIONS BY AGRICULTURAL INTENSITY



Figure A11.2. Box plots of median annual fecal coliform and *E. coli* for 23 AESA streams grouped by agricultural intensity. Groups with the same letter are not significantly different (Kruskal Wallis ANOVA and Mann-Whitney U test, p<0.05)

	199	6	200	0	200	1	200	2	200	3	200	4	200:	20	2006	
	Load ((CFU.vr ⁻¹)	Export Coeff. (CFU ha ⁻¹ vr ⁻¹)	Load	Export Coeff.	Load	Export Coeff.	Load	Export Coeff.	Load	Export Coeff.	Load	Export Coeff.	Load	Export Coeff.	Load	Export Coeff.
Low Agricultural Inte	insity	(2007		2007		2007		2007		100		2007		2007	
Hines Creek	1.1E+04	0.3	1.3E+07	349.5	1.2E+07	323.0	5.8E+06	154.9	2.7E+07	726.1	1.0E+06	27.2	2.4E+06	63.3	1.2E+05	3.3
Paddle Creek	1.7E+07	678.6	1.4E+07	560.6	8.9E+07	3526.6	1.2E+07	470.2	3.2E+06	125.9	1.8E+06	6.9	3.5E+07	1369.8	3.8E+06	150.0
Prairie Blood Coulee	4.8E+04	2.1	3.2E+04	1.4	2.1E+05	9.4	1.3E+06	58.0	2.2E+05	9.6	2.0E+05	8.9	7.2E+07	3187.7	5.2E+06	231.3
Rose Creek	5.9E+08	10605.0	2.1E+08	3701.6	7.2E+07	1294.4	2.6E+07	471.2	3.3E+07	595.7	9.8E + 08	17454.0	9.4E+07	1680.3	6.7E+07	1196.9
Willow Creek	1.1E+06	169.5	7.0E+05	107.4	8.0E+05	122.2	1.9E+06	286.1	1.7E+06	258.6	7.7E+06	1183.1	1.7E+07	2656.0	3.7E+06	566.5
Mean	I.2E+08	2291.1	4.7E+07	944.1	3.5E+07	1055.1	9.4E+06	288.1	1.3E+07	343.2	2.0E+08	3748.6	4.4E + 07	1791.4	I.6E+07	429.6
Median	I.IE+06	169.5	1.3E+07	349.5	I.2E+07	323.0	5.8E+06	286.1	3.2E+0.6	258.6	1.8E+06	69.9	3.5E+07	1680.3	3.8E+06	231.3
Moderate Agriculturs	I Intensity															
Blindman Creek	1.9E+09	54841.0	1.6E+09	46463.5	1.4E+08	3895.0	1.7E+07	475.2	2.3E+07	644.1	9.7E+06	275.8	6.1E+07	1734.8	3.0E+07	857.4
Grande Prairie Creek	2.3E+06	162.4	6.2E+06	444.4	2.1E+07	1488.2	2.1E+07	1482.3	1.3E+07	899.7	6.1E+07	4331.5	2.4E+07	1729.7	3.1E+06	223.1
Kleskun Drain	3.3E+05	102.4	1.1E+04	3.4	1.3E+07	3988.4	4.2E+06	1311.9	3.4E+06	1051.1	2.9E+06	913.7	2.0E+05	61.2	9.2E + 03	2.9
Meadow Creek	1.3E+07	1005.3	5.2E+06	398.3	6.3E+06	483.6	4.1E+07	3147.3	1.4E+07	1083.2	7.7E+06	591.6	8.8E+07	6744.8	1.3E+08	10225.0
Tomahawk Creek	3.6E+07	3737.6	1.7E+07	1821.2	2.4E+07	2547.9	3.0E+06	312.7	3.8E+06	398.5	2.6E+07	2734.5	1.1E+07	1106.0	3.1E+06	321.2
Trout Creek	1.0E+07	228.7	2.2E+06	51.0	7.4E+06	168.3	1.3E+08	2880.0	9.1E+07	2072.2	3.6E+07	824.5	4.8E + 08	10977.1	4.9E+08	11025.8
Mean	3.3E+08	10012.9	2.8E+08	8197.0	3.5E+07	2095.2	3.5E+07	1601.6	2.5E+07	1024.8	2.4E+07	1611.9	I.IE+08	3725.6	I.IE+08	3775.9
Median	1.2E+07	617.0	5.7E+06	421.4	I.7E+07	2018.0	I.9E+07	1397.1	I.3E+07	975.4	I.8E+07	869.1	4.3E+07	1732.2	I.7E+07	589.3
High Agricultural Int	ensity															
Buffalo Creek	7.4E+05	50.6	4.0E+05	27.5	1.0E+06	67.8	3.7E+05	25.2	1.8E+06	121.9	3.8E+06	255.7	2.6E+06	176.2	8.7E+06	592.6
Haynes Creek (M6)	1.1E+06	64.3	2.4E+05	14.7	1.4E+04	0.8	1.1E+05	6.6	3.2E+06	195.0		,	6.1E+05	36.9	1.3E+06	78.7
Ray Creek	1.6E+07	3523.0	3.7E+05	83.3	5.9E+05	133.3	7.2E+04	16.2	3.1E+05	69.8	6.5E+05	145.7	1.1E+07	2426.5	2.0E+06	439.9
Renwick Creek	1.3E+06	220.7	5.9E+03	1.0	2.0E+04	3.5	2.3E+03	0.4	1.4E+06	249.5	2.3E+05	38.9	1.9E+06	321.1	4.5E+05	76.9
Stretton Creek	5.0E+04	8.9	I	,	ı	,	,	,	,		5.9E+04	10.6	3.3E+05	58.4	5.5E+05	97.2
Strawberry Creek	8.8E+07	1496.0	1.9E+09	31873.6	2.0E+09	34636.8	6.3E+06	107.1	7.6E+06	129.2	4.9E+06	83.0	8.2E+07	1389.1	5.1E+07	868.9
Threehills Creek	3.3E+06	239.8	3.7E+05	27.1	2.4E+05	17.0	8.5E+05	61.9	8.7E+06	633.9	6.8E+05	49.3	9.1E+06	658.4	2.5E+06	181.9
Wabash Creek	4.6E+03	0.1	2.1E+05	6.0	1.2E+05	3.6	9.8E+05	28.4	9.7E+05	28.2	1.6E+06	47.7	1.0E+07	296.4	1.2E+05	3.5
Mean	I.4E+07	700.4	2.7E+08	4576.2	2.9E+08	4980.4	1.2E+0.6	35.1	3.4E+06	203.9	1.7E+06	90.1	1.5E+07	670.4	8.3E+06	292.5
Median	1.2E+0.6	142.5	3.7E+05	27.I	2.4E+05	17.0	3.7E+05	25.2	I.8E+06	129.2	6.8E + 05	49.3	5.8E+0.6	308.7	1.6E+06	139.6
Irrigation Agriculture																
Battersea Drain	2.2E+07		7.3E+06		7.2E+06		3.1E+08		1.5E+07		1.5E+07		2.1E+08		1.0E+08	
Crowfoot Creek	2.5E+07	ı	4.7E+07	ı	3.6E+07	·	2.9E+07		3.5E+07		7.5E+07		6.1E+08	ı	6.1E+07	·
Drain S6	ı	ı	ı		ı		·						·			
New West Coulee	2.2E+07		2.9E+07	,	3.0E+07		1.3E+08	'	8.3E+07		3.4E+07		5.2E+07		8.6E+07	,
Mean	2.3E+07		2.8E+07		2.5E+07		I.6E+08		4.4E+07		4.1E+07		2.9E+08		8.2E+07	ī
Median	2.2E+07		2.9E+07		3.0E+07		1.3E+08	,	3.5E+07		3.4E+07		2.1E+08		8.6E+07	

Table A12.1a. Annual *E. coli* load and export values for all AESA streams from 1999 through 2006. Irrigated watersheds do not have exports as the effective drainage area could not be determined. APPENDIX 12: FECAL BACTERIA LOADS AND EXPORT COEFFICIENTS, 1999 TO 2006

watersheds do	
5. Irrigated	
rrough 2000	
rom 1999 tl	
A streams f	
or all AES.	termined.
ort values f	d not be de
ad and exp	ce area coul
coliform lo	ive drainag
nual fecal	s the effect
A12.1b. An	e exports a
Table /	not hav

	1995	6	200	0	200		2002	2	200	3	2002		2005		2006	
I		Export Coeff.														
	CFU.yr ⁻¹)	сг∪ na yr¹)	Load	Export Coeff.	Load	Export Coeff.	Load	Export Coeff.	Load	Export Coeff.	Load	Export Coeff.	Load	Export Coeff.	Load	Export Coeff.
Low Agricultural Inte	nsity															
Hines Creek	1.1E+04	0.29	1.4E+07	363.9	2.3E+07	617.8	6.7E+06	179.3	3.4E+07	901.5	1.6E+06	42.9	4.8E+06	127.3	1.5E+05	4.1
Paddle Creek	1.8E+07	713.2	1.6E+07	632.2	9.2E+07	3644.3	2.6E+07	1033.2	5.0E+06	196.1	3.6E+06	142.2	5.0E+07	1985.5	4.3E+06	169.0
Prairie Blood Coulee	6.1E+04	2.7	3.5E+04	1.5	3.3E+05	14.4	1.7E+06	74.1	2.4E+05	10.6	2.6E+05	11.5	7.2E+07	3193.8	7.7E+06	339.5
Rose Creek	6.5E+08	11716.2	3.4E+08	6113.1	8.1E+07	1442.0	2.8E+07	508.6	3.8E+07	674.9	9.9E + 08	17669.2	1.3E+08	2295.8	7.6E+07	1360.5
Willow Creek	2.7E+06	411.5	1.1E+06	160.9	1.2E+06	176.5	2.4E+06	366.1	1.7E+06	258.6	1.1E+07	1665.4	2.1E+07	3234.7	4.6E+06	700.9
Mean	I.4E+08	2568.8	7.4E+07	1454.4	3.9E+07	1179.0	I.3E+07	432.3	1.6E+07	408.3	2.0E+08	3906.2	5.5E+07	2167.4	1.9E+07	514.8
Median	2.7E+06	411.5	1.4E+07	363.9	2.3E+07	617.8	6.7E+06	366.1	5.0E+0.6	258.6	3.6E+0.6	142.2	5.0E+07	2295.8	4.6E + 06	339.5
Moderate Agricultura	I Intensity															
Blindman Creek	2.4E+09	68952.7	1.9E+09	53378.4	2.8E+08	7998.0	1.7E+07	486.1	2.7E+07	756.9	1.5E+07	418.3	9.1E+07	2570.2	4.1E+07	1151.9
Grande Prairie Creek	3.1E+06	221.4	6.3E+06	448.1	2.3E+07	1643.2	2.1E+07	1526.1	1.3E+07	933.7	6.4E+07	4560.8	2.9E+07	2056.2	3.1E+06	223.1
Kleskun Drain	3.9E+05	123.2	2.7E+05	85.8	1.3E+07	4001.4	4.4E+06	1359.7	3.5E+06	1089.9	3.2E+06	995.6	4.9E+05	153.3	9.2E+03	2.9
Meadow Creek	2.7E+07	2097.6	9.7E+06	747.7	7.1E+06	549.9	4.2E+07	3236.4	1.9E+07	1464.1	8.6E+06	660.7	1.9E+08	14770.7	2.4E+08	18660.9
Tomahawk Creek	3.9E+07	4087.6	2.3E+07	2396.5	2.4E+07	2557.7	3.3E+06	346.5	4.7E+06	498.4	3.5E+07	3642.5	1.5E+07	1597.3	3.3E+06	346.9
Trout Creek	3.0E+07	675.7	5.9E+06	132.7	1.6E+07	354.3	1.5E+08	3360.4	1.1E+08	2466.4	4.5E+07	1015.3	5.2E+08	11869.7	1.0E+09	22849.7
Mean	4.2E+08	12693.0	3.2E + 08	9531.5	6.1E+07	2850.7	3.9E+07	1719.2	2.9E+07	1201.6	2.8E+07	1882.2	I.4E+08	5502.9	2.2E+08	7205.9
Median	2.9E+07	1386.7	8.0E+06	597.9	1.9E+07	2100.4	1.9E+07	1442.9	I.6E+07	1011.8	2.5E+07	1005.5	6.0E+07	2313.2	2.2E+07	749.4
High Agricultural Inte	ensity					<u> </u>										
Buffalo Creek	8.6E+05	58.5	4.1E+05	28.2	1.1E+06	73.0	4.2E+05	28.6	1.9E+06	131.2	4.5E+06	307.7	3.7E+06	253.5	8.8E+06	600.8
Haynes Creek (M6)	1.5E+06	90.0	2.7E+05	16.0	1.6E+04	1.0	8.3E+04	5.0	3.8E+06	226.8	ī		8.6E+05	51.8	1.3E+06	79.3
Ray Creek	2.1E+07	4815.7	4.4E+05	99.5	7.5E+05	169.0	1.3E+05	28.2	3.2E+05	72.5	6.7E+05	149.9	1.5E+07	3305.9	2.7E+06	602.8
Renwick Creek	1.7E+06	301.0	6.4E+03	1.1	2.0E+04	3.5	2.5E+03	0.4	1.6E+06	267.8	2.6E+05	45.4	2.4E+06	411.0	7.9E+05	135.9
Stretton Creek	7.1E+04	12.6	ı	ı	ı	ı	I	ı	ı	ı	6.0E+04	10.6	3.3E+05	58.7	6.4E+05	113.1
Strawberry Creek	1.1E+08	1821.9	6.3E+09	107749.2	2.5E+09	42179.1	9.7E+06	165.2	9.5E+06	160.5	6.0E+06	102.5	9.6E+07	1626.1	5.7E+07	963.5
Threehills Creek	4.0E+06	293.4	4.4E+05	31.8	2.6E+05	18.7	8.5E+05	61.9	9.3E+06	675.6	8.3E+05	60.0	1.5E+07	1060.8	2.8E+06	204.3
Wabash Creek	5.7E+03	0.2	2.7E+05	7.7	1.9E+05	5.5	1.2E+06	36.1	9.8E+05	28.4	3.0E+06	86.3	1.1E+07	326.8	1.4E+05	4.0
Mean	I.7E+07	924.2	9.1E + 08	15419.1	3.6E + 08	6064.2	I.8E+06	46.5	3.9E+06	223.3	2.2E+06	108.9	I.8E+07	886.8	9.2E+06	338.0
Median	1.6E+06	191.7	4.1E+05	28.2	2.6E+05	18.7	4.2E + 05	28.6	1.9E+06	160.5	8.3E+05	86.3	7.5E+06	368.9	2.0E+06	170.1
Irrigation Agriculture																
Battersea Drain	4.8E + 07	ı	1.8E + 07	,	1.1E+07	1	9.6E+08	ı	1.7E+07		1.9E+07	ı	1.5E+09	ı	1.5E+08	
Crowfoot Creek	3.9E+07		6.8E+07		4.3E+07		4.5E+07		5.4E+07		8.7E+07		7.1E+08	ı	6.8E+07	
Drain S6			ı							,				ı	ı	,
New West Coulee	3.1E+07	,	4.5E+07	,	6.5E+07	,	1.8E+08	,	8.7E+07	,	4.3E+07	,	6.3E+07	ı	9.0E+07	ī
Mean	3.9E+07		4.4E+07		4.0E + 07		4.0E + 08		5.3E+07	•	4.9E+07		7.5E+08		I.0E+08	
Median	3.9E+07		4.5E+07	'	4.3E+07		I.8E+08		5.4E+07		4.3E+07		7.1E+08		9.0E + 07	

APPENDIX 13: DETECTION FREQUENCY AND MAXIMUM CONCENTRATION OF 42 PESTICIDE COMPOUNDS FOR ALL WATERSHEDS 1999 TO 2006.

	2006		13	0.342 0.028	0.006		0.380																						1.00.0	0.187	0.818									
	2005		10	0.347 0.041	0.037		0.021																		0.024	140.0														
2006	2004		13	0.141 0.010	0.009	0.005																																		
998 to	2003	-1)	11	8.534 0.043	0.018	0.085	0.310 0.310	0.348	0.014	0.109															0.210	2.1.0	0.074													
in, 19	2002	m (µg L	9	0.27	.014	.159	0.007	.007	000.																370													395		
ea Dra	2001	Maximu	7	356 279 (.014	037	032	2001	0)	,											·			
atterse	5000		10	020. 7	.005 0	.015 0		007 0		.011	.025																													
s in B	5 666		9	202 0	0	.023 0	600	030 0	.142	0	.781 0																													
puno	998 1		13	759 0. 102 0.		048 0.	110 0.	050 0.	0	011	007 0.																													
comp	rs 19	an		90 1.1 48 0.1	22	19 0.0	12	10.0	8	6 0.0	6 0.0	0 0	00	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0	<u> </u>	2 6	00	2	0 0	ΣC	5 00	15	0	0	0	0	0	0		<u> </u>	15
cide	6 All Y	Mea	3	20 20	2	0	0 0	0	0	0	0	0 0	00	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	00			00	0	0		<u> </u>	2	0	0	0	0	0	0			~
pesti	5 200		0	0 0	00	00	" > <u>o</u>	0	0	0	0	00	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0			χo	0	0			-				0	0	0			LC.
[42]	14 200		13	23 10	15 6	15		0	0	0	0	00	00	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0			, o o	0	0									c	5 0		04
io uc	3 200	:y (%)	, 11	2 2	8	∞ 2	g o	9 8	6	27	0	00	00	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0		<u>م</u>	00	6	0									c	0 0) -
trati	02 200	equenc	9	88	33	000	2 8	12	17	0	0	00	00	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0		- - -	0	0	0									0	55		, o.
ncen	01 20(ion Fr	7	6 6 6	43	53	<u>†</u> <u>†</u>	4	0	0	0	0 0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0		>															~
n coi	00 200	Detect	10	09 01	10	50		, 10 10	0	10	10	0 0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0		>															~
mur	39 20		9	83 67	0	17	o 1	17	50	0	33	00	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0		>															~
maxi	98 19		13	92 54	0	23	0 23 0	15	0	15	8	00	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0	D																2
and	19	pur	zed	PA A	(M) D	Ì	ШШ	(HC	(N	ВЦ	님	Щ	NO	NO	ЭЩ	Щ Ш	۲Ľ	(X)	Z	AC			< LL	۲. ۲.	oL	<u></u>		<u>сш</u>	Σ	Ë	Щ	ZIN	NX	Z	ج ت	<u> </u>	2, 1	1 * 0 =
ection frequency		Pesticide Compo	nber of samples analy	MC	TRIALLATE(AVADEXE		DICHLORPROP(2.4-	BROMOXY	ATRAZ	MCPP(MECOPR(RIFOS-ETHYL(DURSB)	2,4 SENIZENJEHEXACHLOR	BROMA	JESISOPROPYLATRAZ	DIAZIN	DIUR	ETHALFLURALIN(ED	EXACHLORIDE (LINDA)	AZAMETHABENZ-METH	PICLORAM(TORD)	PYRIDAE	QUINCLOF	TRIFLURALIN(TREFL		SIMAZ	TRICLOF	2,4-DICHLOROPHEN	LORO-2-METHYLPHEN		ETHOFUMES/	METALAXY	IAFOP ACID METABOL	IPRODIC	METRIBU	OXYCARBO	VINCLOZO	METHOM	JEYPHOSAIE(KOUND)		ber of compounds detect
Table A13.1. Det			Nui								CHLORPY							GAMMA-BENZENEH	IM									4-CH				CLODIN								Num

mpounds in Blindman River, 1997 to 2006.	337 1330 1333 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2003 2000	<u>3 17 18 14 10 10 9 13 19 10</u>	0.029 0.033 0.026 0.091 0.078 0.016 0.105 0.029 0.006 0.018 0.028 0.041 0.008 0.014 0.007 0.010 0.013		0.013 0.008	0.024			0.011 0.027								0 105 0 031 0 156 0 193 0 180 0 023						0.060 0.074 0.155 0.158 0.091												
ompounds in Blindman Ri	1991 1990 1999 2000 2001	3 17 18 14 10	0.006 0.018 0.028 0.026 0.091 0.008				0 0.8		0.011 0.027								0.105 0.031 0.156 0.193																		
side co	Mean		29 16	0	2	- (04	10	N	00	00	0	0 0		0	00	0 0	0	00	0 0	00	0	26	00	00	00	0 0	00	0	0	00		0	00	5
estic		10	50 10	0	10	0 0	0 0	00	0	0 0	00	0	0 0		0	00	30.0	0	0 0	0 0	0	0	20	0 0	00	00		0	0	0	00		0	00	
2 pe		19	47 16	0	0	0 0	0 10	00	0	00	00	0	0 0		0	00	÷	0	0 0	-	00	0	32	0 0	>						00		•		4
of 4	1	13	33 38	0	0	0 0	0 «	00	0	00	00	0	0 0		0	0 0		0	0 0	-	0	0	46	0 0	>						00	>			-
ion	5 (%)	6	22 22	0	1	0 0	o [0	0	00	00	0	0 0		0	0 0		0	0 0	-	0	0	1	0 0	0	0 0		0	0	0					4
itrat		10	0 20	0	0	10	0 0	0	0	00	0	0	0 0		0	0 0	0 02	0	0 0		0	0	20	0 0	>										-
ncen	Freat	10	50 10	0	0	0 0	0 0	0	0	00	00	0	0 0		0	00	n 08	0	0 0		0														,
	tection	14	29 7	. 0	0	0 0	0 0	00	14	0 0	00	0	0 0		0	0 0	0 22	; 0	0 0		0														
num	Det	18	9 8	0	0	0 0	o <u>-</u>	0	9	00	00	0	0 0		0	00	> <u>-</u>	0	0 0		0														
axir	<u>ś</u>	. 7	<u>∞</u> ∾	0	0	0 0	o c	0	0	00	00	0	00		0	00	⊃ ∞	0	0 0		>														
d m	ž.	3	0 0	0	0	0 0	0 0	00	0	00	00	0	c		0	00)	c	С															
V an	7	9	3 7 0	, 	<u>-</u>	$\overline{\gamma}$	<u> </u>	<u>ı m</u>	<u> </u>	<u>-</u> "	<u>. m</u>		<u>ш २</u>	27		<u></u> -	<u></u>	7	() ^	<u>- ^</u>	<u> </u>	ш	œ		17	<u>د ۲</u>		; Ш	ш	z	ZŻ	<u>z</u> ,			<u>и</u> !*
ble A13.2. Detection frequency	Pesticide compoun	Number of samples analyze	2,4- MCP	TRIALLATE(AVADEXBM	DICAMBA(BANVEI	CLOPYRALID(LONTREI	DICHLOR PROP(2,4-DF BROMOXVNI	ATRAZIN	MCPP(MECOPROF	CHLORPYRIFOS-ETHYL(DURSBAN	ALPHA-BENZENEHEXACHLORID	BROMACI	DESISOPROPYLATRAZIN		ETHALFLURALIN(EDGE	GAMMA-BENZENEHEXACHLORIDE(LINDANE		PYRIDABE	QUINCLORA	I KIFLUKALIN(I KEFLAN IMAZETHADVI	IMAZAMO	SIMAZIN	TRICLOPY	2,4-DICHLOROPHENO 4-CHLORO-2-METHYL PHENO	BENTAZO	FLUROXYPY		CLODINAFOP ACID METABOLIT	IPRODION	METRIBUZI		METHOMYL	GLYPHOSATE(ROUNDUF		

frequency and maximum conc	ticide Compound	amples analyzed 3 12 2 15 12	2,4-D 100 83 100 100 92 MCDA 67 50 0 40 50	ATE(AVADEXBW) 67 17 0 13 0	CAMBA(BANVEL) 67 25 100 87 75	XALIU(LON I KEL) 0 8 0 0 1/ DRPROP(2.4-DP) 0 8 0 0 0	BROMOXYNIL 33 25 0 7 8	ATRAZINE 67 50 50 33 25	PP(MECOPROP) 100 6/ 100 /3 6/ HVI / DI IRSRANI 0 8 0 0 0		HEXACHLORIDE 0 0 0 0 0		DIAZINON 0 0 0 0 8	DIURON 0 0 0 0 0	-LURALIN(EDGE) 33 0 0 7 0 DRIDE/I INDANE) 33 8 0 0 0	HABENZ-METHYL 0 0 0 0 0 8	ORAM(TORDON) 0 25 50 40 0	DUINCLORAC 0 0 0 0 0	RALIN(TREFLAN) 33 0 0 0 0	IMAZETHAPYR 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	SIMAZINE		METHYLPHENOL	BENTAZON	THOFUMESATE			METRIBUZIN	OXYCARBOXIN			IOSPHONICACID	GLUFOSINATE	nnipounius detected 1 to 12 3 a a
centration	requency (%)	15 17	100 100 53 47	0 41	60 59 67 59	27 6 13 0	13 18	0 0	40 65 0	, o	00		0	0		0 29	00		0		0	0 0	00	00				0					7	-
n of 42 [-	11 14	100 100 65 43	27 29	55 29 5	ດດ	18 14	0 0 6 1	09 0 0 0	, o	00		000	0		27 14	00		0		0	00	00	0 אנ	0	0 0	00	0	00	0	Þ		7 71	1 71
<u>pestici</u>	2	13	100	္ ထ	11	2 2 2	23	0 (46 0	0	0 0	0 0	00	0	0 0	31,	23	0 0	0	αα	00	23	<u>2</u> 0	0 4	<u>20</u>	0 0	00	0	0 0	0 0	>		15	0
vre 1997	lean		98 1.	20 o.	63 0.	2 ~	16 0.4	23 0.0	68 - U	- 0	0 0	<u> </u>	, -	0	4 4	1 1	14	0 0	3.0		0	ى س	00	0 0	00	0 0	00	0	0 0	5 0	>		21	17
npound:		3 12	006 0.502	407 0.026	405 0.319	0.038	007 0.058	026 0.047	064 0.036 0.015	2					006 010 0.023	0100	0.058		007															
s in Cr	. –	2	0.021		0.015	_		0.009	0.024	_							0.005																	
<u>owfoo</u>	Maximum	15	1.407	0.108	0.058		0.008	0.027	0.133						0.009		0.025																	
t Creek	Concentra	12	0.35 0		0.436 0.0	0.040 0.0	0.005 0.0	0.015	0.032 0.0				0.041			0.074																		
(, 1997	tion (µg L	15	1.15 1.13	0.1	052 0.4	0.0 025 0.0	029 0.0		070 0.0							1.1						Ċ	5											
to 20(-1)	17 1-	87 0.48 ⁴	19 0.03	27 0.03	20 0.03	15 0.019	0.016	39 0.015							13 0.678						61 0.01		,000	20.0									
)6. 2005		14	4 0.162	3 0.037	7 0.093	+ 0	9 0.024	0	0.045							3 0.439						-		0	J									
õ		1	1.68	0.00	0.16	0.0	0.5(Ċ	0.0							0.40	0.04			0.02		0.07	0.0	070	5									
2004 2005 2006	(µg L ⁻¹)	13 8 13	0.144 4.8 0.32 0.007 0.272 0.013	0.104	0.067 0.079 0.092		0.057	0.000 0.002 0.024 0.057																										

 | 0.095

 | | | | |

 | | 0.018

 | |
 | | |

 | |

 | | 0.248 0.054 0.465 | 0.240 0.001 0.100
 | | 0.308 0.487 | | 0.106 | | |
 | | 0.011
 | | | |
|----------------|---|--|---|--|---|--|---
--
--
--
--

--
--
--
--
---|---|--|---|--
--
--
--
---|---
--
--
--
--|---|---|---|--
--
--
--|---
--
--
--|---|---|---
---|---|---|---|---|--
--|---
--|--|---|---|
| 2003 2 | ntration (| 10 | 0.144
0.031 | | 0.023 | 0.109 | | 0.033

 | 0.050

 | | | | |

 | |

 | |
 | 0.041 | |

 | |

 | | 0.371 |
 | | 0.030 | 0.073 | | | |
 | |
 | | | |
| 2002 | m Conce | 7 | 0.176
0.039 | 0.006 | 0.016 | | |

 |

 | | | | |

 | |

 | |
 | 0.640 | |

 | |

 | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | |
 | | | |
| 2001 | Maximui | 6 | 0.014 | | 0.012 | | | 0 132

 | 10.00

 | | | | |

 | |

 | |
 | 0.030 | |

 | |

 | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | |
 | | | |
| 2000 | | 8 | 0.104 | | 0.029 | | |

 |

 | | | | |

 | |

 | |
 | | |

 | |

 | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | |
 | | | |
| 1999 | | 7 | 0.205 | | 0.043 | 0.053 | 0.016 | 0.0.0

 | 0.015

 | | | | |

 | |

 | |
 | | |

 | |

 | | |
 | | | | | | |
 | |
 | | | |
| All Yrs | Mean | | 70
38 | 30 | 34 | с u | ε | 04

 | . 5

 | 0 | 0 | 00 | | 0

 | 0 | 2

 | 0 | 0
 | 0 | 0 | 0

 | D | 0

 | 0 | 0 0 | 3 6.
 | 0 | 39 | 13 | 20 | 0 | 0 0 |
 | | 04
 | · C | 5 | 0 |
| 2006 | | 13 | 85
23 | 0 | 31 | 0 0 | 0 0 | 0 0

 | 0

 | 0 | 0 | 0 0 | | 0

 | 0 | 0

 | 0 | 0
 | 0 | 0 | 0

 | C | 0

 | 0 | 0 4 | 9 C
 | 0 | 8 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 0 |
 | |
 | | 5 | 2 |
| 002 | | œ | 100 | 13 | 25 | 0 | <u>5</u> | <u>, </u>

 | <u>0</u>

 | 0 | 0 | 0 0 | | 0

 | 0 | 13

 | 0 | 0
 | 0 | 0 | 0

 | C | 0

 | 0 | 0 4 | 2 7
 | 0 | | | | | |
 | C |
 | | > | > |
| 004 2 | (%) / | 13 | 62
15 | 0 | 46 | 0 0 | 0 0 | 0 C

 | 0

 | 0 | 0 | 0 0 | | 0

 | 0 | 0

 | 0 | 0
 | 0 | 0 | 0

 | C | 0

 | 0 | 0 0 | ç c
 | 0 | 100 | 0 | 80 | 0 | 0 0 |
 | | 5
 | | | 0 |
| 003 2 | (Suenc) | 10 | 30
30 | 0 | 30 | 9 | 0 0 | р С

 | 0

 | 0 | 0 | 0 0 | | 0

 | 0 | 0

 | 0 | 0
 | 9 | 0 | 0

 | Э | 0

 | 0 | 6 0 |
 | 0 | 50 | 50 | 0 | 0 | 0 0 |
 | 5 |
 | | | 0 |
| 002 2 | n Frec | 7 | 71 | 5 4 | 43 | 0 0 | 0 0 |

 | 0

 | 0 | 0 | 0 0 | | 0

 | 0 | 0

 | 0 | 0
 | 29 | 0 | 0

 | C | 0

 | 0 | 0 0 |
 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 | 0 0 |
 | 0 |
 | | | 0 |
| 01 2(| stectio | 6 | 67
33 | 0 | 33 | 0 0 | 0 0 | , t

 | 0

 | 0 | 0 | 0 0 | | 0

 | 0 | 0

 | 0 | 0
 | 33 | 0 | 0

 | 0 | 0

 | 0 | |
 | | | | | | |
 | |
 | | | |
| 00 20 | Ğ | ∞ | 50
38 | 0 | 38 | 0 0 | 0 0 |

 | 0

 | 0 | 0 | 0 0 | | 0

 | 0 | 0

 | 0 | 0
 | 0 | 0 | 0

 | 0 | 0

 | 0 | |
 | | | | | | |
 | |
 | | | |
| 99 20 | | 7 | 86
57 | ; 0 | 29 | 4 | 4 7 | <u>t</u> C

 | , 1

 | 0 | 0 | 0 0 | | 0

 | 0 | 0

 | 0 | 0
 | 0 | 0 | 0

 | 0 | 0

 | 0 | |
 | | | | | | |
 | |
 | | | |
| 199 | Pesticide compound | Number of samples analyzed | 2,4-D 8
MCPA | TRIALLATE(AVADEXBW) | DICAMBA(BANVEL) | | |

 | MCPP(MECOPROP)

 | CHLORPYRIFOS-ETHYL(DURSBAN) | 2,4-DB | ALPHA-BENZENEHEXACHLORIDE | | DIAZINON

 | DIURON | ETHALFLURALIN(EDGE)

 | GAMMA-BENZENEHEXACHLORIDE(LINDANE) | IMAZAMETHABENZ-METHYL
 | PICLORAM(TORDON) | PYRIDABEN |

 | I KIFLUKALIN (I KEFLAN) | IMAZETHAPYR

 | IMAZAMOX | |
 | 4-CHLORO-2-METHYLPHENOL | BENTAZON | FLUROXYPYR | ETHOFUMESATE | METALAXYL-M | CLODINAFOP ACID METABOLITE |
 | |
 | | | GLYPHOSATE(ROUNDUP) |
| | 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 All Yrs 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 | [1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 All Yrs [1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2006 2005 2006
Pesticide compound Detection Frequency (%) Mean Maximum Concentration (µg L ⁻¹) | 1999 2000 2001 2002 2005 2006 All Yrs 1999 2001 2001 2003 2004 2005 2006 Pesticide compound Detection Frequency (%) Mean Maximum Concentration (µg L ⁻¹) Number of samples analyzed 7 8 9 7 10 13 8 13 7 8 9 7 10 13 8 13 | 1999 2000 2001 2002 2005 2006 All Yrs 1999 2001 2002 2003 2005 2006 Pesticide compound Detection Frequency (%) Mean Maximum Concentration (µg L ⁻¹) Number of samples analyzed 7 8 9 7 10 13 8 13 7 8 9 7 10 13 8 13 2,4-D 86 50 67 71 40 62 100 85 70 0.205 0.104 0.176 0.144 0.144 4.8 0.3 MCPA 57 38 33 57 30 15 50 23 38 0.105 0.014 0.07 0.077 0.077 0.077 0.077 0.727 0.01 | 1939 2000 2001 2002 2005 2006 All Yrs 1999 2001 2001 2003 2004 2005 2006 Pesticide compound Detection Frequency (%) Mean Maximum Concentration (µg L ⁻¹) Number of samples analyzed 7 8 7 10 13 8 13 7 8 9 7 10 13 8 13 2,4-D 86 50 67 71 40 62 100 85 70 0.205 0.104 0.176 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.3 0.0105 0.014 0.107 0.272 0.01 TRIALLATE(AVADEXBW) 0 0 0 13 0 13 0 0 0.106 0.106 0.104 0.014 0.104 | 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 All Yrs 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 Pesticide compound Detection Frequency (%) Main Maximum Concentration (µg L ⁻¹) Number of samples analyzed 7 8 9 7 10 13 8 13 7 8 9 7 10 13 8 13 8 13 8 13 8 13 8 10 13 8 13 8 7 8 9 7 10 13 8 13 8 13 8 13 8 13 8 13 8 13 8 13 8 13 8 13 8 13 8 13 9 13 8 13 14 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.124 0.124 0.124 0.124 0.124 0.124 0.114 0.124 0.114 0.107 0.272 0.011 MCPA 7 38 0.105 0.144 0.144 0.144 < | 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 All Yrs 1999 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 Pesticide compound Detection Frequency (%) Mean T Number of samples analyzed T 8 9 7 10 13 8 13 7 8 9 7 10 13 8 13 7 8 9 7 10 13 8 13 7 8 9 7 10 13 8 13 7 8 9 7 10 13 8 13 7 8 9 7 10 13 8 13 7 8 9 7 10 13 8 13 0.33 0.31 0.077 0.272 0.011 MCPA 57 38 33 57 30 15 50 23 38 0.105 0.041 0.014 0.144 0.144 4.8 0.3 MCPA 57 38 33 57 30 15 50 23 38 0.105 0.014 0.076 0.014 0.078 0.0 | Testicide compound 1999 2000 2001 2001 2001 2003 2004 2005 2006 2003 2004 2005 2003 2004 2005 2003 2004 2005 2003 2004 2005 2004 2005 2003 2004 2005 2003 2004 2005 2003 2004 2005 2003 2004 2005 2004 2005 2003 2004 2005 2005 2003 2004 2005 2005 2005 2004 2005 <td>Testicide compound 1999 2000 2001 2001 2003 2004 2005 2006 2003 2004 2005 2004 2005 2003 2004 2005 2003 2004 2005 2005 2003 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005<td>Triant Testicide compound Detection Frequency (%) Mean Maximum Concentration (µg L⁻¹) 2003 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 20</td><td>Testicide compound Testicide compound Detection Frequency (%) Maximum Concentration (µg L⁻¹) Number of samples analyzed 7 8 9 7 10 13 8 13 7 8 9 7 10 13 8 13 7 8 9 7 10 13 8 13 7 8 9 7 10 13 8 13 7 8 9 7 10 13 8 13 0.3 0.014 0.014 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.104 0.017 0.017 0.017 0.017 0.017 0.017 0.017 0.017 0.017 0.017 0.017 0.017 0.017 0.016 0.022 0.016 0.023 0.016 0.023 0.016 0.023 0.016 0.023 0.016 0.023 0.016 0.023 0.016 0.023 0.016 0.023 0.016 0.023 0.016 0.023<</td><td>Testicide compound Detection Frequency (%) All Yrs 1999 Z000 Z001 Z002 Z003 Z004 Z005 Z0</td><td>Testicide compound Detection Z003 Z004 Z005 Z004 Z003 Z004 Z003 Z004 Z003 Z004 Z003 Z004 Z003 Z004 Z003 Z004 Z005 Z004 Z003 Z004 Z003 Z004 Z003 Z004 Z003 Z004 Z003 Z004 Z003 Z004 Z005 Z004 Z003 Z0</td><td>Testicide compound Totage Z003 Z004 Z005 Z004 Z005 Z005 Z004 Z005 Z005 Z003 Z004 Z005 Z005 Z003 Z004 Z005 Z003 Z005 <thz05< th=""> Z005 Z005<td>Testicide compound Testicide compound Testici</td><td>Tiges 2001 2005 2001 2005 2003 2001 2005 2005 2001 2005 2001 2005 2003 2001 2005 2003 2001 2005 2003 2001 2005 2001 2005 2001 2005 2003 2001 2005 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 <t< td=""><td>TRIALENTE Testicide compound Detection Frequency (%) Mean Maximum Concentration (µg L¹) Z04 Z002 Z003 Z044 Z045 Z004 Z005 Z014 Z045 Z046 Z004 Z005 Z014 Z044 Z045 Z045 Z04 Z05 Z041 Z044 Z044 Z043 Z044 Z043 Z043 Z043 Z043 Z044 Z044 Z014 <thz014< th=""> Z014</thz014<></td><td>Testicide compound Testicide compound Testici</td><td>Testicide compound Testicide compound Testici</td><td>Testicide compound Testicide compound Detection Frequency (%) Mean T Baximum Concentration (µL⁻¹) 2003 2004 0.012 0.001 2001 2002 2003 2004 0.015 0.014 0.176 0.141 0.143 0.033 0.013 0.033 0.013 0.033 0.013 0.033 0.013 0.033 0.013 0.034 0.014 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.143 0.013 0.033 0.013 0.037 0.013 0.033 0.013 0.007 0.272 0.011 NCH 57 38 33 57 30 57 3 3 0.013 0.007 0.272 0.011 0.013 0.013 0.007 0.272 0.011 0.013 0.013 0.014 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.143 0.013 0.007 0.013 0.013 0.014 0.014 0.014 0.014</td><td>Transmission Total Solution <thtotal solu<="" td=""><td>Transaction Total Transaction Total Transactititition Total Transaction</td><td>Tiger Total <th< td=""><td>Pesticide compound Testicide compound Testici</td><td>Testicide compound Testicide compound Testici</td><td>Testicide compand Testicide compand</td><td>Testicide compound Testicide compound Testici</td><td>Testicide compound Testicide compound Testici</td><td>Total Francision Total Staticide Compound Total Total</td><td>Transmission Testicide compound
Testicide compound Testicide compound</td><td>Transmission Testicide compound Testicide com</td><td>Testidio Testidio Component Defection Number of samples Zubit <thzubit< th=""> Zubit Zubit <</thzubit<></td><td>Pestidio compound
momber of samples analyzed
samples analyzed
p Tends for
a Description for
a</td><td>Festicide compound
selected compound Festicide compound
Festicide compound Festicide compound <th< td=""><td>Pesitole company Pastole c</td><td>Transfer Test biolity of simples Test biolity of simples</td><td>Transmistion Test 2000 ZUIT ZUD ZUT ZUD ZUD</td><td>Tenaticide compound
munitor of samples analyzed
in the familytic samples Tenaticide compound
in the familytic samples Tenaticide</td></th<></td></th<></td></thtotal></td></t<></td></thz05<></td></td> | Testicide compound 1999 2000 2001 2001 2003 2004 2005 2006 2003 2004 2005 2004 2005 2003 2004 2005 2003 2004 2005 2005 2003 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 <td>Triant Testicide compound Detection Frequency (%) Mean Maximum Concentration (µg L⁻¹) 2003 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 20</td> <td>Testicide compound Testicide compound Detection Frequency (%) Maximum Concentration (µg L⁻¹) Number of samples analyzed 7 8 9 7 10 13 8 13 7 8 9 7 10 13 8 13 7 8 9 7 10 13 8 13 7 8 9 7 10 13 8 13 7 8 9 7 10 13 8 13 0.3 0.014 0.014 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.104 0.017 0.017 0.017 0.017 0.017 0.017 0.017 0.017 0.017 0.017 0.017 0.017 0.017 0.016 0.022 0.016 0.023 0.016 0.023 0.016 0.023 0.016 0.023 0.016 0.023 0.016 0.023 0.016 0.023 0.016 0.023 0.016 0.023 0.016 0.023<</td> <td>Testicide compound Detection Frequency (%) All Yrs 1999 Z000 Z001 Z002 Z003 Z004 Z005 Z0</td> <td>Testicide compound Detection Z003 Z004 Z005 Z004 Z003 Z004 Z003 Z004 Z003 Z004 Z003 Z004 Z003 Z004 Z003 Z004 Z005 Z004 Z003 Z004 Z003 Z004 Z003 Z004 Z003 Z004 Z003 Z004 Z003 Z004 Z005 Z004 Z003 Z0</td> <td>Testicide compound Totage Z003 Z004 Z005 Z004 Z005 Z005 Z004 Z005 Z005 Z003 Z004 Z005 Z005 Z003 Z004 Z005 Z003 Z005 <thz05< th=""> Z005 Z005<td>Testicide compound Testicide compound Testici</td><td>Tiges 2001 2005 2001 2005 2003 2001 2005 2005 2001 2005 2001 2005 2003 2001 2005 2003 2001 2005 2003 2001 2005 2001 2005 2001 2005 2003 2001 2005 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 <t< td=""><td>TRIALENTE Testicide compound Detection Frequency (%) Mean Maximum Concentration (µg L¹) Z04 Z002 Z003 Z044 Z045 Z004 Z005 Z014 Z045 Z046 Z004 Z005 Z014 Z044 Z045 Z045 Z04 Z05 Z041 Z044 Z044 Z043 Z044 Z043 Z043 Z043 Z043 Z044 Z044 Z014 <thz014< th=""> Z014</thz014<></td><td>Testicide compound Testicide compound Testici</td><td>Testicide compound Testicide compound Testici</td><td>Testicide compound Testicide compound Detection Frequency (%) Mean T Baximum Concentration (µL⁻¹) 2003 2004 0.012 0.001 2001 2002 2003 2004 0.015 0.014 0.176 0.141 0.143 0.033 0.013 0.033 0.013 0.033 0.013 0.033 0.013 0.033 0.013 0.034 0.014 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.143 0.013 0.033 0.013 0.037 0.013 0.033 0.013 0.007 0.272 0.011 NCH 57 38 33 57 30 57 3 3 0.013 0.007 0.272 0.011 0.013 0.013 0.007 0.272 0.011 0.013 0.013 0.014 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.143 0.013 0.007 0.013 0.013 0.014 0.014 0.014 0.014</td><td>Transmission Total Solution <thtotal solu<="" td=""><td>Transaction Total Transaction Total Transactititition Total Transaction</td><td>Tiger Total <th< td=""><td>Pesticide compound Testicide compound Testici</td><td>Testicide compound Testicide compound Testici</td><td>Testicide compand Testicide compand</td><td>Testicide compound Testicide compound Testici</td><td>Testicide compound Testicide compound Testici</td><td>Total Francision Total Staticide Compound Total Total</td><td>Transmission Testicide compound
Testicide compound Testicide compound</td><td>Transmission Testicide compound Testicide com</td><td>Testidio Testidio Component Defection Number of samples Zubit <thzubit< th=""> Zubit Zubit <</thzubit<></td><td>Pestidio compound
momber of samples analyzed
samples analyzed
p Tends for
a Description for
a</td><td>Festicide compound
selected compound Festicide compound
Festicide compound Festicide compound <th< td=""><td>Pesitole company Pastole c</td><td>Transfer Test biolity of simples Test biolity of simples</td><td>Transmistion Test 2000 ZUIT ZUD ZUT ZUD ZUD</td><td>Tenaticide compound
munitor of samples analyzed
in the familytic samples Tenaticide compound
in the familytic samples Tenaticide</td></th<></td></th<></td></thtotal></td></t<></td></thz05<></td> | Triant Testicide compound Detection Frequency (%) Mean Maximum Concentration (µg L ⁻¹) 2003 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 2004 2005 20 | Testicide compound Testicide compound Detection Frequency (%) Maximum Concentration (µg L ⁻¹) Number of samples analyzed 7 8 9 7 10 13 8 13 7 8 9 7 10 13 8 13 7 8 9 7 10 13 8 13 7 8 9 7 10 13 8 13 7 8 9 7 10 13 8 13 0.3 0.014 0.014 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.104 0.017 0.017 0.017 0.017 0.017 0.017 0.017 0.017 0.017 0.017 0.017 0.017 0.017 0.016 0.022 0.016 0.023 0.016 0.023 0.016 0.023 0.016 0.023 0.016 0.023 0.016 0.023 0.016 0.023 0.016 0.023 0.016 0.023 0.016 0.023< | Testicide compound Detection Frequency (%) All Yrs 1999 Z000 Z001 Z002 Z003 Z004 Z005 Z0 | Testicide compound Detection Z003 Z004 Z005 Z004 Z003 Z004 Z003 Z004 Z003 Z004 Z003 Z004 Z003 Z004 Z003 Z004 Z005 Z004 Z003 Z004 Z003 Z004 Z003 Z004 Z003 Z004 Z003 Z004 Z003 Z004 Z005 Z004 Z003 Z0 | Testicide compound Totage Z003 Z004 Z005 Z004 Z005 Z005 Z004 Z005 Z005 Z003 Z004 Z005 Z005 Z003 Z004 Z005 Z003 Z005 Z005 <thz05< th=""> Z005 Z005<td>Testicide compound Testicide compound Testici</td><td>Tiges 2001 2005 2001 2005 2003 2001 2005 2005 2001 2005 2001 2005 2003 2001 2005 2003 2001 2005 2003 2001 2005 2001 2005 2001 2005 2003 2001 2005 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 <t< td=""><td>TRIALENTE Testicide compound Detection Frequency (%) Mean Maximum Concentration (µg L¹) Z04 Z002 Z003 Z044 Z045 Z004 Z005 Z014 Z045 Z046 Z004 Z005 Z014 Z044 Z045 Z045 Z04 Z05 Z041 Z044 Z044 Z043 Z044 Z043 Z043 Z043 Z043 Z044 Z044 Z014 <thz014< th=""> Z014</thz014<></td><td>Testicide compound Testicide compound Testici</td><td>Testicide compound Testicide compound Testici</td><td>Testicide compound Testicide compound Detection Frequency (%) Mean T Baximum Concentration (µL⁻¹) 2003 2004 0.012 0.001 2001 2002 2003 2004 0.015 0.014 0.176 0.141 0.143 0.033 0.013 0.033 0.013 0.033 0.013 0.033 0.013 0.033 0.013 0.034 0.014 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.143 0.013 0.033 0.013 0.037 0.013 0.033 0.013 0.007 0.272 0.011 NCH 57 38 33 57 30 57 3 3 0.013 0.007 0.272 0.011 0.013 0.013 0.007 0.272 0.011 0.013 0.013 0.014 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.143 0.013 0.007 0.013 0.013 0.014 0.014 0.014 0.014</td><td>Transmission Total Solution <thtotal solu<="" td=""><td>Transaction Total Transaction Total Transactititition Total Transaction</td><td>Tiger Total <th< td=""><td>Pesticide compound Testicide compound Testici</td><td>Testicide compound Testicide compound Testici</td><td>Testicide compand Testicide compand</td><td>Testicide compound Testicide compound Testici</td><td>Testicide compound Testicide compound Testici</td><td>Total Francision Total Staticide Compound Total Total</td><td>Transmission Testicide compound
Testicide compound Testicide compound</td><td>Transmission Testicide compound Testicide com</td><td>Testidio Testidio Component Defection Number of samples Zubit <thzubit< th=""> Zubit Zubit <</thzubit<></td><td>Pestidio compound
momber of samples analyzed
samples analyzed
p Tends for
a Description for
a</td><td>Festicide compound
selected compound Festicide compound
Festicide compound Festicide compound <th< td=""><td>Pesitole company Pastole c</td><td>Transfer Test biolity of simples Test biolity of simples</td><td>Transmistion Test 2000 ZUIT ZUD ZUT ZUD ZUD</td><td>Tenaticide compound
munitor of samples analyzed
in the familytic samples Tenaticide compound
in the familytic samples Tenaticide</td></th<></td></th<></td></thtotal></td></t<></td></thz05<> | Testicide compound Testici | Tiges 2001 2005 2001 2005 2003 2001 2005 2005 2001 2005 2001 2005 2003 2001 2005 2003 2001 2005 2003 2001 2005 2001 2005 2001 2005 2003 2001 2005 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 2001 2003 <t< td=""><td>TRIALENTE Testicide compound Detection Frequency (%) Mean Maximum Concentration (µg L¹) Z04 Z002 Z003 Z044 Z045 Z004 Z005 Z014 Z045 Z046 Z004 Z005 Z014 Z044 Z045 Z045 Z04 Z05 Z041 Z044 Z044 Z043 Z044 Z043 Z043 Z043 Z043 Z044 Z044 Z014 <thz014< th=""> Z014</thz014<></td><td>Testicide compound Testicide compound Testici</td><td>Testicide compound Testicide compound Testici</td><td>Testicide compound Testicide compound Detection Frequency (%) Mean T Baximum Concentration (µL⁻¹) 2003 2004 0.012 0.001 2001 2002 2003 2004 0.015 0.014 0.176 0.141 0.143 0.033 0.013 0.033 0.013 0.033 0.013 0.033 0.013 0.033 0.013 0.034 0.014 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.143 0.013 0.033 0.013 0.037 0.013 0.033 0.013 0.007 0.272 0.011 NCH 57 38 33 57 30 57 3 3 0.013 0.007 0.272 0.011 0.013 0.013 0.007 0.272 0.011 0.013 0.013 0.014 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.143 0.013 0.007 0.013 0.013 0.014 0.014 0.014 0.014</td><td>Transmission Total Solution <thtotal solu<="" td=""><td>Transaction Total Transaction Total Transactititition Total Transaction</td><td>Tiger Total <th< td=""><td>Pesticide compound Testicide compound Testici</td><td>Testicide compound Testicide compound Testici</td><td>Testicide compand Testicide compand</td><td>Testicide compound Testicide compound Testici</td><td>Testicide compound Testicide compound Testici</td><td>Total Francision Total Staticide Compound Total Total</td><td>Transmission Testicide compound
Testicide compound Testicide compound</td><td>Transmission Testicide compound Testicide com</td><td>Testidio Testidio Component Defection Number of samples Zubit <thzubit< th=""> Zubit Zubit <</thzubit<></td><td>Pestidio compound
momber of samples analyzed
samples analyzed
p Tends for
a Description for
a</td><td>Festicide compound
selected compound Festicide compound
Festicide compound Festicide compound <th< td=""><td>Pesitole company Pastole c</td><td>Transfer Test biolity of simples Test biolity of simples</td><td>Transmistion Test 2000 ZUIT ZUD ZUT ZUD ZUD</td><td>Tenaticide compound
munitor of samples analyzed
in the familytic samples Tenaticide compound
in the familytic samples Tenaticide</td></th<></td></th<></td></thtotal></td></t<> | TRIALENTE Testicide compound Detection Frequency (%) Mean Maximum Concentration (µg L ¹) Z04 Z002 Z003 Z044 Z045 Z004 Z005 Z014 Z045 Z046 Z004 Z005 Z014 Z044 Z045 Z045 Z04 Z05 Z041 Z044 Z044 Z043 Z044 Z043 Z043 Z043 Z043 Z044 Z044 Z014 Z014 <thz014< th=""> Z014</thz014<> | Testicide compound Testici | Testicide compound Testici | Testicide compound Testicide compound Detection Frequency (%) Mean T Baximum Concentration (µL ⁻¹) 2003 2004 0.012 0.001 2001 2002 2003 2004 0.015 0.014 0.176 0.141 0.143 0.033 0.013 0.033 0.013 0.033 0.013 0.033 0.013 0.033 0.013 0.034 0.014 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.143 0.013 0.033 0.013 0.037 0.013 0.033 0.013 0.007 0.272 0.011 NCH 57 38 33 57 30 57 3 3 0.013 0.007 0.272 0.011 0.013 0.013 0.007 0.272 0.011 0.013 0.013 0.014 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.144 0.143 0.013 0.007 0.013 0.013 0.014 0.014 0.014 0.014 | Transmission Total Solution Total Solution <thtotal solu<="" td=""><td>Transaction Total Transaction Total Transactititition Total Transaction</td><td>Tiger Total <th< td=""><td>Pesticide compound Testicide compound Testici</td><td>Testicide compound Testicide compound Testici</td><td>Testicide compand Testicide compand</td><td>Testicide compound Testicide compound Testici</td><td>Testicide compound Testicide compound Testici</td><td>Total Francision Total Staticide Compound Total Total</td><td>Transmission Testicide compound
Testicide compound Testicide compound</td><td>Transmission Testicide compound Testicide com</td><td>Testidio Testidio Component Defection Number of samples Zubit <thzubit< th=""> Zubit Zubit <</thzubit<></td><td>Pestidio compound
momber of samples analyzed
samples analyzed
p Tends for
a Description for
a</td><td>Festicide compound
selected compound Festicide compound
Festicide compound Festicide compound <th< td=""><td>Pesitole company Pastole c</td><td>Transfer Test biolity of simples Test biolity of simples</td><td>Transmistion Test 2000 ZUIT ZUD ZUT ZUD ZUD</td><td>Tenaticide compound
munitor of samples analyzed
in the familytic samples Tenaticide compound
in the familytic samples Tenaticide</td></th<></td></th<></td></thtotal> | Transaction Total Transactititition Total Transaction | Tiger Total Total <th< td=""><td>Pesticide compound Testicide compound Testici</td><td>Testicide compound Testicide compound Testici</td><td>Testicide compand Testicide compand</td><td>Testicide compound Testicide compound Testici</td><td>Testicide compound Testicide compound Testici</td><td>Total Francision Total Staticide Compound Total Total</td><td>Transmission Testicide compound
Testicide compound Testicide compound</td><td>Transmission Testicide compound Testicide com</td><td>Testidio Testidio Component Defection Number of samples Zubit <thzubit< th=""> Zubit Zubit <</thzubit<></td><td>Pestidio compound
momber of samples analyzed
samples analyzed
p Tends for
a Description for
a</td><td>Festicide compound
selected compound Festicide compound
Festicide compound Festicide compound <th< td=""><td>Pesitole company Pastole c</td><td>Transfer Test biolity of simples Test biolity of simples</td><td>Transmistion Test 2000 ZUIT ZUD ZUT ZUD ZUD</td><td>Tenaticide compound
munitor of samples analyzed
in the familytic samples Tenaticide compound
in the familytic samples Tenaticide</td></th<></td></th<> | Pesticide compound Testicide compound Testici | Testicide compound Testici | Testicide compand Testicide compand | Testicide compound Testici | Testicide compound Testici | Total Francision Total Staticide Compound Total Total | Transmission Testicide compound
Testicide compound Testicide compound | Transmission Testicide compound Testicide com | Testidio Testidio Component Defection Number of samples Zubit Zubit <thzubit< th=""> Zubit Zubit <</thzubit<> | Pestidio compound
momber of samples analyzed
samples analyzed
p Tends for
a Description for
a | Festicide compound
selected compound Festicide compound
Festicide compound Festicide compound <th< td=""><td>Pesitole company Pastole c</td><td>Transfer Test biolity of simples Test biolity of simples</td><td>Transmistion Test 2000 ZUIT ZUD ZUT ZUD ZUD</td><td>Tenaticide compound
munitor of samples analyzed
in the familytic samples Tenaticide compound
in the familytic samples Tenaticide</td></th<> | Pesitole company Pastole c | Transfer Test biolity of simples Test biolity of simples | Transmistion Test 2000 ZUIT ZUD ZUT ZUD ZUD | Tenaticide compound
munitor of samples analyzed
in the familytic samples Tenaticide compound
in the familytic samples Tenaticide |

Table A13.6. Detection frequency and ma	aximu	m c	ncen	tratic	on of	42 pe	esticic	le co	npol	<u>unds in</u>	Granc	le Prair	ie Cre	ek, 199	99 to 2(06.	
	1999 2	0000	2001 2	002 2	003 2	004 20	005 20	06 AI	, ≺rs	666	0000	2001	002	003	004 2	005 2	900
Pesticide Compound			Detectic	n Fre	quency	(%)		2	lean			Maximun	Concer	tration (µg L ⁻¹)		
Number of samples analyzed	2	12	∞	5	9	ø	6	9		2	12	8	5	9	8	6	9
2,4-D MCPA	0 22	50 20	25 63	20 80	17 33	38 93	22 44	50 33	25 50	0 187	0.041	1.164 0.083	0.023	0.005	0.017	0.006	0.111
TRIALLATE(AVADEXBW)	56	25	13	60	33	25	0	0	25	0.029	0.464	0.012	0.080	0.020	0.015		
DICAMBA(BANVEL)	1 4	33	13	0	0	13	0	50	15	0.044	0.213	0.007			0.006		0.071
CLOPYRALID(LONTREL)	29	42	50	40	17	50	4	33	33	0.128	0.221	0.052	0.069	0.109	0.261	0.023	0.330
DICHLORPROP(2,4-DP)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0								
BROMOXYNIL	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0								
ATRAZINE	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0								
MCPP(MECOPROP)	29	25	0	0	0	13	0	17	10	0.040	0.030				0.008		0.006
CHLORPYRIFOS-ETHYL(DURSBAN)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0								
2,4-DB	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0								
ALPHA-BENZENEHEXACHLORIDE	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0								
BROMACIL	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0								
DESISOPROPYLATRAZINE	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0								
DIAZINON	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0								
DIURON	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0								
ETHALFLURALIN(EDGE)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0								
GAMMA-BENZENEHEXACHLORIDE(LINDANE)	29	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	4	0.030							
IMAZAMETHABENZ-METHYL	4	25	13	20	0	25	1	17	16	0.227	1.521	0.146	0.189		0.311	0.453	0.247
PICLORAM(TORDON)	0	17	25	20	0	0	0	17	10		0.316	2.364	0.054				0.148
PYRIDABEŇ	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0								
QUINCLORAC	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0								
TRIFLURALIN(TREFLAN)	14	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	0.007							
IMAŻETHAPYŔ	29	0	0	20	0	13	0	17	10	0.163			0.077		0.070		0.054
IMAZAMOX	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0								
SIMAZINE				0	0	0	0	0	0								
TRICLOPYR				60	100	50	0	0	42				0.235	0.433	0.061		
2,4-DICHLOROPHENOL				0	0	0	0	0	0								
4-CHLORO-2-METHYLPHENOL				0	0	0	0	0	0								
BENTAZON						0		0	0								
FLUROXYPYR						100		0	50						0.054		
ETHOFUMESATE						0		0	0								
METALAXYL-M						0		0	0								
CLODINAFOP ACID METABOLITE						0		0	0								
IPRODIONE						0		0	0								
METRIBUZIN	_					0		0	0								
OXYCARBOXIN						0	0	0	0								
VINCLOZOLIN	_					0	0	0	0								
METHOMYL							0	0	0								
GLYPHOSATE(ROUNDUP)																	
AMINOMETHYLPHOSPHONICACID	_																
GLUFOSINATE					1			+									
Number of compounds detected*	6	8	7	8	5	10	4	8	13								
*Does not include Glvp	phosate, /	AMPA	or Glufo	sinate													

2004 2005 2006	on(µg L ⁻¹)	7 8 8 8	0.008																						8														
2003	oncentratio	6																							131 0.01														
2001 2002	Maximum C	65	0.081	0.010																					7.0														
1999 2000		3		0.014																																			
II Yrs	lean		4	~ 0	00	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0	0	0	0	0	0 0		00	0	0	0	0	0	10	0	0 0	0 0		0	0	0	0	0	0			ſ	n
06 A	2	8	0	00	00	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0	0	0	0	0	0 0		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0	<u> </u>	0	0	0	0	0	0			-	5
05 20		œ	13	00	00	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0	0	0	0	0	0 0		00	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0						0	0	0			-	-
14 20	(%	œ	0	00	00	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0	0	0	0	0	0 0		00	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0		0	0	0	0	0				6	5
3 200	ency (2	0	00	00	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0	0	0	0	0	0 0		00	0	0	0	0	0	4	0	0											•	_
2 200	Frequ	6	0	00	00	0 0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0	0	0	0	0	0 0		00	0	0	0	0	0	č	0	0	0 0		0 0	0	0						•	_
1 200	ection	5	0	0.0	00	0 0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0	0	0	0	0	0 0		00	0	0	0	0															c	Z
0 200	Dete	9	0	00	00	0 0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0	0	0	0	0	0 0		00	0	0	0	0																
200		~	0	<i>с</i>		0	0	0	0	0	0	0.0	0	0	0	0	0	- -		0	0	0	0																
1996	71	-	0	8				-				<u>~ -</u>	 -	-	-		_		~ 7	<u> </u>		~	~		~					 ·		_	_	_				*	
	Pesticide Compound	Number of samples analyzed	2,4-D	MCPA		CLOPYRALID(LONTREL)	DICHLORPROP(2,4-DP)	BROMOXYNIL	ATRAZINE	MCPP(MECOPROP)	CHLORPYRIFOS-ETHYL(DURSBAN)	2,4-DB AI PHA-BENZENEHEY ACHI OBIDE	DESISOPROPYLATRAZINE	DIAZINON	DIURON		GAMMA-BENZENEHEXACHLORIDE(LINDANE)		PYRIDABEN	QUINCLORAC	TRIFLURALIN(TREFLAN)	IMAZETHAPYR	IMAZAMOX	SIMAZINE	TRICLOPYR	2,4-DICHLOROPHENOL	4-CHLORO-2-METHYLPHENOL			CLODINAFOP ACID METABOLITE	IPRODIONE	METRIBUZIN	OXYCARBOXIN	VINCLOZOLIN	METHOMYL	GLYPHOSATE(ROUNDUP)	AMINOMETHYLPHOSPHONICACID	Number of commended defected*	

Table A13.8. Detection frequency and	d may	kimu	m cc	ncen	tratic	on of	42 p	estic	ide co	noduu	inds in	Hayne	es Cre	sk M1	1999	to 20	06.	
-	1998 19	999 Z	000 20	01 20(12 200	3 200	4 2005	2006	All Yrs	1998	1999	2000	2001 2	002 2(03 20	004 20	005 20	900
Pesticide Compound			Detec	tion Fre	aduenc	y (%)			Mean			Max	imum Co	ncentratio	n (µg L ⁻	(
Number of samples analyzed	5	∞	13	5	4	9	33	8		2	8	13	5	4	9	e	8	4
2,4-D MCPA	80	38 25	54 54	8 8	75 50 50	3 10 33 10	000	3 75	22	0.069	0.179 0.296	0.817 1.878	0.17 0.030	0.028	0.41 0.035	0.04	0.065	0.034
TRIALLATE(AVADEXBW)	20	25	0	0	0	0	0	0		0.011	0.006							
DICAMBA(BANVEL)	0	0	ωġ	0 0	0	0	01	0	- 8			0.011						
	0 0	ĝ	46	60	е С	0 0		22	00		0.152	2.717	0.086	0.198	0.238	0.388	0.138	0.819
		о к		-			5 c		<u>ل</u> ر		0.082					0.005		
ATRAZINE	0 0	20	0	0	0	, , 0					700.0					0.00		
MCPP(MECOPROP)	0 0	0	0 00	0	25 0	0	00	0	· ব			0.025		0.030				
CHLORPYRIFOS-ETHYL(DURSBAN)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0									
2,4-DB	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0									
ALPHA-BENZENEHEXACHLORIDE	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0									
BROMACIL	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0									
DESISOPROPYLATRAZINE	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0									
DIAZINON	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0									
DIURON	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0									
ETHALFLURALIN(EDGE)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0									
GAMMA-BENZENEHEXACHLORIDE(LINDANE)	40	38	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.025	0.025							
IMAZAMETHABENZ-METHYL	0	75	92	80	75 1C	0 10	0 38	3 75	7		6.287	5.250	0.203	0.586	0.517	1.204	0.722	0.864
PICLORAM(TORDON)	40	50	77	40	5 00	300	0 0) 75	52	0.017	0.056	0.136	0.332	0.093	0.226	0.015		0.163
PYRIDABEN	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0									
QUINCLORAC	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0									
TRIFLURALIN(TREFLAN)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0									
IMAZETHAPYR	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0									
IMAZAMOX		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0									
SIMAZINE					0	0	0	0	0									
TRICLOPYR					25 E	10 10	0 25	0	43					0.011	0.026	0.490	0.047	
2,4-DICHLOROPHENOL					0	0	0	0	0									
4-CHLORO-2-METHYLPHENOL					0	0	0	0	0									
BENTAZON						0	0	0	0									
FLUROXYPYR					(N	5 10	Q	0	42						0.042	0.460		
ETHOFUMESATE						0	0	0	0									
METALAXYL-M						0	0	0	0									
CLODINAFOP ACID METABOLITE						0	0	0	0									
IPRODIONE						0	0	25	ω									0.178
METRIBUZIN						0	0	0	0									
OXYCARBOXIN							0	0	0									
VINCLOZOLIN							0	0	0									
METHOMYL							÷	0	9								0.100	
GLYPHOSATE(ROUNDUP)					20	о 3	e		28					1.105		0.859		
AMINOMETHYLPHOSPHONICACID					0	0	0		0									
GLUFOSINATE					0	0	0		0									
Number of compounds detected*	5	8	7	5	7	7	8	9 6	14									
*Does not include Glyp	hosate, A	AMPA o	r Glufos	nate														

	1998 195 1
100 33 100 100 50 100 006	1
0 0	
21 33 0	24
64 83 100 83 59 0008 0.035 0.016 0.132 0.160 0.223 0.004 0.118 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.014 0.018 0.004 0.118 0.003 0.004 0.118 0.003 0.005 0.004 0.118 0.003 0.005 0.004 0.118 0.003 0.004 0.118 0.003 0.004 0.118 0.003 0.004 0.118 0.003 0.004 0.118 0.005 0.004 0.118 0.005 0.004 0.118 0.005	0
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	4 5
0 0	4
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	0
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	0
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	0 0
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	0
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	0
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	4
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	0
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	0.
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	4 9
$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	<u>ల</u> ్ల ల్ల
0 0	20
0 0	0
0 0	ဂ္ဂ ပ္
0 0	n 0
0 100 0 17 29 0 0 0 0 0 50 0 0 0 0 50 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 <td< td=""><td>)</td></td<>)
0 0 0 0 0 50 0 0 0 50 0 0 25 0	
0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	
x x x x x x x x x x x x x x	
x x x x x x x x x x x x x x	
x x x x x x x x x x x x x x	
x 7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	
x 2000 2000 2000 2000 2000 2000 2000 20	
x 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2 2	
x x y y y y y y y y y y y y y y y y y y	
л л л л л л л л л л л л л л л л л л л	
к к л л л л л л л л л л л л л л л л л л	
8 6 5 7 4 7 18	
	0

Pesticide Compound Detection Frequency (%) Number of samples analyzed 4 5 6 7 6 4 2,4-D 25 50 100 50 83 100 83 100 MCPA 0 38 60 33 33 43 67 0 MCPA 0 38 60 33 33 43 67 0 MCPA 0 38 60 33 33 43 67 0 DICAMBA(BANVEL) 0 0 20 17 0	Mean 74 34 13 72 72 0		Maxim	c				
Number of samples analyzed 4 8 5 6 7 6 4 2,4-D 25 50 100 50 83 100 83 100 MCPA 0 38 60 33 33 43 67 0 MCPA 0 38 60 33 33 43 67 0 MCPA 0 38 60 33 33 43 67 0 DICAMBA(BANVEL) 0 13 40 33 17 0	744 34 72 72 00			um Conce	entration (ug L ⁻¹)		
2,4-D 25 50 100 50 83 100 83 100 MCPA 0 38 60 33 33 43 67 0 DICAMBA(BANVEL) 0 38 60 33 33 43 67 0 DICAMBA(BANVEL) 0 13 40 33 17 0 0 0 DICAMBA(BANVEL) 50 13 60 100 83 86 83 100 DICHLORPROP(2,4-DP) 0 13 40 33 17 0	74 34 72 72 00	4	8 8	9	9	7	9	4
TRIALLATE (AVADE WOL) 0	13 13 13 13 13 13	0.009 1.9	72 0.359 74 0.065	0.83	0.241	0.457	0.027	0.142
DICAMBA(BANVEL) 0 13 40 33 17 0 0 0 CLOPYRALID(LONTREL) 50 13 60 100 83 86 83 100 DICHLORPROP(2,4-DP) 0<	13 72 0	2	0.034	0.412	100.0	0	0000	
CLOPYRALID(LONTREL) 50 13 60 100 83 86 83 100 DICHLORPROP(2,4-DP) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 BROMOXYNIL 0 0 0 0 14 0 0 ATRAZINE 0 0 0 0 14 0 0 MCPP(MECOPROP) 0 0 40 0 0 0 0 0 CHLORPYRIFOS-ETHYL(DURDERAN) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	72	0.1	90 0.027	0.048	0.012			
CHLORPYRIFOS-ETHYL(DURSBAN) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0) (0.066 0.1	34 0.232	1.790	1.439	0.873	0.243	0.133
ATRAZINE 0 0 0 0 14 0 0 MCPP(MECOPROP) 0 0 40 0 0 0 0 CHLORPYRIFOS-ETHYL(DURSBAN) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	2					0.011		
MCPP(MECOPROP) 0 0 40 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	2					0.070		
CHLORPYRIFOS-ETHYL(DURSBAN) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 2.4-DB 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	5		0.051					
2.4-DBI 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	0 0							
	0 (
ALPHA-BENZENEHEXACHLOKIDE U U 2U U U U U BROMACII D D D D D D D	n c		200.0	~				
	00							
DIURON 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	0							
ETHALFLURALIN(EDGE) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	0							
/IMA-BENZENEHEXACHLORIDE(LINDANE) 25 0 20 17 0 14 0 0	ດ	0.027	0.029	0.021		0.009		
IMAZAMETHABENZ-METHYL 0 0 60 17 0 0 0 75	19		0.163	3 0.146				0.837
PICLORAM(TORDON) 25 88 80 83 100 100 50 100 DVDIDABENI 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	78	0.073 13.4	07 1.947	2.580	0.819	2.085	0.494	1.285
TRIFLURALIN(TREFLAN) 25 25 0 0 0 0 0	9 0	0.013 0.0	13					
IMAZETHAPYR 50 0 0 0 0 14 0 0	8	0.182				0.079		
IMAZAMOX 0 0 0 0 14 0 0	2					0.037		
SIMAZINE 0 0 0 0	0							
TRICLOPYR 17 17 0 0	2			0.780	0.031			
2,4-DICHLOROPHENOL 0 0 14 0 0	<i>с</i> о с					0.023		
ETHOFUMESATE 0 0 0 0	0							
METALAXYL-M 0 0 0 0	0							
CLODINAFOP ACID METABOLITE 0 0	0							
	0							
METRIBUZIN 0 0 0	0							
OXYCARBOXIN 0 0	0							
	0 0							
	C							
Number of compounds detected* 6 6 10 9 6 10 4 4	17							
	:							

feadow Creek, 1997 to 2006.	ZUUT ZUUZ ZUUS ZUU4 ZUU3 ZUU4 Virmin Connection (r.c. 1-1)	aximum Concentration (µg L)	3 5 10 10 12 10 1 <u>3</u>	1 0.023 0.057 0.014 0.154 0.015 0.009																	0.062																							
compounds in N	199/ 1999 2000	- Ma	2 5 (0.052 0.094					0.011																										_									
icide	Moon	Mean		29 1 E	20	0	0	0	2	0	0	0 (0 0		0	0	0	0	0	0	- c	00	0 0	0 0	0 0			00	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0	יכ	0	D				4	
pest	0007		13	ω ο	0 0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0	0 0	0 0	0 0	0 0			0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0	5	0	0			-	N	
f 42	C002		10	30	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0		0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0	0 0	0 0	0 0	0 0			0	0							Ċ	<u>о</u>	0	0			C	N	
io uo		(0)	12	20		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0		0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0	0 0	0 0	0 0	0 0			0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0	0	0					-	
ratic		ncy (%	9	20		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0		0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0	0 0	0 0	0 0	0 0			0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0						-	-	
cent		reque	10	50		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0		0	0	0	0	0	0	6 0	0 0	0 0	0 0	0 0			0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0						6	N	
conc		tion F	5	00	0,0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0		0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0	0 0	0 0	0 0	0 0	5																¢	м.	nate
um		Letec	9	33	30	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0		0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0	0 0	0 0	0 0	0 0	5																¢	N	Glufosi
Xim	507 201		5	0 6	20	0	0	0	20	0	0	0	0 0		0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0	0 0	0 0	0 0	0 0	5																,		IPA or
1 ma			5	00		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0)	0	0	0	0	0	0		c	D																		.	_	ate, AN
V and	22	g	p∈		, S		Ē.	Ê.		Щ	Ê.	2 g	Вμ	<u>, </u>	ļЩ	Z	Z	ш	ш i	<u>ک</u> :	2 P	z (2	2 g	τ>	<u>< 1</u>	įκ	<u>۲</u>	7	Z	ĸ	Щ	Σ	Ш	Щ	z	Z	Z,		Б Г	Ξŀ	<u>,</u>	ď	Slyphos
Table A13.11. Detection frequency	and a printer of	Pesticide Compour	Number of samples analyze	2,4- MCD	TRIALLATE(AVADEXBW	DICAMBA(BANVEI	CLOPYRALID(LONTRE)	DICHLORPROP(2,4-DI	BROMOXYN	ATRAZIN	MCPP(MECOPROI	CHLORPYRIFOS-ETHYL(DURSBA)	2,4-C AI PHA-BENZENEHEXACHI ORID	BROMACI	DESISOPROPYLATRAZIN	DIAZINO	DIURO	ETHALFLURALIN (EDGI	GAMMA-BENZENEHEXACHLORIDE(LINDANI	IMAZAMETHABENZ-METHY	PICLORAM(TORDOF						TRICLOPY	2.4-DICHLOROPHENC	4-CHLORO-2-METHYLPHENC	BENTAZO	FLUROXYPY	ETHOFUMESAT	METALAXYL-	CLODINAFOP ACID METABOLIT	IPRODION	METRIBUZI		NINCLOZOLI	METHOMY	GLYPHOSATE(ROUNDU)	AMINOMETHYLPHOSPHONICACI		Number of compounds detecter	*Does not include G

Preside Campound Immer of samples compound 24-10 Decentor Frequency (9) (1) Mann Mann <th< th=""><th>le A13.12. Detection frequency and r</th><th>1999 20</th><th>111 C</th><th>oncei 01 20</th><th>oz 200</th><th>01 01 03 20</th><th>t 42] 04 20</th><th>pestic</th><th>cide (<u>oe All</u></th><th>Vrs 1</th><th>000005</th><th>in Ne</th><th>w Wes</th><th>t Coul</th><th>se, 195</th><th>9 to 20</th><th>005</th><th>2006</th></th<>	le A13.12. Detection frequency and r	1999 20	111 C	oncei 01 20	oz 200	01 01 03 20	t 42] 04 20	pestic	cide (<u>oe All</u>	Vrs 1	000005	in Ne	w Wes	t Coul	se, 195	9 to 20	005	2006
Number of samplas matyradi matrix 6 8 1 <th1< th=""> <th1< th=""> 1 <!--</td--><td>Pesticide Compound</td><td></td><td>Ğ</td><td>tectior</td><td>ו Frequ</td><td>ency (</td><td>(%)</td><td></td><td>Š</td><td>ean</td><td></td><td></td><td>Maximun</td><td>n Concei</td><td>ntration (</td><td>µg L⁻¹)</td><td></td><td></td></th1<></th1<>	Pesticide Compound		Ğ	tectior	ו Frequ	ency ((%)		Š	ean			Maximun	n Concei	ntration (µg L ⁻¹)		
Z-4D TRALLATE(AVDEXM) 0 100 010 010 010 010 0117 0234 0177 0234 0177 0234 0177 0235 0173 010 0133	Number of samples analyzed	9	6	8	9	7	13	10	13		9	6	8	9	1	13	10	13
THAL/TECN/DESM0 0 11 38 45 16 0 17 12 0.005 0.007 0.003 0.017 0.003 0.018 0.001 0.017 0.003 0.018 0.013 0.015	2,4-D MCPA	00 33	, 89 4	00 83 00	00 29	91 45	00 62 7	00 6 6	00 54	97 51	0.101 0.034	0.258 0.177	0.721 0.205	5.46 0.033	0.45 0.178	0.324 0.080	0.172 0.036	0.587 0.040
CHORRANELIS 33 27 55 67 63 0 77 52 0.015 0.035	TRIALLATE(AVADEXBW)	0	1	38	33	45	15	0	0	18		0.009	0.027	0.072	0.026	0.018		
DICHUCRFPARADIC/OFMEN 1 0 2 5 1 2 1 0	DICAMBA(BANVEL)	33	22	75	67	55	46	40	12	52	0.015	0.061	0.205	0.970	0.045	0.029	0.163	0.362
Understret/sector/sec		1 O	0 0	25	20	36	15	0 0	33	20			0.237	0.053	0.074	0.051		0.044
MACPUNELOPS 011 <th< td=""><td></td><td>2</td><td>⊃ ç</td><td>38</td><td>007</td><td><u>2</u> 0</td><td>22.2</td><td>2 0</td><td>202</td><td>7 7</td><td>0.020</td><td>0.122</td><td>0.253</td><td>0.237</td><td>0.093</td><td>0.053</td><td>0.024</td><td>0.122</td></th<>		2	⊃ ç	38	007	<u>2</u> 0	22.2	2 0	202	7 7	0.020	0.122	0.253	0.237	0.093	0.053	0.024	0.122
MCPPI/NECORFICION 0			4 5		<u> </u>	ກດ	n c		οα	<u>t</u> c		0.005	770.0	100.0	0.244	0.010		0.036
CHCREPYEICS-ETHYLICURSEAM) 0 </td <td>MCPP(MECOPROP)</td> <td>00</td> <td>33</td> <td>25</td> <td></td> <td>0</td> <td>000</td> <td>01</td> <td>0 00</td> <td>10</td> <td></td> <td>0.086</td> <td>0.039</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>0.042</td> <td>0.019</td> <td>0.005</td>	MCPP(MECOPROP)	00	33	25		0	000	01	0 00	10		0.086	0.039			0.042	0.019	0.005
ALPHABENZENEHEXCALLO2RD 0 11 0 0 1 0 0665 0 1 0.0665 0 <	CHLORPYRIFOS-ETHYL(DURSBAN)	00	, o	9 0	0	0	0	0	0	0		0000	0000				200	0000
ALPHA-BENZENEHEX/CHORIDE BROMACIL 0	2,4-DB	0	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	~		0.665						
DESISOPROPULTINGING 0	ALPHA-BENZENEHEXACHLORIDE	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0								
DESISOPROPULATTAZINE 0	BROMACIL	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0								
DIAZINON 0 0 0 0 DIAZINON 0 0 0 0 0 ETHALFLURALINEDES 0 0 0 0 0 MABENZENETHARILS 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 MABENZENETHARILS 0	DESISOPROPYLATRAZINE	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	15	2								0.139
MA-BENZENEHEXACHLORIDICION IETHALELURALINICON MAZENZENETHAJELURALINICON PELCIDAMICTORELINIDANE) 0	DIAZINON	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0								
MA-BENZENEHEXACHLORAUNEDSEI) 0 0 0 0 INAZENZENEHEXACHLORAUNEDNE) 0	DIURON	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0								
MA-BENZEREHEXACHLORIDE(LINDANE) 0 0 0 0 INDZAMETHABERZAMETHYL 0 <	ETHALFLURALIN(EDGE)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0								
IMAZAMETHABENZ/METRYL 0	MA-BENZENEHEXACHLORIDE(LINDANE)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0								
PICLORAM(TORDON) 0 33 0 0 0 4 0.065 TRIFLURALIN(TREFLAN) 0	IMAZAMETHABENZ-METHYL	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0								
Pretronation 0 <t< td=""><td>PICLORAM(TORDON)</td><td>0</td><td>33</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>4</td><td></td><td>0.065</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<>	PICLORAM(TORDON)	0	33	0	0	0	0	0	0	4		0.065						
TRIFLURALINITEELAN) 0	PYRIDABEŇ	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0								
TRIFLURALIN(TREFLAN) 0	QUINCLORAC	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0								
IMAZETHAPYR 0 <th< td=""><td>TRIFLURALIN(TREFLAN)</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></th<>	TRIFLURALIN(TREFLAN)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0								
IMAZAMOX 0<	IMAZETHAPYR	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0								
SIMAZINE 17 27 38 40 63 38 0.760 0.793 0.668 0.224 4 TRICLOPYR 0	IMAZAMOX	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0								
TRICLOPYR TRICLOPYR 0	SIMAZINE				17	27	38	40	69	38				0.760	0.793	0.668	0.224	4.570
2,4-DICHLOROPHENOL 0 10 15 9 0.077 0.077 0.045 0 4-CHLORO-2-METHYLPHENOL 0 9 0 0 2 3876 0.016 0 FLUROX7ZON 0 0 2 3 11 0.036 0 0 FLUROX7ZON 0 0 0 46 27 36 0.016 0 0 FLUROX7LM 0 0 0 46 27 0 <td>TRICLOPYR</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>0</td> <td>0</td> <td>0</td> <td>0</td> <td>0</td> <td>0</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	TRICLOPYR				0	0	0	0	0	0								
4-CHLORO-2-METHYLPHENOL 0 9 0 0 2 2.876 0.016 0 BENTAZON BENTAZON 0 0 23 11 2.876 0.016 0 FLUROXYPYR 0 0 0 23 11 0.030 0.036 0 FLUROXYPYR 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.071 0 FLUROXYPYR 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.071 0 FTHOFUNAFOP ACID METABOLITE 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.011 0 0 0.011 0<	2,4-DICHLOROPHENOL				0	18	0	10	15	ი					0.077		0.045	0.050
BENTAZON BODIONE BODION BODIONE BODIONE <td>4-CHLORO-2-METHYLPHENOL</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>0</td> <td>თ</td> <td>0</td> <td>0</td> <td>0</td> <td>2</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>2.876</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	4-CHLORO-2-METHYLPHENOL				0	თ	0	0	0	2					2.876			
FLUROXYPYR 0 50 80 15 36 0.030 0.036 0 ETHOFUMESATE 0 0 0 46 27 0.030 0.036 0 METALAXYL-M 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.071 0 METALAXYL-M 0	BENTAZON				0	0	20		23							0.016		0.249
ETHOFUMESATE 0 60 46 27 0.071 0 METALAXYL-M 0	FLUROXYPYR				0	50	80		15	36					0.030	0.036		0.059
METALAXYL-M 0 0 0 0 0 CLODINAFOP ACID METABOLITE IPRODIONE 0<	ETHOFUMESATE				0	0	60		46	27						0.071		0.399
CLODINAFOP ACID METABOLITE 0 </td <td>METALAXYL-M</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>0</td> <td>0</td> <td>0</td> <td></td> <td>0</td> <td>0</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	METALAXYL-M				0	0	0		0	0								
IPRODIONE 0	CLODINAFOP ACID METABOLITE				0	0	0		0	0								
METRIBUZIN 0 20 0 5 0.010 OXYCARBOXIN VINCLOZOLIN METHOMYL 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.010 VINCLOZOLIN METHOMYL VINCLOZOLIN 0 0 0 0 0 0 0.010 AMINOMETHYLPHOSPHONICACID GLUFOSINATE 17 0 8 0.219 0.242 Number of compounds detected* 4 9 8 11 13 7 14 19 0.242	IPRODIONE				0	0	0		0	0								
OXYCARBOXIN 0 0 0 VINCLOZOLIN VINCLOZOLIN 0 0 0 VINCLOZOLIN METHOMYL 0 0 0 METHOMYL 0 0 0 0 AMINOMETHYLPHOSPHONICACID 17 0 0 0 AMINOMETHYLPHOSPHONICACID 0 0 0 0.242 Number of compounds detected* 4 9 8 11 13 7 14 19	METRIBUZIN				0	0	20		0	ß						0.010		
VINCLOZOLIN 0 0 0 0 METHOMYL METHOMYL 0 0 0 0 GLYPHOSATE(ROUNDUP) 17 0 8 0.219 0.242 AMINOMETHYLPHOSPHONICACID 0 0 0 0 0 0.242 AMINOMETHYLPHOSPHONICACID 0 0 0 0 0.242 Number of compounds detected* 4 9 8 11 13 7 14 19 0.242	OXYCARBOXIN						0	0	0	0								
METHOMYL 0 0 0 0 GLYPHOSATE(ROUNDUP) 17 0 8 0.219 0.242 AMINOMETHYLPHOSPHONICACID 0 0 0 0 0 0 AMINOMETHYLPHOSPHONICACID 0 0 0 0 0 0.242 AMINOMETHYLPHOSPHONICACID 0 0 0 0 0 0.242 Number of compounds detected* 4 9 8 11 13 7 14 19	VINCLOZOLIN						0	0	0	0								
GLYPHOSAI E(KOUNDUP) 1/ 0 8 8 0.219 0.242 AMINOMETHYLPHOSPHONICACID 0 0 0 0 0 GLUFOSINATE 0 0 0 0 0 Number of compounds detected* 4 9 8 11 13 7 14 19					ļ	0	c	0	0	0 0								
AMINUME I HY LPHOSPHONICACID 0 0 0 0 MUMber of compounds detected* 4 9 8 11 13 7 14 19					- ⁻	5 0	χ			20 (0.219		0.242		
Number of compounds detected* 4 9 8 8 11 13 7 14 19																		
	Number of compounds detected*	4	б	8	0) [13	7	14	19								
					,		2		-	2								

<pre>ible A13.13. Detection frequency :</pre>	nd m 1997 19	<u>axin</u>	700 Z	001 20	cent	ratio1	n of 04 20	42 pc	esticio	de c	compoi	1 20 1 20	n Pade	lle Riv	rer, 1	997 to	0 2006.	5 20	90
					1					2		2			1			1	Ś
Pesticide Compound			Dete	ction F	reque	ncy (%)			Me	Ē			Maxim	um Conc	entratio	n (µg L			
Number of samples analyzed	7	9	=	7	∞	6	~	, 19	13	+	7	9	1	1	∞	6	2	19	2
2,4-D MCPA	0 02	<u></u>	° 0	റെ	<u>ლ</u> ი	55	0 0	0 ư	ωα	ωα	0 005 (0.011	0.013 (0.014	0.03	0.008	c	002	005
TRIALLATE(AVADEXBW)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0	0 0	0	0000						5		200
DICAMBA(BANVEL)	0	0	6	0	0	0	0	0	0	~			2.007						
CLOPYRALID(LONTREL)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0									
DICHLORPROP(2,4-DP)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0									
BROMOXYNIL	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0									
ATRAZINE	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0									
MCPP(MECOPROP)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0									
CHLORPYRIFOS-ETHYL(DURSBAN)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0									
2,4-DB	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0									
ALPHA-BENZENEHEXACHLORIDE	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0									
BROMACIL	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0									
DESISOPROPYLATRAZINE		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0									
DIAZINON	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0									
DIURON	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0									
ETHALFLURALIN(EDGE)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0									
AMMA-BENZENEHEXACHLORIDE(LINDANE)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0									
IMAZAMETHABENZ-METHYL	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0									
PICLORAM(TORDON)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0									
PYRIDABEN		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0									
QUINCLORAC		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0									
TRIFLURALIN(TREFLAN)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0									
IMAZETHAPYR		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0									
IMAZAMOX		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0									
SIMAZINE					0	0	0	0	0	0									
TRICLOPYR					50	56	43	0	38	37				0	315	0.234	0.050	U	.052
2,4-DICHLOROPHENOL					0	0	0	0	0	0									
4-CHLORO-2-METHYLPHENOL					0	0	0	0	0	0									
BENTAZON							0		0	0									
FLUROXYPYR							0		0	0									
ETHOFUMESATE							0		0	0									
METALAXYL-M							0		0	0									
CLODINAFOP ACID METABOLITE							0		0	0									
IPRODIONE							0		0	0									
METRIBUZIN							0		0	0									
OXYCARBOXIN							0	0	0	0									
VINCLOZOLIN							0	0	0	0									
METHOMYL								0	0	0									
GLYPHOSATE(ROUNDUP)									0	0									
AMINOMETHYLPHOSPHONICACID									0	0									
GLUFOSINATE									0	0									
Number of compounds detected*	٢	-	2	-	2	3	-	٢	3	4									
*Does not include Glvc	hosate. A	MPA o	r Glufo	sinate															L
		> < : !!!!!	(j)																

		22	1001	1000	- >>>				000	2000		1001	2000			
Pesticide Compound		Dete	ction F	Juenbe.	(%) Yc			Mean			Maximu	um Conce	entration	(µg L ⁻¹)		
Number of samples analyzed	9	9	4	4	9	8	12		9	9	4	8	4	10	8	
2,4-U MCPA	0 0 0 0 0 0	33 10 17 5(38	20	2020	در 63	58 33	20 38 38	0.033	0.048	0.021	0.103 0.459	0.036	0.055 0.776	0.0976	0.05
TRIALLATE (AVADE XBW)	90	; 0		0	0	0	0	0								
DICAMBA(BANVEL)	0	کر 0	38	25	20	0	0	20			0.027	0.245	0.005	0.510		
CLOPYRALID(LONTREL)	0	0	13	50	10	0	0	15			0.026	0.021	0.323	0.030		
DICHLORPROP(2,4-DP)	0	0	0 13	0	0	25	0	5				0.007			0.010	
BROMOXYNIL	17	17 () 25	0	0	25	17	13	0.005	0.018		0.267			0.041	0.01
ATRAZINE	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0								
MCPP(MECOPROP)	0	17	5 25	0	20	0	0	- 1		0.012	0.006	0.017		0.041		
CHLORPYRIFOS-ETHYL(DURSBAN)	0	0		0	0	0	0	0								
2,4-DB	0 0	0 0	00	0 0	0 0	0 0	0 0	0 0								
	0 0	50) (0 0	0 0	0 0	0 0	00								
	5 0	5 0) (0 0	0 0	0 0	0 0	0 0								
	5 0	5 0) (- C	-	0 0	00								
AMMA-BENZENEHEXACHI ORIDE/I INDANE)								00		0.010						
	o c			200				1 0		20.0			0 121			
PICLORAM(TORDON)	00	0	13	0	0	0	0	0 0				0.011	5			
PYRIDABEN	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0								
QUINCLORAC	0	0		0	0	0	0	0								
TRIFLURALIN(TREFLAN)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0								
IMAZETHAPYŘ	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0								
IMAZAMOX	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0								
SIMAZINE			0	0	0	0	0	0								
TRICLOPYR			Ö	0	0	0	0	0								
2,4-DICHLOROPHENOL			0	0	0	0	0	0								
4-CHLORO-2-METHYLPHENOL			00	0 0	0 0	0	0 0	0 0								
			، ر) (0 0) (0 0								
FLUKUXYPYK			50	00	0 0		0 0	00								
CLODINAFOP ACID METABOLITE			0,0	0	0		0	00								
IPRODIONE			0	0	0		0	0								
METRIBUZIN			0	0	0		0	0								
OXYCARBOXIN					0	0	0	0								
VINCLOZOLIN					0	0	0	0								
METHOMYL						0	0	0								
GLYPHOSATE(ROUNDUP)																
GLUFOSINATE						•	ľ	1								
Number of compounds detected*	ო	5	8	2	Ŋ	4	3	10								

Table A13.15. Detection frequency	y and	max	imu	m cc	ncen	trati	o uo	f 42	pest	icide	com]	ound	ls in F	tay Cı	eek, 1	997 tc	2006			
	1997 199	38 199	99 20(00 200	1 2002	2003	2004	2005 2	000	All Yrs	1997	1998	1999	2000	2001 2	002 20	03 20(94 200	5 200	90
Pesticide Compound			Det	ection	-requei	3 (%)				Mean				Maximur	n Concer	itration (µ	g L ⁻¹)			
Number of samples analyzed	2	6	1	12	8	6	8	6	8		2	6	11	12	8	5	6	8	6	8
2,4-D MCPA	00 100	67 56	45 45	33 ⁻ 42 6	300 700 700	- 4 - 4	13 63	56 4	888	5 4	0.088 0.061	0.024 0.089	0.126 0.213	0.114 0.190	0.282 0.132	0.013	0.01 0 0.085 0	.015 0 .054 0	.264 0 .295 0	.038
TRIALLATE(AVADEXBW)	50	0	36	0	0	0	0	0	13	10	0.087		0.146						0	.015
DICAMBA(BANVEL)	0	0	6 8	0 0	0 2	00	0 0	£ 8	0 0	, N			0.027					0 0	.005	
	0 0	-	o So So					n c	<u>э</u> с	15			0.170			0.034	0.109	0	.048	
BROMOXYNIL	20	, [9 8	0	00		0	0	0	- ∞	0.006	0.007	0.060							
ATRAZINE	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0										
MCPP(MECOPROP)	50	0	6	œ	0	0	0	0	0	7	0.006		0.005	0.014						
CHLORPY RIFOS-ETHYL(DURSBAN)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0										
2,4-DB	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0										
ALPHA-BENZENEHEXACHLORIDE	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0										
BROMACIL	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0										
DESISOPROPYLATRAZINE		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0										
DIAZINON	0	0	0	0	0 ო	0	0	0	0	-					0.008					
DIURON	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0										
ETHALFLURALIN(EDGE)	50	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	5	0.039									
GAMMA-BENZENEHEXACHLORIDE(LINDANE)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0										
IMAZAMETHABENZ-METHYL	0	-1	73	17 2	5	56	75	22	38	32		0.100	0.889	2.055	0.588		0.525 0	.506 1	.095 0	.650
PICLORAM(TORDON)	0	0	27	17 3	8	1	0	0	0	6			0.012	0.034	0.374		0.018			
PYRIDABEN		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0										
QUINCLORAC		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0										
TRIFLURALIN(TREFLAN)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0										
IMAZETHAPYR		0	ი	0	0	0	0	0	0	-			0.051							
IMAZAMOX			0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0										
SIMAZINE					0	0	0	0	0	0										
TRICLOPYR					0	0	0	0	13	e									0	.032
2,4-DICHLOROPHENOL					0	0	0	0	0	0										
4-CHLORO-2-METHYLPHENOL					0	0	0	0	0	0										
BENTAZON						0	0		0	0										
FLUROXYPYR						0	0		0	0										
ETHOFUMESATE						0	0		0	0										
METALAXYL-M						0	0		0	0										
CLODINAFOP ACID METABOLITE						0	0		0	0										
IPRODIONE						0	0		0	0										
METRIBUZIN						0	0		0	0										
OXYCARBOXIN							0	0	0	0										
VINCLOZOLIN							0	0	0	0										
METHOMYL								0	0	0										
GLYPHOSATE(ROUNDUP)					55	52	0		0	13						0.268	1.067			
AMINOMETHYLPHOSPHONICACID					0	0	0		0	0										
GLUFOSINATE						0	0		-	0										
Number of compounds detected*	9	4	11	5	5	5	ε	5	5	14										
*Does not include Glyp	ohosate, AN	APA or (Glufosir	late																

Number of statutions and statutions with the statution of st	ALJ.10. Detection frequenc	y and 1997 19	111 198 19	99 20	00 200	<u>1 2002</u>	2003	ON C 2004	1 42 2005	pest 2006	1C1d6 All Yrs	e com	pounc	<u>18 11 F</u>	kenwi ²⁰⁰⁰		ek, I	<u>997 tc</u> 2003 2	004 2). 005 2	906
Munder of samples anylowed fragmes anylowed anylowed fragmes anylowed any large anylowed anyred anylow	Pesticide Compound			ď	tection	Freque	ncy (%				Mean				Maximu	m Conce	ntration (ug L ⁻¹)			
Lither matrix Lither m	Number of samples analyzed	2	8	9	5	е	4	2	6	9		2	8	9	5	°	4	6	2	6	9
TRALIFICADESEND 0 13 0 0 1 0.006 <td>2,4-D MCPA</td> <td>100 100</td> <td>20</td> <td>08 09 09 09</td> <td>000</td> <td>57 20 10 10</td> <td>5 10C 0 67</td> <td>, 71</td> <td>4 4 4 4</td> <td>50 40</td> <td>72 72</td> <td>0.082 0.327</td> <td>4.834 0.202</td> <td>0.343 0.277</td> <td>0.33 0.148</td> <td>0.217 0.018</td> <td>0.012 0.165</td> <td>0.129 0.137</td> <td>0.02 0.148</td> <td>0.086 1.292</td> <td>0.029 0.188</td>	2,4-D MCPA	100 100	20	08 09 09 09	000	57 20 10 10	5 10C 0 67	, 71	4 4 4 4	50 40	72 72	0.082 0.327	4.834 0.202	0.343 0.277	0.33 0.148	0.217 0.018	0.012 0.165	0.129 0.137	0.02 0.148	0.086 1.292	0.029 0.188
CLOPFACINGNERIE 0	TRIALLATE(AVADEXBW)	00	13	6 0	00	00	0 80	00	00	00	£ 0		0.016	0.006				0.069			
DICHUCRPCRIZ-LPD 0	CLOPYRALID(LONTREL)	00	- 13 13	20 C	00	0 7	5 67	43 o	33 0	0 4 0	0 29		0.068	0.085			0.204	0.186	0.035	0.083	0.118
висомостиян мортивсовствор 0<	DICHLORPROP(2,4-DP)	0	0	0 0	0 0	0 0	0	0	1	0,	- 0									0.006	
HUCRPYRIEGOSETH(LOWESKON) 0 1 0 </td <td>BROMOXYNIL</td> <td>20</td> <td>20</td> <td>20</td> <td>0 0</td> <td>0 0</td> <td></td> <td>643</td> <td>22 0</td> <td>000</td> <td>20</td> <td>0.016</td> <td>0.022</td> <td>0.037</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>0.016</td> <td>0.093</td> <td>0.044</td>	BROMOXYNIL	20	20	20	0 0	0 0		643	22 0	000	20	0.016	0.022	0.037					0.016	0.093	0.044
CHLORPYRIFOS Entrol 0		0 0	<u>5</u>	0 0	0 0	0 0	0		0 0	0	0 0		0.005								0.007
ALPHA-BENZENKIFIKXACHLORIDE 2.4109 DESISOPROVACHLORIDE DESISOPROVACHLORIDE 0.000 0.12000 0.1210001 0.121001 0.121001 0.121001 0.121001 0.121001 0.121001 0.12100 0.121001 0.12100 0.121001 0.12100 0.121001 0.1210001 0.120001 0.1200000000000000000000000000000000000	CHLORPYRIFOS-ETHYL (DURSBAN)	00	0	0	0	0 0	0	0	0	0	10										
ALPHA-BENZENENE ALPHA-BENZENENE O 0	2,4-DB	0	0	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	-			0.005							
DESISOPROPULATING/INSIDE 0 <td>ALPHA-BENZENEHEXACHLORIDE</td> <td>0</td> <td>0</td> <td>0</td> <td>0 0</td> <td>0 0</td> <td>0</td> <td>0</td> <td>0 0</td> <td>0 0</td> <td>0</td> <td></td>	ALPHA-BENZENEHEXACHLORIDE	0	0	0	0 0	0 0	0	0	0 0	0 0	0										
THALFLURANTICION 0		0	0 0	0 0	0 0	0 0			0 0	0 0	0 0										
THALFLURAUNCION 0	UESISOPROPYLAI RAZINE DI AZINON	c	> <	> <	5 0				0 0	0 0	0 0										
ABENZENHERXACHORDICE: INIZAMETURALINCEDCE: INIZAMETURALINCEDCA INIZAMETURALINCENCIONIONE: S0 13 00 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0																					
ABENZENENEXACHORIDE(LINDANE) 50 13 0 <th< td=""><td>ETHALFLURALIN(EDGE)</td><td>50</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0 0</td><td>, 0 , 0</td><td></td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>20</td><td>0.009</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></th<>	ETHALFLURALIN(EDGE)	50	0	0	0	0 0	, 0 , 0		0	0	20	0.009									
IMAZAMETHABERZ-MAICTORON 0 13 30 0 337 0.357	A-BENZENEHEXACHLORIDE(LINDANE)	50	13	0	0	00	0	0	0	0	9	0.011	0.010								
PICLORAMITORION 0 25 60 100 67 0	IMAZAMETHABENZ-METHYL	0	13	30	0	33	0 56	3 57	11	40	24		0.190	0.110		0.218		0.357	0.797	0.390	0.737
PYRIDAEN 0<	PICLORAM(TORDON)	0	25	09	001	37 5	0 56	0	0	0	36		0.279	0.392	0.211	0.289	0.011	0.056			
TRILURAUNCTRETANIN IMAZETHAPTIN 0 0 0 0 1 0.044 TRILURAUNTREFLANIN IMAZETHAPTIN 0<	PYRIDABEN		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0										
TRI-LURALINITIRELAIN 0	QUINCLORAC		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	10	~										0.046
IMAZEIHAPYR 0 <th< td=""><td>TRIFLURALIN(TREFLAN)</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></th<>	TRIFLURALIN(TREFLAN)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0										
MINAZAMICA INTRACTORY TRICLOPYR 0 <t< td=""><td></td><td></td><td>0</td><td>0 0</td><td>0 0</td><td>0 0</td><td>0</td><td>29</td><td>0 0</td><td>0 0</td><td>ოძ</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>0.146</td><td></td><td></td></t<>			0	0 0	0 0	0 0	0	29	0 0	0 0	ოძ								0.146		
TRICLOPYR TRICLOPYR 0				C	D	5	, c , c		0 0	0 0	0 0										
2.4 DICHLORADHENOL 2.4 DICHLORADHENOL 0								0 0	0 0	0 0	0 0										
4-CHLORO-2-IMETINCIAL 0						-															
THORE EENTACION 0 <						-															
FLUEOXYPYR FLUEOXYPYR 0.103 FTHOFUMESATE 0 0 0 0 METALAXYL-M METALAXYL-M 0 0 0 METALAXYL-M METALAXYL-M 0 0 0 METALAXYL-M METALAXYL-M 0 0 0 METALAXYL-M NETALAXYL-M 0 0 0 METALAXYL-M NETALAXYL-M 0 0 0 NetroDIONE 0 0 0 0 0 NorcARBUZIN 0 0 0 0 0 0 OXYCARBUZIN 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 OXYCARDUN NINCLOZOLIN 0 0 0 0 0 0 AllNOMETHYLPHOSPHONICACID 25 57 29 22 33 0.10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	BENTAZON						, a		0	0	0										
ETHOFUMESATE 0 <t< td=""><td>FLUROXYPYR</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>. 0</td><td>0</td><td></td><td>10</td><td>ς ε</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>0.103</td></t<>	FLUROXYPYR						. 0	0		10	ς ε										0.103
METALXYL-M METALXXL-M METALXXL-M METALXXL-M 0	ETHOFUMESATE						0	0		0	0										
CLODINAFOP ACID METABOLITE 0 </td <td>METALAXYL-M</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>0</td> <td>0</td> <td></td> <td>0</td> <td>0</td> <td></td>	METALAXYL-M						0	0		0	0										
IPRODIONE 0 30 10 0.231 METRIBUZIN 0 <td>CLODINAFOP ACID METABOLITE</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td>0</td> <td>0</td> <td></td> <td>0</td> <td>0</td> <td></td>	CLODINAFOP ACID METABOLITE						0	0		0	0										
METRIBUZIN 0 0 0 OXYCARBOXIN OXYCARBOXIN 0 0 0 VINCLOZOLIN VINCLOZOLIN 0 0 0 VINCLOZOLIN VINCLOZOLIN 0 0 0 METHOMYL 0 0 0 0 ARTHOMATE 0 0 0 0 AMINOMETHYLPHOSPHONICACID 25 57 29 22 33 AMINOMETHYLPHOSPHONICACID 0 0 0 0 0.309 2.626 1.266 3.18 AMINOMETHYLPHOSPHONICACID 25 57 29 22 33 0.309 2.626 1.266 3.18 MUMDer of compounds detected* 5 9 3 4 4 6 6 9 16	IPRODIONE						J	0		8	10										0.23
OXYCARBOXIN 0 0 0 0 VINCLOZOLIN VINCLOZOLIN 0 0 0 0 METHOMYL METHOMYL 0 0 0 0 0 AMINOMETHYLPHOSPHONICACID 25 57 29 22 33 0.309 2.626 1.266 3.18 AMINOMETHYLPHOSPHONICACID 0 0 0 11 3 0.309 2.626 1.266 3.18 Number of compounds detected* 5 9 3 4 4 6 6 9 16 1.03 *Thom and inductor and and and and and inductor and and inductor	METRIBUZIN						0	0		0	0										
VINCLOZOLIN 0 <th< td=""><td>OXYCARBOXIN</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></th<>	OXYCARBOXIN							0	0	0	0										
Mail HOMM1 0								0	0 0	0 0	0 0										
GLYPHOSATE(KOUNDUP) 25 57 29 22 33 0.309 2.626 1.266 3.18 AMINOMETHYLPHOSPHONICACID 0 0 0 11 3 CLUFOSINATE 0 0 0 0 0 10 Number of compounds detected* 5 9 8 3 4 4 6 6 6 9 16 *Provincial Clumberrational AMB or Clubicated						Č	[0	o g	0 0						0000	0000			0
AMINUME IHYLPHOSPHONICACID 0 0 0 11 3 CLUFOSINATE CLUFOSINATE 0 0 0 0 0 1.03 Number of compounds detected* 5 9 8 3 4 4 6 6 9 16						N	5 51	29		22 :	EE (0.309	2.626	1.266		3.18
Number of compounds detected ¹ 5 9 8 3 4 4 6 6 6 9 16 *Down arised to the hord of Clubications	AMINOME IN YLPHOSPHONICACID GI HEOSINATE					-				50	ຕ										1.03
	Number of compounds detected*	5	σ	œ	e	4			9	σ	16										
	*Does not include Glv	hocate Al	MPA or	Glufosi	nato ('												

Table A13.17. Detection frequency	i and i	max	imu	m cc	ncer	itrati	on o	f 42	pest	icide	e con	pounc	ls in l	Rose C	reek,	1997	to 20()6.		
	1997 199	98 19	99 20	00 200	1 2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	All Yrs	1997	1998	1999	2000	001 20	02 20	003 20	04 20	05 200	90
Pesticide Compound			De	tection	Freque	ncy (%	(Mean				Maximur	n Concent	ration ()	ig L ⁻¹)			
Number of samples analyzed	8	15	15	14	2 1(0 10	13	17	13		_	3 15	15	14	12	10	10	13	17	13
2,4-D MCPA	0 წ	20 27	t t	., 36 36	ĕ ⊂	0 0 0 0	8 8	24 0	31	12	0.010	0.019 0.032	0.01 0.017	0.128 1.005	0.011	0.05	0.015 0.016	0.007	0.029 0	.076
TRIALLATE(AVADEXBW)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0										
DICAMBA(BANVEL)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0										
CLOPYRALID(LONTREL)	0	0	~ '	0	0	0	0	0	0	~ '			0.049							
DICHLORPROP(2,4-DP)	0 0	1 0	0 0	0 0	0 0		-	0 0	0 0	00		000 0					1000			
	0 0	~ <	0 0	0 0	5 0			0 0	0 0	NC		0.008					c00.0			
CHLORPYRIFOS-ETHYL (DURSBAN)																				
2.4-DB	0	0	0	0	0		0	0	0	0										
ALPHA-BENZENEHEXACHLORIDE	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0										
BROMACIL	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0										
DESISOPROPYLATRAZINE		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0										
DIAZINON	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0										
DIURON	0	0	0	0	8	0	0	0	0	-					0.387					
ETHALFLURALIN(EDGE)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	_									
GAMMA-BENZENEHEXACHLORIDE(LINDANE)	0	0	7	0	0	0	0	0	0	-			0.010							
IMAZAMETHABENZ-METHYL	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	_									
PICLORAM(TORDON)	0	27	0	50 ;	33 1(10	15	9	15	17	_	0.160		0.327	0.076	0.014	0.049	0.039 (0.028 0	075
PYRIDABEN		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0										
QUINCLORAC		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0										
TRIFLURALIN(TREFLAN)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0										
IMAZETHAPYR		0	7	0	0	0	0	0	0	-			0.079							
IMAZAMOX			0	0	0	0	•	0	0	0										
SIMAZINE							0	0	0		_									
TRICLOPYR					ĕ	0	0	9	46	16						0.079		-	0.010 0	.394
2,4-DICHLOROPHENOL								0 0	0 0	0 0										
4-CHLORO-2-ME I HYLPHE NOL					-	5	0	C	0 0	0 0	_									
BENIAZON							_		0 0	0 0	_									
							_		0	0	_									
EIHOFUMESATE							_		0 (0 (
ME IALAXYL-M							_		0	0										
CLODINAFOP ACID METABOLITE						0	_		0	0										
							_		0	0										
METRIBUZIN						0	_	,	0	0										
OXYCARBOXIN							0	0	0	0										
VINCLOZOLIN							0	0	0	0										
METHOMYL								0	0	0										
GLYPHOSATE(ROUNDUP)					-	22	0		25	12							0.330		9	.356
						00	0 0		0 0	0 0									1	
GLUFOSINATE				,				,	α											108
Number of compounds detected*	-	4	S	m	 ო	ч 0	ლ	ო	m	6										
*Does not include Glyp	hosate, AN	APA or	Glufosi	nate																

Table A13.18. Detection frequency and	maxi	imun	n cor	centr	ation	ı of 4	2 pe	sticio	le com	punod	s in St	retton	Creek,	1997	to 2006.	
-	1997	866	000 2	000 20	004 2C	05 20	00 00	, II Yrs	997 1	998 1	999 2	000	004 2	005 2(006	
Pesticide Compound		Dete	sction	-requer	%) (Sr	(~	Jean		Maxi	mum Co	ncentrati	on (µg L ⁻	1) (1		
Number of samples analyzed	۲	ŝ	5	9	e	9	5		-	5	5	9	с	9	5	
2,4-D MCPA	100	80 08 02	100 80	67 100	00100	83 50	80 40	87 70	0.049 0.018	0.076 0.028	0.086	0.054	0.028	0.199 0.019	0.04 0.013	
TRIALLATE(AVADEXBW)	0	0	20	17	0	0	0	2			0.007	0.011				
DICAMBA(BANVEL)	0	0	0	0	67	0	0	10					0.010			
CLOPYRALID(LONTREL)	100	0	0	0	0	0	0	14	0.026							
DICHLORPROP(2,4-DP)	0	0	20	0	0	0	0	ო			0.024					
BROMOXYNIL	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0								
ATRAZINE	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0								
MCPP(MECOPROP)	0	0	20	17	0	0	0	5			0.007	0.012				
CHLORPYRIFOS-ETHYL(DURSBAN)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0								
2,4-DB	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0								
ALPHA-BENZENEHEXACHLORIDE	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0								
BROMACIL	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0								
DESISOPROPYLATRAZINE		0	0	0	0	0	0	0								
DIAZINON	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0								
DIURON	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0								
ETHALFLURALIN(EDGE)	100	0	0	0	0	0	0	14	0.015							
GAMMA-BENZENEHEXACHLORIDE(LINDANE)	0	0	20	0	0	0	0	ю			0.012					
IMAZAMETHABENZ-METHYL	100	80	0	17	100	0	20	45	0.212	0.540		0.479	0.657		0.268	
PICLORAM(TORDON)	0	0	40	17	0	0	20	1			0.077	0.016			0.017	
PYRIDABEN		0	0	0	0	0	0	0								
QUINCLORAC		0	0	0	0	0	0	0								
TRIFLURALIN(TREFLAN)	100	20	80	0	0	0	0	29	0.025	0.068	0.187					
IMAŻETHAPYŔ		75	40	0	0	0	0	19		0.409	0.053					
IMAZAMOX			0	0	0	0	0	0								
SIMAZINE					0	0	0	0								
TRICLOPYR					0	100	0	g						0.047		
2,4-DICHLOROPHENOL					0	0	0	0								
4-CHLORO-2-METHYLPHENOL					0	0	0	0								
BENTAZON							0	0								
FLUROXYPYR							0	0								
ETHOFUMESATE							0	0								
METALAXYL-M							0	0								
CLODINAFOP ACID METABOLITE							0	0								
IPRODIONE							40	40							0.202	
METRIBUZIN							0	0								
OXYCARBOXIN					0	0	0	0								
VINCLOZOLIN					0	17	20	12						0.261	0.052	
METHOMYL						0	0	0								
GLYPHOSATE(ROUNDUP)					33			33					0.942			
AMINOMETHYLPHOSPHONICACID					0			0								
GLUFOSINATE				1	0		+	0								
Number of compounds detected*	9	5	ი	9	4	4	9	16								
*Does not include Glypt	hosate,	AMP/	A or GI	ufosina	te											

in Strawberry Creek, 1997 to 20	<u>399 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2</u>	Maximum Concentration (µg L ⁻¹)	12 16 6 6 7 10	0.671 2.075 0.078 0.063 0.05 0.071 0.054 0.760 0.019 0.054 0.053		0.024 0.019 0.010	U.UZB U.U4Z U.U44	0.009 0.018 0.020		0.022 0.010		0.005							0.165	0.158 0.291 0.322 0.105 0.157 0.072							0.084 0.034 0.048															
le compounds	s 1997 1998 19		3 7	66 0.05 0.536 (27 0.163 0.040 (0	0	0 0	8 0.009 0.008	0	5	0 0	0 +	0	0	0	0	0	0	-	9 0.055 0.406 (0	0	0	0	0	0	5	0.0			0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
sticic	All Yr	Mear	6	2 6			<u> </u>									_	_		_	2	_	<u> </u>	_	_	<u> </u>		2	<u> </u>		<u> </u>				_	_	_	_	_	0 10			_
2 pe:	5 2006		1	7 9 17	0				0	0			0	0	0	0	0	0	0	9 50	0	0	0	0	0	0	, 50 10 10		5			0	0	U	0	0	0	0	100	0		4
of 4	4 200		0	0 0	0	0 0		00	0	0 0	0 0		0 0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0	5 0	5							0	0				ŭ	٥
ion	3 200	(%)	7 1	7 4	0	00		, o , c	0	00	0 0		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	7 2	0	0	0	0	0	0	7	5 0			0	0	0	0	0							4
ıtrat	200	ncy (%	9	7 5 0 7	0	00		, o	0	0	0 0		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	3 5	0	0	0	0	0	0	2 2	5	5												,	4
ncer	2002	-reque	6	6 6 7 8	0	۔ م	 		0	0	- 			0	0	0	0	0	0	8	0	0	0	0	0	-	0															+
l co	2001	ction F	6	й й Ф О	0	; ~ , ~	ν ο c	 	0					0	0	~	- -	0	~ ~	0 10	~	0	~	~	0																	
nun	2000	Dete	4	2000	0	~ ~	» c	~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~~	0		_			0	0	0 0	°	0	•	100	<u> </u>	0	<u> </u>	<u> </u>	0																ľ	
laxii	1999		1	17	0			, m	0					0	0	0	°	0	0	50	- -	0	- -	- -	0																	
ld m	1998		-	71 29	0			4	0	0.0			, 0	0	0	0	0	0	0	57	0	0	0	0																		1
y an	1997		ິ	100 33	0	00		°	0	0 0					0	0	0	0	0	67			0																			4
ble A13.19. Detection frequenc		Pesticide Compound	Number of samples analyzed	2,4-D MCPA	TRIALLATE(AVADEXBW)			BROMOXYNIL	ATRAZINE	MCPP(MECOPROP)		Z,4-UB AI PHA-BENZENEHEXACHI ORIDE	BROMACIL	DESISOPROPYLATRAZINE	DIAZINON	DIURON	ETHALFLURALIN(EDGE)	GAMMA-BENZENEHEXACHLORIDE(LINDANE)	IMAZAMETHABENZ-METHYL	PICLORAM(TORDON)	PYRIDABEN	QUINCLORAC	TRIFLURALIN(TREFLAN)	IMAZETHAPYR	IMAZAMOX	SIMAZINE			4-UNLURU-2-IMETHYLFHENUL BENITAZON		ETHOFUMESATE	METALAXYL-M	CLODINAFOP ACID METABOLITE	IPRODIONE	METRIBUZIN	OXYCARBOXIN	VINCLOZOLIN	METHOMYL	GLYPHOSATE(ROUNDUP)	AMINOMETHYLPHOSPHONICACID	GLUFUSINA IE Number of componings detected*	INUTIDAT OF CONTIDUATION DEFECTED

Table A13.20. Detection frequency	y and	may	<u>kimu</u>		nce	ntral	ion (of 42	bes	ticide	com	punoc	s in T	hreeh	IIs Cr	eek, 1	997 to	2006.		
	61 7661	20	1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1			7 700 2	5 ZUU4	CUUZ .	9002	All YIS	1661	220	222				13 200	cuuz +		~
Pesticide Compound			De	tection	Freque	ency (9	(0)			Mean				Maximun	Concen	tration (µ	р ()			
Number of samples analyzed	9	6	11	12	7	5	6	8	10		9	6	1	12	7	5	6	6	8	읻
2,4-D MCPA	67 50	56	91 91	58	- 92 - 192 -	0 0 7 7	4 4	50 50	60	53	0.077	0.041	0.077	0.109 0.395	0.09 0.134	0.008 (0.024 0.0	043 0.0	69 91 0.0	149
TRIALLATE(AVADEXBW)	17	0	36	0	20		· •	1 25	0	5 5	0.074		0.071			0.096		020 0.0	42	2
DICAMBA(BANVEL)	0	0	0	œ	0	0	1	13	0	4				0.005		U	0.006 0.	005 0.0	05	
CLOPYRALID(LONTREL)	0 ;	0	о (•	ਦ ਦ	0 o 4	4 0	25	ဗ္ဗ	27	000		0.182		0.047	0.100 (0.207 0.	085 0.0	41 0.0	71
DICHLORPROP(2,4-DP) RROMOXYNII	71	11	0 %	∞ ⊂	0 0			0 4	0 0	4 0	0.006	0.006	0.081	0.074			C	012 0.0	05	
ATRAZINE	0	10	20	0	, o	0	, o	20	0	0	0000	0000					Ď	1	8	
MCPP(MECOPROP)	0	0	0	ø	0	0	0	0	0	-				0.016						
CHLORPYRIFOS-ETHYL(DURSBAN)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0										
2,4-DB	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0										
ALPHA-BENZENEHEXACHLORIDE	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0										
BROMACIL	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0										
DESISOPROPYLATRAZINE		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0										
DIAZINON	0	0	0	0	4	0	0	0	0	-					0.012					
DIURON	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0										
ETHALFLURALIN(EDGE)	33	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	e	0.029									
GAMMA-BENZENEHEXACHLORIDE(LINDANE)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0										
IMAZAMETHABENZ-METHYL	17	7	91	25	4	0	4 67	7 38	50	36	1.853	0.096	9.005	1.140	0.099	0	.363 2	934 0.5	83 0.4	406
PICLORAM(TORDON)	0	1	36	∞	5	0	0	0	0	15		0.009	0.052	0.011	0.536	0.024				
PYRIDABEN		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0										
QUINCLORAC		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0										
TRIFLURALIN(TREFLAN)	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0										
IMAZETHAPYR		0	18	0	0	0	0	0	0	N			0.054							
IMAZAMOX			0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0										
SIMAZINE						0	0	0	0	0										
TRICLOPYR						0	0	0	0	0										
2,4-DICHLOROPHENOL						0	0	0	0	0										
4-CHLORO-2-METHYLPHENOL						0	0	0	0	0										
BENTAZON							0	~	0	0										
FLUROXYPYR							0	~	0	0										
ETHOFUMESATE							0	~	0	0										
METALAXYL-M							0	~	0	0										
CLODINAFOP ACID METABOLITE							0	~	10	e									0.0	024
IPRODIONE							0	~	0	0										
METRIBUZIN							0	~	0	0										
OXYCARBOXIN							0	0	0	0										
VINCLOZOLIN							0	0	0	0										
METHOMYL								0	0	0										
GLYPHOSATE(ROUNDUP)						0	5	~	0	9						U	.966			
						0 (0 0	~ /	00	00										
	r	,	ſ		,	۱			יו											1
Number of compounds detected*	7	9	∞	~	9	5	5	~	5	14										
*Does not include Glyp	hosate, A	MPA	or Glut	osinate																

² and maximum concentration of 42 pesticide compounds in Tomahawk Creek, 1997 to 2006.	1331 1330 1333 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2003 2000 701 139 1337 1330 1333 2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2003 2000 Detection Frequency (%)	3 13 12 12 10 5 9 18 11 3 13 12 12 10 5 8 9 18 1	67 69 58 75 20 60 88 78 56 45 62 0.062 0.089 0.326 0.467 0.039 0.276 1.668 0.672 0.571 0.05															100 31 17 83 10 0 0 0 0 0 24 0.032 0.094 0.384 0.131 0.077					0 75 0 0 64 28 0 186 0 0 387			0 0	0 0 0			0 0 0					2 3 4 4 3 1 4 3 4 2 9
entration	002 2003 200 Juencv (%)	5 8	60 88 7	0 25	0			0	0 13	00			0	00		0	0	00		0	0	0	0 75		0	0	0 0		0	0					1 4
ximum conc	Detection Fred	12 12 10	58 75 20	8	0 0 0	0 0 0	8 0	0 0 0	0 0 0				0 0 0	000		0 0 0	0 0 0	17 83 10		0 0	0 0 0														4 4 3
/ and ma	0001 1001	3 13	63 69	0 23	0		000	0	0	00			0	00		0	0 0	100 31	0	0														,	2 3
Cable A13.21. Detection frequency	Pesticide Compound	Number of samples analyzed	2.4-D	MCPA	TRIALLATE(AVADEXBW)		BROMOXYNIL	ATRAZINE	MCPP(MECOPROP)	CHLORPYRIFOS-ETHYL(DURSBAN)	AI PHA-RENZENEHEXACHI ORIDE	BROMACIL	DESISOPROPYLATRAZINE	DIAZINON	DIUKUN ETHALFLURALIN(EDGE)	GAMMA-BENZENEHEXACHLORIDE(LINDANE)	IMAZAMETHABENZ-METHYL		TRIFLURALIN(TREFLAN)	IMAZETHAPYR	IMAZAMOX	SIMAZINE		2,4-DICALOROFTENOL 4-CHLORO-2-METHYLPHENOL	BENTAZON	FLUROXYPYR	ETHOFUMESATE	ΜΕΙΑΚΑΥΥ-Η ΟΙ ΟΝΙΝΑΕΟΡ ΑΟΙΟ ΜΕΤΑΒΟΙ ΙΤΕ	IPRODIONE	METRIBUZIN	MITHOMYI	GLYPHOSATE(ROUNDUP)	AMINOMETHYLPHOSPHONICACID	GLUFOSINATE	Number of compounds detected*

24-b 0 17 3 22 0 0 0005 0006 0005 0017 0005 TRALLTERVISHING 0 13 11 0 14 0.005 0.006 0.005 DIAMBRANELI 0	2,4-D 0 17 13 22 0 MCPA 0 17 13 11 0 DICAMBA(BANVEL) 0 0 13 11 0 DICAMBA(BANVEL) 0 0 13 0 0 DICAMBA(BANVEL) 0 0 0 0 0 0 DICHLORPROP(2,4-DP) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 MCPP(MECOPROP) 0	••••••••••••••••••	* • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •	000000000000000000000000000000000000000		8 4 - 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	0.012 0.009 0.012	0.005 0.005 0.022 0.005	0.017 0.005	
TALATE/ANVEL 27-Display 17 31 22 0 17 31 22 0 0005 0001 0011 00112 00	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$			000000000000000000000000000000000000000		0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	0.005 0.023 0.009 0.000 0.000 0.000	0.005 0.005 0.022 0.005	0.017 0.005	
TRALING/MERENDIO 0 13 0 13 0 13 0 13 0 13 0 13 0 13 0 13 0 13 0 13 0 13 0 13 0 13 0 13 0 13 0 13 0 13 0 13 0 13	TRIALLATE(AVADEXBW) 0 13 0 DICAMBA(BANVEL) 0 0 0 0 DICAMBA(BANVEL) 0 0 0 0 0 DICHLORPROP(2,4-DP) 0 0 0 0 0 0 DICHLORPROP(2,4-DP) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 BROMOXYNIL 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 MCPP(MECOPROP) 2:4-DB 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 SISOPROPYLATRAZINE 2:4-DB 0 <td< td=""><td></td><td></td><td>000000000000000000000000000000000000000</td><td></td><td>- 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0</td><td>0.009</td><td>0.022 0.005</td><td></td><td></td></td<>			000000000000000000000000000000000000000		- 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	0.009	0.022 0.005		
CLOPENALIDIANTEL 0	DICAMBA(BANVEL) 0 0 0 0 CLOPYRALID(LONTREL) 0 0 0 0 0 DICHLORPROP(2,4-DP) BROMOXYNIL 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 BROMOXYNIL 0 <t< td=""><td></td><td></td><td>000000000000000000000000000000000000000</td><td></td><td>0 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0</td><td>0.012</td><td>0.022 0.005</td><td></td><td></td></t<>			000000000000000000000000000000000000000		0 0 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	0.012	0.022 0.005		
CLOPREDICTATEL 0 0 0 0 0 IncloPREDICTATEL 0 0 0 0 0 0 IncloPREDICTATEL 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 RefOREDICTATEL 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 RefOREDICTATEL 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 RefORETHYLIDURSAND 0 <td< td=""><td>$\begin{array}{cccc} COPYRALID(LONTREL) & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ DICHLORPROP(2,4-DP) & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ BROMOXYNIL & 0 &$</td><td></td><td></td><td>000000000000000000000000000000000000000</td><td></td><td>0 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0</td><td>0.012</td><td>0.022 0.005</td><td></td><td></td></td<>	$ \begin{array}{cccc} COPYRALID(LONTREL) & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ DICHLORPROP(2,4-DP) & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 \\ BROMOXYNIL & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & 0 & $			000000000000000000000000000000000000000		0 0 0 0 - 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	0.012	0.022 0.005		
DUCLUMENTALION 0	UICHLORPROP(2,4-DP) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0					000 ← 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	0.012	0.022 0.005		
FUNCTION DEFINITION 0	BROMOZTNIL 0					00700000000000000000000000000000000000	0.012	0.022 0.005		
MCPPIMECOFROM IRPOSETIVLURSBANN 0 13 0 <	MCPP(MECOPRON) 0 1 0 1 0					0 - 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	0.012	0.022 0.005		
RIFLOSETHYLICURSBAM 0	IFOS-ETHYL(DURSBAN) 0 0 0 0 ENZENEHEXACHLORIDE 2,4-DB 0 0 0 0 ENZENEHEXACHLORIDE 2,4-DB 0 0 0 0 0 BROMACIL 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 BROMACIL 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 BROMACIL 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 BROMACIL 0					· • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • • •		0.022 0.005		
Z4DB 0 0 0 0 0 0 ENZENHEXACHOREE 0	2.4-DB 0 0 0 0 ENZENEHEXACHLORIDE 0 0 0 0 0 BROMACIL 0 0 0 0 0 0 SISOPROPYLATRAZINE 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 DIAZINON 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 DIURON 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 XACHLORIDE(LINDANE) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 ZAMETHABENZ-METHYL 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 PICLORAM(TORDON) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 PICLORAM(TORDON) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 PICLORAM(TORDON) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 <td></td> <td>000000000000000000000000000000000000000</td> <td>000000000000000000000000000000000000000</td> <td></td> <td>000000000000000000000000000000000000000</td> <td></td> <td>0.022 0.005</td> <td></td> <td></td>		000000000000000000000000000000000000000	000000000000000000000000000000000000000		000000000000000000000000000000000000000		0.022 0.005		
BENZENEHES/ACHLORIDE 0 0 0 0 DENZENE BROMACIL 0 0 0 0 0 SESSOPROPYLATRAZINE 0 <	ENZENEHEXACHLORIDE 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0		000000000000000000000000000000000000000	000000000000000000000000000000000000000				0.022 0.005		
SESSOPROPYLATRAZING 0	BROMACIL 0<		000000000000000000000000000000000000000	000000000000000000000000000000000000000		0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0		0.022 0.005		
DESCORPONUTIVANIE 0 0 0 0 0 EFTHALFLUENTIONE 0 <	SISOPROPYLATRAZINE 0		000000000000	00000000000		0000000000		0.022 0.005		
DIARNON ETHALFLURALIN(EDGE) 0<	DIAZINON 0<			0000000000		000000000		0.022 0.005		
ETHALEURALINGDES 0	ETHALFLURALIN(EDGE) 0					0000v00		0.022 0.005		
Entructuring AZMETHABENZ/METHYL 0 <t< td=""><td>E ITALFLURALIN(EUGE) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>000000</td><td></td><td>0.022 0.005</td><td></td><td></td></t<>	E ITALFLURALIN(EUGE) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0					000000		0.022 0.005		
TEXACTIONTICUE 0	ZACHLDKIDE(LINUJANE) 0 0 0 0 0 ZAMETHABENZ-METHYL 0 0 0 0 0 PICLORAM(TORDON) 0 0 0 33 10 PYRIDABEN 0 0 0 0 0 0 QUINCTREFI AN) 0 0 0 0 0					00000		0.022 0.005		
MALTICARTINICATION 0	PICLORAM(TORDON) 0 0 0 33 10 PICLORAM(TORDON) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0							0.022 0.005		
PYRIDABEN 0	PKRIDABEN PYRIDABEN QUINCLORAC 0 0 0 TRIFILIRALIN/TRFET ANI	00000	0000			001				
TRIELURALING MAZAMOX 0	TREFLIRALIN/TREFLAN) 0 0 0 0 0	0000	000	0		0				
TRIFLURALIN(TREFLAN) 0		000	0 0		_					
IMAZETHAPYR 0 <th< td=""><td></td><td>00</td><td>0</td><td>0</td><td><u> </u></td><td>0</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></th<>		00	0	0	<u> </u>	0				
IMAZAMOX 0<	IMAZETHAPYR 0 0 0 0	0		0		0				
SIMAZINE 0<	IMAZAMOX 0 0 0 0		0	0		0				
TRICLOPYR TRICLOPYR 0.068 0.012 2.4-DICHLOROPHENOL 0	SIMAZINE	0	0	0		0				
2.4-DICHLOROPHENOL 0 0 0 0 1LORO-2-METHYLPHENOL 0 0 0 0 BENTAZON ETHYLPHENOL 0 0 0 0 FLUROXYPYR ETHOFUMES 0 0 0 0 NETALAXYL-M 0 0 0 0 0 NAFOP ACID METABOLITE 0 0 0 0 0 METALAXYL-M 0 0 0 0 0 NAFOP ACID METABOLITE 0 0 0 0 0 METRIBUZIN 0 0 0 0 0 0 NAFOP ACID METABOLITE 0 0 0 0 0 0 NAFOP ACID METABOLITE 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 NAFOP ACID METABOLIN 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 METRIBUZIN 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 VINCLOZOLIN NINCLOZOLIN 0 0 0 0	TRICLOPYR 10	0	0	0		5		0.068		0.012
ILORO-2-METHYLPHENOL 0 0 0 0 BENTAZON BENTAZON 0 0 0 BENTAZON ETHOLROXYPYR 0 0 0 FILUROXYPYR ETHOLROXYPYR 0 0 0 METALAXYL-MM 0 0 0 0 VAFOP ACID METABOLITE 0 0 0 0 METABOZIN 0 0 0 0 VAFOP ACID METABOLITE 0 0 0 0 METRIBUZIN 0 0 0 0 OXYCARBOXIN 0 0 0 0 VINCLOZOLIN 0 0 0 0 METHOMYL 0 0 0 0 METRIBUZIN 0 0 0 0 VINCLOZOLIN 0 0 0 0 METHOMYL 0 0 0 0 GLVPHOSATE(ROUNDUP) 0 0 0 0 GLVPOSATE(ROUNDUP) 0 0 0 0 GLUPOSINATE 0 2 4 2 1	2,4-DICHLOROPHENOL	0	0	0		0				
BENIAZON FLUROXYPYR BENIAZON FLUROXYPYR BENIAZON FTHOFUNGXETE 0 0 0 METALAXYL-M METABOLITE 0 0 0 0 METALAXYL-M METABOLITE 0 0 0 0 NAFOP ACID METABOLITE 0 0 0 0 NAFOP ACID METABOLITE 0 0 0 0 NAFOP ACID METABOLITE 0 0 0 0 NETRIBUZIN 0 0 0 0 0 OXYCARBOXIN 0 0 0 0 0 VINCLOZOLIN 0 0 0 0 0 GLVPHOSATE(ROUNDUP) 0 0 0 0 0 GLUPOSINATE 0 2 1 1 6 </td <td>ORO-2-METHYLPHENOL</td> <td>0 0</td> <td>0 0</td> <td>0</td> <td></td> <td>0.0</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	ORO-2-METHYLPHENOL	0 0	0 0	0		0.0				
FLUKUATION FLUKUATION RETHOFUMESATE 0 0 0 METALAXYL-M 0 0 0 0 NAFOP ACID METABOLITE 0 0 0 0 METRIBUZIN 0 0 0 0 0 OXYCARBOXIN 0 0 0 0 0 VINCLOZOLIN 0 0 0 0 0 VINCLOZOLIN 0 0 0 0 0 METHOMYL 0 0 0 0 0 METHORYL 0 0 0 0 0 CLUPOSATE(ROUNDUP) ETHYLPHOSPHONICACID 0 0 0 0 GLUFOSINATE 0 2 1 1 6 1		0 0	0 0			0.0				
EITUCTOMESATE 0 0 0 0 0 NAFOP ACID METABOLITE 0 0 0 0 0 NAFOP ACID METABOLITE 0 0 0 0 0 IPRODIONE 0 0 0 0 0 0 METRIBUZIN 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 OXYCARBOXIN 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 VINCLOZOLIN 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 CLYPHOSATE(ROUNDUP) ETHYLPHOSPHONICACID 0 0 0 0 0 GLUFOSINATE 0 2 1 1 6		5 0	5 0		<u> </u>	0.0				
MAFOP ACID METABOLITE 0 0 0 0 NAFOP ACID METABOLITE 0 0 0 0 METABOLITE 0 0 0 0 METRODIONE 0 0 0 0 CXYCARBOXIN 0 0 0 0 OXYCARBOXIN 0 0 0 0 VINCLOZOLIN 0 0 0 0 METHOMYL 0 0 0 0 GLVPHOSATE(ROUNDUP) 0 0 0 0 IETHYLPHOSPHONICACID 0 1 1 6		5 0	5 0		-					
VAFOP AGID ME LABOLLIE 0 0 0 0 IPRODIONE 0 0 0 0 METRIBUZIN 0 0 0 0 OXYCARBOXIN 0 0 0 0 OXYCARBOXIN 0 0 0 0 VINCLOZOLIN 0 0 0 0 METHOML 0 0 0 0 LIPHOSPHONICACID 0 0 0 0 GLUFOSINATE 0 2 1 1 6		0 0	- 0							
IPRODIONE 0 0 0 0 METRIBUZIN 0 0 0 0 0 OXYCARBOXIN 0 0 0 0 0 OXYCARBOXIN 0 0 0 0 0 OXYCARBOXIN 0 0 0 0 0 VINCLOZOLIN 0 0 0 0 0 METHOMYL 0 0 0 0 0 CLUPOSPHONICACID 0 0 0 0 0 Ber of compounds detected* 0 2 4 3 0 1 6		0 0) (
ME I KIBUZIN 0 0 0 OXYCARBOXIN 0 0 0 0 VINCLOZOLIN 0 0 0 0 VINCLOZOLIN 0 0 0 0 GLYPHOSATE(ROUNDUP) 0 0 0 0 ETHYLPHOSPHONICACID 0 0 0 0 ber of compounds detected* 0 2 4 3 0 1 6	IPROUIONE	0 0	0 0			0 0				
ОХУСАКВОХІМ 0 <t< td=""><td>ME I KIBUZIN</td><td>D</td><td>0 0</td><td></td><td></td><td>0 0</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></t<>	ME I KIBUZIN	D	0 0			0 0				
VINCLUZOLIN 0 <th< td=""><td>UXYCARBUXIN</td><td></td><td>0 0</td><td></td><td></td><td>0 0</td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td></th<>	UXYCARBUXIN		0 0			0 0				
GLYPHOSATE(ROUNDU) ETHYLPHOSPHONICACID GLUFOSINATE ber of compounds detected* 0 2 4 3 2 0 1 1 6			5		<u> </u>					
ETHYLPHOSPHONICACID GLUFOSINATE ber of compounds detected* 0 2 4 3 2 0 1 1 1 6				5		<u> </u>				
GLUFOSINATE CLPOSINATE Der of compounds detected* 0 2 4 3 2 0 1 1 1 6	THYLPHOSPHONICACID									
ber of compounds detected* 0 2 4 3 2 0 1 1 6	GLUFOSINATE									
	sr of compounds detected* 0 2 4 3 2	0	1	1	1	6				

Pesticide Compound Detection 'sesticide Compound 2,4-D 100 88 6 8 6 8 6 8 6 8 6 8 6 8 6 8 6 7 5 6 8 6 7 5 6 7 5 6 7 5 6 7 5 6 7 5 6 7 5 6 7 5 6 7 7 5 6 7 7 5 6 7 7 5 6 7 7 5 6 7 7 5 6 7 7 5 6 7 <	Station Free 67 100 67 100 67 100 67 75 67 75 67 75 67 75 67 75 67 75 67 75 67 75 67 75 67 75 67 75 67 75 67 75 67 75 67 75 60 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 <th75< th=""> <th7< th=""> <th75< th=""></th75<></th7<></th75<>	000 000 000 000 000 000 000 000	2000 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00 00			4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	6 6 6 6 6 6 6 6	Maximur 9 2.184 9 2.184 1 0.381 1 0.381 1 0.065 1 0.065 0.616	Concord A 4 1 Concord A 4 1 Concord A 4 1 Concord A 4 1 Concord A	0.045 0.046 0.037 0.018 0.082 0.082 0.082 0.045	(<u>Jg L ')</u> 0.415 0 0.0415 0 0.0415 0 0.0415 0 0.0415 0 0.0415 0 0.0415 0 0.122 0.122 0.138 0 0.122 0.138 0 0.122	16 16
r of samples analyzed 6 8 2.4-D 100 88 6 DICAMBA(BANVEL) 17 75 9 OPYRALID(LONTREL) 0 25 6 0 ATRAZINE 0 25 6 0 ATRAZINE 0 0 25 0 ATRAZINE 0 0 0 0 ATRAZINE 0 0 0 0 SOPROPYNIL 0 0 0 0 ATRAZINE 0 0 0 0 0 DIURON 101 100 100 10 0 DIURON 0 0 0 0 0 1 ALLOURABENZ-METHYL 0 0 0 0 0	3 4 67 100 67 75 67 75 67 75 0 50 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 25 0 25 0 25 0 25 0 0 0 25 0 0 0 25 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	4 000 000 000 000 000 000 000 000	7 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	6 8 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	0 0.101 0 0.101 0	6 7 3.297 2 0.447 2 0.043 2 0.043 4 0.19	8 3 2 ,184 1 0 ,037 1 0 ,037 1 0 ,0381 1 0 ,208 1 0 ,208 1 0 ,065 1 0 ,0616	4 0.381 0.246 0.340 0.055 0.055 0.055 0.0206	4 0.046 0.037 0.037 0.082 0.082 0.045	10 0.415 0 0.0148 0 0.0133 0 0.033 0 0.033 0 0.0122 0.122 0.138 0 0.138 0	16 444 0.1 0.027 0.0 0.016 0.0 025 0.0 031 0.0 394 0.3
2,4-D 100 88 ALLATE(AVADE XBW) 67 88 MCPA 67 88 6 DICAMBA(BANVEL) 17 75 6 DICAMBA(BANVEL) 17 75 6 DICAMBA(BANVEL) 17 75 6 DICAMBA(BANVEL) 17 75 6 DICAMBA(BANVEL) 0 0 25 CHLORPROP(2,4-DP) 0 0 0 BROMOXYNIL 0 0 0 0 BROMOXYNIL 0 2,4-DB 0 0 Schruck 2,4-DB 0 0 0 BROMOXIL 17 13 3 0 0 Schruck 0 2,4-DB 0 0 0 CHLORIDE 0 0 0 0 0 0 ALFLURALINCEDGE 0 0 0 0 0 0 ALFLURALINCEDGEN 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 CLUCANINCIDE 0 0 0 <td>$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$</td> <td>100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100</td> <td>$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$</td> <td>88 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0</td> <td>99 77 77 77 77 77 77 77 77 77</td> <td>0 0.107 0 0.016 0 0.012 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0</td> <td>7 3.296 0 0.447 2 0.33 2 0.046 5 2.068 4 0.19</td> <td>9 2.184 1 0.037 1 0.381 1 0.381 3 0.180 3 0.180 1 0.065 0.616</td> <td>0.259 0.246 0.246 0.255 0.055 0.055 0.0259</td> <td>0.046 0.103 0.037 0.018 0.082 0.082 0.045</td> <td>0.415 0 0.048 0 0.010 0.033 0 0.033 0 0.033 0 0.138 0 0.122 0.122 0.122 0.249</td> <td>.027 0.0 .027 0.0 .016 0.0 .025 0.0 .091 0.0 .394 0.3</td>	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	88 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	99 77 77 77 77 77 77 77 77 77	0 0.107 0 0.016 0 0.012 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	7 3.296 0 0.447 2 0.33 2 0.046 5 2.068 4 0.19	9 2.184 1 0.037 1 0.381 1 0.381 3 0.180 3 0.180 1 0.065 0.616	0.259 0.246 0.246 0.255 0.055 0.055 0.0259	0.046 0.103 0.037 0.018 0.082 0.082 0.045	0.415 0 0.048 0 0.010 0.033 0 0.033 0 0.033 0 0.138 0 0.122 0.122 0.122 0.249	.027 0.0 .027 0.0 .016 0.0 .025 0.0 .091 0.0 .394 0.3
MCPA 67 88 67 88 6 DICAMBA(BANVEL) 7 75 6 DICAMBA(BANVEL) 7 75 6 CHLORPROP(2,4-DP) 0 0 BROMOXYNIL 0 0 CHLORPROP(2,4-DP) 0 0 BROMOXYNIL 0 0 CHLORPROP(2,4-DP) 0 0 CHLORPBAN) 0 0 0 CHLORPBAN) 0 0 0 CHLORPIDE 0 0 0 CHLORIDE 0 0 0 DIJZINON 0 0 0 DIJZINON 0 0 0 CHLORIDE (LINDANE) 0 0 CHLORIDE (LINDANE) 0 0 CHLORIDE (LINDANE) 0 0 DIJZINON 0 0 0 CHLORIDE (LINDANE) 0 0 0 0 CHLORIDE (LINDANE) 0 0 0 0 0 CHLORIDE (LINDANE) 0 0 0 0 0 CHLORIDE (LINDANE) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	$ \begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	4 o o o o o o o o o o o o o o o o o o o	<u>x + 0 x 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 </u>	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	0 0.447 2 0.333 0.0468 4 0.19	1 0.037 1 0.208 3 0.180 3 0.180 1 0.065 0.616	0.246 0.340 0.055 0.055 0.206 0.206 0.259	0.103 0.037 0.018 0.082 0.082 0.045	0.048 0 0.010 0.033 0 0.066 0 0.122 0.122 0.122 0.249	.027 0.0 016 0.0 025 0.0 .091 0.0 .394 0.3
ALLATE (AVADE XBW) DICAMBA (BANVEL) DICAMBA (BANVEL) DICAMBA (BANVEL) DICAMBA (BANVEL) BONOXYNIL BATRAZINE DICAMBA (BANVEL) BATRAZINE DEFERCIOPROP) CHLORIDE 000000000000000000000000000000000000	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		00000000000000000000000000000000000000	οφφοοοφοοοοοο 	<u>- 0 % 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 </u>	4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	2 0.33 0.04(0 5 2.068	0.381 0.2083 0.1800 1 0.065 0.616	0.340 0.055 0.055 0.206 0.259	0.037 0.018 0.082 0.045	0.010 0.033 0 0.060 0 0.122 0.122 0.128 0 0.249	0.0 016 0.0 025 0.0 091 0.0 394 0.3
DICAMBA(BANVEL) DICAMBA(BANVEL) DICAMBA(BANVEL) CHLORPROP(2,4-DP) BROMOXYNIL BROMOXYNIL 0 25 CHLORRED 0 25 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		04000000000000000000000000000000000000	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	0 w 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	0.012 0.036	2 0.33 0.046 5 2.068 4 0.19	0.381 0.208 0.180 1 0.065 0.616	0.055	0.018 0.082 0.045	0.033 0 0.060 0 0.122 0 0.138 0 0.249 0.249	.016 .025 0.0 .091 0.0 .394 0.3
CHLOREDCLATED BROMOXYNIL BROMOXYNIL BROMOXYNIL DS-ETHYL(DURSBAN) 25-ETHYL(DURSBAN) 25-ETHYL(DURSBAN) 25-4-DB 2,4-DB 2,4-DB 2,4-DB 2,4-DB 2,4-DB 2,4-DB 2,4-DB 2,4-DB 2,4-DB 2,4-DB 0 2,4-DB 0 2,4-DB 0 0 2,4-DB 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	00000000000000000000000000000000000000		20000000000000000000000000000000000000	<u>,</u>		4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	2 0.068 0 19	0.616	0.259	0.045	0.122 0.122 0.122 0.1249 0.249	
BROMOXYNIL BROMOXYNIL BROMOXYNIL BROMOXYNIL DS-ETHYLLOURSBAN) 2S-ETHYLLOURSBAN) 2S-ETHYLLOURSBAN) 2S-ETHYLLURSBAN) 2-4-DB 2-4-DB 2-4-DB 2-4-DB 2-2-METHYL 0-2-METHYLL 0-2-METHYLL 0-2-METHYLPHENOL BENTAZON FLUROXYPYR 0-2-METHYLPHENOL	00000000000000000000000000000000000000	75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 75 7	ہ وہ دو وہ وہ وہ وہ وہ 10 ہے			4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	5 2.068 4 0.19	3 0.180 1 0.065 0.616	0.259	0.045	0.138 0	.091 0.0 .394 0.3 0.7
ATRAZINE 0 0 MCPP(MECOPROP) 100 100 10 SS-ETHYL(DURSBAN) 2,4-DB 0 0 EENEHEXACHLORIDE 0 0 EENEHEXACHLORIDE 0 0 BROMACIL 17 13 3 SOPROPYLATRAZINE 0 0 DIJAZINON 0 0 0 HALFLURALIN(EDGE) 0 0 ATTABENZ-METHYL 0 0 PICLORAM(TORDON) 100 88 10 PICLORAM(TORDON) 100 20 ATTAZANOX 0 0 0 IMAZAMOX 0 0 0 FLURALIN(TREFLAN) 0 0 PICHLOROPHENOL 0-2-METHYLPHENOL BENTAZON FLUROXYPYR	000 75 75 00 75 75 00 00 75 00 00	75 00 0000000000000000000000000000000000	20000000000000000000000000000000000000			4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	5 2.068 4 0.19	3 0.180 1 0.065 0.616	0.259	0.045	0.138 0 0.249	.091 0.0 .394 0.3 0.7
MCPP(MECOPROP) 100 100 100 DS-ETHYL(DURSBAN) 2,4-DB 0 0 ZENEHEXACHLORIDE 2,4-DB 0 0 ZENEHEXACHLORIDE BROMACIL 17 13 0 SOPROPYLATRAZINE DIAZINON 0 0 0 CHLORIDE (LINDANE) DIURON 0 0 0 PCLORAM(TORDON) DIUNCLORAC 0 0 0 PYRIDABEN QUINCLORAC 0 0 0 0 PYRIDABEN QUINCLORAC 0 0 0 0 0 PYRIDABEN QUINCLORAC 0 0 0 0 0 0 PYRIDABEN O IMAZETHAPYR 0 0 0	75 75 00 75 00 0 00 0 00 0 00 0 00 0 00 0 00 0 00 0 00 0 00 0 00 0 00 0 00 0 00 0 00 0 00 0 00 0	75 0	50000000000000000000000000000000000000		<u> </u>	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	5 2.068 4 0.19	3 0.180 1 0.065 0.616	0.259	0.045	0.138 0 0.249	.091 0.0 .394 0.3 0.7
 SS-ETHYL(DURSBAN) OS-ETHYL(DURSBAN) ZENEHEXACHLORIDE ZENEHEXACHLORIDE DEROMACIL TA BROMACIL 17 BROMACIL 17 13 SOPROPYLATRAZINE DIAZINON DIJURON O O MALFLURALIN(EDGE) O DIJURON DIJURON O O METHABENZ-METHYL DIJURON O PYRIDABEN O PICLORAM(TORDON) DI PICLORAM(TORDON) O DIURON O O<	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	000000000000000000000000000000000000000	00000000000000000000000000000000000000	000000000	<u> </u>	4 0 0 5 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 22	4 0.19	0.065	0 297		0.249	
2,4-DB 0 ZENEHEXACHLORIDE 0 0 BROMACIL BROMACIL 17 13 3 SOPROPYLATRAZINE 0 0 DIURON 0 0 0 NETHABENZ-METHYL 0 0 METHABENZ-METHYL 0 0 NCHLORIDE (LINDANE) 0 0 METHABENZ-METHYL 0 0 PICLORAM (TORDON) 100 88 10 PYRIDABEN 0 0 0 IFLURALIN (TREFLAN) 0 0 IFLURALIN (TREFLAN) 0 0 IFLURALIN (TREFLAN) 0 0 MAZETHAPYR 0 0 IFLURAZINE TRICLOPYR 0 0 MAZETHAPYR 0 0 METHAPYR	0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	000000000000000000000000000000000000000	50000000000000000000000000000000000000	00000000	<u> </u>	00000000000000000000000000000000000000	4 0.19	0.065	792 0		0.249	.394 0.3 0.7
ZENEHEXACHLORIDE 0 0 BROMACIL 17 13 3 BROMACIL 17 13 3 BROMACIL 17 13 3 BROMACIL 17 13 3 DIAZINON 0 0 DIAZINON 0 0 CHLORIDE (LINDANE) 0 0 METHABENZ-METHYL 0 0 METHABENZ-METHYL 0 0 PICLORAM(TORDON) 100 88 10 PYRIDABEN 0 0 0 PICLORAM(TORDON) 100 88 10 PYRIDABEN 0 0 0 IFLURALIN(TREFLAN) 0 0 IRLURALIN(TREFLAN) 0 0 IRLURALIN(TREFLAN) 0 0 IRLURAZINE 10 0 0 0 0 0 IRLURAZINE 10 0 0 0 0 0 IRLURAZINE 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 IRLURAZINE 10 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	0 0 0 33 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	000000000000000000000000000000000000000	500 <u>5</u> 0000	0000000	<u> </u>	0 0 0 0 0.124 0 0 0 0.124 0 0 0 0 0.124	4 0.19	0.065	797 U		0.249	
SOPROPYLATRAZINE 17 13 BROMACIL 17 13 DIAZINON 0 0 DIAZINON 0 0 DIAZINON 0 0 CHLORIDE(LINDANE) 0 0 NCHLORIDE(LINDANE) 0 0 NCHLORIDE(LINDANE) 0 0 NCHLORIDE(LINDANE) 0 0 PICLORAM(TORDON) 100 88 10 PICLORAM(TORDON) 100 0 PICLORAM(TORDON) 100 0 PICLORAM(TORDON) 100 88 10 PICLORAM(TORDON) 100 88 100 88 10 PICLORAM(TORDON) 100 88 100 88 100 88 100 88 100 88 100 88 100 88 100 88 100 88 100 88 100 88 100 88 100 88 100 88 100 88 100 88 100 88 100 80 100 80 100 80 100 80 100 80 100 80 100 80 100 80 100 80 100 80	25 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	000000000000000000000000000000000000000	500 ¹ 000	000000	<u> </u>	0.124 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	0.19	0.655	792 0		0.249	.394 0.3 0.7
SOPROPYLATRAZINE 0 0 DIAZINON 0 0 DIURON 0 0 DIURON 0 0 0 DIURON 0 0 0 CHLORIDE(LINDANE) 0 0 AETHABENZ-METHYL 0 0 PICLORAM(TORDON) 100 88 10 PICLORAM(TORDON) 100 88 10 PICLORAM(TREFLAN) 0 0 IFLURALIN(TREFLAN) 0 0 IMAZAMOX 0 0 IMAXINI 0 IMAZAMOX 0 0 IMAXINI 0 IM	0 0	000000000000000000000000000000000000000	500 ¹⁰ 00	00000		000004		0.616			0.249	.394 0.3 0.7
DIAZINON 0 0 0 DIURON 0 0 0 DIURON 0 0 0 CHLORIDE(LINDANE) 0 0 VIETHABENZ-METHYL 0 0 NETHABENZ-METHYL 0 0 PYRIDABEN 0 0 IFLURALIN(TREFLAN) 0 0 IMAZETHAPYR 0 0 IMAZETHAPYR 0 0 IMAZETHAPYR 0 0 IMAZAMOX 0 0 SIMAZINE 7 FLUROXPHENOL 8ENTAZON FLUROXYPYR	0 0 0 0 0 25 0 25 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0	00000000	5000 0000 2000	00004	<u> </u>	00004		0.616			0.249	.394 0.3 0.7
DIURON0HALFLURALIN(EDGE)0NCHLORIDE(LINDANE)0NETHABENZ-METHYL0VIETHABENZ-METHYL0PYRIDABEN0PYRIDABEN0PUCLORAM(TORDON)100PUCLORAM(TORDON)100PYRIDABEN0PYRIDABEN0PYRIDABEN0PYRIDABEN0PYRIDABEN0PYRIDABEN0RIMZZHAPYR0IFLURANINC0SIMAZINE0TRICLOPYR0C-2-METHYLPHENOLBENTAZONFLUROXYPYR	33 0 0 0 0 25 0 75 0 0 0 0 0 0	00000000	5 0 0 10 5 0 0 10	0004	0007	0004		0.616			0.249	.394 0.3 0.7
HALFLURALIN(EDGE) 0 0 CHLORIDE(LINDANE) 0 0 METHABENZ-METHYL 0 0 METHABENZ-METHYL 0 0 PYRIDABEN 0 0 PYRIDABEN 0 0 IFLURALIN(TREFLAN) 0 0 IMAZETHAPYR 0 0 IMAZANOX 0 0 SIMAZINC 4-DICHLOROPHENOL CO-2-METHYLPHENOL BENTAZON FLUROXYPYR	0 0 0 0 0 25 00 75 0 0	000000	50 2 50 2	004	<u>,</u>	004						.394 0.3 0.7
ACHLORIDE (LINDANE) 0 0 METHABENZ-METHYL 0 0 PICLORAM(TORDON) 100 88 10 PYRIDABEN 0 0 NUNCLORAC 0 0 IFLURALIN(TREFLAN) 0 0 IMAZATHAPYR 0 0 IMAZAMOX 0 0 SIMAZINC TRICLOPYR 0 0 A-DICHLOROPHENOL 0 0 RAZZINE TRICLOPYR 1 4-DICHLOROPHENOL 80 0 RO-2-METHYLPHENOL 80 0 FLUROXYPYR	0 0 00 25 00 75 0 0 0 0	0 0 0 0	0 50 2	0 4		04						.394 0.3 0.7
VIETHABENZ-METHYL 0 0 PICLORAM(TORDON) 100 88 10 PYRIDABEN 0 0 QUINCLORAC 0 0 IFLURALIN(TREFLAN) 0 0 IMAZETHAPYR 0 0 IMAZANOX 0 0 SIMAZINE TRICLOPYR 0 0 4-DICHLOROPHENOL 8ENTAZON BENTAZON FLUROXYPYR	0 25 00 75 0 0 0 0	0 00 0	50 2	. T		4						.394 0.3 0.7
PICLORAM(TORDON) 100 88 10 PYRIDABEN 0 0 QUINCLORAC 0 0 IFLURALIN(TREFLAN) 0 0 IMAZETHAPYR 0 0 IMAZAMOX 0 0 A-BIMAZINE 7RICLOPYR 0 0 A-DICHLOROPHENOL 8ENTAZON FLUROXYPYR	00 75 0 0 0 0	100		2	-	-			0.061		0.590 0	0.7
PYRIDABEN 0 0 QUINCLORAC 0 0 IIFLURALIN(TREFLAN) 0 0 IIMAZETHAPYR 0 0 IIMAZAMOX 0 0 SIMAZINE TRICLOPYR 4-DICHLOROPHENOL RO-2-METHYLPHENOL BENTAZON FLUROXYPYR	0 0 0 0	c	50	0 10(0	7 0.429	9 1.147	7 1.355	0.182	0.280	0.155	
QUINCLORAC 0 0 IFLURALIN(TREFLAN) 0 0 IMAZETHAPYR 0 0 IMAZINE TRICLOPYR 7 4-DICHLOROPHENOL 8ENTAZON FLUROXYPYR	0	2	0	0	0	0						
 (IFLURALIN(TREFLAN) 0 0 IMAZETHAPYR 0 0 IMAZAMOX 0 0 SIMAZINE TRICLOPYR 4-DICHLOROPHENOL 80-2-METHYLPHENOL FLUROXYPYR 		0	0	0	0	0						
IMAZETHAPYR 0 0 IMAZAMOX 0 0 SIMAZINE TRICLOPYR 4-DICHLOROPHENOL RO-2-METHYLPHENOL BENTAZON FLUROXYPYR	0	0	0	0	0	0						
IMAZAMOX 0 0 SIMAZINE TRICLOPYR 4-DICHLOROPHENOL RO-2-METHYLPHENOL BENTAZON FLUROXYPYR	0	0	0	0	0	0						
SIMAZINE TRICLOPYR 4-DICHLOROPHENOL 80-2-METHYLPHENOL BENTAZON FLUROXYPYR	0	0	0	0	0	0						
TRICLOPYR ,4-DICHLOROPHENOL RO-2-METHYLPHENOL BENTAZON FLUROXYPYR	0	0	0	0	0	0						
,4-DICHLOROPHENOL RO-2-METHYLPHENOL BENTAZON FLUROXYPYR	25	75	20 6	53 1	1 36	6			0.010	0.057	0.013 0	0.0 0.0
KO-2-METHYLPHENOL BENTAZON FLUROXYPYR	0	0	10	0	0	N					0.019	
BENTAZON FLUROXYPYR	0	0	0	0	0	0						
FLUROXYPYR				Ū	0	0						
				Ū	0	0						
ETHOFUMESATE				Ū	0	0						
METALAXYL-M				Ū	0	0						
OP ACID METABOLITE				Ū	0	0						
IPRODIONE				Ţ	- -	_						0.3
METRIBUZIN				Ū	0	0						
OXYCARBOXIN			С	0		4						0.4
VINCLOZOLIN			0	0		0						
METHOMYL				0		0						
						0						
IVLPHOSPHONICACID												
GLUFOSINATE						0 0						
of compounds detected* 6 7	8 10	∞	12	7 10	1	5						
*Does not include Glyphosate, AMPA c	or Glufosin	ate										

06.

1000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 Maximum Concentration (un 1 ⁻¹)	12 11 10 10 12 10 9	0.102	0.021		0.019 0.008					0.009								0.038 0.016	0.023 0.010																				
ll Yrs 1999 2 Aean	9	2	-	0	7	0	0	0	0	~	00	00	0	0	0	0	00	<u> </u>	<u>, c</u>	00		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0	0 0	<u> </u>	5 0	5 0	<u>)</u> c	2		5		
5 2006 A	6 0	0	0 0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	00	0 0	0	0 0	0	0	00					0	0 0	0 0	0 0	0 0	0	0	0 0	0 0	<u> </u>	<u> </u>			<u>,</u>		000		
04 200 (%)	12	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0	0 0	0	0	0	0	0 0			00		0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0	0 0	0 0	5 0	5 0	D			0		
03 20(10	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0			00	c	0	0	0	0	0											0	fe	
002 20 Nn Fred	9	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0 0		0	0	0	0	0 0			0 0	C	0	0	0	0	0											0	ufosina	
001 2 Detectic	1	0	6	0	ი	0	0	0	0	0	00		0	0	0	0	0 0	- o	ກດ	00	C	0															ო	v or Gl	
2 0003	19	17	0	0	œ	0	0	0	0	œ	00	0	0	0	0	0	0 0	⊃ Ļ	2 0	00	C	0															4	AMP	
1999 2	9	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	00		0	0	0	0	0 0			0	C	0															0	nosate,	
Pesticide Compound	Number of samples analyzed	2,4-D	MCPA	TRIALLATE(AVADEXBW)	DICAMBA(BANVEL)	CLOPYRALID(LONTREL)	DICHLORPROP(2,4-DP)	BROMOXYNIL	ATRAZINE	MCPP(MECOPROP)	CHLORPYRIFOS-ETHYL(DURSBAN)		DESISOPROPYLATRAZINE	DIAZINON	DIURON	ETHALFLURALIN(EDGE)	GAMMA-BENZENEHEXACHLORIDE(LINDANE)			QUINCLORAC	TRIFITIRALIN/TRFFLAN)	IMAZAMOX	SIMAZINE	TRICLOPYR	2,4-DICHLOROPHENOL	4-CHLORO-2-METHYLPHENOL	BENTAZON	FLUROXYPYR	ETHOFUMESATE	MEIALAXYL-M						GLUFOSINATE	Number of compounds detected*	*Does not include Glyph	

APPENDIX 14: PESTICIDE MOBILITY TABLE

Table A14.1. Pesticide mobility table.

	Pesticide		Water	Sorption
	Movement	Soil Half-life	Solubility	Coefficient
Common Name	Rating	(davs)	(ma/l)	(soil Koc)
2,4-D acid	Moderate	10	890	20
2,4-DB acid	Very Low	5	46	440
Aldicarb	High	30	6000	30
Aldrin	Very Low	365	0.027	5000
Atrazine	High	60	33	100
Azinphos-methyl	Low	10	29	1000
Bentazon sodium salt	High	20	2,300,000	34
Bromacil acid	Very High	60	700	32
Bromacil lithium salt	Very High	60	700	32
Bromoxynil butyrate ester	Very Low	7	27	1079
Bromoxynil octanoate ester	Extremely Low	7	0.08	10,000
Chlorothalonil	Low	30	0.6	1380
Chlorpyrifos	Very Low	30	0.4	6070
Chlorpyrifos-methyl	Very Low	7	4	3000
Clopyralid amine salt	Very High	40	300,000	6
Cyanazine	Low	14	170	190
Diazinon	Low	40	60	1000
Dicamba salt	Very High	14	400,000	2
Dichlorprop (2,4-DP) ester	Low	10	50	1000
Diclofop-methyl	Extremely Low	30	0.8	16,000
Dieldrin	Extremely Low	1000	0.2	12,000
Dimethoate	Moderate	7	39,800	20
Disulfoton	Low	30	25	600
Diuron	Moderate	90	42	480
Endosulfan	Extremely Low	50	0.32	12,400
Ethalfluralin	Very Low	60	0.3	4000
Ethion	Extremely Low	150	1.1	10,000
Ethofumesate	Moderate	30	50	340
Fenoxaprop-ethyl	Extremely Low	9	0.8	9490
Fluazifop-butyl	Very Low	21	2	3000
Fluazifop-p-butyl	Very Low	15	2	5700
Imazamethabenz-methyl(m-isomer)	High	45	1370	66
Imazamethabenz-methyl(p-isomer)	Very High	45	857	35
Imazethapyr	Very High	90	200,000	10
Iprodione	Low	14	13.9	700
Lindane	Moderate	400	7	1100
Linuron	Moderate	60	75	400
Malathion	Extremely Low	1	130	1800
MCPA dimethylamine salt	High	25	866,000	20
MCPA ester	Low	25	5	1000
MCPB sodium salt	High	14	200,000	20
Mecoprop (MCPP) dimethylamine salt	High	21	660,000	20
Metalaxyl	Very High	70	8400	50
Methomyl	High	30	58,000	72
Methoxychlor	Extremely Low	120	0.1	80,000
Metolachlor	High	90	530	200
Metribuzin	High	40	1220	60
Napropamide	Moderate	70	74	700
Oxycarboxin	Moderate	20	1000	95
Parathion (ethyl parathion)	Very Low	14	24	5000
Phorate	Low	60	22	1000
Picloram salt	Very High	90	200,000	16
Propiconazole	Moderate	110	110	650
Quizalofop-ethyl	Moderate	60	0.31	510
Simazine	High	60	6.2	130
Terbutos	Very Low	5	5	500
Triallate	Low	82	4	2400
I riclopyr amine salt	Very High	46	2,100,000	20
l riclopyr ester	Low	46	23	780
Trifluralin	Very Low	60	0.3	8000
Vinclozolin	Moderate	20	1000	100

Source: Wauchope et al. 1992; Augustijn-Beckers et al. 1994; Cotton 1995.

D AND/OR IRRIGATED		
F SAMPLES FOR DRYLAN		
TION AND NUMBER OF		
MEDIAN CONCENTRA	70	-
APPENDIX 15:	WATERSHEDS	

Table A15.1. Median concentration ($\mu g L^{-1}$) plus number of samples in parenthesis for a variety of compounds detected in both dryland and irrigated watersheds.

	1	1													1			1						1		
nilozoləniV																										
xomszaml																										
5' t -DB																										
Bentazon																										
nonizaiU					_																					
anizartA																			0.070	(1)						
Fluroxуруг																0.054	(1)		<u> </u>	<u> </u>						
2,4-Dichlorophenol																0	<u> </u>		.023	1)			.029	2)		
шагепаруг									.079	1)						.077	2)		.105 0	3) (0	-		
Dictionprob	-					.008	<u></u>		0	$\overline{}$						0	<u> </u>		0	<u> </u>						
Di-th-mere methyl	-					121 0	0								_	237	6		163							
-znadedtamezemI						o.	С									ö	Ξ		o.	C						
Triallate																0.022	(12)		0.223	(2)					0.009	<u>(</u>]
linyxomora						0.013	(8)		0.005	(1)									0.011	(1)	0.011	(1)	0.005	(1)		
ТгісІоруг		0.099	(4)	0.046	(17)				0.028	(10)				0.006	(5)	0.061	(13)		0.406	(2)			0.084	(13)	0.012	(3)
Bicamba				0.007	(1)	0.017	6)				0.014	(2)		0.055	(17)	0.058	(10)		0.025	(9)			0.073	(4)		
Clopyralid						0.024	(9)		0.049	(1)				0.011	(2)	0.066	(22)		0.133	(32)			0.023	(1)		
WCbb						0.010	(9)				0.009	(1)		0.024	(1)	0.022	6		0.029	(2)			0.013	(1)	0.012	(1)
Picloram						0.011	<u>(</u>		0.032	(18)	0.016	(3)		0.057	(21)	0.232	(9)		0.564	(37)	0.062	(1)	770.0	(13)	0.017	(4)
MCPA		0.012	2)	.006	3)	0.025	21)		017	11)	0.021	1)	yland	.008 (16)	0.014	31)		0.036 (17)) 600.((9)	.014 (5)	0.005	3)
<u></u> П-⊅'7	dryland	.045 (5)	.011 0	7) (0.018 (31) (.010 (20) (0.055 (2)	nsity dr	.013 (34) (017 0	15) (039 (34) (.014 (21) (0.027 0	50) (014 ((9
	sity		$\overline{}$		$\overline{}$	0	$\overline{}$			_		_	inte		$\overline{}$	0	$\overline{}$		0	$\overline{}$		_	C K	_	0	$\overline{}$
Watershed	Low inten	Hines	Creek	Paddle	River	Prairie	Blood	Coulee	Rose	Creek	Willow	Creek	Moderate	Blindman	River	Grande	Prairie	Creek	Kleskun	Drain	Meadow	Creek	Tomahaw	Creek	Trout	Creek

	nilozoləniV										0.157	(2)												0.011	(1)				7		
	xomszaml																					0.063	<u>(</u>]						7		
	5't-DB								0.005	(1)																0.665	(1)		7		_
	Bentazon				0.015	<u>(</u>]														0.030	(5)			0.035	6	0.045	(4)		4		_
	nonizsiU				0.005	<u>(</u>]	0000	0.000	Ð						0.012	<u>(</u>]						0.041	<u>(</u>]						4		
	Atrazine																			0.014	(5)	0.013	(10)	0.057	(3)	0.021	(7)		S		
	Fluroxypyr								0.103	(1)										0.026	(3)	0.027	3	0.073	(1)	0.030	6		9		
	Dichlorophen 2,4-																0.019	(1)		0.074	(1)	0.045	(4)	0.469	(1)	0.045	(S		٢		
	Imazethapyr				0.046	(3)	0.051	100.0	0.135	(5)	0.053	(2)			0.048	(7)						0.025	(1)						6		
	Dichlorprop		0.007	(2)	0.018	(])	0.010	010.0	0.006	(1)	0.024	(1)			0.074	(1)	0.122	(1)		0.015	(9)	0.012	(5)	0.037	(2)	0.023	(18)		12		
	enz-methyl Imazamethab		0.246	(2)	0.242	(26)	0100	0.270	0.328	(18)	0.410	(5)	0.165	(]	0.314	(32)	0.276	(11)				0.280	(15)						12		
	Triallate				0.005	(1)		(5)	0.011	(6)	0.009	(2)			0.031	(8)	0.015	(9)		0.011	(18)	0.019	(17)	0.055	(2)	0.014	(13)		13		
	Bromoxynil		0.006	(3)	0.005	(1)	0.050	000.0	0.019	(8)			0.014	(4)	0.012	(5)				0.009	(9)	0.013	(14)	0.019	(4)	0.059	(11)		16		
	Тгісіоруг		0.018	(5)	0.028	(8)		70.0			0.030	(9)	0.043	(22)			0.024	(17)				0.029	(3)	0.058	(13)				16		
	Bicamba				0.031	(5)	0.016	010.0	(1)		0.010	(2)	0.010	(5)	0.005	(4)	0.017	(21)		0.012	(12)	0.021	(63)	0.016	(26)	0.026	(40)		17		
	Clopyralid		0.020	(1)	0.063	(35)	0100	0.040	0.053	(21)	~		0.034	(9)	0.044	(20)	0.039	(23)		0.044	(13)	0.034	(6)	0.081	(2)	0.039	(15)		17		
	МСЬЬ				0.030	(9)	0.010	010.0	0.007	(1)	0.010	(2)	0.016	(2)	0.016	(1)	0.031	(51)		0.018	(4)	0.015	(59)	0.050	(3)	0.029	(8)		18		
	Picloram				0.050	(20)	0.010	010.0	0.059	(20)	0.023	(4)	0.065	(43)	0.024	(11)	0.111	(37)				0.021	(10)	0.025	(9)	0.045	3		19		
	MCPA	nd	0.021	(13)	0.022	(33)	2000	000.0	0.024	(36)	0.013	(18)	0.032	(20)	0.023	(46)	0.016	(39)	tion	0.014	(32)	0.014	(45)	0.011	(26)	0.014	(39)		23		
. cont.	5°4-D	ity dryla	0.013	(29)	0.058	(44)	0.014	0.014	0.017	(39)	0.031	(21)	0.025	(43)	0.023	(36)	0.054	(54)	ity irrigs	0.034	(68)	0.061	(86)	0.039	(52)	0.073	(74)		23		
Table AID.1	Watershed	High intens	Buffalo	Creek	Haynes	Creek	(IMIO)	kay Ureek	Renwick	Creek	Stretton	Creek	Strawberry	Creek	Threehills	Creek	Wabash	Creek	High intens	Battersea	Drain	Crowfoot	Creek	Drain S6		New West	Coulee	# of	streams with	detections	

atersheds. Number of samples collected is in parenthesis. Detected in irrigated watersheds only	Simazine Ethofumesate Ethatfluralin A-Chloro-2-Methylphenol Metalax1-M Desisopropylatrazine																	
rigation wa	Quinclorac							_										
yland or ir	Clodinatopacidmeta- bolite																	
n either dr y	nixodītsvyc																	
detected in rsheds onl	Bromacil																	
mpounds eland wate	Alpha- benzenehexachloride												0.008	(]				
sticide co. ted in dry ¹	Diruon					0.387 (1)												
<u>L⁻¹) of per</u> Detect	nifauftin										0.007	<u>(</u>]	0.013	<u>છ</u>				
ration (µg	Iprodione																	
Aedian concent	benzenehexachloride	dryland	1		0.012 (1)	0.010 (1)		nsity dryland			0.026	(2)	0.024	(4)				
Table A15.2. N	Watershed	Low intensity	Hines Creek	Paddle River	Prairie Blood Coulee	Rose Creek	Willow Creek	Moderate inter	Blindman	River	Grande	Prairie Creek	Kleskun	Drain	Meadow Creek	Tomohomit	1 omanawk Creek	Trout Creek

		•															
Watershed	Gamma- benzene- hexachloride	Iprodione	nifauftirT	nonriU	Alpha- benzenehexa- chloride	Bromacil	nixod1850XO	Clodinafop- acidmetabolite	Quinclorac	ənissmi2	Ethofumesate	Ethalfluralin	Chlorpyrifos- ethyl	Methylphenol 4-Chloro-2-	M-lxslst9M	nizudirtəM	Desisopropyl- atrazine
High intensity	dryland																
Buffalo Creek		0.149 (2)															
Haynes Creek (M6)	0.017	0.245	0.005														
Ray Creek																	
Renwick Creek		0.133 (3)							0.046 (1)								
Stretton	0.012	0.122	0.019														
Creek	(1)	(2)	(4)														
Strawberry Creek					0.005												
Threehills								0.024									
Creek								(1)									
Wabash Creek		0.365 (1)		0.433 (2)		0.158 (4)	0.404(1)										
High intensity	irrigation							-1									
Battersea										0.052 (6)	0.097		0.025		0.422		
Crowfoot											Ì	0.00			Ì		
Creek												E					
Drain S6										0.371 (1)	0.065 (4)	0.018 (1)					
New West Coulee										0.094 (22)	0.025 (9)			2.876 (1)		0.010 (1)	0.123 (2)
# of streams																	
with detections	9	Ś	4	6	6	1	-	1	1	3	e	7	-	1	1	1	1

Most Most Most Most rameter Name stringent- stringent- stringent- Canadian All 1 1 I 1 1 1 ieldrin) 0.004^{4} 0.0000 methyl (Guthion) 5^{5} 5^{5} nethyl (Guthion) 20° 0.13° noil 0.33° 0.33° 0.33° noil 0.18° 0.18° 0.18° secol, 2,4- 900° 77° 0.18° nil 0.18° 0.18° 0.18° secol, 2,4- 900° 77° 0.18° nil 0.18° 0.18° 0.18° second, 2,4- 900° 77° 0.5° second, 2,4- 900° 0.17° 0.5° second 0.035° 0.035° 0.05° second 0.06° 0.006° 0.006° second 0.06° 0.006° 0.056° second 0.02° 0.02° 0.056° second 0.02° 0.02° 0.056°	st Freshwater ent- (μg L ⁻¹) 049 0.004 ^t 1 1.8 1.8 1.8 2 5 5 5	Irrigation							
Most Most Most Most Most Most Most Canadian All 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 (DW) 5 5 5 5 (DW) 5 0.0000 77 0.018 0.18 (DW) 5 0.33 0.33 0.33 0.33 (DW) 5 0.33 0.33 0.33 0.18 (DW) 5 0.33 0.33 0.33 0.33 0.33 (DW) 0.18 0.18 0.18 0.18 0.17 (DW) 0.035 0.0035 0.0035 0.005 xyacetic 100 0.006 0.006 0.056 (DAB 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 (DA 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 (DA 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 (DA 0.02 0.02 0.02	st Freshwater ent- (μg L ⁻¹) 049 0.004 ^t 1 1.8 1 1.8 1 2.6 2 5 3 5 5	Irrigation						Human he	alth for the
Most Most Most Most Name stringent- stringent- stringent- Canadian All 1 1 I 1 1 1 1 S(DW) 5 5 5 5 Juthion) 20 0.01 0.000 77 - 900 77 0.33 0.33 0.33 - 0.18 0.18 0.18 0.13 0.2 0.33 0.33 0.33 0.33 - 900 77 0.00 0.01 0.5 0.33 0.33 0.33 0.33 - 900 0.18 0.18 0.18 0.5 0.035 0.0035 0.003 0.5 20 0.05 0.05 xyacetic 100 100 0.056 0.17 0.18 0.44 4	st Freshwater ent- (μg L ⁻¹) 049 0.004 ^t 1 1.8 1.8 1.8 1.8 5 5 5 5	Irrigation						consum	DIION OI:
Canadian Ail 1 1 1 1 0.004^{t} 0.0000 1.8 1.8 1.8 1.8 1.8 1.8 1.8 1.8 1.8 1.8 1.8 1.8 0.000 5 0.01 0.01 0.23 0.13 0.33 0.33 0.33 0.33 0.18 0.18 0.18 0.18 0.18 0.18 0.18 0.18 0.18 0.18 0.18 0.18 0.18 0.18 0.17 0.0035 0.55 0.55 0.55 0.000 0.056 0.0006 0.0066 0.0006 0.025 0.0056 0.026 0.026 0.027 0.026 0.028 0.026	(μg.L. ⁻) 049 0.004 ^t 1.8 1.8 1.8 2.5 3 5 5	, (. -),	Livestock	MAC ^x	AO or OG ^w	CMC	CCC ^u (ue L'	Water and organism	Organism onlv
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	1 049 0.004 ^t 1.8 1.8 1 1 5 5 3 3 5 5	$(\mu g L^{-1})$	(µg L ⁻¹)	(μg L ⁻¹)	$(mg L^{-1})$	(µg L ⁻¹)	- (I	μg L ⁻¹)	$(\mu g L^{-1})$
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	049 0.004' 1.8 1.8 1 5 5 5	54.9	11	6					
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	s 1.8 1 5 3 5 5			0.7		ω		0.000049	0.00005
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	2 · · · · ·	10	S	S					
20 0.01 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.2 0.33 0.33 0.33 0.33 0.33 0.33 0.33 0.33 0.33 0.33 0.33 0.33 0.035 0.003 0.18 0.18 0.18 0.18 0.18 0.18 0.035 0.003 0.75 0.5 0.75 0.036 0.77 0.006 0.006 0.006 0.006 0.0056 0.026 0.0056 0.026 0.026 0.026 0.026 0.026 0.026 0.026 0.026 0.026 0.026 0.026 0.026 0.026 0.026 0.026 0.026	2 c) 2			S					
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	2 X X			20			0.01		
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	3	0.2	1100						
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		0.33	11	S					
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$				006	0.3			77	290
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	8 0.18	5.8	170						
0.5 0.5 0.5 20 0.17 20 0.17 20 0.17 20 0.006 20 0.006 20 0.006 20 0.006 20 0.006 20 0.006 20 0.006 20 0.006 20 0.006 20 0.006 20 0.006 20 0.006 20 0.006 20 0.026 20 0.026 20 0.026 20 0.026	35 0.0035	Ð	24	90		0.083	0.041		
20 0.17 vacetic 0.006 0.006 vacetic 100 100 0.02 0.056 0.056 0.02 0.02 0.056 0.02 0.02 0.026 0.02 0.02 0.026	2	0.5	10	10					
vacetic 0.006 0.006 vacetic 100 100 100 0.02 0.056 4 4 4	7			20		0.17	0.17		
yacetic 100 100 0.056 0.02 0.056 4 4 0.18 0.18	10 10	0.006	122	120					
0.050 0.050 0.050 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.				100					
0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02 0.02	9					0.22	0.056	62	89
0.18 0.18	2 0.02								
0.12 0.12	4		100					100	
01.0	8 6.1	0.18	6	6					
0.004^{t} 0.0000	052 0.004 ^t			0.7		0.24	0.056	0.000052	0.000054
3 3	6.2	D,	ю	20					
150 150				150					

Table A16.1. Protection of Aquatic life, agriculture, drinking water and consumption guideline values of a variety of pesticide compounds. **APPENDIX 16: PESTICIDE GUIDELINES**

		alth for the stion of:	$\begin{array}{c} Organism\\ only\\ (\mu g \ L^{-l}) \end{array}$																
		Human hea consum	Water and organism $(\mu g L^{-1})$						100										
			CCC (µg L ⁻				0.01		0.03			0.013							ounced
	US Source		$\underset{(\mu g \ L^{-1})}{\text{CMC}}$									0.065							s to be anno
	DRINK		AO or OG $(mg L^{-1})$																^r TBA i
	DRINK		$\underset{L^{-l}}{\text{MAC}}(\mu g$	280			190	TBA^{r}	006	50	80	50	2	190	10	1		45	
	AGR ^y		$Livestock$ ($\mu g L^{-1}$)	280	4	D		25		50	80			190	10		230	45	
	AGR ^y		Irrigation $(\mu g L^{-1})$			0.071		0.025		28	0.5			Ð	0.5		Ð	Ш°	
	PAL ^z		Freshwater $(\mu g L^{-1})$	65	0.01	7		2.6		7.8	1			29	10		0.24	0.2	
			Most stringent- All	65	0.01	0.071	0.01	0.025	0.03	7.8	0.5	0.013	7	29	0.5	1	0.24	0.2	
			Most stringent- Canadian	65	0.01	0.071	190	0.025	006	7.8	0.5	50	2	29	0.5	1	0.24	0.2	0
Table A16.1. Continued			Parameter Name	Glyphosate	Hexachlorocyclohexane	Linuron	Malathion	Methylchlorophenoxyacetic acid	Methoxychlor	Metolachlor	Metribuzin	Parathion	Phorate	Picloram	Simazine	Terbufos	Triallate	Trifluralin	^z PAL is the Protection of Aquatic life

^yAGR is agriculture

^xMAC is maximum acceptable concentration

"AO is aesthetic objectives and OG is operational guidance values

^vCMC is criteria maximum concentration

^uCCC is criterion continuous concentration

^tCrossed out values indicate withdrawn guidelines which are no longer recommended (CCME 2007)

^sID is insufficient data



APPENDIX 17: SAMPLE NUMBERS FOR NUTRIENTS, BACTERIA, AND PESTICIDES

Figure A17.1. Number of nutrient, bacteria, and pesticide samples for all AESA watersheds from 1999 to 2006.

Table A17.2. Pesticid	le sampl	e numb	ers by a	stream a	and yea	н.				
Stream	1997	1998	1999	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006
Battersea Drain		13	9	10	7	8	11	13	10	13
Blindman River	ŝ	19	19	14	11	12	10	13	19	10
Buffalo Creek	7		4	9	4	8	14	6	12	12
Crowfoot Creek	ŝ	12	7	15	12	15	17	11	14	13
Drain S6			7	8	6	8	10	13	8	13
Grande Prairie Creek			7	12	8	5	9	8	6	9
Haynes Creek	5	17	15	27	11	٢	13	б	14	10
Hines Creek			ε	9	5	6	7	8	8	8
Kleskun Drain			4	8	S	9	9	7	9	4
Meadow Creek	0		5	9	S	10	10	12	10	13
New West Coulee			9	6	8	8	11	13	10	13
Paddle River	0		13	11	11	6	10	8	19	13
Prairie Blood Coulee			9	9	4	8	4	10	8	12
Ray Creek	2	6	11	12	8	5	6	8	6	8
Renwick Creek	0	8	11	S	б	4	6	7	6	10
Rose Creek	8	15	15	15	13	12	11	15	17	13
Strawberry Creek	ю	٢	12	17	9	9	7	10	11	9
Stretton Creek	1	S	5	9				m	9	5
Threehills Creek	9	6	11	12	7	S,	6	10	8	10
Tomahawk Creek	Э	13	12	13	10	S,	6	10	18	11
Trout Creek	7		9	8	6	10	11	13	10	12
Wabash Creek			9	8	e	4	4	11	16	6
Willow Creek	0	11	9	12	11	10	10	12	10	6

APPENDIX 18: NFR, PH, AND TEMPERATURE SUMMARY STATISTICS, 1999 TO 2006.

Table A18.1. Non-filterable residue (NFR) summary statistics from 1999 to 2006 for median annualambient data, mass loading, FWMC, and export coefficients.

						Export
	Number	Summary	Ambient	Load	FWMC	Coefficient
AESA Watershed	of Years	Statistic	$(mg L^{-1})$	$(kg vr^{-2})$	$mg L^{-1}$	$(kg ha^{-1} vr^{-1})$
Battersea Drain		N of cases	(ing L)	152	152	(kg hu ji
Battersea Drain		Mean	15	406362	40.105	
Battersea Drain	8	Median	14	234010	21.642	N/A
Battersea Drain		Min	9	129907	14.154	
Battersea Drain		Max	26	974382	114.105	
Blindman River		N of cases		179	179	
Blindman River		Mean	9	2953855	74.437	83.679
Blindman River	8	Median	9	2035497	71.010	57.663
Blindman River		Min	5	104253	9.003	2.953
Blindman River		Max	15	9405790	146.826	266.453
Buffalo Creek		N of cases		119	119	
Buffalo Creek		Mean	11	97091	22.363	6.605
Buffalo Creek	8	Median	9	41365	11.454	2.814
Buffalo Creek		Min	3	25874	8.162	1.760
Buffalo Creek		Max	27	280715	45.762	19.096
Crowfoot Creek		N of cases		155	155	
Crowfoot Creek		Mean	22	3254805	81.461	
Crowfoot Creek	8	Median	20	1409883	43.697	N/A
Crowfoot Creek		Min	10	426518	22.341	
Crowfoot Creek		Max	30	12279380	241.042	
Drain S6		N of cases				
Drain S6		Mean	8			
Drain S6	8	Median	8	N/A	N/A	N/A
Drain S6		Min	4			
Drain S6		Max	10			
Grande Prairie Creek		N of cases		104	104	
Grande Prairie Creek		Mean	25	838801	100.454	59.914
Grande Prairie Creek	8	Median	21	473598	54.188	33.828
Grande Prairie Creek		Min	6	28565	15.156	2.040
Grande Prairie Creek		Max	55	2686338	273.298	191.881
Hines Creek		N of cases	_	114	114	
Hines Creek	_	Mean	8	227355	16.270	6.079
Hines Creek	8	Median	7	137802	9.298	3.685
Hines Creek		Min	4	782	4.139	0.021
Hines Creek		Max	19	521637	46.510	13.948
Haynes Creek M6		N of cases	_	95	95	
Haynes Creek M6	_	Mean	5	16827	9.264	1.014
Haynes Creek M6	/	Median	5	20307	7.494	1.223
Haynes Creek M6		Min	4	333	3.044	0.020
Haynes Creek M6		IVIAX	/	32209	18.069	1.940
Kleskun Drain		N of cases	10	/4	/4	22.074
Kleskun Drain		Mean	10	105518	83.390	32.974
Kleskun Drain	8	Median	11	62482	80.261	19.526
Kleskun Drain		Min	3	528	9.206	0.165
Kleskun Drain		Max	16	286883	183.742	89.651
Meadow Creek		N of cases	57	152	152	ECEAE
Meadow Creek	o	Median	57	105620	105.705	30.343
Mondow Creek	ð	Min	34	40000	147.213	2 1 2 0
Mondow Creek		Moy	∠4 00	40800	47.494	5.138 177 412
New West Couloo		N of cosos	77	2300300	144	177.413
New West Coulee		Mean	24	1100202	144 56 056	
New West Coulee	0	Median	24 25	1199392	58 469	NI/A
New West Coules	°	Min	2 <i>3</i> 8	370272	16 500	1N/A
New West Coulee		Max	8 19	319212 2384000	10.390	
Paddle Piwer		N of coses	48	2364009	115.239	
r autie Kiver		N OI Cases	12	1001412	120 117	78 712
raddle River		Modian	13	628701	120.11/	/0./12 25.240
Paddle River	ð	Min	13	55014	14.133 8 112	23.249
Paddle River		Max	10	6296011	319 700	2.210
	1	141aA	17	0290911	515.700	240.090

Table A18.1, cont. Non-filterable residue (NFR) summary statistics from 1999 to 2006 for median annual ambient data, mass loading, FWMC, and annual export coefficients.

						Export
	Number	Summary	Ambient	Load	FWMC	Coefficient
AESA Watershed	of Years	Statistic	$(mg L^{-1})$	(kg yr^{-2})	$mg L^{-1}$	$(\text{kg ha}^{-1} \text{ yr}^{-1})$
Prairie Blood Coulee		N of cases		110	110	
Prairie Blood Coulee		Mean	6	143567	19.566	6.353
Prairie Blood Coulee	8	Median	5	10127	6.999	0.448
Prairie Blood Coulee		Min	3	401	2.790	0.018
Prairie Blood Coulee		Max	12	536512	67.848	23.739
Ray Creek		N of cases		141	141	
Ray Creek		Mean	4	12363	8.872	2.784
Ray Creek	8	Median	3	7707	8.294	1.736
Ray Creek		Min	2	1367	2.892	0.308
Ray Creek		Max	7	40592	20.281	9.142
Renwick Creek		N of cases		108	108	
Renwick Creek		Mean	4	8670	12.196	1.492
Renwick Creek	8	Median	4	8080	11.182	1.391
Renwick Creek		Min	2	154	3.557	0.026
Renwick Creek		Max	7	24083	22.262	4.145
Rose Creek		N of cases		182	182	
Rose Creek		Mean	18	17405160	297.751	311.362
Rose Creek	8	Median	11	9260943	298.626	165.670
Rose Creek		Min	6	649884	22.370	11.626
Rose Creek		Max	75	68236140	798.919	1220.682
Stretton Creek		N of cases		38	38	
Stretton Creek		Mean	3	11146	11.416	1.980
Stretton Creek	4	Median	4	11424	6.553	2.029
Stretton Creek		Min	2	5609	3.251	0.996
Stretton Creek		Max	5	16128	29 306	2 865
Strawberry Creek		N of cases	5	132	132	2.005
Strawberry Creek		Mean	45	16044878	689 865	272 409
Strawberry Creek	8	Median	44	13099361	473 088	222 400
Strawberry Creek	Ŭ	Min	15	734094	139 365	12 463
Strawberry Creek		Max	96	3829/1/0	2165 919	650 155
Threehills Creek		N of cases	70	145	145	050.155
Threehills Creek		Mean	7	77542	18 054	5 619
Threehille Creek	0	Medion	7	26180	11 252	2.622
Threehills Creek	0	Min	6	2655	6 706	2.022
Threadilla Creak		Max	12	2033	48 422	18 816
Tomobaryly Creak		Max Nof anges	12	239007	40.422	18.810
Tomanawk Creek		N of cases	26	134	134	102 692
Tomanawk Creek		Madian	30	11/8092	200.003	123.082
Tomanawk Creek	8	Median	30	1465277	203.174	155.754
Tomahawk Creek		Min	14	11582	39.227	1.215
Tomahawk Creek		Max	62	2097941	586.606	220.141
Trout Creek		N of cases	12	168	168	100.465
Trout Creek		Mean	12	6106289	171.473	138.465
Trout Creek	8	Median	12	633774	49.479	14.371
Trout Creek		Min	4	17376	9.928	0.394
Trout Creek		Max	20	20064980	659.498	454.988
Wabash Creek		N of cases		100	100	
Wabash Creek		Mean	11	120050	30.249	3.490
Wabash Creek	8	Median	10	58154	19.976	1.691
Wabash Creek		Min	7	769	8.918	0.022
Wabash Creek		Max	16	487651	64.822	14.176
Willow Creek		N of cases		167	167	
Willow Creek		Mean	3	6037128	183.173	924.522
Willow Creek	8	Median	2	433765	47.252	66.426
Willow Creek		Min	1	22667	5.563	3.471
Willow Creek		Max	10	42707170	1030.484	6540.149

		1999	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006
Battersea Drain	N of cases	15	18	16	16	20	25	21	21
	Min	7.7	8.1	8.0	7.3	6.9	8.1	7.8	8.2
	Max	8.8	8.8	8.5	8.5	9.0	8.7	8.7	9.0
	Median	8.2	8.3	8.2	8.0	8.4	8.4	8.3	8.6
	Mean	8.2	8.4	8.2	8.0	8.3	8.4	8.3	8.5
Blindman River	N of cases	34	29	17	15	14	19	32	19
	Min	7.1	7.4	7.4	7.2	6.9	7.6	7.6	7.9
	Max	8.4	8.3	8.6	8.2	8.5	8.5	8.4	8.4
	Median	8.0	7.9	8.0	7.8	7.8	8.3	8.2	8.2
	Mean	7.8	7.9	8.0	7.7	7.8	8.2	8.1	8.2
Buffalo Creek	N of cases	14	11	9	12	16	16	24	17
	Min	8.1	7.9	8.1	7.9	8.0	8.3	7.9	8.1
	Max	8.6	8.3	8.5	8.5	8.6	8.5	8.5	8.6
	Median	8.3	8.1	8.3	8.2	8.4	8.4	8.4	8.4
	Mean	8.3	8.1	8.3	8.2	8.4	8.4	8.3	8.4
Crowfoot Creek	N of cases	14	19	17	15	23	21	22	22
	Min	7.7	7.5	7.7	7.6	6.8	7.8	8.0	8.0
	Max	8.7	9.0	8.6	8.5	8.5	8.5	8.6	8.7
	Median	8.3	8.2	8.1	8.0	8.3	8.3	8.3	8.4
	Mean	8.2	8.1	8.1	8.0	8.1	8.2	8.3	8.4
Drain S6	N of cases	15	16	15	13	16	22	15	21
	Min	8.0	7.9	8.0	7.8	7.3	8.0	8.2	8.1
	Max	9.1	8.7	8.2	8.8	8.6	8.5	8.3	8.5
	Median	8.2	8.2	8.1	8.0	8.3	8.3	8.3	8.3
	Mean	8.3	8.2	8.1	8.1	8.2	8.2	8.3	8.3
Grande Prairie Creek	N of cases	12	20	13	9	11	14	15	10
	Min	7.2	7.0	7.3	6.9	7.1	7.6	7.3	7.7
	Max	8.3	8.7	8.0	8.1	8.3	8.5	8.3	8.4
	Median	7.7	7.9	7.7	7.4	7.7	8.0	8.0	8.2
	Mean	7.7	7.8	7.7	7.5	7.7	8.0	7.9	8.1
Hines Creek	N of cases	8	17	12	14	12	22	18	12
	Min	7.7	7.1	7.3	7.2	6.7	7.4	7.6	7.9
	Max	8.0	8.1	8.0	8.0	8.1	8.2	8.2	8.3
	Median	79	7 5	7.6	74	77	8.0	7.8	8.1
	Mean	79	7 5	7.6	7.5	7.6	8.0	7.8	8.1
Havnes Creek M6	N of cases	22	21	9	8	13	0.0	12	10
	Min	7.0	7.2	7.7	7.0	7.0		7.7	7.8
	Max	84	84	85	7.8	84	N/A	85	83
	Median	7.8	79	8.2	7.0	8.2	10/11	8.1	8.1
	Mean	7.8	7.8	8.1	74	8.0		8.1	8.1
Kleskun Drain	N of cases	8	14	7	10	8	11	11	5
Rieskun Drum	Min	69	68	70	68	6.6	7.0	74	7.0
	Max	8.0	74	7.5	73	8.0	8.0	8.0	7.0
	Median	73	7. 1	7.2	7.1	7 2	79	78	78
	Mean	7.3	7.2	7.2	7.1	7.2	7.9 7 7	7.0 7.7	7.0 7.7
Meadow Creek	N of cases	10	13	11	21	21	22	22	23
MICAUUW CIEEK	Min	82	81	80	70	80	83	22 8 1	23 8 /
	May	8.2 8.7	8.6	85	7.7 8.1	0.0	88	8.4 8.6	8.6
	Median	85	85	85	82	9.0 8.5	8.6	85	8.0 8.5
	Mean	0.J 8 5	0.J & 1	0.J & 1	0.J 8 2	0.J 85	0.0 8 5	0.J 8 5	0.J 8 5
	wicali	0.5	0.4	0.4	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.0	0.5

Table A18.2. Annual pH summary statistics for each watershed from 1999 to 2006. N/A indicates data were not available for that year.

		1999	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006
New West Coulee	N of cases	14	14	14	16	20	25	20	21
	Min	7.9	8.0	8.0	7.5	6.8	7.5	8.1	8.1
	Max	8.4	8.6	8.3	8.3	8.5	8.5	8.4	9.0
	Median	8.2	8.2	8.1	8.0	8.4	8.3	8.3	8.4
	Mean	8.2	8.3	8.1	8.0	8.1	8.2	8.3	8.4
Paddle River	N of cases	22	26	15	14	13	12	33	19
	Min	7.4	7.8	7.5	7.3	7.5	8.2	7.7	8.2
	Max	8.4	8.3	8.3	8.3	8.4	8.5	8.4	8.4
	Median	8.1	8.1	8.1	8.0	8.0	8.4	8.2	8.3
	Mean	8.0	8.1	8.0	7.9	8.0	8.4	8.2	8.3
Prairie Blood Coule	e N of cases	13	9	9	17	8	19	17	18
	Min	7.8	7.7	8.0	7.4	7.4	8.1	8.2	8.2
	Max	8.3	8.2	8.5	8.3	8.5	8.4	8.4	8.6
	Median	8.1	8.1	8.3	8.2	8.4	8.3	8.4	8.4
	Mean	8.1	8.0	8.3	8.1	8.2	8.3	8.3	8.4
Ray Creek	N of cases	32	26	12	7	14	15	20	15
	Min	7.0	7.7	7.7	7.5	7.3	7.8	7.7	7.9
	Max	8.5	8.3	8.5	8.3	8.6	8.5	8.5	8.5
	Median	8.1	8.2	8.2	8.1	8.3	8.3	8.2	8.3
	Mean	8.1	8.1	8.2	8.1	8.2	8.2	8.2	8.3
Renwick Creek	N of cases	27	12	5	6	11	13	19	15
	Min	7.4	7.7	7.5	7.7	6.9	7.9	7.6	7.8
	Max	8.6	8.3	8.4	8.4	8.6	8.4	8.5	8.6
	Median	8.2	8.2	7.8	8.2	8.1	8.3	8.2	8.3
	Mean	8.1	8.1	7.9	8.1	7.9	8.2	8.2	8.3
Rose Creek	N of cases	31	29	17	15	15	19	32	24
	Min	7.5	7.6	7.6	7.3	7.0	7.5	7.7	7.9
	Max	8.5	8.3	8.4	8.3	8.5	8.5	8.4	8.5
	Median	8.0	8.0	8.1	7.7	8.0	8.3	8.1	8.3
	Mean	7.9	8.0	8.1	7.8	7.9	8.2	8.1	8.3
Stretton Creek	N of cases	12	11				6	10	10
	Min	7.3	7.3				7.8	7.5	7.6
	Max	8.3	8.3	N/A	N/A	N/A	8.4	8.3	8.3
	Median	8.1	8.1				8.2	8.0	8.2
	Mean	7.9	7.9				8.1	8.0	8.1
Strawberry Creek	N of cases	26	30	11	11	11	17	16	10
	Min	7.6	7.5	6.9	5.0	6.8	7.7	7.6	7.9
	Max	8.5	8.4	8.4	8.3	8.6	8.5	8.6	8.5
	Median	8.2	8.2	8.2	8.1	8.2	8.4	8.3	8.4
	Mean	8.2	8.1	8.0	7.6	7.9	8.3	8.2	8.3
Threehills Creek	N of cases	33	24	12	8	14	16	20	18
	Min	7.2	7.6	7.5	7.4	7.1	7.6	7.7	7.9
	Max	8.6	8.5	8.6	8.2	8.5	8.6	8.5	8.7
	Median	8.0	8.1	8.2	7.8	8.2	8.4	8.3	8.4
	Mean	8.0	8.1	8.1	7.8	8.0	8.3	8.2	8.3
Tomahawk Creek	N of cases	23	26	14	11	15	17	31	17
	Min	7.0	7.5	6.9	6.8	7.3	7.3	7.6	7.9
	Max	8.0	8.1	8.3	8.0	8.1	8.4	8.2	8.3
	Median	7.6	7.7	7.7	7.5	7.7	8.1	8.1	8.2
	Mean	7.6	7.7	7.6	7.4	7.7	8.0	8.0	8.2

Table A18.2, cont. Annual pH summary statistics for each watershed from 1999 to 2006. N/A indicates data were not available for that year.

		1999	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006
Trout Creek	N of cases	23	19	17	21	21	23	21	23
	Min	8.3	8.1	8.0	7.9	7.4	8.2	8.4	8.3
	Max	8.6	8.8	8.8	8.4	8.6	8.6	8.6	8.6
	Median	8.4	8.3	8.3	8.3	8.5	8.5	8.5	8.5
	Mean	8.4	8.3	8.4	8.2	8.4	8.4	8.5	8.5
Wabash Creek	N of cases	10	18	5	8	8	13	23	15
	Min	7.5	7.3	7.1	6.9	7.3	7.0	7.4	7.6
	Max	8.0	8.2	8.2	7.6	8.2	8.3	8.4	8.3
	Median	7.8	7.7	7.4	7.4	7.6	8.0	8.1	8.1
	Mean	7.8	7.7	7.5	7.3	7.7	8.0	8.0	8.0
Willow Creek	N of cases	25	23	21	21	16	20	21	19
	Min	8.1	7.9	7.9	7.8	7.9	8.1	7.9	8.2
	Max	8.4	8.4	8.2	8.4	8.5	8.4	8.5	8.4
	Median	8.3	8.2	8.1	8.1	8.3	8.3	8.3	8.3
	Mean	8.3	8.2	8.1	8.1	8.3	8.3	8.3	8.3

Table A18.2, cont. Annual pH summary statistics for each watershed from 1999 to 2006. N/A indicates data were not available for that year.

Table A18.3. Annual temperature (°C) summary statistics for each watershed from 1999 to 2006. N/A indicates data were not available for that year.

		1999	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006	
Battersea Drain	N of cases	15	18	15	16	18	25	21	19	
	Min	1	0	4	0	-1	-1	0	2	
	Max	20	21	19	25	24	22	20	26	
	Median	11	13	13	14	12	11	11	14	
	Mean	11	11	12	13	12	10	12	13	
Blindman River	N of cases	33	29	15	15	14	19	32	19	
	Min	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	
	Max	20	22	25	19	26	22	22	24	
	Median	10	14	15	9	8	10	13	9	
	Mean	10	11	13	9	9	9	11	10	
Buffalo Creek	N of cases	14	11	9	12	16	16	24	17	
	Min	1	0	5	0	0	2	-2	1	
	Max	16	17	17	18	21	19	23	19	
	Median	6	7	10	6	5	11	9	7	
	Mean	7	8	10	8	8	10	10	9	
Crowfoot Creek	N of cases	14	19	17	15	22	21	20	22	
	Min	0	0	0	1	0	1	1	5	
	Max	20	22	20	20	21	20	21	23	
	Median	10	9	12	10	11	9	10	9	
	Mean	11	9	10	9	10	9	10	12	
Drain S6	N of cases	15	16	15	14	16	21	14	20	
	Min	6	6	4	7	-1	3	9	3	
	Max	20	24	19	19	18	22	18	22	
	Median	14	14	13	12	11	12	10	11	
	Mean	14	14	13	13	10	11	12	11	
Grande Prairie Creek	N of cases	11	18	13	9	10	11	11	10	
	Min	1	0	0	0	3	0	0	1	
	Max	22	20	18	16	18	19	16	16	
	Median	6	9	11	5	5	11	9	6	
	Mean	6	9	9	6	9	10	7	8	
Hines Creek	N of cases	8	16	12	14	12	22	18	11	
	Min	10	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
	Max	19	17	17	17	17	18	18	17	
	Median	12	6	12	4	3	6	7	9	
Harris Caral MC	Mean	13	/	8	6	0	6	/	/	
Haynes Creek M6	N of cases	21	18	8	8	13		11	10	
	Max	1	-1	25	5 10	20	NI/A	12	4	
	Madian	10	12	12	10	20	1N/A	0	10	
	Meen	10	12	13	6	11		0 6	0 10	
Klaskun Drain	N of cases	8	11	7	0	7	0	10	5	
Kleskuli Dialli	Min	0	0	1	9	0	9	10	1	
	Max	10	17	1	15	15	16	17	0	
	Median	3	17	7	6	13	0	1 / Q	ש ד	
	Mean	1	0	8	07	0	7	8	6	
Meadow Creek	N of cases	18	13	0	21	21	22	22	23	
MICAUOW CIECK	Min	0	_1J	,1	21 1	-5	0		25 1	
	Max	26	21	17	19	= <u>5</u> 23	25	24	20	
	Median	15	21 7	8	11	23 7	12	12	11	
	Mean	15	, 9	8	11	8	11	13	11	
	linean	15	,	0	11	0	11	15	11	
New West Coulee N of cases 14 13 15 19 25 20 20 Min 1 6 5 2 -1 -1 4 0 Max 21 20 21 23 23 21 24 0 Median 13 14 12 10 10 13 12 Paddle River Nof cases 20 26 14 14 12 12 33 19 Min 0 1 1 0 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 1 0 10 15 5 7 9 9 9 9 9 9 9 11 12 16 18 18 16 18 3 3 16 19 13 15 14 16 18 13 14 12 14 16 18 16 18 16 10			1999	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006
---	----------------------	------------	----------------	---------	----------	----------	------	------	----------	----------
Min 1 6 5 2 -1 -1 4 0 Max 21 20 21 23 13 12 14 14 12 10 10 13 14 12 13 13 13 13 13 13 13 13 13 13 13 14 16 16	New West Coulee	N of cases	14	13	13	16	19	25	20	20
Max 21 20 21 23 23 23 21 24 Median 13 13 13 11 10 13 13 Padle River N of cases 20 26 14 14 12 12 13 14 Padle River N of cases 19 20 21 20 22 18 19 22 Median 7 10 15 5 7 9 9 8 Mean 8 10 12 7 8 9 9 9 Prairie Blood Coulee N of cases 13 8 9 17 8 18 16 18 Max 20 14 20 28 16 22 26 23 Median 1 1 0 6 1 15 16 13 15 14 Ray Creek Min 1 10 16		Min	1	6	5	2	-1	-1	4	0
Median 13 13 13 11 10 12 13 Paddle River Nof cases 20 26 14 14 12 10 10 13 12 Paddle River More ases 20 26 14 14 12 12 33 19 Max 19 20 22 18 19 22 Median 7 10 15 5 7 9 9 9 Prairie Blood Coulee Nof cases 13 8 9 17 8 18 16 18 Min 1 0 7 -1 -3 1 5 3 Median 11 9 14 19 11 12 14 16 Ray Creek Nof cases 29 24 12 7 14 15 20 15 Min 1 1 0 6 11 13 <td></td> <td>Max</td> <td>21</td> <td>20</td> <td>21</td> <td>23</td> <td>23</td> <td>23</td> <td>21</td> <td>24</td>		Max	21	20	21	23	23	23	21	24
Mean 13 14 12 10 10 13 12 Paddle River N of cases 20 26 14 14 12 12 33 19 Min 0 1 1 1 0 0 1 0 Max 19 20 21 20 22 18 19 22 Median 7 10 15 5 7 9 9 9 Prairie Blood Coulee N of cases 13 8 9 17 8 18 16 18 Max 20 14 20 28 16 22 26 23 Median 11 7 13 16 9 13 15 14 Ray Creek N of cases 29 24 12 7 14 15 20 15 Min 1 1 0 6 11 13 19<		Median	13	13	13	13	11	10	12	13
Paddle River N of cases 20 26 14 14 12 12 33 19 Min 0 1 1 1 0 1 0 1 0 Median 7 10 15 5 7 9 9 9 Prairie Blood Coulee N of cases 13 8 9 17 8 18 16 18 Max 20 14 20 28 16 22 26 23 Median 11 7 13 16 9 13 15 14 Ray Creek N of cases 29 24 12 7 14 15 20 15 Min 1 10 0 6 11 10 15 16 12 17 20 15 16 12 17 20 15 16 13 19 15 14 14 13 19 </td <td></td> <td>Mean</td> <td>13</td> <td>13</td> <td>14</td> <td>12</td> <td>10</td> <td>10</td> <td>13</td> <td>12</td>		Mean	13	13	14	12	10	10	13	12
Min 0 1 1 1 0 0 1 0 Max 19 20 21 20 22 18 19 22 Median 7 10 15 5 7 9 9 8 Mean 8 10 12 7 8 9 9 9 Prairie Blood Coule N cases 13 8 9 17 8 12 26 23 Max 20 14 20 28 16 12 26 23 3 Median 11 9 14 19 11 12 14 16 Mean 11 1 0 6 1 1 1 0 1 1 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 0 1 1 1	Paddle River	N of cases	20	26	14	14	12	12	33	19
Max 19 20 21 20 22 18 19 22 Median 7 10 15 5 7 9 9 8 Mean 8 10 12 7 8 9 9 9 Prairie Blood Coulee Nof cases 13 8 9 17 8 18 16 18 Max 20 14 20 28 16 22 26 23 Median 11 9 14 19 11 20 15 14 Ray Creek N of cases 29 24 12 7 14 15 20 15 Min 1 10 0 6 11 10 1 10 11 Median 10 11 12 9 14 5 6 7 Mean 11 10 0 0 0 1 1<		Min	0	1	1	1	0	0	1	0
Median 7 10 15 5 7 9 9 9 Prairie Blood Coule No f cases 13 8 9 17 8 18 16 18 Min 1 0 7 -1 -3 1 5 3 Median 11 9 14 19 11 12 14 16 Median 11 7 13 16 9 13 15 14 Ray Creek N of cases 29 24 12 7 14 15 20 15 Max 24 22 23 15 21 22 17 20 Median 10 11 12 9 14 5 6 7 Median 11 13 9 12 16 22 21 21 Median 11 8 2 10 7 10 10		Max	19	20	21	20	22	18	19	22
$\begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		Median	7	10	15	5	7	9	9	8
Prairie Blood Coules N of cases 13 8 9 17 8 18 16 18 Min 1 0 7 -1 -3 1 5 3 Max 20 14 20 28 16 22 26 23 Median 11 9 14 19 11 12 14 16 Max 20 24 12 7 14 15 20 15 Min 1 1 0 6 1 1 0 1 Max 24 22 23 15 21 22 17 20 Median 10 11 12 9 14 5 6 7 Mean 11 10 8 1 0 0 1 10 Median 11 8 2 16 52 21 21 21 Median 11 8 24 10 0 0 0 0 0		Mean	8	10	12	7	8	9	9	9
Min 1 0 7 -1 -3 1 5 3 Median 11 9 14 28 16 22 26 23 Median 11 9 14 19 11 12 14 16 Ray Creek N of cases 29 24 12 7 14 15 20 15 Min 1 1 0 6 1 1 0 1 Max 24 22 23 15 21 22 17 20 Median 10 11 12 9 14 5 6 7 Mean 11 1 0 8 1 0 0 1 1 Max 24 13 9 12 16 22 21 21 21 22 22 21 21 20 22 24 21 20 22	Prairie Blood Coulee	N of cases	13	8	9	17	8	18	16	18
Max 20 14 20 28 16 12 20 23 Median 11 9 14 19 11 12 14 16 Maan 11 7 13 16 9 13 15 14 Ray Creek N of cases 29 24 12 7 14 15 20 15 Min 1 1 0 6 1 1 0 1 Max 24 22 23 15 21 22 17 20 Median 10 11 12 9 14 5 6 7 Mean 11 10 0 8 1 0 0 1 Mean 14 10 0 8 8 8 11 Mean 11 8 2 10 7 7 10 10 Mean 11 <td></td> <td>Min</td> <td>$\frac{1}{20}$</td> <td>0</td> <td>7</td> <td>-1</td> <td>-3</td> <td>1</td> <td>5</td> <td>3</td>		Min	$\frac{1}{20}$	0	7	-1	-3	1	5	3
Medan 11 7 13 16 9 13 15 14 Ray Creek N of cases 29 24 12 7 14 15 20 15 Min 1 1 0 6 1 1 0 1 Max 24 22 23 15 21 22 17 20 Median 10 11 12 9 14 5 6 7 Median 10 11 5 6 11 13 19 15 Min 1 1 0 8 10 0 1 10 0 0 1 10 0 0 10 10 Max 19 18 23 18 24 21 20 22 Min 0 10 13 8 9 9 10 13 Ros Creek N of cases 11 11		Median	20	14 9	20 14	28 19	10	12	20 14	23 16
Ray Creek N of cases 29 24 12 7 14 15 20 15 Min 1 1 0 6 1 1 0 1 Max 24 22 23 15 21 22 17 20 Median 10 11 12 9 14 5 6 7 Mean 11 10 9 11 9 7 8 Renwick Creek N of cases 27 11 5 6 11 13 19 15 Median 11 8 2 10 7 7 10 10 Max 24 13 9 12 16 22 21 21 Median 11 8 2 10 7 7 10 10 Mean 11 12 17 6 3 9 10 13		Mean	11	7	13	16	9	13	15	14
Min 1 1 0 6 1 1 0 1 Max 24 22 23 15 21 22 17 20 Median 10 11 12 9 14 5 6 7 Mean 11 10 10 9 11 9 7 8 Renwick Creek N of cases 27 11 5 6 11 13 19 15 Min 1 1 0 8 1 0 0 1 Median 11 8 2 10 7 7 10 10 Median 11 8 2 10 7 7 10 0 Mean 12 8 4 10 8 8 9 10 13 Median 11 12 17 6 3 9 10 13	Rav Creek	N of cases	29	24	12	7	14	15	20	15
$ \begin{array}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		Min	1	1	0	6	1	1	0	1
Median 10 11 12 9 14 5 6 7 Mean 11 10 10 9 11 9 7 8 Renwick Creek N of cases 27 11 5 6 11 13 19 15 Min 1 1 0 8 1 0 0 1 Median 11 8 2 10 7 7 10 10 Median 11 8 2 10 7 7 10 10 Median 11 8 4 10 8 8 8 11 Rose Creek N of cases 28 29 16 15 18 32 24 Max 19 18 23 18 24 21 20 22 Median 11 12 17 6 3 9 10 Stretto		Max	24	22	23	15	21	22	17	20
Mean 11 10 10 9 11 9 7 8 Renwick Creek N of cases 27 11 5 6 11 13 19 15 Min 1 1 0 8 1 0 0 1 Max 24 13 9 12 16 22 21 21 Median 12 8 4 10 8 8 8 11 Rose Creek N of cases 28 29 16 15 18 32 24 Min 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 Max 19 18 23 18 24 21 20 22 Median 1 12 17 6 3 9 10 13 Stratton Creek N of cases 11 11 16 N/A N/A N/A 13		Median	10	11	12	9	14	5	6	7
Renwick Creek N of cases 27 11 5 6 11 13 19 15 Min 1 1 0 8 1 0 0 1 Max 24 13 9 12 16 22 21 21 Median 11 8 2 10 7 7 10 10 Mean 12 8 4 10 8 8 8 11 Rose Creek N of cases 28 29 16 15 15 18 32 24 Min 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 22 Median 11 12 17 6 3 9 10 13 Mean 10 10 13 8 8 9 9 10 Stretton Creek N of cases 16		Mean	11	10	10	9	11	9	7	8
Min 1 1 0 8 1 0 0 1 Max 24 13 9 12 16 22 21 21 Median 11 8 2 10 7 7 10 10 Mean 12 8 4 10 8 8 8 11 Rose Creek N of cases 28 29 16 15 15 18 32 24 Min 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 13 Mean 10 10 13 8 9 9 10 13 Stretton Creek N of cases 11 1 1 16 10 10 Max 15 16 N/A N/A N/A 13 15 16 Mean 7 7 5 8 8 9 0 0 <t< td=""><td>Renwick Creek</td><td>N of cases</td><td>27</td><td>11</td><td>5</td><td>6</td><td>11</td><td>13</td><td>19</td><td>15</td></t<>	Renwick Creek	N of cases	27	11	5	6	11	13	19	15
$ \begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $		Min	1	1	0	8	1	0	0	1
$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		Max	24	13	9	12	16	22	21	21
$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		Median	11	8	2	10	7	7	10	10
Rose Creek N of cases 28 29 16 15 15 18 32 24 Min 0 1 1 0 <td< td=""><td></td><td>Mean</td><td>12</td><td>8</td><td>4</td><td>10</td><td>8</td><td>8</td><td>8</td><td>11</td></td<>		Mean	12	8	4	10	8	8	8	11
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Rose Creek	N of cases	28	29	16	15	15	18	32	24
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		Min	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	0
Median1112176391013Mean101013889910Stretton CreekN of cases111161010Min123-22Max1516N/AN/AN/A1315Median57758Mean78768Strawberry CreekN of cases25301011111616Min00000000Max2022271722181619Median11161156963Mean11131177866Threehills CreekN of cases322312814162018Min120510011142018Min120510011161610Max24202514212118201616101010101616101016161016101610161116161016161016161611		Max	19	18	23	18	24	21	20	22
$\begin{tabular}{ c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c$		Median	11	12	17	6	3	9	10	13
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		Mean	10	10	13	8	8	9	9	10
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Stretton Creek	N of cases	11	11				6	10	10
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		Min	1	2				3	-2	2
$\begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		Max	15	16	N/A	N/A	N/A	13	15	16
$\begin{array}{c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c c $		Median	5	7				7	5	8
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		Mean	7	8				7	6	8
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Strawberry Creek	N of cases	25	30	10	11	11	16	16	10
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		Min	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		Max	20	22	27	17	22	18	16	19
Mean 11 13 11 7 7 8 6 6 Threehills Creek N of cases 32 23 12 8 14 16 20 18 Min 1 2 0 5 1 0 0 1 Max 24 20 25 14 21 21 18 20 Median 10 13 12 9 10 8 7 8 Mean 11 11 12 9 10 8 7 8 Mean 11 11 12 9 10 9 8 10 Tomahawk Creek N of cases 19 24 13 11 13 17 31 16 Min 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 <td< td=""><td></td><td>Median</td><td>11</td><td>16</td><td>11</td><td>5</td><td>6</td><td>9</td><td>6</td><td>3</td></td<>		Median	11	16	11	5	6	9	6	3
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		Mean	11	13	11	7	7	8	6	6
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	Threehills Creek	N of cases	32	23	12	8	14	16	20	18
$ \begin{array}{c ccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$		Min	1	2	0	5	1	0	0	1
Median 10 13 12 9 10 8 7 8 Mean 11 11 12 9 10 9 8 10 Tomahawk Creek N of cases 19 24 13 11 13 17 31 16 Min 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 Max 21 22 22 16 22 19 19 19 Median 10 13 16 6 9 11 10 8 Mean 10 12 13 7 9 9 10 8		Max	24	20	25	14	21	21	18	20
Mean 11 11 12 9 10 9 8 10 Tomahawk Creek N of cases 19 24 13 11 13 17 31 16 Min 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 Max 21 22 22 16 22 19 19 19 Median 10 13 16 6 9 11 10 8 Mean 10 12 13 7 9 9 10 8		Median	10	13	12	9	10	8	7	8
Tomahawk CreekN of cases1924131113173116Min00010000Max2122221622191919Median1013166911108Mean101213799108		Mean	11	11	12	9	10	9	8	10
Min00010000Max2122221622191919Median1013166911108Mean101213799108	Tomahawk Creek	N of cases	19	24	13	11	13	17	31	16
Max2122221622191919Median1013166911108Mean101213799108		Min	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	0
Median1013166911108Mean101213799108		Max	21	22	22	16	22	19	19	19
Mean 10 12 13 7 9 9 10 8		Median	10	13	16	6	9	11	10	8
		Mean	10	12	13	7	9	9	10	8

Table A18.3, cont. Annual temperature (°C) summary statistics for each watershed from 1999 to2006. N/A indicates data were not available for that year.

		1999	2000	2001	2002	2003	2004	2005	2006
Trout Creek	N of cases	23	19	16	21	21	23	20	23
	Min	0	-4	0	2	-4	-1	-4	1
	Max	23	22	23	17	21	25	22	18
	Median	14	9	10	10	6	10	10	10
	Mean	13	10	11	11	7	11	11	10
Wabash Creek	N of cases	10	18	5	8	7	12	22	15
	Min	0	1	1	0	1	0	1	1
	Max	10	20	18	9	16	22	18	19
	Median	8	10	16	5	5	12	8	8
	Mean	6	10	11	4	8	10	9	8
Willow Creek	N of cases	25	23	21	21	15	20	21	19
	Min	1	-5	0	0	-5	-1	-2	-2
	Max	17	14	11	13	14	15	16	16
	Median	8	5	6	4	4	6	5	6
	Mean	8	6	5	4	5	6	6	6

Table A18.3, cont. Annual temperature (°C) summary statistics for each watershed from 1999 to2006. N/A indicates data were not available for that year.

